
 
 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Date Wednesday 6 April 2022 

Time 9.30 am 

Venue Council Chamber, County Hall, Durham 

 

Business 
 

Part A 
 

Items which are open to the public and press 
 
1. Public Questions   

2. Minutes of the meeting held on 16 March 2022  (Pages 5 - 10) 

3. Declarations of interest, if any   

Key Decisions: 

 
4. Proposal to close the Sunnydale site of Greenfield Community 

College on 31 August 2022 and rebuild the Newton Aycliffe Site - 
Report of Corporate Director of Children and Young People's 
Services (Key Decision: CYPS/01/2022)  (Pages 11 - 40) 

5. Declaration of an Ecological Emergency - Report of Corporate 
Director of Neighbourhoods and Climate Change (Key Decision: 
NCC/03/22)  (Pages 41 - 90) 

Ordinary Decisions: 

 
6. Annual Review of Constitution - Report of Head of Legal and 

Democratic Services and Monitoring Officer  (Pages 91 - 130) 

7. County Durham Plan: Parking and Accessibility, Developer 
Contributions and Residential Amenity Supplementary Planning 
Documents - Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration, 
Economy and Growth  (Pages 131 - 414) 

8. Updated SEND Strategy for County Durham 2022-24 - Report of 
Corporate Director of Children and Young People's Services  
(Pages 415 - 450) 

9. High Needs Block Funding for SEND and Inclusion Support - 
Report of Corporate Director of Children and Young People's 
Services  (Pages 451 - 484) 



10. Apprenticeship Strategy 2022-2025 - Report of Corporate 
Director of Resources  (Pages 485 - 526) 

11. Poverty Strategy and Action Plan - Report of Corporate Director 
of Resources  (Pages 527 - 552) 

12. North East Screen Industries Partnership - Report of Corporate 
Director of Regeneration, Economy and Growth  (Pages 553 - 
570) 

13. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chair of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration   

14. Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during the 
discussion of items containing exempt information   

 
Part B 

 
Items during which it is considered the meeting will not be open to the 

public (consideration of exempt or confidential information) 

 
Key Decisions: 

 
15. Tees Valley Energy Recovery Facility Local Authority Special 

Purpose Vehicle - Report of Corporate Director of 
Neighbourhoods and Climate Change (Key Decision: NCC/02/22)  
(Pages 571 - 788) 

16. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chair of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration   

 
 
 

Helen Lynch 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

 
County Hall 
Durham 
29 March 2022 
 
 
To: The Members of the Cabinet 

 
 Councillors A Hopgood and R Bell (Leader and Deputy Leader 

of the Council) together with Councillors T Henderson, 
S McDonnell, J Rowlandson, E Scott, P Sexton, A Shield, 
J Shuttleworth and M Wilkes 

 
 

Contact: Ros Layfield Tel: 03000 269708 

 



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 

At a Meeting of Cabinet held in Committee Room 2, County Hall, Durham 
on Wednesday 16 March 2022 at 9.30 am 

 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor A Hopgood (Leader of the Council) in the Chair  
 
Cabinet Members: 
Councillors R Bell (Deputy Leader of the Council), T Henderson, 
S McDonnell, E Scott, P Sexton, J Shuttleworth and M Wilkes 
 
Apologies: 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor James Rowlandson 
and Councillor Alan Shield 
 
Also Present: 
Councillors J Blakey, I Cochrane, S Deinali, D Freeman, C Hood and                                
G Hutchinson 
 
1 Public Questions 

 
There were no public questions. 
 

2 Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 9 February 2022 were agreed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chair.  
 

3 Declarations of Interest 
 
There were no declarations.   
 

4 Feasibility Study Outcomes: Refurbishment and Re-use of the 
Former DLI Museum and Art Gallery Building at Aykley Heads 
[Key Decision: REG/02/22] 
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration, 
Economy and Growth which detailed the outcomes of the further feasibility 
studies that have been undertaken following agreement by Cabinet in 
September 2021 to consider the options for the refurbishment and reopening  

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



of the former DLI Museum and Art Gallery (DLIMAG) and grounds.  The 
report set out an approach to bring it back into use as an exhibition centre, 
gallery, and café venue with appropriate reflective and contemplative 
grounds (for copy of report see file of minutes). 

Councillor Scott in moving the recommendations advised that the swift 
delivery of the comprehensive feasibility study into the options demonstrate 
the clear commitment of Cabinet to deliver on the promises it had made to 
carefully consider the re-opening and re-development of the former DLI 
museum and art gallery. She thanked staff for their hard work in bringing this 
together and advised that the views of key stakeholders had re-enforced the 
importance of this collection and the proud history of this regiment to the 
people of county Durham and beyond, which had also demonstrated a 
significant gap in the cultural offer. Option 3 which was considered to be the 
best value for money while delivery an excellent cultural and visual art venue. 

Councillor Bell thanked the Corporate Director and cabinet member in 
bringing this report. He explained that the redevelopment of the site was 
integral to the broader opportunities of the redevelopment of the Aykley 
heads site. The study which was wide ranging and had been supported by 
independent advice and would complement the planned history centre 
development.  He highlighted the financial impact of the redevelopment. He 
was delighted that they would be able to display more of the proud heritage 
and fill the cultural gap. 

Councillor Wilkes applauded officers for working so hard on this, and how he 
was delighted to see that the DLI would be fully renovated and in a stunning 
environment to be proud of. He explained the importance of remembering the 
past and that it would be restored for future generations. 

Councillor Sexton as armed forces champion advised that he was fully in 
support of this and thanked all for their hard work. He advised that by 
undertaking this work it would provide for a true tribute to the memory of 
those from the regiment. 

Resolved: 
 
Having regard to the corresponding exempt report, the recommendations in 
the report be approved.  
 

5 Quarter Three, 2021/22 Performance Management Report  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources which 
presented progress towards achieving the key outcomes of the council’s corporate 
performance framework and highlighted key messages to inform strategic priorities 
and work programmes, in and to the end of quarter three, October to December 
2021 (for copy of report see file of minutes). 

Page 4



Councillor Hopgood thanked the Corporate Director and his team for producing the 
report. She explained that the councils’ performance and that of its partners 
continue to be impacted by the pandemic in many ways, and that the cost-of-living 
increases had been made worse by the terrible situation in Ukraine. Long term 
employment rates remained stable over the quarter, but below both regional and 
national averages. She advised that many households in county Durham continue 
to struggle with the increases in cost of living and Cabinet next month will receive 
an updated poverty action plan.  

She advised that attracting inward investment is a priority for the council, that it was 
open for business, and gave an update on the developments, highlighting that 
these together with the bid for city of culture showed the councils ambition to create 
better jobs for those living in county Durham. She gave an update on a number of 
other areas including the high demand for social care services, increased request 
for assessments for education  health and care plans, highway network 
improvements, and the re-introduction of performance appraisals for staff. She 
concluded by thanking all staff for their hard work and for going above and beyond 
in continuing to deliver the councils services. 

Resolved: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

6 Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn 2021/22 - Period to 31 
December 2021 and Update on Progress towards achieving 
MTFP(11) savings  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources 
which provided updated information on: 
 

(a) the forecast revenue and capital outturn for 2021/22, based on 
the position to 31 December 2021; 

(b) the forecast for the council tax and business rates collection fund 
position at 31 March 2022, based on the position to 31 
December 2021; and 

(c) the forecast use of and contributions to earmarked, cash limit 
and general reserves in 2021/22 and the estimated balances to 
be held at 31 March 2022. 

 
The report sought approval of the revised capital programme, other budget 
adjustments and proposed sums treated as outside of the cash limit in year 
and provided Cabinet with an update on progress towards achieving 
MTFP(11) savings in 2021/22 (for copy of report see file of minutes). 
Councillor Bell thanked the Corporate Director and his team for the 
comprehensive update and remarked on the strong finance team that the 
council has.  
 

Page 5



He gave an update which included the covid funding position, service 
grouping financial forecasts, the review of the council’s ear marked reserves, 
the position with the reserves, the collection funds, capital programme, and 
mtfp savings. He advised that as the council continues to manage the 
budgets prudently, with that there would maintain strong financial resilience.  
 
Councillor Hopgood thanked the Corporate Director and his team, and all 
budget managers for effective management of their budgets. She gave 
updates on forecasting, ear marked reserves and the additional analysis of 
those. She advised that the cash limits and general reserves were prudent 
which reflected the scale and complexity of the council, and of the effects of 
the increased energy costs would have on council budgets. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved.  
 

7 Bus Service Improvement Plan and Concessionary Fares Budget   
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration, 
Economy and Growth which sought agreement to provide short-term support 
to bus services by redirecting funding from the Concessionary Fares budget 
(for copy of report see file of minutes).  
 
Councillor Scott’s response to the question from Councillor Denali included 
providing information on the budget position, the work undertaken with bus 
operators and the community involvement in the programme. 
 
Councillor Scott in moving the recommendations in the report advised of the 
problems that have affected bus services during the pandemic and of the 
strain this had on the sector, however by partnership work with the bus 
operators they were able to maintain a viable network. Bus services are a 
lifeline to many residents in county Durham and the proposals would support 
bus companies to keeping running services where there is currently little 
certainty of future funding. 
 
Councillor Wilkes welcomed the proposal and in doing so urged government 
to ensure there was support for the comprehensive service that was needed 
in this county. He referenced the councils own bus service and how it 
operates. He welcomed the proposals in the report. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved.  
  
 

Page 6



8 Public Space Protection Order - Durham City  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Neighbourhood 
Services which provided an overview of the powers, benefits and risks 
available under a Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) and sought 
agreement to a consultation exercise being carried out on 
proposed new behaviours and actions to be included in the existing Public 
Space Protection Order to help control aggressive / anti-social type begging 
in Durham City (for copy of report see file of minutes). 
 
Joy Allen, Police and Crime Commissioner for Durham addressed cabinet 
members having been invited to share her views on the consultation of the 
introduction of an order. She referenced the introduction of an order in 
another area of the police force area and explained how this had worked. 
She believed by adding this to the existing range of tools and powers would 
give the police and council officers the additional enforcement options to 
enable them to tackle aggressive and anti-social begging and help to reduce 
the fear of crime and make the city safer and stronger. She welcomed the 
consultation on the order. 
 
Councillor Shuttleworth in moving the recommendations advised of the 
consultation that would take place to determine appetite for this and 
welcomed the views of the Police and Crime Commissioner. Councillors 
Scott and Wilkes also advised of their support for the consultation and looked 
forward to seeing the responses.  
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved.  
 

9 Review of Community Engagement and Funding Processes   
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of 
Neighbourhoods and Climate Change which outlined a planned review of the 
community engagement and funding processes currently provided by Area 
Action Partnerships (AAPs) and set out the scope of the review, governance 
arrangement and proposed timescales for its completion (for copy of report 
see file of minutes). 
 
The Leader advised that Councillor Surtees had submitted questions on the 
report however as she had not presented a written response would be 
provided to the member.  
 
Councillor Scott in moving the recommendations in the report advised of the 
importance of the review, it would help ensure the councils community work 
going forward, and how to reach those not engaged in the current position. 

Page 7



She advised that it was timely for a review of its governance structures, and 
that work will focus on the future. Initial soundings from members had 
demonstrated that there is appetite for change as well as many positive 
forward-thinking ideas for a new approach. The AAP staff have also come 
forward with many positive ideas on how take this forward.  
 
Councillor Sexton advised of his support for the review, its timely and will 
look forward. The scope will provide for creative thinking. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved.  
 

10 Exclusion of the public  
 
Resolved: 
 
That under Section 100(a)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 
be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on the 
grounds that it involves the likely discussion of exempt information as defined 
in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 

11 Feasibility Study Outcomes: Refurbishment and Re-use of the 
Former DLI Museum and Art Gallery Building at Aykley Heads  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration, 
Economy and Growth which outlined the outcomes of the further feasibility 
studies that have been undertaken following agreement by Cabinet in 
September 2021 to consider the options for refurbishment and reopening of 
the former DLI Museum and Art Gallery (DLIMAG) and grounds and set out 
an approach to bring it back into use as an exhibition centre, gallery and café 
venue with appropriate reflective and contemplative grounds (for copy of 
report see file of minutes). 
 
The Leader advised that Councillor A Batey had submitted questions on the 
report however as she had not been present, a written response would be 
provided to the member.  
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved.  
 

Page 8



 

Cabinet 

6 April 2022 

Proposal to close the Sunnydale site of 

Greenfield Community College on 31 August 

2022 and rebuild the Newton Aycliffe site 

Key Decision: CYPS/01/2022 

 
 
Report of Corporate Management Team 

John Pearce, Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s 
Services 

Councillor Ted Henderson, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children 
and Young People’s Services 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Aycliffe East, Aycliffe North and Middridge, Aycliffe West, Shildon and Dene 
Valley. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To seek Cabinet approval to close the Sunnydale site of Greenfield 
Community College on 31 August 2022 and rebuild the Newton Aycliffe 
site, taking account of the Local Authority’s duties as prescribed in the 
Education and Inspections Act 2006 to secure sufficient places and to 
ensure good outcomes for all children and young people in the local 
area. 

Executive summary 

2 Following an Ofsted inspection judgement of ‘inadequate’, Sunnydale 
School in Shildon was amalgamated with Greenfield School, Newton 
Aycliffe.  Greenfield School was enlarged from 1 January 2015, 
becoming Greenfield Community College, and Sunnydale School was 
closed as a separate school on 31 December 2014. 

3 These schools were 2.2 miles apart and prior to the reorganisation, had 
already been working together in an educational trust.  At the time of the 
Ofsted inspection in 2014 there were also significant sustainability 
issues for Sunnydale school with only 405 pupils attending the school. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



 

4 Education delivery across a split-site took place until January 2020 
whereupon health and safety concerns forced the temporary closure of 
the Sunnydale site.  At this point all pupils were safely accommodated 
on the Greenfield site, with temporary additional accommodation 
provided. 

5 The establishment of a single school operating on a split-side model in 
2015 did not address the underlying challenges evident before the 
amalgamation.  Pupil numbers have continued to fall as education 
standards have declined with challenge from both DfE and Ofsted.  As a 
result, the school has faced financial challenges compounded by the 
long-standing site issues. 

6 In addition, the very poor condition especially of the Sunnydale site, 
have combined to create a situation that must be resolved by 
considering long term options for improved educational provision. 

7 In a report dated 13 October 2021, Cabinet agreed that consultation 
could commence on a proposal to close the Sunnydale site of 
Greenfield Community College on 31 August 2022 and to rebuild the 
Newton Aycliffe site. 

8 Following the completion of the initial consultation process, the 
Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s Services approved 
the issuing of a statutory notice proposing to close the Sunnydale site of 
Greenfield Community College on 31 August 2022 and to rebuild the 
Newton Aycliffe site. 

9 The statutory notice was issued on 20 January 2022.  During the 4 
week statutory representation period, 14 comments were received, 12 
in support of the proposal and 2 not in support of the proposal. 
Information on the responses received during the statutory 
representation period are set out in paragraphs 28 to 31 of this report. 

10 As part of the statutory process there are a range of factors that must 
be considered by Cabinet as the decision maker.  These are covered in 
paragraphs 32 to 46 of this report. 

Recommendation 

11 Cabinet is recommended to: 

(a)  agree to close the Sunnydale site of Greenfield Community 
College on 31 August 2022 and to rebuild the Newton Aycliffe 
site. 

  

Page 10



 

Background 

12 Sunnydale School, Shildon, amalgamated with Greenfield School, 
Newton Aycliffe on 1 January 2015, forming Greenfield Community 
College.  This was a consequence of Sunnydale School failing an 
Ofsted inspection and the subsequent choice between the school 
becoming part of a multi academy trust or closing outright or 
amalgamating with another school and giving up its unique reference 
number (URN).  As Greenfield School and Sunnydale School were 
already part of a foundation trust (the Asset Trust), governors were in 
favour of amalgamation and removal of the Sunnydale URN.  Greenfield 
School was enlarged, and Sunnydale School closed as a separate 
school on 31 December 2014. 

13 Since May 2017, concerns about educational standards, an 
unsustainable budget projection, a steady decline in pupil numbers 
(particularly those attending the Sunnydale site), and an accumulation 
of conditions backlog problems on both sites have made it necessary to 
review the options for education provision for pupils attending 
Greenfield Community College.  External pressure caused by the 
government approved expansion of the University Technical College 
(UTC) South Durham, situated in Newton Aycliffe, has exacerbated the 
situation. 

14 Split-site education, with pupils predominantly being taught on 
one or other of the two sites, continued until January 2020 when 
health and safety concerns on the Sunnydale site brought about 
a consolidation of all pupils on the Aycliffe site as a temporary 
solution.  Additional accommodation was required to support 
curriculum delivery, although reducing pupil numbers mean that 
there is no longer a need for the continued extensive use of 
temporary classrooms. 

15 There has been a gradual decline in pupil numbers since the 
amalgamation, triggered as it was by a failed Ofsted inspection.  
Two Ofsted inspections of Greenfield Community College, one in 
May 2017 and one in September 2019, contributed to the falling 
rolls, as did reduced parental choice (especially in the Shildon 
community), the relative success of neighbouring schools, the 
aforementioned expansion of the nearby UTC, and a lack of 
clarity about the future development of either site of Greenfield 
Community College. 

16 The 11-16 net capacity of Greenfield across both sites is 1,750 and in 
2017-18 there were 987 pupils on roll.  Currently, the total number of 
pupils on roll is 735.  163 pupils left at the end of Y11 in July 2021, and 
the Y7 roll is 124, with only 20 of these pupils coming from Shildon 

Page 11



 

primary schools.  The current pupil projections indicate that the pupil roll 
will peak at 775 in 2026/27 and thereafter gradually decline to 
approximately 690 by 2029/30. 

17 The Department for Education views the minimum size of a 
financially viable secondary school to be 600.  Greenfield 
Community College’s pupil roll is above this but across two sites 
the economies of scale are lost, putting the school under 
financial pressure.  In recent Ofsted inspections (May 2017 and 
September 2019) where the school was judged ‘Requires 
Improvement’, inspectors expressed the clear view that the 
delivery of the curriculum across a split-site was one of the 
factors delaying improvement in educational standards. 

18 Indications, therefore, from pupil data and Ofsted reports show that 
decisions should be taken promptly to provide sustainable and effective 
education for pupils attending Greenfield Community College. 

19 At its meeting on 13 October 2021, Cabinet was presented with a report 
outlining future options for the provision of education at Greenfield 
Community College in order that a solution is found to current 
challenges around sufficiency, building conditions, and impact of the 
split site model on the breadth and quality of the curriculum.  Having 
considered the four options presented, Cabinet gave approval for 
consultation to commence on a proposal to close the Sunnydale site of 
Greenfield Community College on 31 August 2022 and rebuild the 
Newton Aycliffe site.  Should this proposal be agreed, the vacated 
Sunnydale building will be demolished, and the Council will invest in 
rebuilding the Newton Aycliffe site so that education can be delivered 
from a single site in a building for a capacity for 800 pupils suitable for 
delivering a first class 21st century education. 

Consultation 

20 In undertaking this process, the Council has referred to the Department 
for Education (DFE) guidance – “Making significant changes 
(‘prescribed alterations’) to maintained schools.   Statutory guidance for 
proposers and decision-makers, October 2018”.  This guidance states 
that the decision-maker (in this case the Cabinet) needs to be satisfied 
that appropriate fair and open local consultation has been carried out 
and that the proposer (in this case the Council’s Education Service) has 
given full consideration to all the responses received.  The decision-
maker should not simply take account of the numbers of people 
expressing a view.  Instead, they should give the greatest weight to 
responses from those stakeholders likely to be most affected by a 
proposal – especially parents of children at the affected school(s). 

Page 12



 

21 An initial, non-statutory consultation on a proposal to close the 
Sunnydale site of Greenfield Community College on 31 August 2022 
and rebuild the Newton Aycliffe site was held between 8 November and 
19 December 2021.  Meetings with Elected Members, Governors and 
staff were held on 8 and 9 November 2021.  Live events were held over 
Microsoft Teams on 16 and 17 November 2021 for parents, the wider 
communities, and other stakeholders to hear the proposal explained by 
senior council officers and for them to ask questions and express views. 

22 The responses to the consultation were received and considered by 
officers in the Council.  Of the 1,127 responses received, 314 (27.9%) 
respondents strongly disagree with the proposal, 52 (4.6%) respondents 
disagree with it, 467 (41.4%) strongly agree with it, 199 (17.7%) agree 
with it, and 95 (8.4%) neither agreed nor disagreed. 

23 In summary, the main concerns expressed by those strongly 
disagreeing or disagreeing with the proposal were: Shildon should have 
its own secondary school and that there are sufficient pupils attending 
the three primary schools in Shildon to fill a secondary school;  a 
secondary school would address the needs of the town and the 
population; closing the school will have a detrimental impact on the 
community and businesses and wellbeing; Newton Aycliffe has three 
secondary schools and closing the one secondary school building in 
Shildon conflicts with the Government’s levelling up agenda. 

24 Those strongly agreeing or agreeing with the proposal felt that 
rebuilding the Newton Aycliffe site would provide an opportunity to 
invest in a school that will make education the heart of its mission 
instead of struggling with a building that doesn’t work; Greenfield 
Community College needs something such as a new build to overcome 
the stigma and negative press that has been attached since the school 
amalgamated with Sunnydale; it was in the best interests of children in 
Shildon, Newton Aycliffe and South West Durham generally to create a 
21st century facility which should become the springboard for enhanced 
opportunities for people across all sections of the communities and a 
beacon of good practice. 

Decision to Issue a Statutory Notice 

25 After considering all of the consultation responses received, the 
Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s Services agreed to 
publish proposals to close the Sunnydale site of Greenfield Community 
College on 31 August 2022 and rebuild the Newton Aycliffe site.  A 
statutory notice was therefore published on 20 January 2022. 

26 Significantly more responses supported the proposal than did not 
support it as indicated in paragraph 22 of the report.  Those 

Page 13



 

respondents opposed to the proposals did not provide evidence of 
sustainable numbers or alternative viable options to support their 
preferred option which is to retain secondary education on the 
Sunnydale site. 

27 Once a proposal is published there follows a statutory 4-week 
representation period during which comments can be made.  These 
must be sent to the Local Authority.  Any person can submit 
representations, which can be objections as well as expressions of 
support.  The representation period is the final opportunity for people 
and organisations to express their views about the proposal.  Once the 
representation period has closed, a decision on the proposal must be 
made by the decision-maker (in this case the Cabinet) within 2 months, 
ie by 17 April 2022. 

Responses to the proposal published on 20 January 2022 (The 
Statutory Notice Period) 

28 14 responses were received by the end of the 4-week statutory notice 
period, 12 in support of the proposal, 2 not in support of the proposal. 

29 The Governing Body and Senior Leadership Team of Greenfield 
Community College and the Directors and Trustees of the Asset Trust 
all support the proposal.  It feels that the proposal is the only means of 
providing a sustainable future for Greenfield Community College.  It 
believes that the school’s student population deserves a school that is 
fit for purpose, with resources and facilities to allow teachers to deliver a 
high quality secondary education for the school community that serves 
both Shildon and Newton Aycliffe and the surrounding villages. The 
school’s unique ethos, with an emphasis on the arts and personal 
development alongside academic excellence, provides significant 
choice to families. 

30 Other respondents who support the proposal felt that educationally the 
proposal is in the best interests of children and their families and the 
inevitable turbulence during the initial changes will eventually subside 
and enable transformation of the learning environment for all children 
attending the Greenfield site.  All of the education monitoring evidence 
from DfE and LA officers, points towards improved provision once the 
split site arrangement is finally removed.  The provision of new, 
purpose-built accommodation will inevitably better meet the curriculum 
needs of children progressing in the 21st century.  Strong links already 
exist with institutions in Further and Higher Education and modern 
accommodation is the only solution and the proposal will provide the 
'missing link' in the experience for children of secondary age.  It will 
provide the children from all communities with a broader curricular and 
social experience, and it will allow the school infrastructure to maximise 

Page 14



 

spend per pupil rather than doubling costs of business support staff and 
utility bills. 

31 Those respondents who did not support the proposal felt that Shildon 
deserved its own secondary school.  They stated in responses that 
Shildon has three outstanding primary schools and Sunnydale had once 
been an outstanding school and could be so again if the Council had 
not neglected it.  However, these respondents did not address the 
underlying issues that make secondary provision in Shildon 
unsustainable both educationally and financially as set out in both this 
report and the original Cabinet report in October 2021. 

Decision-Making Process - Factors to be considered by Cabinet 

Consideration of Consultation and Representation Period 

32 Cabinet needs to be satisfied that the appropriate fair and open local 
consultation and representation period have been carried out and that 
the proposer (in this case the Local Authority) has given full 
consideration to all the responses received.  If the proposer has failed to 
meet the statutory requirements, this proposal may be deemed invalid 
and therefore should be rejected.  Consultation was carried out in 
accordance with Department for Education (DFE guidance) ‘Opening 
and closing maintained schools, November 2019. 

33 Cabinet must consider all the views submitted, including all support for, 
and objections to and comments on the proposal.  Details of responses 
received during the statutory representation period are included in 
paragraphs 28-31 of this report.  The statutory notice published on 20 
January 2022, and which expired on 17 February 2022 (the 
representation period) was prepared in accordance with the regulations 
and complied with statutory requirements. 

Related Proposals 

34 Where proposals appear to be related to other proposals, the decision-
maker must consider the related proposals together.  A proposal should 
be regarded as related if its implementation (or non-implementation) 
would prevent or undermine the effective implementation of another 
proposal. 

The proposal to close the Sunnydale site of Greenfield Community 
College on 31 August 2022 and rebuild the Newton Aycliffe site are 
‘related’ therefore they must be considered together. 

  

Page 15



 

Education Standards and Diversity Issues 

35 Following an inspection judgement of ‘inadequate’, Sunnydale School in 
Shildon was amalgamated with Greenfield School, Newton Aycliffe.  
Greenfield School was enlarged from 1 January 2015, becoming 
Greenfield Community College, and Sunnydale School was closed as a 
separate school on 31 December 2014. 

36  Education delivery across a split-site took place until January 2020 
whereupon health and safety concerns forced the temporary closure of 
the Sunnydale site.  At this point all pupils were safely accommodated 
on the Greenfield site, with temporary additional accommodation 
provided. 

37 The establishment of a single school operating on a split-side model in 
2015 did not address the underlying challenges evident before the 
amalgamation.  Pupil numbers have continued to fall as education 
standards have declined with challenge from both DfE and Ofsted.  As a 
result, the school has faced financial challenges compounded by the 
long-standing site issues. 

38 Repeated Ofsted inspections and Department for Education (DfE) 
advisers have identified the split-site arrangement inhibits educational 
improvement and progress. 

39 The proposal to close the Sunnydale site of Greenfield Community 
College and rebuild the Newton Aycliffe site will have a positive impact 
for students, their families, and staff.  Having one site instead of two 
eradicates duplication of resources and enables more of the funding the 
school receives to be spent on the students to improve education 
provision in an enhanced facility fit to deliver a first class 21st century 
education.  It is believed that this proposal provides the best future 
option for the children, the school, and the communities it serves based 
on educational outcomes, pupil numbers, site issues and sustainable 
finances. 

Proposed Admission Arrangements 

40 When deciding the proposal, Cabinet should confirm that the admission 
arrangements are compliant with the School Admissions Code.  The 
admission arrangements will remain unchanged and be the same as 
those for all community and voluntary controlled schools in County 
Durham and these are compliant with the DFE’s School Admission 
Code.  The proposed number of pupils to be admitted to Year 7 in the 
school in September 2022 will be 185. 

  

Page 16



 

National Curriculum 

41 All maintained schools must follow the National Curriculum unless they 
have secured an exemption for groups of pupils or the school 
community.  The proposal to close the Sunnydale site of Greenfield 
Community College on 31 August 2022 and rebuild the Newton Aycliffe 
site has no impact on the school’s ability to follow the National 
Curriculum. 

Equal Opportunity Issues 

42 Cabinet must have regard to the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) 
which requires them to have ‘due regard’ to the need to: 

 eliminate discrimination; 

 advance quality of opportunity; 

 foster good relations. 

43 An equality impact assessment (Appendix 2) has been carried out on 
this proposal.  It is evident that there would be potential or actual impact 
on protected groups of pupils.  In particular, there are potential impacts 
in relation to age, disability, and gender to varying degrees.  As the 
proposal develops, this EIA will be updated to clearly reflect the 
potential impact and the appropriate mitigating actions will be put in 
place. 

Travel and Accessibility 

44 The single secondary school will operate on the Newton Aycliffe site of 
Greenfield Community College which is where all pupils are currently 
taught.  Consequently, there will be no increase in travelling time from 
that currently experienced. 

Funding 

45 The capital cost of the preferred option to convert the Aycliffe site is 
forecast to be £20.7 million.  The cost of the demolition of the 
Sunnydale building is circa £1.3 million resulting in a total forecast cost 
of £22 million.  There is sufficient scope in capital contingencies to 
finance £12 million of the total forecast £22 million requirement.  If 
Cabinet agrees to the proposal, a subsequent £10 million capital bid will 
be made as part of the MTFP(13) budget process.  In relation to 
revenue formula funding, the school currently qualifies for a split-site 
allowance, consisting of a lump sum of £89,230 plus £3.70 per pupil.  
This has been provided in 2022/23 at a cost of £92,100.  If all pupils are 
educated on the Newton Aycliffe site, then this allowance will cease 

Page 17



 

from the start of the 2023/24 financial year.  The allowance is part of the 
school’s formula funding and is paid for out of the overall formula 
funding allocation to mainstream primary and secondary schools.  This 
loss of funding will be offset by savings in non-staffing budgets, from 
future planned restructuring and from savings in staff supervision and 
staff travel between two sites. 

46 The dual use access / funding arrangements between Greenfield 
Community College and Shildon Leisure Centre will end and this will 
place a c£60k budget pressure / MTFP impact on the Council as we will 
retain the leisure provision.  Projected Capital funding for demolition of 
building on the Sunnydale site referenced in paragraph 44 will enable 
separation of utilities for Shildon Leisure Centre to continue to operate 
in its present form. 

School Premises and Playing Fields 

47 Under the School Premises (England) Regulations 2012 all maintained 
schools are required to provide suitable outdoor space to enable 
physical education to be provided to pupils in accordance with the 
school curriculum; and for pupils to play outside safely.  The Newton 
Aycliffe site of Greenfield Community College has suitable outdoor 
spaces for all pupils. 

Conclusion 

48 As evidenced through this report and the original 13 October 2021 
report to Cabinet, the proposal to close the Sunnydale site of Greenfield 
Community College on 31 August 2022 and rebuild the Newton Aycliffe 
site will have a positive impact for students, their families.  It will enable 
the school’s potential to retain and attract the very best teaching and 
support staff.  Having one site instead of two eradicates duplication of 
resources and enables more of the funding the school receives to be 
spent on the students to improve education provision in an enhanced 
facility fit to deliver a first class 21st century education. 

49 Schools need to be sustainable to meet the challenges in a rapidly 
changing educational environment.  The objectives of this proposal are 
to significantly enhance the quality of education provision for children 
within local communities whilst ensuring choice of provision and 
curriculum breadth through specialisms, are enhanced.  Closing the 
Sunnydale site of Greenfield Community College on 31 August 2022 
and rebuilding the Newton Aycliffe site will remove split site provision 
which has a detrimental impact on viability and educational outcomes.  
This will help to make the school sustainable for the long term and 
educationally it is in the best interests of children and their families. 

Page 18



 

50 Officers believe this recommendation provides the best future option for 
the children, the school, and the communities it serves based on 
educational outcomes, pupil numbers, site issues and sustainable 
finances. 

51 There was a large response to the initial consultation.  The majority of 
responses (59.1%) supported the proposal which is unusual. School 
reorganisation can be an area of concern as local communities often 
see a school as being at the heart of the community and sometimes 
cannot immediately agree with the need for change.  However, the fact 
that most respondents support this proposal indicates that they clearly 
see the educational benefits it will bring about. Those respondents who 
do not support it have not suggested alternative practicable solutions for 
the education of children and young people living in the area.  

52 The statutory notice received a limited response but 12 out of the 14 
who did respond supported the proposal to close the Sunnydale site of 
Greenfield Community College on 31 August 2022 and rebuild the 
Newton Aycliffe site.  Those not in support of the proposal did not bring 
forward any new options for consideration or provide evidence that 
retaining secondary provision in Shildon, either on a split site basis or 
through a separate school was possible or sustainable. 

Background Papers 

 Delegated Decision Report dated 14 January 2022. 

 Cabinet Report dated13 October 2021 ‘Greenfield Community 
College – future options’. 

 Consultation document: ‘Proposal to close the Sunnydale site of 
Greenfield Community College on 31 August 2022 and rebuild the 
Newton Aycliffe site’. 

 Consultation document distribution list –Nov/Dec 2021 

 Public notice: ‘Proposal to close the Sunnydale site of Greenfield 
Community College on 31 August 2022 and rebuild the Newton 
Aycliffe site’. 

Author(s) 

Graeme Plews Tel: 03000 265777 

 

Page 19



 

 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The actions described in this report are intended to comply with the Council's 
duty to exercise its functions with a view to promoting high standards and the 
fulfilment of each pupil's learning potential in accordance with S13A of the 
Education Act 1996. 

The Corporate Director of Resources is responsible by virtue of Section 151 of 
the Local Government Act 1972 for the administration of the authority’s 
financial affairs.  The Corporate Director of Resources also has a duty to 
report certain matters to the authority by virtue of Section 114 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1988. 

Schools have delegated budgets, but if a school fails to recruit sufficient pupils 
to maintain a viable budget or incurs staffing or other costs in excess of 
income, then the decision to allow a school to set a deficit budget falls to the 
Section 151 Officer, the Corporate Director of Resources. 

The funding framework governing schools finance, which replaced Local 
Management of Schools, is based on the legislative provisions in sections 45-
53 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998.  Under this legislation 
the Council is required to publish a Scheme of Financing for Schools.  The 
scheme sets out the financial relationship between the authority and the 
maintained schools which it funds, including the respective roles and 
responsibilities of the authority and the schools.  The scheme does not limit 
unreasonably the flexibility of schools to control and deploy their budgets, 
recognising the need for public monies are involved to be properly accounted 
for and recorded.  The scheme includes provisions which are binding on both 
parties.  Under the scheme, any deficits of expenditure against budget share 
(formula funding and other income due to the school) in any financial year will 
be charged against the school and will be deducted from the following year’s 
budget share to establish the funding available to the school for the coming 
year. 

Schools cannot set a deficit budget without the prior agreement in writing of 
the authority.  For clarity, a deficit budget is one where the gross expenditure 
in the budget plan exceeds the total of funding, income, and the balance 
(surplus or deficit) brought forward from previous years. 

Finance 

The cost of the preferred option to convert the Aycliffe site is forecast to be 
£20.7 million. The cost of the demolition of the Sunnydale building is circa 
£1.3 million resulting in a total forecast cost of £22 million.  There is sufficient 
scope in capital contingencies to finance £12 million of the total forecast £22 
million requirement. If Cabinet agree to the proposal, a subsequent £10 million 
capital bid will be made as part of the MTFP(13) budget process. 

Page 20



 

A Marketing Strategy Report for the Sunnydale site, detailing a likely sales 
range, was undertaken by the Council.  Please note this is not a formal ‘Red 
Book’ valuation with is stated within the report.  The report was prepared as 
an advisory note and was based on the small amount of information available 
to the surveyors undertaking the requested report. 

As a combined development site, it is believed that the site is likely to 
encounter significant viability issues.  Each of the calculations provided with 
the report provided a range of negative figures.  This is due to; site 
constraints, unknown costs, low sales values, high build costs and demolition 
costs (estimated within a previously produced report to be in the region of  
£1.3 million).  As such, it is believed that the asset will have a likely sales price 
of £1 (ONE POUND). 

In relation to formula funding, the school currently qualifies for a split-site 
allowance, consisting of a lump sum of £89,230 plus £3.70 per pupil.  This has 
been provided in 2022-23 at a cost of £92,100.  If all pupils are educated on 
the Newton Aycliffe site only, then this allowance will cease from the start of 
the 2023-24 financial year.  The allowance is part of the school’s formula 
funding and is paid for out of the overall formula funding allocation to 
mainstream primary and secondary schools.  This loss of funding will be offset 
by savings in non-staffing budgets, from future planned restructuring and from 
savings in staff supervision and staff travel between two sites. 

The dual use access / funding arrangements between Greenfield Community 
College and Shildon Leisure Centre will end and that this will place a c£60k 
budget pressure / MTFP impact on the council as we will retain the leisure 
provision. 

Consultation 

Consultation has been carried out in accordance with DfE statutory guidance.  
The approach to consultation is described in the report. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Any review or change to educational provision in an area has the 
potential to have an adverse effect on protected characteristics, both in 
terms of pupils, their families, local communities, and employees 
working in the schools.  Any review or change to educational provision 
in an area has the potential to have an adverse effect on protected 
characteristics, both in terms of pupils, their families, local 
communities, and employees working in the schools. 

Consideration over whether to close the Sunnydale site and to teach all 
pupils on the Newton Aycliffe site is a course of action recommended 
by both Ofsted and the Department for Education, as it will lead to 
improved standards and a better curriculum offer.  It is argued by these 
bodies that education will be provided in an improved environment to 
provide a positive learning experience for children and young people 
and provide equal access to all. Page 21



 

The focus on improved educational outcomes is seen as a positive 
experience in a child's education and ensures that children who are 
protected under the Equality and Diversity/Public Sector Equality Duty 
can maximise their potential.  The main groups affected are students 
currently accessing their education exclusively on the Sunnydale site, 
prior to its temporary closure, students who expressed a preference for 
a place on the Newton Aycliffe site, and staff employed at Greenfield 
Community College. 

However, the proposal to close the Sunnydale site of Greenfield Community 
College on 31 August 2022 and to rebuild the Newton Aycliffe site will benefit 
pupils, staff, and parents.  Education will be provided in one location with a 
single leadership team to facilitate a positive learning experience for children 
and provide equal access to all. 

The focus on improved educational outcomes is seen as a positive experience 
in a child's education and ensures that children who are protected under the 
Equality and Diversity/Public Sector Equality Duty can maximise their 
potential. 

An Equality Impact Assessment is included in Appendix 2 to this report. 

Climate Change 

The recommendation of this report involves increased use of transport from 
Shildon to Newton Aycliffe.  The proposals in the report concerning new build 
schools or refurbishment will be costed and undertaken in line with the 
Council’s commitment to follow a pathway to net zero carbon emissions. 

Human Rights 

Human rights are not affected by the recommendation in this report. 

Crime and Disorder 

No impact. 

Staffing 

The school is effectively operating on one site now and any restructuring will 
be linked to the financial sustainability of the school, not directly as a result of 
the proposal to close the Sunnydale site.  Any future staffing reductions will be 
subject to DCC policies and will be managed in line with HR processes. 

Accommodation 

The Sunnydale site has shared-use Sport and Leisure facilities, managed by 
the Council as part of the Culture, Sport & Tourism Service.  The operation of 
these services to the community will continue as normal.  The rebuild of the 
Newton Aycliffe site will lead to improved accommodation that will be fully 
accessible. 

  
Page 22



 

Risk 

A key risk is that because of actions taken by the Council (including the failure 
to make timely interventions), pupils and students do not receive an adequate 
education.  There is an additional risk of reputational damage if the Council 
does not appear to be able resolve the problem of schools operating with 
significant and sometimes increasing budgetary difficulties and allows some 
schools to continue to set deficit budgets whilst requiring other schools to 
balance their budgets. 

The Section151 Officer must sign-off the budget for schools with a deficit 
budget plan and needs to be able to justify doing so in terms of each school 
having a robust plan to recover from its deficit.  The scheme of delegation 
allows for deficit budgets, but only for three years, and no more than 20% of 
the school’s budget share, up to a maximum of £750,000.  There is a risk of 
legal challenge from the Department for Education if this statutory function is 
neglected.  There is a risk of external auditors calling into question the actions 
of the Section 151 Officer if no credible plans are agreed to resolve the issues 
described in this report. 

Procurement 

The rebuilding of the Newton Aycliffe site will be procured in accordance with 
the Council’s procurement arrangements. 

  

Page 23



 

Appendix 2:  Impact Assessment 

 
Service/Team or Section  Children and Young People’s Services  

Lead Officer  Graeme Plews, School Places and Admissions 

Manager 

Subject of the impact 

assessment  
Proposal to close the Sunnydale site of Greenfield 

Community College on 31 August 2022 and 

rebuild the Newton Aycliffe site.  

Report date  
(Cabinet/CMT/Mgt team etc)  

Cabinet 13 October 2021  

Delegated Decision Report 14 January 2022 

Cabinet 6 April 2022 

MTFP Reference (if relevant)    

Start Date  November 2021  

Review Date  At various planned stages within the development 

of the proposal.  

  

Subject of the Impact Assessment  
Please give a brief description of the policy, proposal, or practice as appropriate (a 

copy of the subject can be attached or insert a web-link)  

The purpose of the impact assessment is to provide information for the decision-

making process. It is designed to appraise the likely impacts of the proposal on 

people with characteristics protected under the Equality Act 2010.  

This equality impact assessment will assess the potential impact of the proposal to 

close the Sunnydale site of Greenfield Community College on 31 August 2022 and 

rebuild the Newton Aycliffe site,  

 

Page 24



 

Background  

Sunnydale School, Shildon, amalgamated with Greenfield School, Newton 
Aycliffe, on 1 January 2015, forming Greenfield Community College.  This 
was a consequence of Sunnydale School failing an Ofsted inspection and 
the subsequent choice between the school becoming part of a multi 
academy trust or closing outright or amalgamating with another school and 
giving up its unique reference number (URN).  As Greenfield School and  
Sunnydale School were already part of a foundation trust (the Asset Trust), 
governors were in favour of amalgamation and removal of the Sunnydale 
URN.  Greenfield School was enlarged, and Sunnydale School closed as a 
separate school on 31 December 2014. 
Since May 2017, concerns about educational standards, an unsustainable 
budget projection, a steady decline in pupil numbers (particularly those 
attending the Sunnydale site), and an accumulation of conditions backlog 
problems on both sites have made it necessary to review the options for 
education provision for pupils attending Greenfield Community College.  
External pressure caused by the government approved expansion of the 
University Technical College (UTC) South Durham, situated in Newton 
Aycliffe, has exacerbated the situation.  

Split-site education, with pupils predominantly being taught on one or 

other of the two sites, continued until January 2020 when health and 

safety concerns on the Sunnydale site brought about a consolidation 

of all pupils on the Aycliffe site as a temporary solution.  Additional 

accommodation was required to support curriculum delivery, although 

reducing pupil numbers mean that there is no longer a need for the 

continued extensive use of temporary classrooms.  

There has been a gradual decline in pupil numbers since the 

amalgamation, triggered as it was by a failed Ofsted inspection.  Two 

Ofsted inspections of Greenfield Community College, one in May 

2017 and one in September 2019, contributing to the falling rolls, as 

did reduced parental choice (especially in the Shildon community), 

the relative success of neighbouring schools, the aforementioned 

expansion of the nearby UTC, and a lack of clarity about the future 

development of either site of Greenfield Community College.  

The 11-16 net capacity of Greenfield across both sites is 1750 and in 2017-

18 there were 987 pupils on roll.  Currently, the total number of pupils on roll 

is735.  163 pupils left at the end of Y11 in July 2021, and the current Y7 roll 

is 124, with only 20 of these pupils coming from Shildon primary schools.  

The current pupil projections indicate that the pupil roll will peak at 775 in 

2026/27 and thereafter gradually decline to approximately 690 by 2029/30. 

The Department for Education views the minimum size of a financially viable 
secondary school to be 600. Greenfield Community College’s pupil roll is 
above this but across two sites the economies of scale are lost, putting the Page 25



 

school under financial pressure.  In recent Ofsted inspections (May 2017 
and September 2019) where the school was judged ‘Requires Improvement’, 
inspectors expressed the clear view that the delivery of the curriculum 
across a split-site was one of the factors delaying improvement in 
educational standards.  

Indications, therefore, from pupil data and Ofsted reports show that 
decisions should be taken promptly to determine options for providing 
sustainable education of pupils attending Greenfield Community College, 
including future proposals for the Sunnydale site which is currently 
unoccupied.  

At its meeting on 13 October 2021, Cabinet was presented with a report 
outlining future options for the provision of education at Greenfield 
Community College in order that a solution is found to current challenges 
sufficiency, building conditions, and impact of the split site model on the 
breadth and quality of the curriculum. Having considered the options 
presented, Cabinet gave approval for consultation to commence on a 
proposal to close the Sunnydale site of Greenfield Community College on 31 
August 2022 and rebuild the Newton Aycliffe site.  

 

Page 26



 

The table below shows the number of pupils attending nearby secondary schools.  

Secondary school attended by pupils attending Primary schools in Shildon  

                                                                          2018  2019  2020  2021  

Woodham Academy                                               1  4  3  9  

Sunnydale site of Greenfield Comm College        40  39  22  17  

St. John's Catholic School Bp Auckland               19  15  29  30  

King James 1 Academy                                        43  33  50  44  

Aycliffe site of Greenfield Comm College               3  1  2  8  

Bishop Barrington School                                     11  10  9  2  

Out county school(s)                                              2  4  1  3  

Ferryhill Business & Enterprise College                -  -  1  -  

                                                                 TOTAL  
119  

 TOTAL 

106  
TOTAL 

117  
 TOTAL 

113  

  

The 11-16 net capacity of Greenfield across both sites is 1,750 and in 2017-18 

there were 987 pupils on roll.  The current number of pupils on roll is 735.  163 

pupils left at the end of Y11 in July 2021, and the current role for Y7 is only 124, 

with only 20 of these pupils coming from Shildon primary schools.  The current 

pupil projections indicate that the pupil roll will peak at 775 in 2026/27.  

This EIA considers the proposal to close the Sunnydale site of Greenfield 

Community College on 31 August 2022 and rebuild the Newton Aycliffe site.  

  

 

 

  

Who are the main people impacted and/or stakeholders? (e.g., general public, 

staff, members, specific clients/service users, community representatives):  

Page 27



 

General Public, Governors, Staff, Parents, Pupils, Primary schools within the area,  

Elected Members, MPs, Neighbouring Schools, Trade Unions, Diocese, 

Department for Education, Community Groups, Parish Councils, Residents’  

Associations, AAP Board, Neighbouring Authorities, CYPS/DCC Staff  

  

Screening  
Is there any actual or potential negative or positive impact on the following 
protected characteristics1?  

  

Protected Characteristic  Negative Impact  

Indicate: Yes, No or  
Unsure  

Positive Impact  

Indicate: Yes, No or  
Unsure  

Age  N N 

Disability  Y Yes, the rebuild of 

the Newton 

Aycliffe site will 

lead to a more 

accessible 

building. 

Gender reassignment  N  N  

Marriage and civil partnership 

(‘eliminate discrimination’ 

employment only)  

N/A  N/A  

Pregnancy and maternity  N/A  N/A  

Race  N  N 

Religion or Belief  N  N  

Sex  N N 

Sexual orientation  N  N  

 Please provide brief details of any potential to cause discrimination or negative 

impact. Record full details and any mitigating actions in section 2 of this 

assessment.  

 
1 https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/equality-act/protected-characteristics  Page 28



 

Overall impact on pupils   

Overall, there may be impacts on all pupils who currently attend either Sunnydale 

or Greenfield site. Pupils may experience anxiety and stress relating to changes, 

such as adapting to new routines, staff, facilities, and peers. Positive impacts are 

likely to occur with improved teaching and learning facilities on a single school site, 

which provide larger number of pupils so this will allow increased opportunities for 

greater social interaction and breadth of experiences, resulting in a positive impact 

on pupils.  

Overall impact on staff  

There will be no staff reductions as a result of this proposal: the numbers of pupils 

and breadth of curriculum will remain unchanged and so staffing will be unaffected. 

However, a single site would reduce the additional burden of travel between sites, 

allowing staff additional time to complete other tasks.  

Age   

Pupils   

If the proposal is agreed, those in Shildon will be attending the Newton Aycliffe site 

on a permanent basis rather than moving back to the Sunnydale site at some 

point. The temporary school transport arrangements currently in place will become 

permanent to facilitate this. 

Staff  

There will be no impact in relation to staff reductions, as a result of any of the 

proposal.  

Disability   

Pupils   

There are potential negative impacts associated with the proposal for some pupils 

who are disabled. For example, pupils with autistic spectrum conditions may 

experience difficulties in the rebuild process that can negatively affect educational 

attainment and general well-being. These pupils may find adapting to the routines, 

expectations, and social relationships of a new school environment more 

challenging. There are potential positive impacts as the rebuild will be a more 

accessible building. 

 

Page 29



 

However, there are potential positive impacts for some pupils with disabilities due 

to the support available in one site, for example larger pupil population and larger 

staff population can enable greater access to specialist staff and services.   

Staff   

There are no potential impacts on staff in relation to the options proposed.  

Sex   

Pupils   

The proposal has no potential impacts on pupils .   

Staff   

The proposal has no potential impacts on staff.  

Review of equality impact  

The current situation of school provision based on one site allows to see the 

potential implications which may arise if this is a permanent solution. There are 

both positive and negative impacts to this option. The decision to locate all pupils 

temporarily has allowed for a better standard of education which identifies a 

positive impact for all pupils. The positive benefits which this has brought to young 

people and teaching staff has been identified by the Governing Body. This has 

seen benefits such as improved access for pupils to specialist teachers, 

teacher/teaching specialism is accurately matched to student/class need, enriched 

curriculum in terms of subject but also extra-curricular activities. Pupils living in 

Shildon for whom Greenfield Community College is the nearest suitable school 

should the proposal be agreed will be provided with free home to school transport 

as the walking routes from Shildon to the Newton Aycliffe site have been deemed 

to be unsuitable. Under the Extended Rights policy, pupils on free school meals 

(FSM) are entitled to free travel to one of the 3 nearest suitable schools between 2-

6 miles, so any negative impact on this group would be unlikely. The proposal 

would have no impact on specialist SEND provision for pupils who require such 

support. In fact, likely this would improve in an enhanced building and learning 

environment. 

 

 

Page 30



 

Please provide brief details of positive impact. How will this policy/proposal 
promote our commitment to our legal responsibilities under the public sector 
equality duty to:  

• eliminate discrimination, harassment, and victimisation,   
• advance equality of opportunity, and   
• foster good relations between people from different groups?  

  

We recognise the need to treat all those involved in the review fairly; in particular 

we have had regard to the named ‘protected’ characteristic and our specific duty to 

carry out our discussions and decision making in ways that eliminate 

discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations; for 

people who share a relevant protected characteristic; and those who do not.  

 
Evidence  
What evidence do you have to support your data analysis and any findings?   

Please outline any data you have and/or proposed sources (e.g., service user or 

census data, research findings. Highlight any data gaps and say whether or not 

you propose to carry out consultation. Record your detailed analysis, in relation to 

the impacted protected characteristics, in the following section of this assessment.  

Current data identifies the number of pupils attending Greenfield Community 

college and the location from which they currently travel.  

Page 31



 

 
 Number of 

pupils 
 Male 369  Female 366 

Page 32



 

 

 

 

  

Has EHC plan  8  1%   

Has SEN support, but 

not an EHCP  
130  17.6%  

Not known to have 

special education 

need  

597  81.4%  

  

Screening Summary  
On the basis of this screening is there:  

  

Confirm which 

refers (Y/N)  

Are you proceeding to full impact assessment (sections 2&3 of 

this template) based on the screening (section 1) information 

provided?  

Y  

  

Sign Off  
Lead officer sign off:  

  

Date:  

Equality representative sign off (where required):  

S Tracey, C Holt  

Date:  

  

Page 33



 

If carrying out a full assessment please proceed to section two.  

If not proceeding to full assessment, please ensure your screening record is 

attached to any relevant decision-making records or reports, retain a 

copy for update where necessary, and forward a copy to 

equalities@durham.gov.uk  

If you are unsure of assessing impact please contact the corporate equalities 

team for further advice at equalities@durham.gov.uk  

Section Two: Data analysis and assessment of impact  

Please provide details of impacts for people with different protected 

characteristics relevant to your screening findings. You need to decide if 

there is or likely to be a differential impact for some. Highlight the positives 

e.g., benefits for certain groups, advancing equality, as well as the negatives 

e.g., barriers for and/or exclusion of particular groups. Record the evidence 

you have used to support or explain your conclusions and any necessary 

mitigating actions to ensure fair treatment.  

Protected Characteristic: Age  

What is the actual or 

potential impact on 

stakeholders?  

Record of evidence to support 

or explain your conclusions on 

impact.  

What further action 

or mitigation is 

required?  

The proposal will have a 
potential impact on young 
people (age 11-16).  

 

Current data (February 2022) 
shows the percentages for the 
following year group:  

Year 7- 16.9%   (124 pupils)  

Year 8 – 16.6% (122 pupils)  

Year 9 – 23%  (169 pupils)  

Year 10 – 20.9% (154 pupils) 

Year 11- 22.6% (166 pupils)  

Ensure this EIA is 
updated as the 
proposal develops.  

  

  

Protected Characteristic: Disability   

What is the actual or 

potential impact on 

stakeholders?  

Explain your conclusion 

considering relevant evidence 

and consultation  

What further action 

or mitigation is 

required?  

Page 34



 

There is not expected to be 
a potential negative/positive 
impact for disabled young 
people, as all young people 
with an EHCP will still have 
their needs met.  Even 
though there is a specialist 
speech and language 
provision at Timothy 
Hackworth Primary school, 
not all of these children then 
go on to attend Greenfield 
Community College. 
Parental choice means that 
some travel to schools within 
the Bishop Auckland area.  

However, the overall positive 
impact of the proposal would 
be improved educational 
outcomes for all pupils. This 
is evident in the information 
provided by the Governing 
body in respect of current 
arrangements based on a 
single site. Students based 
at one site have regular 
access to teachers, and 
better support for SEND 
students, all TA’s on one  
site, allows the ability to 

develop nurture group, 

SENCO is accessible to all 

students all the time. 

Current data (February 2022)  

The data shows that currently 
1% (less than 10 pupils) of 
pupils at Greenfield 
Community college have an 
Education, Health Care plan, 
this is in comparison to 4% 
across County Durham.  
However, 16% (132 pupils) 
have SEN support but not an 
EHCP, this is in comparison 
to 13% across County 
Durham.  

 

Further consultation 
with pupils and 
specialist SEND 
teachers at the 
school, to identify 
potential issues.   

Planned 
communication 
between the 
schools to ensure 
pupil needs are 
understood to 
support work to 
ensure each pupil’s 
statement or 
individual 
education plan has 
been reviewed, and 
appropriate 
provisions have 
been made.  

Larger staff 

population enabling 

greater access to 

specialist staff 

  

Protected Characteristic: Gender reassignment    

What is the actual or 

potential impact on 

stakeholders?  

Explain your conclusion 

considering relevant evidence 

and consultation  

What further action 

or mitigation is 

required?  

No potential impact      

  

Protected Characteristic: Marriage and civil partnership (‘eliminate 

discrimination’ employment only)  

What is the actual or 

potential impact on 

stakeholders?  

Explain your conclusion 

considering relevant evidence 

and consultation  

What further action 

or mitigation is 

required?  

Page 35



 

No impact      

  

Protected Characteristic: Pregnancy and maternity   

What is the actual or 

potential impact on 

stakeholders?  

Explain your conclusion 

considering relevant evidence 

and consultation  

What further action 

or mitigation is 

required?  

No potential impact      

  

Protected Characteristic: Race   

What is the actual or 

potential impact on 

stakeholders?  

Explain your conclusion 

considering relevant evidence 

and consultation  

What further action 

or mitigation is 

required?  

There are a number of GRT 

families within the Shildon 

area. Consideration needs 

to be given to the potential 

impact the options may have 

on the community.  

Current pupil data indicates 
that of those that have  
declared their data, 97.1% are 

White British. Pupils of 

Traveller and Irish Heritage 

are 0.1%, this figure is 

representative of other school 

data across the county. 

Therefore, the impact on the 

GRT pupils will be slight.    

Target consultation 

with families in the 

GRT community.  

  

Protected Characteristic: Religion or belief   

What is the actual or 

potential impact on 

stakeholders?  

Explain your conclusion 

considering relevant evidence 

and consultation  

What further action 

or mitigation is 

required?  

No potential impact      

  

Protected Characteristic: Sex  

What is the actual or 

potential impact on 

stakeholders?  

Explain your conclusion 

considering relevant evidence 

and consultation  

What further action 

or mitigation is 

required?  

Page 36



 

The proposal will not have a 
significant impact on either 
male/female young people.  
There may potentially be 
issues of safety in relation to 
travel outside of the area.  

 

Current pupil data indicates 

an even split of male/female 

pupils.   

  

  

Protected Characteristic: Sexual orientation   

What is the actual or 

potential impact on 

stakeholders?  

Explain your conclusion 

considering relevant evidence 

and consultation  

What further action 

or mitigation is 

required?  

No potential impact      

  

Section Three: Conclusion and Review  

Summary  
Please provide a brief summary of your findings; a summary of any positive and/or 

negative impacts across the protected characteristics, links to the involvement of 

different groups and/or public consultation, mitigations and conclusions made.  

From the process of equalities impact assessment, it is evident that there would be 

potential or actual impact on protected groups of pupils, and staff. In particular, 

there are potential impacts in relation to disability, and race to varying degrees.   

As the proposal develops this EIA will be updated to clearly reflect the potential 

impact and the appropriate mitigating actions will be put in place.  

  

Will this promote positive relationships between different communities? If 

so how?  

Action Plan  
Action  Responsibility  Timescales for 

implementation  
In which plan will 

the action appear?  

Page 37



 

As the proposal develops, 

ensure that we engage with 

all young people and 

families to understand the 

impact.  

      

Ensure this EIA is updated 

as the proposal develops  
      

Regular correspondence 

with pupils, and with 

parents/carers to ensure 

that they are aware of 

changes and able to 

support their children.  

      

Further consultation with 

pupils and specialist SEND 

teachers at the school, to 

identify any potential issues 

for individual pupils.  

      

  

Review and connected assessments  
Are there any additional or connected equality impact 

assessments that need to be undertaken? (If yes, 

provide details)  

  

When will this assessment be reviewed?  

Please also insert this date at the front of the template  

As and when the 

proposal is 

implemented.  

  

Sign Off  
Lead officer sign off:  

  

Date:  

Equality representative sign off (where required):  

  

Date:  

  

Please ensure this equality impact assessment (EIA) record is attached 

to relevant decision-making records or reports, a summary of findings 

is included within the report and the report implications appendix is 

noted that an EIA has been undertaken.  

Retain a copy for update where necessary, and forward a copy to 

equalities@durham.gov.uk  Page 38



 

  

 Cabinet 

 6 April 2022 

 Declaration of an Ecological Emergency 

Key Decision No. NCC/03/22 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Alan Patrickson, Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and 
Climate Change 

Councillor Mark Wilkes, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for 
Neighbourhoods and Climate Change 

Councillor James Rowlandson Cabinet Portfolio Holder for 
Resources, Investments and Assets 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

All 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To respond to the Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee (ESCOSC) report to Cabinet on the 
consideration of an ecological emergency. 

2 To formally declare an ecological emergency for County Durham. 

Executive summary 

3 The considerable work of the ESCOSC in assessing evidence on the 
state of the environment in County Durham and reported in Appendix 2 
is acknowledged and much appreciated.  Their findings show 
overwhelming evidence for global and national decline in habitats and 
species, and whilst the local data is understandably less extensive, it 
not surprisingly strongly mirrors the national and global trends. 

4 County Durham has a rich tapestry of habitats – from its upland 
peatland and moorland, to the Wear and Tees lowlands with semi-
natural ancient woodland, meadows and wetlands, to the magnesian 
limestone plateau with its species rich pasture and Heritage Coast.  
This represents not only a valuable resource for biodiversity, and a 
store for carbon, but an incredible asset for recreation and wellbeing. 

Page 39

Agenda Item 5



The environment has of course been shaped by farming, industrial 
heritage and settlements, and as in the past, human influence will hold 
the key to improvements in the future. 

5 The ESCOSC report rightly recognises the considerable work being 
undertaken by the Council and Partners in several landscape scale 
initiatives, habitat restoration and creation, including tree planting and 
the management of nature reserves.  The new investments announced 
as part of the Medium Term Financial Plan 2022/23 to 2025/26 provide 
further impetus for this work through the appointment of two nature 
reserve officers, and staff to promote education/awareness, volunteer 
investment and a post of a Local Nature Recovery Strategy Officer. 

6 One of the recommendations from ESCOSC is for the development of 
an Ecological Emergency Response Plan mirroring and perhaps in due 
course merging with the Climate Emergency Response Plan (CERP).  
Should this be accepted, then just like the CERP it will need to consider 
not only what the Council can do with its landholdings and services, but 
also crucially how it can do work with Partners to influence and support 
countywide activity which benefit habitat and species diversity, including 
farmers and landowners. 

7 In a climate of tight resources, it is essential that our work at both a 
Council level and as a countywide influencer is targeted to those areas 
where the biggest impact can be had.  Future work and investment in 
this area will therefore be built in to established Council processes 
including the annual MTFP planning cycle where capital and revenue 
expenditure will be considered alongside the needs of other services 
projects and programmes.  Resources will be allocated to maximise the 
benefits from the those available.  Additionally external funding will be 
sought wherever possible to supplement council budgets. 

8 In response to national concerns of ecosystem decline Government is 
now requiring through the Environment Act 2021 “responsible 
authorities” (which Durham County Council has been selected and 
agreed to be) to prepare Local Nature Recovery Strategies (LNRS).  
Whilst formal guidance has yet to be produced on its precise form, it is 
clear that LNRS must culminate in a statement of biodiversity priorities 
for the strategy area, and a local habitat map, informed by an 
assessment of opportunities for enhancement or recovery of our 
habitats and species.  It is proposed that the Local Nature Recovery 
Strategy, when produced, is a key high level guide to influence the 
priorities in our future action plans. 

9 Further guidance is awaited from Department of Agriculture Food and 
Rural Affairs (Defra) on the Local Nature Recovery Strategy but this 
does not prevent the County Council considering what more it can do in 

Page 40



further enhancing biodiversity from its own landholdings.  Whilst the 
Council already has 31 designated Local Nature Reserves and an 
additional 61 sites identified as important for local wildlife, it is fully 
recognised that our plans would need to go beyond the managed sites 
to consider what more can be done through different services (clean 
and green management of open spaces, planning for instance) and key 
relationships with education, awareness and volunteering.  This work in 
compiling an initial plan can commence immediately. 

10 The decline in natural habitats, species and diversity so well illustrated 
in the ESCOSC report is a concern, not just for the sake of wildlife, but 
this loss of nature diminishes something that enriches the quality of all 
our lives.  It is therefore proposed that the recommendations from 
ESCOSC are accepted in full, with work examining what the Council 
can do commencing immediately, and the development of a Local 
Nature Recovery Strategy to further inform action plans in due course. 

Recommendation(s) 

11 Cabinet is recommended to: 

(a) thank ESCOSC for its work detailed in Appendix 2 in examining 
evidence relating state of habitats and species across the County, 
and for its recommendations to Cabinet; 

(b) declare an ecological emergency for County Durham; 

(c) ask for an initial action plan on Council activities in response to 
this declaration be provided within six months; 

(d) include planning for the ecological emergency in future MTFP 
planning cycles with a value for money outcome-based focus 
alongside other projects and programmes; 

(e) note that the Council is required to prepare a Local Nature 
Recovery Strategy and that this document, when complete will 
inform future plans that consider opportunities for enhancing 
biodiversity both by the Council and countywide Partners. 

 

  

Page 41



Background 

12 County Durham has a rich tapestry of habitats – from its upland 
peatland and moorland, to the Wear and Tees lowlands with semi-
natural ancient woodland, meadows and wetlands, to the magnesian 
limestone plateau with its species rich pasture and Heritage Coast.  
This represents not only a valuable resource for biodiversity, and a 
store for carbon, but an incredible asset for recreation and wellbeing. 
The environment has of course been shaped by farming, industrial 
heritage and settlements, and as in the past, human influences will hold 
the key to further improvements. 

13 The report by ESCOSC attached in Appendix 2 provides extensive 
evidence of global and national loss of habitats and species which are 
of considerable concern.  Whilst the local data is not as comprehensive, 
it nevertheless provides considerable information on the condition of 
Sites of Special Scientific Interest, Local Wildlife Sites, habitats (for 
instance Ancient Semi Natural Woodlands) and a range of species from 
fish, birds, mammals and insects. Collectively taken, the same signals 
and trends of decline experienced nationally are also being evidenced 
locally.  This is not a surprise given that County Durham is not an island 
but influenced by many of the same factors that are experienced 
nationally. 

14 The report from ESCOSC rightly acknowledges the considerable work 
that is being undertaken by the Council and its partners on large scale 
landscape and habitat schemes from the Work of the North Pennines 
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty in areas such as Peatland 
Restoration, through to woodland creation projects such as Durham 
Woodland Revival and the work of the transformative work of the 
Heritage Coast Partnership. 

15 It is of course clear given the evidence, that there is still more to be 
done.  A vital start has already been made with new investments 
announced as part of the Medium Term Financial Plan 2022/23 to 
2025/26 which will provide further impetus for this work through the 
appointment of two nature reserve officers, and staff to promote 
education/awareness, volunteer investment and a post of a Local 
Nature Recovery Strategy Officer. 

16 In a climate of tight resources, it is essential that our work at both a 
Council level and as a countywide influencer is targeted to those areas 
where the biggest impact can be had.  Future work and investment in 
this area will therefore be built in to established Council processes 
including the annual MTFP planning cycle where capital and revenue 
expenditure will be allocated to maximise the benefits from the 

Page 42



resources available.  Additionally external funding will be sought 
wherever possible to supplement council budgets. 

17 In response to national concerns of decline Government is now 
requiring through the Environment Act 2021 “responsible authorities” 
(which Durham County Council has been selected and agreed to be) to 
prepare Local Nature Recovery Strategies.  Whilst formal guidance has 
yet to be produced on its precise form, it is clear that these must 
culminate in a statement of biodiversity priorities for the strategy area, 
and a local habitat map, informed by an assessment of opportunities for 
enhancement or recovery of our habitats and species.  It is proposed 
that the Local Nature Recovery Strategy (LNRS) when produced is a 
key high level guide to influence the priorities in our future action plans. 

18 The LNRS will be a key influence on our work as a Partners on 
countywide initiatives.  Work in overseeing the production of this 
Strategy has already commenced through the County Durham 
Environment and Climate Change Partnership. It will be given further 
impetus through the appointment of an LNRS Officer by the County 
Council. 

19 Clearly the development of an LNRS may take some time, but that does 
not preclude work being undertaken to consider Council activity and 
actions.  This is done in full recognition of the financial climate, and so 
will concentrate initially on adapting current activity for example 
training/awareness, grounds maintenance, procurement, built 
environment design and management of existing nature reserves.  
Future work will focus more attention and resource prioritisation on the 
key areas where a difference can be made, influenced by the LNRS. 

Conclusion 

20 ESCOSC has undertaken extensive work detailed in Appendix 2 and 
unanimously concluded that an ecological emergency should be 
declared.  This report accepts its conclusions and recommendations in 
full. 

21 The Environment Act 2021 requires us to produce a Local Nature 
Recovery Strategy.  Whilst this will be a high level document it will in 
due course be a heavy influence on our biodiversity action plans, 
guiding priorities for resource utilisation which will be crucial in the 
financial climate going forward. 

22 Whilst the LNRS is in production, this does not prevent us using the 
declaration as an impetus to see what more corporately can be done, 
across services to foster greater biodiversity, much of which may be 
done at low or no cost.  Given the recognition of emergency such a 
report should be prepared within six months, with the entire process 

Page 43



including LNRS development subject to future Scrutiny review as they 
see fit.  

Background papers 

 Environment Act 2021 S105 and S106 Local Nature Recovery 
Strategies 

Other useful documents 

 Cabinet 13 October 2021 Consideration to Ecological Emergency  

Authors 

Oliver Sherratt Tel: 03000 269259 

Stuart Priestley Tel: 03000 267135 

 

  

Page 44



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

This report refers to S105 and 106 of the Environment Act 2021 which 

requires Durham County Council (as a responsible authority) to produce a 

Local Nature Recovery Strategy. 

Finance 

The intention of Local Nature Recovery Strategies is to prioritise works for 

enhancement and recovery to where there will be greatest benefit.  This 

approach will be essential in targeting limited resources to best effect. 

Notwithstanding there are also a range of measures at little or no additional 

cost that the Council with partners could identify in future action plans to foster 

greater biodiversity. 

Future work relating to the ecological emergency will be considered as part of 

the annual MTFP planning cycle, with associated outcome focussed business 

cases, and a value for money focus.  

Consultation 

None. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Future action plans will consider this as appropriate. 

Climate Change 

There is considerable linkage between ecological issues and climate change 

from both an adaption and mitigation perspective.  The recommendations from 

ESCOSC that the Climate Emergency Response Plan and any Ecological 

Emergency Response Plan may be in due course merged are acknowledged. 

Human Rights 

None. 

Crime and Disorder 

None. 

Staffing 

None.  The report refers to recent MTFP investments that will have a staffing 

element, but there are no additional implications. 

Page 45



Accommodation 

None. 

Risk 

Action plans arising from the declaration will need to be managed within the 

financial limitations of the Council and partners to avoid over-commitment. 

Procurement 

There may be opportunity to further opportunities for response to an 

ecological emergency for instance through social value mechanisms. 

  

Page 46



Appendix 2 – Environment and Sustainable Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee Consideration of an Ecological 
Emergency 

 

Attached as separate document. 

 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



 

             

        

 APPENDIX 2 

Environment and Sustainable 

Communities Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee Consideration of an 

Ecological Emergency 

 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Paul Darby, Corporate Director of Resources 

Councillor Bev Coult Chair of Environment and Sustainable 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide Cabinet with the conclusion of the Environment and 
Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s (ESC 
OSC) review, considering evidence on various key habitats and species 
in the county, to determine, whether Overview and Scrutiny 
recommends to Cabinet, that Durham County Council (DCC) declares 
an ecological emergency in County Durham. 

Executive summary 

2 Cabinet at its meeting on the 13 October 2021, considered a report on 
the international and national declines in natural habitats and species.  
The report requested that scrutiny undertake a review and that an initial 
report came back to Cabinet within six months, making a 
recommendation in relation to a declaration of an ecological emergency.  

3 The ESC OSC agreed at its meeting on the 24 November 2021 to add 
this review activity to its current work programme and that two special 
meetings of the committee would be held where members would be 
provided with evidence of biodiversity decline at an international, 
national, regional and local level. 

Page 49



4 Members were informed at the special meeting of the committee held 
on the 13 December 2021 that DCC and partners are already 
undertaking a significant amount of work to restore and protect wildlife 
and habitats with work taking place in the county to restore the County 
Durham coastline, which has been transformed as part of the Heritage 
Coast Initiative.  The Turning the Tide partnership programme consisted 
of over a hundred projects delivered along the Heritage Coast.  The 
Durham Coast hosts 92% of the total area of para-maritime Magnesian 
Limestone grassland habitat in Britain and the Turning the Tide 
Partnership has recovered over 225ha of land for habitat creation.  
Such has been the success of the programme that much of the area 
has subsequently been designated as Sites of Special Scientific Interest 
(SSSI) and National Nature Reserves. 

5 At the special meeting of the ESC OSC held on the 14 February 
members considered a very detailed report from the Corporate Director 
of Neighbourhoods and Climate Change providing global, national and 
local data identifying biodiversity declines in various habitats and 
species across the county including birds, mammals, herptiles, insects 
and fish. A copy of the detailed report from the Service Grouping is 
attached as appendix 2.  

6 The report states that local data for our terrestrial and aquatic habitats 
clearly shows that across-the-board semi-natural habitats are failing to 
meet condition assessments and targets with 85% of Sites of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSI) in unfavourable condition, 70% of Local 
Wildlife Sites compartments failing condition assessments, 90.6% of 
surface waters failing to meet the required standards and the risks of 
failure to meet management objectives for salmon on our rivers are 
increasing.  Our semi-natural habitats are clearly under significant 
pressure and this represents a substantial impact on our biodiversity. 

7 The loss or poor condition of habitats will impact negatively on local 
species.  The local evidence across the species groups shows that the 
national picture of decline for priority species is echoed at a local level.  
The trend statements within the various species atlases show declines 
in farmland, upland, woodland, urban and garden birds, a decline in 
herptiles, a decline in mammals (clear information provided for only five 
species of mammals), a decline in five of the seven species of 
butterflies recorded in the relevant atlas and extinction or significant 
decline in bumblebee species at a local level.  

8 The committee has also received information and data from key 
partners with the Chair of the Ecological Emergency Workstream and 
Director of the North Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
(AONB) Partnership attending the meeting on the 14 February 2022. 

9 It was highlighted by the Chair that a lot of work is ongoing in County 
Durham to promote nature recovery including: 

Page 50



(a) the restoration of 12 miles of unique coast with a 160 hectares of 
grassland habitat managed for nature conservation, extending 
habitat restoration into the marine environment.  

(b) Farming in protected landscapes with likely investment of £1m in 
the section of the North Pennines AONB falling within the county 
boundary in the next two years together with river restoration, 
walls and hedges, grassland restoration and public access. 

(c) The Tees-Swale naturally connected project which puts farmers 
at the heart of nature recovery and nature recovery at the heart of 
farming in Teesdale and Swaledale.  The project includes 
restoration of peatland and hay meadows, and the creation of at 
least 40 small wetlands, planting of 200,000 trees, improvements 
to water quality in 200km of watercourses and improved fish 
passage and habitat on the river Greta. 

(d) DCC Biodiversity Enhancement Project, enhancing council-
owned greenspaces with 41 hectares converted to species rich 
grassland. 

(e) The North Pennines AONB team has led the restoration of 16,000 
hectares of peatland within County Durham avoiding carbon loss 
and has major benefits for biodiversity. 

(f) The Tees and Wear River Trusts are promoting good soil 
management, metal mine pollution remediation, coolwaters tree 
planting, tackling invasive and non-native species and agricultural 
diffuse pollution. 

(g) Durham Wildlife Trust led projects including Heart of Durham, 
Discover Brightwater, Naturally Native and in addition manage 27 
nature reserves in the county. 

(h) Expanding tree and woodland cover with multiple partners 
focused on expansion of tree and scrub cover, DCC led planting 
of one million trees & 200 miles of hedgerow in the last 20 years, 
Durham Woodland Revival, Urban Tree Challenge Fund, Durham 
Woodland Creation Programme, North East Community Forest 
and Trees Call for Action. 

(i) Work undertaken in training to develop the skills to support nature 
and people including farmer/conservationist knowledge-
exchange, farmer-led habitat assessment, contactor training and 
volunteer training. 

10 The Chair of Partnership Workstream also highlighted that, although a 
lot of significant work is being undertaken, there is evidence of 
significant biodiversity decline including a decline of 60% in the swift 
population, a 34% decline in the swallow population, a 97% decline in 

Page 51



the water vole population, a 54% decline in farmland birds and that 29% 
of our bird species appear on the red list of concern, with species on the 
list including the house sparrow and the starling.  In conclusion he 
commented that we are in an ecological emergency and that there has 
been a catastrophic decline in nature resulting in an ecological crisis. 

11 At the special meeting of the ESC OSC held on the 14 February having 
considered the information provided in the detailed report and 
supporting presentation from the Service Grouping, together with the 
additional detail provided in presentations from key partners, members 
were asked to consider their recommendation to Cabinet concerning 
declaration. 

12 Those members present at the meeting unanimously agreed that the 
ESC OSC recommend to Cabinet that DCC declares an ecological 
emergency.  Members also agreed that further additional 
recommendations would be made to Cabinet in relation to: 

(a) The need for Durham County Council to develop an Ecological 
Emergency Response Plan to address both how the council will 
revise its own practices, and also how it will work with the wider 
community to tackle the ecological emergency.  In order to 
produce the plan, a cross service review would need to be 
undertaken to identify actions (with associated costs) and 
targets, a similar process that was undertaken in relation to the 
development of the Climate Emergency Response Plan 
(CERP)). 

(b) The plan once produced would be a standalone plan initially and 
then over time, as the plan develops, it would be merged with 
the Climate Emergency Response Plan (CERP). 

(c) The need to ensure that best ecological practice is integrated 
across all Council services with consideration given to the 
inclusion of ecology on the implications sheet for all DCC 
committee reports as is the current practice for climate change. 

(d) The need to ensure that the committee receives regular updates 
on the development of the plan and once developed, monitors 
the progress of the plan against the actions and targets in the 
plan, on a regular basis.  

 
13 In addition, at the special meeting held on the 14 February 2022 

members of the committee were made aware of two questions received 
from a member of the public asking that the committee consider making 
a further recommendation to Cabinet in relation to raising awareness of 
biodiversity decline in County Durham and to ensure that community 
and special interest groups and interested individuals, are included in 
consultation arrangements for the development of the plan and also in 
the resulting delivery of the plan.  It was agreed by members that a 
further recommendation would be included in the report to Cabinet and 
that in addition, the recommendation should also highlight the need to 

Page 52



promote activities undertaken in the county by DCC and partners to 
tackle this issue with a view to educating local communities.  

 
14 It is recognised that the action plan, when produced, will need to be 

subject to financial assessment including the development of the 
appropriate business cases and affordability tests. 

15 In addition, County Council on 23 February 2022, agreed the Medium 
Term Financial Plan 2022/2023 to 2025/2026 and Revenue and Capital 
Budget for 2022/2023 which included additional investment in front line 
services for extra resource including Nature Reserves.    

Recommendation(s) 

16 That Cabinet notes the report of the Environment and Sustainable 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

17 That Cabinet considers whether to formally declare an ecological 
emergency. 

18 That Cabinet, should it declare an ecological emergency, also considers 
the following additional recommendations:  

(a) That Durham County Council develops an Ecological Emergency 
Response Plan to address both how the council will revise its own 
practices, and also how it will work with the wider community to 
tackle the ecological emergency.  Producing the Ecological 
Emergency Response Plan will involve conducting a fully detailed 
cross service review to identify actions (with associated costs) 
and targets to be undertaken by DCC with relevant partners (a 
similar process was undertaken in relation to the development of 
the Climate Emergency Response Plan (CERP)). 

(b) That the Ecological Emergency Response Plan is a standalone 
plan initially, and then over time as it develops, is merged with the 
Climate Emergency Response Plan. 

(c) To progress the development of the plan, Cabinet ensures that 
best ecological practice is integrated across all Council services 
and in doing so considers the inclusion of ecology in the 
implications sheet that accompanies all DCC committee reports. 

(d) When declaring an ecological emergency, the need for 
engagement and consultation should be articulated and request 
that the Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and Climate 
Change: 

i. Raise awareness of biodiversity decline in County Durham and 
promote various educational activities undertaken by DCC, 
partners and community groups to tackle this issue. 

Page 53



ii. Ensure engagement with community and special interest 
groups and interested individuals, as part of any consultation 
arrangements and in relation to the future development and 
delivery of the action plan. 

(e) That the Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee receives regular updates on the 
progression of the plan and once developed, monitors progress 
against the actions and targets contained in the plan, on a regular 
basis. 

(f) That the review of the progress made against the 
recommendations contained in this report will be undertaken six 
months after the report is considered by Cabinet.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 54



Background 

19 Currently a considerable amount of time and resource is directed 
towards nature conservation in County Durham with public, private and 
charitable sectors all engaged with organisations such as Durham 
Wildlife Trust leading projects to reverse the declines in small pearl-
bordered fritillary and water vole populations and is undertaking 
landscape scale wetland restoration as part of the Discover Brightwater 
programme.  The North Pennines AONB team has already led the 
restoration of 16,000ha of peatland within County Durham and are 
progressing with their Tees-Swale naturally connected project which will 
create hay meadows, wetlands, woodland and manage over 2,000ha of 
rush pasture within Teesdale and Swaledale. In addition, organisations 
such as Northumbrian Water Limited and the Environment Agency are 
all engaged with projects to restore and enhance our environment.  

20 In addition, DCC and partners are also undertaking a significant amount 
of work to restore and protect wildlife and habitats with work taking 
place in the county to restore the County Durham coastline, which has 
been transformed as part of the Heritage Coast Initiative.  The Turning 
the Tide partnership programme consisted of over a hundred projects 
delivered along the Heritage Coast.  The Durham Coast hosts 92% of 
the total area of para-maritime Magnesian Limestone grassland habitat 
in Britain and the Turning the Tide Partnership has recovered over 
225ha of land for habitat creation.  Such has been the success of the 
programme that much of the area has subsequently been designated as 
Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and National Nature 
Reserves. 

21 At its meeting on 13 October 2021, Cabinet received a report on 
consideration of an ecological emergency which recognised work 
undertaken to restore the County Durham environment providing detail 
of various projects undertaken in the county including the success of the 
Turning the Tide Partnership Programme.  The report requested that 
Scrutiny include within its current work programme a review to examine 
and consider the evidence base relating to the decline in natural 
habitats in County Durham and that an initial report came back to 
Cabinet within six months making a recommendation in relation to 
declaration. 

22 The Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee agreed to include this work within its work programme at its 
meeting on 24 November 2021.  The committee further agreed that 
because of the urgency of this work it would consider the evidence if an 
ecological emergency should be declared in County Durham over two 
special meetings of the committee, taking place on 13 December 2021 
and 14 February 2022. 

Page 55



23 The Committee has received global, national, regional and local data 
from Durham County Council’s Head of Environment, the Principal 
Ecologist at both meetings, with a detail report summarising information 
provided at the meeting on the 13 December together with additional 
information considered by members at the meeting on the 14 February 
2022.  A copy of the detailed report from the Service Grouping is 
attached as appendix 2.  

24 Whilst the global and national data is robust, there are some issues with 
regard to local data and its ability to show clear trends over the same 
time periods as used by national reports. These limitations have been 
borne out during conversations with local, regional and national 
organisations.  The general view of the data is that at a national level it 
is robust but as you bear down to a regional and local level data the 
picture becomes less clear and more ambiguous.  The main reason for 
the limitations of local species data is the lack of time-series datasets 
which allow trends to be confidently identified. The data varies from 
species to species with some clear trends not available at the local 
level. However, local data on salmonids, birds, bumblebees, reptiles 
and butterflies provide a good degree of confidence in the trends 
exhibited.  While some of the data has obvious limitations it is still useful 
when examined in light of the recognised global and national declines. 

25 The report states that local data for our terrestrial and aquatic habitats 
clearly shows that across-the-board semi-natural habitats are failing to 
meet condition assessments and targets with 85% of Sites of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSI) in unfavourable condition, 70% of Local 
Wildlife Sites compartments failing condition assessments, 90.6% of 
surface waters failing to meet the required standards and the risks of 
failure to meet management objectives for Salmon on our rivers are 
increasing.  Our semi-natural habitats are clearly under significant 
pressure and this represents a substantial impact on our biodiversity. 

26 The loss of, or poor condition of habitats will impact negatively on local 
species.  The local evidence across the species groups shows that the 
national picture of decline for priority species is echoed at a local level.  
The trend statements within the various species atlases presents a poor 
picture. Both the Atlas for Farmland and Upland Birds and the Atlas for 
Woodland and Urban and Garden Birds show declines. Other records 
also indicate that all reptile species are declining and our only European 
protected amphibian (the great crested newt) is in decline. Of the 20 
mammals listed in the Durham Biodiversity Action Plan, clear 
information is only available for five species. Four of these five have 
suffered a decline or extinction with only the otter returning to former 
numbers enjoyed in the mid-20th century.  There has also been a 
decline in five of the seven species of butterflies recorded in the 
relevant atlas and extinction or significant decline in bumblebee species 
at a local level.  

Page 56



27 The committee has also received information and data from key 
partners with the Chair of the Ecological Emergency Workstream of the 
Environment and Climate Change Partnership and Director of the North 
Pennines AONB Partnership attending the meeting on the 14 February 
2022. 

28 It was highlighted by the Chair of the Ecological Emergency 
Workstream of the Environment and Climate Change Partnership and 
the Director of the North Pennines AONB that a lot of work is ongoing in 
County Durham to promote nature recovery including: 

(a) the restoration of 12 miles of unique coast with a 160 hectares of 
grassland habitat managed for nature conservation, extending 
habitat restoration into the marine environment.  

(b) Farming in protected landscapes with likely investment of £1m in 
the Durham part of the North Pennines AONB in the next two 
years together with river restoration, walls and hedges, grassland 
restoration and public access. 

(c) The Tees-Swale naturally connected project which puts farmers 
at the heart of nature recovery and nature recovery at the heart of 
farming in Teesdale and Swaledale.  The project includes 
restoring peatland, hay meadows, create at least 40 small 
wetlands, establish 200,000 trees, improve water quality in 
200km of watercourses and improve fish passage and habitat on 
the Greta. 

(d) DCC Biodiversity Enhancement Project, enhancing council-
owned greenspaces with 41 hectares converted to species rich 
grassland. 

(e) The North Pennines AONB team has led the restoration of 16,000 
hectares of peatland within County Durham avoiding carbon loss 
and has major benefits for biodiversity. 

(f) The Tees and Wear River Trusts are promoting good soil 
management, metal mine pollution remediation, coolwaters tree 
planting, tackling invasive and non-native species and agricultural 
diffuse pollution. 

(g) Durham Wildlife Trust led projects including Heart of Durham, 
Discover Brightwater, Naturally Native and in addition manage 27 
nature reserves in the county. 

(h) Expanding tree and woodland cover with multiple partners 
focused on expansion of tree and scrub cover, DCC led planting 
of million trees & 200 miles of hedgerow in the last 20 years, 
Durham Woodland Revival, Urban Tree Challenge Fund, Durham 

Page 57



Woodland Creation Programme, North East Community Forest 
and Trees Call for Action. 

(i) Work undertaken in relation to training to develop the skills to 
support nature and people including farmer/conservationist 
knowledge-exchange, Farmer-led habitat assessment, contactor 
training and volunteer training. 

29 It was then highlighted by the Chair of Partnership Workstream and 
Director of the North Pennines AONB that, although a lot of significant 
work is being undertaken, there is evidence of significant biodiversity 
decline including a decline of 60% in the Swift population, a 34% 
decline in the Swallow population, a 97% decline in the Water Vole 
population, a 54% decline in Farmland Birds and that 29% of our bird 
species appear on the red list of concern, with species on the list 
including the House Sparrow and Starlings.  In conclusion he 
commented that we are in an ecological emergency and that there has 
been a catastrophic decline in nature resulting in an ecological crisis. 

30 While many English Councils have declared a climate emergency there 
are far fewer that have declared an ecological emergency.  As of June 
2021, 123 of the 149 other single and upper tier local authorities in 
England have declared a climate emergency compared with 22 that 
have declared some kind of ecological emergency. Some councils have 
declared a combined climate and ecological emergency such as 
Brighton and Hove back in 2018 and were followed by others that 
include Cambridgeshire, Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole; 
Windsor and Maidenhead; Brent and Ealing.  The councils that have 
declared a stand-alone ecological emergency include Herefordshire, 
Dorset, Bath and North East Somerset; and Bristol.  Whilst most of the 
local authorities in the North East of England have declared a climate 
emergency none have yet declared an ecological emergency making 
Durham County Council the first local authority in the area to declare 
should they choose to do so.  

31 At the special meeting of the ESC OSC held on the 14 February having 
considered the information provided in the detailed report and 
supporting presentation from the Service Grouping, together with the 
additional detail provided in presentations from key partners, members 
were asked to consider their recommendation to Cabinet concerning 
declaration. 

32 Those members present at the meeting unanimously agreed that the 
ESC OSC recommend to Cabinet that DCC declares an ecological 
emergency.  Members also agreed that further additional 
recommendations would be made to Cabinet in relation to: 

(a) The need for Durham County Council to develop an Ecological 
Emergency Response Plan to address both how the council will 

Page 58



revise its own practices, and also how it will work with the wider 
community to tackle the ecological emergency.  In order to 
produce the plan, a cross service review would need to be 
undertaken to identify actions (with associated costs) and 
targets, a similar process that was undertaken in relation to the 
development of the Climate Emergency Response Plan 
(CERP)). 

(b) The plan once produced would be a standalone plan initially and 
then over time, as the plan develops, it would be merged with 
the Climate Emergency Response Plan (CERP). 

(c) The need to ensure that best ecological practice is integrated 
across all Council services with consideration given to the 
inclusion of ecology on the implications sheet for all DCC 
committee reports as is the current practice for climate change. 

(d) The need to ensure that the committee receives regular updates 
on the development of the plan and once developed, monitors 
the progress of the plan against the actions and targets in the 
plan, on a regular basis.  

 
33 In addition, at the special meeting held on the 14 February 2022 

members of the committee were made aware of two questions received 
from a member of the public asking that the committee consider making 
a further recommendation to Cabinet in relation to raising awareness of 
biodiversity decline in County Durham and to ensure that community 
and special interest groups and interested individuals, are included in 
consultation arrangements for the development of the plan and also in 
the resulting delivery of the plan.  It was agreed by members that a 
further recommendation would be included in the report to Cabinet and 
that in addition, the recommendation should also highlight the need to 
promote activities undertaken in the county by DCC and partners to 
tackle this issue with a view to educating local communities.  

 
34 It is recognised that the action plan, when produced, will need to be 

subject to financial assessment including the development of the 
appropriate business cases and affordability tests. 

35 In addition, County Council on 23 February 2022, agreed the Medium 
Term Financial Plan 2022/2023 to 2025/2026 and Revenue and Capital 
Budget for 2022/2023 which included additional investment in front line 
services for extra resource including Nature Reserves.  

Conclusion 

36 Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee unanimously agreed to recommend that DCC declares an 
ecological emergency and in addition to recommending declaration, the 
committee has made further additional recommendations for Cabinet to 
consider. 

Page 59



Background papers 

 County Council 23 February 2022 Medium Term Financial Plan 
2022/2023 to 2025/2026and Revenue and Capital Budget 
2022/2023  

 

Other useful documents 

 None 

 

Contact: Ann Whitton Tel:  03000 268143 

 Diane Close Tel:  03000 268140 

   

Page 60



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

None 

Finance 

A fully costed action plan will need to be developed to tackle the ecological 

emergency. MTFP12 contains bids for additional resources for woodland 

protection, local nature recovery strategy and countryside estates 

management.  

Consultation 

None 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

None 

Human Rights 

None 

Climate Change 

There is a clear link between climate change and the decline in biodiversity 

which will be addressed in the full review report. 

Crime and Disorder 

None 

Staffing 

Bids to fund additional posts in local nature recovery, woodlands protection 

and countryside estates management are contained within MTFP12. 

Accommodation 

None 

Risk 

There is a need to consider, when developing the ecological emergency 

action plan that it is balanced in relation to regeneration opportunities in the 

county. 

Procurement 

None 

Page 61



 

Appendix 2 

Environment and 

Sustainable Communities 

Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee 

14 February 2022 

Consideration of An 

Ecological Emergency 

(County Durham) 

 

Report of Alan Patrickson, Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods 

and Climate Change 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of the report is to provide further information to the 
Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, to assist members in determining, as to whether they 
recommend to Cabinet, that Durham County Council declares an 
Ecological Emergency. 

Executive summary 

2 At a meeting of Cabinet Meeting held on the 13 October 2021, the 
national and international declines in natural habitats and species were 
recognised and it was requested that a focused piece of work be 
undertaken by Overview and Scrutiny to examine the evidence base for 
biodiversity declines within County Durham.  This report together with 
information provided to the Environment and Sustainable Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (ESCOC) at a special meeting held on 
the 13 December 2021 provides the evidence base for the ESCOC to 
make a determination as to whether Durham County Council should 
declare an ecological emergency. 
 

3 In 2019 Durham County Council declared a climate emergency.  The 
climate change emergency recognised the global climate emergency, 
and the Council made a commitment to address the issue of climate 
change at a local level to assist in dealing with an international crisis.  It 

Page 62



is in a similar spirit that this report examines the evidence for a 
biodiversity crisis at a global, national and local level. 
 

4 While the global and national data are robust there are some limitations 
with regards to local data and its ability to show clear trends over the 
same time periods as used by the national reports.  The general view of 
the data is that at a national level it are robust but as you bear down on 
regional and local data the picture becomes less clear.  The main reason 
for the limitations of local species data is the lack of time-series datasets. 
 

5 The most robust data we have relates to the condition of designated sites 
and Environment Agency data on the condition of surface waters (rivers 
and streams) and there is high confidence in the data used within this 
report. 
 

6 The species data varies in its ability to provide robust trends.  Data on 
most of the species’ groups provide a good degree of confidence in the 
trends exhibited.  Although regular time series data in not always 
available, the data pertaining to many species has been analysed by local 
experts during the production of Atlases describing the fauna of County 
Durham.  These Atlases provide the basis for reporting against species 
in this report.  
 

7 Any assessment of the status of biodiversity within a given geographical 
area is not straightforward, whether at a global, national or local level.  
Within any area some of the many thousands of species will show 
population and distributional increases while others will decline, and new 
species will colonise as others go extinct.  Within County Durham species 
such as buzzard are currently spreading eastwards and the red kite was 
re-introduced in the early 2000’s bolstering our avian fauna, while a suite 
of other birds is in decline. Tree bumblebees colonised the county in 2010 
increasing the numbers of resident bumblebees, yet other species have 
previously become extinct.  The Brown Argus is colonising from the south 
adding to our diversity of butterflies yet at the same time this puts the 
Northern Brown Argus under threat due to interbreeding with the new 
arrival. 
 

8 Biological diversity is a multifaceted concept and includes not only 
species richness but the functionality of the ecological systems within 
which species exist.  These Ecosystems underpin all human life and 
activities. The goods and services they provide are vital to sustaining 
well-being, and to future economic and social development. The benefits 
ecosystems provide include food, water, timber, air purification, soil 
formation and pollination.  These wider interactions are challenging to 
measure and so species data are taken as an indicator of the wider health 
of the environment.  

Page 63



9 This report concentrates on species data pertaining to Durham 
Biodiversity Action Plan1 species.  All the national State of Nature Reports 
from 2013 onwards have assessed UK Priority Species and this report 
follows suit.  Many Priority Species are habitat specialists2 which rely on 
high quality semi-natural habitats and so they are good indicators of the 
overall health of our habitats.  Priority species are often subject to more 
intensive monitoring and recording and therefore more data is available. 
 

10 This report examines readily available data with a view to determining 
whether the evidence indicates that County Durham is mirroring the 
declines shown within national datasets or has escaped significant 
damage to its biodiversity. 
 

11 A presentation will be provided highlighting to members loss of habitats 
and species in County Durham.  In addition, partners will be in attendance 
at the meeting, the Chair of the Environment and Climate Change 
Partnership and Director of Durham Wildlife Trust and the Chair of the 
Ecological Emergency Workstream of the Partnership and Director of the 
North Pennines AONB Partnership to share their thoughts on biodiversity 
decline in the county. 

Recommendations 
 
12 That Members of the Environment and Sustainable Communities 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee are asked to consider the information 
provided in the report and presentation. 

Global Data 

13 As stated in the preceding section Durham County Council recognises 
the global decline in species and habitats.  A brief outline of the global 
situation is provided here to provide wider context for the ESCOC. 
 

14 The main source of global data is The Living Planet Index (LPI); a 
measure of the state of the world's biological diversity based on 
population trends of vertebrate species from terrestrial, freshwater and 
marine habitats. 
 

15 The LPI tracks the abundance of almost 21,000 populations of mammals, 
birds, fish, reptiles and amphibians around the world and uses data from 
over 4,000 sources. The LPI is the indicator adopted by the Convention 
on Biological Diversity3 with regards to its target to 'take effective and 
urgent action to halt the loss of biodiversity'. 

 
1 BAPs are plans developed to protect and enhance biodiversity, the Durham BAP identified local priority habitats and species. 
2 Species strongly associated with high quality semi-natural habitats (e.g., magnesian limestone grassland) compared to more generalist 

species found in semi-natural habitats and the wider landscape (e.g., agricultural and garden habitats) 
3 The Convention on Biological Diversity is the international legal instrument for "the conservation of biological diversity, the sustainable 

use of its components and the fair and equitable sharing of the benefits arising out of the utilization of genetic resources" that has been 

ratified by 196 nations. 

Page 64



 
16 Key headlines from the 2020 Living Planet Index Report: 
 

 Average 68% decrease in population sizes of mammals, birds, 

amphibians, reptiles and fish between 1970 and 2016.  

 

 Average 84% decrease in freshwater species between 1970 and 

2016. 

 

 European grassland butterflies: 1990 to 2017 The abundance of 17 

grassland butterfly species declined by 49% on average. 

 

 More than 85% of the area of wetlands has been lost. 

 
17 The LPI refers to other indices which can provide further insights into the 

plight of biodiversity at a global level. 
 

 IUCN4 Red List Index.  Represents the most comprehensive and 

objective system for assessing the relative risk of extinction of 

species.  The current species extinction rate is estimated to be 

between 1,000 and 10,000 times higher than the natural or 

‘background’ rate.  The total number of known threatened animal 

species has increased from 5,205 to 

8,462 since 1996.  One in four mammals and one in eight birds face a 
high risk of extinction in the near future. 
 

 The Mean Species Abundance (MSA) Index and Biodiversity 

Intactness Index.  These provide an indication of the functionality of 

ecosystems; both these indices have fallen to 66% and 79% 

respectively and are predicted to continue to decline. 

 

 The Species Habitat Index.  This index provides information on the 

distribution of species and shows that the geographic distribution of 

terrestrial mammals, the only group for which baseline distribution 

could be estimated, has been reduced to 83% of pre-impact values. 

 
18 The 2020 Living Planet Index Report can be found at: 

https://www.zsl.org/sites/default/files/LPR%202020%20Full%20report.p

df 

National Data 

 
4 The International Union for Conservation of Nature is the global authority on the status of the natural world and the measures needed to 

safeguard it 

Page 65



19 The County Council accepts the declines in biodiversity at a national 
level, and again headline information is provided within this report to offer 
wider context for the ESCOC. 
 

20 The main source of information to evidence a national decline is the State 
of Nature Report 2019, which provides a collective government and non-
profit organization statement on our biodiversity. 
 

21 Key headlines from the State of Nature Report 2019: 
 

 Since 1970 35% of species in England have undergone population 

declines 

 

 In 2016 the breeding woodland bird indicator for England was 24% 

lower than in 1970 

 

 Woodland butterflies’ abundance has fallen by 58% since 1990 

 

 The UK Breeding Seabird Indicator shows a 22% decline in average 

abundance for 13 species between 1985 and 2015. 

 

 The state of Nature report provides two indicators relating to UK 

Priority Species5.  The first of these is an indicator of abundance 

which shows that since 1970, the indicator of abundance for 214 

priority species has declined by a statistically significant 60%. 

 

 The second indicator provides information on the changes for UK 

Priority Species distribution.  Between 1970 and 2016, the index of 

distribution of priority species in 

the UK declined by 27%. 
 

 
5 Species of greatest conservation concern; the UK’s priority species 

Page 66



 
 

Chart 1:  UK Biodiversity Indicators (Abundance & Distribution of Priority Species) 

 

 

22 The 2019 State of Nature Report can be found at: 
https://nbn.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/State-of-Nature-2019-

UK-full-report.pdf 

LOCAL DATA 

23 The first aspect of local data to be examined is the condition of our 
designated sites; these are monitored against agreed national standards 
for specific habitat types.  
 

24 Two sets of data are presented here; the first refers to Sites of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSI), these are a formal conservation designation 
undertaken by Natural England.  The second set of designated sites are 
Local Wildlife Sites (LWS).  LWS are designated by Local Authorities 
across the UK for their local importance to biodiversity and contain priority 
habitats and species; they are regarded as a key component of our 
ecological network. 

Sites of Special Scientific Interest  

25 Natural England monitors the SSSI within County Durham.  The 
monitoring and assessment of SSSI is an important aspect of Natural 

Page 67



England’s overall monitoring programme and provides evidence for the 
delivery of the Government’s 25 Year Plan to Improve the Environment. 
 

26 There are 88 SSSI listed by Natural England in County Durham and the 
most recent data from Natural England’s Designated Sites View website 
shows that 15% are in favourable condition with 85% in unfavourable 
condition in one of three categories.   
 

 

Chart 2:  SSSI Condition. 

27 The 25 Year Environment Plan Progress Report - April 2019 to March 
2020 states that nationally 38.9% of SSSI are in favourable condition and 
that given these figures the Government “…are not on track to meet our 
commitment to restore 75% of our one million hectares of terrestrial and 
freshwater protected sites to favourable condition”.  The condition data 
for County Durham shows that our SSSI are in a poorer state than is 
evidenced nationally. 

Local Wildlife Sites 

28 There are 324 LWS in County Durham; since 2011 the authority has 
engaged Durham Wildlife Trust to re-survey the sites and to date 42% of 
sites have been surveyed providing a robust picture on the condition of 
our LWS network. 
 

29 Most LWS are made up of compartments of different semi-natural habitat 
types. These range from ancient and wet woodlands, ponds and swamps 
to magnesian limestone and acidic grasslands.  Data presented in Chart 
3 below provides information on the condition of all the compartments 
making up the LWS network regardless of habitat type. 
 

Page 68



 

Chart 3: Condition of all compartments 

30 The data shows that 70% of all the compartments within the re-surveyed 
LWS fail to pass the condition assessments.  This data can be further 
broken down into broad habitat types: woodland, grassland, wetlands 
and heathland. 

 

 

Chart 4:  Condition of Woodland Compartments 

 

Chart 5: Condition of Grassland Compartments 

  

 

Chart 6:  Condition of Wetland Compartments 

 

Chart 7: Condition of Heathland Compartments 

 

Page 69



31 The data for broad habitat types shows a similar picture with the 
percentage of habitat compartments in unfavourable condition ranging 
between 60% for wetlands up to 77% for woodlands; this shows that a 
significant proportion of all the habitat types represented within the LWS 
network are in poor condition. 
 

32 The major reasons for a failure to meet condition criteria are the presence 
of invasive non-native species, a lack of management or inappropriate 
management.  The LWS are obviously in decline as the management 
issues are on-going.  A gradual decline in quality will eventually lead to 
sites no longer meeting designation criteria and them being removed from 
the LWS register as the habitat has been lost.  Although there are no firm 
figures as yet, it is estimated that up to fourteen LWS may require de-
designation or boundary changes due to habitat loss; this number will 
only increase in the future without intervention. 

 

Ancient Woodlands 

33 Ancient woodlands are represented within the LWS network and have 
been subject to condition assessments. 
 

34 Ancient woods are areas of woodland that have persisted since 1600 and 
because of this longevity they are unique and complex communities of 
plants, fungi, insects and other microorganisms.  Ancient woodlands are 
our richest and most complex terrestrial habitat and regarded as 
‘irreplaceable’ by the National Planning Policy Framework.  The Durham 
Wildlife Audit (1995) states that “There has been a 25% loss of Durham’s 
ancient woodlands since the 1920’s” and that this woodland type only 
occupies 1.3% of the County. 
 

35 Ancient woodlands fall into two categories, the first of these are Ancient 
semi-natural woods (ASNW) which are woods that have developed 
naturally and have retained broadleaf woodland cover for over 400 years.  
ASNW are represented within the LWS network and the resurveys of 
LWS shows that 77% of the ASNW fail condition assessments. 
 

 

Page 70



Chart 8: Condition of ASNW 

36 The second category of ancient woodland are Plantations on ancient 
woodland sites (PAWS) which are ancient woods that have been felled 
and replanted with non-native species. Typically, these are conifers, but 
it can also include broadleaved planting such as beech, red oak, and 
sweet chestnut. Although they have the complex soil of ancient woodland 
and are considered to contain remnants of woodland specialist species 
they are regarded as being in poor condition relative to the ASNW. 
 

37 Recent work on Green Infrastructure Mapping has provided data on the 
amount of our ancient woodlands that are categorised as PAWS; 63% of 
our ancient woodlands are poor condition PAWS sites.  

 

 

Chart 9: Ancient Woodlands - PAWS and ASNW 

Woodland Functionality 

38 The Green Infrastructure Mapping exercise has also provided information 
with regards to the functionality of our woodlands.  The mapping process 
needed to identify our core areas of ecologically functioning woodland; 
core areas are defined as ASNW which are a minimum of 10ha in size, 
this alongside a 1km buffer zone6 identified our core network of 
functioning woodland.  Using these criteria, it can be shown that most of 
our ASNW woodlands are not regarded as being fully functional with only 
9% of ASNW meeting the size criteria. 

 

 
6 Woodland size and buffer zones based on minimum patch size for specialist woodland species and a maximum dispersal distance of 1km 

(Generic Focal Species approach).  This is a nationally recognised approach for mapping and spatially analysing habitats on a landscape 

scale. 

Page 71



 

Chart 10:  Functional Woodlands 

Water Framework Directive 

39 The Environment Agency (EA) monitors the delivery of the Water 
Framework Directive (WFD) which was adopted by the UK in 2000 and 
imposes standards for the improvement of all aspects of water 
environments, including rivers, lakes, estuaries, coastal waters and 
groundwater. It requires surface waters to be of good quality by 2027. 
 

40 The EA provides water classification data relating to obligations under the 
directive and part of this data is concerned with the ecological status of 
surface waters. The data places 64 surface waters in County Durham 
within status categories, the categories are Bad, Poor, Moderate, Good 
and High.  In order for the obligations of the directive to be met surface 
waters should fall into the Good category.  Data from 2015, 2016 and 
2019 is currently available. 
 

41 Taking the most recent data it can be seen that for the River Wear 
Catchment only 6% of watercourses in the catchment are in Good 
condition, the River Tees fairs a little better with 15% of watercourses 
being in Good condition.   

 

 

Chart 11:  Ecological Status of River Wear watercourses 

Page 72



 

 

Chart 12:  Ecological Status of River Tees watercourses 

42 A comparison of the EA data for all watercourses in County Durham 
between 2015 and 2019 indicates that the ecological status of our 
watercourses appears to have further declined with a reduction in 
watercourses attaining Good status and an increase in those in Poor 
condition. 

 

 

Chart 13:  Ecological Status for surface waters in County Durham 

 

Species  

43 Information on species is mostly derived from species atlases, those 
referenced are: 
 

 A Summer Atlas of the Breeding Birds of County Durham (2000) 

 

 The Birds of Durham (2012) 

 

 Mammals, Amphibians and Reptiles of the North East (2012)  

 

Page 73



 Atlas of the Butterflies of North East England (2014) 

 

 Bumblebees of North East England (2019) 

 
44 When looking at the data or statements arising from Atlases the reader 

should be aware of the publication dates and that statements extracted 
from the Atlases only apply up to the year of publication. 
 

45 Information on salmon and sea trout has been gathered from Salmon 
Stocks and Fisheries in England and Wales in 2020 (Environment 
Agency) and EA data on River Wear and River Tees fish counts which is 
available up to 2021. 

Birds 

46 Two Publications are referenced in this report.  The Birds of Durham 
(2012) which includes breeding and non-breeding birds and The Summer 
Atlas of the Breeding Birds of County Durham (2000) which deals with 
birds that breed in the County.  The Atlas provides “guiding statement” 
trends for a range of Durham Biodiversity Action Plan (DBAP) species 
associated with different habitat types between 1985 and 1995. 
 

47 These guiding statements provide a snapshot of population trends over 
a 10-year period and although, as the atlas states they are not definitive 
the statements do none the less give an indication as to the health of our 
breeding bird populations. 
 

48 The Birds of Durham does not provide an equivalent to the guiding 
statements, but the detail held within the species accounts enables the 
reader to determine the local status of each species. 
 

49 The Atlas statements for birds associated with the Durham Coast are 
relatively positive with only a handful of species showing any evidence of 
a potential decline.   
 

 

Chart 14: Guiding Statement Trends for Coastal Birds 

Page 74



 

50 The Atlas does not provide data on Turnstone and Purple Sandpiper as 
they are non-breeding birds.  These medium-sized sandpipers of rocky 
shores and gravel beaches are qualifying features of the Northumbria 
Coast Special Protection Area (SPA)7, part of which lies along the 
Durham coast8 and so of interest in the context of this report. 
 

51 The Wetland Bird Survey (WeBs) provides annual data for Turnstones 
counted within the Northumbria Coast SPA.  The species shows a 
shallow increase in population up until the late 1980s/early 1990s, from 
which there has then been a steady decline.  Further survey work 
reinforces the population declines, with a significant decline in counts of 
turnstones on the Northumbrian Coast SPA between the winters 1980/81 
and 2014/15 (Mark Whittingham et. al. 2016). The national and regional 
turnstone populations show a similar trend, however the changes in 
counts were significantly slower than the more rapid declines in the 
Northumbrian Coast SPA. 
 

52 The other species covered by the SPA, Purple Sandpiper, is regarded by 
The Birds of Durham as "having declined in recent years". 
 

53 Two breeding species are listed on the SPA citation, Roseate Turn and 
Little Turn.  According to the Atlas both these species show evidence of 
increases.  The Birds of Durham note that the last time Roseate Turn 
tried (unsuccessfully) to breed in County Durham was in 1999 and it is an 
“uncommon passage visitor”.  The Little Turn has a precarious foothold 
in County Durham.  The dunes at Crimdon have held a breeding colony 
and while efficient wardening has prevented part or total failure of the 
colony in recent years by minimising human impacts and predation, the 
small size of the colony makes it susceptible to impacts. 
 

54 The trend statements within the Atlas for Farmland and Upland Birds 
indicate declines. Although some species of farmland birds show 
evidence of a slight increase in numbers, the overall picture is one of 
decline.  Upland birds follow suit, with a concerning picture of decreases 
and potential declines. 
 

 
7 Special Protection Area (SPA) are selected are selected to protect one or more rare, threatened or vulnerable bird species listed in Annex 

I of the Birds Directive 
8 Between Seaham and Ryhope and between Crimdon Dene and Blackhall Colliery 

Page 75



  

 

Chart 15:  Guiding Statement Trends for Farmland Birds 

 

Chart 16: Guiding Statement Trends for Upland Birds 

 
55 The Birds of Durham paints a similar picture of declines, notably with 

Farmland birds where twelve of the eighteen species are in decline. 
Uplands birds are generally seen as currently stable, but three species 
have historically declined with no evidence of a recovery. 
 

56 The Atlas trend statements are worse for Woodland Birds and Urban and 
Garden Birds with no evidence of population increases recorded in the 
Atlas and all the species for which data is available indicating some level 
of decline. 
 

  

 

Chart 17:  Guiding Statement Trends for Urban and Garden Birds 

 

Chart 18:  Guiding Statement Trends for Woodland and Scrub Birds 

 

57 Again, the Birds of Durham aligns with the trend statements within the 
Atlas with three of the five Urban and Garden birds showing evidence of 
declines.  Five of the nine Woodland & Scrub species are regarded as 
showing evidence of declines in The Birds of Durham. 
 

58 The State of the UK’s Birds Report (2020) by the British Trust for 
Ornithology provides trends for Woodland and Farmland Birds.  The 

Page 76



farmland bird index has declined by 45% since the 1970’s and the 
woodland bird index by 27% in the same period.  
 

59 Information from the two Durham bird publications provides evidence that 
we were following the national declines up to 2012, there seems to be no 
reason to suspect that this situation has radically changed over the 
preceding years.  The 2020 BTO report states that “The farmland 
indicator continues to decline, despite widespread uptake of agri-
environment schemes and other bespoke conservation initiatives” and 
this statement is more than likely to apply at a local level. 
 

 

Chart 19:  Farmland and Woodland Bird Index Change - State of the UK’s Birds Report (2020)  

Mammals and Herptiles 

60 There are 25 mammals and herptiles listed on the DBAP and the 
Mammals, Amphibians and Reptiles of the North East (2012) provides 
the most recent published information on these species. 
 

61 The atlas states that all the reptile species are “declining in the region” 
and that our only DBAP listed amphibian, the great crested newt, had 
undergone a decline since the 1980’s.  Statements or information 
extracted from the Atlas for reptiles and amphibians is shown in the table 
below: 

 

 
Grass Snake 

 

 
“Decline and possibly heading to extinction” 

 
Great Crested Newt 

 

 
20% decline between 1984 and date of publication 

 

  

Page 77



Adder 
 

Some evidence of reduction in distribution 

 
Common Lizard 

 

 
“Considerable decline in lowland distribution” 

 
Slow Worm 

 

 
Some evidence of reduction in distribution 

 

Table 1: Reptiles and Amphibians 

62 The County Reptile Recorder was contacted (January 2022) for an 
opinion on the current state of our herptile fauna; they believe that there 
is no evidence of a recovery in our reptile species and that they may still 
be in decline.  There have been no Grass snake records for five years 
and they are almost certainly now extinct and that great crested newts 
might be stable but have not recovered from the declines noted in the 
2012 Atlas.  The County Recorder thinks that coastal slow worm 
populations are the most likely future population loss. 
 

63 This picture of declines is also evident at a national level with all the 
species resident in County Durham regarded as in ‘general decline’ 
across the UK other than the adder which is reported as declining in some 
areas.  The grass snake which is likely extinct in County Durham is 
regarded as in general decline nationally (BTO Research Report 572). 
 

64 There are 20 species of mammal listed on the DBAP of which 9 are 
species of bat.  The Atlas is unable to provide clear population or 
distribution trends for most of the species due to a lack of data; the Atlas 
provides clear information on declines or increases in population or 
distribution for only five species. 
 

65 Within living memory, the otter, water vole and red squirrel have declined 
or are still declining.  The otter became virtually extinct in Durham during 
the 1960’s and 1970’s due to pollutants and adverse riparian 
management; fortunately, this situation has been reversed and otters 
have recolonised the County.  The water vole and red squirrel have 
undergone significant declines and there is little, if any, evidence of any 
reversal in their fortunes.  Two other species, the pine marten and polecat 
suffered near extinction in the late 1800’s / early 1900’s and remain 
elusive to this day. 
 

66 Statements or information extracted from the Atlas for mammals is shown 
in the table below: 
 

 
Otter 

 

 
Significant decline in 1960/70’s; now returned to 
former distribution 
 

 
Pine Marten 

 

 
Functionally extinct since late 1800’s. 

Page 78



 
Polecat 

 

 
Extinct in the early 1900’s.  Evidence of a limited 
return to the area  
 

 
Red Squirrel 

 

 
1953 survey stated that the species had 
“declined of late years”.  Lost from east Durham 
in early 2000’s 
 

 
Water Vole 

 

 
Lost from approx. 90% of range (late 1990’s). 
Further 30% loss (2006 to 2015) 
 

 

Table 2: Mammals 

67 The State of Nature Report provides information on changes in the 
abundance and distribution of mammals across the UK.  Over the short 
term, the indicator for abundance remained stable, just 3% lower in 2016 
compared to 2006 while the distribution indicator shows long term 
decreases of 26% over the long term and a 6% decrease over the short 
term.  The lack of time series data informing the local Atlas means that it 
is difficult to compare the local and national pictures; but only one of the 
three species that we can show to have declined in our lifetimes has 
recovered. The water vole and red squirrel continue to be of concern in 
2022 despite conservation efforts spanning decades. 

Butterflies 

68 The Atlas of the Butterflies of North East England was published in 2014 
and provides information on the 7 DBAP listed butterflies within County 
Durham.  Butterflies have been relatively well recorded, with natural 
historians producing accounts of local butterflies since the late 1800s and 
Dunn and Parrack publishing The Moths and Butterflies of 
Northumberland and Durham in 1986. 
 

69 Of the seven DBAP species five have clearly undergone declines up to 
2014.  The remaining two species are both hairstreaks and are regarded 
as under-recorded making any determination of declines difficult, 
although it is thought that the White-letter hairstreak may have been in 
decline since the mid 2000’s. 
 

70 Statements or information extracted from the Atlas and other publications 
for all DBAP butterflies are shown in the table below: 
 

 
Northern Brown Argus 

 

 
Two distinct colonies (inland and coastal).  Two inland sites have 
been lost.  
 

 
Dingy Skipper 

 

 
A 2005 survey indicated a 30% loss of known sites 
 

  

Page 79



 
Small Pearl-bordered 

Fritillary 

Formally found across the county, with significant declines in the 
early 1900’s. 
 
Increasing due to introductions and active management, but 
distribution still limited as of 2021. 
 

 
Dark Green Fritillary 

 

 
Once common, but declined in the 1960/70’s.  Now recovering and 
spreading but distribution still limited as of 2021. 
 

 
Grayling 

 

 
Noted as extinct by Dunn and Parrack (1986).  Previously present 
along the Durham coast.  No confirmed9 Durham records as of 
2021 but might be possible that a recolonisation is slowing 
occurring. 
 

 
White-letter hairstreak 

 

 
Increase up to 2006 (probably due to recording effort), potential 
decline since 2006.  Regarded as under-recorded. 
 

 
Green Hairstreak 

 

 
A rare species, increase in distribution since 1986 (probably due to 
recording effort). 
 

 

Table 3: Butterflies 

71 Since the 2014 Atlas was written, targeted conservation action has 
continued to be directed toward the Small Pearl-bordered Fritillary and 
Dark Green Fritillary.  These two species have shown limited recoveries, 
with Dark Green Fritillary becoming increasingly common where good 
quality habitat is present. 
 

72 The Dingy Skipper survey was repeated in 2016, albeit involving fewer 
sites, but the rate of loss was almost identical to that shown by the 
previous work referenced in the Atlas. 
 

73 Butterflies are one of the species groups exhibiting alarming declines at 
a national level with the State of Nature Report reporting recent declines 
of 12% in abundance and habitat specialist butterflies showing a decline 
of 68% between 1976 and 2018. 
 

74 This national pattern of declines amongst specialist species chimes with 
the local data, all five DBAP species which we can show have declined 
are habitat specialists with only White-letter hairstreak being a species of 
the wider countryside.  A decline in specialist butterflies can be seen as 
a reflection on the state of our semi-natural habitats as discussed with 
regards to SSSI and LWS, as without the habitats to support them, 
species declines are inevitable. 

 
9 A few records from Murton and a singleton from Hawthorn, but the reliability of these records is in doubt. Surveys at Murton and in 

2021 at Hawthorn did not find the species.   

Page 80



Bumblebees 

75 The most recent Atlas is that for the bumblebees, which was published in 
2019.  There is a long history of bumblebee recording in County Durham 
with information from the early 1800’s and active recorders in the early 
1900s through to the modern day. 
 

76 Since 1827 there have been 22 species of bumblebee recorded in County 
Durham, currently there are 18 extant species, 23% of our bumblebee 
historical fauna is either locally extinct or has significantly declined. 
 

77 Statements or information extracted from the Atlas for bumblebees are 
shown in the table below: 
 
 

 
Great yellow bumblebee 

 

 
Extinct (last recorded in 1970) 

 
Red shanked carder bee 

 

 
Extinct (last recorded in 1979) 

 
Large garden bumblebee 

 

 
Extinct (last recorded in 1926) 

 
Shrill carder bee  

 

 
Extinct (last recorded in 1926) 

 
Moss carder bee 

 

 
Significant reduction in distribution, lost from the 
lowlands by the 1970’s although still present in 
upper Weardale and Teesdale. 
 

 
Red-tailed Cuckoo Bee 

 

 
Formerly rare, increasing across the County 

 

Table 4:  Bumblebees 

78 At a national level bumblebee species have declined over the past 
century. Two species became extinct in the UK during the 1900’s with 
Cullum’s bumblebee last seen on the Berkshire Downs in 1941 and the 
Short-haired bumblebee last seen at Dungeness in 1988 and officially 
declared extinct in 2000. 
 

79 The concerns over the national status of bumblebee have led to seven 
species being listed as UK Priority Species, of which five have been 
recorded in County Durham, of these five, four are now extinct and one 
has undergone a significant reduction in distribution. 
 

80 Most bumblebees are not habitat specialists but are dependent on 
permanent flower-rich grasslands that they need to forage in.  The loss 
of hay meadows and wildflower meadows especially in the lowlands is a 
major cause of declines and the likely explanation for the losses in the 

Page 81



local area. Despite some positive news, bumblebee populations in 
County Durham have clearly undergone declines that mirror the national 
picture and the drivers for these declines are likely the same.  

Salmon and Sea Trout 

81 The Environment Agency monitors salmon and sea trout numbers 
passing the fish counters at Framwellgate on the River Wear and at the 
Tees Barrage on the lower reaches of the River Tees.  Data is available 
up to 2021. 
 

82 The data for both rivers indicate a decline in salmonids recorded moving 
through the Wear and Tees catchments.  The trend for the River Tees is 
more marked than for the Wear, where increases in fish counts have 
been noted up until the 2010’s when numbers started to decline. 
 
 
 

 

Chart 20:  Fish counts (River Wear) 

 

Chart 21: Fish Counts (River Tees) 

83 The concerns raised by the fish count data are reinforced by Environment 
Agency compliance assessments for the Rivers Wear and Tees against 
the management objective for salmon stocks. 

Page 82



 
84 The EA places rivers in risk categories of not meeting the management 

objectives, the categories range from ‘not at risk’ in the current year i.e., 
having a high probability (p ≥ 95%) of achieving the management 
objective to ‘at risk’ i.e. having a low probability (p ≤ 5%) of achieving the 
objective. 
 

85 Data relating to the risk categories of rivers across the country has been 
reported in ‘Salmon Stocks and Fisheries in England and Wales in 2020’ 
and is shown in the table below: 

 

Year River Wear (Risk Category) River Tees (Risk Category) 

2008 Not at risk At risk 

2009 Not at risk At risk 

2010 Not at risk At risk 

2011 Not at risk At risk 

2012 Not at risk At risk 

2013 Not at risk At risk 

2014 Probably not at risk At risk 

2016 Probably not at risk At risk 

2020 Probably not at risk At risk 

  At risk 

2025 (predicted) Probably at risk At risk 

 

Table 5:  Risk of not meeting Management Objectives – Rivers Wear and Tees 

 

86 The River Tees has fallen into the ‘at risk’ category since 2008 and is not 
predicted to meet its management objectives in 2025.  While the River 
Wear was ‘not at risk’ for many years its risk of failing management 
objectives is increasing and predicted to further decline. 
 

87 The national picture can be summed up in a statement from the 2020 
report - “The latest assessment therefore indicates that most salmon 
stocks in England and Wales remain in a depleted state”.  The local 
picture with regards to salmon appears to be in line with the 2020 report’s 
assessment of the national status of stocks. 

 

Page 83



Summary 

88 The local data for our terrestrial and aquatic habitats clearly shows that 
across-the-board semi-natural habitats are failing to meet condition 
assessments and targets:  85% of SSSIs are in unfavourable condition, 
70% of LWS compartments are failing condition assessments, 90.6% of 
surface waters are failing to meet the required standards and the risks of 
failure to meet management objective for salmon on our rivers are 
increasing. 
 

89 Other than the Water Framework Directive data for surface waters, which 
shows continuing failures since 2015 the remaining habitat data provides 
a snapshot of condition rather than a time series.  Despite this gap in the 
data, our semi-natural habitats are clearly under significant pressure, and 
this represents a substantial impact on our biodiversity.  If our habitats 
are in poor condition and being gradually lost due to lack of, or 
inappropriate management then it follows that our species will also be 
negatively impacted upon. 
 

90 Although our species data does not allow trends to be produced over the 
same time periods as used by the State of Nature Report all the local 
evidence, across the species groups, points to the conclusion that 
declines comparable with the global and national picture are occurring in 
County Durham.  The national picture of declines for Priority Species is 
echoed at a local level within all the Atlases and more recent anecdotal 
and survey evidence supports the interpretation provided by these 
publications. 

Ecological Emergency 

91 The question of whether to declare an Ecological Emergency begins with 
the ESCOC deciding whether to make a recommendation to Cabinet that 
a declaration should be made, and if so, the form it should take. 
 

92 If the ESCOC makes a recommendation for declaration, then the Climate 
Change Emergency provides a proven framework for any response to the 
Ecological Emergency.  The Climate Emergency Action Plan consists of 
two parts: one for the council's target and one for the countywide target.  
If an Ecological Emergency follows the same blueprint, then the ESCOC 
should be made aware of the developing Local Nature Recovery Strategy 
(LNRS); this strategy is a statutory requirement of the Environment Act 
2021 and provides a strategic framework that will help drive action and 
investment to help nature and wider nature-based environmental 
benefits. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 84



93 A LNRS will consist of 

 A Statement of Biodiversity Priorities: priorities for biodiversity 

outcomes, and the actions that need to be undertaken to achieve 

these outcomes. 

 

 A Local Habitat Map: existing distribution of habitats and areas 

already important for biodiversity, overlaid by locations considered 

suitable for delivering the outcomes and actions. 

 
94 The LNRS could form the ‘countywide’ section of any Ecological 

Emergency with the Council partially satisfying its commitment to an 
Ecological Emergency by supporting the production of a LNRS and 
delivery of its targets and actions. 
 

95 This would leave the production of an Action Plan for the council’s targets.  
The priority would be a cross service review to identify and describe the 
measures and changes that might be made to benefit biodiversity.   

Conclusion  

96 Members have already received information at the special meeting on the 
13 December, showing the decline in habitats and various species across 
the county.  The information previously provided has been further added 
to by this report and accompanying presentation together with the views 
of key partners on biodiversity decline across the County. 
 

97 It is anticipated that the information provided to members will allow them 
to determine as to whether they recommend to Cabinet that DCC 
declares an Ecological Emergency. 
 

 

Background papers 

 Living Planet Index 2020 

 State of Nature Report 2019 

 

 

 

Contact: Stuart Priestley 03000 267135 

   

Page 85



  

Page 86



Appendix 1:  Implications  

Legal Implications 

Not applicable 

Finance 

Not applicable 

Consultation 

Not applicable 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Not applicable 

Human Rights 

Not applicable 

Climate Change 

The decline in biodiversity is detailed in the report. 

Crime and Disorder 

Not applicable 

Staffing 

Not applicable 

Accommodation 

Not applicable 

Risk 

Not applicable 

Procurement 

Not applicable 

 

 

 

 

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Cabinet 

6 April 2022 

Annual review of Constitution  

 

Report of Helen Lynch, Head of Legal & Democratic Services and 

Monitoring Officer 

Councillor Amanda Hopgood, Leader of the Council 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 To present the Constitution, as updated following the annual review, for 

adoption by Council.  

Executive summary 

2 The Council’s Constitution describes the four methods by which the 

Council operates; the Council, the Executive, Overview and Scrutiny and 

the Committees. It also provides the framework within which each must 

operate by including:  

 

(a) the rules and procedures to be followed by the Council and 

committees when conducting their business;  

(b) the decision-making powers of the Council, the Executive, 

Committees and Officers;  

(c) the financial and contract regulations;  

(d) the rights of the public;  

(e) codes of conduct for councillors and employees;  

(f) members allowances;  

 

3 The Constitution is reviewed on an annual basis with a fundamental 

review undertaken periodically. The last review of the Constitution was 

presented to Council on 24 March 2021 and was presented to Council 

for adoption on 26 May 2021.  

 

Page 89

Agenda Item 6



Recommendation(s) 

4 The Leader and Cabinet are asked to: 

a) approve the delegation of executive powers as set out in the 

proposed amendments to the officer scheme of delegation at 

paragraphs 35 - 44 of the report; and 

b) recommend that Council agree to the proposed revisions to the 

Constitution at its meeting on 25 May 2022.  

 

Page 90



Background 

5 Section 37 of the Local Government Act 2000 requires local authorities 

operating executive arrangements to prepare and keep up to date a 

document which contains:  

 

(a) such information as the Secretary of State may direct;  

(b) the authority’s standing orders (i.e. rules of procedure);  

(c) the code of conduct for members; and 

(d) such information as the authority considers appropriate. 

 

6 The Council must ensure that copies of the above are available for 

inspection by the public at all reasonable hours and supply a copy of the 

same upon request (upon payment of such reasonable fee as we may 

determine). 

 

7 Durham County Council’s Constitution is available on the Council’s 

website.  

Methodology for the Annual Review 

8 Preparations for the annual review of the Constitution due to be 

considered by Council on 25 May 2022 commenced in the autumn of 

2021, with service representatives being contacted to request that they 

consider what, if any, changes they believed were appropriate to the 

Constitution. 

 

9 Those changes are presented within this report, together with any 

changes identified by Corporate Directors and Heads of Service as part 

of the 2022/23 update. 

 

10 The proposed changes are summarised below. Where applicable, 

relevant extracts of the Constitution showing the proposed changes are 

shown at appendices 2 - 9 of this report. 

Accessibility 

11 There is a legal requirement with limited exemptions to have documents 

which are available on public sector websites to be accessible. The 

review of the Constitution has taken into account accessibility 

requirements. This has resulted in changes in the presentation of the 

Page 91



Constitution to format, numbering and layout but does not change the 

intent or content of the document.  

 

Article 4 – The Full Council – B: Area Planning Committees 

12 The structure of the authority’s planning committees was agreed by the 

Council at its meeting on 17 December 2008. The arrangements were 

implemented on 1 April 2009. There is the County Planning Committee, 

and three Area Planning Committees. 

 

13 The County Planning Committee comprises of 16 Members of the 

Council, excluding Members of the Executive, and is responsible for the 

following, except where delegated to an officer: 

 

(i) To exercise the Council’s functions relating to town and country 

planning and development control as set out in Section A of 

Schedule 1 to the 2000 Regulations, in relation to the following 

matters: 

a. Residential development proposals involving 200 or more 

dwellings or a site area of 4 hectares or more 

b. All non-residential development proposals (including 

commercial, retail and industrial developments) of 10,000 or 

more square metres floorspace or a site area of 2 hectares or 

more. 

c. Development proposals involving the erection of one or more 

wind turbines described as Medium-Large or Large and having 

a height in excess of 40 metres to the blade tip or a site area of 

1 hectare or more. 

d. Applications for renewable energy developments (including 

Biomass, Hydro-Electric, Geothermal, Gasification or 

Photovoltaics) of 1 hectare or more. 

e. All development proposals relating to minerals or waste 

 

(ii)  Development which in the opinion of the Head of Planning 

Services is of strategic significance, including strategic schemes 

promoted by the County Council. 

 

14 There are three Area Planning Committees of: 

Page 92



 north Durham (comprising the former District Council areas of 

Chester le Street and Derwentside) 

 central and East Durham (comprising the former District Council 

areas of Durham City and Easington) 

 south and West Durham (comprising the former District Council 

areas of Sedgefield, Teesdale and Wear Valley)  

 

15 Each Area Planning Committee is comprised of 16 Members of the 

Council, with 8 members representing electoral divisions within the 

Committee’s area and 8 other members from the rest of the County 

excluding Members of the Executive. This approach was considered to 

achieve a balance between local and strategic influences.  

 

16 Except where the matter is delegated to an officer, Area Planning 

Committees have the following functions for the areas: 

(i) Functions relating to town and country planning and development 

control as set out in Section A of Schedule 1 to the 2000 

Regulations unless those matters fall within the remit of the County 

Planning Committee 

(ii) Power to make limestone pavement order 

(iii) Powers relating to the protection of important hedgerows 

(iv) Powers relating to the preservation of trees 

(v) Powers relating to complaints about high hedges. 

 

17 It should be noted that due to the boundaries, members representing the 

electoral divisions of Deerness, Esh and Witton Gilbert, Trimdon and 

Thornley, and Willington and Hunwick would be classed as local  

members for two area planning committee areas as opposed to one. 

 

18 At the annual meeting of Council, members agree to appoint the 

committees, and determine the allocation of seats to political groups 

represented on the Council on Committees in accordance with the 

provisions of Sections 15 and 16 of the Local Government and Housing 

Act 1989.  

 

19 Section 15 of the 1989 Act (Duty to Allocate Seats to Political Groups) 

sets out the requirements as to political proportionality on Council bodies 

and requires the Council, in allocating seats on committees and sub-

Page 93



committees of the Council to political groups, to give effect, so far as 

practicable, to the following four principles: 

(a) that not all seats on the committee/sub-committee are allocated to 

the same political group; 

(b) that the political group having a majority of seats on the Council 

should have a majority on each committee and sub-committee; 

(c) that, subject to (a) and (b) above, the number of seats on the 

Council’s committees and sub-committees allocated to each 

political group, bears the same proportion to the total number of 

such committee/sub-committee seats as the number of members 

of that group bears to the membership of the full Council, and 

(d) that, subject to (a) to (c) above, seats will be allocated on each 

committee and sub-committee in the same ratio as exists on the 

full Council.  

 

20 Section 16 of the 1989 Act (Duty to Give Effect to Allocations) requires 

the Council to give effect to the allocations determined in accordance 

with the wishes of the relevant group. 

 

21 These principles are applied to all committees including the four planning 

committees. In each case the determination of seats has followed the 

principles of rounding up or down, and negotiation takes place with group 

leaders to determine the final allocation. 

 

22 In relation to the Area Planning committees where membership is split 

between local members and those for the rest of the county, once the 

total allocation of seats to groups on an area committee is achieved, the 

issue arises in then determining whether those seats are for local 

members, or members from the rest of the county. Giving effect to 

allocations can be challenging where a group has a seat but not a local 

member to take up that seat. 

 

23 The split is achieved through discussion with group leaders and 

negotiation and allocated as fairly as possible bearing in mind the 

numbers of seats to groups and number of members that would fall into 

the category of local members for that committee area. Alternative ways 

have been looked at determining the split of allocation however there is 

no calculated formula in achieving this. 

 

Page 94



24 Officers were asked to consider whether seats can be allocated to local 

members rather than members from across the County. It is understood 

that there is less appetite from members to sit on an area planning 

committee which is outside of their local area. The arrangements have 

also been criticised on occasion by the public who do not consider it 

appropriate for local planning matters to be determined by Councillors 

from outside the area.  

 

25 A benchmarking exercise was undertaken with councils in the region, and 

with other Unitary Authorities which have similar population size. Of the 

10 responses received (17 authorities contacted) there is no such 

restriction on allocation to seats to members from a geographical area. 

All committee seats are allocated on political balance only. 

 

26 Constitution Working Group met on 6 December 2021 and agreed to 

recommended that Council change its arrangements so that members 

are appointed to Area Planning Committees based on their political 

affiliation in accordance with the political balance rules only, rather than 

an additional criteria relating to whether they are a local or county 

member of the area that they represent. This is the approach adopted in 

respect of appointments to other Regulatory Committees such as 

Highways and Licensing, and can be seen from the benchmarking 

exercise with other authorities.  

 

Article 4 – The Full Council – D: Chief Officer Appointment 
Committee  

27 Under the Openness and Accountability in Local Pay guidance, issued 

by the Secretary of State under section 40 of the Localism Act 2011, it 

provides that elected members should be offered the opportunity to vote 

on large salary and severance packages before they are offered in 

respect of a new appointment.  

28 For the purposes of the guidance, salary packages includes salary, any 
bonuses, fees or allowances routinely payable to the appointee and any 
benefits in kind. The Secretary of State consider that £100,000 is the 
appropriate level for that threshold to be set (this is consistent with the 
provisions in relation to exit packages) and currently such proposals are 
presented to full Council.  
 

Page 95



29 It is proposed that Council delegates this responsibility to the Chief 
Officer Appointment Committee (COAC) and that the decision of the 
COAC is reported for information at the next convenient Council meeting.  

 

30 Since Council dates are set annually in advance waiting to present 
proposals can cause delays in the recruitment process and the 
operational delivery of Council functions. The proposed change will allow 
a COAC to be convened quickly giving the requisite five clear days’ 
notice which will enable such staffing matters to be considered more 
quickly, whilst still ensuring that members are able to vote on them.  

 

31 The terms of reference for COAC will be amended to reflect this proposal 
at Article 4, paragraph D and this is shown at Appendix 2.  

 

Article 6 – The Executive 

32 Article 6 covers the appointment of the Leader at the annual meeting of 

Council following an election and how duties of the Leader are 

discharged in the event that there is a vacancy for the position of Leader. 

However, Article 6 does not provide for the appointment of a new Leader 

should a vacancy arise mid-term. It is therefore proposed to amend 

Article 6 to enable the appointment of a Leader at an ordinary meeting of 

Council following a casual vacancy arising.   

 

33 Article 6 is also silent on how a new Leader is appointed in the event that 

the Leader is removed by motion on notice to Council (in accordance with 

Council Procedure Rules). This scenario is provided for under section 91 

of the Local Government Act 1972, which states that where Council 

passes a resolution to remove the Leader, a new Leader is to be elected 

at the meeting at which the Leader is removed from office or at a 

subsequent meeting.   It is therefore proposed to update Article 6 to 

reflect the legislative position for completeness.  

 

34 Article 6 sets out when vacancies in the office of Leader and Deputy 

Leader arise. Reference is made to them being suspended from being a 

councillor under Part III of the Local Government Act 2000. However, 

these provisions were repealed by the Localism Act 2011 so these 

references are to be deleted. The proposed changes to Article 6 are 

shown at Appendix 3 of this report 

 

  

Page 96



Part 3 - Delegations to Officers 

35 There are a small number of technical changes that have been made to 

the scheme of delegations, to reflect the organisational changes and the 

work within the respective Directorates.  

 

36 The Head of Legal and Democratic Services has delegated authority to 

make technical changes to the Constitution and as such the scheme of 

delegations will be updated to ensure that the work within each 

Directorate are accurate and reflect the staffing structures. These have 

not been reproduced for the purpose of this report. 

 

37 The Resources Directorate and Regeneration, Economy and Growth 

Directorate are consulting on Heads of Service restructures which will be 

implemented after the 1 April 2022. The changes to the scheme of 

delegation arising from the restructures are anticipated to be technical 

changes and the Head of Legal and Democratic Services will exercise 

her delegated authority to make the technical in year changes which 

includes to updates to the Constitution to reflect decisions of the Council, 

other Council bodies, to reflect changes in legislation and to correct 

inaccuracies.  

Table 3 – Corporate Director for Regeneration, Economy and 

Growth 

38 It is proposed that the delegation for the Head of Corporate Property and 

Land is amended in respect of approving the principle of acquiring 

property at a price not exceeding £100,000. The proposed change is to 

increase the limit to £250,000 to reflect market conditions. The change 

will appear at the relevant paragraph within Table 3.  

 

39 Similarly, it is proposed to incorporate a new financial limit of £250,000 to 

the existing delegation for the Head of Corporate Property and Land to 

negotiate the acquisition of easements, rights of way, wayleaves, 

licences, covenants and consents for the benefit of Council land and 

property. The change will appear at the relevant paragraph within Table 

3.  

 

40 It is proposed that the scheme of delegation for the Head of Development 

and Housing is updated to reflect the work of the Council in providing 

Council housing. This incorporation ensures that there are clear and 

specific delegations in respect of the work of the Council as a local 

Page 97



housing authority. The responsibilities relate to the day to day 

management of housing stock such as the granting and termination of 

tenancies and licences, providing consents of succession, assignment 

and mutual exchanges. The proposed changes are shown at Appendix 4 

of this report. The responsibility for functions within Article 6 will also be 

updated to reflect that the Portfolio Holder of Recourses, Investment and 

Assets will include Council housing. 

 

41 It is also proposed that the amendment to the scheme of delegation in 

respect of planning matters agreed 22 May 2020 and reported to Council 

on 21 October 2020 is removed.  

 

42 Due to advice from central government regarding social distancing during 

the Covid-19 pandemic, there were restrictions on meetings of the 

County Council or any of its committees from 18 March 2020 and this led 

to a backlog of planning applications requiring determination. 

 

43 The Chief Planner in his March 2020 Planning Update Newsletter 

encouraged Authorities to “consider delegating committee decisions 

where appropriate.” To assist the council to meet statutory timeframes in 

respect of determining applications and to provide some certainty to 

business, it was agreed that all matters are delegated to the Interim 

Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy & Growth other than those 

which the Head of Development and Housing considers are likely to have 

a significant impact on the environment or are by their nature particularly 

controversial or those which have been properly called in by Member or 

Local Council.  

 

44 This arrangement has been kept under review which was introduced 

where planning committees were unable to be convened due to 

exceptional circumstances (in this instance the pandemic). In light of the 

lifting of the restrictions and the reinstatement of meetings in person it is 

considered appropriate to remove the emergency provisions. The 

proposed change is shown at Appendix 5 of this report.  

 

Council Procedure Rules 

45 The Council Procedure Rules require that written notice of every motion, 

must be delivered to the Head of Legal and Democratic Services not later 

Page 98



than 5.00 p.m. on the seventh working day before the Council meeting at 

which it is to be considered.  

 

46 It is proposed that the Council Procedure Rules stipulate the email 

address where the written notice is to be sent if by electronic mail to a 

general mailbox monitored on behalf of the Monitoring Officer.  An extract 

of the Council Procedure Rules showing the proposed update is shown at 

Appendix 6. 

Executive Procedure Rules 

47 The Executive Procedure Rules (EPRs) make provision for members of 
the public to ask questions of members of the Cabinet on matters of 
concern or interest, during the first formal item of business at every 
ordinary cabinet meeting.  

48 Members of the public may also ask questions of members of the 
Cabinet on reports that are to be considered by the Executive which are 
listed on the agenda for that meeting.  

49 The deadline for public questions is midday three working days before 
the day of the meeting (the Friday before the meeting on a Wednesday).  

50 In respect of questions from Members, the rules provides that “there is no 
general right for non-cabinet members to address Cabinet at their 
meetings, however if the decision to be made affects their division, or 
they have some other relevant consideration this may be accepted 
subject to rule 2.7.2. 

51 Rule 2.7.2 requires that a member wishing to ask a question must 
provide the question to the Head of Legal and Democratic Services no 
later than 2pm, two working days before the day of the meeting (Monday 
before the meeting on a Wednesday). They must indicate their reason for 
asking the question. The Head of Legal and Democratic Services in 
consultation with the Leader of the Council will determine whether the 
question can be asked.  

52 Rule 2.8.1 deals with the scope of questions. The Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services may reject a question from the public if it does not 
relate to a matter of concern or interest.  

53 With regard to questions on reports, the rules provide that the Head of 
Legal and Democratic Services may reject a question from the public or a 
member if it:  

(a) is not about a matter for which the Executive is going to consider an 
item on the agenda for the meeting;  

Page 99



(b) is defamatory, frivolous or offensive;  

(c) is vexatious or abusive;  

(d) is substantially the same or similar to a question which has been put 
at a meeting of the Executive in the past six months;  

(e) requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information;  

(f) is lengthy, or a speech;  

(g) relates to a matter which is of purely personal concern to an 
individual or family members; 

(h) relates to court action or threatened court action that the 
person/group are taking against the Council; 

(i) if a request for compensation; 

(j) contains a statement which is untrue 

(k) is an unintelligible question.  

54 Questions are asked in the order in which they were received and at the 
time the agenda item is being considered. The Leader will invite the 
questioner to put the question to the Member named in the notice. If a 
questioner who has submitted a written question is unable to be present, 
a written reply will be given after the meeting. A restriction of 5 minutes 
per question will be applied, except at the discretion of the Leader.  

55 Unless the Leader decides otherwise, no discussion will take place on 
any question.  

56 There has been an increase in the number of questions being submitted 
by Members. During this municipal year, in September 2021 three 
questions were asked by a Member on behalf of the Member who 
submitted the question and five in October 2021.  In some cases, the 
member submitting the question explained why they were unable to 
attend (prior commitment/funeral) but others did not.  

57 Given the volume of questions being received since the election, often 
close to the deadline (2pm on the Monday before the meeting) it is 
becoming challenging for them to be reviewed to check that they are 
permitted under the rules and for responses to be prepared.  

58 Proposed changes to the Executive Procedure Rules are shown at 
Appendix 7. It is suggested that the deadline for Member questions is 
amended to be consistent with the deadline for public questions i.e. noon 
three working days before the meeting. This would provide more time for 

Page 100



the Head of Legal and Democratic Services to the review the questions 
and consult with the Leader of the Council as appropriate and for 
responses to be prepared.  

59 The Constitution states that questions should be submitted to the Head of 
Legal and Democratic Services. Historically, members have used a 
dedicated email address for Cabinet questions: 
cabinetquestions@durham.gov.uk. It is suggested that the EPRs are 
updated to show the generic email to be used for questions to be 
submitted.   

60 It is also recommended that the EPRs are amended to clarify the 
requirement that Members state their reason for asking the question. This 
requirement would perhaps be more helpful if it read “Members state the 
capacity in which they are asking the question (e.g. as Ward Councillor; 
Committee Member, Shadow Portfolio Holder, etc).   

Contract Procedure Rules  

61 The Contract Procedure Rules (CPRs) form part of the Constitution of the 

Council. The Constitution is updated annually, in a review process which 

runs from December to March. As part of this process Corporate 

Procurement is required to review the CPRs and put forward any 

amendments that may be required to ensure that the rules reflect the 

current practice, guidance and relevant legislation. The proposed 

changes appear at Appendix 8 of this report.  

 

62 The key changes are summarised as follows: 

 Additional points added to Rule 5 contracts and/or payments that are 

exempt from the CPRs: 

 Handling charge fees related to penalty charge notices issued by the 

Council. 

 Creation of exemption for imprest accounts related to contracts 

compliantly procured under the CPRs and Public Contract 

Regulations 2015. 

 Advertising of statutory notices (such as planning notices). 

 Addition to point ‘x’ to include the Council’s duty to provide services 

under the Homelessness Reduction Act 2018. 

 

63 Some overall minor updates have been made with regard to corrections 

of previous typing errors or formatting, these are not significant, and 

therefore have not been itemised. 

 

Page 101



64 Officers considered whether there was any need to amend the 

competitive procurement threshold. On balance it is felt that retaining the 

£5,000 threshold is sensible at the present time as this permits 

appropriate control of spend and visibility of contracts awarded. 

 

65 There are expected changes in 2022 relating to the new Procurement Bill 

and Health Care Bill which will have implications to public contracting 

rules on receiving Royal Assent.  The Head of Legal and Democratic 

Services will make any in-year changes required under her delegation 

referred to at paragraph 34 above. 

 

Protocol on Member Officer Relations 

66 The Council has previously adopted a Consultative Charter (the Charter), 
which sets out principles of communication and the provision of 
information to elected Members.  

67 The Charter used to form part of the Constitution until it was taken out in 
May 2018 following a review, which sought to streamline the Constitution 
and remove repetition.  It has remained available on the Council’s 
intranet.  

68 The Council has also adopted a Protocol on Member Officer Relations 
(the Protocol), which was retained within the Constitution during the 
2017/18 review although it has been amended during subsequent 
reviews. It also contains provisions relating to the provision of information 
to elected Members.  

69 There have been recent examples where local members have reported 
that they have not been informed of matters relating to their areas. 
Officers have therefore been asked to consider whether the Charter can 
be re-introduced as part of the Council’s Constitution.  

70 On 21 October 2021, Constitution Working Group considered the Charter 

and the Protocol and requested that the Protocol be amended so that it 

fully reflected the provisions of the Consultative Charter. They also 

requested some amendments to clarify the type of information that local 

members should be provided with and the circumstances in which these 

are provided.  The proposed changes to the Protocol is shown at 

Appendix 9.  

  

Page 102



Financial Procedure Rules 

71 The Financial Procedure Rules have been reviewed with no substantive 

changes to be made. A minor amendment is proposed to remove the 

date of the Code of Practice and replace with the words Code of Practice 

in place at the time of application.  

 

Background papers 

None 

Other useful documents 

None 

 

Author(s) 

Kamila Coulson-Patel    Tel:  03000 269674 

 

  

Page 103



Appendix 1:  Implications 

 

Legal Implications 

The statutory requirements in relation to the Council’s Constitution are set out 
at paragraph 5 in the report.  
 

Finance 
The review of the Constitution has no financial implications.  
 

Consultation 
Relevant officers have been consulted on the proposed changes to the 
Constitution. The report will be presented to Cabinet on 6 April and Council on 
25 May 2022. 
 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 
There are no equality and diversity implications arising out of this report. The 
Constitution is available in an accessible format. The annual reviews ensure 
that relevant provisions have regard to the Council’s obligations under the 
public sector equality duty. 
 

Climate Change 
None specific within this report. 
 

Human Rights 
None specific within this report. 
 

Crime and Disorder 
None specific within this report.  
 

Staffing 
None specific within this report.  
 

Accommodation 
None specific within this report.  
 

Risk 
None specific within this report. 
  

Procurement 
None specific within this report.  
  

Page 104



Appendix 2: Chief Officer Appointment Committee 

 

Comprised of 11 Members of the Council including the Leader and Deputy 

Leader, the Chief Officer Appointment Committee will expand to include 2 

voting co-opted Independent Persons in the case of proposed disciplinary 

action against a Statutory Officer, and shall be responsible for:  

(i) Appointment of the Chief Executive (subject to confirmation by the 

full council) and chief officers and associated functions under 

Section 112 of the Local Government Act 1972 in relation to those 

officers.  

(ii) Dismissal of Chief Officers, subject to the provisions contained in the 

Officer Employment Procedure Rules regarding the dismissal of 

Statutory Officers.  

(iii) Appointment and dismissal of the Director of Public Health 

(committee to act as advisory appointments committee, the 

appointment is subject to the approval of the Secretary of State for 

Health)  

(iv) To make recommendations to Full Council regarding a decision to 

dismiss a Statutory Officer. 

(v) Officer appointments where the salary package is £100,000 or more 

which will be reported to the next convenient meeting of Council for 

information.  

(vi) Officer severance packages of £100,000 or more which will be 

reported to the next convenient meeting of Council for information. 

 

  

Page 105



Appendix 3:  Article 6 – The Executive 

 

6.1 Deputy Leader 
 

The Deputy Leader will hold office until the end of the term of office of the 
Leader, unless before that date: 

 
(a) they resign from office; or 

 
(b) they are disqualified from being a councillor; or they are suspended from 

being a councillor under Part III of the Local Government Act 2000 (as 
amended) (although they may resume office at the end of the period of 
suspension unless they have, during that period, been removed from 
office by the Leader); or 

 
(c) they are no longer a councillor; or 

 
(d) they are removed from office by the Leader. 

 

6.2 Other Executive Members 
 

Other Executive Members will hold office for such period as the Leader shall 
determine unless during that period: 
 
(a) they resign from office; or 

 
(b) they are suspended from being councillors under Part III of the Local 

Government Act 2000 (as amended) (although they may resume office at 
the end of the period of suspension unless they have, during that period 
been removed from office by the Leader); or 

 
(c) they cease to be councillors. 

 

6.3 Executive Support Members 
 

(a) The Leader may appoint and remove at their discretion up to 10 
councillors to be Executive Support Members, to support and assist the 
Executive as a whole or individual members of the Executive. 
 

(b) Executive Support Members may not be members of any Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, or Audit Committee or the Chair of the Council. 

 
(c) Executive Support Members may not substitute or represent an Executive 

Member at meetings of the Executive or a committee of the Executive, or 
require an item to be placed on the agenda of such meetings; nor may 
they exercise any executive function delegated to an Executive Member. 

  

Page 106



6.4 Vacancies or Inability to Act 
 

(a) Where a vacancy occurs in the office of Deputy Leader, the Leader will 
appoint another person in their place; 

 
(b) If for any reason the Leader is unable to act, or the office of Leader is 

vacant, the Deputy Leader will act in their place; 
 

(c) if for any reason: 
 

i) the Leader is unable to act or the office of Leader is vacant; and 
ii) the Deputy Leader is unable to act or the office of Deputy Leader is 

vacant; 
 

the Executive will act in the Leader’s place or arrange for a member of the 
Executive to act in their place. 

 
(d) In the case of a vacancy of the Leader, an election to fill the vacancy shall 

be held not later than the next ordinary meeting of the Council held after 
the date on which the vacancy occurs, or if that meeting is held within 14 
days after that date, then not later than the next following ordinary 
meeting of the Council. The Proper Officer may convene a meeting of the 
Council for such an election 

 

(e) If the Council passes a resolution to remove the Leader from office, 

it will elect a new Leader at the meeting at which the Leader is 

removed or at a subsequent meeting.  

 

6.5 Responsibility for functions 
 

(a) The Leader may discharge any executive function of the Council. 
 

(b) The Leader may arrange for the discharge of any executive function 
 

i) by the Executive; 
ii) by another member of the Executive; 
iii) by a committee of the Executive, or 
iv) by an officer of the Council 

 
(c) The table below indicates how the Leader has allocated portfolios (lead 

responsibilities) for particular executive functions among individual 
Members of the Executive.  Portfolio holders do not have delegated 
powers.  

 

  

Page 107



Appendix 4:  Head of Development and Housing 

 

1. The management of all matters required to ensure the Council carries out 

its statutory duties as a local housing authority as prescribed in: 

 Housing Act 1985 

 Housing Act 1996 

 Housing Act 2004 

 Local Government and Housing Act 1989  

 Localism Act 2011 

 Housing and Planning Act 2016 

 The Regulatory Framework set out by the Regulator for Social 

Housing; and 

 Any other relevant statute or government guidance relating to the 

management and provision of social housing and related facilities. 

2. In conjunction with the Head of Corporate Finance and Commercial 

Services maintain a Housing Revenue Account in accordance with 

sections 74 – 78 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 

3. To exercise the Council’s functions in respect of the preparation and 

development of appropriate strategies and plans for the Council’s 

housing stock, including the Housing Investment Programme and 

Cyclical Maintenance Programmes including the construction, repair, 

maintenance, modernisation and redevelopment and renewal of 

properties including (but not limited to) house condition surveys and the 

preparation and implementation of programmes of repair and 

improvement; 

4. To prepare and keep under review from time to time the Council’s 

Tenancy Strategy in line with the requirements of the Localism Act 2011. 

5. In consultation with the Head of Corporate Finance and Commercial 

Services to take any decisions on the selection of property where it is 

appropriate to charge an affordable rent in line with the Regulator for 

Social Housing’s Rent Standard. 

6. Exercising the management of functions of the Council in relation to 

dwellings owned by the Council but not held under Part IV of the Housing 

Act 1985. 

Page 108



7. Without prejudice to the foregoing delegations, to exercise the following 

functions of the Council: 

a. authorising the allocation and granting of tenancies and licenses in 

accordance with the Council’s allocation scheme; 

b. approving rents in specific cases; 

c. serving and enforcing notices, to quit, of termination or seeking 

possession; 

d. maintaining properties and estates; 

e. The management of empty properties; 

f. granting consent or otherwise to the succession or assignment of a 

tenancy where statute allows and in line with the Council’s policy;  

g. granting consent to mutual exchanges, imposing conditions to that 

consent where appropriate or refusing such consent with reference 

to Schedule 3 of the Housing Act 1985 

h. granting consent, imposing conditions to that consent where 

appropriate or otherwise withholding tenants’ requests to carry out 

improvements or alterations in accordance with the Housing Act 

1985 sections 97-99 

i. granting consent or otherwise in any other matter where the 

Council’s tenancy agreement including introductory tenancy 

agreement or licensees requires that permission is sought by the 

tenant or licensee;  

j. authorising compensation for tenants’ improvements be they 

statutory or discretionary (Housing Act 1985 sections 99a and 100);  

k. settling any claims by tenants for disrepair, 

l. taking action under sections 1 and 115 of the Crime and Disorder 

Act 1998, Part V of the Housing Act 1996, Anti-Social Behaviour Act 

2003 and Housing Act 2004; 

m. taking action to secure the eviction of trespassers; 

n. undertaking consultation with tenants and / or social landlords where 

required by statute or government guidance or where otherwise 

appropriate e.g. section 105 of the Housing Act 1985; and 

Page 109



o. authorise the granting of licenses for the use of garages, reviewing 

license conditions and subsequent termination of licenses where 

necessary. 

8. Carry out the Council's statutory responsibilities under Part V of the 

Housing Act 1985 (Right to Buy). 

• Authorising service of statutory notices, admitting / denying the right 

to buy, withdrawing or requiring completion. 

• Authorising sales of freehold or otherwise granting of long leases 

9. In consultation with the Head of Legal and Democratic Services, 

enforcing covenants including those relating to repayment of discount, 

use of shared areas and letting of whole. 

10. In consultation with the Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

a. Agreeing variations to the terms of individual leases. 

b. Granting/refusing permission to requests on various matters, by 

leaseholders, where the lease requires consent of the landlord.  

c. Authorising legal action for breaches of covenants. 

11. Determining the application of covenants applied in relation to the Right 

to Buy under section 157 of the Housing Act 1985 relating to homes in 

areas covered by National Parks, Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

and Designated Rural Areas relating to: 

a. Restriction of onward sales to people who have lived or worked in 

the area for a period of 3 years, or 

b. Exercising the Council’s first right of refusal to repurchase the 

property within first 10 years following the Right To Buy (RTB) 

sale. 

12. Exercising the functions of the Council under Part X of the Housing Act 

1985 and Part IV, Chapter 3, and Part VII of the Housing Act 2004 in 

relation to overcrowding. 

13. Exercising the functions of the Council under the Protection from Eviction 

Act 1977, the Protection from Harassment Act 1997 and all other 

enabling powers to regulate and control private landlords. 

14. Exercising the functions of the Council under the Landlord and Tenant 

Act 1985 (landlord’s obligations). 

Page 110



15. In consultation with the Head of Corporate Finance and Commercial 

Services, write off irrecoverable debt due from current and former tenants 

in compliance with the Council’s write off policy.  

16. In consultation with the Head of Corporate Finance and Commercial 

Services, write off any un-refundable Credit balances associated with 

untraceable former tenants in compliance with the Council’s write off 

policy.  

17. To determine disturbance payments and applications for home loss 

payments in accordance with the Land Compensation Act 1973. 

18. Undertaking and determining reviews under the Introductory Tenants 

(Review) Regulations 1997. 

19. To make decisions under Access to Personal Files (Housing) 

Regulations 1989. 

20. To authorise payments to tenants for decoration and removal expenses 

or approve ex-gratia payments in appropriate circumstances. 

21. Agreeing terms with private landlords and registered social landlords to 

lease accommodation for the purposes of providing temporary housing 

for homeless households. 

22. To consider and determine any matters relating to the Housing Act 1985 

(as amended in respect of Right to Buy including the repayment of 

discount and right of first refusal. 

23. To ensure compliance with all Council policies relating to the provision 

and management of Council owned residential properties. Council to 

make changes to all such policies where provision of service would be 

improved, or necessity arises or to recommend such changes to Cabinet 

where appropriate. 

24. To establish such arrangements as appropriate to ensure effective 

engagement of tenants and leaseholders in the setting, monitoring and 

review of housing and related services including holding meetings, 

organising consultation events, surveys, and newsletters. 

25. To consider and respond to requests from Durham Police in respect of 

the designation of dispersal areas under the provisions of the Anti- Social 

Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014.  

Page 111



Appendix 5:  Extract of Table 3 - Delegation to the Corporate 

Director for Regeneration, Economy and Growth 

 

Specific and non-executive delegations 

1. To review decisions made by the Head of Property and Land relating to the 

list of assets of community value. 

 

1A. In consultation with the Chair of the relevant Committee (or in their 

absence, the Vice Chair of the relevant Committee) and the Head of Legal 

and Democratic Services (or their nominated representative), to determine the 

following matters: 

 

a) Major developments (excluding s73 Reserved Matter applications and 

Review of Mineral Planning Permissions) comprising: 

(i) major residential developments (10 or more dwellings or a site area of 

0.5ha or greater) except where the application is for a substitution of house 

types on a scheme already benefitting from an extant planning permission; 

(ii) development of more than 20,000m² of floor space or a site area of 4ha or 

greater comprised in Use Class B1 (Business) and/or Use Class B2 (General 

Industrial) and/or Use Class B8 (Storage or Distribution) or waste and waste 

related development; or 

(iii) development not falling within (i) and (ii) above, where the floor space is 

1000m² (gross) or more or the site area is 1 hectare or more except 

applications where the use or building would be for agriculture or personal 

equestrian use; 

b) those applications for planning permission, other applications and 

notifications which have a relevant timescale of more than 35 days 

recommended for refusal which involve the creation of 10 or more full time 

or equivalent jobs; 

c) those applications for planning permission or notifications which have a 

relevant timescale of more than 35 days where there is a significant 

departure from Development Plan policy and which would be required to 

be the subject of a notification to the Secretary of State. 

 

1B. To discharge any function of the Executive in relation to communication. 

 

The following matters are, in addition, delegated to the Head of Development 

and Housing: 

Page 112



 

2. To exercise the Council’s functions in relation to housing including: 

a) the determination of any applications for grant and/or housing 

assistance loans; 

 

b) the exercise of the Council’s enforcement powers under the legislation 

relating to private sector housing; 

c) to investigate and determine all applications made to the Council under 

its powers and duties to deal with homelessness; 

d) to authorise any expenditure required in the exercise of the Council’s 

functions to assist the homeless. 

 

3. To carry out the Council’s functions in relation to permanent Gypsy, Roma 

and Traveller sites, including allocation of sites, site management, rent 

recovery and tenant support. 

 

4. Subject to paragraph 1A, To determine all forms of planning and other 

applications and all notifications submitted under the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990, the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 

Act 1990, the Planning (Hazardous Substances) Act 1990 or under any 

related principal or secondary legislation, except the following: 

 

a) those applications for planning permission, other applications and 

notifications which have a relevant timescale of more than 35 days 

that any Member of the Council requests be determined by the 

Planning Committee (such must be made in writing to the Head of 

Development and Housing specifying material planning grounds on 

which the request is made and received by the Head of Development 

and Housing within 21 days of publication on the weekly list or the 

initial publication of the proposal (site notice / press notice / service of 

neighbour consultation letters, whichever is the latest); 

b) those applications for planning permission, other applications and 

notifications which have a relevant timescale of more than 35 days 

where a Member of the Council or an officer of the Planning 

Development Service or their spouse/partner or children has an 

interest in the property or land which is the subject of the application or 

notification and where there is an objection to the application or 

notification; 

c) those applications for planning permission, other applications and 

notifications which have a relevant timescale of more than 35 days 

Page 113



where, despite a Town or Parish Council having expressed objection 

or support, the officer is minded to recommend the application or 

notification on material planning grounds contrary to the wishes of the 

local council and:  

 

i) the local council have made a specific request in writing for 

the application or notification to go before a planning 

committee; and 

ii) the local council have confirmed their intention to attend the 

planning committee to make representations on the 

application; and 

iii) the written request is received by the Head of Development 

and Housing within 21 days of publication on the weekly list 

or the initial publication of the proposal (site notice / press 

notice / service of neighbour consultation letters, whichever 

is the latest); 

 

d) Major developments (excluding s73 Reserved Matter applications and 

Review of Mineral Planning Permissions) comprising: 

(i) major residential developments (10 or more dwellings or a site area 

of 0.5ha or greater) except where the application is for a substitution 

of house types on a scheme already benefitting from an extant 

planning permission; 

 

(ii) development of more than 20,000m² of floor space or a site area 

of 4ha or greater comprised in Use Class B1 (Business) and/or Use 

Class B2 (General Industrial) and/or Use Class B8 (Storage or 

Distribution) or waste and waste related development; or 

 

(iii) development not falling within (i) and (ii) above, where the floor 

space is 1000m² (gross) or more or the site area is 1 hectare or 

more except applications where the use or building would be for 

agriculture or personal equestrian use; 

 

(e) those applications for planning permission, other applications and 

notifications which have a relevant timescale of more than 35 days 

likely to have, in the opinion of the Head of Development and Housing, 

a significant impact on the environment or are by their nature 

particularly controversial; 

  

Page 114



f) those applications for planning permission, other applications and 

notifications which have a relevant timescale of more than 35 days 

recommended for refusal which involve the creation of 10 or more full 

time or equivalent jobs; 

 

g) those applications for planning permission or notifications which have a 

relevant timescale of more than 35 days where there is a significant 

departure from Development Plan policy and which would be required to 

be the subject of a notification to the Secretary of State. 

  

Page 115



Appendix 6:  Extract of Council Procedure Rules 

 

10. MOTIONS ON NOTICE 

10.1 Application of Rules 

Rules 10.2 to 10.7 do not apply to motions on notice under rule 10.8. 

 

10.2 Notice 

Except for motions which can be moved without notice under Rule 11, written 

notice of every motion, must be delivered to the Head of Legal and 

Democratic Services not later than 5.00 p.m. on the seventh working day 

before the Council meeting at which it is to be considered. The notice may 

also be given by electronic mail sent to motions@durham.gov.uk.  

 

10.3 Motion set out in agenda 

Motions for which notice has been given will be listed on the agenda in the 

order determined by the Chair. 

 

10.4 Scope 

Motions must be about matters for which the Council has a responsibility or 

which affect the County. 

  

Page 116



Appendix 7:  Executive Procedure Rules  

 

2.7 Questions by Members  

On reports to be considered by the Executive  

2.7.1 A member of the Council may wish to ask questions of Members of the 

Executive on reports that are to be considered by the Executive which are 

listed on the agenda for that meeting. There is no general right for non 

Cabinet members to address Cabinet at their meetings, however if the 

decision to be made affects their division, or they have some other relevant 

consideration this may be accepted subject to rule 2.7.2  

Notice of questions  

2.7.2 A member wishing to ask a question must give notice by delivering the 

question in writing or by electronic mail to cabinetquestions@durham.gov.uk 

for the attention of the Head of Legal and Democratic Services at no later than 

14.00 hrs 2 working days  noon 3 working days before the day of the meeting, 

and must indicate their reason for asking the question state the capacity in 

which they are asking the question (e.g Ward Councillor; Committee Member, 

Shadow Portfolio Holder, etc). The Head of Legal and Democratic Services in 

consultation with the Leader of the Council will determine whether the 

question can be asked.  

Order of questions 

2.7.3 Questions will be asked in the order notice of them was received, and at 

the time that the agenda item was being considered.  

Asking the question at the meeting  

2.7.4 The Leader will invite the questioner to put the question to the Member 

named in the notice. If a questioner who has submitted a written question is 

unable to be present, a written reply will be given after the meeting. A 

restriction of 5 minutes per question will be applied, except at the discretion of 

the Leader.  

2.8 Questions  

Scope of questions  

2.8.1 The Head of Legal and Democratic Services may reject a question from 

the public if it:  

Page 117



(a) does not relate to a matter of concern or interest; or The Head of Legal 

and Democratic Services may also reject a question from the public or a 

Member if it:  

(b) Subject to 2.8.1(a) above, is not about a matter for which the Executive is 

going to consider an item on the agenda for the meeting;  

(c) is defamatory, frivolous or offensive;  

(d) is vexatious or abusive;  

(e) is substantially the same or similar to a question which has been put at a 

meeting of the Executive in the past six months; 

(f) requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information;  

(g) is lengthy, or a speech; 

(h) relates to a matter which is of purely personal concern to an individual or 

family members;  

(i) relates to court action or threatened court action that the person or group 

are taking against the Council;  

(j) is a request for compensation;  

(k) contains a statement which is untrue;  

(l) is an unintelligible question.  

Record of questions 

2.8.2 The Head of Legal and Democratic Services will immediately send a 

copy of the question to the Member to whom it is to be put. Rejected 

questions will include reasons for rejection.  

The questions asked at the meeting and the responses will be referred to in 

the minutes of the meeting.  

Written answers  

2.8.3 Any question which cannot be dealt with during public question time, 

either because of lack of time or because of the non-attendance of the 

Member to whom it was to be put, will be dealt with by a written answer.  

Reference of question to the Executive 

2.8.4 Unless the Leader decides otherwise, no discussion will take place on 

any question.  

Page 118



Appendix 8:  Extract of Contract Procedure Rules 

 

5. EXEMPTIONS 

 

5.1 The following contracts and/or payments are exempt from these CPRs: 

 

(a) Contracts for the execution of mandatory works by statutory 

undertakers, where the statutory undertaker is the only body which can 

perform the works. Such statutory undertakers include: 

i. British Telecom – specifically for telecoms infrastructure 

works. 

ii. Network Rail – specifically for works affecting the railway 

infrastructure. 

iii. Northern Gas Networks – specifically for gas supply 

infrastructure works. 

iv. Northern PowerGrid – specifically for electricity infrastructure 

works. 

v. Northumbria Water – specifically for water and sewerage 

infrastructure works. 

vi. Highways England – specifically for works to the core road 

network under their management. 

 

(b) Statutory fees payable: 

 

i. to the Driver & Vehicle Licensing Agency and/or Drive & 

Vehicle Standards Agency (formerly VOSA). 

ii. to the Disclosure & Barring Service. 

iii. to the Care Quality Commission under section 85(1) of the 

Health and Social Care Act 2008. 

iv. set by government for education or inter-agency adoption 

funding.  

v. to Ofsted for the inspection of a school, children’s home, or 

other facility, 

vi. for TV licenses in Council owned or operated premises. 

vii. for Phonographic Performance Ltd or PRS for Music, for 

the playing of recorded music in public, or for the use of the 

musical composition and lyrics in that recording. 

Page 119



viii. to NHS Business Services Authority for prescription 

charges. 

ix.  for fees incurred for Parking Charge Notices issued by the 

Council. 

x.  Fees payable to Public Health England with respect to the 

Child Death Notification Service. 

 

(c) For the creation of imprest account relating to contracts let that have 

followed a compliant procurement process. 

 

(d) Contracts for the carrying out of statutory public health funerals under the 

Part 3 of the Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984. 

 

(e) Contracts for the purchase of newspaper advertising for statutory notices, 

and contracts for the purchase of broadcasting time, including for the 

placing of radio and television advertising. 

 

(f) Contracts to provide sponsorship to events, awards schemes, or other 

promotional activity being organised by a third party. 

 

(g) Fees payable in advance on an annual basis for publications, access to 

online information and membership fees, only delivered by the publishing 

body, and membership fees of a recognised industry body membership 

programme. Use of this exemption must be followed up with a 

Procurement Acceptance Report as detailed in Rule 19. 

 

(h) Contracts for actors or performers to meet the specific requirements of an 

artistic, cultural, or performing arts event being organised by the council. 

 

(i) Contracts of employment which make an individual a direct employee of 

the authority. 

 

(j) A staff secondment, where an employee of another organisation shall 

work on a Council project, on a temporary basis, but where they will not 

become an employee of the Council. 

 

NB: While the CPRs do not apply to staff secondments, authorisation to 

proceed must be obtained from Human Resources, and the terms of 

the secondment appropriately documented. 

 

Page 120



(k) Contracts for legal representation by a lawyer (advocate, barrister, or 

solicitor) in arbitration or conciliation proceedings, judicial proceedings 

before the courts, tribunals or public authorities of an EU member state or 

third country or before international courts, tribunals or institutions. 

 

(l) Payments for legal advice given by a lawyer, or other expert opinion 

requested, in preparation for, or connected to, any of the proceedings 

mentioned in (k) above. 

 

(m) Payments for documents, document certification and authentication 

services, which may only be provided by notaries, or from the issuing 

authority, such as the General Registry Office, HM Passport Office. 

 

(n) Payments for legal services provided by trustees or appointed guardians 

or other legal services, the providers of which are designated by a court 

or tribunal. 

 

(o) Fees payable to Durham Constabulary to cover the cost of additional 

policing presence at public events or for temporary public safety 

purposes. 

 

(p) Appointment of independent planning inspectors nominated by the Royal 

Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) under the NPIERS scheme. 

 

(q) Fees payable to a qualification awarding body for a professional or 

vocational qualification being undertaken by a Council Officer with the 

support of the Council. 

 

(r) Accreditation and membership, fees payable to an awarding or 

professional body for the accreditation or certification, or fees for services 

required to undertake a service being provided by the Council. 

 

(s) Fees payable for Royal Mail postage, including franking machine credits, 

and for financial transaction services required by the Council. 

 

(t) Agreements regarding the acquisition, disposal, or transfer of land (to 

which the Financial Procedure Rules apply), or: 

 

(u) The payment of grants to third parties. 

 

Page 121



NB: While grants are not covered by these CPRs, there are rules on the 

awarding of grants which do need to be observed. The Council cannot 

simply choose to treat a procurement as a grant in order to avoid 

conducting a competitive process. Officers should follow any guidance 

contained in the Advice Centre. 

 

(v) Where the Council is providing a payment processing facility to a non-

profit body, and where this does not make the Council the accountable 

body for the contracts or transactions in question.  

 

(w) Payments for services with regard to high needs or special education 

(including maintained schools Communities of Learning and Behaviour 

Panels), social care, health, safeguarding, or urgent operational needs, if 

in the opinion of the relevant Corporate Director it is considered to be in 

the Council’s interests or necessary to meet the authority’s obligations 

under relevant legislation. Use of this exemption by the relevant 

Corporate Director must be followed up with a Procurement Acceptance 

Report as detailed in Rule 19. 

 

(x) Those relating to residential and/or nursing care, or independent living 

services, to a person or persons to whom the Council has a duty or 

power to provide under the Care Act 2014, and other relevant legalisation 

relating to, homelessness, social care, health and safeguarding. Use of 

this exemption by the relevant Corporate Director must be followed up 

with a Procurement Acceptance Report as detailed in Rule 19. 

 

 

 

  

Page 122



Appendix 9 - Extract Protocol on Member Officer  

 

8. Information and Advice 

 

8.1 Requests for written information: 

 

(a) Members should be provided with adequate information about services 

or functions on which they may be called upon to make decisions or to 

scrutinise the decisions of others, or which affect their constituents.  

This information will normally be made routinely available by Officers in 

the form of reports, departmental plans, etc..  Members are encouraged 

to make use of existing sources of information wherever possible. 

 

(b) Written information supplied to a Member regarding the implications of 

current Council policies or containing statistical information about 

Council services may be copied to the relevant Cabinet Member. 

 

(c) The Leader of the Council, or Leader of any other political group, may 

request the Chief Executive or the relevant Corporate Director or 

Director, or other designated Officer, to prepare reports on matters 

relating to the authority for consideration by the group.  Such requests 

must be reasonable and should not seek confidential information in 

relation, for instance, to casework or personal details of applicants for 

services. 

 

(d) Wherever possible, such requests will be met.  However, if the Officer 

considers that the cost of providing the information, or the nature of the 

request is unreasonable or inappropriate, the request will be referred to 

the Chief Executive for determination, where necessary in consultation 

with the Leaders of the political group.  Requests will also only be met 

where they comply with data protection or other legal requirements. 

 

(e) Officer reports to political groups should be limited to a statement of 

relevant facts, identification of options and the merits and demerits of 

such options for the authority.  Reports should not deal with any political 

implications of the matter. 

 

8.2 Briefings: 

 

Page 123



(a) In order for them to discharge their responsibilities, Cabinet Members 

will be briefed by senior Officers (Corporate Directors, Director or Heads 

of Service) on service issues, proposals and policy development, either 

on an ad-hoc or regular basis, in accordance with the requirements of 

the Member involved. 

 

(b) The other political party groups may also have nominated Shadow 

Portfolio Holders and, if those leads so request, the relevant senior 

Officers will make themselves available to meet with them to brief them 

on service issues.  The other political party groups should be aware that 

at times the amount of information that Officers can share with them 

may be limited due to issues of confidentiality. 

 

(c) The content of these informal briefing sessions shall remain confidential 

as between Officers and the political group concerned. 

 

8.3 News Items: 

 

When an event or development occurs in the city which has or will have a 

significant impact on the Council or city residents, the Chief Executive 

will ensure that the Leaders of all political groups are informed as soon 

as possible. 

 

8.4 Ward Members: 

 

(a) Senior Officers should ensure that Ward Members are given information 

relevant to their ward where appropriate and in a timely manner.  As 

well as Ward Members know when there has been a potentially 

significant incident in their ward, Ward Members should be notified 

about the following types of issue: 

 

(i) Public consultation events affecting their wards; 

 

(ii) Proposed changes to services sited within their wards; 

 

(iii) Applications and proposals in their wards. 

 

(b) Ward Members should be invited by Officers to public events, such as 

openings, festivals etc. in their wards, regardless of political affiliation. 

 

Page 124



(c) If Officers organise a public meeting about a specific ward issue, all the 

Ward Members should be invited and given as much notice as possible. 

 

(d) If Officers undertake consultation about specific ward issues, they 

should consult the Members for that ward at the start of the 

consultation. 

 

(e) Ward Members should be told in advance about anything which 

particularly affects their ward and which is potentially controversial. 

 

(f) Potentially significant or controversial issues may include but are not 

limited to: 

 

(i) road closures whether planned or unplanned in an emergency (e.g. 

flooding); 

(ii) removal of bus stops (temporarily or permanently) 

(iii) removal of electric vehicle charging points. 

(iv) issues affecting the community raised by MP’s 

(v) matters which have an impact on a local community. 

 

8.5 Local Service Information 

 

(a) Information regarding local services is contained with the Members 

Handbook, which is provided to all Members during Induction / at the 

start of a new municipal year. 

 

(b) Information relating to specific Council services is published on the 

Council’s website.  If Members have queries in respect of services 

provided, these should be raised with Member Support / or the relevant 

Corporate Director in the first instance. 

 

8.6 Petitions 

 

(a) Details of any petitions received, which relate to matters in a particular 

Electoral Division will be sent to the Local Members(s).  Local Members 

will be kept informed on the progress / outcomes of such petitions. 

 

(b) Copies of all petitions and outcomes of petitions will also be provided to 

the Leader of the Council. 

 

Page 125



8.7 Officer attendance at Group Meetings: 

 

(a) The Leader of the Council or Leader of any other political group may 

ask the Chief Executive, Corporate Director or Director to give or 

arrange a private briefing for the party group on a matter of relevance to 

the Council. 

 

(b) Any briefings offered to or requested by a party group will be offered to 

the other party groups. 

 

(c) While Officers may attend political group meetings at which individuals 

who are not elected Members may be present, Members need to 

understand that those Officers’ ability to share confidential information 

with the Group may be limited.  In particular, Officers will not be able to 

share personal information with third parties present if to do so would 

cause the Council to breach the data protection requirements. 

 

(d) Officers must not attend regional and / or constituency party political 

meetings. 

 

(e) Decisions at group meetings are not Council or Cabinet decisions and 

party groups do not have any delegated authority to make formally 

binding decisions. 

 

8.8 Advice for Members with special responsibilities: 

 

(a) The Chair, Cabinet Members and Committee Chairs can ask the Chief 

Executive, Corporate Directors, Director and Heads of Service for extra 

background information and advice on different courses of action. 

 

(b) Although these Members have additional responsibilities and different 

relationships because of their more frequent contact with Officers, these 

Members must still respect the impartiality of Officers.  This includes not 

asking them to undertake work of a party political nature, or do anything 

which would prejudice that impartiality. 

 

(c) The Leadership of minority political groups can ask the Chief Executive, 

Corporate Directors, Director or Heads of Service for background 

information or more details about items coming to the next meeting of a 

Page 126



Committee or Cabinet.  The appropriate Chair or Cabinet Member will 

be entitled to receive the same information. 

 

(d) Party Group Leaders can ask for advice on presenting their budget in a 

correct and accurate form.  This will be given in confidence. 

 

8.9 Correspondence received by Members and Officers 

 

(a) where correspondence is sent to both Members and Officers, Officers 

will agree a single response with the relevant Members to ensure 

consistency of approach. 

Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 Cabinet 

 6 April 2022 

 County Durham Plan: Parking and 

Accessibility, Developer Contributions 

and Residential Amenity Supplementary 

Planning Documents 

  

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Amy Harhoff, Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and 
Growth 

Councillor Elizabeth Scott, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Economic 
Regeneration and Partnerships 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this report is to seek Cabinet’s approval to commence 
consultation on the second draft of the Parking and Accessibility 
Supplementary Planning Document, the first draft of the Developer 
Contributions Supplementary Planning Document and minor alterations 
to the Residential Amenity Supplementary Planning Document.  All 
three documents support the recently adopted County Durham Plan. 

Executive summary 

2 The adopted County Durham Plan seeks to ensure that County Durham 
is a successful place to live, work, invest and visit by focussing on 
supporting and creating vibrant communities. 

3 In order to provide more detailed advice or guidance on policies in the 
County Durham Plan, Government guidance allows the preparation of 
supplementary planning documents (SPDs).  SPDs are capable of 
being a material consideration in planning decisions but are not part of 
the development plan.  Three SPDs that are specifically mentioned in 
the County Durham Plan are the Parking and Accessibility SPD, the 
Developer Contributions SPD and the Residential Amenity SPD.  There 
will also be others prepared in the future. 

Page 129

Agenda Item 7



Recommendations 

4 Cabinet is recommended to: 

(a) agree the second draft of the County Durham Parking and 
Accessibility Supplementary Planning Document (Appendix 2) for 
consultation from 22 April to 3 June 2022.  Agree to delegate to 
the Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and Growth in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Economic Regeneration 
and Partnerships the power to make minor modifications and 
adopt the document following consultation (if significant changes 
are required then the SPD will need to return to Cabinet for 
adoption); 

(b) agree the first draft of the Developer Contributions Supplementary 
Planning Document (Appendix 4) for consultation from 22 April to 
3 June 2022; 

(c) agree the modifications to the Residential Amenity Supplementary 
Planning Document (Appendix 5) for consultation from 22 April to 
3 June 2022.  Agree to delegate to the Corporate Director of 
Regeneration, Economy and Growth in consultation with the 
Portfolio Holder for Economic Regeneration and Partnerships the 
power to make minor modifications and adopt the document 
following consultation (if significant changes are required then the 
SPD will need to return to Cabinet for adoption); and 

(d) agree the modifications to the Highways Design Guide (Appendix 
6) for consultation from 22 April to 3 June 2022.  Agree to 
delegate to the Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and 
Growth in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Economic 
Regeneration and Partnerships the power to make minor 
modifications and adopt the document following consultation. 

  

Page 130



Background 

5 At a meeting on 21 October 2020 the Council adopted the County 
Durham Plan.  In order to provide more detailed advice or guidance on 
policies in the County Durham Plan, Government guidance allows the 
preparation of supplementary planning documents (SPDs).  SPDs are 
capable of being a material consideration in planning decisions but are 
not part of the development plan.  Three SPDs that are specifically 
mentioned in the County Durham Plan are the Parking and Accessibility 
SPD, the Developer Contributions SPD and the Residential Amenity 
SPD. 

Parking and Accessibility Supplementary Planning Document 

6 The Council previously set out its parking and accessibility requirements 
in a guidance document for developers and officers to have regard to in 
assessing planning applications.  During the Examination in Public 
hearings for the County Durham Plan, the planning inspector 
recommended that this guidance be reviewed and set out more formally 
as an SPD to support Policy 21 (Delivering Sustainable Transport) of 
the Plan.  This recommendation was subsequently translated into a 
Main Modification which the inspector considered was necessary to 
make the Plan sound. 

7 In order to comply with the relevant regulations1 two rounds of 
consultation are required to prepare an SPD.  This is the second and 
final consultation for the Parking and Accessibility SPD (Appendix 2) 
which seeks to incorporate suggested changes received during the 
consultation. In response to the first round of consultation a total of 152 
representations were received.  A Statement of Consultation is attached 
at Appendix 3, but some of the key changes included: 

 Amended the parking standards to the following: 

Number of 
bedrooms 

Minimum allocated in curtilage, 
on driveway (excl. garages) 

1 1 per dwelling 

2 1.3 per dwelling 

3 1.8 per dwelling 

4 2.3 per dwelling 

5 2.5 per dwelling 

 
1
 Regulations 11 to 16 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 

Page 131



 Visitor/Non-Allocated Parking will be provided at 1 space per 4 
dwellings; 

 Cross reference added to the M4(2)/(3) requirements of Policy 15 
(Addressing Housing Need) and the associated parking 
requirements; 

 Added more narrative around cycle parking and split long 
stay/short stay cycle parking; 

 Text added to encourage parking spaces on driveways to be in 
parallel; 

 Amended the cycle parking requirements to be based on floor 
space where possible and for consistency with guidance; 

 EV passive chargepoint requirements at destination have been 
increased from 10% to 20% of spaces; 

 Added a requirement that all new houses should have a EV 
chargepoint (minimum 7KW); and 

 The addition of a buffer zone to the Controlled Parking Zone in 
relation to the parking requirements for Purpose Built Student 
Accommodation. 

13. Once adopted the Parking and Accessibility SPD will replace the current 
County Durham Parking and Accessibility Standards 2019. 

Developer Contributions Supplementary Planning Document 

8 This SPD (Appendix 4) sets out the Council’s approach to determining 
and securing contributions from developers for new developments 
across the County. It will sit alongside the County Durham Plan to 
provide further information on Policy 25 (Developer Contributions) and 
will be a material consideration in decision making. The SPD includes 
reference to other policies if they are directly relevant to contributions 
payable. 

9 The SPD will help developers, the public, planning officers and planning 
agents understand the requirements of the Council relating to new 
development and how any financial contributions are calculated to 
ensure transparency. 

10 Below are the types of developer contributions that are included in the 
SPD: 

 Addressing Housing need including: 

Page 132



o Affordable housing (Policy 15); 

o Older person housing (OPH) on-site provision; 

o In designated rural areas, schemes of between 6 and 9 
units will provide a financial contribution towards the 
delivery of affordable housing; 

o Specialist housing (Policy 15); 

 Green Infrastructure provision (Policy 26); 

 Education provision; 

 Health provision; 

 Biodiversity Net Gain (Policy 41); and 

 Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) (Policy 42). 

11 The list above is not exhaustive and there may be cases in which other 
contributions are deemed necessary.  Similarly, not every contribution 
will be required for each development that comes forward for planning. 

Viability and the Assessment Process 

12 The SPD also sets out the Council’s requirements for the submission of 
site-specific viability appraisals, and the information and evidence 
needed to support them, as well as details of the Council’s policy in 
relation to infrastructure requirements and associated financial 
contributions necessary to deliver such infrastructure and mitigate the 
impact of development. 

13 Developer Contributions add to the overall expenditure of a 
development and should always be accounted for in the early stages of 
development planning.  The responsibility lies with the site promoters to 
consider any contribution costs when calculating their projected costs to 
ensure viability.  Where the viability of a scheme is in question, the 
developer will be required to demonstrate that this is the case through a 
site-specific viability appraisal.  It is up to the applicant to demonstrate 
whether particular circumstances justify the need for a viability 
assessment at the application stage.  Contributions will also be indexed 
to the all in tender price index (TPI) provided by the Building Cost 
Information Service (BCIS) to ensure they keep their ‘real value’ in line 
with inflation. 

  

Page 133



Residential Amenity Supplementary Planning Document 

14 The Residential Amenity SPD was adopted in January 2020 to provide 
details on householder extensions and works, together with privacy 
distances and garden dimensions for new build dwellings.  The 
document pulled together a range of guidance and standards that were 
linked to former district local plans, establishing a level of county-wide 
consistency for decision makers.  The document needed to provide 
some flexibility and not be overly prescriptive, to cater for the differing 
contexts across the County.  The SPD has proven to be a valuable 
document for development management, and it is utilised extensively by 
this service. 

15 However, when applying the document one or two areas where minor 
amendments would improve clarity and consistency have been 
identified by officers.  The SPD (Appendix 5) has therefore been 
updated to address these issues and ensure a clearer set of standards 
and guidance for both officers and developers.  Amendments include: 

(a) in relation to privacy distances, more clarity is required to ensure 
officers will apply more consistency in the interpretation of the 
standards; 

(b) more refined guidance for extensions relating to both single and 
two storey rear extensions; 

(c) more detailed guidance on alterations to roofs which includes 
guidance on hip to gable extensions and roof openings and 
windows; and 

(d) additional guidance in relation to walls and fences, driveways 
(including length which is now consistent with the emerging 
Parking and Accessibility SPD), hardstandings and garage 
conversions to reflect an area of work which has grown 
significantly over the last 18 months.   

Highways Design Guide 

16 To reflect the Council’s approach to good highway design within 
residential estates and to align with the revised parking standards we 
are also proposing an amendment to the Residential Highway Design 
Guide which will require all estate roads to be 5.5m wide regardless of 
the size of the development (previously on developments of less than 
100 the minimum width could be reduced to 4.8m) to encourage people 
not to park on footpaths. The full extent of the proposed changes is 
shown at Appendix 6. A cross reference to this change is also in 
included in the Residential Amenity SPD. 

Page 134



Next Steps 

17 If agreed consultation will be undertaken on the second draft of the 
Parking and Accessibility SPD, the first draft of the Developer 
Contributions SPD and the minor amendments to the Residential 
Amenity SPD and the Highways Design Guide from 22 April to 3 June 
2022.  All consultations, including those on future documents will be 
undertaken in accordance with the Council’s Statement of Community 
Involvement.  Subject to the scale of the changes required following the 
consultation the Parking and Accessibility SPD, the Residential Amenity 
SPD and the amendments to the Highways Design Guide can be 
adopted using delegated powers.  A second draft of the Developer 
Contributions SPD will be consulted on later in the year. 

Background papers 

County Durham Plan – Adopted 2020 

Author 

Mike Allum Tel: 03000 261906 

 

  

Page 135



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 
set out how to prepare development plan documents and supplementary 
planning documents.  Before the SPDs can be adopted, it will be necessary to 
undertake a public consultation process. 

Finance 

As the SPDs progress there may be some costs for appropriate evidence 
gathering, consultation and printing. 

Consultation 

The programme of consultation has been agreed with the Council’s Corporate 
Communications Team and the Council’s Consultation Officers Group and will 
be undertaken in accordance with the Statement of Community Involvement 
and the 2012 Local Plan Regulations. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

The Council acknowledges that, in exercising its functions, it has a legal duty 

under the Equality Act 2010 to have due regard to the need to eliminate 

discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations.  This 

duty applies to all people defined as having protected characteristics under 

that legislation. 

An Equality Impact Assessment (EQIA) has been prepared in partnership with 
the community engagement team for the Parking and Accessibility SPD 
(Appendix 7).  A full EQIA assessment has been prepared for the Developer 
Contributions SPD (Appendix 8) where it has been identified that the positive 
impacts of the relevant CDP policies have been further secured as a result of 
this SPD. 

Climate Change 

Climate change is a thread running through the County Durham Plan.  The 
importance of tackling and adapting to climate change is recognised in the 
Plan’s Vision, Objectives, Sustainable Development Statement, spatial 
strategy and a number of policies.  As the SPDs sit below and reflect the 
policies and strategies of the County Durham Plan they similarly reflect this 
approach. 

  

Page 136



Human Rights 

Protocol 1 Article 1: Every natural or legal person is entitled to the peaceful 
enjoyment of his possessions, including their property was built into the 
preparation of the County Durham Plan.  

Crime and Disorder 

Issues of crime and disorder will be considered in the preparation of the SPDs 
as they progress. 

Staffing 

None. 

Accommodation 

None. 

Risk 

None. 

Procurement 

If required, consultants may need to be commissioned to deliver evidence 
studies, in accordance with the Council’s procurement rules/procedures. 

Page 137



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

 
 
 
 

PARKING AND ACCESSIBILITY 
SPD 

  

Page 139



2 

 

 

Table of Contents 

Contents 

1. Introduction .................................................................................................................................... 3 

Background ......................................................................................................................................... 3 

Proposed Options ............................................................................................................................... 5 

2. Accessibility .................................................................................................................................... 6 

Parking Provision for Disabled Persons ............................................................................................. 6 

Definition of an Accessible Destination............................................................................................. 7 

3. Destination Parking Standards ...................................................................................................... 9 

Retail Parking Standards .................................................................................................................. 10 

Employment Parking Standards ...................................................................................................... 11 

Leisure Parking Standards ................................................................................................................ 12 

Other Destination Parking Standards .............................................................................................. 13 

Cycle Parking .................................................................................................................................... 15 

Electric Vehicle Parking .................................................................................................................... 16 

Motorcycle Parking .......................................................................................................................... 17 

4. Residential Parking Standards ..................................................................................................... 19 

Residential Extensions ..................................................................................................................... 20 

Residential Garages .......................................................................................................................... 20 

Student Parking in Durham City ...................................................................................................... 20 

Residential Non-allocated and Visitor Parking ................................................................................ 22 

Driveway Standards ......................................................................................................................... 23 

Cycle, Mobility Scooter, and Motorbike Storage ............................................................................ 24 

Electric Vehicle Charging .................................................................................................................. 24 

5. Conclusion and Next Steps ........................................................................................................... 26 

Next Steps ......................................................................................................................................... 26 

Questions about you ........................................................................................................................ 26 

 

  

Page 140



3 

 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1 Parking and accessibility standards are important in managing demand for 

different types of transport and in supporting development management to 

make informed decisions about parking provision. This document sets out 

the Council’s approach to what these standards should be and gives the 

opportunity to provide comments to help shape the final standards. 

 

1.2 Previously the Council has set out its parking and accessibility 

requirements as a more general guidance document, for developers and 

officers to have regard to in assessing schemes. As part of the 

Examination in Public of the County Durham Plan, which took place in 

2019/20, it was recommended by the Planning Inspector that this guidance 

be reviewed and set out more formally as a Supplementary Planning 

Document (SPD). This would give the document greater status and make 

it a supporting document for Policy 21 (Delivering Sustainable Transport) of 

the County Durham Plan. The SPD has been developed in accordance with 

the Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) and other relevant guidance and 

will replace the previous Parking and Accessibility Standards 2019. 

 

1.3 Following on from the Examination in Public, officers have reviewed and 

updated standards set out in previous iterations of Council guidance on 

parking and accessibility. This consultation is the second of two rounds of 

consultation and seeks comments on the Council’s planned approach to 

specific parking and accessibility issues and how the Council proposes to 

resolve them. An SPD will then be drafted and adopted based on 

responses to this consultation. 

 

1.4 If you would like to comment on the proposals, please read and respond to 

the questions below either: 

 
 by email to spatialpolicy@durham.gov.uk 

 

 by post, you can send us your comments to our freepost address 
(all you need to do is write this one line on an envelope - no other 
address details or postage stamp are needed): FREEPOST Spatial 
Policy 

 
 or by using our planning consultation portal:  

https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/kse 
 

1.5 Please return your submission by 5pm on 3rd June 2022. 

 

Background 

 

1.6 Parking is an essential element of land-use planning and when designed 

properly can encourage sustainable travel. Demand for travel by car can 

be influenced by the availability of parking for all types of transport modes 

Page 141



4 

 

and there is a need to strike an appropriate balance between ensuring an 

adequate amount of provision and discouraging excessive car use that can 

undermine cycling, walking and public transport. 

 

1.7 The approach to car parking provision in order to achieve the necessary 

balance has changed considerably over the years. Different standards are 

generally set at origins and destinations – origins being residential areas 

where journeys begin, and destinations being workplaces, town centres 

and community facilities people travel to. For some time, setting 'maximum' 

parking standards in residential areas was thought to discourage excessive 

car ownership and encourage sustainable modes of travel. National policy 

including Planning Policy Guidance Notes 3 and 13, published in 2000 

and 2001 respectively, considered that restricting space in residential 

areas would reduce car ownership and therefore increase the use of more 

sustainable modes of transport as a result. However, it was found to have 

little to no impact on car ownership levels and led to other problems. 

The lack of off-street provision resulted in vehicles displacing to adjacent 

streets, pavements and verges which, in turn, caused safety issues with 

emergency services being obstructed as well as causing difficulties for 

wheelchair and pushchair users. 

 

1.8 In addition to the practical issues caused by an abundance of parked cars 

in on-street areas, the high numbers of cars parked on-street also had a 

negative impact on the public realm and the appearance of new residential 

areas. As a result, national policy has since changed. National Planning 

Policy Framework (NPPF) paragraph 108 clearly states that ‘Maximum 

parking standards for residential and non-residential development should 

only be set where there is a clear and compelling justification that they are 

necessary for managing the local road network, or for optimising the 

density of development in city and town centres and other locations that 

are well served by public transport.’ 

 

1.9 Maximum parking standards were also raised as an issue at the 

examination in public of the now adopted County Durham Plan, with the 

Inspector querying why maximum standards had not been proposed in the 

Council’s current parking standards. The Inspector’s view was that 

maximum standards at destinations should be implemented in accessible 

locations to encourage people to use more sustainable transport – to walk, 

cycle, or take public transport instead of driving. 

 

1.10 In this SPD, the Council therefore sets out standards for car and cycle 

parking that are to be applied equally across the county. The Council is 

proposing that where development is situated in an accessible location 

(defined below), a lower level of car parking provision may be acceptable 

depending on the site specific circumstances of the proposal. In this case, it 

will be left to the judgement of development management and highways 

officers to determine an appropriate parking requirement for each 

Page 142



5 

 

accessible site. These judgements should be made with reference to the 

accessibility guidelines set out in section 2 of this SPD. 

 

Proposed Options 
 

1.11 Having reviewed the relevant guidance on parking and accessibility issues 

and, taking into account issues raised with the current Parking and 

Accessibility Standards at the CDP examination in public, as well as 

comments submitted in response to the first consultation on the SPD, the 

Council have proposed a number of new standards. These are set out with 

specific questions for you to comment on in the following sections. 
  

Page 143



6 

 

2. Accessibility 
 

2.1 Accessibility is important as it gives people more options for how they 

make their journeys. Where people are able to walk, cycle, or take public 

transport to their destination easily, they are less likely to use the car as 

often. This has multiple benefits, improving people’s mental and physical 

health by enabling them to be more active in the course of their daily lives. 

Less frequent car use also improves air quality, combats climate change, 

and reduces congestion. 

 

2.2 Increased accessibility can also help make our communities more equal. 

For people who don’t drive, accessible places enable them to access 

education and employment opportunities, as well as leisure and retail. In 

areas which are only accessible by car, this can lead to less affluent, older, 

and younger members of society being isolated and cut off from 

opportunities. 

 

2.3 Accessibility also includes good design and location of parking. In 

particular, disabled people and those with mobility issues benefit from 

better parking accessibility, as it enables them to access places they 

otherwise might not be able to with greater ease. 

 

Parking Provision for Disabled Persons 

 

2.4 Parking provision for people with disabilities must be considered as part 

of any development proposal and it is the responsibility of the site occupier 

to make provision under the Equality Act 2010. New development must 

provide an adequate amount of parking bays for disabled persons and 

ensure that the dimensions are a minimum of 4.8m x 2.4m, plus 1.2m at 

side and rear to allow wheelchair access. 

 

2.5 Where non-residential development is concerned, a minimum of two bays 

will be included for disabled people, with a minimum 5% of car park bays 

being for disabled people in car parks of 20 spaces or more. 

 

2.6 Some general design principles for disabled persons bays include: 

 

 when designing bays, they should be easily identifiable with 

clear and consistent directional signage; 
 

 they should be level and next to firm and slip-resistant pedestrian 
surfaces where possible; 

 

 dropped kerbs should be provided where access is to a pedestrian 
route; 

 

Page 144



7 

 

 ensuring there is enough space so that wheelchair users can access 

vehicles with space available to manoeuvre a wheelchair (minimum 

1.2m between bays, and an additional 1.2m behind bays); 

 

 wall mounted/upright signage is required to identify disabled parking 

bays when ground is covered in leaves/snow; and 

 

 providing good access to ticket machines where applicable. 

 

2.7 Further guidance on the design and location of parking for mobility 

impaired persons can be found in the Department of Transport (DfT)Traffic 

Advisory Leaflet: Parking for Disabled People, DETR, 1995. 
 

Figure 1 Example of Disabled Parking Standards 

 

 

2.8 20% of bays are to have some level of provision for EV charging (see 

section 3 on destination parking standards). To support people with 

disabilities and mobility impairments to drive an electric vehicle, 10% of all 

EV chargepoints should be provided as disabled bays. This requirement 

only applies to car parks where 10 or more EV sockets are to be provided. 

British Standard 8300 provides more detailed guidance on making 

chargepoints accessible to disabled people. 

 

Definition of an Accessible Destination 

 

2.9 This SPD sets out car parking standards to be applied countywide. Where 

a development is in an accessible location, a lower level of car parking may 

be requested by DM and highways officers on a case-by-case basis. The 

Page 145



8 

 

Council is proposing to take this approach to simplify standards for all non-

residential developments, whilst giving officers the flexibility to make the 

best decision for individual, accessible sites based on the site-specific 

circumstances of each case. 

 

2.10 To help guide what parking and accessibility standards should be set and 

applied, we first need to define what an accessible destination is. 

 

2.11 The CIHT's Planning for Walking states that people are generally 

willing to walk 400m to a bus stop or 800m to a train station. The 

Council’s existing Building for Life SPD also considers 400m to be a 

reasonable distance to walk to a bus stop, with developments within 

or at that distance from a bus stop being given a better score for 

design. 

 

2.12 However, proximity to a public transport stop is no guarantee that 

services will run often enough to make places accessible. The Council 

therefore proposes that a minimum of two services an hour is sufficient 

to enable people to get around without having to wait an excessive 

amount of time. 

 

2.13 With these points in mind, the Council considers an accessible location 

to be one which is: 

 
a. within 400m of a bus stop or 800m of a train station; and, 
 
b. where public transport runs at a rate of two per hour or more 

at peak hours (6am-6pm) 
 
2.14 School buses do not count towards this definition. 

 

2.15 This definition is intentionally broad to allow for flexibility at the decision-

making stage. It should also be noted that this definition of an accessible 

location does not define walking and cycling accessibility as it is too 

complex and site specific to set a countywide standard for, however 

walking and cycling accessibility is still an important component that 

requires separate consideration at the planning application stage in 

accordance with Policy 21 (Delivering Sustainable Transport) of the 

County Durham Plan. 

 

Question 1 

 

Do you agree that there should be more flexibility regarding the amount of car 

parking required in an accessible location? 

 

Please provide reasons for your answers. 

 

  

Page 146



9 

 

3. Destination Parking Standards 
 

3.1 Parking provision at destinations must be sufficient to provide for the needs of the 
development, protecting the amenity of the surrounding area by removing any 
need to park in inappropriate locations, which can cause highways safety issues, 
and supporting town centres by not unnecessarily constraining parking spaces. 
 

3.2 Separate standards have been set for each destination, with the standards 
grouped into four tables by type: retail, employment, leisure, and other 
destinations. 
 

3.3 The destination parking standards have been based on existing appropriate 
provision relative to the floor area or usage of the development in question, as 
appropriate. Where developments are located in accessible destinations, fewer 
parking spaces may be required through planning, to be decided on a case-by-
case basis, taking into account the location and type of development and any 
other specific circumstances which are relevant. Furthermore, where 
destinations are situated in accessible locations shorter maximum stays may 
also be implemented by the car park operator to encourage appropriate 
turnover. 
 

3.4 Cycle parking requirements have been set with consideration given to Local 
Transport Note1/20 (LTN 1/20, Table 11-1, p134) and the Employment 
Densities Guide. 
 

3.5 Electric vehicle (EV) charging has been required at all destinations to 
encourage and facilitate use of electric vehicles, with the exception of 
destinations where it would not be appropriate, for example, smaller 
supermarkets where stays are very short. A mix of active and passive 
chargepoints are required. Active chargepoints are a full chargepoint ready for 
use, and passive chargepoints are ducting and cables laid underground to 
enable a full or active chargepoint to be installed more easily and affordably in 
future. Section 3.14 has more details regarding the requirements for EV 
chargepoints at destination sites.  
 

3.6 The following tables sets out the Council's destination parking standards, by 
destination type. 
 

  

Page 147



10 

 

Retail Parking Standards 
 

Table 1 Retail Parking Standards 

Land Use Use 

Class 

Parking 

Requirement 

Short Stay 

Cycle Parking 

Long Stay 

Cycle parking 

EV Charging 

General Retail 

(Small, <200m2) 
E/Sui 

Generis 
1 space per 

25m2 GFA 
Minimum of 2 

short stay 
spaces for 
visitors 

1 enclosed, 
sheltered, 
secure long 
stay space 
per 100m2 

5% active 
AND 20% 

passive 

General Retail 

(Medium, <1000m2) 
E/Sui 

Generis 
1 space per 

25m2 GFA 
Minimum of 1 

short stay 
spaces for 
visitors per 
200m2 

1 enclosed, 

sheltered, 
secure long 
stay space 
per 200m2 

5% active 
AND 20% 

passive 

General Retail 

(Large, >1000m2) 
E/Sui 

Generis 
1 space per 

25m2 GFA 
Minimum of 1 

short stay 
spaces for 
visitors per 
250m2 

1 enclosed, 

sheltered, 
secure long 
stay space 
per 500m2 

5% active 
AND 20% 

passive 

Supermarkets 

(Below 1000m2) 

E 1 space per 

12.5m2 GFA 
Minimum of 1 

short stay 
spaces for 
visitors per 
200m2 

1 enclosed, 

sheltered, 
secure long 
stay space 
per 200m2 

N/A 

Supermarkets 

(Above 1000m2) 

E 1 space per 

20m2 GFA 
Minimum of 1 

short stay 
spaces for 
visitors per 
250m2 

1 enclosed, 

sheltered, 
secure long 
stay space 
per 500m2 

5% active 
AND 20% 

passive 

Bulky Goods, e.g. 

DIY, cash and carry 

E 1 space per 

25m2 GFA 

No 

requirement 
1 enclosed, 

sheltered, 
secure long 
stay space 
per 500m2 

5% active 
AND 20% 

passive 

Retail Parks 

(including food and 

non-food uses) 

E 1 space per 

20m2 GFA 
Minimum of 1 

short stay 
spaces for 
visitors per 
250m2 

1 enclosed, 

sheltered, 
secure long 
stay space 
per 500m2 

5% active 
AND 20% 

passive 

Builders Merchants Sui 

Generis 
1 space per 

100m2 GFA 

No 

requirement 
1 enclosed, 

sheltered, 
secure long 
stay space 
per 500m2 

5% active 
AND 20% 

passive 

Garden Centres E 1 space per 

12.5m2 GFA 

No 

requirement 
1 enclosed, 

sheltered, 
secure long 
stay space 
per 500m2 

5% active 
AND 20% 

passive 

Car Sales Sui 

Generis 
1 space per 

25m2 GFA 

No 

requirement 

No 

requirement 
5% active 
AND 20% 

passive 

Page 148



11 

 

Petrol Stations with 

Retail 
Sui 

Generis 
1 space per 

33m2 GFA 

No 

requirement 
1 enclosed, 

sheltered, 
secure long 
stay space 
per 100m2 

5% active 
AND 20% 

passive 

These standards are not minimum or maximum standards but are intended to be applied 
equally across the County. 

 

Where development is situated in an accessible location, as defined in section 2, a lower 

parking requirement may be negotiated with Highways officers. 

 

Employment Parking Standards 
 

Table 2 Employment Parking Standards 

Land Use Use 

Class 

Parking 

Requirement 

Short Stay 

Cycle Parking 

Long Stay 

Cycle parking 

EV Charging 

Office Development 

and Business Parks 
E 

 

1 space per 

18m2 GFA 

1 per 1000m2 1 enclosed, 
sheltered, 
secure long 
stay space 
per 200m2 

5% active 
AND 20% 

passive 

Light Industrial and 

Industrial 

Estates/Units) 

E 1 space per 

50m2 GFA 
1 per 1000m2 1 enclosed, 

sheltered, 
secure long 
stay space 
per 500m2 

5% active 
AND 20% 

passive 

Warehousing or 

Storage 

B8 1 space per 

100m2 GFA 

1 per 1000m2 1 enclosed, 

sheltered, 
secure long 
stay space 
per 500m2 

5% active 
AND 20% 

passive 

Distribution B8 1 space per 

33m2 GFA 

1 per 1000m2 1 enclosed, 

sheltered, 
secure long 
stay space 
per 500m2 

5% active 
AND 20% 

passive 

Garage 

Repair/Servicing 

B2 1 space per 
member of 
staff AND 1 
space per 

25m2 GFA 

1 per 1000m2 1 enclosed, 

sheltered, 
secure long 
stay space 
per 500m2 

5% active 
AND 20% 

passive 

These standards are not minimum or maximum standards but are intended to be applied 
equally across the County. 
 

Where development is situated in an accessible location, as defined in section 2, a lower 

parking requirement may be negotiated with Highways officers. 

  

Page 149



12 

 

Leisure Parking Standards 
 

Table 3 Leisure Parking Standards 

Land Use Use 

Class 

Parking 

Requirement 

Short Stay 

Cycle Parking 

Long Stay 

Cycle parking 

EV Charging 

Hotels/Motels/Guest 

Houses 

C1 
1 space per 

bedroom 

2 spaces per 
25 bedrooms 

1 enclosed, 
sheltered, 
secure long 
stay space 
per 5 
members of 
staff 

5% active 
AND 20% 

passive 

Pub/Restaurant/Cafe E 

 

1 space 8m2 
of public 
space 

1 per 50m2 
1 enclosed, 
sheltered, 
secure long 
stay space per 
5 members of 
staff 

5% active 
AND 20% 

passive 

Hot Food Takeaway Sui 

Generis 

1 space per 2 
members of 
staff AND 1 
space 
per 25m2 GFA 

No 
requirement 

No 
requirement 

None 

Fitness Clubs and 

Sports Facilities 

E 1 space per 

25m2 GFA 

1 space per 
50m2 

1 enclosed, 
sheltered, 
secure long 
stay space per 
5 members of 
staff 

5% active 

AND 20% 

passive 

Places of Worship F1 1 space per 

150m2 

1 space per 
50m2 

1 enclosed, 
sheltered, 
secure long 
stay space per 
5 members of 
staff 

5% active 
AND 20% 

passive 

Cinemas/Theatres Sui 

Generis 

1 space per 3 
members of 
staff AND 1 
space 
per 12.5m2 of 
public space 

No 

requirement 
1 enclosed, 
sheltered, 
secure long 
stay space per 
5 members of 
staff 

5% active 
AND 20% 

passive 

Caravan and Camp 

Sites 
Sui 

Generis 

1 space per 
pitch AND 1 
space per 2 
members of 
staff AND 1 
visitor 
space per 10 
pitches 

1 space per 
pitch 

1 enclosed, 
sheltered, 
secure long 
stay space per 
5 members of 
staff 

5% active 
AND 20% 

passive 

These standards are not minimum or maximum standards but are intended to be applied 
equally across the County. 
 

Where development is situated in an accessible location, as defined in section 2, a lower 

parking requirement may be negotiated with Highways officers. 

  

Page 150



13 

 

Other Destination Parking Standards 
 

Table 4 Other Destination Parking Standards 

Land Use Use 

Class 

Parking 

Requirement 

Short Stay 

Cycle Parking 

Long Stay 

Cycle parking 

EV Charging 

Hospitals C2 

 

1 space per 

33m2 of 

public space 

AND 1 space 

per 5 

members of 

staff 

1 short stay 

space per 5 

consulting 

rooms 

1 enclosed, 
sheltered, 
secure long 
stay space 
per 5 
members of 
staff 

5% active 
AND 20% 

passive 

Doctors/Dentist/Other 

health practitioners 
E 1 space per 

treatment 

room AND 1 

space per 2 

members of 

staff 

1 short stay 

space per 5 

consulting 

rooms 

1 enclosed, 

sheltered, 
secure long 
stay space 
per 5 
members of 
staff 

5% active 
AND 20% 

passive 

Residential 

Care/Nursing Homes 

C2 1 space per 3 

units/beds 

No 

requirement 
1 enclosed, 

sheltered, 
secure long 
stay space 
per 5 
members of 
staff 

5% active 
AND 20% 

passive 

Further Education 

Colleges 

F1/E 1 space per 

member of 

staff AND 1 

space per 4 

students 

No 

requirement 
1 long stay 
space per 20 
pupils AND 

1 enclosed, 

sheltered, 
secure long 
stay space 
per 5 
members of 
staff 

5% active 
AND 20% 

passive 

Primary and 

Secondary Schools 

 

Nurseries 

F1/E 1 space per 

member of 

staff AND 1 

visitor space 

per 50 pupils 

No 

requirement 
1 long stay 
space per 20 
pupils AND 1 
enclosed, 

sheltered, 
secure long 
stay space 
per 5 
members of 
staff 

5% active 
AND 20% 
passive 

Community Centres F2 1 space per 

16m2 of 

public space 

AND 1 space 

per 2 

members of 

staff 

No 

requirement 
1 short stay 
space per 
100m2 GFA 

Minimum 4 
spaces total 

5% active 
AND 20% 
passive 

Page 151



14 

 

These standards are not minimum or maximum standards but are intended to be applied 
equally across the County. 
 

Where development is situated in an accessible location, as defined in section 2, a lower 

parking requirement may be negotiated with Highways officers. 

  

Page 152



15 

 

Cycle Parking 
 

3.7 The Council is keen to encourage increased cycling in County Durham. To 

support this, cycle parking should be provided at all destinations in accordance 

with the standards set out in the tables above. 

 

3.8 Cycle parking should be in a prominent location allowing regular casual 

observance and be covered, secured and enclosed, if intended for stays of an 

hour or more. CCTV is also encouraged at long stay cycle parking. For short 

stay cycle parking, Sheffield stands should be provided as a minimum. 

Wherever possible cycle parking should be located close to main entrances and 

easy to access from local cycle routes (LTN 1/20). 

 

3.9 Travel Plans facilitating walking and cycling should be developed as part of 

any planning application in accordance with CDP Policy 21 (Delivering 

Sustainable Transport). In some cases, Travel Plans submitted as part of an 

application may set out a more ambitious level of cycling parking than required 

by this SPD. In these cases, a greater level of cycle parking will be supported. 

 

3.10 Cycle parking should not be placed where it would obstruct pedestrian 

movement. Cycle parking hubs or clusters will be encouraged at key 

destinations such as transport interchanges and town centres. Where space 

considerations would prevent cycle parking from being included within a site, 

for example in town centres with available space constrained by existing street 

furniture, a contribution may be made towards providing cycling hubs or clusters 

at key destinations. The Developer Contributions SPD provides more detailed 

guidance on this. 

 

3.11 The Council is working to provide cycle parking clusters where demand exists 

and works in partnership with ParkThatBike to provide secure cycle parking, 

including hangars, to businesses and communities. 

Figure 2 - Examples of appropriate 

cycle parking 

 

 

Page 153



16 

 

3.12 Accessible cycle provision 

should be made to enable people with 

disabilities or mobility impairments to 

cycle. Where 20 or more cycle parking 

spaces are provided, 5% of these should 

be suitable for use by people with three 

wheel or adapted cycles. Cycle parking 

for disabled people should be located 

close to disabled car parking bays where 

possible. 

 

3.13 Cycle stands should be built at least 0.6m from walls, with 1m in front of and 

between stands to allow ease of access. 

 

Question 2 

 

Should the cycle parking requirement be based on floor area of the 

development? 

 

Please give reasons for your answers. 

 

Electric Vehicle Parking 

 

3.14 The Council requires provision of passive chargepoints (laying of cables only) 

at 20% of all parking bays provided, plus active chargepoints (a full chargepoint 

including socket) at an additional 5% of all spaces at destinations. These 

standards, as set out in Tables 1-4, will apply only to car parks of ten spaces or 

more. Where a new car park has less than twenty spaces but more than ten, 

one new EV chargepoint would be acceptable. Chargepoints should be kept 

out of corners of car parks and be located close to pedestrian entrances to make 

them more accessible and closer to electrical supply. 

 

3.15 A recent building regulations consultation proposed a requirement of 20% of 

parking bays to be equipped with passive chargepoints in car parks associated 

with new developments. As a result of this nationwide consultation, 20% of 

passive provision on new car parks of over ten spaces is being mandated by 

the government following a consultation summary which was released in 

November 2021. The consultation response is available here and some of the 

recommendations have been incorporated into this SPD.  

 

3.16 In terms of capacity and technical specification, chargepoints should be 

delivered in line with national standards. In advance of building regulations on 

chargepoints being updated, chargepoints should meet the technical 

specifications set out in the consultation response. The consultation response 

also sets out the adjustment period, as well as the proposed positions and final 

exemptions in Table 02 of the consultation response here.  

Page 154



17 

 

 

3.17 Where possible, the speed of charging provided should be appropriate to the 

likely length of stay in car parks. For example, car parks with high turnover such 

as supermarkets which are required to make provision for charging should 

provide fast (7-22kW) or rapid (43kW+) chargers. Car parks at locations where 

people are more likely to park for an extended period of time such as 

employment sites can provide 7kW or slower chargers. It is acknowledged that 

this would require higher capacity cabling to be laid underground to 

accommodate the greater speed of charge, and that this will not be viable in all 

cases. For this reason, this remains a recommendation rather than a requirement. 

Where rapid chargepoints are installed in place of fast chargers, fewer 

chargepoints may be installed at a development provided that overall charging 

capacity remains the same as if the number of 7kW chargepoints required 

under Tables 1-4 is provided. 

 

3.18 In car parks of 20 bays or more, 5% of bays are to be for blue badge holders. To 

enable people with disabilities and mobility impairments to drive an electric 

vehicle, 10% of all EV chargepoints should be provided as disabled bays. This 

requirement only applies to car parks where 10 or more EV sockets are to be 

provided. British Standard 8300 provides more detailed guidance on making 

chargepoints accessible to disabled people. 

 

Question 3 

 

Do you agree that faster charging speeds should be encouraged at car parks 

with high turnover such as supermarkets? 

 

Please give reasons for your answers. 

 

Question 4 

 

Should 10% of disabled bays by provided with EV chargepoints? 

 

Please give reasons for your answers. 

 

Motorcycle Parking 

 

3.19 No specific separate standard for motorcycle parking has been set at 

destinations as it is assumed that motorcyclists will use car parking bays. 

 

3.20 Specific parking provision for motorcycles will be supported. The provision for 

motorcycles should preferably be 2300X900mm, under cover (IHE Motorcycle 

Parking Guidelines). Provision of a secure anchor point at 600-750mm from 

ground level onto which a wheel can be chained is also encouraged. 

 

Page 155



18 

 

3.21 Motorcycle spaces should be provided in well-lit open areas where casual 

observance by passers-by may increase security. Surfaces on which 

motorcycles are to park should be flat and level and constructed with concrete 

to avoid surface failure from puncture by stands. 

 

  

Page 156



19 

 

4. Residential Parking Standards 
 

4.1 Developers are expected to provide an adequate amount of safe parking which 

is appropriate in scale, location and reflects the content of the development. 

Adequate parking provision for residents and visitors improves road safety and 

limits harm to residential amenity from parking on pavements and verges. 

 

4.2 In formulating proposed residential parking standards, the Council has made 

the assumption that parking for householders should be provided within the 

curtilage of a dwelling (the curtilage is the area of land attached to a house up 

to the boundary of the property and the land within it). This is the most obvious 

and convenient place to locate parking for residents and helps give peace of 

mind to vehicle owners as they can easily see their vehicle from their property. 

 

4.3 The Council therefore considers that the following number of car parking 

spaces should be provided at each dwelling, based on the number of bedrooms 

per dwelling. The minimum allocated in curtilage parking provision can be 

calculated or used as an average across a development site. 

 

Table 5 Residential Parking Standards 

Number of 

bedrooms 

Minimum allocated in 

curtilage, on driveway 

(excl. garages) 

Minimum EV 

chargepoints 

Visitor/Non-

Allocated 

Parking 

1 1 per dwelling 1 active chargepoint 

per dwelling 

1 per 4 

dwellings 

2 1.3 per dwelling 

 

1 active chargepoint 

per dwelling 

3 1.8 per dwelling 1 active chargepoint 

per dwelling 

4 2.3 per dwelling 1 active chargepoint 

per dwelling 

 

5 2.5 per dwelling 1 active chargepoint 

per dwelling 

Purpose-Built 

Student 

Accommodation 

 No requirement 

within Durham City 

CPZ; 

10% active + 10% 

passive 

n/a 

Page 157



20 

 

 1 per 30 students – 

within CPZ  100m 

buffer zone  

 1 per 15 students -

outside Durham 

City CPZ, 

 

1 per 5 members of staff 

*Although garages are excluded from the parking provisions in this table it is still 
recommended that garage sizes comply with the minimum garage sizes – 6.0 metres 
x 3.0 metres for a single garage: or 6.0 x 6.0 metres for a double garage as set out 
below in para 4.5 
 

Residential Extensions 

 

4.4 These standards would also be applied where dwellings are extended or 

converted to create additional bedrooms. This will help ensure that there are 

sufficient spaces to meet the household’s needs and prevent inappropriate 

pavement or verge parking. Increased parking spaces are required for 

dwellings with greater numbers of bedrooms on the basis that the more rooms 

are provided, the more likely it is that multiple people in the household will 

drive, and the less practical it becomes for them to share a car. Where a 

property is extended or it is a large new dwelling, additional in curtilage spaces 

may be required as a substitute for non-allocated spaces. When deciding on 

whether new in-curtilage spaces are required as a result of a household 

extension, officers should consider the minimum standards set out above in 

table 5.  

 

Residential Garages 

 

4.5 Residential garages are often used for storage of cycles and various 

household articles. Although garages do not form part of the minimum parking 

provision, they should still have minimum internal dimensions of: 

 

- 6.0 metres x 3.0 metres for a single garage; or 

- 6.0 metres x 6.0 metres for a double garage 

 

These dimensions allow garages to accommodate the car and the storage of 

cycles and other items.  

 

Student Parking in Durham City 

 

4.6 Students are much less likely to need a parking space, so a minimal amount 

of parking has been proposed for student accommodation (see Table 5). This 

will allow for the minority of students who do bring vehicles, and for visitors and 

deliveries. This applies to purpose-built student accommodation (PBSA), 

including University Halls and Colleges. Houses of Multiple Occupation (HMOs) 

Page 158



21 

 

are subject to the same standards as other residential properties as they were 

not built as student housing and often house young professionals. 

 

4.7 Parts of Durham City are subject to a Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ). Given the 

highly accessible nature of the location of the CPZ, a reduced level of parking 

would be acceptable due to space constraints. As set out on Table 5, we would 

not expect parking to be provided on PBSAs within the Durham City CPZ. 

However, if the purpose-built student accommodation is located within 100 

metres of the edge of the CPZ, it may be appropriate to provide a minimal 

amount of parking to acknowledge that some students will still bring a vehicle 

to this edge of centre location. By implementing a buffer zone within 100 

metres of the CPZ boundary, it gives officers the option of providing some 

parking provision for students in this location. This will help to provide parking 

spaces for vehicles owned by students living in PBSAs in this zone. This zone 

should prevent overspill of parking into adjacent streets immediately outside 

the CPZ.   The exact level of parking will be determined on a case-by-case 

basis by Development Management and Highways officers with the Council 

recommendations set out in Table 5. A map of the CPZ and the proposed 

buffer zone are set out in the figure 3 overleaf.   

 

  

Page 159



22 

 

Figure 3 – Durham City Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ) and CPZ buffer zone 

 

 

Residential Non-allocated and Visitor Parking 

 

4.8 Non-allocated and visitor parking spaces should be provided as part of any 

residential development. This allows them to be designed into the layout of the 

overall site and helps prevent issues of people parking on pavements or verges 

where they cannot find a suitable space. It also allows for households which 

have an above average number of cars by providing additional spaces around 

the development for their vehicles. Non-allocated parking should be provided 

off-curtilage, as it is counterintuitive for visitors to park in a space that feels like 

part of someone else’s property.  The non-allocated parking requirement has 

been set at a level that provides sufficient spaces without dominating the 

development. The numbers of non-allocated spaces are based on the 

Council’s experience of working with developers on this issue, informed by 

government guidance. The DfT's Manual for Streets (p106) also confirms that 

unallocated parking spaces are the best way to provide for visitor parking. 

Page 160



23 

 

 

4.9 Non allocated spaces, sometime referred to as visitor parking, should therefore 

be provided at a ratio of one space per four dwellings. This is a recommended 

standard as the exact number of non-allocated spaces should be tailored to 

ensure that quality design solutions can be achieved on sites.  This type of 

parking should be well-distributed across the site. 

Question 5 

Are the parking standards for non-allocated parking requirements 

appropriate for residential development? 

Please give reasons for your answers. 

Driveway Standards 

 

4.10 Driveways should be constructed from permeable materials where 

appropriate to allow drainage, though driveway materials must not be loose 

e.g. gravel driveways would not be permitted. Loose materials used in driveway 

construction can damage vehicles and spill out on to the highway, which risks 

causing a hazard to road users. In a 2017 appeal case brought against Barnsley 

Council, a Planning Inspector concluded that gravel driveways in particular 

pose a highway safety hazard and dismissed the appeal (Appeal Ref: 

APP/R4408/W/17/3170851). The driveways in this case would require regular 

maintenance to keep gravel off the pavement and road. The Inspector 

therefore felt that even conscientious residents would be unlikely to keep up 

with this maintenance, particularly in the cold winter months when it is dark 

outside. Any loose materials which had spilled onto the road would therefore 

pose a risk to pedestrians and cyclists in particular. 

 

4.11 Driveways must also be a minimum of 6m long, and 2.7m wide for their entire 

length (including any gateways or fencing), to allow safe access and use by 

residents. Some flexibility will be allowed where appropriate, for example where 

driveways are a nonstandard shape, if it can be demonstrated that safe access 

can still be provided. 

 

4.12 Development proposals need to balance parking provision, its location and 

layout with the overall aim of good design and attractive and safe places. A 

number of solutions should be utilised to prevent impact on the quality of the 

street scene and avoiding random parking on the pavement etc.  An excessive 

use of one type of parking, for example, tandem parking, is discouraged. This 

is a poor design solution which has the potential to increase on street parking 

at detriment to the attractiveness of the development and safety of cyclists and 

pedestrians. Tandem car parking arrangements can form part of a car parking 

strategy but will not be encouraged to be the only or predominant design 

solution. It is acknowledged that in some circumstances (i.e., for smaller 

dwellings) tandem parking may be required.  

 

4.13 When designing streets and housing layouts, it will be important for developers 

to cross reference the Councils Building for Life SPD, Residential Amenity SPD 

Page 161



24 

 

and the Highway Design Guide. The Residential Amenity SPD provides 

guidance on how best to design extensions and undertake other domestic 

developments including decking, walls and balconies. It also includes 

guidance on the space/amenity standards that would normally be expected 

where new dwellings are proposed. The Highway Design Guide contains 

guidance for the highway development management and adoption process. It 

would be also beneficial to reference national guidance such as best practise 

of ‘Building for a Healthy Life’ and the ‘National Design Guide’. 

 

4.14 Policy 15 (Addressing Housing Need) of the County Durham Plan requires 

10% of dwellings on sites of 10 homes or more to meet Building Regulations M4 

(2) standards. It also requires specialist housing to meet M4 (2) standard as a 

minimum, with 25% of all specialist housing to meet M4 (3). Both standards 

require a higher level of accessibility for people with disabilities or mobility 

impairments. Where this part of Policy 15 applies, the Building Regulations 

standards for driveways should be adhered to. 

 

Cycle, Mobility Scooter, and Motorbike Storage 

 

4.15 Where garages are not provided, secure parking suitable for a cycle, mobility 

scooter or motorbike be provided instead. The storage space should be 2x2m, 

to allow sufficient space for four cycles, or a mobility scooter or motorbike. This 

will help to encourage cycling and support people with mobility issues to get 

around by giving them a specific, appropriate and safe place to store bicycles, 

scooters, or mobility aids. This also helps people to make full use of their 

homes by freeing up space indoors and preventing liveable rooms and 

hallways becoming storage areas for bikes. The multipurpose nature of the 

storage space also makes it beneficial to residents with different needs. 

Appropriate storage for cycles, motorbikes or mobility scooters also helps 

improve the amenity of the area by preventing these items from being left out 

in visible areas. 

 

Electric Vehicle Charging 

 

4.16 Provision for electric vehicle (EV) chargepoints must now be made on all 

residential developments. The government has made a commitment that no new 

petrol or diesel cars should be sold from 2030 onwards and no new hybrids 

from 2035 so providing charging facilities now will help futureproof new 

housing and help the Council to respond to the climate emergency and reduce 

carbon emissions from the transport sector. 

 

4.17 One active EV chargepoint should therefore be provided for every new 

dwelling. This is now being mandated by the government following a 

consultation response which was released in November 2021. The 

consultation response is available here. The consultation response outlined 

that 77% of all respondents to a 2019 consultation agreed that all new 

residential dwellings should include the provision of an ‘active’ chargepoint. 

The Council support the government’s position that requiring charge points on 

Page 162



25 

 

new residential developments will encourage more people to buy and own an 

electrical vehicle, particularly those who do not own their home and may 

struggle to retrofit a charge point. Likewise, developers benefit from economies 

of scale in the purchasing of charge points and will likely be able to provide 

charge points at a cost saving, compared to individual consumers. All the 

proposed, final positions and exemptions to the building regulations are set out 

in Table 02 of the consultation response. 

 

4.18 Where an active chargepoint is provided, two sockets should be included to 

allow provision for households with multiple vehicles and/or visitors. Charge 

points should have a minimum charging power of 7KW, be at least Mode 3 or 

equivalent and be untethered. The government believes that the 7 kW of 

charging power and Mode 3 charge points will sufficiently future-proof 

standards for home charging and better enable smart charging benefits, 

compared to lower powers and other mode types. Likewise, untethered charge 

points will ensure that consumers are able to charge any type of electric vehicle 

at the charge point, regardless of plug type. As these are set as minimum 

standards, developers may provide charge points with higher performing kW 

and Mode if they choose to do so. 

  

Page 163



26 

 

5. Conclusion and Next Steps 
 

5.1 The standards set out in this consultation have been prepared with regard to 

national policy, best practice, and the Inspector's recommendations as 

discussed at the Examination in Public of the County Durham Plan. They have 

then been amended based on comments received from the first round of 

consultation. The standards define what an accessible location is and allow 

parking to be restricted at accessible locations where appropriate, to encourage 

more active and sustainable travel. The document includes specific standards 

for disabled persons parking, parking at origins and destinations of journeys, 

and parking standards for cycling and electric vehicles. 

 

Question 6 

Do you support the approach to setting standards for parking and 

accessibility as set out in this document? 

Please give reasons for your answers. 

 

Next Steps 
 

5.2 Following this consultation, officers will review and consider all of the 

comments made. These comments and our responses will be published and 

changes made where possible. We will give reasons where it has not been 

possible to make a change. The final Parking and Accessibility Supplementary 

Planning Document will then be adopted. 

 

Questions about you 

 

5.3 Our aim is to involve as many people as possible and, as such, we would like 

to make sure everyone has the opportunity to become involved. If you could 

answer a few questions about yourself, it will help us to monitor our 

performance. These questions are optional. 

 

Question 7 

Which of the following options best describes your gender?   

- Female 

- Male 

Question 8 

What is your age? 

- 16-24 years 

- 25-34 years 

- 35-44 years 

- 45-54 years 

Page 164



27 

 

- 55-64 years 

- 65-74 years 

- 75-84 years 

- 85 and over 

 

Question 9 

Do you consider yourself to be a disabled person? This may include any long-

standing illness, disability or infirmity which has a substantial effect on your day-to-

day life. Long standing means it has lasted, or is likely to last, for at least a year. 

- Yes 

- No 

Page 165



This page is intentionally left blank



Statement of Consultation - Parking and Accessibility SPD 
 

Introduction 
 
This Consultation Statement sets out details of the consultation Durham County Council has 
undertaken in the preparation of the County Durham Parking and Accessibility 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) Issues and Options.  

Consultation Requirements 

This statement has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Town and 
Country Planning (Local Plan) (England) Regulations 2012. Regulation 12 requires the 
council to prepare a consultation statement setting out the persons consulted when 
preparing an SPD, a summary of the main issues raised by those persons, and, how these 
have been addressed in the SPD. Key council officers, members and other stakeholders 
were consulted in the preparation of the SPD and as part of the public consultation process.  

Consultation on the draft Parking and Accessibility SPD 

(January/February 2021)  

The SPD was made available on the council’s consultation website, with physical copies 
available on request. Copies were not distributed to libraries and Consumer Access Points 
(CAPs) due to the national lockdown caused by the Coronavirus pandemic. 

Statutory consultees were consulted in accordance with regulation 35 of the Act. All general 
consultees on the council’s database were also informed, via letter or email. Consultation on 
the first draft SPD took place between 15 January to 26 February 2021. Following on from 
this a second draft of the SPD will be prepared and consulted on later in 2021. 

Background and Aims of SPD 
 
The County Durham Plan was adopted in October 2020, following Examination in Public 
(EiP) by a government-appointed Inspector. Through the examination, the Inspector 
concluded that the Council’s Parking and Accessibility Standards which are currently in 
place are not fit for purpose. In particular, the Inspector considered that the Standards 
should limit car parking in areas accessible by public transport, to encourage people to use 
sustainable travel. He also expressed that new standards should be written into a full 
supplementary planning document (SPD), which then formally sits under the Council’s Plan. 
 
As a result, the Council agreed to create new parking standards and adopt them in an SPD. 
The Council committed to writing a Parking and Accessibility SPD, to replace the current 
Standards, as part of Policy 21 of the Plan. The Parking and Accessibility SPD will enable 
planning and highways officers to require specific, agreed standards for parking and 
accessibility of development, which should be adhered to as part of planning applications. 
The SPD will cover the whole of County Durham, with room to negotiate a different parking 
requirement if appropriate at accessible locations, which will be defined by the document. 
Key stakeholders include developers, planning consultants, and residents.  
The purpose of the initial round of consultation will be to establish broadly appropriate 
standards for parking and accessibility; the second will be to seek comments on a drafted 
SPD.  
 

Responses  

Page 167



The consultation process yielded 152 comments in total. The tables below show the 
comments received and the Council’s response to them.  

Table 1 - Question 1: What frequency of public transport services (daytime services per 
hour) should be required for a location to be considered accessible? 

 

Respondent Comment DCC Response 

Kelly 
Monahan
  

I think every half hour is fine. That's a 
maximum 30min wait, average 15min wait.  

Thank you for your 
comments. 

Paul 
Armstrong 
(Trust 
Pathways) 

The provision of car parking in the city or other 
large urban centres reduces the attraction of 
using public transport and we’d imagine 
reduces the viability for such schemes. We feel 
a half-hourly service would not be sufficient to 
enable people to avoid waiting an excessive 
amount of time if it is to be reasonably 
competitive with the private car. By 
comparison, for car-free developments, Oxford 
City Council requires proposal sites to be within 
a 400m walk of a high daytime frequency (say 
every 15 minutes) direct bus route to the city 
centre, and also have convenient bus access 
to the nearest District Centre. Oxford, unlike 
Durham, has limited and expensive city centre 
car parking. Making car parking more 
expensive can also enable removal of some of 
the car parking for planting or parklets within 
urban areas and streets. this revenue could 
also be used to supplement the bus services. 

Thank you for your 
comments. Durham is a 
big county with largely 
rural areas. The 
definition of an 
accessible location has 
been drafted with regard 
to national guidance but 
without being so narrow 
as to exclude much of 
the county, particularly 
rural Durham. Whilst 
more bus services would 
make locations more 
accessible, the 
frequency of bus 
services usually depends 
on the viability of the 
services for the public 
transport operating 
companies or in more 
remote areas, is 
dependent on subsidies 
administered by the 
Local Authority.   

Janet 
Hutchinson
  

Every 15- 20 minutes. But there should be 
more emphasis placed on walking and cycling 
route accessibility of developments (and 
connecting areas) not just public transport. 
Modal shift to active travel has to be the priority 
to tackle the climate, air quality and obesity 
crises. 

Thank you for your 
comments. The definition 
of an accessible location 
aims to set a minimum 
standard which should 
be met for development 
to offer less car parking 
provision. 
 
 The SPD also contains 
requirements for the 
provision of cycling 
parking while the County 
Durham Plan, policy 21 
requires development to 
prioritise sustainable 
modes. 

Page 168



Peter M 
Aitken OBE 

I think the minimum interval should be 20 
minutes.  My reason :-  whenever one service 
is cancelled or is ‘just missed’ by the 
passenger, to wait an extra 20 minutes is 
reasonable whereas 30 is much less so.  

Thank you for your 
comments. The definition 
of an accessible location 
aims to set a minimum 
standard which should 
be met for development 
to offer less car parking 
provision. The Council 
would be supportive of a 
more frequent bus 
service where possible. 

Sunny Ali 
(Highways 
England) 

It is not fully clear at this early stage of the SPD 
as to the intent of defining an ‘accessible 
destination’ with a view to the benchmarks 
identified (i.e. what is the outcome if a location 
is or is not considered accessible). While the 
‘accessible destination’ is referred to later in 
the document when detailing parking 
standards, an explanation at the outset may be 
of benefit. Furthermore, while the definition of 
an accessible location has been made with 
reference to the distance from a sustainable 
mode and the frequency of that mode, the 
likelihood of someone using that sustainable 
mode also relates to if or not the sustainable 
mode serves the locations that people would 
wish to access. While this may not be a 
consideration for the purpose of defining an 
‘accessible destination’ in the context of this 
SPD, it should be made clear that factors such 
as this will need to be considered through the 
planning application process when determining 
the sustainable credentials of a site. 

Thank you for your 
comments. The definition 
of an accessible location 
aims to set a minimum 
standard which should 
be met for development 
to offer less car parking 
provision. The Council 
accepts that not every 
site will be accessible, 
and that the definition is 
a fairly general way to 
assess accessibility.  
 
Keeping the definition of 
accessibility fairly 
general allows more 
flexibility at the planning 
application stage. We 
will amend the text in the 
SPD to make this 
clearer.  

Len Shield The time depends on bus destination.  More 
than one numbered bus will stop at each bus 
stop but it the first or second may not be what 
the traveler requires. So how can you 
determine the time between. We have a limited 
number of train station in the county so how 
can you use 800m distance when 95% of 
business and population are more than that 
 

Thank you for your 
comments. The definition 
of an accessible location 
aims to set a minimum 
standard which should 
be met for development 
to offer less car parking 
provision. The Council 
accepts that not every 
site will be accessible. 
 
 

City of 
Durham 
Trust 

A half-hourly service is not sufficient to enable 
people to avoid waiting an excessive amount of 
time if public transport is to be reasonably 
competitive with the private car. Services which 
are halfhourly during the day drop even lower 
during evenings and weekends. By 
comparison, for car-free developments, Oxford 
City Council requires proposal sites to be within 
a 400m walk of a high daytime frequency 

Thank you for your 
comments.  
 
Durham is a big county 
with largely rural areas. 
The definition of an 
accessible location has 
been drafted with regard 
to national guidance but 

Page 169



(every 15 minutes) direct bus route to the city 
centre, and also have convenient bus access 
to the nearest District Centre. Oxford, unlike 
Durham, has limited and expensive city centre 
car parking. In Durham City, the more plentiful 
car parking creates an added disincentive for 
public transport use and reduces viability of 
bus services. This raises issues of social 
inclusion, tipping people into transport poverty. 

without being so narrow 
as to exclude much of 
the county, particularly 
rural Durham. 
 
The definition of an 
accessible location aims 
to set a minimum 
standard which should 
be met for development 
to offer less car parking 
provision. The Council 
accepts that not every 
site will be accessible. 

Anonymous As a minimum this should be two, however 
consideration should be given to an option of 
additional bus services during peak times. 

Thank you for your 
comments. This 
standard is intended as a 
minimum under which a 
destination can be 
considered accessible. It 
would not impact on bus 
provision, which falls 
beyond the scope of this 
SPD. 

 

Table 2 - Question 2: Do you agree with the definition of an accessible location proposed by 
the Council? 

 

Respondent Comment DCC Response 

Paul 
Armstrong 
(Trust 
Pathways) 
 
  
  
  
  
  

Trust Pathways (TP) does not agree with the 
definition proposed by the Council. Most urban 
locations would be classed as accessible in 
this definition, and while this would permit a 
reduced level of car parking provision, which 
TP would support, it would not obligate a 
reduction and the methods for coming to an 
assessment of the appropriate level of parking 
are greyed. Developer contributions towards 
improving accessibility by sustainable modes 
may be difficult to obtain should the definitions 
be woolly. Developers may escape having to 
make contributions to improvements to cycling 
and walking infrastructure, and also may be 
permitted to provide less than adequate levels 
of car parking which may result in overspill 
parking into neighbouring streets. The SPD 
should distinguish between a measure of 
accessibility of the site sufficient for there to be 
potential for reducing car parking, and the 
degree of accessibility which the site should 
attain in order for the development to be 
considered sustainable, below which developer 

The purpose of providing a 
definition of an accessible 
location is to allow DM 
officers to require a lower 
level of parking. Developer 
contribution requirements 
will not be affected. It would 
not be feasible to 
incorporate walking and 
cycling accessibility within 
the definition as it would not 
be possible to assess this 
accurately for every 
application. However, text 
will be added to the SPD to 
clarify that this definition of 
accessibility does not 
define walking and cycling 
accessibility and that 
walking and cycling 
accessibility is still an 
important component that 
requires separate 

Page 170



contributions would be required towards 
improvements. A token gesture Transport 
statement should not be submitted and instead 
a detailed cycle and walking assessment be 
made. Linkages of funding from developers to 
monies for the work in LCWIPs could be 
combined to make schemes happen. 

consideration in planning 
applications. 
 
The requirement for 
walking and cycling modes 
to be prioritised on 
development sites falls 
outside the scope of this 
document but is included in 
the Delivering Sustainable 
Transport Policy (Policy 21) 
of the County Durham Plan. 
This Parking and 
Accessibility SPD does 
though set out a high 
provision for cycle parking.  

Sunny Ali 
(Highways 
England) 

It is not fully clear at this early stage of the 
SPD as to the intent of defining an ‘accessible 
destination’ with a view to the benchmarks 
identified (i.e. what is the outcome if a location 
is or is not considered accessible). While the 
‘accessible destination’ is referred to later in 
the document when detailing parking 
standards, an explanation at the outset may be 
of benefit. Furthermore, while the definition of 
an accessible location has been made with 
reference to the distance from a sustainable 
mode and the frequency of that mode, the 
likelihood of someone using that sustainable 
mode also relates to if or not the sustainable 
mode serves the locations that people would 
wish to access. While this may not be a 
consideration for the purpose of defining an 
‘accessible destination’ in the context of this 
SPD, it should be made clear that factors such 
as this will need to be considered through the 
planning application process when determining 
the sustainable credentials of a site. 

The purpose of providing a 
definition of an accessible 
location is to allow DM 
officers to require a lower 
level of parking. It would 
not be possible to include 
consideration of where 
people are travelling from in 
the definition as this would 
be too onerous. 
 
Keeping the definition of 
accessibility fairly general 
allows more flexibility at the 
planning application stage. 
We will amend the text in 
the SPD to make this 
clearer. 

Peter M 
Aitken OBE 

Yes. Thank you for your 
comments. 

Anonymous Yes.  However, the definition of an accessible 
location does not mention how easy it is to 
walk or cycle to or from the site. This is just as 
important as the bus access. 

Thank you for your 
comments. It would not be 
feasible to include active 
travel provision in the 
definition of an accessible 
location as it is impossible 
to know where people are 
travelling from. The 
proposed definition 
accounts for sustainable 
alternatives to the private 
car without being overly 
complicated. 
 

Page 171



However, text will be added 
to the SPD to clarify that 
this definition of 
accessibility does not 
define walking and cycling 
accessibility and that 
walking and cycling 
accessibility is still an 
important component that 
requires separate 
consideration at the 
planning application in 
accordance with Policy 21 
(Delivering Sustainable 
Transport) of the County 
Durham Plan. 
 

Janet 
Hutchinson 

Not entirely, as ease of active travel routes 
should be prioritised as per the user hierarchy 
in the Manual for Streets. New parking 
provision needs to be accessed in detail 
against any AQAP. 

Thank you for your 
comments. It would not be 
feasible to include active 
travel provision in the 
definition of an accessible 
location as it is impossible 
to know where people are 
travelling from. The 
proposed definition 
accounts for sustainable 
alternatives to the private 
car without being overly 
complicated. 
 
The requirement for 
walking and cycling modes 
to be prioritised on 
development sites falls 
outside the scope of this 
document but is included in 
the Delivering Sustainable 
Transport Policy (Policy 21) 
of the County Durham Plan. 
This parking and 
accessibility SPD does 
though set out a high 
provision for cycle parking. 
 
However, text will be added 
to the SPD to clarify that 
this definition of 
accessibility does not 
define walking and cycling 
accessibility and that 
walking and cycling 
accessibility is still an 
important component that 
requires separate 

Page 172



consideration at the 
planning application in 
accordance with Policy 21 
(Delivering Sustainable 
Transport) of the County 
Durham Plan. 
 
Major planning and 
development schemes 
within an AQMA and 
surrounding 
areas will need to be 
assessed to determine any 
impact on air quality and 
showing any ameliorating 
design measures in 
accordance with the 
Amenity Policy (Policy 21 of 
the County Durham Plan). 
 

Kelly 
Monahan
  

I don't agree that accessibility relies on public 
transport. I don't care how many buses there 
are, I'm never going to use one. People prefer 
cars, they're cleaner and more convenient. 

Thank you for your 
comments. The definition of 
an accessible location aims 
to set a minimum standard 
which should be met for 
development to offer less 
car parking provision. 

 
Len Shield The car parking provision must relate to the 

projected business foot fall by car. Due to the 
virus 19, busses will be less used due to fear. 
The car will be more used. So this needs to be 
lifted in car parking number pre site. As by 
2030 all new cars will be electric by order of 
government the % of charging points must be 
lifted to future proof 

Thank you for your 
comments. The proposed 
levels of EV charging aim 
to facilitate on-the-go 
charging whilst 
acknowledging that many 
people will charge at home 
or at an EV charging 
station. Regarding the 
decline in public transport 
use, the Council considers 
that it would not be 
appropriate to permanently 
increase parking provision 
in response to a temporary 
situation. 
 
 

 
City of 
Durham 
Trust 

The Trust does not agree with the definition 
proposed by the Council. Most urban locations 
would be accessible under this definition, and 
while this would permit a reduced level of car 
parking provision, which the Trust would 
support, the methods for coming to a decision 
on the appropriate level of parking are not 

The purpose of providing a 
definition of an accessible 
location is to allow 
Development Management 
officers to require a lower 
level of parking. Developer 
contribution requirements 

Page 173



stated. By using a definition by which a wide 
range of locations would be considered 
accessible, the council may also be unable to 
obtain developer contributions towards 
improving accessibility by sustainable modes. 
In the worst cases, therefore, the developer 
may be let off the hook for improvements to 
cycling and walking infrastructure, and also be 
permitted to provide less than adequate levels 
of car parking which may result in overspill 
parking into neighbouring streets. Accessibility 
by walking and cycling must also be assessed. 
Basing accessibility solely on the public 
transport frequency is not consistent with 
County Durham Plan Policy 21 and the 
Inspector's direction that the new SPD should 
reflect various principles including ‘having 
regard to the accessibility of the development 
by walking, cycling and public transport’. It is 
also not consistent with NPPF para. 105 which 
regards accessibility (clause a) as being wider 
than the availability of public transport (clause 
c). The Trust considers that if a site is not 
judged to be sufficiently accessible, the first 
resort to remedy this should be to improve 
accessibility, rather than providing larger 
quantities of car parking. The SPD should 
distinguish between a measure of the potential 
accessibility of the site which would justify a 
reduction in car parking, and the degree of 
actual accessibility which the site should attain 
in order for the development to be considered 
sustainable. Developer contributions would 
then be required towards improvements in 
order to help realise the potential. Assessment 
of accessibility For larger developments a 
Transport Statement or Transport Assessment 
will usually cover accessibility. The Trust's 
experience is that these documents rarely 
result in any issues being identified, and that 
the assessment of accessibility is usually 
superficial. Most applications simply include 
2km and 5km isochrones centred on the site, a 
textual statement about local cycle routes, a 
list of bus services, possibly an extract from 
the County Council's cycle map, and an 
analysis of recent road accidents. Information 
on the quality of the pedestrian and cycle 
routes to the site is usually lacking. The former 
County Council's 2001 Accessibility & Parking 
Guidelines included ‘Annex 2’ which set out 
expectations as to the types of assessment 
that would be required. The methodology 
included estimating the population falling within 
30-minute catchment areas by each mode, 

will not be affected. It would 
not be feasible to 
incorporate walking and 
cycling accessibility within 
the definition as it would not 
be possible to assess this 
accurately for every 
application. Walking and 
cycling improvements are 
outside the scope of this 
document. 
 
The requirement for 
walking and cycling modes 
to be prioritised on 
development sites falls 
outside the scope of this 
document but is included in 
the Delivering Sustainable 
Transport Policy (Policy 21) 
of the County Durham Plan. 
This parking and 
accessibility SPD does 
though set out a high 
provision for cycle parking 
 
Increasing turnover is a 
matter for car park 
operators. Regarding 
parking at residential 
development, the Council’s 
experience is that limiting 
car parking would be 
inappropriate as it leads to 
amenity issues. This 
approach is consistent with 
national policy as set out in 
NPPF paragraph 106. 

Page 174



including by car. For cycling and walking an 
isochrone approach (of 8km or 2km 
respectively) was to be supplemented with an 
analysis of major barriers to using these 
modes, such as lack of footways or crossings, 
and lack of safe cycling facilities. The 30-
minute catchment for public transport included 
the walking time to and from the bus stops at 
each end and a 10 minute time penalty for 
changing buses. The ratio of the catchment 
population by car compared to each of the 
sustainable modes was then computed, and 
developments exceeding a stated threshold 
would have been required to contribute to off-
site works to improve the ratios. To strengthen 
the accessibility strand of the SPD, guidance 
along the same lines as the 2001 document 
could be included. Alternatively, if the 
population catchment process is thought to be 
too onerous, a points-based system could be 
used. Transport for New Homes has produced 
a Checklist for new housing developments16 
which would allow assessment of housing 
developments. Wiltshire Council has produced 
a points-based assessment scheme which can 
be used to determine the level of reduction in 
car parking appropriate for destinations. It 
forms part of the Wiltshire Local Transport Plan 
2011-2026 Car Parking Strategy17 which 
takes an admirably holistic approach to the 
management of car parking. This scheme has 
been adapted by Bath and North-East 
Somerset Council as the basis for their parking 
strategy18 and is described on p. 20-21 and 
Appendix C of that document. Adjustment of 
parking rates in accessible locations Whereas 
the old guidelines tabulated different levels of 
parking provision for town centres and 
elsewhere, the proposed SPD has a single 
level of provision. Paragraph 3.3 says: Where 
developments are located in accessible 
destinations, fewer parking spaces may be 
required through planning, to be decided on a 
case by case basis, taking into account the 
location and type of development and any 
other specific circumstances which are 
relevant. Furthermore, where destinations are 
situated in accessible locations shorter 
maximum stays may also be implemented by 
the car park operator to encourage appropriate 
turnover. The proposed SPD provides no detail 
about the levels of reductions to be sought (or 
permitted) at the many locations within the 
built-up area of Durham and the other main 
towns which would be considered accessible 

Page 175



using the proposed definition. The points-
based model used by Wiltshire Council, and 
adapted Bath and North-East Somerset, is 
worth examining because it gives developers 
clear accessibility criteria to work to on a range 
of measures, not just public transport access, 
and sets a scale of parking space reduction 
based on the score. The Inspector was clear in 
paragraph 107 of his final report that the 
council should be ‘limiting the provision of car 
parking at destinations’ to ‘complement the 
demand management measures for the city 
proposed in policy 23 [i.e. 22]’. This strongly 
implies that the SPD should make specific 
provision for Durham City, which it does not. 
An unspecific ‘case by case basis’ for 
decisions may not satisfy the Inspector's 
direction. Is the text about shorter maximum 
stays a hint to developers that they may 
provide less car parking if they can 
demonstrate good management of the car 
park? Perhaps this should be made more 
explicit, and applied through planning 
conditions. It would be possible to apply this 
criterion to locations which are less accessible 
also, in order to make efficient use of land. 
There is no mention of the part which might be 
paid by charging for spaces. The Durham City 
Sustainable Transport Delivery Plan expresses 
concern about free parking provision at 
employment sites. Cycling and walking 
accessibility For cycling and walking access, 
developers should also be referred to the Local 
Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
(LCWIP), if available. Other source material 
that could be consulted includes: â€¢ the 
Council's own audits of existing cycle 
infrastructure, which have been carried out for 
Durham City and some other towns, but not 
published; â€¢ measures identified in the 
Durham City Sustainable Transport Delivery 
Plan; â€¢ Neighbourhood Plans and 
accompanying evidence, such as the Walking 
and cycling evidence paper19 produced by the 
Durham City Neighbourhood Plan Working 
Party; â€¢ crowd-sourced data such as Widen 
My Path20 and Street Space County 
Durham21 which were gathered during the first 
Covid-19 lockdown but which are of longer-
term value. To identify barriers to cycling and 
walking there should be an objective 
assessment of the main road junctions and 
links within at least a mile of the site using the 
audit tools available in LTN 1/20 and the Active 
Travel Wales guidance (which has been used 

Page 176



by the Council and is referred to in the County 
Durham Strategic Cycling and Walking 
Delivery Plan). The key routes to education, 
employment and retail destinations (for 
residential development) or from main 
residential areas (for other developments), 
should be assessed. These audit tools are 
simple to use and quick to apply, so will not be 
a burden on developers, but will provide useful 
information highlighting the main issues with 
the surrounding network. 

 

Table 3 - Question 3: Do you agree with the standards for retail destinations? 

Respondent Comment DCC Response 

Kelly 
Monahan 

No. Virtually everyone drives. There needs 
to be way more parking spaces. 

Thank you for your 
comments. 
 

Philip 
Timmins 

There is far too much provision for car 
parking especially compared to cycle parking 
of which there is far too little. The balance 
shouldbe the other way around in order to 
help achieve the Council's climate change 
agenda, because it would make 
developments much more attractive and 
because pedestians and cyclists spend as 
much if not more in the shops they visit than 
car drivers. It woudl also help to favour town 
and village centre locations rather than out 
of town of which there is too much and which 
is helping to kill town and city centres. 

Thank you for your 
comments. The proposed 
standards aim to enable 
people to cycle by providing 
the necessary 
infrastructure. However, 
adequate provision must 
also be made for car 
parking to prevent amenity 
issues arising from 
inappropriate parking. 

Heather 
Evans 
(Cycling UK) 

Questions 3-6 ask: Do you agree with the 
standards? LTN 1/20, 11.3 gives guidance 
on the quantity of cycle parking needed and 
Table 11-1 lists suggested minimum cycle 
parking capacity for different type of land 
use. LTN 1/20, 11.3.4 states that spare 
capacity should always be provided to cater 
for growth and turnover. Would other 
planning documents take this on board e.g. 
Travel Plans? 

Thank you for your 
comments. The Council will 
make reference to LTN 
1/20 in writing the next draft 
of the SPD. 

Anonymous Mostly agree, however some retail 
destinations have no short stay cycle 
provision for visitors who may wish to cycle 
to these destinations e.g. garden 
centres.  Many are diversifying now and offer 
catering facilities. This would enable those 
who wish to cycle to such destinations the 
opportunity to do so and thus have many 
benefits to the economy, reducing pollution 
and well-being. 

Thank you for your 
comments. The cycle 
parking requirement has 
been amended to clarify 
that provision should be 
made for long and short 
stay cycle parking, based 
primarily on development 
floorspace rather than 
number of employees. This 
approach is consistent with 
LTN 1/20. 

Page 177



Janet 
Hutchinson 

Not entirely, as visitor cycle parking appears 
to have been missed from larger retail sites 
such as garden centres, builders merchants 
etc - clients should be able to cycle there to 
purchase smaller items or order larger ones 
for delivery. Need to ensure cycle parking is 
near the retail entrance/exit - secure and 
with surveillance.  Also, instead of providing 
free parking (eg Durham city 'Free after 3') 
provide discounted bus tickets to incentivise 
modal shift. 

Thank you for your 
comments. The cycle 
parking requirement has 
been amended to clarify 
that provision should be 
made for long and short 
stay cycle parking, based 
primarily on development 
floorspace rather than 
number of employees. This 
approach is consistent with 
LTN 1/20. 

Peter M 
Aitken OBE 

Yes. Thank you for your 
comments. 

Len Shield Sections refer to GFA should it not be all 
floors especially on offices 

Thank you for your 
comments. Gross floor area 
(GFA) includes all the 
internal floor space of a 
building, including upper 
floors. 

City of 
Durham 
Trust 

The Trust disagrees with these standards. 
The Trust has provided comparison with 
three other authorities in Appendix A below, 
and notes that the Cambridge parking levels 
for retail are much more constrained. For 
general retail also, Bath and North-East 
Somerset Council allows significantly less 
parking in the Bath outer zone and none in 
the city centre unless specially justified. This 
is despite the fact that the surrounding area 
has higher car ownership than Durham. 

Thank you for your 
comments. The proposed 
standards are based on 
Durham TRICS data. It 
would not be appropriate to 
amend these standards 
based on other authorities’ 
approaches as they may be 
using different 
methodologies to address 
different circumstances.   
 
 

Paul 
Armstrong 
(Trust 
Pathways) 

TP’s response to ‘destinations’ are very 
similar for all the destinations in that 
providing too much car parking prevents 
take up of more sustainable forms of 
transport such as bus services, park and 
ride, walking and cycling. More emphasis 
needs to be made to encourage these 
sustainable options and make them real 
choices for all. 

Thank you for your 
comments. The proposed 
standards take into account 
locations which are well 
served by public transport, 
and will enable more 
people to cycle by ensuring 
that the necessary cycle 
parking infrastructure is in 
place. 

Sunny Ali 
(Highways 
England) 

Highways England does not wish to make 
specific comment on the detail of the parking 
standards proposed for the various land 
uses. As part of planning submission 
reviews, Highways England generally 
advises that parking is a matter for the Local 
Highway Authority to satisfy itself with, 
unless it is considered that the intended 
provision could influence either (i) through 
over-provision: the attractiveness of making 
car-based trips or (ii) through under-

Thank you for your 
comments. The standards 
are intended to be applied 
as stated, not as minimum 
or maximums. This will be 
clarified within the text of 
the next draft SPD. 

Page 178



provision: have negative operational 
consequences through parking off-site. It is 
not clear if the identified parking requirement 
is a defined level, a minimum or a maximum. 
This may benefit from definition. 

 

Table 4 

Question 4: Do you agree with the standards for employment destinations? 

Respondent Comment DCC Response 

Philip Timmins Similarly to my comment above I think 
the balance is the wrong way round 
between car parking and other forms 
of transport for most types of 
employment destination. There needs 
to be a big emphasis on sustainable 
transport as the dominant form not as 
an add on in order to promote it and 
thus achieve the objectives outlined 
above in my Q3 comments. 

Thank you for your 
comments. The proposed 
standards aim to enable 
people to cycle by providing 
the necessary infrastructure. 
However, adequate 
provision must also be 
made for car parking to 
prevent amenity issues 
arising from inappropriate 
parking. 

Anonymous Mostly agree expect for no provision of 
short stay cycle parking for visitors 
who may wish to cycle to these 
destinations. Visitors may be attending 
meetings at different locations within a 
City Centre and may want to cycle 
between locations.  This would enable 
those who wish to cycle to such 
destinations the opportunity to do so 
and thus have many benefits; reducing 
pollution and improving the health and 
well-being of all. Also, it is noted that 
the floor area for Employment 
Standards has changed for car parking 
provision from 1 space per 25m2 GFA 
to 1 space per per 18m2 GFA. The 
reason for this change is not 
explained. Assume land space will 
accommodate for this? Durham 
County Council in 2019 declared a 
climate emergency and highlighted 
actions to reduce energy usage and 
CO 2 emissions one of which was 
reducing car use. Will allowing more 
car parking at employment 
destinations increase car use? 

Thank you for your 
comments. The cycle 
parking requirement has 
been amended to clarify that 
provision should be made 
for long and short stay cycle 
parking, based primarily on 
development floorspace 
rather than number of 
employees. This approach 
is consistent with LTN 1/20. 
The requirement for car 
parking at offices and 
business parks intends to 
ensure that sufficient 
parking is required, however 
less parking can be 
provided where the site is in 
a sustainable location. 

Peter M Aitken 
OBE 

Yes. Thank you for your 
comments. 

City of Durham 
Trust 

The Trust disagrees with these 
standards. The Trust has provided 
comparison with three other authorities 
in Appendix A. The maximum parking 

Thank you for your 
comments. Officers will 
review the examples 

Page 179



standards applied in Bath, Cambridge 
and Nottingham are all much more 
constrained. This is important if 
commuter travel is to be tackled. 
Commuting tends to occur in short 
peaks in the morning and evening, and 
therefore makes inefficient use of 
transport assets. The Trust notes that 
the rate of parking provision being 
proposed in the Issues and Options 
document has actually been increased 
by comparison with the Council's 2019 
and 2014 standards. There seems to 
be no justification for this. For Durham 
City the standards for employment 
destinations should be linked to the 
availability of Park and Ride and some 
of the on-site provision commuted into 
additional Park and Ride spaces. 

provided and make changes 
where appropriate. 

Len Shield EV charging must be increased for 
hotels, persons travel to hotels and 
stay, therefor a greater need at the 
end of a journey tocharge the car and 
especially after 2030 

Thank you for your 
comments. The proposed 
levels of EV charging aim to 
facilitate on-the-go charging 
whilst acknowledging that 
many people will charge at 
home or at an EV charging 
station. 

 
Kelly Monahan No. The proposed number of spaces is 

ridiculous. The vast majority of people 
drive 

Thank you for your 
comments. The proposed 
standards aim to enable 
people to cycle by ensuring 
that necessary infrastructure 
is in place. 

 
Janet Hutchinson There should be 1 cycling space per 5 

members of staff OR LESS. And there 
should be an aim to reduce the 
overprovision of car parking at existing 
large sites (plant trees!), with 
workplace parking levys introduced 
county-wide at large sites to support 
travel plan targets. 

Thank you for your 
comments. The proposed 
standards aim to encourage 
cycling in the county by 
ensuring that the necessary 
infrastructure is in place. 

Paul Armstrong 
(Trust Pathways) 

See response to Q3. Thank you for your 
comments. The proposed 
standards take into account 
locations which are well 
served by public transport, 
and will enable more people 
to cycle by ensuring that the 
necessary cycle parking 
infrastructure is in place. 

Page 180



Sunny Ali 
(Highways 
England) 

Highways England does not wish to 
make specific comment on the detail of 
the parking standards proposed for the 
various land uses. As part of planning 
submission reviews, Highways 
England generally advises that parking 
is a matter for the Local Highway 
Authority to satisfy itself with, unless it 
is considered that the intended 
provision could influence either (i) 
through over-provision: the 
attractiveness of making car-based 
trips or (ii) through under-provision: 
have negative operational 
consequences through parking off-site. 
It is not clear if the identified parking 
requirement is a defined level, a 
minimum or a maximum. This may 
benefit from definition. 

Thank you for your 
comments. The standards 
are intended to be applied 
as stated, not as minimum 
or maximums. This will be 
clarified within the text of the 
next draft SPD. 

 

Table 5 

Question 5: Do you agree with the standards for leisure destinations? 

Respondent Comment DCC Response 

Kelly Monahan No. Most people drive. I'd say you 
need more like 1 space per 1.5 people. 

Thank you for your 
comments. 

Len Shield If the number of car spaces proposed 
for hospitals and doctors surgeries are 
the same as that for the University & 
Bishop Auckland hospital they are 
insufficient and must be increase. 
Pepole go to these places as they are 
ill and the car is the most health 
reason to use, if you are ill a bike will 
not be your chose 

Thank you for your 
comments. Hospitals are 
typically located within more 
urban areas, where they are 
needed to support the 
population. However, this 
means that the space on 
any available site is likely 
constrained from the start. 
Problems with queueing and 
turnover are often down to 
the operation of the car park 
itself rather than the number 
of spaces provided. 
Furthermore, different 
hospitals will offer different 
services and these may 
change over time, so it is 
difficult to accurately predict 
how much parking will be 
required. The proposed 
standards have been 
informed by the Council’s 
TRICS system which is 
informed by existing 
developments within the 
county.  

Page 181



Peter M Aitken 
OBE 

Yes. Incidentally, there is evidence of 
cutting and pasting from a USA 
system..  Theatre is not spelled 
theater.  DCC  Parks are not 
mentioned, but I have a point to make 
here.  Disabled parking should be free 
of charge.  At  Wharton Park in 
Durham time based charges 
apply.  This means that disabled 
people pay more than the able bodied 
because it takes them longer to use 
the facilities due to mobility issues. 

Thank you for your 
comments.   

Anonymous Mostly agree expect for no provision 
for short stay cycle parking for visitors. 
Users of gyms for example, may wish 
to cycle to these destinations from 
their place of work/residence. 

Thank you for your 
comments. The cycle 
parking requirement has 
been amended to clarify that 
provision should be made 
for long and short stay cycle 
parking, based primarily on 
development floorspace 
rather than number of 
employees. This approach 
is consistent with LTN 1/20. 

Janet Hutchinson Cycle spaces for visitors seem to have 
been missed off many destinations 
and entirely missed off takeaways? 

Thank you for your 
comments. The 
methodology used to 
calculate cycle provision is 
based on the number of 
staff or floorspace of each 
destination, however, the 
intention is that visitors 
should be able to use these 
facilities too. It would not be 
appropriate to provide cycle 
parking at hot food 
takeaways as this would 
lead to a proliferation of 
individual Sheffield stands 
and clutter streets. 

Paul Armstrong 
(Trust Pathways) 

See response to Q3. Thank you for your 
comments. The proposed 
standards take into account 
locations which are well 
served by public transport, 
and will enable more people 
to cycle by ensuring that the 
necessary cycle parking 
infrastructure is in place. 

Sunny Ali 
(Highways 
England) 

Highways England does not wish to 
make specific comment on the detail of 
the parking standards proposed for the 
various land uses. As part of planning 
submission reviews, Highways 
England generally advises that parking 

Thank you for your 
comments. The standards 
are intended to be applied 
as stated, not as minimum 
or maximums. This will be 

Page 182



is a matter for the Local Highway 
Authority to satisfy itself with, unless it 
is considered that the intended 
provision could influence either (i) 
through over-provision: the 
attractiveness of making car-based 
trips or (ii) through under-provision: 
have negative operational 
consequences through parking off-site. 
It is not clear if the identified parking 
requirement is a defined level, a 
minimum or a maximum. This may 
benefit from definition. 

clarified within the text of the 
next draft SPD. 

City of Durham 
Trust 

The Trust disagrees with these 
standards and has provided 
comparison with three other authorities 
in Appendix A. The maximum parking 
standards for pubs and restaurants are 
more constrained in all three cases, 
and for hotels the provision is 
significantly lower in two of the 
authorities studied. 

Thank you for your 
comments. The standards 
have been drafted based on 
Durham's own 
circumstances using data 
relating to the County. It 
would not be appropriate to 
amend the standards based 
solely on the approach of 
other authorities. 

 
 

Table 6 

Question 6: Do you agree with the standards for other destinations? 

Respondent Comment DCC Response 

Anonymous No. In the 2019 Standard, this stated 
‘1 parking space per 5 members of 
staff’, it now states '1 car parking 
space per member of staff'. There 
would be no incentive for car sharing 
or use of sustainable transport if the 
parking levels were so generous. Is 
this also the optimal use of land 
turning over so much to car parking? 
Even at less accessible locations, 
employers could support public 
transport options and this would result 
in reductions in traffic, pollution and 
greenhouse gas emissions. Would 
there be sufficient land space to 
accommodate that level of parking? 
Every opportunity to promote a shift to 
sustainable transport modes through 
the planning system should be 
considered. 

Thank you for your 
comments. This standard 
will be amended to be 
consistent with the standard 
for primary and secondary 
schools for the next draft of 
the SPD. 
 
 

 

Philip Timmins Again I think there is considerable over 
provision for car parking especially 
when it is at one space per member of 
staff - it's highly unlikely this level of 

Thank you for your 
comments. This standard 
will be amended to be 
consistent with the standard 

Page 183



provision will ever be needed even at 
current levels of car use - not all staff 
will drive to work and some will almost 
certainly not be at the site for a range 
of reason eg working elsewhere, 
holidays, sick, working at home etc. 
One of the objects of planning npolicy 
shoudl be to rediuce car use and 
reliance and to be replacing it with 
sustainable travel modes and excess 
parking provision does the opposite 
and is itself a very poor use of land. 
Furthermore the shift to working from 
home will mean less people being at 
places of work in the future. 

for primary and secondary 
schools for the next draft of 
the SPD. 

City of Durham 
Trust 

Staff parking provision at schools and 
colleges seems excessive by 
comparison with Nottingham and 
Cambridge (Bath makes no explicit 
rates available). It may be justified in 
rural areas, but in towns there should 
not be a need to provide 1 parking 
space per member of staff. The 
Council's 2019 and 2014 standards set 
a rate of 1 space per 5 members of 
staff for town centres. There needs to 
be a more gradual transition in the 
level of provision depending on the 
accessibility of the site. The number of 
cycle parking spaces at FE colleges, at 
1 space per 50 students, is too low 
considering that this only represents 
2% of journeys. Perhaps 1 space per 
20 would be a better ratio. The number 
of spaces at primary and secondary 
schools is also low considering the 
effort which is made in promoting 
active travel to school. Because the 
school population changes completely 
every six or seven years, there is 
much greater scope to change travel 
behaviours, but it may be best to deal 
with cycle parking provision at existing 
schools outside of the planning 
system. New schools should be well-
located and connected to high-quality 
active travel routes, and be provided 
with a higher per pupil rate of cycle 
spaces. The storage also needs to 
cater for scooters. 

Thank you for your 
comments. This standard 
will be amended to be 
consistent with the standard 
for primary and secondary 
schools for the next draft of 
the SPD. 

Len Shield As yet I have never seen bike parks 
over used in Durham apart from the 
University sites 

Thank you for your 
comments. 

Page 184



Kelly Monahan No. ALL doctors and dentists etc have 
cars. Most people drive. The proposed 
amount is spaces is woefully 
inadequate. 

Thank you for your 
comments. 

Janet Hutchinson Colleges/Uni's cycle provision should 
at least match that of schools! 'School 
streets' should be encouraged along 
with CPZs to encourage active travel. 

Thank you for your 
comments. This standard 
will be amended to be 
consistent with the standard 
for primary and secondary 
schools for the next draft of 
the SPD. Creation of school 
streets falls outside the 
scope of this SPD. 

Peter M Aitken 
OBE 

Yes. Thank you for your 
comments. 

Paul Armstrong 
(Trust Pathways) 

See response to Q3. Thank you for your 
comments. The proposed 
standards take into account 
locations which are well 
served by public transport, 
and will enable more people 
to cycle by ensuring that the 
necessary cycle parking 
infrastructure is in place. 

Sunny Ali 
(Highways 
England) 

Highways England does not wish to 
make specific comment on the detail of 
the parking standards proposed for the 
various land uses. As part of planning 
submission reviews, Highways 
England generally advises that parking 
is a matter for the Local Highway 
Authority to satisfy itself with, unless it 
is considered that the intended 
provision could influence either (i) 
through over-provision: the 
attractiveness of making car-based 
trips or (ii) through under-provision: 
have negative operational 
consequences through parking off-site. 
It is not clear if the identified parking 
requirement is a defined level, a 
minimum or a maximum. This may 
benefit from definition. 

Thank you for your 
comments. The standards 
are intended to be applied 
as stated, not as minimum 
or maximums. This will be 
clarified within the text of the 
next draft SPD. 

 

 

Table 7 

Question 7: Do you think that 1 long stay/secure cycle space cycle per 5 members of staff is 
about right for locations where we work? 

Respondent Comment DCC Response 

Peter M Aitken 
OBE 

Not sure about this one -ratio seems 
excessive. Is there user survey 
(potential and present) information 
available.? 

Thank you for your 
comments. This standard 
will be amended to be 
consistent with the standard 

Page 185



Bike racks necessary; these allow 
bikes to be secured thus minimising 
theft.  

for primary and secondary 
schools for the next draft of 
the SPD. 

Len Shield I see no reason to disput this and if it 
becomes obvious that additional 
secure bike space is required 
management should be able to adapt 
and increase. 

Thank you for your 
comments. 

Sunny Ali 
(Highways 
England) 

As with car parking, Highways England 
generally advises that cycle parking is 
a matter for the Local Highway 
Authority to satisfy itself with. There 
may be benefit of reference in the SPD 
to Travel Plans as while the SPD may 
set the minimum requirement of cycle 
parking levels, the aims of the Travel 
Plan supporting a planning application 
should be factored in to ensure that 
the provision (greater than set out if 
necessary) is appropriate to supporting 
achieving these aims. 

Thank you for your 
comments. 

Paul Armstrong 
(Trust Pathways) 

This is about right. It sends out the 
right message that cycling is being 
encouraged. A smaller number would 
suggests its more than a token 
gesture. A detailed Travel Plan would 
also accurately detail the current take 
up and that of the future if it is actively 
encouraged by the employers. 

Thank you for your 
comments. 

Philip Timmins I support the requirement for cycle 
parking but I believe the number of 
cycle spaces should be as many as 
car spaces with a minimum of 2 per 5 
staff. Furthermore the provision of 
changing / showering facilities should 
also be a requirement in reasonable 
proportion to the size and type of 
development as otherwise it can be 
difficult to cycle to work etc except 
over short distances. 

Thank you for your 
comments. It would not be 
feasible to require 
equivalent cycle and car 
parking as this would lead to 
considerable oversupply of 
cycle parking. The proposed 
standard aims to provide the 
necessary infrastructure to 
enable people to cycle, 
without being excessive.  
 
Whilst provision of 
showering and changing 
facilities in new 
development would be 
welcomed, it is beyond the 
scope of this SPD but 
should be addressed in any 
travel plan associated with a 
planning application. 

 
City of Durham 
Trust 

The Trust considers that a rate of one 
cycle parking space per 5 members of 
staff (20%) is rather too generous 

Thank you for your 
comments. The proposed 
standard will enable people 

Page 186



given the current rates of cycling to 
work in the county. People are not 
going to be attracted to cycle to work 
just by the provision of secure cycle 
parking: the provision of safe cycle 
routes and restrictions on private car 
routes or parking are much more 
significant interventions. The SPD 
should place a lot more emphasis on 
assessing the standard of the cycle 
network approaching the site in order 
to obtain contributions towards off-site 
improvements. The BREEAM New 
Construction scheme, 2018, generally 
requires a rate of one cycle parking 
space per ten members of staff. See 
Table 7.5.22 The Nottingham policy 
requires broadly the same level of 
provision. Cambridge requires more 
cycle parking, but it does have the 
highest rates of cycling in the UK. At 
the 2011 census two of the Middle 
Super Output Areas (MSOAs) in 
County Durham achieved a cycle to 
work share of 4%. These were both in 
Newton Aycliffe. In the City of Durham 
most MSOAs were at the 2% to 3% 
level. Elsewhere in the Durham County 
Council area rates were generally at 
about 1%. The DfT-funded Propensity 
to Cycle Tool23 predicts that if Dutch-
style cycle tracks were provided, 
coupled with wide uptake of e-bikes, 
the proportion of people cycling to 
work could rise as high as 25% in the 
Framwellgate Moor and Gilesgate 
MSOAs and to around 20% in most 
other MSOAs around the city. So a 
rate of provision of one cycle parking 
space per 5 members of staff would be 
appropriate if the Council can deliver 
comprehensive high-quality cycle 
infrastructure. Perhaps it would be 
better to align with the BREEAM cycle 
parking rates for new non-residential 
developments, but ensure that there is 
a commitment in Travel Plans to 
increasing the amount of cycle parking 
if surveys find that use is nearing 
capacity. Note that the BREEAM 
scheme includes adjustments to the 
cycle parking rates for rural locations, 
and the Council may wish to consider 
using these. For sites in rural 
locations: 1. Where the distance to the 

to cycle by ensuring that the 
necessary infrastructure is 
in place. The Council 
accepts that cycle parking is 
only one aspect of 
encouraging people to 
cycle, and cycle routes and 
upgrades to the network are 
being dealt with by other 
aspects of the Council’s 
work. 

Page 187



nearest urban location is greater than 
10 miles, the number of compliant 
cycle spaces can be reduced by 50%. 
2. Where the distance to the nearest 
urban location is greater than 20 miles, 
the number of compliant cycle spaces 
can be reduced by 70%. 3. Where the 
distance to the nearest urban location 
is greater than 30 miles, the number of 
compliant cycle spaces can be 
reduced by 90%. Obviously the 
nearest urban location might be 
outside the Durham County Council 
area. There is also an option for 
reducing cycle parking provision if the 
public transport accessibility index is 
high, but the rural reduction should not 
be used in combination with this. In 
town centres the cycle parking 
requirement for employees and for 
visitors could be commuted into a 
contribution towards public cycle 
parking provision if on-site provision is 
difficult. This would be preferable to 
having cycle parking which is 
inconvenient for users. There is no 
requirement for visitor cycle parking 
shown for various types of 
development where it would be useful, 
including particularly office 
developments and business parks. 
There should be some visitor cycle 
parking close to building entrances. 

Heather Evans 
(Cycling UK) 

See LTN 1/20 Table 11-1. Thank you for your 
comments. The Council will 
make reference to LTN 1/20 
in writing the next draft of 
the SPD. 

Anonymous The rate of '1 secure cycle parking 
space per 5 members of staff ' seems 
reasonable given the Government's 
aspirations for increasing cycling 
levels. If employers are located in City 
Centres where it is hard to provide 
cycle parking on the premises, they 
should contribute to cycle parking 
facilities that can be shared with other 
employers and the public, perhaps by 
installing cycle racks in place of one or 
two on-street car parking bays. 

Thank you for your 
comments. This would be 
determined on a case by 
case basis where cycle 
parking cannot be provided 
on site. 
 

 

Kelly Monahan It's excessive. Most people don't cycle 
to work because of the distance and 
because they don't want to be sweaty 
at work all day. 

Thank you for your 
comments. The cycle 
parking requirement aims to 
enable people to cycle by 

Page 188



ensuring that essential 
infrastructure is in place. 

 

Table 8 

Question 8: Should all retail destinations have short stay cycle parking for visitors? 

Respondent Comment DCC Response 
Len Shield Yes it gives choice and makes it 

incloosive for all visitors  
Thank you for your 
comments. 

Philip Timmins Yes, it promotes business levels and 
reduces the demand for car parking 

Thank you for your 
comments. 

Janet Hutchinson Yes, otherwise cyclists are 
discriminated against and modal shift 
is discouraged. 

Thank you for your 
comments. 

Heather Evans 
(Cycling UK) 

Yes, see comments under Retail 
parking standards. 

Thank you for your 
comments. 

Sunny Ali 
(Highways 
England) 

As with car parking, Highways England 
generally advises that cycle parking is 
a matter for the Local Highway 
Authority to satisfy itself with. There 
may be benefit of reference in the SPD 
to Travel Plans as while the SPD may 
set the minimum requirement of cycle 
parking levels, the aims of the Travel 
Plan supporting a planning application 
should be factored in to ensure that 
the provision (greater than set out if 
necessary) is appropriate to supporting 
achieving these aims. 

Thank you for your 
comments. The next draft of 
the SPD will include 
reference to the role of 
Travel Plans in potentially 
limiting parking provision. 

City of Durham 
Trust 

Yes, the Trust supports the provision 
of short-stay cycle parking for visitors, 
but notes that the SPD omits various 
types of retail (bulky goods, DIY, 
builders merchants and garden 
centres) from this requirement (see 
paragraph 3.4). The Trust disagrees 
with this approach, and suggests that 
a minimum of four short-stay spaces 
for visitors should be provided. People 
may wish to visit such retail outlets by 
bicycle and have goods delivered by 
van. Most retail outlets in these 
categories also sell smaller items that 
can be carried home by bicycle, and 
with a trailer and an e-bike, bulkier 
items can also be transported. Cycle 
parking should also be available for 
customers of restaurants and cafes, 
not just staff. There should also be 
cycle parking provided within a 
suitable distance of hot food 
takeaways: it is not clear why car 
parking for customers is required but 

Thank you for your 
comments. The cycle 
parking requirement has 
been amended to clarify that 
provision should be made 
for long and short stay cycle 
parking, based primarily on 
development floorspace 
rather than number of 
employees. This approach 
is consistent with LTN 1/20. 

Page 189



cycle parking is not. The Trust is not 
supportive of drive-through takeway 
food and drink facilities, which do not 
enhance towns visually or socially, but 
if such facilities are granted planning 
permission, there should be conditions 
to require the operators to encourage 
access on foot and by cycling as well. 
The Issues and Options document 
does not adequately stipulate the 
design of cycle parking at 
nonresidential locations. The 
Cambridge Local Plan 2018 
paragraphs L.16 to L.2724 would be 
worth emulating. In order to promote 
cycling and to ensure surveillance of 
the cycle parking area, it should 
generally be located closer to the main 
entrances of the destination buildings 
than non-disabled car parking spaces. 
This should be stated in the SPD. 

Paul Armstrong 
(Trust Pathways) 

Yes, all destinations without 
exceptions. We note that takeaways 
and café’s were not included which is 
strange as cafes are most popular with 
cyclists. 

Thank you for your 
comments. The cycle 
parking requirement has 
been amended to clarify that 
provision should be made 
for long and short stay cycle 
parking, based primarily on 
development floorspace 
rather than number of 
employees. This approach 
is consistent with LTN 1/20. 

Kelly Monahan Not many people cycle. I don't think 
much cycle parking is needed.  

Thank you for your 
comments. The level of 
provision required aims to 
encourage cycling in the 
county by ensuring that 
necessary infrastructure to 
enable people to cycle is in 
place. 

Peter M Aitken 
OBE 

No. Excessive.  Who would pay for this 
? 

Thank you for your 
comments. The proposed 
standards aim to encourage 
cycling in the county by 
ensuring that the necessary 
infrastructure is in place. 
The developer would fund 
this infrastructure. 

Anonymous There should definitely be short stay 
cycle parking for visitors at retail and 
leisure destinations. Table 3 does not 
require cycle parking for visitors at 
cinemas, theatres, pubs or 
restaurants, but these are all places 

Thank you for your 
comments. The cycle 
parking requirement has 
been amended to clarify that 
provision should be made 
for long and short stay cycle 

Page 190



that people might want to cycle to. 
There should also be some visitor 
cycle parking at offices. Again, at City 
Centre locations adequate public cycle 
parking would be acceptable, and 
developers could make contributions 
towards this. Regarding the siting of 
short stay cycle parking, the SPD does 
not specifically state locations. It is 
noted that 3.7 states ‘cycle parking 
should be in a prominent location 
allowing regular casual observance 
and be covered, secured and 
enclosed, if intended for stays of an 
hour or more. For short stay cycle 
parking, Sheffield stands should be 
provided as a minimum’. There seems 
to be less guidance in the SPD rather 
than in the previous standard 
regarding the layout and spacing of 
cycle parking. Section 2.5.2.2 of the 
2019 Standards included further 
information on the location and design 
of short stay cycle parking. Clear 
diagrams would also help. Could more 
detailed information therefore be 
included in the SPD? 

parking, based primarily on 
development floorspace 
rather than number of 
employees. This approach 
is consistent with LTN 1/20. 

 

Table 9 

Question 9: Should 15% of all long stay parking spaces be set aside for electric vehicle 
parking at retail, employment, leisure and other destinations? 

Respondent Comment DCC Response 

Sunny Ali 
(Highways 
England) 

While not a direct consideration of 
Highways England, the level of 
provision of electric vehicle charging 
points should be reflective of the 
aspirations to switch to electric 
vehicles and the provision in the SPD 
should be considered against this 
ambition, with a view to the length of 
the Plan period. The SPD proposes a 
requirement for Electric Vehicle 
Parking and notes the national building 
regulations consultation, and this can 
be supported. These comments are 
made with a view to the provisions of 
NPPF which identifies that an 
adequate provision is made for spaces 
for charging plug-in and other ultra-low 
emission vehicles in safe, accessible 
and convenient locations. 

Thank you for your 
comments. 

Page 191



Anonymous This would contribute to the future 
changes to the production of non-fuel 
vehicles and will enable a greater and 
earlier switch to EVs. 

Thank you for your 
comments. 

Paul Armstrong 
(Trust Pathways) 

Given the current large uptake of EV’s 
and also the bringing ealier the change 
to all EV manufacture by 2030 maybe 
this level should be increased to 20%. 

Thank you for your 
comments. The proposed 
requirement has been 
drafted with the phase out of 
petrol and diesel cars in 
mind.  
 
The requirement for passive 
EVCP provision has 
increased from 15% to 20% 
in car parks over ten spaces 
to fall into line with national 
building regulations.  
 

City of Durham 
Trust 

This does not seem an unreasonable 
level of provision to aim for, but there 
should surely be some distinction 
between locations where a car is likely 
to be parked for the whole day, such 
as an employment site, and locations 
where cars might only be parked for an 
hour. Rapid charging might be 
appropriate at supermarkets, say, 
whereas slower chargers would be fine 
at an office building. The type of 
charger has an impact on the cabling 
required. If passive provision is being 
made, the SPD should ensure that the 
correct type of cabling is laid to enable 
appropriate charger types to be 
installed. 

Thank you for your 
comments. The next draft of 
the SPD will include wording 
around the appropriate 
charging speed for carparks 
with different levels of 
turnover. 

Peter M Aitken 
OBE 

Yes. Thank you for your 
comments. 

Kelly Monahan No. Electric vehicles aren't that 
common. 

Thank you for your 
comments. The aim of the 
proposed standards is to 
enable takeup of electric 
vehicles by ensuring that the 
necessary infrastructure is 
in place. The government 
will phase out sale of new 
petrol and diesel cars and 
vans by 2030. 

Len Shield I would increase to 25% with built in 
option for more as we move into 2030 
electric vehicals 

Thank you for your 
comments. The standard 
proposed is a minimum 
basic standard, the Council 
would be supportive of 
proposals to include a 

Page 192



higher proportion of EV 
chargepoints. 

 

Table 10 

Question 10: Are the minimum parking allocations for 1-2 bed, 3 bed, 4 bed and 5 bed 
appropriate for residential development? 

Respondent Comment DCC Response 

Peter M 
Aitken OBE 

Yes. Thank you for your 
comments. 

Len Shield For 2 and 3 bed house minimum car space 
with in curtalage must be not less than 2 
spaces and preferably 3 for three bed 
houses. I have been on a great number of 
new housing estates and found that any 
less crests problems, also the use of narrow 
estate roads to slow traffic dose not work as 
cars park on narrow roads and cause 
obstructions for all road users . There must 
also be footpaths on both sides of access 
roads for pedestrians and wheelchair users. 
These paths have been omitted on estate 
road in recent years and must be 
reinterduced. 

Thank you for your 
comments. The Council has 
reviewed the parking 
requirement on residential 
developments. 
 
The Council agree that we 
need to increase the 
number of in-curtilage 
parking spaces on new 
residential dwellings. This 
will be reflected in the 
preferred options draft of the 
SPD. 
 
 

Paul 
Armstrong 
(Trust 
Pathways) 

County Durham is both rural and urban and 
standards need to take account of this. 
Those new dwellings in urban areas should 
have parking standards greatly reduced 
compared to new homes in more rural 
areas where longer distance cycling/walking 
journeys might be more difficult to 
encourage. 

Thank you for your 
comments. It would not be 
appropriate to limit parking 
only in urban areas; this was 
the approach taken by PPG 
in 2000. It was found that 
this had no impact on car 
ownership levels and 
caused amenity issues due 
to inappropriate parking. 

Philip 
Timmins 

This policy is much too rigid and gives car 
use far too much priority. The policy should 
allow for parking place free developments, 
which have been successfully built on the 
continent and which make for a much 
higher quality of life on them due to the 
absence of cars to a large extent from the 
residential area. 

Thank you for your 
comments. It would not be 
appropriate to limit parking 
at residential properties to 
encourage more sustainable 
transport. This policy 
approach was taken by the 
Council in response to 
Planning Policy Guidance 
13 (Transport) in 2000. In 
practice, it was found that 
limiting parking at residential 
properties in the County, 
had no impact on car 
ownership levels and 
caused amenity issues due 
to inappropriate parking. 

Page 193



Janet 
Hutchinson 

I am not sure a minimum standard for car-
parking should be applied. Developers 
should be looking to move away from car-
centric estates/streets, eg parking spaces 
for rent rather than automatically providing 
one, may mean higher density housing can 
be built (more efficient use of land) and 
incentiving a reduction in car ownership. 
HMOS should have higher allocations of 
cycle parking. 

Thank you for your 
comments. It would not be 
appropriate to limit parking 
to encourage more 
sustainable transport; this 
was the approach taken by 
PPG in 2000. It was found 
that this had no impact on 
car ownership levels and 
caused amenity issues due 
to inappropriate parking. 

Kelly 
Monahan 

No. A 3 bed house can easily have 2 
parents and 2 teenagers which is 4 cars. 
That's before you consider guests. I think 
you should expect a family to have at least 
4 cars. 

Thank you for your 
comments.  
 
The Council agree that we 
need to increase the 
number of in-curtilage 
parking spaces on new 
residential dwellings. This 
will be reflected in the 
preferred options draft of the 
SPD. 

City of 
Durham 
Trust 

The Trust does not agree that minimum 
residential parking standards are 
appropriate throughout the whole Durham 
County Council area. As the Trust has 
represented in the introduction, there should 
be maximum rates of residential car parking 
where a greater density of development can 
be sustained, including sites which are 
highly accessible. The minimum standards 
proposed by the Council are also not a 
good fit with what would be required to 
accommodate the levels of car ownership 
across the County. At the 2011 census 
there were 1.11 cars per household in the 
County Durham local authority area, but 
27% of households in County Durham had 
no car. The National Travel Survey shows 
that between 2011 and 2019 there has 
been no increase in the rate of car 
ownership per household in the North-East. 
Requiring all properties to be built with 
parking in-curtilage is unnecessary. These 
parking spaces will become a frozen asset if 
reductions in car usage, which are an 
imperative, are achieved. Town centre 
locations The 2019 Parking and 
Accessibility Standards listed eleven 
accessible town centres in Table 5 (p. 20) 
and disapplied the minimum parking levels 
for residential developments if a site was 
within 800m of the bus station. In fact the 
standards applied a maximum rate of 1 
parking space per dwelling in these 

Thank you for your 
comments.  
 
Using minimum standards 
for residential parking 
standards reflects 
paragraph 108, which limits 
circumstances under which 
maximum parking standards 
can be set. 
 
Providing ample parking on 
new residential estates for 
residents and visitors 
improves road safety and 
limits harm to residential 
amenity from parking on 
pavements and verges. 
 

Page 194



circumstances. The 2017 Durham City 
Neighbourhood Plan Consultation Draft25 
policy T3 encouraged reduced car parking 
provision subject to seven conditions which 
were based on the successful Oxford City 
policy. The County Council's response 
criticised the policy for being overly 
prescriptive, while indicating that the 
authority wanted to make it easier for 
developers to reduce parking provision 
within the CPZ: It over-complicates the 
issue of providing less parking in the CPZ. If 
anything, to accord with strategic direction 
of travel this policy should have the 
intention of making it easier for developers 
wanting to provide less parking in the CPZ. 
In practice, the county council will be 
seeking developments to provide no more 
than 1 space per unit in the CPZ as it 
would class the CPZ as an accessible town 
centre location.  Making it more onerous for 
developers to provide for less parking does 
not appear to be the logical approach. By 
contrast the Issues and Options document 
does not indicate that there might be a 
reduction in the minimum parking standards 
for residential properties in any 
circumstances. Para. 3.3 allows for fewer 
parking spaces at accessible destinations, 
but Section 4 on Residential Parking 
Standards does not include any equivalent 
text. The Trust would like to see the SPD 
allow for, and encourage, reduced car 
parking provision within the Durham CPZ, 
as controlled parking is the single most 
important factor in the success of limiting 
parking at origin. (The 800m radius of the 
bus station, as used in the 2019 standards, 
did not adequately reflect the geography of 
Durham city centre.) Appendix B 
demonstrates the efficacy of constraining 
residential car parking in accessible 
locations by means of a study of census 
data for part of Durham City. If the 
requirements in the Issues and Options 
document are carried unmodified into the 
SPD, there will be an adverse effect in 
Durham city on the viability of ordinary 
residential development. There would be no 
requirement for car parking within the CPZ 
for student accommodation, but nonstudent 
accommodation would be subject to the 
county-wide minimum parking standards, 
making it unviable in comparison. This 
could exacerbate the imbalance in the city's 

Page 195



residential streets and work against the 
Council's other Plan policies. Allocations 
based on number of bedrooms The Trust is 
convinced that the application of minimum 
parking standards to residential 
developments across the county will not 
make best use of land. Para. 106 of NPPF 
allows for ‘optimising the density of 
development in city and town centres and 
other locations that are well served by 
public transport’ as one of the reasons to 
justify applying maximum parking 
standards. The Council's proposed 
approach of primarily in-curtilage provision 
for residential properties is not likely to 
optimise the density of development. As 
demonstrated in Appendix B, a proportion of 
spaces will remain unused, and in 
accessible locations this will either be quite 
high, or will lead to greater car ownership. 
The requirements on how the spaces are to 
be provided should be more flexible and 
promote a variety of provision so that 
people can more easily find a house that 
suits their needs. In larger developments 
there should be a proportion of houses and 
flats with no in-curtilage car parking, but 
there also needs to be an appropriate (but 
not excessive) supply of unallocated 
parking spaces that increase the flexibility of 
the provision and help to optimise the 
density of development. The Trust is very 
supportive of the idea that non-allocated 
parking spaces should be designed into the 
layout of the overall site. It is important that 
carriageway widths are considered carefully 
to avoid people parking on pavements. 
Comparison of rates applied in other cities 
Both Cambridge and Nottingham continue 
to apply maximum rates of provision to 
residential properties throughout their urban 
areas, not just in the city centre or within a 
CPZ. Their policies were put in place after 
the 2018 revision of NPPF and therefore 
include justification of the need to apply 
maxima. Nottingham applies a maximum of 
1 parking space per dwelling in the city 
centre and 1.5 spaces per dwelling 
elsewhere.26 Cambridge applies a 
maximum of 1 parking space per dwelling 
within the CPZ, and a maximum of between 
0.5 and 2 spaces per dwelling elsewhere. 
The Cambridge approach appears to 
acknowledge the need to be flexible and 
allow for reduced provision where the 

Page 196



developer can demonstrate it is appropriate, 
as well as encouraging a variety of levels of 
provision within a development. Paragraph 
L.727 states that ‘parking should be a 
mixture, with some parking allocated (to 
specific dwellings) and some parking 
provided as unallocated - particularly visitor 
parking and any parking above one space 
per dwelling’ and refers to Manual for 
Streets for design advice. This is consistent 
with the approach advocated by the Trust 
both in the reply to this question and in the 
section on ‘Innovative layouts’ elsewhere in 
the response. 

Sunny Ali 
(Highways 
England) 

Highways England does not wish to make 
specific comment on the detail of the 
parking standards proposed for the various 
land uses. As part of planning submission 
reviews, Highways England generally 
advises that parking is a matter for the 
Local Highway Authority to satisfy itself 
with, unless it is considered that the 
intended provision could influence either (i) 
through over-provision: the attractiveness of 
making car-based trips or (ii) through under-
provision: have negative operational 
consequences through parking off-site. It is 
not clear if the identified parking 
requirement is a defined level, a minimum 
or a maximum. This may benefit from 
definition. 

Thank you for your 
comments. The standards 
on destination sites are 
intended to be applied as 
stated, not as minimum or 
maximums. This will be 
clarified within the text of the 
next draft SPD. 
 
On residential sites, they 
should be applied as 
minimums but can be 
calculated across the site.  

Anonymous Noted that PBSAs are no longer referenced 
within the Residential Parking Standards of 
the Document.  Received a separate 
response to advise that this will be 
reviewed. 

Thank you for your 
comments. The standards 
do cover PBSA. More 
wording will be added to the 
next draft of the SPD to 
cover different types of 
student accommodation. 

 

Table 11 

Question 11: Should garages be excluded from counting towards the parking requirement for 
residences? 

Respondent Comment DCC Response 

Kelly 
Monahan 

Yes. Nobody parks in their garage. It's 
used as a storage space. 

Thank you for your 
comments. 

Len Shield Yes, as the houses are small and no 
stairage is provided that's there use , or 
build bigger houses. 

Thank you for your 
comments. 

Janet 
Hutchinson 

Not sure. But there should be a minimum 
size standard that developers adhere to to 
ensure an SUV and secure cycle parking 
can be fit in a new garage. Owners who 

Thank you for your 
comments. Planning 
permission is not required to 
convert garages into living 

Page 197



convert their existing garages into living 
space should HAVE to (via planning) 
provide secure storage elsewhere on the 
property (to fit a number of 
bicycles/mobility scooter etc) so as not to 
discourage subsequent property owners 
from choosing active travel modes. 

space. This is according to 
national planning legislation. 

Paul 
Armstrong 
(Trust 
Pathways) 

Yes. This change is long overdue as 
garages are used for storage or are being 
adapted for more living space which may 
become more popular given the increase in 
home working. 

Thank you for your 
comments. 

Peter M 
Aitken OBE 

No.  Garages are multi-use spaces with 
many holding bulky items rather than cars - 
eg garden equipment, children’s outdoor 
toys, bikes etc.  Also, existing garages are 
sometimes converted into living 
accommodation at a later date - which 
under these proposals would leave no 
space at all for a car. 

Comment noted. Garages 
would not be counted 
towards the parking 
requirement under the 
proposed standards. 

City of 
Durham 
Trust 

Paragraph 4.5 seems to present a circular 
argument. The first sentence says that 
garages might be too small to 
accommodate a car, and therefore should 
not be counted as parking spaces. The 
final sentence says that as garages will not 
be counted as parking spaces there is no 
need to specify a minimum size. It is fair 
enough that existing garages might be too 
small for modern cars, and therefore 
should not be counted as parking spaces 
when assessing the existing level of 
provision in a property which is being 
extended or converted, for example. But 
rather than require a householder to 
convert a front garden to an additional 
driveway to provide the required level of 
parking (in compliance with para. 4.4), the 
garage should be counted as a parking 
space if it is genuinely big enough and 
used for that purpose. If a garage has a 
motorised door that can be operated from 
the vehicle, it is much more likely to be 
used for car storage. Also if a dwelling is 
only slightly set back from the edge of the 
highway and has no driveway but 
incorporates a garage, that should also be 
counted as a parking space. This might 
occur in some infill developments. As few 
cars are kept in garages, perhaps 
developers should be encouraged not to 
provide garages, and instead use the 
space saved for well-designed cycle 
storage and additional living space. There 

Thank you for your 
comments. Requiring 
garages to be a minimum 
size would be too onerous 
as they are not counted 
towards the parking 
requirement due to being 
frequently used for other 
purposes. 
 
However, we will 
recommend that garages 
should be built to a 
minimum size.  

Page 198



has been an increased need for home-
working space during the pandemic. The 
Council should consider whether 
greenhouse gas emissions could be 
reduced more quickly if new housing 
developments facilitate home-working. 
Notwithstanding the fact that few people 
bother putting cars into garages, the Trust 
would like to see a minimum garage size 
set in the SPD so that where houses are 
built with garages, they are actually usable 
as such. The Cambridge City Council 
Cycle Parking Guide for New Residential 
Developments (p. 27-29, see reference in 
question 15 below) gives garage 
dimensions and layouts that can 
accommodate a car and suitable cycle 
storage. The minimum dimensions are 
3.3m by 6m for the car storage, with 
additional depth of 1m or additional width 
for part of the length of the garage, to 
accommodate cycles. For comparison the 
minimum garage size required in the 2019 
County Durham Parking and Accessibility 
Standards was 3m by 6m only. Requiring 
garages, where provided, to be a suitable 
size for car and cycle storage might force 
developers to consider what the point of a 
garage is, and encourage house designs 
that better suit modern storage and home-
working needs. 

 

Table 12 

Question 12: Does one well designed visitor/non-allocated space per 4 dwellings provide the 
right flexibility for visitors and households with excess vehicles? 

Respondent Comment DCC Response 

City of 
Durham 
Trust 

This level of provision seems appropriate if 
parking for residents is to be provided 
primarily through allocated spaces, but as 
stated elsewhere the Trust would like to 
see the SPD approving more innovative 
design solutions to allow developers to 
vary what proportion of the car parking is 
privately allocated, and a lower proportion 
of allocated spaces would make more 
efficient use of land as explained in the 
answer to question 10. 

Thank you for your 
comments. This is a 
recommended standard as 
the exact number of non-
allocated spaces should be 
tailored to ensure that 
quality design solutions can 
be achieved on sites.   

Len Shield No , visitors will park on or next to the 
house to be visited as this tends to be 
humon nature 

Thank you for your 
comments. 

Janet 
Hutchinson 

See rental comment at Qn 10 Thank you for your 
comments. 

Page 199



Paul 
Armstrong 
(Trust 
Pathways) 

This sounds about right. Thank you for your 
comments. 

Sunny Ali 
(Highways 
England) 

No comments submitted on this point. N/a 

Kelly 
Monahan 

No. There should be at least 1 per 
dwelling. 

Thank you for your 
comments. The level of 
provision suggested would 
be too onerous in terms of 
cost and space used. 

Peter M 
Aitken (OBE) 

No.  It is unreasonable to expect that at 
any one given time only one visitor per 4 
houses will arrive.  I would at least double 
that allocation. 

Thank you for your 
comments. The level of 
provision suggested would 
be too onerous in terms of 
cost and space used. 

 

Table 13 

Question 13: Should loose permeable materials be permitted for use as a driveway surfacing 
material? 

Respondent Comment DCC Response 

Kelly 
Monahan 

Permeable yes, loose no. Bits end up all 
over the street and weeds grow in 
between. A loose surface is impossible to 
clean. 

Thank you for your 
comments. 

Len Shield No, the surface to drives must be firm, 
tarmac or flags with run off to ground 
drainage. Paths and drives to the dwelling 
must be firm as above as this is safer and 
accessible for mobility impaired persons 

Thank you for your 
comments. 

Janet 
Hutchinson 

I agree that driveways should be 
permeable to provide soakaway but not 
loose material to provide a hazard to 
pedestrians/cyclists. Residents with non-
permeable driveways should 
retrospectively be made to provide 
soakaway areas nearby (eg strips of grass 
etc down the sides of the drive or fitted 
driveway drains flowing into soakaways in 
their garden) to prevent excess drainage 
into the public system. 

Thank you for your 
comments. 

Paul 
Armstrong 
(Trust 
Pathways) 

No. There are cost effective alternatives 
such as permeable block paving which 
would enhance urban environments whilst 
giving the same performance. 

Thank you for your 
comments. 

Peter M 
Aitken OBE 

Yes.  There are plenty of types of material 
which help reduce water run-off and 
flooding. 

Thank you for your 
comments. 

City of 
Durham 
Trust 

No, for the reasons given in the 
consultation document. 

Thank you for your 
comments. 

Page 200



 

Table 14 

Question 14: Should driveways be a minimum of 5m long and 2.7m wide, and should that 
apply to the driveway's entire length? 

Respondent Comment DCC Response 

Peter M 
Aitken OBE 

Yes. Thank you for your 
comments. 

City of 
Durham 
Trust 

The width requirement for driveways rather 
depends on how far the council wishes to 
accommodate the trend towards larger 
vehicles which is unfortunately contributing 
to increased emissions. Larger SUVs may 
be 2m wide. With such a vehicle, a 
driveway of 2.7m width would not leave 
sufficient space to be usable by anyone 
needing a wheelchair. If a house is to be 
provided with two parking spaces within the 
curtilage of the property, there should be a 
preference for these to be side by side, 
rather than one behind the other on a long 
driveway. People are more likely to take up 
on-street parking spaces if they cannot 
conveniently access their preferred car 
when setting out. The previous version of 
the standards also stipulated a minimum 
width for double driveways, and this should 
be retained to ensure provision is 
adequate. If there is a garage, then the 
driveway must be long enough to enable 
users to open the garage door and get 
bicycles out of it while there is a car parked 
in the drive. The drive also needs to be 
wide enough to facilitate this. An extra 
width requirement should be added if there 
is a vertical feature such as a wall on either 
side of the driveway, as this will limit how 
close to the edge the driver will be able to 
park, and how much width will remain for 
cycle access, wheelchairs, etc. In order to 
access driveways, dropped kerbs are 
usually provided so that cars can cross the 
pedestrian footway. Practice in Durham 
before around 1980 was to keep the 
footway level (at a consistent crossfall) and 
to provide sloping kerbs with a gradient of 
about 1:5 to allow cars to gain access. The 
change in practice can be seen on Archery 
Rise, where the first phase of development 
has such kerbs, and the second uses 
dropped kerbs with the footway sloping 
down to the carriageway. The current 
approach disadvantages people using 

Thank you for your 
comments. 

Page 201



wheelchairs and pushing buggies, and 
makes conditions worse for all pedestrians 
in snow and ice. Current Dutch practice 
prioritises the pedestrians, as can be seen 
in these two images courtesy of David 
Arditti28: [images - see attachment] The 
Trust would like to see pedestrian access 
prioritised again in Durham street design, 
and it may be appropriate to include this as 
guidance in the SPD. 

Len Shield Drives at 5m long is to short, minimum of 
6m this slows access to Â front and rear of 
vehicle with out being on access road or 
public footpath . 2.7m wide is inadequate to 
get into and get out if the car with out 
crossing on to the garden and for the 
mobility impaired that has impairment 

Thank you for your 
comments. The length of 
driveways will be amended 
to 5.5m in the next draft of 
the SPD. 

Paul 
Armstrong 
(Trust 
Pathways) 

The minimum width of a driveway should 
be 3 metres. 2.1m for the car and 0.9m for 
access which becomes more critical for 
visitors, deliveries and provides disabled 
access. AD Part M of the Building 
Regulations requires provision of suitable 
access for disabled people and this should 
requirement should be based upon this. 

Thank you for your 
comments. Cars in the UK 
are on average around 1.8m 
wide, leaving adequate 
space to the side within the 
proposed 2.7m width to 
enter and exit the vehicle. A 
requirement for a specific 
proportion of development 
to be built to Building Regs 
M4 (2) standard is set out in 
Policy 15 of the County 
Durham Plan. The next draft 
of the SPD will cross 
reference Policy 15 for 
clarity. 

 

Table 15 - Question 15: Should developers provide secure parking suitable for a cycle, 
mobility scooter or motorbikes where a property is not built with a garage? If so, are you 
happy with the proposed dimensions? 

Respondent Comment DCC Response 

Anonymous Agree.  This will encourage greater take up 
of sustainable travel. 

Thank you for your 
comments. 

Philip 
Timmins 

Yes this should be a requirement and the 
space standard should be greater and in 
proportion to the size of property 

Thank you for your 
comments. 

Peter M 
Aitken OBE 

Yes and yes. Thank you for your 
comments. 

Heather 
Evans 
(Cycling UK) 

Definitely for cycles, but users need to have 
confidence that the cycle parking really is 
secure or they won't purchase a cycle. The 
type of cycle stands provided need to be 
easily useable and cater for all types of 
cycle. 

Thank you for your 
comments. 

Janet 
Hutchinson 

I agree these should always be provided, 
and if home-owners develop a garage into 

Thank you for your 
comments. 

Page 202



living space then planning rules should 
stipulate that they must provide adequate 
secure storage place elsewhere on site. 

Kelly 
Monahan 

Yes I think that sounds fine Thank you for your 
comments. 

Paul 
Armstrong 
(Trust 
Pathways) 

Yes, secure parking suitable for these 
personal transport modes should be 
provided. The secure space should include 
electrical power suitable for charging e-bikes, 
mobility scooters and other battery-powered 
personal transport. 

Thank you for your 
comments. It would not be 
feasible to require charging 
for scooters or ebikes to be 
provided at all new 
developments. 

City of 
Durham 
Trust 

Yes, secure parking suitable for these 
personal transport modes should be 
provided. The secure space should include 
electrical power suitable for charging e-bikes, 
mobility scooters and other battery-powered 
personal transport. This requirement has 
been included in the Durham City 
Neighbourhood Plan policy T3 but it should 
be extended county-wide. Access to the 
storage should be from the front of the 
property, unless there is a good quality cycle 
route more conveniently accessed from the 
back. If the house has a driveway, it must still 
be possible to access the storage 
conveniently when there is a car parked in 
the drive. If access to the cycle storage is 
inconvenient, people may be more inclined to 
use the car for journeys that could have 
easily been cycled. It would be good to 
enhance the level of detail on design in the 
SPD, basing the requirements for cycle 
parking on the Cambridge Local Plan 2018 
appendix L which covers a number of 
important design aspects. Rather than 
attempt to provide comprehensive design 
guidance for cycle parking, the SPD could 
require that proposals have regard to the 
Cycle Parking Guide for New Residential 
Developments29 (Transport Initiatives LLP 
and Cambridge City Council, 2010) which is 
a very thorough guide containing good 
illustrations and photographs and a wide 
range of solutions to suit different contexts. 
(It does need adjustment regarding the 
dimensions of dedicated enclosures for cycle 
storage however.) The proposed dimensions 
of 2m by 2m in the Issues and Options 
document are too constrained. The 
Cambridge guide cited above shows a space 
of 2.2m by 2m as the minimum required to 
accommodate 3 cycles, but this is assuming 
that all of the cycles are ordinary ones. 
Figure 5.2 on p. 41 of Cycle Infrastructure 

Thank you for your 
comments. It would not be 
feasible to require charging 
for scooters or ebikes to be 
provided at all new 
developments. The 
proposed storage would be 
large enough to store four 
bikes, or a scooter or 
mobility aid. 

Page 203



Design (Local Transport Note 1/20, DfT, July 
2020) shows the dimensions of a number of 
types of adapted or non-standard cycle. To 
accommodate a wider variety of types of 
cycle, a space 2.7m by 2m would be 
beneficial. Householders will be able to find 
use for any space which they are not using to 
store cycles, so it will not be wasted. Larger 
adapted cycles are more costly to replace, so 
it is vital that users have secure storage 
available. It is not sufficient that developers 
provide space at only a proportion of 
properties, as disabilities can be temporary 
and it is often not feasible for people to move 
house. If houses without garages do not 
have adequate space to store larger adapted 
cycles, then the council's policy will have an 
impact on people with reduced mobility and 
other minority groups, and this will need to 
be stated in the Equality Impact Assessment 
of the policy. Disabled people should not be 
discouraged from taking up healthy and 
environmentally-friendly active travel options 
by poor design of dwellings. Just as para. 4.4 
of the Issues and Options document is 
concerned with maintaining an appropriate 
car parking provision as houses are adapted 
or extended, there too should be safeguards 
to ensure that the secure parking area 
provided for cycles and mobility scooters 
remains usable for that purpose by future 
occupiers, and is not converted into other 
accommodation in a way which would make 
it unsuitable for use as storage without 
further building work. If a garage or other 
storage space is converted into a living 
space or bedroom, then the applicant should 
be required to construct a suitable secure 
store in compliance with the SPD. The Trust 
objects to the fact that cycle parking at 
student accommodation seems to have been 
omitted from the Issues and Options 
document. The 2019 standards required a 
minimum of 2 long stay cycle parking spaces 
per 5 bedrooms and 1 visitor space per 10 
bedrooms at residential blocks of flats or 
student accommodation, and the same rate 
of long-stay cycle parking at HMOs without 
garages. This level of provision is in line with 
the rates of cycle ownership nationally and 
accords with BREEAM standards, and the 
Trust asks that this requirement be retained. 
The Durham City Neighbourhood Plan policy 
T3 (b) deals with the ongoing management 
of communal storage facilities, and a similar 

Page 204



wording could be incorporated into the SPD: 
Where there is communal storage provision 
for a number of dwellings and a travel plan is 
required then this should consider ongoing 
active management of communal storage 
spaces, including timely removal of 
abandoned equipment, and provision of 
additional capacity when needed. The Trust 
would like to see a policy on the use of 
double-deck and hanging storage spaces, 
which can be harder or impossible to use for 
people with insufficient upper body strength. 
Where such spaces are used to increase the 
density of storage, for example in larger 
accommodation blocks, there should always 
be a certain amount of ground-level storage 
in the form of ordinary stands to allow for 
storage of non-standard cycles and for use 
by people who cannot manage to lift 
their cycles into off-ground storage. The 
Guide to Inclusive Cycling30 (Wheels for 
Wellbeing, 4th ed., 2020) p. 54-61 covers the 
needs of cycle parking for disabled people. 

Len Shield Yes but the house should be designed to a 
higher disability standard  Yes for bikes to 
the house that is not fir the mobility impaired 

Thank you for your 
comments. The 
requirement for housing to 
be accessible to people 
with disabilities or mobility 
impairments is covered 
under Policy 15 of the 
County Durham Plan, 
which requires a proportion 
of new housing to be built 
to building regulations M4 
(2) standard. 

 

Table 16 - Question 16: Should the appropriate enabling electrical cabling for a double-
socket EV chargepoint be provided on all new residential properties? 

Respond
ent 

Comment DCC Response 

Len Shield Yes, a house may have a life span of 150 years and in 
10 years only electric car to be sold no petrol or oil cars 
,so it covers fir the future 

Thank you for 
your comments. 

Sunny Ali 
(Highways 
England) 

While not a direct consideration of Highways England, 
the level of provision of electric vehicle charging points 
should be reflective of the aspirations to switch to electric 
vehicles and the provision in the SPD should be 
considered against this ambition, with a view to the 
length of the Plan period. The SPD proposes a 
requirement for Electric Vehicle Parking and notes the 
national building regulations consultation, and this can be 
supported. These comments are made with a view to the 
provisions of NPPF which identifies that an adequate 

Thank you for 
your comments. 

Page 205



provision is made for spaces for charging plug-in and 
other ultra-low emission vehicles in safe, accessible and 
convenient locations. 

Anonymou
s 

Yes where possible to allow for the charging of either an 
EV, motor scooter or e-bike. 

Thank you for 
your comments. 

Paul 
Armstrong 
(Trust 
Pathways) 

Yes. Many companies are now offering the appropriate 
infrastructure to allow for faster charging at peoples 
homes and maybe developers should be encouraged to 
offer these in addition to the cabling. 

Thank you for 
your comments. 

Peter M 
Aitken 
OBE 

Yes, otherwise Government intentions for universal EV 
use in the next 1/2 century will not be met. 

Thank you for 
your comments. 

Kelly 
Monahan 

Yes. But one cable is insufficient. There could be 2-4 
cars per house. People won't dig up their drives to retrofit 
cables. 

One active EV 
chargepoint 
should therefore 
be provided for 
every new 
dwelling. The 
document 
recommends that 
a socket with 2 
plugs be fitted 
where one is 
provided to allow 
charging of two 
vehicles at once.  

City of 
Durham 
Trust 

Yes, absolutely. The Trust would like to see further 
critera relating to the design of chargepoints, because 
infill development may require different solutions. The 
Durham City Neighbourhood Plan policy T2 says that 
electric vehicle charging facilities should not hinder the 
movement of pedestrians or disabled people, and should 
respect the character of the area. Similar wording in the 
SPD would extend this consideration to the whole 
county. While this is not directly relevant to the question, 
the Council should also consider if policies on EV 
charging on the highway need to be developed further. 
The Trust considers that in general chargepoints should 
not take space away from pedestrian footways. Before 
any chargepoints are installed on a street, there must be 
an assessment of the existing and potential cycle 
network requirements in the area. Passive cabling or 
chargepoints should not be installed in any part of the 
carriageway which may be required in the future for 
protected cycle tracks or for footway widening. It is 
unlikely that it would be appropriate to install permanent 
public chargepoints on arterial routes, even where these 
currently have residential parking. The council should 
refer to any Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure 
Plan and also consult with stakeholders including local 
cycling and walking groups. 

Thank you for 
your comments.  
 
The issue of on-
street 
chargepoint 
provision is being 
dealt with 
separately by the 
Council. The 
Council are 
considering the 
use of licensing 
and appropriate 
guidance for 
those residents 
that want to 
charge on street. 

Janet 
Hutchinso
n 

Yes, new developments must be future-proof. And some 
households may have to charge a mobility aid as well as 
a vehicle. 

Thank you for 
your comments. 
The requirement 

Page 206



for parking 
suitable for 
disabled people 
to be provided is 
covered under 
Policy 15 of the 
County Durham 
Plan, which 
requires a 
proportion of new 
housing to be 
built to building 
regulations M4 
(2) standard. 
This will be 
cross-referenced 
in the next draft 
of the SPD for 
clarity. 

Homes 
England 

I would firstly like to thank you for the opportunity to 
comment on the aforementioned document, which has 
been published for comments until 26th February 2020. 
Homes England has extensive land interests across 
Durham County in the following locations:  Merrington 
Lane;  Seaham Colliery; and Peterlee NEIE Homes 
England wishes to thank the Council for the opportunity 
to comment on this draft document, which is intended to 
give further guidance and be used by developers and 
officers on matters relating to parking and accessibility 
requirements. Homes England is the government’s 
housing accelerator. We have the appetite, influence, 
expertise and resources to drive positive market change. 
By releasing more land to developers who want to make 
a difference, we’re making possible the new homes 
England needs, helping to improve neighbourhoods and 
grow communities. Our ambition is to create new 
neighbourhoods and healthy residential environments 
that are well planned, respond to the context of their 
surroundings, complementing the local character or 
forming a distinctive character of their own and, most 
crucially, serve the practical needs of their communities. 
We are committed to working with housebuilders, local 
planning authorities, developers, landowners, MHCLG 
and the wider housing industry to promote better 
designed and higher quality homes, challenge orthodoxy 
and build better homes, faster. This includes working 
collaboratively to make sure that the delivery of transport 
and other infrastructure is aligned with delivery of 
housing. Homes England recognises that it is important 
to identify and provide new housing on sites that are 
close to high quality and sustainable transport 
environments, in order to allow people to live and move 
around places safely, with ease and with transport 
choices. It is understood that a key part of doing this is to 
provide appropriate levels car parking and inclusive 

Thank you for 
your comments. 
One active EV 
chargepoint 
should therefore 
be provided for 
every new 
dwelling. This is 
now being 
mandated by the 
government 
following a 
consultation 
response which 
was released in 
November 2021. 
The consultation 
response is 
available here. 
The consultation 
response 
outlined that 77% 
of all 
respondents to a 
2019 
consultation 
agreed that all 
new residential 
dwellings should 
include the 
provision of an 
‘active’ 
chargepoint 

Page 207



environments, as part of projects, to address the modern 
car ownership demands of new residents and all users, 
as well as encourage sustainable travel options, as and 
where appropriate to do so. Thus, helping to respond to 
the long-term challenges facing the country. OFFICIAL 
Residential Parking Standards - Electric Vehicle 
Charging Points Section 4. of the SPD sets out the 
Council’s proposals in relation to ‘Residential Parking 
Standards’ and car parking ratios that will be applied to 
new dwellings (Table 5: Residential Parking Standards). 
Homes England does not intend to comment on the 
proposed car parking ratios and requirements in 
extensive detail, however, we would like to take this 
opportunity to highlight a number of items in relation to 
expected provision of electric vehicle (EV) chargepoints 
in new residential developments. As proposed, a ratio of 
at least 1 EV chargepoint per new dwelling will be 
applied and, as a minimum, they will be expected to be 
provided as passive chargepoints (i.e. suitable cabling 
which will allow a chargepoint to be installed at a future 
time) in recognition of the costs of providing such 
equipment. Where an active chargepoint is proposed, it 
is expected that two sockets be included to allow 
provision for households with multiple vehicles/or visitors. 
The SPD highlights that the cost of installing one passive 
chargepoint will be an estimated £453 per dwelling and 
that an active charge will cost £976, which is consistent 
with the Department for Transport’s 2019 advice.1 Firstly, 
it is confirmed that Homes England supports the 
provision of EV charging points in new homes wherever it 
is appropriate to do so. It is necessary to help future 
proof homes for the transition to electric vehicles to help 
ensure we make the shift to net zero greenhouse gas 
emissions and support the government’s strategies that 
seek to achieve this. As drafted, however, we consider 
that the current requirement may prove too rigid because 
the proposals do not currently appear to take into 
account situations where the provision of EV charging 
points may not be technologically feasible due to other 
prohibitive issues, such as development viability or site 
layout constraints / circumstances. Indeed, it is 
necessary to ensure that the introduction of this 
requirement does not add such a burden on developers 
that certain developments become unviable. Presently, 
the provision of EV charging points is a significant 
additional cost for a development. Whilst the benefits of 
supporting a transition to low carbon transport is 
undisputed, it is considered that the proposals should be 
amended to allow for flexibility at sites where overall 
development viability is marginal. For example, on a site 
of 200 units, such provision would amount to an 
additional cost of between almost £100,000 - £200,000 
depending upon the equipment proposed. Furthermore, it 
is also often necessary to upgrade the infrastructure at a 
site (e.g. cabling) to allow it to cope with the additional 

Page 208



demand on the electricity supply and ensure that there is 
not an overload for a new development and, potentially, 
the surrounding local area. In addition to cost constraints, 
there can also be physical factors associated with a site 
layout that can sometimes prevent the delivery of EV 
chargepoints. Private services should not cross a public 
footpath or land in other ownership, and so this can 
prevent the provision of charging points where parking 
spaces are located away from the dwelling. For example, 
where parking is proposed to the rear of corner plots no 
electricity is available as it is detached from the unit itself 
or where parking is located at the end of a turning head 
and would require cables to cross the footpath to provide 
a charging point. In light of the above, Homes England 
requests that consideration be given to a more flexible 
approach to the EV charging requirements. As such, it is 
recommended that the SPD includes an exemption for 
buildings / developments where it is proven not to 
technologically feasible or viable to include an EV 
chargepoint. Such exemption should be supported by a 
technical feasibility criteria (in line with recommendations 
of The Department for Transport’s draft proposals1) 
which sets an appropriate threshold trigger for the 
exemption to ensure that developments only be exempt 
where it can be demonstrated that it is either not 
practically feasible or that the installation of chargepoints 
would result in developments not being taken forward as 
a result of this cost. By introducing this exemption 
criteria, it is hoped that an appropriate balance be 
achieved that ensures that the expectations are mindful 
of the government’s net zero emission commitments, as 
well as the housing supply commitments. 1 DFT (July 
2019). Electric Vehicle Charging in Residential and Non-
Residential Buildings. Source: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uplo
ads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/818810/electric
-vehiclecharging-in-residential-and-non-residential-
buildings.pdf OFFICIAL Summary Homes England 
supports the provision of EV charging points in new 
homes and does not dispute the need to transition to a 
low-carbon future, however it is recommended that due 
consideration needs to be given to situations where it 
may not be possible to provide a charging point for every 
property due to site constraints or development viability. 
Thus, achieving balance between net zero emission and 
housing supply commitments. As such, it is considered 
essential that the content of the SPD be amended as 
suggested in this representation to allow more flexibility 
to respond to such circumstances. We trust that these 
comments on the ‘Parking and Accessibility SPD: Issues 
and Options Consultation 2020’ will be taken into account 
and used to assist with the progression of the document. 
We look forward to continuing to engage with you and 
consider any further consultation requests, as 
appropriate. 

Page 209



 

Table 17 - Miscellaneous comments 

Responde
nt 

Comment DCC Response 

Stewart 
Patience 
(Anglian 
Water) 

The following comments are submitted on behalf of 
Anglian Water (who own Hartlepool Water). 
 
Durham County is located outside of Hartlepool 
Water's area of responsibility. We serve 
neighbouring Hartlepool but not Durham County. As 
such we have no comments to make relating to the 
current consultations 

Thank you for your 
comments. 
 

 

Jacqui Salt 
(Natural 
England) 

Thank you for your consultation on the above dated 
15 January 2021, which was received by Natural 
England on 15 January 2021. Natural England is a 
non-departmental public body. Our statutory purpose 
is to ensure that the natural environment is 
conserved, enhanced, and managed for the benefit 
of present and future generations, thereby 
contributing to sustainable development. Our remit 
includes protected sites and landscapes, 
biodiversity, geodiversity, soils, protected species, 
landscape character, green infrastructure and 
access to and enjoyment of nature. Whilst we 
welcome this opportunity to give our views, the topic 
of the Supplementary Planning Document does not 
appear to relate to our interests to any significant 
extent. We therefore do not wish to comment. 
Should the plan be amended in a way which 
significantly affects its impact on the natural 
environment, then, please consult Natural England 
again. Strategic Environmental Assessment/Habitats 
Regulations Assessment A SPD requires a Strategic 
Environmental Assessment only in exceptional 
circumstances as set out in the Planning Practice 
Guidance here. While SPDs are unlikely to give rise 
to likely significant effects on European Sites, they 
should be considered as a plan under the Habitats 
Regulations in the same way as any other plan or 
project. If your SPD requires a Strategic 
Environmental Assessment or Habitats Regulation 
Assessment, you are required to consult us at 
certain stages as set out in the Planning Practice 
Guidance. Please send all planning consultations 
electronically to the consultation hub at 
consultations@naturalengland.org.uk. 

Thank you for your 
comments. 

Jim Welch Disabled Parking The problem you have when 
someone parks on the pavement is the overhang of 
the vehicle can cause an obstruction and people can 
walk into them. Clear Signage for disabled parking is 
very important.   Bus stops There is a navigational 
apps that can tell you where the next bus stop is and 
how far it is away.  It also tells you of the relevant 

Thank you for your 
comments. 

Page 210



shops and businesses nearby. Â  I agree with the 
Destination for Parking spaces and retail spaces.  If 
people who are capable of using navigational 
applications on smart devices, they could view the 
parking situation and other relative information 
before starting out on the journey.  They may also be 
able to find out alternative parking as well. 
Employment Parking Standards It is not easy to read 
and understand, especially in the dimensions of 
parking spaces. Leisure Parking Standards The 
considerations of employees should come first and 
more consideration for cycle parking and security. 
Other desination parking standards It is very difficult 
to comment as I cannot visualise the sizes being 
referred to. Cycle parking I agree with the Sheffield 
stands for short term parking and should also be 
built so if need be can be easily extended. I would 
like to see more CCTV coverage over the cycle 
stands, then people would have more confidence in 
using their cycle to go to work or leisure.  Electric 
Vehicles It is a good idea, but also it must be on how 
many employees have an electric vehicle as 
otherwise you could end up with spaces not being 
used.  Residential Garages should be classed as 
parking areas. The standard size of a garage should 
be increased. The minimum allocation is not 
adequate. Certain parking areas for residents should 
be for residents only.   Non residential parking Any 
new planning applications for building plots, separate 
visitor slots should be considered.  The reason for 
this is that some disabled people who have walking 
problems cannot park their car close to their own 
home. Driveway Standards I agree that they 
shouldn’t be using any loose materials. I think that 
the driveways should be longer to avoid bigger 
cars/suv’s sticking out over the edge and onto the 
pavement. Cycle, Mobility Scooter, and Motorbike 
Storage I agree with the storage and the size of the 
space.  EV Charging Yes I agree with that. What 
consideration are given to people that live in rural 
areas using electrical vehicles. General Comments 
More awareness, publicity and information to 
motorists who park on pavements not leaving 
enough room for wheelchairs and pushchairs to get 
through. More consideration needs to be given to 
service vehicles who need to access property where 
parking on both sides of the road leaves no room for 
service vehicles to access.  

Henry 
Cumbers 
(Historic 
England) 

Thank you for consulting Historic England on the 
consultation on Issues & Options Parking Standards 
Supplementary Planning Document. 
Historic England is the Government’s statutory 
adviser on all matters relating to the historic 
environment in England. We are a non-departmental 
public body established under the National Heritage 

Thank you for your 
comments. 

Page 211



Act 1983 and sponsored by the Department for 
Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS). We champion 
and protect England’s historic places, providing 
expert advice to local planning authorities, 
developers, owners and communities to help ensure 
our historic environment is properly understood, 
enjoyed and cared for. 
Historic England has no representations to make on 
the SPD at this stage. 
If you have any queries about any of the matters 
raised or consider that a meeting would be helpful, 
please do not hesitate to contact me. 

Melanie 
Lindsley 
(The Coal 
Authority) 

we have no specific comments to make. Thank you for your 
comments. 

Bishop 
Auckland 
Cycling 
Club 

Generally, we support the proposals suggested in 
this consultation document. However, we do have 
the following comments 1) If there are fewer than 5 
employees, will there still be 1 cycle parking place? 
We represent that there should be, and the wording 
should reflect this. 2) While not parking itself, if 
standards are being applied for cycle parking in 
respect of employees, consideration needs also to 
be given to showering and changing provision for 
them. There is reference to this in the Strategic 
Cycling and Walking Delivery Plan but a reference to 
appropriate standards in a Planning Document 
would also be welcome 3) Is there any reason why 
customers are not mentioned in relation to parking 
places at pubs, restaurants or cafes? Many cafes in 
rural areas in fact are popular with cyclists. 4) Is 
there any reason why hot food takeaways should be 
exempt from providing cycle parking? 5) In relation 
to fitness clubs and places of worship, how is it 
proposed to calculate the number of visitors? As it is 
proposed to be 1 space per 5 visitors, this could be 
critical. 6) We note no provision is made for cycle 
parking for visitors to cinemas. Is there any reason 
for this? 7) 1 space per 50 students seems a low 
ratio for further educational establishments. Surely 
students are the very people to be encouraged to 
cycle? 8) The provision for primary and secondary 
schools is better at 1 per 20 pupils but surely this is 
not ambitious either. 9) With regard to paragraph 3.7 
Cycle Parking, we represent that - the difference 
between long and short stay parking should be made 
clearer (is 1 hour definitively the dividing line). - 
Some visitors are likely to stay at premises for more 
than 1 hour (eg fitness clubs). Is there to be no 
provision for such longer stays? - As far as Sheffield 
Stands are concerned, it is also necessary to 
consider their location. Stands should be placed 
where they can be easily used and not too close to 
obstructions, including walls. There are cases where 

Thank you for your 
comments. The 
Council's view is 
that there would be 
no justification to 
require businesses 
with fewer than five 
employees to 
provide cycle 
parking as it would 
be too onerous a 
requirement. 
Similarly, no cycle 
parking requirement 
has been made for 
hot food takeaways 
and cinemas as 
provision of 
individual stands for 
every business 
would lead to street 
clutter when 
assessed 
cumulatively. Whilst 
provision of 
showering and 
changing facilities in 
new development 
would be welcomed, 
it is beyond the 
scope of this SPD 
but should be 
picked up in any 
travel plan 
associated with a 
planning 
application. The 
cycle parking 
requirement has 

Page 212



a stand is placed so that it is almost impossible to 
park a bike because the stand is too close to a wall. - 
In addition, when siting Cycle Stands, consideration 
needs to be given to any problem they may cause to 
partially sighted and disabled. I have just attended 
the Webinar arranged by the Council today that 
included a section on Cycle Parking and represent 
that this be considered as part of the consultation in 
preparing this important framework to encourage 
more people to cycle. 

been amended to 
clarify that provision 
should be made for 
long and short stay 
cycle parking, 
based primarily on 
development 
floorspace rather 
than number of 
employees. This 
approach is 
consistent with LTN 
1/20. The parking 
requirement at 
further education 
establishments will 
be amended to 
match that of 
primary and 
secondary schools. 
The requirement for 
cycle parking to be 
based on visitor 
numbers will be 
reviewed before the 
next draft of the 
SPD is produced. 
The definition of a 
short stay cycle 
parking space will 
also be changed to 
one which is used 
for two hours or 
less. 

City of 
Durham 
Trust 

Context In 2019 Durham County Council declared a 
climate emergency. In that year surface transport 
was responsible for around 22% of greenhouse gas 
emissions, and emissions for transport have hardly 
fallen since the 1992 United Nation Framework 
Convention on Climate Change. The UK's Climate 
Change Committee's Sixth Carbon Budget1 
recommends a 78% reduction in UK territorial 
emissions between 1990 and 2035. Unfortunately, 
because of lack of progress over the last thirty years, 
this now equates to a 63% reduction between 2019 
and 2035. The contribution recommended for 
surface transport is effectively 5% each year over 
the next 14 years. As Tony Meehan, the Transport 
Consultancy Practice Director at Atkins writes in 
TransportXtra2, ‘Transport technology alone simply 
can’t achieve the pace of transport decarbonisation 
needed to meet the carbon budgets and align with 
the Paris Agreement objectives.’ It will not be 
sufficient to rely on a switch to electric vehicles. 
Reductions in journeys and a switch to public 

Thank you for your 
comments. The 
Council has not 
pursued maximum 
parking standards in 
this document as 
they cannot be 
justified in Durham 
per NPPF 
paragraph 106, and 
as they have been 
shown to cause 
amenity issues 
when pursued 
through national 
and local policy in 
previous years. The 
SPD instead aims to 
encourage use of 
more sustainable 
options such as 

Page 213



transport, walking and cycling are essential. The 
CCC Sixth Carbon Budget includes four steps in its 
key recommendations, and the third is ‘Reducing 
demand for carbon-intensive activities’ which 
includes in its vision ‘There are fewer car miles 
travelled and demand for flights grows more slowly’. 
The transport minister Grant Shapps recently stated 
that by 2030 the government wants half of all urban 
journeys to be by walking or cycling3, which 
reinforces the 2020 DfT report Decarbonising 
transport: setting the challenge4 in which the 
minister states (p. 3) that ‘public transport and active 
travel will be the natural first choice for our daily 
activities’. It has been calculated that to meet the 
aspirations for 2030, 1 in 3 car trips in urban areas 
would have to switch to walking or cycling, assuming 
that the target is not to be achieved by reducing 
public transport trips. 1 
https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/sixth-carbon-
budget/ 2 Travel behaviours are the key to 
engineering net zero (Tony Meehan, February 2021, 
Local Transport Today) 
https://www.transportxtra.com/publications/local-
transport-today/news/68067/travel-behaviours-are-
the-key-toengineering- net-zero 3 
https://road.cc/content/news/govt-wants-half-urban-
trips-walked-or-cycled-2030-280667 4 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/
uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/93212
2/decarboni sing-transport-setting-the-challenge.pdf  
To achieve changes of such magnitude, Durham 
County Council will need to use every tool available. 
Most interventions will take time to produce results 
and we have no time to waste. The Tyndall Centre 
for Climate Change Research at the University of 
Manchester has produced a report for each local 
authority quantifying the implications of the Paris 
Agreement. In the case of County Durham, the 
report5 calculates that County Durham's share of the 
UK's remaining carbon dioxide emissions budget is 
16.6 million tonnes (MtCO2) for the period 2020 to 
2100. At 2017 emission levels, County Durham 
would use this entire budget within 7 years from 
2020. How is Durham County Council responding to 
this situation which has now become an emergency? 
Six years ago, in 2015, work started on the 
production of the Durham City Sustainable Transport 
Delivery Plan which was formally adopted in 2019. 
No progress report has been published since the first 
in 2019, and while there has been a little progress on 
cycle infrastructure and on securing workplace travel 
plans through the planning system, the rate of 
change is insufficient to produce the carbon 
reductions needed. The production of Local Cycling 
and Walking Infrastructure Plans for the main towns 

walking, cycling, 
and public transport 
use, whilst ensuring 
that sufficient 
parking is provided. 

Page 214



is behind schedule, and the Planning Authority 
continues to approve applications which, in the 
Trust's opinion, pay insufficient regard to walking and 
cycling access, including that for the Aykley Heads 
Business Park, DM/20/01846/FPA. Transport is one 
of the top three priorities identified for action in the 
Climate Emergency Response: Action Plan 2020 to 
2022 (Durham County Council, February 2020) but 
the need to reduce car journeys is not recognised in 
the action plan. Against this backdrop Durham 
County Council has produced a Parking and 
Accessibility SPD: Issues and Options Consultation 
document which is narrow in scope and does not 
make full use of the powers available to the authority 
to promote sustainable transport in accordance with 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). 
Para. 1.5 speaks of ‘the need to strike an 
appropriate balance between ensuring an adequate 
provision and discouraging excessive car use that 
can undermine cycling, walking and public transport’, 
but there is no suggestion anywhere in the document 
that the balance needs to be changed in any 
significant way, or that the climate emergency has 
any bearing on how we devise land use policies. The 
Council's approach to the SPD The Trust takes issue 
with the Council's statements in paragraph 1.6 on 
the ineffectiveness of using car parking restraint in 
residential areas, and on the national policy context 
that led to the Council abandoning maximum parking 
standards for residential development. It is true that 
there were issues with the blanket maximum parking 
rate of 1.5 spaces per dwelling which was imposed 
by national government. This mandate was 
withdrawn in 2006, but councils were still free to 
impose such a limit. With the change of government 
in 2010, the transport minister of the day, Philip 
Hammond, declared ‘an end to Labour's war on the 
motorist’. The withdrawal of PPG13 in 2011 was a 
highly politicised and largely unevidenced change in 
national policy. Academic research has come to 
different conclusions. Steve Melia, a transport 
lecturer at University of the West of England, Bristol, 
discusses residential car parking in Urban transport 
without the hot air (UIT, 2015, p. 55-59) and 
concludes that contrary to the steer from central 
government, limits on 5 Setting Climate 
Committments for County Durham: Quantifying the 
implications of the United Nations Paris Agreement 
for County Durham (Tyndall Centre for Climate 
Change Resrarch, February 2021) 
https://carbonbudget.manchester.ac.uk/reports/E060
00047/  
availability of residential car parking do have an 
impact on car ownership and car use, and that this 
can be achieved without detrimental social issues 

Page 215



providing on-street parking controls are in place. A 
recent academic paper6 has demonstrated a strong 
causal link: provision (or lack) of car parking at a 
property affects people's decisions on car ownership 
and car use, confirming Steve Melia's conclusions. 
The availability of public transport was found to be a 
weaker determinant in car ownership levels than the 
availability of parking. Parking availability had no 
impact on employment or job mobility. An important 
factor as to whether maximum parking standards 
would be effective is whether the development is 
within a Controlled Parking Zone or there is control 
of on-street parking through restrictions such as 
double-yellow lines, coupled with adequate 
enforcement. It is worth noting that NPPF makes no 
distinction between maximum parking standards for 
residential or non-residential developments. In each 
case there must be: a clear and compelling 
justification that they are necessary for managing the 
local road network, or for optimising the density of 
development in city and town centres and other 
locations that are well served by public transport. 
The Council has not fully articulated its own 
justification for maximum parking standards in para. 
1.8, but has relied on the view of Mr William 
Fieldhouse, the Inspector of the County Plan, that 
these ‘should be implemented in accessible 
locations to encourage people to use more 
sustainable transport’. The Inspector's actual words, 
in para. 162 of his final report were: In order to be 
effective, the policy needs to set out principles that 
will be used to determine car and cycle parking and 
storage provision in order to promote sustainable 
transport. These principles should encourage and 
reflect the potential for increased cycle ownership 
and use; limit the provision of car parking at 
destinations to encourage the use of sustainable 
modes of transport having regard to accessibility by 
walking, cycling and public transport; and provide 
residential parking having regard to car ownership 
levels and the need to make efficient use of land, as 
well as avoiding on street parking that would have an 
unacceptable impact on highway safety or severe 
impact on the road network. The Inspector refers to 
‘car ownership levels’, echoing NPPF paragraph 
105(d), and ‘the need to make efficient use of land’, 
which is a reference to NPPF section 11. 
Restrictions on residential car parking provision can 
assist in achieving higher densities, and higher 
density residential development also improves the 
viability of public transport. The fact that the 
Inspector has not directed the Council to set 
maximum parking standards for residential 
developments does not rule out that approach, and 
his mention of the need to make efficient use of land 

Page 216



hints that he expected some restriction in provision. 
The Inspector was appointed to examine the County 
Durham Plan, and did not have sufficient evidence 
before him to be able to direct the council in any 
greater detail with respect to car parking standards. 
6 A. Millard-Ball, J. West, N. Rezaei & G. Desai. 
What do residential lotteries show us about 
transportation choices? Forthcoming in Urban 
Studies. Preprint at 
https://people.ucsc.edu/~jwest1/articles/MillardBall_
West_Rezaei_Desai_SFBMR_UrbanStudies.pdf  
Justifying the application of maximum parking 
standards The Trust considers that a number of 
factors particular to Durham City amount to a ‘clear 
and compelling justification’ of the need to apply 
maximum parking standards to residential as well as 
non-residential developments. These include:  

 managing the local road network to reduce 
car traffic and make room for protected space 
for sustainable modes as justified in the 
Durham City Sustainable Transport Delivery 
Plan;  

 to support the demand management 
measures listed in Policy 22 of the County 
Plan, as identified by the Inspector;  

 the need to improve air quality, particularly in 
the Air Quality Management Area;  

 the protected characteristics of the Durham 
City Conservation Area which would be 
harmed by further car-centred growth; 

 the setting of the World Heritage Site.  
The County Council has previously introduced a 
congestion charging zone and a Park and Ride 
system. There is clearly ample recognition of the 
need to manage the local road network in the city. 
Bath and North-East Somerset Council in their Car 
Parking Standards7 of December 2015 made their 
justification for imposing maximum parking 
standards in these terms (p. 1): Given the levels of 
traffic congestion and associated poor air quality 
currently present in Bath, combined with its 
designation as a World Heritage Site, B&NES 
believes that there is a clear case for imposing 
parking standards in Bath, including the new 
Enterprise Area. The use of parking standards within 
Bath is a critical demand management tool that will 
enable the local authority to manage the local road 
network. Nottingham City Council is at the forefront 
of sustainable transport in the UK, being the first 
authority to have introduced a workplace parking 
levy. In their Local Plan Part 2 (January 2020)8 
paragraph 4.183 goes further and points to the 
benefits for urban design that maximum parking 
standards can bring: More restrictive maximum 

Page 217



parking levels are considered appropriate for the City 
Centre because of its accessibility and the 
opportunities this would create in terms of urban 
design. Availability of car parking has a major 
influence on the choice of means of transport. Levels 
of parking may be more significant than levels of 
public transport provision in determining how people 
travel, even for locations very well served by public 
transport. Car parking also takes up a large amount 
of space in development and reduces densities. The 
Trust would like to see a similarly firm stance from 
the County Council in its approach to the SPD. The 
Council should also consider whether maximum 
parking standards ought to be applied to other town 
centres. 7 
https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedoc
uments/Planning-and-Building-Control/Planning- 
Policy/Evidence-
Base/Transport/car_parking_standards_december_2
015.pdf 8 Nottingham City land and planning 
policies: development plan document: local plan part 
2 (Nottingham City Council, January 2020) 
https://documents.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/download/7
574  
Non-residential development  
At the Examination in Public the Inspector queried 
whether the 2019 parking standards for 
nonresidential uses were maxima or minima, 
because the tables of rates of provision were 
ambiguous. He then indicated that maximum parking 
standards would be appropriate, as subsequently set 
down in his final report. The Trust is concerned that 
the Issues and Options document appears to be 
setting out minimum standards for non-residential 
development, as Tables 1 to 4 label the third column 
‘Parking Requirement’. Nowhere does the NPPF 
direct that planning policies should include minimum 
parking standards9. Para. 102(e) mentions parking 
as one of several transport considerations which 
should be integral to the design of schemes. Paras. 
105-6 do not mention minimum standards. On the 
level of an individual application, only clause 109 of 
NPPF could be used to compel a developer to 
provide car parking to a level beyond what is 
proposed, if the parking provision would cause ‘an 
unacceptable impact on highway safety’ or if the 
‘residual cumulative impact on the road network 
would be severe’. The Trust therefore believes that 
to be consistent with the NPPF and the Inspector's 
directions, the SPD should be reframed without 
setting minimum standards for non-residential 
development in general. It would be appropriate to 
provide some guidance, but if a developer can justify 
a reduction in car parking because of the 
accessibility of the site or other initiatives they intend 

Page 218



to take to encourage sustainable travel, that should 
be encouraged. Maximum standards should be set 
where appropriate, having regard to accessibility by 
other modes, as directed by the Inspector. Scope of 
the SPD Given that transport's contribution to 
greenhouse gas emissions, the council should be 
treating the SPD as part of a strategic response to 
the climate emergency, air quality, and the inactivity 
crisis. The current Issues and Options document 
does not appear to be satisfactorily tied in with other 
council policies and initiatives, including the Durham 
City Sustainable Transport Delivery Plan, the County 
Durham Strategic Cycling and Walking Delivery 
Plan, the Climate Emergency Response Action Plan, 
or the Air Quality Action Plan for Durham City. All 
these policies need to reinforce each other. As 
paragraph 2.3.16 of the Council's Climate 
Emergency Response Action Plan states, ‘we will 
require co-operation from all areas to achieve drastic 
decarbonisation of transport’. Although the Inspector 
gave directions in his report outlining the principles 
of what had to be included in the SPD, there is 
nothing to prevent the Council from widening the 
scope of the SPD to include other aspects of 
transport accessibility in relation to planning 
applications, some of which were covered in 
previous standards issued by the Council. 2019 
Parking and Accessibility Standards The Issues and 
Options paper contains less detail, and has a 
narrower scope, than the Council's 2019 standards. 
It is not clear whether the current paper represents 
the full scope of what is to be included in the final 
SPD or whether the council has omitted some 
material because it is considered not necessary to 
consult on it. Omissions include:  

 design principles and the user hierarchy 
(these are now outlined in the County Plan 
policies, but might reasonably be expanded 
upon in the SPD to reinforce the message). 9 
None of the three authorities studied in 
Appendix A have set minimum parking 
standards for non-residential development. 

 design aspects for car parking including 
landscaping, security, and pedestrian safety 

 more detailed cycle parking guidance 
including on different types of provision, 
spacing and surveillance;  

 motorcycle parking requirements.  
The Inspector's report said that the SPD should 
make provision for powered two-wheelers. Motorbike 
storage has been included in the section on houses 
without garages (para. 4.11) but there is no other 
mention within the document of parking for 
motorbikes. Regarding car parking design and 

Page 219



landscaping, p. 24 of the Council's Climate 
Emergency Response: Action Plan 2020 to 2022 
mentions that ‘Solar Car Ports to be installed at 
Council car parks which could be used to provide the 
electricity to charge electric vehicles, including 
buses’. Could developers be encouraged to include 
such features in new developments? Application of 
SPD to redevelopment and to larger estates Even in 
regard to car parking, the Issues and Options 
document concentrates on new developments, and 
is almost silent on how the policies would be applied 
to change of use or partial redevelopment of a site 
which includes parking, or how the parking provision 
for new development would be assessed when the 
proposal forms part of the estate of a larger 
organisation like Durham University. The single 
exception is paragraph 4.4 which applies the 
residential parking rates to extensions to dwellings. 
There is no statement as to how the requirements for 
EV charging would apply if a site with an existing car 
park was being redeveloped, or how overprovision of 
parking would be dealt with when planning 
applications arise for existing educational, 
employment, retail or leisure sites. The Trust offers 
an example of how the previous parking policy has 
proved difficult to apply when determining planning 
applications, through a series of three related 
applications. 1. In September 2017 application 
DM/17/01682/FPA was approved for the 
construction of a new Teaching and Learning Centre 
for Durham University. The application provided only 
disabled parking spaces for users, and the Transport 
Statement simply reallocated the anticipated car 
journeys to other modes in proportion, claiming that 
there would be no highway impact. This was 
unjustifiable: with on-street car parking being 
available nearby it was always possible users would 
arrive by car. Moreover, the new centre was 
expressly intended to enable a significant expansion 
of student numbers which could not be without 
highway impact. 2. In September 2018 application 
DM/18/01650/FPA was approved for the 
construction of a new building for Mathematical 
Sciences and Computer Science on upper Mountjoy. 
Again, only disabled parking spaces were included, 
and the Transport Statement claimed the 
development was car-free. This was also 
unjustifiable: it was already known via public 
consultations that the University was planning to 
build additional car parks next to the new building. 3. 
In July 2019 application DM/19/01084/FPA was 
approved, which included the 215 space car park 
immediately adjacent to the new building. The Travel 
Plan submitted in discharge of one of the conditions 
was due to expire in 2020.  

Page 220



In this series of applications Durham University's 
transport consultants employed dubious 
methodologies in relation to the transport impact of 
its proposed developments. There was insufficient 
information available to the Planning Authority 
regarding the overall car parking provision and the 
likely impact of the increased numbers of staff and 
students that were to be brought into Durham. 
Subsequently the University's new Integrated 
Sustainable Travel Plan10 for 2020-2025 has been 
published. Careful study of the plan suggests that 
the 215 space car park approved in July 2019 may 
not be required if the targets for reducing single-
occupancy car use are met. The approval of that 
application may therefore undermine the Travel 
Plan. The Durham City Sustainable Transport 
Delivery Plan (section 3.1.4) identifies as one of the 
principal challenges ‘the abundance of (often free) 
parking at major employers within the city’ and refers 
to ‘reducing the supply and increasing the price of 
car parking at appropriate employment locations’ as 
an important means to control demand for car travel. 
The Council needs to consider how to frame the 
SPD in order to ensure that clear data on car parking 
at major employers accompanies any planning 
applications. The SPD should also include the 
appropriate levers to ensure that charging for car 
parking is introduced in order to support travel plans. 
This will need to be co-ordinated with monitoring and 
review of the on-street parking around employment 
sites to ensure the commuter car parking does not 
simply spill onto to neighbouring streets. Using the 
example of the University, as well as the numbers of 
car parking spaces, it would be necessary to supply 
data on the number of staff and students and the 
projected numbers of parking spaces and users into 
the future, together with travel surveys and a Travel 
Plan with a reasonable forward timeframe. It is not 
possible to assess the impact of major institutions 
without these data. Controlled Parking Zone and 
Park and Ride With one exception, the SPD does 
not directly consider the relationship of development 
to existing controlled parking zones, despite a site's 
location within a CPZ being the key enabler of car 
parking reduction. Nor is the potential need for 
extensions to the CPZ considered as part of the 
document. The exception is in relation to student 
accommodation, where no requirement is made for 
car parking at student accommodation within the 
CPZ. Durham University policy is to provide minimal 
spaces for students even outside the CPZ. There is 
evidence that this does not always dissuade 
students from bringing cars to Durham, which then 
take spaces in nearby residential streets. The 
Durham City Neighbourhood Plan sought to cover 

Page 221



the need to extend the CPZ if further PBSAs are built 
outside the CPZ, but the Examiner considered the 
policy too onerous and much of the detail was 
therefore removed. The Council should revisit this 
topic. The roads adjoining the newly opened South 
College and John Snow College have recently had 
double yellow lines applied, but there is a risk that 
student parking will creep into the neighbouring 
residential streets outside the CPZ. The SPD is also 
silent on matters such as the Park and Ride system 
in Durham. Arguably, further car parking provision in 
the city undermines the Park and Ride, and provision 
of parking at new city centre sites should be 
commuted into support for extension to the Park and 
Ride car parks, provision of bus priority measures, 
and so on. The congestion charge is not mentioned. 
Additional car parking within the congestion charge 
zone should surely be ruled out, with an aim to 
reduce provision over time. The need to consider the 
impact of new parking provision on the AQMA 
should also be highlighted. 10 
https://www.dur.ac.uk/resources/greenspace/greentr
avel/DurhamUniversityIntegratedSustainableTravelPl
an2020_2 5_Final.pdf  
Travel plans  
Although the Council has recently started requiring 
conformance with PAS 500:2008 for workplace 
travel plans, what is lacking in Council policies is any 
statement or benchmarking of the modal shift to be 
aimed for, either at the first occupation of a 
development, or over the life of the travel plan. 
Durham University has set a good example with its 
latest travel plan which calculates car travel 
reductions in line with the UK's emissions targets, 
and a similar reduction profile would be suitable for 
other developments in accessible locations. It is not 
clear how the Council assesses the framework travel 
plans which are submitted with planning 
applications, and whether any degree of consistency 
is achieved. The SPD could suggest suitable targets, 
either in absolute terms or relative to the census 
modal share for locations in the vicinity of the 
proposed development. As an example, in 2016 
planning application DM/15/03912/OUT was 
approved, for the site known as Integra 61. The 
Travel Plan estimated that 97% of employees would 
arrive by car and proposed a reduction of 5% over 
the first three years and 1% for the rest of the Travel 
Plan period. This was accepted, but what criteria 
does the Council apply, and how will the Council 
ensure developers deliver an appropriate share of 
emissions reductions, rather than making the 
problems worse? While PAS 500:2008 provides a 
good basis, the Council should ensure that new 
travel plans include more emphasis on working from 

Page 222



home, which seems the most likely way for transport 
emissions reductions to come about. Thus surveys 
and targets for modal share which do not look at how 
often people travel, and the actual distances, are 
pretty meaningless in bringing down emissions. 
Innovative layouts The Issues and Options 
document is based on the assumption that 
residential car parking will be provided 
predominantly on driveways (see para. 4.2), and that 
visitor spaces will be provided in properly designed 
on-street bays, which can also be used by 
households owning more cars than they can 
accommodate on the drive. Para. 4.7 refers to 
Manual for Streets to justify the mode of provision for 
visitor spaces, but the Council's assumption of in-
curtilage provision seems to rule out other 
arrangements for providing car parking described in 
Manual for Streets which can be more efficient in 
accessible locations (see paragraphs 8.3.11 and 
8.3.15 in particular). The Trust suggests that the 
Council should encourage more provision to be 
outwith the curtilage, in line with Manual for Streets. 
The provision of EV charge points will need to be 
considered if it is not in-curtilage. Further justification 
for changing the balance away from in-curtilage 
provision is given in the Trust's response to question 
10. The Inspector, in para. 162 of his final report did 
refer to the need to ‘provide residential parking â€¦ 
avoiding on-street parking that would have an 
unacceptable impact on highway safety or severe 
impact on the road network’ but it is possible to 
provide such car parking in various ways which are 
compatible with highway safety, and it cannot be that 
the Inspector intended to rule out on-street parking, 
as this would not be supported by the NPPF. The 
Durham City Neighbourhood Plan policy T2(b) states 
Any on-street parking in new streets should be 
provided in designated bays, or in small groups of 
spaces separated by planting, trees, seating or other 
features, and designed to ensure the safety and 
convenience of pedestrians, cyclists and public 
transport users. Even where parking is provided in 
private spaces conveyed along with the dwelling, 
developers could be encouraged to produce 
innovative street layouts. There have been 
successful developments where houses or 
apartments are arranged in small terraces or blocks 
accessible only via paths from the access road, with 
car parking in separate car parks or courts removed 
from the housing. This can be very effective for 
smaller houses, as gardens can be safeguarded 
from the risk of being converted to car parking. The 
situation of the houses is more pleasant, and such 
layouts provide space for children to play as well as 
encouraging sustainable transport. Guidance Notes 

Page 223



for Design Codes11 (MHCLG, January 2021) shows 
a wide variety of solutions for residential and urban 
car parking on p. 13-14. The Trust would like to see 
more recognition of the benefits of atypical housing 
layouts, whereas the Issues and Options document 
ossifies car-centric development designs. Where 
there are accommodation blocks such as apartments 
in highly-accessible city-centre locations within a 
CPZ, limiting the car parking provided and 
decoupling the ownership of the apartments and the 
parking spaces can make more efficient use of land. 
The need to rent a parking space separately gives 
occupants an incentive to reduce the number of 
vehicles they use and improves the take-up of 
sustainable transport modes and car club 
membership. Efficient land use in respect of 
residential car parking was one of the principles 
articulated by the Inspector in para. 162 of his final 
report. The Trust considers that the Issues and 
Options document does not give sufficient weight to 
this principle. Provision for car clubs Section 6.5.2 of 
the Durham City Sustainable Transport Delivery Plan 
recommends that strong support for the 
development and expansion of car clubs, not only in 
the city but across the county, be reflected in parking 
policy. Policy T2 of the Durham City Neighbourhood 
Plan is also supportive of car clubs. Policy 82, 
‘Parking management’ of the Cambridge Local Plan 
201812 has useful wording on car clubs and on car-
free or car-capped development which is not 
covered either in the County Plan or in the Issues 
and Options document. The Trust would like to see 
the new SPD incorporating similar policies to 
encourage the reduction of residential car parking 
rates where car club spaces are provided. On-street 
parking and the urban environment While the Issues 
and Options document covers on-street and off-
street parking in new developments, there is a need 
for a broader strategy for the car parking in the city. 
The Car Parking Strategy13 which forms part of the 
Wiltshire Local Transport Plan 2011-2026 could 
provide a model for what to cover. Bath and North 
East Somerset Council has a comparable 
document14 which is worth studying given the 
similarities of Durham and Bath. In each case the 
policies would need to be adapted for County 
Durham. The strategy could consider the approach 
to issuing residential parking permits to discourage 
student car use, and how to ensure appropriate 
turnover of pay-anddisplay spaces to serve the local 
economy. There was some controversy regarding 
proposals in 2019 to reduce the number of parking 
spaces on Church Street, but simple measures such 
as a shorter maximum stay for non-resident users 
could avoid some of the problems that were 

Page 224



highlighted, such as the difficulty that social care 
providers have in finding a parking space. Measures 
such as ‘school streets’ should be looked at across 
the county to encourage active travel, especially to 
primary schools. 11 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/
uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/95720
7/Guidance _notes_for_Design_Codes.pdf 12 
Cambridge Local Plan 2018, p. 236. 
https://www.camridge.gov.uk/media/6890/local-plan-
2018.pdf 13 
https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/documents/s14737/ 14 
Balancing your needs: a parking strategy for Bath & 
North East Somerset  September 2017. 
https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/parking
_strategy_technical_report.pdf  but they often 
significantly underestimate the number of customers 
who arrive by other modes  while overestimating the 
footfall generated by large out-of-town car parks. 
Provision of car parking  can detract from the city 
centre environment and harm the very features 
which make the centre attractive and distinctive. 
These matters would need to be considered in a 
wider strategy. The Council needs to look at what 
message it is giving when there are promotions such 
as reduced parking charges in the approach to 
Christmas  and whether discounted bus tickets 
should also be offered to support sustainable 
options. A holistic approach would also require a 
strategy on what streets are to be used for. This 
would be relevant for planning in terms of design of 
new developments  but such a strategy should also 
aim to improve existing streets. If car parking 
provision is reduced there is scope for other 
activities  and other street features:  

 street trees and ‘parklets’  
 space for play 
 public benches  
 secure cycle parking for terraced houses 

without other storage  
 removal of parking to allow the widening of 

footways or cycle tracks  
 improving the visual amenity of the city and 

the appreciation of architecture and 
townscape 

Durham City Sustainable Transport Delivery Plan  
Finally  the Durham City Sustainable Transport 
Delivery Plan (DCSTDP)  which is only mentioned in 
the supporting text of the County Plan  not the 
policies themselves  includes a number of 
suggestions around transport accessibility and land 
use which should be considered for inclusion in the 
SPD to give them more weight in planning decisions. 
Section 2.2.9 of DCSTDP points to the reduction of 

Page 225



parking provided at major employment sites as an 
opportunity to influence peak hour travel. Section 
3.1.4 reinforces this  referring to reducing the supply 
and increasing the price of car parking at appropriate 
employment locations. The only lever that the 
council possesses to effect this change is the 
planning system  however there is nothing in the 
Issues and Options document which would secure 
gradual reductions in employer-provided parking as 
planning applications arise  nor the introduction or 
increase of charges for workplace parking. The 
Cambridge Local Plan of 2018  provides suitable 
wording relating to reducing existing overprovision of 
parking. Section 3.3 of the DCSTDP covers land use 
planning and makes various recommendations 
intended for implementation through planning 
policies. Those that are too detailed for a local plan 
should be considered for incorporation into the SPD 
to give them appropriate weight. These include: 15 
Cambridge Local Plan 2018  p. 407. 
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/media/6890/local-
plan-2018.pdf  maximum distances from 
developments to bus stops and designated cycle 
routes must be specified for new developments & 
spine roads through large developments wide 
enough for buses 'traffic light' assessment of bus 
accessibility from new developments  with those in 
the 'amber' or 'red' categories required to fund 
interventions- (this supports a points-based 
approach to accessibility assessment as suggested 
in the Trust's response to question 2) ensuring 
developer funding for buses is targeted directly at 
access to new and existing employment 
developments parking in developments should be 
kept to a minimum  especially in central areas of 
Durham City within reasonable walking and cycling 
distance of the city centre all new development 
should consider the introduction of a “car club" 

Overview 
and 
Scrutiny 

Need to consider parking provision at hospital sites 
within the County. Regular queues for visitors and 
limited parking for staff with example given as the 
parking provision at the University Hospital of North 
Durham.  
Need to consider the parking allocation at some 
retail parks for specific businesses as they seem 
very generous with an example given as large DIY 
stores.  
Need to reduce congestion at schools during the 
identified peak times, the beginning and end of the 
school day. Where parking measures operate such 
as maximum stay or various initiatives such as free 
parking, there is flexibility for them to be 
reviewed/changed to ensure turnover.  
Need to be adequate signage particularly in our town 
centres ensuring the residents and visitors can 

Thank you for your 
comments. 
Hospitals are 
typically located 
within more urban 
areas, where they 
are needed to 
support the 
population. 
However, this 
means that the 
space on any 
available site is 
likely constrained 
from the start. 
Problems with 
queueing and 

Page 226



identify where parking provision is located including 
cycle parking provision.  
Support for the proposals for safe and secure cycle 
parking particularly in our town centres and that 
cycle parking is provided at all destinations (a 
recognition of the health benefits resulting from 
cycling and its increased popularity as a result of the 
pandemic). Need to ensure that all DCC buildings 
have adequate disabled parking provision at least a 
minimum of 2 bays or 5 % of bays in car parks of 20 
spaces or more. However, DCC should aim to 
exceed these minimum requirements where 
possible.  
Need to ensure that where possible GP surgeries 
have at least the minimum disabled parking 
requirements available and where new surgeries are 
planned more than the minimum disabled parking 
requirements should feature in the design proposals. 
Suggestion made that going forward we need to 
consider how we monitor parking and accessibility 
provision in the county and that parking and 
accessibility in relation to retail should feature within 
the Town Centre Surveys. 

turnover are often 
down to the 
operation of the car 
park itself rather 
than the number of 
spaces provided. 
Furthermore, 
different hospitals 
will offer different 
services and these 
may change over 
time, so it is difficult 
to accurately predict 
how much parking 
will be required. The 
proposed standards 
have been informed 
by the Council’s 
TRICS system 
which is informed by 
existing 
developments within 
the county. The 
parking requirement 
at DIY stores is 
intended to 
accommodate 
demand at peak 
visiting times such 
as weekends and 
bank holidays. 
Management of 
school parking and 
signage is beyond 
the scope of this 
SPD. The standards 
are to be applied 
equally across the 
county. GPs are 
welcome to include 
a higher proportion 
of disabled parking 
if they think it would 
be appropriate but 
as they generally 
have constrained 
parking provision 
due to being located 
in built up areas it 
would not be 
appropriate to raise 
the minimum 
requirement over 
20%. 

Page 227



Julie Kirkley 
(Bird’s 
Taxis) 

Disabled Parking Standards 
Clear signage of where disabled spaces are & height 
of signage and colour to be able to see and identify 
when enter car parking area.   As well as area for 
standard vehicles there also should be a minimum 
about of dedicated spaces for adapted minibuses 
with longer wheelbases and width & also to take into 
account the extra length of allocated space to allow 
the safe deploy of a tail lift and also for some one in 
a wheelchair safe space to disembark to paved 
area.  Possibility of lighting of these area dusk/night 
time for safety and security & as not to waste power 
possibility of a trip switch action when vehicle pulls in 
it activates lighting when pulls out the lighting ceases 
for cost effectiveness. Also more long term and 
future an alarm sensor fitted so can be activated in 
an emergency. Soft astro turf like surfaces in case 
slips falls and could be in a total different colour to 
black to indicate dedicated parking areas and 
visibility. Clear defined walking area as not to 
obstruct into other parking areas with traffic which 
may cause an accident or incident.  
Cycle Parking  
Clear defined areas possible away from standard car 
parking area for safety obstructions or conflict from 
sides. Covered areas to protect cycles from weather 
elements & free lock in system for security and to 
encourage people to use cycles. Dedicated spaces 
for electric cycles â€“ possible individually charge 
point and space to do this. Clean areas â€“ possible 
marketing opportunity to let public know how and 
what effects on environment and health style. Area 
for adult and child cycles together to promote family 
awareness and possible eventually some reward 
system for children to encourage to do it again â€“ 
possibly link with supermarkets etc i.e. TESCO with 
the community. Effectively if going to promote 
cycling and a clean environment and move forward 
then would anticipate would need more than a five 
space lockable cycle area. Â  Electric Vehicle 
Charging Points Â  In all areas needs to be a 
dedicated disabled charging bays wider and longer 
to accommodate also again minibuses in the future 
need to be considered and all the safety aspects of 
the person safety when leaving the vehicle. 
Â  Electric Vehicle Parking Spaces Â  I feel 
stimulating 15% designed parking space form 
electric vehicles seems a little discriminating at this 
moment in time as there is still a very large % of 
other vehicle types on the road therefore there 
should be no restrictions on where any of these 
vehicles park â€“ especially when specific charging 
points are being installed to accommodate electric 
vehicles and in lots of instances easier accessible 
than petrol areas. Â  Minimum Parking Allocation for 

Thank you for your 
comments. It would 
not be feasible to 
require minibus 
parking in all car 
parks. Issues such 
as signage within 
car parks and the 
location of cycle 
parking relative to 
car parking is a 
matter for the car 
park operator. The 
Council has 
reviewed its 
methodology 
regarding parking at 
residences and 
these standards will 
be amended in the 
next draft of the 
SPD. Regarding EV 
parking, only 5% of 
bays would contain 
an active 
chargepoint with a 
socket under the 
proposed 
standards, with an 
additional 10% to be 
fitted with cabling so 
that they could be 
more easily 
converted to include 
an EV chargepoint 
in the future, once a 
greater proportion of 
vehicles on the road 
are EVs. 

Page 228



Dwellings Â  I would propose that the minimum 
driveway way parking for a four and five bedroom 
dwelling should accommodate three vehicles and 
one vehicle off street parking â€“ effectively these 
types of house would normally see a man, wife and 
probably two or three children which effectively at 
some given time would see the family having three 
to four vehicles. Â  EV Charge Points Â  Â  I would 
propose in the long term future that all Builders are 
give sufficient notice from a specific date that EV 
charge points become a standard requirement in all 
new build houses to accommodate the future and 
show that they are supporting the plan for a green 
and clean environment. 

Heather 
Evans 
(Cycling 
UK) 

General Was LTN 1/20, (published in July 2020), 
Section 11 referred to when drafting the sections that 
relate to cycle parking? If not, please can this be 
referred to as we have made several references to 
this document below. LTN 1/20 also refers to cycle 
parking for cyclists with a disability and those using 
non-standard cycles.  
Electric car vehicle charging is mentioned under 3.5, 
3.8 and 4.12. Should E-bike charging also be 
mentioned? We don't know how practical this is 
(cables may need to be carried) and there may be 
several different methods of charging E-bikes.  
Cover photos There's a photo of a cycle locker but 
there is no reference to lockers in the document.  
Introduction 1.2. We welcome the Planning 
Inspectors recommendation that this document 
should be given greater status. 2.1. Parking 
Provision for Disabled Persons LTN 1/20 refers to 
disabled cyclists under 11.2.1 , 11.2.3, 11.2.6, 
11.3.2. 2.6. 5th bullet. Dropped kerbs also need to 
be fully flush (max 6mm) and these may also be 
needed to allow cyclists easy access to cycle 
parking.   
 Destination Parking Standards Table 1: Retail 
Parking Standards DIY Stores are mentioned under 
Bulky Goods. B&Q sell many goods that can be 
transported by cycle. Cyclists may also prefer to 
cycle to a store/builders merchant, purchase bulky 
goods and then arrange for these to be delivered.  
There is also no reason why a car sales room can't 
be visited by cycle. Gardens Centres often have 
cafes which are popular with cyclists, and again they 
sell small goods. The area surrounding a garden 
centre is often planted up making it difficult to find 
anything to lock a cycle to.  
Table 2: Employment Parking Standards 
Employment sites need visitor spaces unless staff 
cycle parking is suitably located and easily 
accessible to visitors. Table 3: Leisure Parking 
Standards Hotels/Motels & Guesthouses. As cycles 
are parked overnight storage needs to be 

Thank you for your 
comments. The 
Council will make 
reference to LTN 
1/20 in writing the 
next draft of the 
SPD. The cycle 
parking requirement 
in some cases has 
been based on staff 
numbers, however 
this is not intended 
to prevent visitors 
from also using this 
provision.  

Page 229



undercover, and also secure otherwise cycle 
insurance policies will be invalid. Being able to leave 
cycles in a room inside the building is always 
preferred. Caravan & camp sites. If weather is poor 
cyclists would tend to look for somewhere dry and 
secure to leave their cycle overnight, rather than just 
leaving it locked outside their tent or caravan. Other 
locations mentioned. As a cycle can be used to visit 
all of these, especially cafes, visitor cycle parking is 
needed. This is especially important where there is 
nothing suitable/convenient to secure a cycle too. 
Being able to see a cycle whilst in a cafe is also 
welcomed, especially when on tour with a laden 
cycle.  
Table 4: Other Destinations 
Hospitals/Doctors/Residential Care Homes. Is the 
short stay space per 5 consulting rooms meant for 
visitors? If not visitor cycle parking is needed unless 
staff cycle parking is easily accessible to visitors. 
Community Centres. It's not clear who this is for, 
staff or visitors, although cycle parking suitable for all 
users is needed. 3.1. Cycle Parking There is a photo 
of a shelter with Sheffield stands where the base 
plate joining the stands appears to be raised rather 
than being fully flush to the ground. Cycles don't rest 
well on raised plates. It also looks as though cycles 
can't be parked on the outer two stands due to lack 
of space. See LTN 1/20, 11.4.6, 11.4.7 and Table 
11-2 (Recommended and minimum dimensions for 
banks of Sheffield stands). LTN 1/20, Figure 11.1 
indicates the relationship between cycle parking 
duration of stay, location and ancillary facilities. 
Often visitor cycle parking is placed much further 
away from a building's entrance than car parking. 
Accessibility 2.6, 1st bullet point says that disabled 
persons bays should be the nearest bays to a 
building's main entrance. Could a similar statement 
be included with regard to the location of cycle 
parking, especially for visitors, as this would also 
cater for cyclists with a disability? Could Figure 11.1 
and Table 11-2 be included in the document? 

Maya 
Polenz 
(Durham 
Cathedral) 

Thank you for inviting our views as part of the public 
consultation. As you acknowledged during the public 
consultation event, the proposals are mainly aimed 
at new developments outside historic city centres. It 
was reassuring to hear that you are fully aware of 
the special status of the Durham World Heritage Site 
(WHS) and that you have no intention to apply the 
rules set out in the proposed document verbatim to 
the WHS area. We believe our joint desire to protect 
the WHS must be explicitly stated within the 
proposed document in order to avoid any 
misunderstanding of your intentions and any 
potential challenges to decisions made by the local 
authority ‘on merit’ and not conforming to the 

Thank you for your 
comments. The 
definition of an 
accessible location 
aims to set a 
minimum standard 
for accessibility by 
public transport 
which should be 
met for new 
development to 
offer less car 
parking provision. It 
is not intended to 

Page 230



currently set out minimum requirements. Areas of 
particular concern are: - Definition of accessible 
location. At present, parts of the WHS would fall 
outside the definition as some parts are more than 
400m away from a bus stop, and bus services are 
infrequent at times. The whole WHS should be 
explicitly stated as an accessible location. - 
Destination parking standards. Separate standards 
have been set for each destination: retail, 
employment, leisure, other destinations. Durham 
Cathedral’s Precinct serves all of these sectors but 
would not be able to accommodate these standards 
without undue impact on the historic environment. In 
the consultation event you confirmed that car free 
development would be considered within the 
Durham City Congestion Charge Zone but this isn’t 
stated in the draft proposals. State the intention to 
consider car free development within Durham City 
Centre. - Cycle parking in accessible areas. The 
steep cobbled access roads bring little joy to cyclists. 
Accommodating a very large number of cycle 
storage within the historic environment of the WHS 
would be challenging and is unlikely to be required to 
the proposed extent. - The reality of the local 
topography and historic environment should be 
taken into account when determining numbers for 
cycle storage. Locations for secure storage should 
be identified strategically (i.e. some at the foot of the 
hill?). The proposed designs for secure cycle storage 
seem inappropriate for the WHS. Designs for areas 
within WHS to be reviewed with the assistance of the 
WHS Committee. 

comment on 
accessibility within 
the development 
itself. 

Ross 
Chisholm 

I would like to suggest that pubs, guest houses and 
cafes be required to provide cycle parking facilities 
for visitors.  I am a cyclist and enjoy cycle touring 
holidays, day leisure rides and trips to specific 
venues.  Cycling to these uses should be 
encouraged in both countryside and urban locations. 

Thank you for your 
comments. The 
standards as 
drafted include 
cycle provision for 
guests at hotels and 
guest houses. 
Though the SPD 
calculates the cycle 
parking requirement 
for cafes and pubs 
based on the 
number of 
employees, the 
intention is that 
visitors will also be 
able to use these 
facilities. Additional 
wording around this 
issue will be added 
to the next draft of 
the SPD to clarify 
this point. 

Page 231



 

If you require any further information on this document, please contact the Spatial Policy 
Team: Telephone: 03000 260000 Email: Spatialpolicy@durham.gov.uk Post: ‘FREEPOST 
Spatial Policy’ (please note no further information is required) 

Page 232



Page | 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT VIABILITY, AFFORDABLE 

HOUSING AND FINANCIAL 

CONTRIBUTIONS 

  

Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 233



Page | 2 

 

 

Table of Contents 
1. Introduction ................................................................................................................................ 5 

The purpose and Scope of the SPD ................................................................................................. 5 

2. Policy Context ............................................................................................................................. 6 

National Policy ................................................................................................................................ 6 

County Durham Plan (CDP) ............................................................................................................. 6 

3. Infrastructure Requirements ..................................................................................................... 7 

Identifying Infrastructure Requirements ........................................................................................ 7 

The Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) ............................................................................................ 7 

Strategic Green Infrastructure (GI) Framework .............................................................................. 7 

Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS) ............................................................................................................ 7 

Open Space Needs Assessment (OSNA) ......................................................................................... 8 

4. Means of Securing Mitigation .................................................................................................... 9 

Conditions ....................................................................................................................................... 9 

Section 106 Agreements ................................................................................................................. 9 

Section 278 Highway Agreements ................................................................................................ 10 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) ............................................................................................ 11 

5. Spending and Monitoring ........................................................................................................ 12 

Is information on planning contributions publicly available? ....................................................... 12 

How will contributions be determined and prioritised? ............................................................... 12 

Geography of where s106 monies will be spent ........................................................................... 13 

How will the money be spent/allocated? ..................................................................................... 13 

Indexation ..................................................................................................................................... 14 

Do local authorities have to pay back unspent planning obligations? ......................................... 14 

Social Value ................................................................................................................................... 14 

6. Viability and the Assessment Process ..................................................................................... 16 

How will viability be assessed? ..................................................................................................... 16 

Review Mechanisms ..................................................................................................................... 17 

Pre-Application Discussions .......................................................................................................... 17 

Specific Developer Contribution Guidance by Type ............................................................................ 19 

7. Addressing Housing Need ........................................................................................................ 19 

National Planning Policy for Affordable Housing .......................................................................... 19 

Types of Affordable Housing ......................................................................................................... 19 

Local Needs ................................................................................................................................... 20 

Page 234



Page | 3 

 

Local Planning Policy ..................................................................................................................... 21 

Affordable Housing Requirements and Threshold ....................................................................... 21 

Location, type and tenure mix ...................................................................................................... 22 

Off-site provision/Contributions ................................................................................................... 22 

Affordable Housing Calculator ...................................................................................................... 23 

Vacant Building Credit ................................................................................................................... 28 

Older Persons Housing .................................................................................................................. 29 

Specialist Housing ......................................................................................................................... 30 

8. Green Infrastructure (including open space and sport & recreation) .................................... 31 

Open Space Needs Assessment (OSNA) ....................................................................................... 31 

Calculating the required provision ................................................................................................ 32 

Playing Pitches .............................................................................................................................. 35 

9. Education Provision .................................................................................................................. 36 

Justification ................................................................................................................................... 36 

Assessing Sufficiency of Places...................................................................................................... 36 

Pupil Yield Methodology ............................................................................................................... 36 

Cost of Additional Places ............................................................................................................... 37 

Exemptions.................................................................................................................................... 37 

Calculation Example ...................................................................................................................... 38 

Large Scale Developments ............................................................................................................ 38 

Securing the financial contribution ............................................................................................... 38 

10. Health Provision ................................................................................................................... 40 

Justification ................................................................................................................................... 40 

Health Life Expectancy .................................................................................................................. 40 

Assessing Supply and Demand ...................................................................................................... 40 

Patient Yield Methodology ........................................................................................................... 41 

Cost of Additional Provision (Physical Treatment Space) ............................................................. 41 

Calculation Example ...................................................................................................................... 41 

Exemptions.................................................................................................................................... 42 

Large Scale Developments ............................................................................................................ 42 

Securing the financial contribution ............................................................................................... 42 

11. Transport and Digital Infrastructure .................................................................................... 43 

Transport ....................................................................................................................................... 43 

Parking and Accessibility SPD ........................................................................................................ 44 

Other SPDs and County Durham Plan Policies .............................................................................. 44 

Digital Infrastructure ..................................................................................................................... 44 

Page 235



Page | 4 

 

12. Habitats Regulations Assessment ........................................................................................ 46 

Justification ................................................................................................................................... 46 

Contributions ................................................................................................................................ 47 

HRA Developer Guidance .............................................................................................................. 48 

Summary Flowchart ...................................................................................................................... 50 

Coastal Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy .................................................................................. 51 

13. Biodiversity Net Gains .......................................................................................................... 54 

Justification ................................................................................................................................... 54 

General Principles ......................................................................................................................... 55 

When the Calculations Show a Net Loss or that BNG cannot be achieved on site ...................... 56 

Outline applications ...................................................................................................................... 57 

Major Applications ........................................................................................................................ 59 

Minor Applications ........................................................................................................................ 61 

Purpose and Location of Off-Site BNG .......................................................................................... 64 

14 Conclusion and Next Steps ................................................................................................... 65 

Next Steps ..................................................................................................................................... 65 

Habitat Regulations Developer Guidance ....................................................................................... 68 

The Regulations ............................................................................................................................. 68 

Stages in the HRA Process and Participant Responsibilities ......................................................... 72 

Stage 1 Screening .......................................................................................................................... 72 

Stage 2. Appropriate Assessment ................................................................................................. 73 

Stage 3. Avoidance and Mitigation ............................................................................................... 73 

Stage 4. Absence of alternatives, IROPI and compensation ......................................................... 74 

HRA and the Development Management Process ....................................................................... 74 

Coastal Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy .................................................................................. 75 

Types of Development Included ................................................................................................... 78 

Avoidance and Mitigation Measures ............................................................................................ 81 

Implementation and Monitoring ................................................................................................ 102 

 

 

 

  

Page 236



Page | 5 

 

1. Introduction  
 

The Purpose and Scope of the SPD 

 

1.1. This Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) sets out the Council’s approach to determining 

and securing developer contributions for new development (such as housing) across the 

county. It will sit alongside the County Durham Plan (CDP)1 which was adopted on 14th October 

2020.   

 

1.2. SPDs are documents which add further details to policies contained in a Local Plan but do not 

have their formal statutory ‘Development Plan’ status. They are, however, a material 

consideration when a Local Planning Authority is determining whether to approve or refuse a 

planning application. This SPD provides detailed guidance on the application of a number of 

policies within the CDP which have implications for developer contributions and in particular 

Policy 25 (Developer Contributions) which is the policy for seeking planning contributions.  

 

1.3. This SPD is intended to provide information on how Policy 25 and other policies requiring 

affordable housing or specific infrastructure will be interpreted and applied. This will assist 

planning officers, applicants, service providers, Councillors, and members of the public 

through the planning application process, ensuring that the process is fair and transparent and 

is applied consistently.  

 

1.4. Developments that include a net increase of new housing can impact on their physical, social 

and environmental surroundings due to the increased demand for services and increased use 

of facilities as a result of the additional people. By securing obligations to provide financial 

contributions from developers, these impacts can be mitigated and, where possible, bring 

positive benefits for the local area.  

 

1.5. The SPD covers contributions towards: 

 

• Housing;  

• Green Infrastructure (including open space and sport & recreation); 

• Education (primary and secondary); 

• Health;  

• Habitats Regulations Assessment; and 

• Biodiversity Net Gains.  

 

1.6. This document will ensure clarity in regard to the type of developer contributions that will be 

sought, why they are needed, the monetary formula used to calculate the contributions and 

will include examples where possible.  

Question: Do you agree with the proposed scope and content of the SPD? 

Please give reasons for your answers. 

  

 
1 https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3266/Development-Plan-for-County-Durham  

Page 237



Page | 6 

 

2. Policy Context  

 

National Policy 

 

2.1 National planning policy is set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)2 and a 

small number of other policy documents and written ministerial statements supported by 

online practice guidance covering a series of themes (NPPG)3. It also exists in the provisions of 

relevant legislation. Local Plans are prepared to be consistent with national policy, and this is 

the case with the County Durham Plan (CDP).  

 

2.2 Planning law and national policy recognises that it is reasonable to expect that developers 

should contribute towards the costs of services, infrastructure or resources that would not 

have been necessary but for their development.  

County Durham Plan (CDP) 

 

2.3 The CDP was submitted for examination in June 2019 and this took place between October 

2019 and February 2020. The Inspector published his final report on the local plan examination 

in September 2020, concluding that the CDP was sound subject to Main Modifications being 

made to the Plan prior to adoption. The CDP was formally adopted in October 2020 and will 

help to meet development needs and will provide a planning framework for determining 

planning applications up to 2035.  

 

2.4 New development as set out and supported by the CDP can place a strain on existing 

infrastructure, but also has the potential to provide or help provide new infrastructure or 

improve existing infrastructure and services. 

 

2.5 Where appropriate (i.e. where it is necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 

terms, including by mitigating impacts), the CDP policies state that developers will be required 

to provide the necessary infrastructure or make financial contributions towards its provision 

through Section 106 agreements. 

 

2.6 The CDP sets out that planning contributions will be sought where development creates a 

requirement for additional or improved services and infrastructure and/or to address the off-

site impact of development so as to satisfy other policy requirements. 

 

2.7 Infrastructure can be provided directly by developers or by way of financial contributions to 

be used by other bodies to pay for or contribute towards the cost of new or improved 

infrastructure. 

  

 
2 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2  
3 https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance  

Page 238



Page | 7 

 

3. Infrastructure Requirements 
 

Identifying Infrastructure Requirements 

 

3.1. The known infrastructure requirements to support the specific allocations in the CDP are 

identified both within the individual site allocation policies (H4 and H5) and in other policies 

which set out specific provision standards which planning applications must have regard to. 

Revised infrastructure requirements may result as the detail of schemes is developed over 

time.  

 

3.2. For windfall developments that are supported by the CDP (Policy 6 – Development on 

Unallocated Sites), infrastructure requirements and any associated contributions required will 

need to be assessed as schemes are drawn up on a site-by-site basis.  

 

3.3. There are a number of strategies and studies that identify and inform infrastructure 

requirements and standards in relation to planning contributions. The key documents are 

outlined below.  

The Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) 

 

3.4. An IDP was prepared to support the CDP. The IDP reviews and evaluates the social, 

environmental and economic infrastructure that will be required to support the development 

and growth set out in the CDP. The IDP is a ‘living document’ which will be updated 

periodically. The most recent version was published in June 20194.  

Strategic Green Infrastructure (GI) Framework 

 

3.5. The Strategic GI Framework5 maximise opportunities to improve both strategic GI and more 

local GI whenever change is being considered, and this ranges from individual development 

proposals and open space improvements to landscape scale environmental projects and flood 

alleviation schemes. The Strategic GI Framework sets the context to secure funding to deliver 

improvements to strategic GI and individual GI projects. 

Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS) 

 

3.6. The PPS6 has been developed in accordance with Sport England’s approved methodology and 

analyses the current level of pitch provision and identifies the demand for pitches in County 

Durham. The key objectives of the strategy are to protect the existing supply of sports facilities 

where it is needed for meeting current and future needs; to enhance outdoor sports facilities 

through improving quality and management of sites; and to provide new outdoor sports 

facilities where there is current or future demand. The PPS has developed a priority list of 

deliverable projects which will help to meet current deficiencies, provide for future demands 

 
4 http://durhamcc-consult.limehouse.co.uk/file/5448181  
5 https://durhamcounty.maps.arcgis.com/apps/MapSeries/index.html?appid=ae716b02c54a46b0a0113448721caa64  
6 https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s146784/Appendix%202%20-%20Playing%20Pitch%20Strategy.pdf 

 

Page 239



Page | 8 

 

and inform wider infrastructure planning work. The PPS will assist with efficient management 

and maintenance of playing pitch provision in line with budgetary constraints. 

 

Open Space Needs Assessment (OSNA) 

 

3.7. The OSNA7 provide a robust assessment of needs and deficiencies of open space in order to 

establish local provision standards and create an up to date evidence base which can be used 

to inform decision making on planning applications. The OSNA comprises of a main report and 

nine area profiles which provide further analysis at a localised level.  

 
7 http://durhamcc-consult.limehouse.co.uk/file/5423371  

Page 240



Page | 9 

 

4. Means of Securing Mitigation 

Conditions 

 

4.1. Planning conditions are the most commonly used and simplest mechanism for securing the 

provision of on-site infrastructure e.g. roads, sewers, play areas; and ensuring a site is well-

designed and appropriate for its intended use.  

 

4.2. The long-term maintenance of on-site infrastructure is usually secured through adoption 

agreements between the developer and a suitable organisation; for example roads and street 

lighting with the highway authority (DCC); sewers with the utility provider; communal areas 

and open spaces with a residents’ management company or with Durham County Council. 

 

4.3. Section 70(1)(a) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 enables the local planning 

authority in granting planning permission to impose “such conditions as they think fit”. 

Paragraph 54 of the NPPF states “Local planning authorities should consider whether 

otherwise unacceptable development could be made acceptable through the use of 

conditions”.  

 

4.4. The NPPF states at paragraph 55 that planning conditions should only be imposed where they 

are ‘necessary, relevant to planning and to the development to be permitted, enforceable, 

precise and reasonable in all other aspects’.  

 

4.5. Conditions requiring works on land that is not controlled by the applicant, or that requires the 

consent or authorisation of another person or body, will normally fail the tests of 

reasonableness and enforceability, unless the land or specified action in question is within the 

control of a local authority and there is clear evidence that it is enforceable within the time-

limit imposed by the permission.  

 

Section 106 Agreements 

 

4.6. S106 Agreements are made under the provisions of Section 106 (S106) of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 19908. The NPPF and the NPPG set out national planning policy and 

guidance and define planning obligations as being “A legal agreement entered into under 

section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to mitigate the impacts of a 

development proposal.”  

 

4.7. S106 Agreements can require a developer to provide affordable housing or other specific 

item(s) of infrastructure or on or off-site e.g. a new school or road improvement. Section 106 

Agreements are signed before the grant of planning permission and are legally binding.  

 

 

 
8 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (legislation.gov.uk) 

Page 241



Page | 10 

 

4.8. Planning obligations can only be sought where they are necessary to make a development 

acceptable in planning terms. A local planning authority must ensure that the obligation meets 

the relevant tests for planning obligations (para 56 of the NPPF), i.e. they are:  

 

 necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;  

 directly related to the development; and  

 fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.  

 

4.9. Planning obligations may only constitute a reason for granting planning permission if they 

meet the above tests9. 

 

4.10. The NPPG states that policy for seeking planning obligations should be grounded in an 

understanding of development viability through the plan making process. CDP Policy 25 

relates to infrastructure and planning contributions. Viability evidence10 underpinned the 

production of the CDP and this should be use this as a starting point when determining 

viability.  

 

4.11. Applicants do not have to agree to a proposed planning obligation however, this is likely to 

lead to a refusal of planning permission as an adverse impact of a development would not be 

mitigated.  

 

4.12. The Act provides that a planning obligation may:  

 

• be unconditional or subject to conditions;  

• impose any restriction or requirement for an indefinite or specified period; and  

• provide for payments of money to be made, either of a specific amount or by reference 

to a formula, and require periodical payments to be paid indefinitely or for a specified 

period.  

 

4.13. Legal agreements and the obligations contained therein run with the land in the same way 

that a planning permission does. This means that, once the permission is implemented, they 

are enforceable against the developer who originally entered into the agreement and any 

subsequent person acquiring an interest in that land. These legal agreements must be 

registered as a land charge and will form part of the planning register, available for public 

inspection. Where a planning permission expires, the planning obligation can be removed.  

 

Section 278 Highway Agreements 

 

4.14. Durham County Council as the local highway authority may, if it is satisfied it will be of benefit 

to the public, enter into a legal agreement with a developer under Section 278 of the Highways 

Act 198011 where a development requires works to be carried out on or to the highway.  

 
9 These tests are set out as statutory tests in the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (reg 122(2)) and as policy 

tests in the National Planning Policy Framework, paragraph 57.   
10 Local Plan Viability: http://durhamcc-consult.limehouse.co.uk/file/4957357  

Addendum to the Local Plan Viability Assessment:  http://durhamcc-consult.limehouse.co.uk/file/5423403 

Site Allocations Viability Appraisals Report: http://durhamcc-consult.limehouse.co.uk/file/5244938 

Issues and Options Viability Assessment in County Durham: http://durhamcc-consult.limehouse.co.uk/file/5429366  
11 Highways Act 1980 (legislation.gov.uk) 

Page 242



Page | 11 

 

 

4.15. This agreement can be either for the Council to carry out the works at the developer's 

expense, or allow the developer to provide the works directly, subject to an approval and 

inspection process. A condition would be attached to the planning permission requiring the 

works to be agreed and carried out.  

 

4.16. These agreements are prepared separately from any Section 106 Agreement. Works 

associated with any planning permission are not permitted within the limits of the publicly 

maintained highway until the agreement is completed and the bond (if applicable) is secured. 

Highways England has similar powers in relation to the Strategic Road Network.  

 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

 

4.17. The CIL Regulations came into force on the 6th April 2010 and is a planning charge used by 

local authorities to deliver infrastructure. Durham County Council has chosen not to 

implement CIL, and so will rely on developer contributions from the mechanism identified 

above to enhance or create suitable infrastructure as needed for new developments.  

 

  

Page 243



Page | 12 

 

5. Spending and Monitoring 
 

Is information on planning contributions publicly available? 

 

5.1. Regulations introduced in September 201912 require information on developer contributions 

received and spent by the County Council to be published through an annual ‘infrastructure 

funding statement’, which is available to view at: 

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/8284/View-our-planning-policies. 

 

5.2. Local planning authorities are also required to keep a copy of any planning obligation together 

with details of any modification or discharge of the planning obligation and make these 

publicly available on their planning register13. Copies of Section 106 Agreements are made 

available on the Council’s website14.  

 

How will contributions be determined and prioritised? 

 

5.3. All contributions required by or to achieve compliance with local or national policies will be 

assessed during the consideration of the application. There may be instances where due to 

viability considerations, all contributions sought cannot be afforded if the otherwise plan-

compliant development is to go ahead. For certain matters, the adopted Plan specifically 

allows flexibility in its requirements to recognise viability challenges on a site by site basis. In 

such cases, contributions may be prioritised and/or waived. The waiving of certain 

contributions on viability grounds would not necessarily be considered to make the 

development unacceptable in planning terms, but there would also be instances where it 

would do so. For example, where contributions are considered entirely necessary to make the 

scheme acceptable in planning terms such that its absence would be wholly unsatisfactory, 

and the applicants is unwilling to agree to these, viability will not be relevant and an 

application will be refused. In these cases, such infrastructure is described as necessary and 

critical.  

  

 
12 The Community Infrastructure Levy (Amendment) (England)(No2) Regulations 2019   
13 Making an application - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 
14 https://publicaccess.durham.gov.uk/online-applications/search.do?action=simple&searchType=Application  

Page 244



Page | 13 

 

Geography of where s106 monies will be spent 

 

5.4. The below table sets out where s106 monies will be spent in relation to the different types 

of infrastructure or affordable housing it has been secured against. 

 

Table 1 

Purpose of s106 Where the s106 monies will be spent 

Open space / GI / sport / 

recreation 

Electoral Division – monies will be 

allocated to the Electoral Division where 

the application site is located, or a specific 

priority projects/site(s) identified within 

the PPS or OSNA 

Affordable Housing 

 

County wide in line with the County 

Durham Strategic Housing Market 

Assessment (SHMA) which defines County 

Durham as one housing market area 

Education Relevant school age group (primary / 

secondary) and school placement planning 

area 

Health 

 

Identified surgery / health centre 

Ecology / Heritage Coast 

 

As considered appropriate to the 

particular application 

 

Transport and Digital 

Infrastructure 

As considered appropriate to the 

particular application 

Bespoke Matters As considered appropriate to the 

particular application 

 

 

How will the money be spent/allocated? 

 

5.5. The Council will establish a s106 ‘Strategic Investment Group’ to ensure a strategic approach 

to where the s106 monies are applied in line with this SPD. This will be a Member / Officer 

working Group, covering the full range of relevant departments, to focus on delivering better 

forward planning in the application of s106 monies. The Group will meet regularly 

throughout the year to review both those Agreements that have been approved at Planning 

Committee as part of the grating of planning permission and to review the latest list of 

Agreements where monies have been paid in and are available for allocation. 

 

Page 245



Page | 14 

 

5.6. It is considered that the formation of this Strategic Investment Group, specifically charged 

with the future planning of the allocation of s106 monies, will ensure that opportunities to 

align s106 funding to core Council projects are not missed. Clearly there will be instances 

where available monies might not align with core Council projects and in these cases they 

could continue to be available for bidding into from the community, as per present practices. 

 

5.7. In addition it is considered that the more strategic use of s106 monies to deliver Council core 

projects will free up base Council capital funding so as to ensure it may be applied more in 

those areas that may not normally benefit from S106 funding through a lack of 

development. 

 

Indexation 

 

5.8. Developer contributions are based on the costs of providing infrastructure. The 

contributions will therefore be indexed, meaning they will be index-linked to inflation to 

ensure they keep their ‘real value’ in line with inflation.  The base date and appropriate 

index will be included in the legal agreement, but the sum of monies to be paid will be 

subject to such increase as is necessary to reflect any increase in the all in tender price index 

(TPI) provided by the Building Cost Information Service (BCIS) of RICS (or such replacement 

index thereof) for the period commencing from the date of this Deed and ending on the date 

of payment such increase to be calculated by reference to the index most recently published 

at the date at which the relevant payment is made to be used towards the relevant 

infrastructure. BCIS is used as it provides cost and price information to the construction 

industry. 

 

Do local authorities have to pay back unspent planning obligations? 

 

5.9. Local planning authorities are expected to use all of the funding received by way of a 

planning obligation within a reasonable time frame. Agreements will normally include 

clauses stating when and how the funds will be used by and allow for their return, after an 

agreed period of time where they are not. This period is usually five years but may be longer 

or shorter if deemed appropriate. If the money is not spent within the agreed period, the 

developer will, upon request, be reimbursed with the outstanding amount, together with 

any interest accrued unless the agreement is varied.  

 

Social Value 

 

5.10. Social Value is defined as the “The wider social contribution that a development creates for 

society through how it is constructed and managed including the economic returns to the 

local economy, the wellbeing of individuals and communities as well as the benefits to help 

regenerate the environment” 

 

5.11. Embedding social value into the planning process has the potential to unlock significant 

additional social value for communities. 

 

Page 246



Page | 15 

 

5.12. Developers are encouraged to complete a Social Value Statement to be incorporated within 

their planning statement as a part of a planning application submission, support their 

planning application and help understand the broader social contribution that their 

proposed development will make. 

  

Page 247



Page | 16 

 

6. Viability and the Assessment Process  
 

6.1. National policy states that where up-to-date local policies set out the contributions required 

of development, policy-compliant planning applications should be assumed to be viable15. 

This puts the onus on developers to demonstrate any change in circumstances since the 

Local Plan was adopted that justifies the need for a viability assessment16. The starting point 

for all development proposals is to be policy compliant in terms of affordable housing 

provision and other infrastructure requirements. Developer contributions add to the overall 

expenditure of a development and should always be accounted for in the early stages of 

development planning.  

 

How will viability be assessed? 

 

6.2. Where viability issues are used to demonstrate that schemes should provide below policy-

compliant levels of developer contributions, the application must be supported by an ‘open 

book’ viability assessment. This involves the provision of full financial details for appraisal 

which, in accordance with the NPPF (para 58), will be made publicly available.   

 

6.3. The Council will invite the developer to provide details of the value of the completed 

development and all costs incurred to achieve this value. The Council expects a viability 

assessment to take the form of a written report that includes evidence in relation to details 

of all costs to be incurred, including acquisition, site preparation, external works and 

infrastructure, construction, abnormal costs (supported by site investigation reports), level 

of contingency, finance/interest costs, professional fees, marketing costs, agency fees, legal 

costs and disposal fees. Details of future sales values (market and affordable housing) with 

market evidence in support of these sale values, or anticipated rental income. It will provide 

a conclusive opinion on whether the obligations being sought would make the development 

unviable or not. In instances where the developer does not provide sufficient or adequate 

information for the Council to make a satisfactory assessment the developer will be advised 

what further information is required. 

 

6.4. If the viability assessment is accepted as being an accurate assessment of the cost and 

liabilities and shows that the development cannot proceed without reduced or revised 

financial obligations the Council may agree to the provision of lower rates of contribution for 

a particular site, provided that the loss of planning obligations is not so significant that the 

development is no longer acceptable in planning terms. 

 

6.5. It will not be sufficient for developers to argue that they did not take into account the need 

to provide affordable housing or account for the need to provide infrastructure in the 

amount they have paid (or agreed to pay) for the land as it is reasonable to expect that land 

values will reflect the requirements of the CDP. The Council also considers that any normal 

development costs, such as site demolition, preparation, retaining walls, piling, 

 
15 NPPF Paragraph 58 
16 Policy 25 of the CDP and Paragraph: 008 Reference ID: 10-008-20190509 - 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/viability  

Page 248



Page | 17 

 

infrastructure provision and flood mitigation should be established at the outset and 

reflected in the amount paid (agreed to pay) for land. 

 

6.6. All assessments of development viability will only consider the viability of the particular 

development site in question. Assessments will not take into account the specific financial 

circumstances of any given developer. Equally, assessments will not take into account the 

specific desires of land owners to maximise the amount they are paid for land by developers. 

 

Review Mechanisms 

 

6.7. When the Council agrees with an applicant’s demonstration that a scheme is unviable and 

developer contributions are reduced on viability grounds as a result, the Council may seek 

the inclusion of a viability review mechanism and overage clause in the S106 agreement. 

 

6.8. This will ensure that viability can be reassessed at a later date, with more up to date 

evidence, that may show that the scheme ended up being more profitable than was 

originally predicted at the planning application stage, based on the evidence used at the 

time of the original assessment. 

 

6.9. If a viability review concludes that there has been an uplift in viability and that there will be a 

larger surplus that could be used to provide developer contributions in line with the latest 

guidance and best practice, the overage clause will ensure the Council can request greater 

contributions than stated in the original s106 agreement and will be able to ensure their 

payment prior to occupation of an agreed number of units (to be agreed and specified in the 

S106 covenant). 

 

6.10. If there is an uplift in viability, the Council’s will consider on a case by case basis, taking 

account of the findings of the viability review, which policy contributions will be prioritised 

and could be delivered taking account of local circumstances. 

 

6.11. The Council will consider how many reviews might be appropriate and will consider the 

timing/s for a review/s on a case-by-case basis. This will be dependent on the size of the 

scheme and expected rate of build-out. If a development has multiple phases, it may be 

appropriate to review the viability at a point during each phase for example, or at the 

submission of any subsequent Reserved Matters applications.  

 

Pre-Application Discussions  

 

6.12. The Council encourage developers to engage in pre application discussions17, to ensure that 

the likely developer contributions are determined at an early stage in the planning process. 

It is preferable that negotiations and open discussions are conducted as soon as possible 

regarding new developments. This minimises chance of delay and helps to ensure the 

viability of the project.   

 
17 https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/8280/Planning-advice-and-enquiries  

Page 249



Page | 18 

 

Question: Do you agree with the proposed scope that viability submissions are expected to take? 

Please give reasons for your answers. 

  

Page 250



Page | 19 

 

7. Specific Developer Contribution Guidance by Type  
 

7.1. Policy 25 (Developer Contributions) details the need for contributions, the difference 

between conditions and obligations and the schemes viability with regard to the 

contributions. However, the specific contributions that will be expected from developers are 

not listed within this policy. Rather, they are detailed in other policies throughout the plan. 

The following sections will go through the contributions that are linked to achieving the 

various policies within the plan. 

 

Addressing Housing Need 

 

7.2. Objective 3 of the CDP relates to Housing Need and strives to deliver new, high quality 

housing, in a range of house types and tenures, that is accessible to, and meets the needs 

and aspirations of, County Durham’s residents (including affordable, families with children, 

young people, older persons, multi-generational housing, specialist housing, gypsies and 

travellers and those people wishing to build their own home) while making effective use of 

the existing stock.  

 

National Planning Policy for Affordable Housing 

 

7.3. The NPPF sets out that the Government’s objective is to significantly boost the supply of 

homes and that the need of groups with specific housing requirements are met. It states in 

Paragraph 62 that the “size, type and tenure of housing needed for different groups in the 

community should be assessed and reflected in planning policies” and “where a need for 

affordable housing is identified, planning policies should specify the type of affordable 

housing required and expect it to be met on site unless; off-site provision or an 

appropriate financial contribution in lieu can be robustly justified: and the agreed 

approach contribute to the objective of creating mixed and balanced communities.” 

(Paragraph 62 & 63 NPPF). 

 

7.4. Planning obligations for affordable housing should only be sought for residential 

developments that are major developments. For residential development, major 

development is defined in the NPPF as development where 10 or more homes will be 

provided, or the site has an area of 0.5 hectares or more. However, in designated rural areas 

local planning authorities can choose to set their own lower threshold in plans and seek 

affordable housing from developments above that threshold. Designated rural areas applies 

to rural areas described under section 157(1) of the Housing Act 1985. 

 

Types of Affordable Housing 

 

7.5. The definition of Affordable Housing is set out in Annex 2 – Glossary of the NPPF. Affordable 

housing is defined as housing for sale or rent, for those whose needs are not met by the 

market (including housing that provides a subsidised route to home ownership and/or is 

essential for local workers) and which complies with one or more of the following definitions 

below. Affordable housing includes social rented, affordable rented and intermediate 

Page 251



Page | 20 

 

housing, provided to eligible households whose needs are not met by the market. Affordable 

housing should: 

 

• meet the needs of eligible households including availability at a cost low enough for them 

to afford, determined with regard to local incomes and local house prices; and 

• include provision for the home to remain at an affordable price for future eligible 

households or, if these restrictions are lifted, for the subsidy to be recycled for alternative 

affordable housing provision. 

 

7.6. Affordable housing for rent meets all of the following conditions: (a) the rent is set in 

accordance with the Government's rent policy for Social Rent or Affordable Rent, or is at 

least 20% below local market rents (including service charges where applicable); (b) the 

landlord is a registered provider, except where it is included as part of a Build to Rent 

scheme (in which case the landlord need not be a registered provider); and (c) it includes 

provisions to remain at an affordable price for future eligible households, or for the subsidy 

to be recycled for alternative affordable housing provision. For Build to Rent schemes 

affordable housing for rent is expected to be the normal form of affordable housing 

provision (and, in this context, is known as Affordable Private Rent). 

 

7.7. Starter homes is as specified in Sections 2 and 3 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 and 

any secondary legislation made under these sections. The definition of a starter home 

should reflect the meaning as set out in statute and any such secondary legislation at the 

time of plan preparation or decision-making. Where secondary legislation has the effect of 

limiting a household's eligibility to purchase a starter homes to those with a particular 

maximum level of household income, those restrictions should be used. 

 

7.8. Discounted market sales housing is that sold at a discount of at least 20% below local 

market value. Eligibility is determined with regard to local incomes and local house prices. 

Provisions should be in place to ensure housing remains at a discount for future eligible 

households. 

 

7.9. Other affordable routes to home ownership is housing provided for sale that provides a 

route to ownership for those who could not achieve home ownership through the market. It 

includes shared ownership, relevant equity loans, other low cost homes for sale (at a price 

equivalent to at least 20% below local market value) and rent to buy (which includes a 

period of intermediate rent). Where public grant funding is provided, there should be 

provisions for the homes to remain at an affordable price for future eligible households, or 

for any receipts to be recycled for alternative affordable housing provision, or refunded to 

Government or the relevant authority specified in the funding agreement. 

 

Local Needs 

 

7.10. The principle source of local housing needs information is the County Durham Strategic 

Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) 201918. Many households in County Durham who lack 

their own housing or live in unsuitable housing cannot afford to buy or rent suitable houses 

at market rates. These households need affordable housing. The SHMA has undertaken an 

 
18 http://durhamcc-consult.limehouse.co.uk/file/5244984  

Page 252



Page | 21 

 

assessment of the need for affordable housing within County Durham and determined that 

there will be a need to provide annual additional affordable housing for 836 households over 

the Plan period 2016 to 2035. 

 

Local Planning Policy  

 

7.11. Policy 15 of the CDP sets the requirements for addressing housing need. 

 

Affordable Housing Requirements and Threshold 

 

7.12. Policy 15 confirms that Affordable Housing will be sought on sites of over 10 units. In 

designated rural areas19, schemes of between 6 and 9 units will provide a financial 

contribution towards the delivery of affordable housing. The table below sets out the 

percentage of affordable units required within different viability areas within the county. 

This method of calculating the affordable contribution was found sound by the appointed 

Planning Inspector through the Local Plan Examination in Public. In setting targets for 

affordable housing delivery, it is recognised that new housing development in the highest 

and high value areas, where prices for new houses are more buoyant, can support the 

greatest level of provision. 

 

Table 2 – Affordable Contributions 

Affordable 

Threshold (no. of 

dwellings) 

Viability Area20 

Low Value Area Medium Value 

Area 

High Value Area Highest Value 

Area 

10+ units in any 

part of the county 

10% A H in total 15% A H in total 20% A H in total 25% A H in total 

10% 

Affordable 

home 

ownership 

0% 

A H for 

rent 

10% 

Affordable 

home 

ownership 

5% 

A H for 

rent 

10% 

Affordable 

home 

ownership 

10% 

A H for 

rent 

10% 

Affordable 

home 

15% 

A H for 

rent 

9 units or less 

outside 

designated rural 

areas 

The table below sets out the percentage of affordable units required within 

different viability areas within the county No contribution 

between 6 and 9 

units in 

designated rural 

areas 

10% A H as financial 

contribution 

15% A H as financial 

contribution 

20% A H as financial 

contribution 

25% A H as financial 

contribution 

5 units or less in 

any part of the 

county 

No contribution 

 
19 Map I in the CDP policies map document shows the geographical extent of the designated rural areas and this is 

replicated at Appendix 1. 
20 Map F in the CDP policies map document shows the geographical location of the viability areas and this is replicated in 

Appendix 2 of this document. 

Page 253



Page | 22 

 

 

7.13. The Council's targets for on-site provision will only be reduced where it is demonstrated 

through an open book viability assessment (see earlier Viability Chapter) that the required 

affordable housing target makes the development unviable.  In accordance with the NPPF21, 

major housing development should always provide 10% of the homes to be available for 

affordable home ownership. 

 

7.14. There will be cases where the percentage of affordable housing sought in a particular site 

does not give rise to an exact number of dwellings (e.g. 26 units @ 20% would give a 

requirement of 5.2 units). In such cases the approach will be to round down or round up the 

number to give the 'on-site' provision units figure (in the above example, 5 units) (5.5 or 

anything above would be rounded up). 

 

7.15. Where a planning application is submitted for a development which forms part of a more 

substantial proposed development, on the same or adjoining land, an overall figure for 

affordable housing would be agreed at the onset, for subsequent review during the phasing 

of the development. This takes account of relevant case law22. 

 

Location, type and tenure mix 

 

7.16. On sites with 10 or more units, 10% of the homes provided should be for affordable home 

ownership (starter homes, discount market sale housing and other affordable routes to home 

ownership). In line with the requirements in Table 1, any affordable housing above 10% should 

be provided as affordable housing for rent. Where it can be evidenced by the applicant to the 

Council's satisfaction that this tenure mix would make the  development unviable or that 

alternative affordable housing products are required to meet local needs, then proposals for 

an alternative tenure mix as proposed by the applicant will be considered. The Council’s 

Housing Development Team are an internal consultee on applications which require 

affordable housing and provide advice to ensure that the affordable housing provides an 

acceptable range of types and size of unit to meet up to date demand.  

 

7.17. If housing is being delivered in phases, affordable housing should be delivered evenly 

throughout the duration of delivery and not back-loaded onto later phases. In some instances, 

the viability of a scheme may require that affordable housing is back-loaded, but the Council 

will resist granting permission to proposals with the provision of no or very low levels of 

affordable housing in earlier phases where viability is not a consideration. 

 

Off-site provision/Contributions 

 

7.18. In accordance with the NPPF23 the provision of affordable housing should be met on-site. 

However, it is accepted that this is not appropriate or possible for all schemes. Policy 15 

 
21 Paragraph 65 
22 New Dawn Homes Limited v Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government & Tewksbury Borough Council 

[2016] EWHC 3314 (Admin) 
23 Paragraph 63 

Page 254



Page | 23 

 

(Addressing Housing Need) sets out that there may also be circumstances where it can be 

robustly justified and it would contribute to the objective of creating mixed and balanced 

communities, the Council will accept off-site contributions in lieu of on-site provision. This 

includes, but is not limited to, circumstances where: 

 there would be five or fewer affordable homes on the site; 

 there is clear evidence that a greater number of affordable homes could be delivered off-

site, in a more suitable location; or 

 the resulting financial contribution would contribute to specific regeneration activity 

including bringing viable vacant housing back into use. 

 

7.19. There may also be circumstances where a financial contribution of broadly equivalent value 

can be accepted in place of on-site provision of affordable homes, for example in order to 

improve existing housing stock as part of the council's regeneration activities. However, in all 

instances, the developer or the council would be expected to robustly demonstrate that the 

off-site provision or financial contribution was acceptable as part of the determination of the 

planning application. 

 

7.20. In all instances financial contributions should be of a broadly equivalent value of developing 

or buying on the open market the same number of new properties of the size and type and in 

a similar location that would have been provided on site. The calculation for the financial 

contribution will take into account the following key factors:  

 The unencumbered residual land value;  

 Total number of units on site;  

 Registered Providers purchase amount;  

 Number of units for affordable housing; and  

 Total development costs. 

 

Affordable Housing Calculator 

 

7.21. The Council have procured Bespoke Property Consultants to create a commuted sum 

calculator for off-site affordable housing provision. The calculator is in effect to determine the 

amount of subsidy that a Registered Provider (RP) will require to provide the policy compliant 

level of affordable housing off-site. In creating the calculator and in its use, the main 

assumption is that the off-site provision will be of similar kind to that on the application site 

in terms of unit types and sizes in accordance with Policy 15 of the CDP. 

 

7.22. In accordance with CIL Regulation 122 and Para 57 of the NPPF (2021) the methodology behind 

the calculation of commuted sums for affordable housing must be: 

 

a) Fair and reasonable 

b) Reflective of the site to which the application relates 

 

Page 255



Page | 24 

 

7.23. The calculations on the pro-forma calculator are aimed at establishing what subsidy a 

developer would have had to contribute to provide the affordable housing on site.  This is 

without any assistance from Social Housing Grant in accordance with the NAHP Prospectus. 

 

7.24. The calculations do not try to share in the uplift in values that will be achieved by putting 

affordable housing off-site. 

 

7.25. The calculations are based on the following formula which reflects the true cost to a 

developer, had the affordable housing been delivered on site: 

Open Market value of units on site 

Less: Developer’s profit 

  (inclusive of marketing costs) 

Equals: cost of developing units on site 

 (ie land + build + fees)  

Less: anticipated income from a  

  Registered (Capitalised rents,  

  shared ownership sales) 

 

Equals:  Cost to developer of subsidising 

 affordable housing 

 

How to fill in the Commuted Sum Calculator 

 

7.26. All cells coloured yellow in the Council’s affordable housing commuted sum calculator are to 

be populated by the Council with the information provided by the applicant. 

 

7.27. Comments can be entered in the notes area (cells G18 to J20) about site specifics, and details 

of the scheme, including the site name (cell B8) and date (cell F8) before carrying out the 

calculation. 

 

7.28. The level of affordable housing as a percentage of the units on site is entered at cell E10.  This 

is the level of affordable housing required by Policy 15 of the CDP for the area in which the 

site is situated (See Appendix 2 of this document). Please consult the Housing Dept with regard 

to small sites in designated rural areas. 

 

7.29. The percentage of and number of affordable rented units are automatically calculated on the 

basis of the input above (cell E9).  

 

7.30. The number of intermediate tenure units are automatically calculated on the basis of the input 

at (cell E9).  Intermediate tenure is taken as Discounted Market Sale by the calculator. Should 

an alternative tenure be considered appropriate please consult the Housing Dept. 

Page 256



Page | 25 

 

 

7.31. If any affordable rent or affordable home ownership units are to be provided on site, these 

can be netted off the amounts to be put in the tables for those tenures (see cells E17 and E19). 

 

7.32. The amount of off-site affordable rented and intermediate units are inputted in cells B26 to 

B36 and B42 to B47. The mix of units should reflect that on the application site.  

 

7.33. The Open Market Value (OMV) of each unit should be input in cells C26 to C36 and C42 to C47.  

The OMV should be the anticipated net achievable price, i.e. net of any discounts or marketing 

incentives. 

 

7.34. The profit level to be inputted at cell D25 should be the gross profit inclusive of marketing 

costs as these would not apply to affordable housing. The default allowance is 17.5% as per 

the Local Plan supporting evidence (see footnote 10 above). 

 

7.35. Affordable Rents – the rent level per week for each unit type should be agreed with the DCC 

Housing Department.  The rent should be net of any service charge tenants would be due to 

pay as part of their rent. As a default the calculator is populated with LHA rates for July 2021. 

 

7.36. The gross yield generated by Affordable Rented units, calculated at cells G26 to G36 is for 

information only, to illustrate the relative investment value to the RP of the Affordable Rented 

units. 

 

7.37. Intermediate units are generally provided as “Discounted Market Sale” units. The discount to 

OMV is to be input at cell F41. The percentage discount will have to ensure that the units are 

affordable to the target market for this type of tenure, and this will vary from ward to ward. 

Please check with the Housing Department about the acceptable level of discount for your 

scheme, which will be based on affordability to the purchaser. The default level is 30% of open 

market value, which matches the criteria of “First Homes”.  

 

7.38. The calculator will calculate the affordable housing commuted sum taking into account all of 

the above inputs.  The calculated Commuted Sum will appear at cell H50. 

 

7.39. Below is the Council’s affordable housing commuted sum calculator. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 257



Page | 26 

 

Picture 1 showing the Affordable Housing Commuted Sum Calculator  

 
 

Worked Examples 

 

7.40. A development scheme of 60 units in a low viability area (10% affordable housing provision) 

would have an affordable housing contribution of £149,500. The same scheme in a high 

Page 258



Page | 27 

 

viability area (20% affordable housing provision) would have an affordable housing 

contribution of £566,200. 

 

Picture 2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 259



Page | 28 

 

Picture 3 

 

Vacant Building Credit 

 

7.41. In line with Government policy24' a 'vacant building credit' will be applied to appropriate 

developments where a vacant building is either converted or demolished. This credit will be 

equivalent to the gross floorspace of the building to be demolished or brought back into use. 

This credit does not apply when a building has been abandoned or where a building has been 

made vacant for the sole purpose of re-development. 

 

 
24 Paragraph 64 of the NPPF and Paragraph’s: 026 – 028 Reference IDs: 23b-026-028-20190315: 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/planning-obligations   

Page 260



Page | 29 

 

7.42. Where there is an overall increase in floorspace in the proposed development, the amount of 

affordable housing required from the development will be calculated in line with the CDP. A 

‘credit’ will then be applied which is the equivalent of the gross floorspace of any relevant 

vacant buildings being brought back into use or demolished as part of the scheme and 

deducted from the overall affordable housing requirement. This will apply in calculating either 

the number of affordable housing units to be provided within the development or where an 

equivalent financial contribution is being provided. 

 

7.43. The existing floorspace of a vacant building should be credited against the floorspace of the 

new development. For example, where a building with a gross floorspace of 8,000 square 

metres is demolished as part of a proposed development with a gross floorspace of 10,000 

square metres, any affordable housing should be a fifth of that normally be sought. 

 

Self and Custom Build 

 

7.44. The NPPF (paragraph 65c) recognises that the specific requirement for 10% affordable home 

ownership does not apply on self-build sites, however, it is considered that affordable 

provision is still applicable to such schemes in line with para 63 as it is only the ‘affordable 

home ownership’ product which is exempt. On sites for self-build homes (10+ units and 

between 6 and 9 units in designated rural areas), an off-site contribution would be 

appropriate because the development is unlikely to be attractive to a registered provider and 

there would (in all likelihood) be five or fewer affordable homes required on the site. The 

affordable housing contribution would be calculated using the Affordable Housing calculator 

set out above. 

 

Older Persons Housing  

 

7.45. To meet the needs of older people and people with disabilities, on sites of 5 units or more, 

66% of dwellings must be built to Building Regulations Requirement M4 (2) (accessible and 

adaptable dwellings) standard.  

 

7.46. On sites of 10 units or more, we will require a minimum of 10% of the total number of 

dwellings on the site to be of a design and type that will increase the housing options of older 

people. These properties should be built to M4(2) standard and would contribute to meeting 

the 66% requirement set out above. They should be situated in the most appropriate location 

within the site for older people. Appropriate house types considered to meet this requirement 

include: 

 

 level access flats;  

 level access bungalows; or  

 housing products that can be shown to meet the specific needs of a multi-generational 

family. 

 

Page 261



Page | 30 

 

7.47. Where it can be demonstrated that site specific factors such as vulnerability to flooding, site 

topography, other circumstances which may make a site less suitable for older persons house 

types or properties built to M4(2) (accessible and adaptable standard) or where step free 

access cannot be achieved or is not viable, then the requirements will not be applied on all or 

part of the site as appropriate.  

 

Specialist Housing  

 

7.48. The council will support the provision of specialist housing for older people, vulnerable adults 

and people with disabilities where: 

 

 the development is in an appropriate location with reference to the needs of the client; 

 it is designed to meet the particular requirements of residents;  

 appropriate measures will be in place to ensure access for emergency vehicles and safety 

measures such as fire escapes; and 

 satisfactory outside space, highway access, parking and servicing can be achieved.  

 

 

7.49. Specialist housing for older people, will meet the following standards: 

 100% of accommodation to meet M4(2) Category 2 - Accessible and adaptable dwellings; 

and  

 a minimum of 25% of accommodation to meet M4(3) Category 3 - Wheelchair User 

Dwellings.  

 

7.50. Where it can be evidenced by the applicant to the Council's satisfaction that applying the 

Optional Standards at these proportions would make the proposal unviable, then proposals 

for alternative proportions of dwellings which meet the Optional Standards, as proposed by 

the applicant, will be considered. Where viability considerations dictate that the provision of 

affordable housing or older people's housing is below the levels set out in the policy, the 

Council will include an overage payment clause in the Section 106 Agreement relating to the 

planning permission. 

 

Question. Do you agree with the proposed approach towards addressing housing need? 

Please give reasons for your answers 

  

Page 262



Page | 31 

 

 

8. Green Infrastructure (including open space and sport & recreation)  
 

8.1. Green Infrastructure (GI) refers to the network of multi-functional green space, urban and 

rural, which is capable of delivering a wide range of environmental and quality of life benefits 

for local communities. GI also encompasses water-based environments such as rivers and 

smaller watercourse systems, coastal environments, reservoirs, wetlands, ponds and urban 

Sustainable Drainage systems. These are sometimes known as blue infrastructure or blue 

spaces. 

 

8.2. Depending on the size and scale of a development, proposals should incorporate appropriate 

GI. This section sets out guidance for the provision of open space as a result of new residential 

development in County Durham. It does not introduce any new policies but gives guidance on 

how the existing policies should be interpreted. 

 

8.3. The NPPF recognises that access to high quality open spaces can make an important 

contribution to the health and well-being of communities. It is important that the provision 

and composition of the open spaces and recreational facilities in a settlement/community are 

well related to need. It is recognised that quality open spaces and play areas have benefits in 

terms of health and wellbeing and supporting sustainable communities. This is acknowledged 

through planning policy and reflects the cross-cutting importance of effective provision. 

 

8.4. Policy 26 (Green Infrastructure) of the CDP requires proposals for new residential 

development to make provision for open space to meet the needs of future residents having 

regard to the standards of open space provision set out in the Open Space Needs Assessment 

(OSNA) . Where it is determined that on-site provision is not appropriate, the Council will 

require financial contributions secured through planning obligations towards the provision of 

new open space, or the improvement of existing open space elsewhere in the locality. 

 

8.5. On small-scale development, a contribution towards green infrastructure/open space 

improvement is necessary to make residential development acceptable in planning terms on 

account that the future residents of these proposed houses would be using the open space in 

the vicinity and wider area in which the new house(s) would be situated. It is therefore directly 

related to the development, and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 

development (para 57, NPPF). 

 

Open Space Needs Assessment (OSNA) 

 

8.6. The OSNA25 was undertaken to provide a robust assessment of needs and deficiencies of open 

space in order to establish local provision standards. The OSNA sets out the most up to date 

position in respect to open space provision across the county and provides a formula for 

calculating requirements on a site-specific basis.   

 
25 http://durhamcc-consult.limehouse.co.uk/file/5423371 

Page 263



Page | 32 

 

8.7. Table 19, shown below, contained within the OSNA provides guidance on what scale of 

housing generates a need for facilities in the categories listed to be provided on-site. It sets 

out that schemes between 1 to 19 dwellings should provide an off-site contribution towards 

GI/open space provision instead of seeking on-site provision.  

 

Table 19 from the OSNA showing requirement for open space, sport and recreation facilities 

 

Type of 

Provision 

1 to 19 

dwellings 

20 to 49 

dwellings 

50 to 99 

dwellings 

100 to 249 

dwellings 

250+ 

dwellings 

Allotments off-site off-site off-site off-site on-site 

Amenity / 

Natural Green 

Space 

off-site on-site on-site on-site on-site 

Parks, Sports 

and Recreation 

Grounds 

off-site  off-site off-site off-site on-site 

Play Space 

(Children) 

off-site off-site non 

equipped 

non 

equipped 

on-site 

Play Space 

(Youth) 

off-site off-site off-site off-site on-site 

Key: 

 on-site provision normally sought 

 off-site provision normally required 

 non equipped play areas 

Calculating the required provision  

 

8.8. Table 16, shown below, of the OSNA sets out the standards required for onsite provision for 

each typology of open space. This standard is based on a sqm per person and sets out an 

indicative cost of how much a developer will need to spend to deliver on site provision. It sets 

out that it costs £1,581 per person to provide new open space to meet the County Durham 

standard for open space (to be borne by the developer as part of the development scheme). 

These calculations are to be used to calculate the required quantum of open space in sqm 

taking account of Table 19 which sets out the thresholds for when different typologies of open 

space should be delivered on or off-site. The OSNA states that where it is not possible and/or 

desirable to provide facilities on site, and the council are willing to accept a contribution to 

improve existing facilities off site, a 50% reduction in the above calculation will be applied in 

recognition that the cost to upgrade facilities can be less providing new facilities altogether.  

So, for schemes of 1–19 dwellings where ordinarily there should be off-site contributions in 

all cases, the £790.50 (50% reduction) per person should be used. 

 

 

 

Page 264



Page | 33 

 

Table 16 below from the OSNA details the costs for providing open space 

Typology Standard (m2) 

per person 

Cost per m2 Contribution per 

person 

50% reduction 

Allotments 9 £30.00 £270.00 £135.00 

Parks and 

Recreation 

Grounds 

14 £72.00 £1008.00 £504.00 

Play Space 

(Children) 

0.5 £170.00 £85.00 £42.50 

Play Space 

Youth 

0.4 £170.00 £68.00 £34.00 

Amenity / 

Natural Green 

Space 

15 £15.00 £150.00 £75.00 

Total 38.9  £1,581.00 £790.50 

 

Worked Example 1: 4 dwellings proposed on an infill site 

 

8.9. The following example shows a calculation for 4 units. A scheme of 4 units would generate a 

minimum of 8.8 people (4 x 2.2) based on 2011 census data of 2.2 persons per household. The 

scheme would fall into the 1st category of Table 19 where a contribution should be sought for 

all typologies of open space. Table 16 of the OSNA sets out the costings, therefore the 

contribution should be: 8.8 x £790.50 = £6,956.40. 

Worked Example 2: 98 dwellings proposed on an edge of settlement site 

 

8.10. The following example shows a calculation for 98 units. A scheme of 98 units would generate 

216 people (78 x 2.2) based on 2011 census data of 2.2 persons per household. This scheme 

would fall into the 3rd category of Table 19 where some typologies of open space should be 

provided on site, and a contribution sought for the others. 

 

8.11. Table 16 of the OSNA sets out the costings, therefore the contribution should be: 216 x 

£673.00 (£790.50 – £75.00-£42.50) = £145,368 provided that the other typologies are 

provided on-site in accordance with Table 19. 

 

8.12. The required on-site provision would be as follows: 

• Amenity/Natural Green Space 216 x 15sqm = 3,240sqm  

• Play Space (Children) 216 x 0.5sqm = 108sqm  

• Total = 3,348sqm 

 

Multiplier 

 

Page 265



Page | 34 

 

8.13. A point of clarification around the use of 2.2 and rounding. As 2.2 is the multiplier amount, it 

is not appropriate to round it up or down. It is based on the average household size in County 

Durham. In a similar vein as the outcome (8.8 people in this case) is also a multiplier to be 

applied to the cost of provision (£790.50), it is also not considered necessary to round it up or 

down. 

 

8.14. The 2.2 is the default household size to be applied, however, there may be some instances 

where it is reasonable to deviate from the standard occupancy multiplier to be applied for the 

properties depending on the specifics of the scheme. An example of this could be 2-bed 

bungalows for the over 55s where it is possible that some properties will be single occupancy 

as some residents may be divorced/widowed and less likely to have children living at home. 

In such cases a multiplier of 1.5 is acceptable to reflect that some properties will be single 

occupancy, but that some would also be occupied by couples (a blended approach which 

captures both scenarios). Similarly, on student accommodation where each unit is likely to be 

solely single occupancy, a multiplier of 1 should be used. 

 

Financial amounts to be requested 

 

8.15. The below table shows the indicative amounts for schemes of between 1 to 19 units. 

No. of dwellings in 

scheme 

Likely no. of people GI/OSNA contribution towards 

off-site provision (£790.50 x no. 

of people) 

1 2.2 £1,739.10 

2 4.4 £3,478.20 

3 6.6 £5,217.30 

4 8.8 £6,956.40 

5 11 £8,695.50 

6 13.2 £10,434.60 

7 15.4 £12.173.70 

8 17.6 £13,912.80 

9 19.8 £15,651.90 

10 22 £17,391.00 

11 24.2 £19,130.10 

12 26.4 £20,869.20 

13 28.6 £22,608.30 

14 30.8 £24,347.40 

15 33 £26,086.50 

16 35.2 £27,825.60 

17 37.4 £29,564.70 

18 39.6 £31,303.80 

19 41.8 £33,042.90 

 

Page 266



Page | 35 

 

Playing Pitches 

 

8.16. The County Durham PPS identifies where protection, enhancement and the provision of new 

sites for football (both adult and junior football), cricket, rugby union, rugby league, and 

hockey should occur. Full details of the recommendations can be found in the PPS26.  

 

8.17. The Strategy has been developed to provide: 

 A vision for the future improvement and prioritisation of playing pitches. 

 A series of strategic recommendations for the improvement, maintenance, development 

and, as appropriate, rationalisation of the playing pitch stock. 

 A series of sport by sport recommendations which provide a strategic framework for sport 

led improvements to provision. 

 A prioritised area-by-area Action Plan to address key issues on a site-by-site basis. 

 

8.18. Where development is proposed (for example under Policy 6: Development on Unallocated 

Sites of the CDP) within the catchment of an existing or proposed pitch site(s) which has clear 

recommendations identified within the PPS, then a financial contribution will be sought to 

assist with implementing those recommendations. 

 

Question. Do you agree with the approach towards Green Infrastructure provision?  

Please give reasons for your answers 

 

  

 
26 https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s146784/Appendix%202%20-%20Playing%20Pitch%20Strategy.pdf 

 

Page 267



Page | 36 

 

9. Education Provision  

Justification 

 

9.1. Durham County Council has a statutory responsibility to ensure that there are sufficient school 

places for pupils within the County. New developments will generate demand for school 

places in all ages which is above natural population changes. If there is not enough capacity, 

nearby schools will be negatively impacted by this increase in demand. Therefore, this impact 

must be mitigated by providing a contribution to create more education infrastructure to 

support new development.  

Assessing Sufficiency of Places  

 

9.2. When a development site comes forward the Council will identify which schools or pupil place 

planning area(s) are considered to be impacted on by the development. Where schools are in 

close proximity to the proposed development but are in a different pupil place planning area 

they may still be considered as related schools if they meet the criteria on lack of capacity and 

can demonstrate a likely demand from families moving to the development. 

 

9.3. Contributions will be sought where forecasts suggest that the appropriate educational 

establishments or pupil place planning area in relation to the development cannot reasonably 

accommodate the increase in demand for places. Contributions will be sought in the cases 

where development will result in a specific school or school place planning areas having less 

than 5% surplus space. 

 

9.4. When assessing the nearest school(s) to a development(s) to assess and calculate any 

developer contributions, the Council will apply a distance of 2 miles from the development 

measured by the shortest available safe walking route. In some cases, the Council would not 

wish the nearest school to be the one that is extended. It will also be the case that for some 

secondary schools the nearest school to a development will be more than 2 miles away as 

there are far fewer secondary schools than primary schools across the county. The Council's 

School Places and Admissions Team can provide advice and guidance in relation to school rolls 

and forecasted pupil numbers. 

 

Pupil Yield Methodology  

 

9.5. New residential property generates demand for school places in all age groups over and above 

natural population changes. The council has undertaken research in line with the guidance 

from the Department for Education (DfE) on a number of existing housing developments 

throughout the County to determine the average number of pupils produced from 

development. Certain types of development do not generate pupil demand, such as care 

homes and student accommodation, so were not included in this study.  

 

 

Page 268



Page | 37 

 

9.6. During the study, each residence in the developments are allocated a postcode and this was 

cross checked with information provided by schools via the pupil census. The pupil census lists 

all the pupils attending schools in County Durham together with their address including the 

postcode.  

 

9.7. The research has taken into account housing developments over the last 20 years, and 

accounts for market trends and changes. The detailed research indicates that the expected 

pupil yields from specific local ‘family’ housing developments are as follows;  

 

 0.3 primary aged pupils per house (i.e. broadly 3 houses typically generate one primary 

aged pupil)  

 0.12 secondary aged pupils per house (i.e. just under 10 houses typically generate one 

secondary aged pupil 

 

9.8. The pupil yields reflect demand for places generated rather than actual children moving to the 

development. It also recognizes that some children will not need to change schools and some 

may attend private, selective or faith schools.  

 

Cost of Additional Places  

 

9.9. The contributions for each excess pupil place required is based on information supplied by the 

National School Delivery Cost Benchmarking exercise and BCIS all-in Tender Price Index. The 

current costs per pupil place are as follows; 

 Primary place = £17,650 

 Secondary place = £17,321 

 

9.10. The Council will review the above costs on an annual basis using the BCIS all-in Tender Price 

Index and any revised cost per pupil will be advertised in advance of adoption from the 1st 

April every year. The council will seek to undertake a County Durham specific benchmarking 

exercise every 4 years which will be based on actual projects delivered within the county and 

this will inform the revised cost per place. Following this benchmarking exercise, the Council 

will continue to use the BCIS all-in Tender Price Index until the next benchmarking exercise. 

Exemptions 

 

9.11. There will be no requirement to calculate demand on school places from developments of less 

than 10 dwellings. Similarly, exemptions could be agreed for specialist housing, where it can 

be demonstrated that the likelihood of mitigation for education being required is not needed. 

 

Page 269



Page | 38 

 

 

 

Calculation Example  

 

9.12. The following example shows a calculation for 100 dwellings in an area where there is available 

surplus school capacity of 10 primary places and 5 secondary places (having regard to 

maintaining 5% surplus places). 

 

 

Number of dwellings x Pupil yield (less available surplus spaces) x Cost of places = 

developer contributions 

 

 

Primary Example: 

100 dwellings x 0.3 = 30 places – 10 surplus spaces = 20 places required.  

20 x £17,650 = £353,000 developer contribution  

 

Secondary Example: 

100 dwellings x 0.12 = 12 places – 5 surplus places = 7 places required  

7 x £17,321 = £121,247 developer contribution  

 

Large Scale Developments 

 

9.13. Where developments are in excess of 300 dwellings (including phased proposals or the 

cumulative impact of multiple or phased proposals) and potentially trigger the need for a new 

school, discussions and negotiations will be needed to agree the following;  

 

• can the existing school(s) in the school place planning area to be expanded? 

• location;  

• design; 

• specification;  

• size;  

• number of classrooms;  

• non-teaching space; and  

• play area provision etc.  

 

Securing the financial contribution  

 

9.14. Financial contributions required would be secured at the time planning permission is granted 

(either outline or full) by way of a planning obligation pursuant to Section 106 of the Town 

and Country Planning Act 1990. The section 106 agreement would set out an appropriate 

trigger for the payment of contribution, and it is expected that the contribution should be a 

single payment rather than provided in stages.  

Page 270



Page | 39 

 

 

Question. Do you agree with the approach towards Education provision?  

Please give reasons for your answers 

 

  

Page 271



Page | 40 

 

10. Health Provision 

 

Justification  

 

10.1. The council’s Director of Public Health (DPH) has a statutory duty to assess health needs and 

status of the local authority population, to protect the health of that population, and to ensure 

that its health improves. The DPH must also ensure that residents in the local authority area 

have equitable access to health care services. Outcomes in terms of health care in County 

Durham are generally similar to or worse than the England average.  

 

Health Life Expectancy  

 

10.2. Using a life course approach, it is also possible assess key health related behaviours, conditions 

or outcomes which will have an impact upon the health of an individual.  

 

The picture below details a walk through the lifecourse in County Durham  

 

Assessing Supply and Demand 

 

10.3. Where there is any new development that causes an increase in demand for health services, 

and health partners can demonstrate that their current facilities cannot physically 

accommodate the expected increase in demand, then contributions towards health services 

will be sought. It is expected that health partners will also be able to demonstrate that any 

such mitigation is deliverable, including the recruitment of appropriate staff (which will be the 

responsibility of the health provider).  

Page 272



Page | 41 

 

 

Patient Yield Methodology  

 

10.4. New residential developments generate a demand for health services over and above natural 

population changes. Accurately predicting the number of additional GP patients likely to be 

produced from new housing developments is not straightforward as it depends upon various 

factors including the location and type of housing. 

 

10.5. Taking into consideration deprivation in County Durham, it is estimated that 1,700 patients 

create the need for one full time equivalent (F.T.E) GP. Based on current Census information, 

the household formation rate in the County is 2.2 people per dwelling. This would result in 

773 dwellings, creating the need for one GP (F.T.E). In order to assess the impact on primary 

care health services, GPs (in collaboration with the CCG) must clearly demonstrate that the 

development will have a direct impact on existing provision, and that they cannot support the 

increase in patient numbers.  

 

Cost of Additional Provision (Physical Treatment Space)  

 

10.6. The contribution for the provision of additional GP space will generally be calculated on the 

basis that each GP requires 16sqm of consulting floorspace and 16sqm of treatment 

floorspace – unless health partners can evidence additional requirements.  

 

10.7. Build costs will be based on BCIS all-in Tender Price Index (lower quartile) for Health Centres, 

Clinics, Group practice and Surgeries plus 15% for fit out and external costs, rebased to County 

Durham. The current BCIS rate is £1,808 per sqm + 15% externals = £2,079.20 per sqm. 

Therefore, where evidence is provided to support the need for GP mitigation, this will result 

in a cost of £86.07 per dwelling. 

 

10.8. Durham County Council will review the above costs on an annual basis using the BCIS all-in 

Tender Price Index and any revised the cost per dwelling will be advertised in advance of 

adoption from the 1st April every year.  

 

Calculation Example  

 

10.9. The following example shows a calculation per GP (F.T.E)  

 

1,700 patients per GP / 2.2 persons per dwelling = 773 dwellings per GP 

 

£1,808 per sqm + 15% externals = £2,079.20 per sqm 

 

32sqm x £2,079.20 = £66,534.40 (per F.T.E GP consulting space)  

 

£66,534.40 / 773 dwellings = £86.07 per dwelling 

Page 273



Page | 42 

 

 

Exemptions 

 

10.10. There is no requirement to calculate demand on GP health services from developments of less 

than 10 dwellings. 

Large Scale Developments  

 

10.11. Where developments (including the cumulative impact of multiple or phased proposals in an 

area) are in excess of 750 dwellings (including triggering the need for new build facilities) 

discussion and negotiations will need to take place to agree the following:  

• Can existing facilities be expanded 

• Location 

• Design 

• Specification, and 

• Size 

 

Securing the financial contribution  

 

10.12. The required financial contributions would be secured at the time planning permission is 

granted (either outline or fully) by way of a planning obligation pursuant to Section 106 of the 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990. The section 106 agreement would set out an 

appropriate trigger for the payment of said contribution, and it is expected that the 

contribution should be a single payment rather than provided in stages.  

 

Question. Do you agree with the approach towards Health provision?  

Please give reasons for your answers 

  

Page 274



Page | 43 

 

11. Transport and Digital Infrastructure 
 

11.1. There are no specific formulas or contributions set out for transport or digital infrastructure 

at developments sites as the costs of providing this infrastructure will depend on the specific 

characteristics of each individual site. 

 

11.2. This short section is to signpost developers and other interested stakeholders to the relevant 

polices in the County Durham Plan and /or in other SPDs that will need to be taken into 

consideration when providing transport and digital infrastructure as part of the planning 

process. 

 

Transport 

 

11.3. The costs associated with providing transport infrastructure to development can be 

determined by having regard to the following policies and documents: 

 

County Durham Plan - Policy 21 (Delivering Sustainable Transport)  

 

11.4. Policy 21 of the County Durham Plan states that: 

 

The transport implications of development must be addressed as part of any planning 

application, where relevant this could include through Transport Assessments, Transport 

Statements and Travel Plans. All development27 shall deliver sustainable transport by: 

 

 delivering, accommodating and facilitating investment in safe sustainable modes of 

transport in the following order of priority: those with mobility issues or disabilities, 

walking, cycling, bus and rail transport, car sharing and alternative fuel vehicles; 

 

 providing appropriate, well designed, permeable and direct routes for walking, cycling and 

bus access, so that new developments clearly link to existing services and facilities 

together with existing routes for the convenience of all users; 

 

 ensuring that any vehicular traffic generated by new development, following the 

implementation of sustainable transport measures, can be safely accommodated on the 

local and strategic highway network and does not cause an unacceptable increase in 

congestion or air pollution and that severe congestion can be overcome by appropriate 

transport improvements 

 

11.5. The policy sets out how development sites should link to local cycling routes as set out in the 

Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans (LCWIPs) and have regard to local bus routes to 

improve the provision of sustainable transport to new development sites. Where measures 

outlined in a travel plan or in the design of a new site are insufficient to mitigate the impact 

of increased vehicular trip generation, transport infrastructure improvements will be 

 
27 Mineral extraction, waste management and householder extensions excluded. 

Page 275



Page | 44 

 

required, either by design or by way of a financial contribution. See Policy 21 of the CDP for 

the full policy.  

 

11.6. Policy 21 also goes on to set out a number of general principles for designing parking provision 

of cars, cycles, and powered two wheelers, which should also be taken into consideration. 

These standards are set out in full in the Parking and Accessibility SPD28 which is briefly 

overviewed below. 

 

Parking and Accessibility SPD 

 

11.7. The Parking and Accessibility Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) sets out the councils 

parking and accessibility standards in greater detail, building on the general principles set out 

in CDP Policy 21 (Delivering Sustainable Transport). Parking standards are an essential part of 

the design of planning applications and wont usually require specific contributions in a form 

of a section 106 agreement.  

 

11.8. However, in addition to land take-up, there may be cost implications relating to providing EV 

chargepoint or secure parking provision for cycle parking.  

 

11.9. The SPD sets out specific standards for: 

 

 Car parking at origin and destination 

 Parking for blue badge holders 

 Electric vehicle charging bays 

 Cycle parking  

 

11.10. Other SPDs and County Durham Plan Policies 

 

 The Building for Life SPD requires consideration to be given to public transport access as 

part of a new development, including maximising public transport accessibility through 

the layout of the development 

 The Residential Amenity SPD includes a brief section on amenity of garages  

 CDP Policies 22 (Durham City Sustainable Transport) and 24 (Provision of New Transport 

Infrastructure) may also carry cost where they apply to a specific transport development 

proposal. 

 

Digital Infrastructure 

 

11.11. Policy 27 (Utilities, Telecommunications and Other Broadcast Infrastructure) of the CDP 

provides the planning policy guidance for developers to ensure residential and commercial 

premises are serviced by good quality, high speed broadband connections. Developers are 

encouraged to work with the commercial broadband suppliers during the development of 

proposals to ensure where possible that premises have the opportunity of being services with 

fibre broadband to the door. Where this is not possible for commercial reasons, developers, 

 
28 Need link once it is on the website 

Page 276



Page | 45 

 

again working with commercial providers will be expected include appropriate infrastructure 

within the development to enable future seamless installation. The exact cost for either the 

provision of services or appropriate infrastructure will vary on a site by site basis and whether 

commercial agreements are entered into between developers and providers. Full details are 

included within Policy 27. 

 

 

Do you have any comments on the Transport and Digital Infrastructure Section?  

 

  

Page 277



Page | 46 

 

12. Habitats Regulations Assessment 
 

Justification 

 

12.1. The Conservation of Habitats and Species (Amendment)(EU Exit) Regulations 2019 have 

created an national site network on land an at sea, including both the inshore and offshore 

marine areas in the UK.29 The national site network includes: 

 

 Existing SACs and SPAs 

 New SACs and SPAs designated under these Regulations 

 

12.2. Maintaining a coherent network of protected sites with overarching conservation objectives 

is still required in order to: 

 Fulfil the commitment made by the government to maintain environmental protections 

 Continue to meet our international legal obligations, such as the Bern Convention, the 

Oslo and Paris Conventions (OSPAR), Bonn and Ramsar Conventions. 

 

12.3. There are nine SACs, and SPAs in County Durham which are predominantly located in the 

western uplands and along the coastline. The Council has a duty to ensure that all the activities 

it controls, including land-use planning does not harm any of the sites or the natural processes 

that support them. In order to determine whether planning proposals are likely to harm the 

national site network or not, an assessment of their effects is required. This is known as 

Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA). Whilst it is the responsibility of the Council, as the 

competent authority, to undertake the HRA, those proposing or submitting planning 

applications will need to provide the Council with sufficient information and evidence to 

enable the assessment to be undertaken. 

 

12.4. If following HRA, taking mitigating measures into account, it is established that harm is likely 

to occur, or if there is uncertainty over the effects of a planning proposal, the Council will be 

required to proceed on a precautionary basis and not grant consent. The Council would only 

be able to grant consent under these circumstances if three additional, sequential tests 

(known as derogations) are met. These tests must be interpreted strictly and include: 

 

 no feasible less damaging alternative solutions to the proposal exist; 

 imperative reasons of overriding public interest can be demonstrated; and 

 compensatory measures can be secured. 

12.5. In practice it is likely that only a small minority of proposals will reach this stage of 

consideration and meet the tests. 

 

  

 
29 https://cieem.net/brexit-changes-to-the-habitats-regulations/ 

 

Page 278



Page | 47 

 

Coastal European Protected Sites 

 

12.6. HRA undertaken by the Council and supported by independent bird and coastal visitor surveys 

has established that recreational pressure could harm County Durham’s coastal national site 

network. Development types which increase recreational pressure (e.g. residential 

development, visitor accommodation/attractions) falling within 6km of the coastal European 

Protected Sites could contribute to harmful effects. For example, the disturbance of important 

breeding and over wintering bird populations. 

 

Contributions 

 

12.7. The Council has developed a coastal avoidance and mitigation strategy to implement a 

programme of monitoring and mitigation measures to address potential adverse effects on 

County Durham’s coastal European Protected Sites, which can be caused from increased 

visitor pressures resulting from new planned residential and tourist development. 

 

12.8. The Strategy requires a planning contribution of £662.43 per net new dwelling (or equivalent) 

for the housing sites allocated as part of the County Durham Plan, and £756.61 per net new 

dwelling (or equivalent30) for windfall sites between 0.4 and 6km as a straight line (as the crow 

flies) from the boundary of our coastal N2K sites. The contribution will fund the following 

avoidance and mitigation measures: 

 

 provision of alternative greenspaces to reduce the number of visits to the coast on a 

daily/weekly basis, with particular reference to high risk users as identified in the HRA of 

the County Durham Plan (2018), thereby reducing the levels of recreational disturbance 

predicted; 

 a series of mitigation measures on the coast to manage visitors, and prevent disturbance 

levels at the point of impact; and 

 the implementation of a monitoring strategy to understand the impacts of the mitigation 

and avoidance strategy and enable amendments to improve it where deemed necessary. 

 

12.9. Whilst this does not avoid the necessity of undertaking an HRA for planning applications on a 

site by site basis, this provides the recommended mitigation to address likely increases in 

recreational impacts caused by increased houses and tourism development. 

 

12.10. There will be a general presumption against new development which is likely to increase 

recreational pressure within 0.4km of the European Protected Sites boundary. Within this 

zone it is likely that an adverse effect can only be avoided or mitigated in exceptional 

circumstances. Any development with a 0.4km straight line distance of the boundary of 

Durham’s Coastal SAC and SPA sites will be assessed on its own merits with regards to the 

2019 Regulations. If significant impact cannot be precluded, a detailed project-level AA must 

ensure no adverse effect. 

 

 
30 Examples of other development (not a conclusive list) that will be required to contribute includes hotel/B&B rooms, 

caravan pitches and camp sites. Due to their bespoke nature these will be assessed on a case by case basis. 

Page 279



Page | 48 

 

HRA Developer Guidance 

 

12.11. Detailed developer guidance is provided in Appendix 3 of the SPD and aims to explain the 

responsibilities of the Council and developers in respect of HRA, the stages in the process and 

sets out in greater detail the coastal avoidance and mitigation strategy.   

 

12.12. If you are able to answer yes to either questions 1 or 2 below, all sections of the HRA Developer 

Guidance document (Appendix 3) are relevant. If you are able to answer yes to question 3 

only, please refer to The Regulations and Stages in the HRA Process and Participant 

Responsibilities sections.  NB: HRA Map 1, below, highlights the 0.4 and 6km buffers zones but 

can also be viewed on the County Durham Plan Policies Map. 

 

1. Is my development either within the boundary of a European Protected Site or within 

0.4km of the designation boundary? 

2. Is my development between 0.4km and 6km of a coastal European Protected Site(s) and 

likely to increase either the resident population or visitor levels to Durham’s coastline? 

3. Is my development outside of the 6km buffer, but its characteristics may result in impacts 

(direct and/or indirect) on the coastal designated sites? 

 

 

  

Page 280



Page | 49 

 

HRA Map 1 shows the 400m and 6km buffer zones for the Coastal European Protected Sites 

 

 

Page 281



Page | 50 

 

Summary Flowchart 

 

12.13. This flow chart provides a summary of the process to determine whether an HRA is necessary and the 

contribution required. 

 

 

Page 282



Page | 51 

 

Coastal Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy 

 

12.14. Recreational pressure and associated disturbance along the coast comes from two distinct 

pathways: 

 

 Residential pressure within a local catchment – Residents are likely to visit frequently and 

consistently e.g. to walk the dog or exercise. 

 Visitor pressure from a wider catchment – Visitors are likely to be ‘tourists’ from within 

and outside the region and are likely to visit less frequently. 

 

12.15. A three-pronged approach to the strategy is required to avoid likely significant effects to the 

coastal national site network and includes: 

 

Measure 1 

General presumption against any net increase in development within 0.4km of the coastal 

sites. 

Measure 2 

Provision/enhancement of alternative natural greenspace to reduce the frequency of visits 

to the coastal sites by residents and hence reduce pressure on them. 

Measure 3 

Coastal access management and monitoring measures to reduce and monitor the effects 

of residents and those from a wider catchment who visit the coastal sites. 

 

12.16. A 6km recreational catchment has been defined within which the strategy should be applied. 

Measures 2 and 3 should be applied from 0.4km from the perimeter of the coastal national 

site network to 6km from the perimeter of the network as the crow flies.  Further detail on 

each of the measures is provided in the HRA Developer Guidance in Appendix 3 of this SPD. 

 

12.17. Where development/project proposals fall within this 6km zone of influence, a shadow HRA 

or similar will be required to support the proposals, demonstrating no adverse impact on the 

integrity of the relevant national site network sites. The proposed Mitigation Strategy detailed 

below can be included where it is deemed adequate to address likely impacts identified. 

 

12.18. The supporting information for the HRA should build upon the Council's existing evidence 

base, with additional supporting information and surveys where required, and including an 

assessment of in-combination effects and discussion with neighboring local authorities where 

relevant. 

 

12.19. If either insufficient mitigation or information to support an Appropriate Assessment is 

supplied alongside proposals within the 0.4 to 6km buffer, the Council will need to apply the 

precautionary approach and will seek further information from the applicant, which may delay 

determination of the proposal. The Council will be minded to recommend refusal of proposals 

in the event that either: 

 

 the necessary mitigation cannot be secured; 

Page 283



Page | 52 

 

 evidence to inform the Appropriate Assessment is not provided which supports, to the 

Council’s satisfaction, a conclusion of ‘no likely significant effects’; and 

 the three sequential tests of absence of alternatives, IROPI and compensation cannot be 

demonstrated. 

Implementation 

 

12.20. The Strategy requires a planning contribution of £662.43 per net new dwelling (or equivalent) 

for the housing sites allocated as part of the County Durham Plan, and £756.61 per net new 

dwelling (or equivalent) for windfall sites between 0.4 and 6km as a straight line (as the crow 

flies) from the boundary of our coastal N2K sites. 

 

12.21. This has been calculated by simply dividing the number of likely net new dwellings (from 

allocated sites coming forward through the County Durham Plan within 6km of our coastal 

N2K sites, by the total cost of measures 2 and 3 as detailed within Appendix 3. 

 

Measure 2 + Measure 3 (Tier 1) / housing allocations = £662.43 

£70,000 + £257,902 / 495 = £662.43 

12.22. For Windfall sites we have calculated a total figure based on historic rates of delivery in the 

catchment over the last 5 years. This is divided this by the total cost of mitigation measures 

for Measure 3, Tier 2 Coastal Access Management and Monitoring Measures. 

 

Measure 3 (Tier 2) / Windfall = £756.61 

£280,702 / 371 = £756.61 

 

12.23. If appropriate, planning permission will be granted subject to conditions. Proposers/ land 

owners of small scale residential developments (less than 10 dwellings) will be given the 

choice as to whether to enter into either a Section 106 agreement or a unilateral 

undertaking.31 Where Section 106 agreements are required, these are to be agreed and 

entered into, prior to the determination of a planning application. Any payments made to the 

Council by Section 106 agreements should be paid no later than the commencement of the 

development to ensure that mitigation is in place prior to occupation. If the development is 

likely to be built in major phases, payment by instalment will be considered. 

 

12.24. Where specific measures and/or works (by the developer or, by others who are better placed 

to provide them) are needed to avoid and mitigate the effect that occupiers of a development 

will have on a coastal national site network site(s), these should be undertaken and in place 

before or in conjunction with those occupiers moving in. Consequently, in some cases the 

Council will, by planning condition or obligations, restrict the occupation of a development 

until related avoidance and mitigation measures and/or works are complete. 

 

12.25. Where contributions are secured and paid under a Section 106 Agreement with the Council, 

the receipt and use of contributions can be tracked and information on spending will, on 

 
31 A unilateral undertaking is a legal document made pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. This 

document provides that if you receive planning permission and decide to implement the development, you must make certain 
payments to the Council in the form of planning contributions. 

Page 284



Page | 53 

 

request from a contributing developer, be made available subject to the Council's reasonable 

costs being met. 

 

Tourism Development 

 

12.26. Where proposed tourism development is identified as having, in itself, a potential significant 

adverse impact on the national site network sites, permission will be subject to the specific 

provision of suitable mitigation measures appropriate to the circumstances. Due to the type 

of impact, and unknown location of proposals which are likely to come forward, it is likely that 

proposals will contribute to the Coastal Access and Management Measures. The amount and 

type of CAMMS and the level of financial contribution will be calculated on a site-by-site basis 

by utilizing a range of data including coastal bird data and information on the likely increases 

in users of the coast.  This approach will ensure that bespoke CAMMS are identified to deal 

with specific impacts arising from any tourism development. 

 

Measure 2: Greenspace provision 

 

12.27. Whilst alternative greenspace for the allocated sites has been accounted for, the provision or 

enhancement of alternative greenspace for windfall sites should be funded by developer 

contributions unless adequate onsite provision is being made. The calculation of costs will be 

undertaken on a case-by-case basis and will take account of acquisition costs if required, cost 

of enhancement measures and maintenance, and management costs in perpetuity. 

 

12.28. There will be a general presumption against any development on an alternative greenspace 

that has been enhanced/identified as mitigation to address likely impacts due to an increase 

in recreational disturbance by a development proposal, within 6km of the Durham Coast and 

associated Natura 2000 sites. Any developed proposed on these sites will be subject to a full 

HRA. 

 

Measure 3: Coastal Access Management and Monitoring 

 

12.29. Developer contributions will be used to fund the actions identified within the tables in 

Appendix 3. 

 

Question. Do you agree with the approach towards HRA mitigation?  

Please give reasons for your answers 

 

  

Page 285



Page | 54 

 

13. Biodiversity Net Gains 
 

Justification  

 

13.1. Policy 42 of the County Durham Plan states that: 

 

 “Proposals for new development will be expected to minimise impacts on biodiversity by 

retaining and enhancing existing biodiversity assets and features and provide net gains for 

biodiversity including by establishing coherent ecological networks.” 

 

13.2. Underpinning the policy within the Local Plan is the following paragraphs from the NPPF: 

 

 paragraph 170(d) requires planning decisions to provide net gains in biodiversity,  

 paragraph 174(b) requires plans to identify and pursue opportunities for securing 

measurable net gains for biodiversity; and 

 paragraph 175(a) states that if significant biodiversity losses cannot be avoided, 

mitigated, or compensated then permission should be refused.  

 

13.3. The following guidance should be used by applicants and their ecological consultants who are 

working on development projects within County Durham to ensure that appropriate evidence 

is supplied with the planning application and the Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) is delivered. 

 

13.4. This SPD does not provide guidance on how to use the biodiversity metric, used to inform BNG 

delivery. The Biodiversity Metric provides a way of measuring and accounting for biodiversity 

losses and gains resulting from development or land management change. Guidance on how 

to use the DEFRA biodiversity metric is available at the Natural England publications website32.  

The use of the metric and the provision of BNG are additional to the legal obligations and 

planning policies which require an applicant to properly assess and mitigate/compensate 

impacts on protected/priority species as part of development management. It is also separate 

from other considerations such as open space standards and green infrastructure, although it 

may be inherently linked as biodiversity gain can be delivered as part of open space provision 

required as part of either the Open Space Needs Assessment or Habitat Regulations 

Assessments (HRA).   

 

13.5. Development proposals must clearly demonstrate that an overall BNG will be achieved. In 

general, for Major applications the Council will be seeking 10% net gains and will require use 

of the DEFRA metric.  For Minor applications there is no percentage BNG increase stipulated, 

and a DEFRA metric may not be required depending on the habitats at the development site.  

 

13.6. It should be noted that Natural England have released (July 2021) a Small Sites Metric for use 

on sites with 1 – 9 houses and a development area less than 0.5ha as a beta test.  Further 

details can be found on their website33.  The Small Sites Metric is likely to be used for most 

Minor applications, given the current guidance on the thresholds for its use provided by 

Natural England. 

 

 
32 http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/5850908674228224  
33 http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6047259574927360 

Page 286



Page | 55 

 

13.7. The guidance on BNG within this document regarding minor applications will be reviewed 

once the Council has examined the Small Sites Metric and held discussions with Natural 

England to determine the extent of its potential uses for Minor applications as part of the 

consultation process for this SPD. 

 

13.8. Review of the BNG guidance will also be required when the Environment Bill becomes law and 

additional guidance is provided by DEFRA and Natural England. 

 

General Principles 

 

13.9. The BNG process embeds the mitigation hierarchy, this is a hierarchical approach first seeking 

to avoid impacts, then to minimise them, then take on-site measures to rehabilitate or restore 

biodiversity, before finally offsetting residual, unavoidable impacts.  All methods of avoidance 

and on-site mitigation must be fully explored before any off-site compensation is considered. 

 

13.10. Development projects should achieve net gains at every stage of the mitigation hierarchy, for 

example development projects should avoid losses and seek biodiversity enhancements on 

retained habitats.  The advantage of this approach is that biodiversity gains are more 

straightforward and cost effective than if losses are incurred. 

 

13.11. Publicly accessible open space can be used for biodiversity delivery; for example, the provision 

of alternate accessible greenspace for the purposes of the HRA can be combined with semi-

natural habitats to provide for biodiversity.  It should be noted that the condition of semi-

natural habitats within accessible spaces will be impacted upon due to recreational pressure 

and this should be accounted for within the metric. 

 

13.12. All planning applications should use the latest version of the DEFRA Biodiversity Metric to 

ensure a consistent approach. It should be noted that BNG considers biodiversity in the whole 

and the metric only forms part of the BNG assessment. The DEFRA metric provides a quantified 

net gain assessment and applicants should be wary of relying wholly on the metric.  For 

example, issues may arise when a quantified net gain is shown but the development severs 

ecological connectivity or impacts a locally rare habitat.  Priority species and important species 

assemblages are not accounted for within the metric and specific compensation might be 

required for any identified important ecological receptors.   

 

13.13. Both qualitative and quantitative assessments should be used assess the development site 

and design BNG outcomes. The inclusion of in-built engineered nests and roosts for birds, bats 

and invertebrates into the fabric of new builds can deliver for net gains and should be included 

where possible. The metric does not account for such actions and the consultant ecologist in 

assessing BNG should factor in these items.  

 

13.14. All semi-natural habitats, whether on-site or off-site, that play a role in delivering for 

biodiversity net gains will be subject to a Biodiversity Management & Monitoring Plan which 

will cover a minimum of 30 years.   

 

Page 287



Page | 56 

 

When the Calculations Show a Net Loss or that BNG cannot be achieved on site 

 

13.15. If this is the case, then the following options must be considered: 

 

1. re-design the proposed scheme to avoid a net loss of biodiversity: The mitigation hierarchy 

must be adequately demonstrated within the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal or 

Ecological Impact Assessment. It may be possible to re-design a proposed development to 

avoid a net loss of biodiversity;  

2. provision of compensation on land owned or controlled by the applicant where habitat 

enhancement, restoration or creation can be undertaken.   In this case the receptor site 

would also need to be subject to ecological surveys and an assessment using the metric 

to prove that the land can deliver the required number of biodiversity units34 to achieve 

net gains. The receptor site would then be legally linked to the application through a 

planning obligation in a Section 106 (S106) agreement; and/or 

3. the applicant enters into an agreement with a delivery provider (a third-party organisation 

or broker who will create or restore and manage habitats) for off-site BNG.  The applicant 

would need to provide evidence in the form of documentation from a BNG delivery 

provider to demonstrate that they have secured the required level of biodiversity units.  

 

13.16. The Council does not have to offer to take on responsibility of delivering the off-site BNG 

instead of the applicant; it should be the responsibility of the applicant to try and deliver the 

BNG even if it requires purchase or renting of land to deliver the off-site requirements. 

However, to try and facilitate development in County Durham the Council is considering how 

it can provide a role in this process; a further two options may be available should there be 

clear evidence that the options above are not available and the Council has land available for 

the purposes of offsetting at the time of the application. 

 

4. the Council provides the land upon which the applicant delivers the habitat creation or 

enhancement works required to deliver the required level of biodiversity units.  The 

applicant will lease the land from the county council for a period of 30 years and be 

responsible for the management of the land, maintenance of any infrastructure and be 

responsible for all liabilities.  The applicant will be responsible for collecting baseline 

ecological data on the land to inform the metric.  The land will revert to the County Council 

at the end of the 30-year term; or 

5. the applicant provides the Council with a financial contribution or tariff per biodiversity 

unit to deliver the required biodiversity units. 

 

13.17. The sum of money required for 1 Biodiversity Unit will be £15,00035 index-linked (and pro-rata 

i.e., 0.4 Biodiversity Units = £6,000).  This tariff rate will be reassessed on an annual basis. 

 

 
34 A biodiversity unit is a unit of account. Metrics assign all habitats a unit value according to their relative biodiversity 

value (e.g. species-rich grassland is more valuable than species-poor grassland). The scores assigned to habitats vary 

between the different metrics. 
35 £15k based on DEFRA net gain proposals consultation 

Page 288



Page | 57 

 

Outline applications 

 

13.18. At the outline stage the Council will need to determine if, in principle, the application has the 

capacity to comply with BNG requirements. 

 

13.19. Outline applications often do not have a fixed layout, but usually include some form of 

parameters plan or illustrative masterplan, which can be used as a basis for the proposed 

habitats plan. 

 

13.20. Landscape plans for outline applications are often not developed in any detail until the 

reserved matters stage however, the applicant’s project team need to work together to 

determine what areas may be available for biodiversity enhancements and agree a basic 

package of enhancements, which could realistically be delivered. It is also important that other 

land uses within the development are considered at this stage (e.g., the requirement for 

allotments, pitches, play areas etc.), which will have implications for land use allocations.   

 

13.21. At outline stage, it may be necessary to make some assumptions to fulfil the requirements of 

the DEFRA metric. For example, the metric could be based on a worst-case scenario (e.g., 

assume all built development areas could be categorised as “Urban – Suburban/ mosaic of 

developed/ natural surfaces”) to ensure that subsequent reserved matters applications can 

also apply the metric once the details of the scheme are available.  

 

13.22. Some minor applications will not require the use of the DEFRA metric or a Biodiversity 

Management and Monitoring Plan (see section on Minor Applications for details), where this 

is the case the only requirement at outline stage is for a Habitat Baseline Plan, Proposed 

Habitats Plan, and a Biodiversity Net Gain Statement.  A S106 will secure the delivery of a 

revised Proposed Habitat Plan.  All Major Applications and Minor Applications requiring a 

DEFRA metric should follow the guidance below. 

 

Evidence requirements for outline applications: 

 

13.23. Alongside the standard Preliminary Ecological Assessment (PEA) and other survey work 

recommended by the PEA the following documents / plans are required to assess BNG. 

 

• Habitat Baseline Plan.  This usually forms part of the PEA.  The plan must clearly show the 

areas covered by each of the existing habitat types and the area in hectares (ha) of each 

habitat type (or for each habitat parcel, as some habitats may be scattered throughout 

the site).  Linear features should also be shown alongside their length in metres (m). 

• Proposed Habitats Plan.  This plan should, as far as possible, show proposed habitat types 

or linear features being retained, enhanced, and created.  Estimated areas and or lengths 

of each habitat type or linear feature should also be included.  Any other proposed 

biodiversity enhancements (including for priority species) should also be shown on this 

plan e.g., bird and bat boxes.  This information can be placed within the site layout plan, 

illustrative masterplan, green infrastructure plan or landscape plans. 

• Proposed Biodiversity Metric.  The information in the metric should be directly related to 

the Habitat Baseline Plan and the Proposed Habitats Plan. The completed spreadsheet 

Page 289



Page | 58 

 

must be submitted. Detailed justifications for the choice of habitat types, distinctiveness 

and condition should be added to the ‘comments’ column. All assumptions made in the 

calculations should be clearly identifiable. Different habitat parcels should be individually 

referenced and identifiable on the relevant drawing so that these can be cross-referenced 

with the metric.  

• BNG Statement.  The consultant ecologist should provide a statement, which can be held 

within the PEA, explaining the proposed net gain delivery.  This statement is especially 

important when items such as built-in bird, bat and invertebrate nesting boxes and other 

items not identified within the metric are being used to help deliver net gains.  Any 

compensation for priority species or important species assemblages not accounted for 

within the metric should be detailed in the BNG statement. 

• Proposed outline Biodiversity Management and Monitoring Plan.  At outline application 

stage an outline Biodiversity Management & Monitoring Plan (BMMP) is required.  This 

document should provide the Council with sufficient information to determine that the 

habitat creation and long-term management (30 years) is deliverable for both on-site 

habitats and any off-site habitats created or enhanced. 

 

13.24. If the proposed metric shows that net gain requirements can be met on site, then the delivery 

of on-site net gains, the production of a revised Habitats Plan, revised DEFRA metric and 

BMMP will be secured through a planning obligation in a Section 106 (S106) agreement. 

 

13.25. If the proposed metric determines that net gains cannot be met on-site, then one of the 

following options will need to be agreed with the Council and appropriate evidence provided: 

 

• Off-site location provided by applicant.  If the applicant proposes to provide 

compensation on land owned or controlled by the applicant, then the compensation land 

must be clearly identified as part of the application and be included within the proposed 

DEFRA metric and BMMP. 

The consultant ecological consultant using the proposed DEFRA metric will determine a 

reasonable area of land and type of habitats required for compensation; identification of 

this land area by the applicant provides the Council with the confidence that the applicant 

can deliver net gains. 

The delivery of a revised DEFRA metric, Habitats Plan and BMMP for on-site and off-site 

locations commensurate with the scale and type held within the proposed DEFRA metric 

will be secured through a planning obligation in a Section 106 (S106) agreement. 

• BNG Delivery Provider.  If the applicant has decided to use a third party or broker to 

deliver any off-site biodiversity requirements the Council will require evidence in the form 

of documentation from a BNG delivery provider to demonstrate that the broker can 

deliver the required level of biodiversity units. 

The proposed metric will determine a reasonable number of biodiversity units required to 

deliver net gains.  Documentation from the broker provides the Council with the 

confidence that the broker can deliver net gains. 

The delivery of a revised DEFRA metric, Habitats Plan and BMMP for the development site 

and documentation from a BNG delivery provider demonstrating that the required level 

Page 290



Page | 59 

 

of off-site biodiversity units to achieve net gains will be delivered shall be secured through 

a planning obligation in a Section 106 (S106) agreement. 

• Durham County Council Land use.  The use of Council land must be agreed with Corporate 

Property and Land (CPAL) and be clearly identified as part of the application and included 

within the DEFRA metric and BMMP.   

The proposed metric will determine a reasonable area of land required for compensatory 

habitats, identification of this land area and agreement by CPAL provides the Council with 

the confidence that the applicant can deliver net gains. 

The delivery of a revised DEFRA metric, Habitats Plan and BMMP for on-site and off-site 

locations commensurate with the scale and type held within the proposed DEFRA metric 

will be secured through a planning obligation in a Section 106 (S106) agreement. 

• BNG Tariff.  An estimated financial contribution will be calculated using the metric results 

and the tariff rate at the time of the application. 

The proposed metric will determine a reasonable number of biodiversity units required to 

deliver net gains and hence the amount of financial contribution required.  Calculation of 

an estimated financial contribution at the time of the application provides the Council 

with the confidence that the applicant can provide the financial contribution. 

A S106 will secure the submission of revised DEFRA metric based on the finalised Habitats 

Plan, the amount of tariff payable to the Council will be calculated using the revised DEFRA 

metric and the tariff rate at the time of the outline application. 

Major Applications 

 

13.26. In the case of major applications, requirements are as follows: 

 

 Requires the use of the latest version of the DEFRA metric, 

 The Council will seek 10% net gain. 

 Any off-site land requirements should ideally be met by the applicant or via a broker. 

 

Evidence Requirements for Major Applications 

 

13.27. Alongside the standard Preliminary Ecological Assessment (PEA) and other survey work 

recommended by the PEA and validation checklist the following documents / plans are 

required to assess BNG. 

 

 Habitat Baseline Plan.  This usually forms part of the PEA.  The plan must clearly show the 

areas covered by each of the existing habitat types and the area in hectares (ha) of each 

habitat type (or for each habitat parcel, as some habitats may be scattered throughout 

the site).  Linear features should also be shown alongside their length in metres (m). 

 Proposed Habitats Plan. This plan should clearly show habitat types or linear features 

being retained, enhanced, and created, and the area or length of each habitat type or 

linear feature; it must be colour-coded so that each habitat type is easily identifiable. 

Page 291



Page | 60 

 

Other proposed biodiversity enhancements (including for priority species) and protected 

species mitigation areas should also be shown on this plan e.g., bird and bat boxes.  This 

information can be placed within the site layout plan, illustrative masterplan, green 

infrastructure plan or landscape plans. 

 DEFRA Biodiversity Metric.  The information in the metric should be directly related to 

the Habitat Baseline Plan and the Proposed Habitats Plan. The completed spreadsheet 

must be submitted. Detailed justifications for the choice of habitat types, distinctiveness 

and condition should be added to the ‘comments’ column where appropriate.  All 

assumptions made in the calculations should be clearly identifiable.  Different habitat 

parcels should be individually referenced and identifiable on the relevant drawing so that 

these can be cross-referenced with the metric. A minimum level of 10% BNG overall will 

be expected. 

 BNG Statement.  The consultant ecologist should provide a statement, which can be held 

within the PEA, explaining how net gains have been achieved.  This statement is especially 

important when items such as built-in bird, bat and invertebrate nesting boxes and other 

items not identified within the metric are being used to help deliver net gains.  Any 

compensation for priority species or important species assemblages not accounted for 

within the metric should be detailed in the BNG statement. 

 Habitat Creation, Management and Monitoring Plan.  At application stage an outline 

Biodiversity Management & Monitoring Plan (BMMP) is required.  This document should 

provide the Council with sufficient informed to determine that the habitat creation and 

long-term management (30 years) is deliverable for both on-site habitats and any off-site 

habitats created or enhanced.  The production of a detailed BMMP and its delivery will be 

secured through appropriate legal agreements. 

 

13.28. The BMMP should include the following: 

 

 location and description.  An assessment of the site where habitat enhancement / 

creation is to take place, this is required to ensure that the habitat creation/enhancement 

is possible at the specified location; 

 features or factors influencing the management of the site. This may include management 

constraints e.g., access for machinery or livestock, or legal constraints such as the 

presence the presence of protected or invasive species.  Other factors may include soil 

nutrient levels or information pertaining to hydrology; 

 target Habitat descriptions; 

 outline details of the habitat management over the 30-year period; 

 monitoring protocols and timetables.  This is required to ensure the successful 

establishment/restoration of the habitat, evaluating the success of management activities 

and provide feedback for management.  Monitoring intervals are likely to be the first year 

of commencement and years 2, 5, 10, 15, 20 and 30 depending on the habitat type being 

discussed; and 

 management plan review.  The Management Plan should be subject to a review every 10 

years. The review should include an appraisal of the habitats present at the site (based on 

the monitoring surveys), assessment of the success of the management plan to date and 

any required revisions to the plan. 

Page 292



Page | 61 

 

 

13.29. When delivery of 10% net gains is not possible within the development boundary the following 

options are available to the applicant, each option has evidence requirements that must be 

provided at the time of the application. 

 

 Off-site location provided by applicant.  If the applicant proposes to provide 

compensation on land owned or controlled by the applicant, then the compensation land 

must be clearly identified as part of the application and be included within the DEFRA 

metric and BMMP. 

 BNG Delivery Provider.  If the applicant has decided to use a third party or broker to 

deliver any off-site biodiversity requirements the Council will require evidence in the form 

of documentation from a BNG delivery provider to demonstrate that they have secured 

the required level of biodiversity units. 

 

13.30. A further two options may be available should there be clear evidence that the options above 

are not available. 

 

 Durham County Council Land use.  The use of DCC land must be agreed with Corporate 

Property and Land and be clearly identified as part of the application and included within 

the DEFRA metric and BMMP.   

 BNG Tariff.  The financial contribution will be calculated using the metric results and the 

tariff rate at the time of the application.  The payment of the tariff will be secured through 

an appropriate legal mechanism or unilateral undertaking. 

 

Minor Applications 

 

13.31. In the case of minor applications, requirements are as follows: 

 

• May require the use of the DEFRA metric depending on the scale of impacts36, 

• The Council will expect net gains to be achieved (but no percentage is specified), 

• Option to provide the Council with a financial contribution rather than provide an off-site 

location and long-term management. 

 

13.32. The Council is providing a lower threshold for minor developments on land that contains low 

distinctiveness habitats such as improved pasture and sealed surfaces.  This is in line with 

DEFRA Guidance: 

 

For the purposes of BNG assessment, it is recommended that Councils set lower 

thresholds to define small-scale development with a low impact on biodiversity, that can 

follow a simplified BNG approach.  It is important to note that ecological survey and 

assessment may lead to a change in the level of impact predicted for a development 

project. Where this happens, it may no longer be appropriate to follow a simplified route, 

and the main guide should be used. 

 

 
36 The approach to BNG for Minor Applications will be reviewed in the future, with the likely application of the ‘Small Sites 

Metric’. 

Page 293



Page | 62 

 

13.33. For minor applications, the Council may request the use of a metric depending on the level of 

impacts on biodiversity. 

 

13.34. Where the habitats or linear features on site are of Low distinctiveness and in Poor to 

Moderate condition (DEFRA metric classifications) the Council is unlikely to ask for a metric 

calculation.  This will need to be confirmed with the Council Ecologist as other factors may 

determine the requirement for the use of the metric.  For example, ecological connectivity 

and the location of the development site within a strategically identified area for biodiversity 

may trigger the need for the use of a metric. 

 

13.35. Should the PEA identify UK Priority Habitats or habitats of higher distinctiveness then the 

application will be dealt with as per the methodology for Major Applications and the 

mitigation hierarchy should be applied alongside NPPF para 175 a:  

 

a) if significant harm to biodiversity resulting from a development cannot be avoided 

(through locating on an alternative site with less harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, 

or, as a last resort, compensated for, then planning permission should be refused. 

 

Evidence Requirements for Minor Applications 

 

13.36. Alongside the standard Preliminary Ecological Assessment (PEA) and other survey work 

recommended by the PEA the following documents / plans are required to assess BNG. 

 

 Habitat Baseline Plan.  This usually forms part of the PEA.  The plan must clearly show the 

areas covered by each of the existing habitat types and the area in hectares (ha) of each 

habitat type (or for each habitat parcel, as some habitats may be scattered throughout 

the site).  Linear features should also be shown alongside their length in metres (m). 

 The PEA and associated habitat baseline plan will enable the Council ecologist to 

determine if a metric is required to support the application.   

 

13.37. If a metric is requested, then the following information will be required: 

 

 Proposed Habitats Plan. This plan should clearly show habitat types or linear features 

being retained, enhanced, and created, and the area or length of each habitat type or 

linear feature; it must be colour-coded so that each habitat type is easily identifiable. 

Other proposed biodiversity enhancements (including for priority species) and protected 

species mitigation areas should also be shown on this plan e.g., bird and bat boxes.  This 

information can be placed within the site layout plan, illustrative masterplan, green 

infrastructure plan or landscape plans. 

 DEFRA Biodiversity Metric.  The information in the metric should be directly related to 

the Habitat Baseline Plan and the Proposed Habitats Plan. The completed spreadsheet 

must be submitted. Detailed justifications for the choice of habitat types, distinctiveness 

and condition should be added to the ‘comments’ column where appropriate. All 

assumptions made in the calculations should be clearly identifiable. Different habitat 

Page 294



Page | 63 

 

parcels should be individually referenced and identifiable on the relevant drawing so that 

these can be cross-referenced with the metric.  

 BNG Statement.  The consultant ecologist should provide a statement, which can be held 

within the PEA, explaining how net gains have been achieved.  This statement is especially 

important when items such as built-in bird, bat and invertebrate nesting boxes and other 

items not identified within the metric are being used to help deliver net gains.  Any 

compensation for priority species or important species assemblages not accounted for 

within the metric should be detailed in the BNG statement. 

 Habitat Creation, Management and Monitoring Plan.  At application stage an outline 

Biodiversity Management & Monitoring Plan (BMMP) is required.  This document should 

provide the Council with sufficient information to determine that the habitat creation and 

long-term management (30 years) is deliverable for both on-site habitats and any off-site 

habitats created or enhanced.  The production of a detailed BMMP and its delivery will be 

secured through appropriate legal agreements 

 

13.38. When delivery of net gains is not possible within the development boundary the following 

options are available to the applicant, each option has evidence requirements that must be 

provided at the time of the application. 

 

• BNG Tariff.  The financial contribution will be calculated using the DEFRA metric results 

and the tariff rate at the time of the application.  The payment of the tariff will be secured 

through an appropriate legal mechanism or unilateral undertaking. 

• Durham County Council Land use.  The use of DCC land must be agreed with Corporate 

Land and Property and clearly identified as part of the application and included within the 

DEFRA metric.   

• BNG Delivery Provider.  If the applicant has decided to use a third party or broker to 

deliver any off-site biodiversity requirements the COUNCIL will require evidence in the 

form of documentation from a BNG delivery provider to demonstrate that they have 

secured the required level of biodiversity units 

• Off-site location provided by applicant.  If the applicant proposes to provide 

compensation on land owned or controlled by the applicant, then the compensation land 

must be clearly identified as part of the application and included within the DEFRA metric. 

 

13.39. If a metric is not requested, then the following information will be required: 

 

• Proposed Habitats Plan. This plan should clearly show habitat types or linear features 

being retained, enhanced, and created, and the area or length of each habitat type or 

linear feature; it must be colour-coded so that each habitat type is easily identifiable. 

Other biodiversity enhancements (including for priority species) and protected species 

mitigation areas should also be shown on this plan e.g., bird and bat boxes.  This 

information can be placed within the site layout plan, illustrative masterplan, green 

infrastructure plan or landscape plans. 

• BNG Statement.  This statement, which can be held within the PEA, details how the 

application meets the net gain requirements through the provision of wildlife friendly 

features within the site.  For example, the species of invertebrates, birds and bats 

Page 295



Page | 64 

 

benefiting from the provision of built-in nesting features or green walls and greater 

ecological connectivity generated through the inclusion of native hedgerow planting.   

 

Purpose and Location of Off-Site BNG 

 

13.40. The main priority for any off-site BNG must be the conservation, restoration and re-creation 

of priority habitats and ecological networks. 

 

13.41. Off-site BNG should be delivered with the boundaries of County Durham. 

 

13.42. The DEFRA metric incorporates ‘strategic significance’ into its calculations of an off-site 

habitats’ ecological value.  Delivering off-site compensation within the areas identified within 

the Ecological Opportunities Map as priority locations creates a higher value ‘strategic 

position multiplier’ within the metric and therefore makes meeting net gain requirements 

easier.  By the same token development within the core areas or priority locations should be 

avoided as impacts within identified strategic locations for biodiversity incurs a penalty within 

the metric. 

 

13.43. The Council is developing an Ecological Opportunities Map that shows core areas of broad 

habitat types (woodland and grassland) and using the focal species approach has identified 

the priority locations for habitat creation and restoration.  The wetland mapping has not yet 

been produced and in the interim it is proposed to use the Natural England Great Crested 

Newt Risk Zones (Northumberland, Durham, Tyne & Wear and Tees Valley) as a proxy.  

Delivery of compensation for wetlands within the Amber Zone37 will be regarded as being 

within a strategically significant area. 

 

13.44. The restoration or enhancement of Local Wildlife Sites is automatically regarded as being 

delivery within a strategically significant area. 

 

13.45. The biodiversity map layers are available at https://www.durham.gov.uk/maps. 

 

Question. Do you agree with the approach to the delivery of Biodiversity Net Gains?  

Please give reasons for your answers 

  

 
37 Amber zones contain main population centres for GCN and comprise important connecting habitat that aids natural dispersal. 

Page 296



Page | 65 

 

14. Conclusion and Next Steps 
 

14.1. The SPD has been prepared, with regard to, national policy and the requirements set out in 

the CDP and sets out the Council’s approach to determining and securing developer 

contributions for new development across the county. 

 

Next Steps 

 

14.2. Following this consultation, officers will review and consider all of the comments made. These 

comments and our responses will be published and changes made where possible. We will 

give reasons where it has not been possible to make a change. The revised Development 

viability, affordable housing and financial contributions SPD will then be published for a 

second round of consultation as soon as practicable. 

 

Page 297



Page | 66 

 

Appendix 1 – Designated Rural Areas 
Map I shows Designated Rural Areas 

 

P
age 298



Page | 67 

 

Appendix 2 - Viability Areas 
Map F shows Viability Areas 

 

 

P
age 299



Page | 68 

 

Appendix 3 
 

Habitat Regulations Developer Guidance 

 

The Regulations 

 

1. The Conservation of Habitats and Species (Amendment)(EU Exit) Regulations 2019, referred to 

as the '2019 Regulations' implement in Great Britain the requirements of the EU Directive on the 

Conservation of Natural Habitats and of Wild Fauna and Fauna, referred to as the 'Habitats 

Directive' (Council Directive 92/43/EEC) and protect areas classified under Directive 

2009/147/EC referred to as the 'Birds Directive.' The regulations aim to protect a network of 

sites now called the national site network, that have rare or important habitats and species 

threatened at a pan European level in order to safeguard biodiversity. 

 

2. County Durham has a number of designated sites that fall into the national site network, 

including: 

 

 Special Areas of Conservation (SAC): protected because they make a significant 

contribution to conserving habitats and species listed in the Habitats Directive. 

 

3. In County Durham there are 6 whole or part SACs which are predominantly divided between the 

western uplands and the coastline. These are: 

 

 Castle Eden Dene 

 Durham Coast 

 Moor House-Upper Teesdale 

 North Pennine Dales Meadows  

 North Pennine Moors 

 Thrislington 

  

Page 300



Page | 69 

 

HRA Map 2 shows SAC’s within and bordering County Durham 

 

 

4. Special Protection Areas (SPA): protected because they constitute internationally important 

areas for breeding, feeding, wintering or the migration of rare and vulnerable species of birds 

listed under the Birds Directive. 

 

5. In County Durham there are 3 whole or part SPA’s, which are predominantly divided between 

the western uplands and the coastline. 

 

 North Pennine Moors 

 Northumbria Coast 

 Teesmouth & Cleveland Coast 

 Proposed extension to Teesmouth & Cleveland Coast (pSPA) 

 

6. Each SPA has a list if qualifying bird species for which it is designated. 

 

7. Land not within the SPA but used by the qualifying bird species of the site may also be protected 

as ‘functional land’ (determined through bird surveys) utilized by and necessary to support the 

SPAs bird populations. 

 

Page 301



Page | 70 

 

8. A sub-set of the coastline designated as SPA is also designated as an internationally important 

wetland under the Ramsar Convention of 1971 and receives the same level of protection as a 

European site. 

HRA Map 3 shows SPA’s within and bordering County Durham 

 

9. Under Regulation 63 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species (Amendment)(EU Exit) 

Regulations 2019, the Council (as a Competent Authority) has a duty to ensure that all the 

activities it regulates have no adverse effect on the integrity of any of the European Protected 

Sites. The only exception to this arises where plans and projects are able to demonstrate 

Imperative Reasons of Overriding Public Interest (IROPI). The Council must assess the possible 

effects of a plan or project on any sites and shall agree to them (give consent), only after 

ascertaining that they will either not adversely affect sites or the tests of IROPI have been met. 

The term Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) has come into use for describing the overall 

assessment process including screening for likely significant effects and the specific Appropriate 

Assessment stage. 

 

10. It is important to understand that the HRA will address not only the instigating plan or project 

but must also consider the in combination (cumulative) effect the plan or project may have 

along with other plans or projects which may be generated from multiple, diverse sources. Plans 

or projects which are geographically separate from the site but which may still have an indirect 

effect on the site, (for example increased air pollution or recreational use) will also need to be 

considered. It is also necessary to recognize that effects (including cumulative effects) may 

extend beyond administrative boundaries and that there will be a need to consult with 

Page 302



Page | 71 

 

neighbouring authorities. In Durham this will apply to all national network sites along with the 

functional land supporting the qualifying birds of the SPA. 

 

11. The precautionary approach to the HRA process means that a “significant effect” should be 

considered likely if it cannot be completely excluded on the basis of the available information. 

The absence of information is not a basis to assume no negative effect. 

 

HRA Findings 

 

12. Previous HRA undertaken by Durham County Council and supported by independent bird and 

coastal visitor surveys determined that recreational pressure and associated disturbance could 

have a detrimental effect on the habitat and species for which County Durham's coastal national 

network sites (Durham Coast SAC, Northumbria Coast SPA and Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast 

SPA) were designated. These sites collectively host the only example of vegetated sea cliffs on 

magnesian limestone exposures in the UK, important over wintering wader populations and 

internationally important breeding populations of Little Tern. The research undertaken as part of 

the HRA has identified that development types which increase recreational pressure, (e.g. 

Residential development, visitor accommodation or attractions) falling within 6km of the coastal 

national site network are likely to contribute to detrimental effects. For further information 

please see Appendix C to this document and the 2018 HRA of the County Durham Plan. 

 

Sub-Regional Working 

 

13. The coastal national site network extends into five authorities in the region38 and recreational 

pressure arising in County Durham or its neighbouring authorities is not limited to its own 

administrative boundaries. Therefore, in order to be sure of a consistent approach, Durham 

County Council is working jointly at a sub-regional level to implement complimentary avoidance 

and mitigation measures and will endeavour to continue to do so in the future. 

 

Document Status 

 

14. This guidance document is a working document and will be reviewed for its effectiveness at least 

every 5 years or sooner if new evidence emerges or monitoring results indicate that a more 

urgent review is required. The Council is confident that the measures advocated will be 

effective, however if for some reason specific measures are not found to be working, these will 

be readdressed. 

 

Further Information 

 

15. For further information on Habitats Regulations Assessment, please contact the Ecology Team at 

ecology@durham.gov.uk 

 

 
38 Including Northumberland County Council, South Tyneside Council, Sunderland City Council, and Hartlepool Borough 

Council 

Page 303



Page | 72 

 

Stages in the HRA Process and Participant Responsibilities 

 

16. A staged approach is adopted for undertaking an HRA: 

 

 Screening 

 Appropriate Assessment 

 Avoidance and Mitigation 

 Absence of alternatives, IROPI and compensation 

 

 

17. For each of these stages it is the responsibility of the applicant or proposer of a plan or project 

to provide sufficient information, in a suitable format, to the Council as the competent authority. 

The timing and content of each stage will be agreed in advance by the proposer and Durham 

County Council. A flowchart showing the stages is included at Appendix A. 

 

Stage 1 Screening 

 

18. The purpose of the screening stage is to determine whether the plan or project is connected 

with or necessary for the management of the site and if not whether it is 'likely to have a 

significant effect' on a national network site (either alone or in combination with other plans and 

projects) and therefore require appropriate assessment. 

 

19. There is no formal requirement for a screening stage in the habitats legislation, however, 

screening is a useful assessment tool. The assessment acts as a coarse filter which should not 

require extensive supporting evidence to establish where Likely (is it possible, not is it probable) 

Significant (i.e. not trivial or inconsequential) Effects will occur. The Council will decide how 

screening should be applied in each case, depending on the likelihood of significant effects on a 

national network site. Please note that the precautionary principle applies to the screening 

stage, therefore if Likely Significant Effects cannot be ruled out, an appropriate assessment will 

be required. 

 

20. However, if at this stage it can be concluded that no likely significant effects arise from the plan 

or project then no further stages of the HRA are required. It is strongly in an applicant’s interests 

to ensure that any need for formal screening is identified as early as possible. In practice they 

should seek to confirm this during pre-application discussions with the Council to help minimise 

delays. 

 

21. Following the outcomes of recent caselaw (People Over Wind and Sweetman, 2018) changes 

have been made to this guidance document to reflect the new judgement. Where previously as 

a result of the "Dilly Lane" case, (R on the application of Hart DC) v Secretary of State for 

Communities and Local Government [2008].) it was concluded that mitigation or compensation 

measures that were part of the project could be taken into account at the screening stage of the 

Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA). If such measures were capable of avoiding or offsetting 

the effects on the national network site, then a finding of "no significant effects" could be made 

at the screening stage, and a full HRA assessment would not be required. This has allowed 

projects which adopted adequate mitigation to proceed in the UK without full HRA. 

 

Page 304



Page | 73 

 

22. In the new judgement (People Over Wind and Sweetman (2018)) the CJEU concluded that 

mitigation measures could not be considered as part of the project, and thus the screening stage 

of HRA should not take account of them. This will undoubtedly be tested further in the courts in 

coming months and years, but it seems that the issue is whether the mitigation measures 

proposed can genuinely be considered as part of the project, in that they would happen in any 

case, irrespective of the national network site. If not, then they should be considered mitigation 

measures, and considered at the Appropriate Assessment stage of HRA. 

 

23. The implications of this are that all development proposals within 6km of the County Durham 

Coastline and associated national network sites, would be likely in future to need to proceed to 

full HRA as they would be unlikely to be able to demonstrate an absence of significant effect in 

the absence of the proposed mitigation. In many cases, this would simply be a need to carry out 

further assessment work. However, it could have some implications for the success of schemes 

in some cases, since the "test" at the appropriate assessment stage is more stringent, being 

"beyond reasonable scientific doubt" rather than the screening stage test "on the basis of 

objective information".  

 

Stage 2. Appropriate Assessment 

 

24. If, after screening, it is undetermined whether adverse effects are likely or screening process 

identified particular adverse effects either alone or in combination, then an assessment of only 

those identified effects i.e. An Appropriate Assessment, on the qualifying features of the 

SAC/SPA must be carried out. The Appropriate Assessment utilises evidence to further refine 

and quantify the identified effects, and to consider them in combination with any proposed 

mitigation, and any other plans and projects. 

 

25. It is the responsibility of the Council to undertake the Appropriate Assessment and to determine 

whether there will be an adverse effect on the integrity of the national network site. At the end 

of the assessment process Durham County Council must be certain that there will be no adverse 

effect on the Conservation Objectives of the site before it can consider allowing the plan or 

project to proceed. It is the responsibility of the applicant or proposer to provide sufficient 

information and evidence in an appropriate format for the Council to carry out the assessment.  

This will be in the form of a “shadow” Appropriate Assessment, likely to consist of a suite of 

specialist surveys and desk studies including an assessment of in combination plans or projects. 

The Council must consult Natural England on the assessment process and have regard to any 

representations made. If at this stage it can be concluded that no adverse effects arise then no 

further stages of HRA are required. 

 

Stage 3. Avoidance and Mitigation 

 

26. Where likely significant effects continue to be identified following Stage 2, avoidance measures, 

followed by mitigation measures should be considered further. Please note that mitigation 

measures should be proven to be deliverable and the Appropriate Assessment will also need to 

ensure that residual effects (after mitigation) do not act in combination with other plans and 

projects (cumulative effects).  Where adverse effects are still identified, the plan or project 

should be altered until adverse effects are cancelled out fully. 

 

Page 305



Page | 74 

 

Stage 4. Absence of alternatives, IROPI and compensation 

 

27. If after stage 3 an adverse effect on the integrity of the national site network site(s) remains, the 

proposal can only proceed providing the following three sequential tests are met: 

 

 There must be no feasible alternative solutions to the proposal which are less damaging to 

the affected national site network site(s); 

 There must be ‘imperative reasons of overriding public interest’ (IROPI) for the plan or 

project to proceed; and 

 All necessary compensatory measures must be secured to ensure that the overall coherence 

of the national site network is protected. 

 

28. The purpose of the assessment of alternative solutions is to determine whether there are any 

other feasible ways to deliver the overall objectives of the proposal which will be less damaging 

to the integrity of the national site network site(s) affected. For the assessment to be passed the 

Council must be able to demonstrate objectively the absence of feasible alternative solutions. 

The applicant is primarily responsible for identifying alternatives. Alternative solutions are 

limited to those which would deliver the overall objective as detailed in the original proposal. 

Please note that where housing developments are considered to adversely affect a national site 

network site(s), alternative locations for housing are often available and therefore it is difficult 

to demonstrate the absence of alternatives. 

 

29. Where the absence of alternatives can be demonstrated, and the proposal will affect a Special 

Area of Conservation (SAC) Annex I feature, the Council can normally only consider IROPI 

reasons relating to human health, public safety or beneficial consequences of primary 

importance to the environment. Other IROPI reasons can only be considered having obtained 

and had regard to the opinion of the devolved administrations, JNCC and any other person the 

appropriate authority considers appropriate in developing its opinion. The appropriate authority 

will also take account of the broader national interest in developing their IROPI opinion. 

 

30. Where the absence of alternatives and IROPI can be demonstrated, the ability to secure suitable 

compensation must also be demonstrated. The Council, with Natural England are initially 

responsible for ensuring that suitable compensation is identified. Such measures must offset the 

negative effects caused by the proposal and must be secured before consent is given and 

complete before the adverse effect on the designated site occurs. 

 

31. For further information on this stage please refer to web page 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/changes-to-the-habitats-regulations-

2017/changes-to-the-habitats-regulations-2017 

 

HRA and the Development Management Process 

 

32. It is likely that in most cases the HRA process will stop at either stage 2 or 3 above, with either 

avoidance or mitigation measures being applied. At this stage the developer must have provided 

Durham County Council with an adequate “shadow” Appropriate Assessment and the Council 

must be satisfied that the proposed mitigation it contains will be sufficient to completely avoid 

Page 306



Page | 75 

 

or nullify all likely adverse effects on the qualifying features of the national site network site(s) 

and will therefore not undermine the sites Conservation Objectives. 

 

33. Pre application discussion with Durham County Council’s Development Management team 

should be carried out as early as possible in the decision-making process. This is needed to 

correctly inform the HRA process and confirm the structure and content of an Appropriate 

Assessment if it is required and to determine the level and nature of any subsequent mitigation 

required.  This must be done in advance of any planning application, most effectively through 

Durham County Council’s Development Management pre-application consultation system. 

Failure to do so may result in significant delays to the Development Management process. 

 

34. HRA can be carried out for strategic plans and/or individual plans or projects down to the level 

of very small-scale developments where an impact on the qualifying features of a national site 

network site has been identified. A strategic approach to HRA is encouraged where a 

landowner/developer owns multiple holdings for sale or development all of which may be 

subject to HRA. A holistic, master planning, approach will allow for efficiencies in assessment of 

impacts and ease of identification of appropriate mitigation at a plan level rather than the 

process stalling if sites are treated individually. 

 

35. HRA at a strategic plan level is more efficient allowing for: 

 

 The early identification of plans or projects which may have an impact on national site 

network site/s 

 Early stage screening to eliminate individual plans or projects 

 Early stage recognition of those individual plans or projects which will be subject to 

Appropriate Assessment 

 More effective assessment of in combination effects across plans or projects 

 The identification of early stage requirements for mitigation 

 Single consultation with external consultees for multiple sites in one plan 

 Cumulative mitigation proposals where possible 

 Coordinated HRA and Appropriate Assessment 

 Efficiencies in mitigation, maximising development potential 

 Ease and speed within the Development Management process. 

 

Coastal Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy 

 

36. Recreational pressure and associated disturbance along the coast comes from two distinct 

pathways: 

 Residential pressure within a local catchment – Residents are likely to visit frequently and 

consistently e.g. to walk the dog or exercise. 

 Visitor pressure from a wider catchment – Visitors are likely to be ‘tourists’ from within and 

outside the region and are likely to visit less frequently. 

 

37. A three-pronged approach to the strategy is required to avoid likely significant effects to the 

coastal national site network and includes: 

 

Page 307



Page | 76 

 

Measure 1 

General presumption against any net increase in development within 0.4km of the coastal 

sites 

Measure 2 

Provision/enhancement of alternative natural greenspace to reduce the frequency of visits 

to the coastal sites by residents and hence reduce pressure on them. 

Measure 3 

Coastal access management and monitoring measures to reduce and monitor the effects of 

residents and those from a wider catchment who visit the coastal sites. 

 

38. A 6km recreational catchment has been defined within which the strategy should be applied. 

Measures 2 and 3 should be applied from 0.4km from the perimeter of the coastal national site 

network to 6km from the perimeter of the network as the crow flies. The following map shows 

the extent of the catchment and associated buffer zones. 

  

Page 308



Page | 77 

 

HRA Map 4 shows the Recreational Catchment and Buffer Zones 

 

Page 309



Page | 78 

 

39. Where development/project proposals fall within this 6km zone of influence, a shadow HRA or 

similar will be required to support the proposals, demonstrating no adverse impact on the 

integrity of the relevant national site network sites. The proposed Mitigation Strategy detailed 

below can be included where it is deemed adequate to address likely impacts identified.  

 

40. The supporting information for the HRA should build upon the Council's existing evidence base, 

with additional supporting information and surveys where required, and including an 

assessment of in-combination effects and discussion with neighboring local authorities where 

relevant. 

 

41. If either insufficient mitigation or information to support an Appropriate Assessment is supplied 

alongside proposals within the 0.4 to 6km buffer, the Council will need to apply the 

precautionary approach and will seek further information from the applicant, which may delay 

determination of the proposal. The Council will be minded to recommend refusal of proposals in 

the event that either: 

 

 The necessary mitigation cannot be secured; 

 Evidence to inform the Appropriate Assessment is not provided which supports, to the 

Council’s satisfaction, a conclusion of ‘no likely significant effects’; and 

 The three sequential tests of absence of alternatives, IROPI and compensation cannot be 

demonstrated. 

 

Types of Development Included 

 

42. This strategy largely concerns itself with the effects arising from net new development related to 

residential and visitor accommodation. The strategy will apply to applications for full or outline 

planning permission. Developers making outline planning applications will need to provide 

complete information on the number of dwellings / units, so that the required calculations for 

contributions may be made. Without this information, the Council cannot satisfy itself that the 

level of any proposed contribution is adequate and would be unable to grant planning 

permission as a result. 

 

43. Reserved matters, discharge of conditions, or amendments to existing planning consents will be 

considered on a case-by-case basis by the Council. Please note that like for like replacement 

development is not considered to increase recreational pressure and is therefore not included in 

the strategy. The types of development that are included are described as follows against the 

relevant use classes:39 

 

C1 Hotels 

The strategy will apply to purpose built hotels, staff accommodation, boarding and guest houses 

and the change of use to such where levels of guest/staff accommodation are considered by the 

Council to increase upon any previous levels of residential accommodation provided. The 

strategy will also apply to extensions to existing C1 uses which increase levels of 

accommodation. 

 
39 as established through the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended) 

Page 310



Page | 79 

 

C2 Residential Institutions 

The strategy will be applied to developments within the C2 use class (i.e. Residential care 

homes, hospitals, nursing homes, boarding schools, residential colleges and training centres) on 

a case by case basis. In general, developments such as hospitals and residential care/nursing 

homes will not be considered to have a likely significant effect with regard to recreational 

impacts but will be considered on a case by case basis taking into account potential 'in 

combination' effects and any associated net change in residential occupancy for carers residing 

on the site. 

 

44. Certain types of C2 residential accommodation may also be considered not to affect recreational 

impacts within the 0.4km buffer of coastal European Protected Sites including: 

 

a) Purpose built schemes for the frail elderly where there is an element of close care provided 

on site 24 hours a day. This level of care is above that of provision of an on-site wardening 

service provided for sheltered accommodation. It would be expected that there would 

normally be an age restriction of 60+ years for the occupants of the units and that the 

planning permission would be conditioned in such a way that the units could not become 

open market housing. 

b) Purpose built schemes for the accommodation of disabled people, where by the nature of 

the residents’ disabilities, they are unlikely to have impact on the coastal protected sites. 

 

45. The use of pet covenants or other suitable legally binding agreements by Council’s are only 

considered acceptable by Natural England40 in these specific situations: 

 The nature of the establishment is such that pressure from residents to own pets is likely to 

be very low creating an acceptable risk; 

 In the context of a residential care home with 24 hour wardening, enforcement is seen as 

being achievable in terms of time taken to detect infringements and resources on site to 

achieve enforcement outcomes. 

46. Relevant conditions may need to be attached to any planning permission to ensure that no 

significant effects can arise for the lifetime of the development including for example: 

 

 Preventing further changes of use within the C2 use class and ensuring that units will not 

become open market housing; 

 The applicant/management body will provide a biannual written confirmation to the Council 

detailing the compliance with the pet covenant, the number of residents and their age; 

 The applicant/management body will prevent, through design and enforcement measures, 

the use of onsite car parking 

 for public use of accessing the coast. 

 

 

 

 
40 Statement on behalf of Natural England 22/01/2018, Appeal reference APP/D3640/W/17/3184628 

Page 311



Page | 80 

 

 

C3 Dwelling Houses 

 

47. The strategy will apply to dwelling houses, including affordable houses, flats, annexes, 

retirement and age restricted properties and the change of use to such. The strategy will apply 

to the extension of existing C3 uses on a case by case basis. 

 

C4 Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) 

 

48. The strategy will apply to purpose built HMO’s, including proposals for large HMO’s (i.e. 6 or 

more people sharing) which are unclassified by the Use Classes Order and are ‘sui generis’. The 

strategy will also apply to the extension of existing HMO’s where they are considered by the 

Council to provide additional levels of occupancy. The strategy will apply to the change of use 

from C3 to C4 where levels of occupancy increase. 

 

Other Types of Development (Sui Generis) 

 

 Camp and caravan sites41 - The strategy will apply to proposals for temporary, seasonal and 

permanent camp and caravan sites and extensions to such where the number of pitches or 

guest accommodation increases. This includes applications to extend temporary planning 

consent. If subsequently made permanent, no additional contribution will be sought. 

 Mobile and temporary dwellings – The strategy will apply to proposals for mobile or 

temporary dwellings. If subsequently made permanent no additional contribution will be 

sought. 

 Temporary and permanent gypsy and traveller pitches – The strategy will apply to 

proposals and temporary and permanent gypsy and traveler pitches and the extension of 

sites for such. If subsequently made permanent no additional contribution will be sought. 

 Visitor attractions – The strategy will apply to proposals which are considered likely to 

increase the visitor draw and appeal of the coast. 

Permitted Development 

 

49. The Government allows planning permission for certain classes of development without the 

requirement for a planning application, although prior approval may be required.42 

 

50. Regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) 

Order sets out that development described as permitted development, can be permitted subject 

to the provisions of the Order and the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations. 

Therefore, where it is considered that a ‘significant effect’ on the coastal national site network 

 
41 Camping and caravan sites can include basic ridge /dome tents, yurts, tipis/teepees, geodesic domes, safari-style 

tents/canvas lodges, bell tents, wooden shepherds huts, wooden wigwams/cocoons/snugs, cabins, chalets, eco-pods or 

similar structure and caravaning (both static and touring) 
42 Further information relating to permitted development including temporary permitted development can be found on the 

Planning Portal Website. 

 

Page 312



Page | 81 

 

may arise, (or any other national site network site) the development must not commence until 

written approval has been received by the developer from the Council (or Natural England). In 

circumstances where significant effects to coastal national site network sites may arise, the 

proposed development will be subject to the avoidance and mitigation strategy. 

 

Avoidance and Mitigation Measures 

 

Measure 1: Development within 0.4km of Coastal Sites 

 

51. Within 0.4km of the coastal national site network43 the effects of a net new increase in 

residential44 development, is likely to be such that even if measures 2 and 3 of this strategy are 

implemented, it may not be possible to conclude no adverse effect on coastal designated sites. 

This is due to the likely higher frequency of visits originating within 0.4km and the potential for 

increased levels of predation as a result of pet ownership/general urbanisation impacts. 

 

52. There is therefore a general presumption against any net increase in residential development 

within this 0.4km buffer zone, unless information and evidence to inform the Habitats 

Regulations Assessment can be provided by the proposer or applicant which is able to 

satisfactorily demonstrate that it will not adversely affect the integrity of the coastal national 

site network site in question. For proposals falling within 0.4km it is recommended that early-

stage advice should be sought from Development Management Officers. The Council will also 

consult relevant specialist organisations and Natural England on all proposals for development 

within the 0.4km buffer zone. 

 

Measure 2: Provision/enhancement of suitable natural greenspace 

 

53. As local visitor surveys show that dog walking is the main activity undertaken at the coast with 

'convenience' and 'space for dogs to run around' cited as top reasons for choosing the coast as a 

dog walking location it is considered essential to tailor mitigation towards this activity given that 

dog walking is: 

 The main recreational activity undertaken at the coast; 

 Considered to be a greater cause of disturbance to qualifying SPA species than visitors 

without dogs; and 

 Can also adversely affect Durham Coast SAC. 

 

54. The visitor surveys also identified that nearly two thirds of all dog walkers would utilise local 

green space as an alternative to walking their dog at the coast if it was available. Research also 

indicates that management of 'green infrastructure' sites that offer desirable habitats and 

enhance provision of footpaths, can mitigate recreational impacts on nearby valuable 

conservation areas and statutory nature designations.45 The provision or enhancement of 

 
43 Measured as the crow flies from the closest perimeter of the coastal designated site to the closest perimeter of the 

development site. 
44 Or other development which may result in an increase in recreational pressure. 
45 Hornigold K, Lake I Dolman P(2016) Recreational Use of the Countryside: No Evidence that High Nature Value Enhances a 

Key Ecosystem Service. PLoS ONE 11(11):e0165043. Doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0165043 

Page 313



Page | 82 

 

greenspace for dog walking purposes is therefore considered to contribute towards reducing 

levels of residential visitor activity at the coast and associated disturbance. 

 

55. There are two ways for applicants to provide or enhance suitable natural greenspace: 

 Make a payment contribution towards suitable alternative greenspace sites identified by the 

Council’s; or 

 Make onsite provision based upon the principles within this guidance document. For large 

scale applications (i.e. of 100 houses or more) it is expected that there will be adequate on 

site provision of alternative greenspace; or 

 A combination of the two if some provision can be made onsite, with linking accessible 

greenspace nearby (within 500m). 

 

56. In order to be effective, green space provision or enhancement of such needs to replicate, as far 

as possible, the recreational qualities of the designated sites to make them attractive to 

potential users. Whilst it is not possible to replicate the coastal environment, green space can 

replicate aspects of coastal land that makes it attractive to dog walkers and include other 

desirable habitats. In addition to the findings of local visitor surveys, studies from all over the UK 

repeatedly show that the three most important amenities dog owners seek are: 

 Off lead access; 

 Close to home; and 

 Away from traffic. 

 

57. Taking this into consideration together with Natural England’s Suitable Alternative Natural 

Greenspace (SANG) guidelines, the County Council’s Open Space Needs Assessment (OSNA) and 

Hampshire County Council’s Planning for Dog Ownership in New Developments design guidance 

(2013), the following greenspace criteria are recommended: 

 Sites should be semi-natural in appearance in order to provide a similar natural experience 

as the Durham Coast; 

 They should be a minimum of 3ha per 1000 persons and include sufficient sized areas to 

enable users to walk their dogs off lead without any conflict/fear for their safety (smaller 

sites would also be considered if they were close to and had good links to other smaller 

sites, to form a larger total area/network); 

 Sites should ideally aim to allow a minimum dog walking penetration of 784m from starting 

point and a circular dog walk of 2.7km, or link with other sites which together provide this; 

 The design of the site, if near to a designated site, should not inadvertently increase access 

to the designated site, but rather should be self-contained; 

 Sites should be within 400 – 500m of the target audience/new housing, unless a larger fit for 

purpose site is created which has a larger catchment area, with sufficient capacity for 

additional users; 

 They should have adequate car parking if they are larger than 10ha, and would therefore 

aim to have a larger catchment area; 

Page 314



Page | 83 

 

 Existing green spaces should be assessed to ensure that the proposed use of the site is 

compatible with its existing use and that there is available carrying capacity. 

58. Where existing areas of green space are not already at carrying capacity or have conflicting uses, 

suitable green space may be created from existing areas of green space where they: 

 Meet the criteria outlined above with no existing public access or limited public access, 

which for the purposes of mitigation could be made fully accessible to the public; or 

 They are already accessible but could be changed in character so that it is more attractive to 

dog walkers who might otherwise visit the coast. 

59. In certain circumstances it may be possible to satisfy both the requirements of the coastal 

avoidance and mitigation strategy and planning requirements regarding green infrastructure 

provision alongside new development e.g. Meeting targets for semi natural greenspace 

provision/biodiversity net gains. 

 

60. Required housing numbers within the County Durham Plan has resulted in three allocations 

within the 6km zone of influence/buffer, 2 sites in Seaham and 1 in Peterlee. Suitable alternative 

recreational greenspaces have been identified for these sites, which are deemed to have 

capacity for use by additional residents. These are detailed below: 

 

  

Page 315



Page | 84 

 

HRA Map 5 shows Housing Allocations and HRA Greenspace Sites in Seaham 

 

 

Page 316



Page | 85 

 

 

Lodge Field Plantation 

 

61. Lodge Field Plantation is a small site which is connected to a wider belt of woodland, just south 

of Lord Byron’s Walk, to the north of Seaham. It is owned by the County Council, and comprises 

primarily amenity mown grass, with a school sports pitch to the immediate west, Seaham School 

of Technology to the South and a broadleaved woodland to the east. 

The following picture shows the location of the Lodge Field Plantation Site. 

 

 

HRA Table 1 provides details of the proposed enhancements for the Lodge Field Plantation Site. 

Proposed enhancements Benefits Cost estimate 

Wildflower meadow creation 

with mown footpath through 

Increase diversity of site. £2500 

Fencing and gates To provide increase in security 

for off lead use by dog 

walkers. 

£2000 

Tree/scrub planting To increase variety of habitats 

and site and create interest 

£500 

 

 

 

Page 317



Page | 86 

 

Malvern Crescent 

 

62. The site forms part of a larger site which has been designated for housing. It consists of a large 

area of primarily amenity mown grass. A single surfaced path runs through part of the site and 

leads to well used allotments. Malvern Crescent runs through the southern part of the site. A 

small area of hardstanding remains in the centre of the site, and a palisade fence with hedgerow 

cuts through the northern part of the site, forming the original boundary with the former 

Colliery site. 

 

63. An area of tree planting and over-grown shrubs provide a screen for housing to the north east of 

the site. 

 

The following picture shows the location of the Malvern Crescent site. 

 

  

Page 318



Page | 87 

 

HRA Table 2 provides details of the proposed enhancements for the Malvern Crescent Site. 

Proposed enhancements Benefits Cost 

estimate 

Surfaced and unsurfaced 

footpath creation, including 

circular routes through site 

Provide all weather access, as 

well as multiple options for users. 

£36,000 

Woodland/tree planting To create a variety of habitats 

and increase aesthetics of the 

site. 

£2000 

Wildflower grassland areas As above £13,800 

Fence removal To allow the joining up of the site, 

and enable better access route 

creation. 

£1000 

Signage/interpretation panels To inform, raise awareness and 

create interest on site, assist in 

navigation through site. 

£5000 

Fencing to encourage off-lead 

use by users 

To create a ‘safe’ environment to 

encourage off-lead use by 

dogwalkers. 

£3000 

 

  

Page 319



Page | 88 

 

HRA Map 6 shows the Housing Allocations and HRA Greenspace for sites in Peterlee 

 

 

Page 320



Page | 89 

 

Tweed/Moray Close 

 

64. Area of informal greenspace dominated by amenity mown grass with scattered broadleaved 

trees. Links in with wider informal greenspace areas which are typical of the development 

structure in Peterlee. 

 

The following picture shows the location of the Tweed/Moray Close site. 

 

HRA Table 3 provides details of the proposed enhancements for the Tweed/Moray Close Site. 

Proposed enhancements Benefits Cost estimates 

Wildflower meadow 

creation 

Provide a variety of habitats for 

diversity as well as creating a more 

attractive site. 

£4000 

Tree/scrub planting As above £200 

Mown paths through 

grassland 

To create a variety of access routes 

through the site. 

Already maintained site, 

no additional cost 

envisaged. 

 

Page 321



Page | 90 

 

 

65. All of the sites detailed above are owned by the County Council, and currently managed as 

informal amenity greenspaces. It is therefore anticipated that they will continue to be managed 

as such in perpetuity. 

 

66. In addition to these, additional greenspaces have been identified, which have potential capacity 

to absorb additional recreational users, if enhanced to improve their attractiveness for use by 

dog walkers. It is envisaged that these sites have the opportunity to be brought forward with the 

estimated windfall development within 6km of the Coastal N2K sites, where appropriate. These 

sites, if brought forward, will be costed on a site-by-site basis in addition to the CAMMs (Tier 2) 

measures identified.  

 

67. The majority of these sites have accessible green interlinking space which feeds into the wider 

greenspace network. This has been indicated with lighter green lines, as shown in map below. 

 

  

Page 322



Page | 91 

 

HRA Map 7 shows the Housing Allocations and HRA Greenspace for the wider sites in Peterlee 

 

 

Page 323



Page | 92 

 

Medieval Village of Yoden, and associated linking greenspaces 

 

68. The site comprises 2 areas of informal greenspace, predominantly amenity mown with scattered 

broadleaved trees. The Medieval village of Yoden (the larger of the two sites) incorporates a 

geological SSSI46 (Yoden Village Quarry) and well as a Scheduled Ancient monument to the north 

of the site (Yoden medieval settlement). 

 

The following picture shows the location of the Medieval Village of Yoden Site 

 

 
46 It is recognized that part of the site is a geological SSSI, and as such not all of the site would be utilised as part of any 

mitigation measures. 

Page 324



Page | 93 

 

The following picture shows the location of the Medieval Village of Yoden Site and the 

location of the Scheduled Ancient Monument within the site 

 

  

Page 325



Page | 94 

 

HRA Table 4 provides details of the proposed enhancements for the Yoden Village Site. 

Proposed enhancements Benefits Cost estimate 

Footpath creation 

Approx. 2km surfaced 

Increase access through the 

site, including creation of 

circular routes favoured by 

users. 

£120,000 

Wildflower meadow creation 

Approx. 4.8ha 

Increase biodiversity and 

aesthetic interest of 

site/variety of semi-natural 

habitats. 

£33,000 

Tree/scrub planting & 

woodland management 

Increase variety of habitats on 

site to create a more attractive 

environment to walk in and 

enjoy. Helps to create the 

illusion of 'space’ and increase 

capacity of site. 

£10,000 

Interpretation panels, and 

signage/way markers 

To help inform and raise 

awareness/educate. 

£10,000 

Web-based educational 

resource to create an identity 

for the site. 

Educational awareness for 

local schools/community 

groups and other initiatives 

(geological, archaeology and 

ecology) 

£30,000 

Creation of entrance feature 

and enhanced car parking, 

including fencing to secure site 

from roads. 

To enable use by visitors 

further afield thereby 

increasing visitor catchment. 

Allowing off lead use by dog 

walkers. 

£500,000 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 326



Page | 95 

 

This picture shows informal mown access through the Yoden Village site. 

 

 

This picture shows the rough grassland extending through the Yoden Village Site. 

 

 

  

Page 327



Page | 96 

 

HRA Map 8 shows greenspaces for the wider sites in Seaham 

 

 

Page 328



Page | 97 

 

The Lawns 

 

69. Predominantly amenity mown grass which was laid down after the former terraces were 

demolished. The former streets and street lamps are still present on site. 

 

The following picture shows the location of The Lawns site. 

 

  

Page 329



Page | 98 

 

HRA Table 5 provides details of the proposed enhancements for The Lawns Site. 

Proposed enhancements Benefits Estimated costs 

Removal of tarmac roads/and 

associated infrastructure. 

Creates a more natural 

environment. 

£31,200 

Wildflower meadow creation Provides variety in habitats 

which dog walkers look for. 

£5000 

Surfaced footpath creation Sited to provide circular routes 

through the site, enabling all 

weather access. 

£20,000 

Tree/scrub planting To enhance aesthetic value of 

the site, and create a variety of 

habitats. 

£300 

Interpretation panels/signage To raise awareness and value 

of the site. 

£3000 

Pond/wetland creation. To enhance aesthetic value of 

the site, and create a variety of 

habitats. 

£500 

 

This picture shows the former Lawns housing site now maintained as informal recreational space. 

  

 

 

 

 

Page 330



Page | 99 

 

This picture shows the Lawns site from a different angle. 

 

 

 

Haven House 

 

70. Large area of amenity mown grass. A single surfaced path runs through the site from north to 

south.  

 

71. A railway line forms the eastern boundary, whilst a housing estate surrounds the site along the 

other boundaries. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 331



Page | 100 

 

The following picture shows the location of the Haven House Site. 

 

 

HRA Table 6 provides details of the proposed enhancements for the Haven House Site. 

Proposed enhancements Benefits Cost estimate 

Circular footpath route 

(surfaced) and links to wider 

network. 

Provides all weather route for 

users. 

£15,000 

Unsurfaced/mown paths 

through long grass as 

alternatives. 

Gives alternative route to 

avoid other walkers if needed. 

No cost as site already mown. 

Tree/scrub planting To partly screen railway and 

provide a more attractive site 

for recreational enjoyment. 

£300 

Page 332



Page | 101 

 

Creation of long and short 

grass areas (wildflower 

meadow creation) 

To enhance diversity of site 

and to provide aesthetic 

interest/variety of habitats. 

£9000 (not including future 

management) 

 

This picture show the Haven House site maintained as informal green space. 

 

 

Measure 3: Coastal Access Management and Monitoring 

 

72. The third measure is coastal access management and monitoring. The principles of such 

measures include: 

 Recognition of highly sensitive areas, particularly bird roosting sites 

 Rationalisation of access points and footpaths, to avoid highly sensitive areas 

 New signage diverting people away from sensitive areas and towards alternative areas 

 Community engagement and wardening 

 Educational initiatives which raise awareness of the vulnerabilities of qualifying species and 

associated responsible visitor behaviour 

 Monitoring of changes in the qualifying species and habitats 

Page 333



Page | 102 

 

 Monitoring changes in recreational use 

 

73. The measures have been divided into two tiers: 

 Tier 1 mitigation measures are those that allow the public to continue to be able to enjoy 

visiting the SPA for recreation, in ways that do not damage the sensitive/qualifying habitats 

or species for which the site is designated. The aim is to reduce unauthorized activity, guide 

and educate visitors to reduce preventable disturbance and to focus on protection of the 

most sensitive areas, and at the most sensitive times of year. The Tier 1 CAMMS measures 

are targeted upon specific identified areas along the coast that are subject to high levels of 

disturbance; by prioritising action at these locations the Tier 1 CAMMS will deal with the 

most pressing issues of recreational impact at the coast.  It is appropriate that housing 

allocations are used to deliver solutions to known recreational conflicts at the coast, 

especially as the spatial distribution of the housing allocations links well with the most 

sensitive areas. These will therefore be paid for by the County Durham Plan allocations; 

 Tier 2 secondary measures have been identified which provide general mitigation across the 

wider area, through raising awareness and changing behavior over time. It is deemed that 

these measures will be paid for by Windfall development and this approach is considered 

appropriate as the specific geographical location of windfall sites cannot be predicted, and 

specifying CAMMS at given locations at this point in time is not regarded as being a sound 

approach.  The CAMMS are informed by data from coastal bird and visitor surveys and as 

such additional specific locations for CAMMS may be identified in the future.  It is possible 

that windfall development may tie in geographically with an identified sensitive area in the 

future and in such cases geographically specific CAMMS may then apply. 

74. The measures are required in addition to the provision/enhancement of alternative greenspace 

in order to address the identified impacts of all recreational users of the coast, including those 

associated with visitor pressure from a wider catchment. 

 

75. It is acknowledged that some windfall sites coming forward may not be within adequate 

proximity to a suitable alternative greenspace, however enhancements to the wider network of 

greenspaces within the 6kmn buffer zone may be regarded as appropriate greenspace provision 

in these cases.  In all cases contributions will be expected to fund the Coastal Access 

Management and Monitoring measures. 

 

76. Monitoring will be crucial in providing a method of fine-tuning of the avoidance measures to 

increase their effectiveness and maximize benefits. 

 

Implementation and Monitoring 

 

77. The Strategy requires a planning contribution of £662.43 per net new dwelling (or equivalent) 

for the housing sites allocated as part of the County Durham Plan, and £756.61 per net new 

dwelling (or equivalent) for windfall sites between 0.4 and 6km as a straight line (as the crow 

flies) from the boundary of our coastal N2K sites. 

 

Page 334



Page | 103 

 

78. This has been calculated by simply dividing the number of likely net new dwellings (from 

allocated sites coming forward through The Plan) within 6km of our coastal N2K sites, by the 

total cost of measures 2 and 3 as detailed above. 

 

Measure 2 + Measure 3 (Tier 1) / housing allocations = £662.43 

£70,000 + £257,902 / 495 = £662.43 

 

79. For Windfall sites we have calculated a total figure based on historic rates of delivery in the 

catchment over the last 5 years. This is divided this by the total cost of mitigation measures for 

Measure 3, Tier 2 Coastal Access Management and Monitoring Measures. 

 

Measure 3 (Tier 2) / Windfall = £756.61 

£280,702 / 371 = £756.61 

 

80. If appropriate, planning permission will be granted subject to conditions. Proposers/ land 

owners of small scale residential developments (less than 10 dwellings) will be given the choice 

as to whether to enter into either a Section 106 agreement or a unilateral undertaking.47 Where 

Section 106 agreements are required, these are to be agreed and entered into, prior to the 

determination of a planning application. Any payments made to the Council by Section 106 

agreements should be paid no later than the commencement of the development to ensure that 

mitigation is in place prior to occupation. If the development is likely to be built in major phases, 

payment by instalment will be considered. 

 

81. Where specific measures and/or works (by the developer or, by others who are better placed to 

provide them) are needed to avoid and mitigate the effect that occupiers of a development will 

have on a coastal national site network site(s), these should be undertaken and in place before 

or in conjunction with those occupiers moving in. Consequently, in some cases the Council will, 

by planning condition or obligations, restrict the occupation of a development until related 

avoidance and mitigation measures and/or works are complete. 

 

82. Where contributions are secured and paid under a Section 106 Agreement with the Council, the 

receipt and use of contributions can be tracked and information on spending will, on request 

from a contributing developer, be made available subject to the Council's reasonable costs being 

met. 

 

Tourism Development 

 

83. Where proposed tourism development is identified as having, in itself, a potential significant 

adverse impact on the national site network sites, permission will be subject to the specific 

provision of suitable mitigation measures appropriate to the circumstances. Due to the type of 

impact, and unknown location of proposals which are likely to come forward, it is likely that 

proposals will contribute to the Coastal Access and Management Measures. The amount and 

type of CAMMS and the level of financial contribution will be calculated on a site by site basis by 

 
47 A unilateral undertaking is a legal document made pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

This document provides that if you receive planning permission and decide to implement the development, you must make 

certain payments to the Council in the form of planning contributions. 

Page 335



Page | 104 

 

utilizing a range of data including coastal bird data and information on the likely increases in 

users of the coast.  This approach will ensure that bespoke CAMMS are identified to deal with 

specific impacts arising from any tourism development. 

 

Measure 2: Greenspace provision 

 

84. Whilst alternative greenspace for the allocated sites has been accounted for, the provision or 

enhancement of alternative greenspace for windfall sites should be funded by developer 

contributions unless adequate onsite provision is being made. The calculation of costs will be 

undertaken on a case-by-case basis and will take account of acquisition costs if required, cost of 

enhancement measures and maintenance, and management costs in perpetuity. 

 

85. There will be a general presumption against any development on an alternative greenspace that 

has been enhanced/identified as mitigation to address likely impacts due to an increase in 

recreational disturbance by a development proposal, within 6km of the Durham Coast and 

associated Natura 2000 sites. Any developed proposed on these sites will be subject to a full 

HRA. 

 

Measure 3: Coastal Access Management and Monitoring 

 

86. Developer contributions will be used to fund the actions identified within the following tables: 

 

 

Page 336



Page | 105 

 

HRA Table 7 shows details of the Tier 1 Access Management and Monitoring Measures 

No. Action Justification Cost 20 year present value 

(PV @3.5 %) cost. 

1 Monitor the nature conservation interest in SPAs every 3 

years 

Action is directly linked to the future management of 

the SPA’s. Monitoring provides confidence that should 

populations and their distribution decline, the measures 

within this action plan can be amended accordingly. 

Bird surveys 

£2,500 every 3 

years 

£12, 098 

2 Monitor the SAC and the adjacent reversion48 areas every 

6 years 

Action is directly linked to the future management of 

the SAC. Monitoring provides confidence that should 

recreational trampling/nitrification of qualifying habitat 

increase the measures with this action plan can be 

amended accordingly. 

£12,000 every 6 

years 

£34,581 

3 Monitor recreational usage of the SAC and SPA (summer 

and winter) every 3 years 

Action is directly linked to the future management of 

the SAC and SPA’s. Monitoring provides confidence that 

should recreational disturbance increase the measures 

within this action plan can be amended accordingly. 

£10,000 every 3 

years 

£50,147 

4 High tide roost areas 

Fence off/advise against public access (particularly during 

the autumn/winter months) the high tide roosts as 

identified in the Coastal Bird study, i.e. 

 Noses Point; 

 Blackhall Rocks; and 

 Blackhall Colliery 

Positive effects derived – restricting access to sensitive 

areas and influencing responsible visitor behaviour. 

£80,000 £80,000 

 
48Arable reversion involves reverting cultivated land into natural habitat. 

P
age 337



Page | 106 

 

5 Identify highly sensitive areas where visitors are not 

encouraged through: 

 Provision of interpretation; 

 Removal of carparks where deemed necessary. 

 

Positive effects derived – restricting and controlling 

access to areas which have been identified as sensitive 

through supporting surveys. 

£60,000 £60,000 

 

6 Develop and deliver opportunities to diffuse visitor 

pressure inland from SAC and SPA. Path network exists, 

requires promotion of existing network through 

production of leaflets to diffuse visitor use away from 

SPA/SAC and to key mitigation sites. 

 

Promotional publications will include New home packs 

‘introduction of Beachcare key messages, Codes of 

Practice and Dog Control behaviors. 

Potential for positive effects in tourism of raising 

awareness of SAC/SPA and responsible visitor 

behaviour. 

£21,076 £21,076 

Total    £257,902 

 

  

P
age 338



Page | 107 

 

HRA Table 8 details the Tier 2 Coastal Access Management and Monitoring Measures 

No. Action Justification 20 year present 

value (PV @3.5 

%) cost. 

1 Beachcare and Wardening programme: 

Funding of a Warden (Scale 9) or similar role within DCC to undertake 

SAC, SPA and little tern awareness raising and engagement, alongside 

projects to protect and enhance the habitats and species associated with 

the designated areas. 

Fund the Heritage Coast Team to undertake projects that include but are 

not restricted to  

• Rationalisation of pathways to prevent damage to sensitive 

areas 

• Install and maintain footpaths and fencing 

• Beach cleans, habitat protection and enhancements and 

volunteer management. 

 

Positive effects derived – raising awareness and 

influencing responsible visitor behaviour. 

Positive effects derived – aims to encourage use of 

path network away from sensitive areas of the coast 

Scale 9 full time. 

 

£280,702 

 

  

P
age 339



Page | 108 

 

Monitoring 

 

87. Whilst developer contributions will be sought towards the cost of monitoring as part of measure 3, the following table 9 and explanatory note explains 

how the Council intends to monitor the effectiveness of all measures advocated: 

HRA Table 9 Monitoring Measures  

Relevant 

Natura 2000 

Site(s) 

Mitigation Measure How will the Measure 

be monitored? 

How will the 

Outcome be 

Monitored? 

When will the 

measure be 

monitored? 

Trigger for Review 

of Measure 

Actions to rectify 

potential failure of 

mitigation 

Durham Coast 

SAC, 

Northumbria 

Coast SPA, 

Teesmouth 

and Cleveland 

Coast SPA. 

Application of 0.4 – 

6km buffer 

Housing 

consents/completions 

within the buffer zone 

Tourism type 

development 

consents/completions 

within the buffer zone 

Number and size 

of dwellings 

approved 

Number of 

tourism type 

developments 

approved 

Monthly through 

existing development 

management systems 

No trigger – this 

monitoring 

element provides 

baseline 

information for the 

measures below 

The necessary actions 

are detailed in the 

rows below 

Durham Coast 

SAC, 

Northumbria 

Coast SPA, 

Teesmouth 

and Cleveland 

Coast SPA. 

Greenspace 

provision/enhancem

ent and Coastal 

Access Management 

Measures 

Average household size Based on the 

results of the 

2011 Census 

Via Census 2021 data 

(the initial analysis of 

the census will provide 

this information and 

could be expected to 

be published before 

the end of 2020 based 

on the analysis of the 

2011 census) 

Significant change 

(more than 0.1 per 

household) 

Review the extent to 

which this changes 

either the need for 

open space provision 

or funding of coastal 

access management 

measures. 

  

P
age 340



Page | 109 

 

Relevant 

Natura 2000 

Site(s) 

Mitigation Measure How will the Measure 

be monitored? 

How will the 

Outcome be 

Monitored? 

When will the 

measure be 

monitored? 

Trigger for Review 

of Measure 

Actions to rectify 

potential failure of 

mitigation 

Durham Coast 

SAC, 

Northumbria 

Coast SPA, 

Teesmouth 

and Cleveland 

Coast SPA. 

Greenspace 

provision/enhancem

ent and Coastal 

Access Management 

Measures 

Funding received Reported from 

Council finance 

Kept as a live 

spreadsheet 

Receipts are 

insufficient to 

deliver open space 

provision/enhance

ments or access 

management 

measures in 

tandem with 

housing 

delivery/tourism 

development 

Increase mitigation 

rate for future 

schemes 

Durham Coast 

SAC, 

Northumbria 

Coast SPA, 

Teesmouth 

and Cleveland 

Coast SPA. 

Greenspace 

provision/enhancem

ent and Coastal 

Access Management 

Measures 

Funding spent Reported from 

Council finance 

Kept as a live 

spreadsheet 

Payments to 

deliver open space 

provision/enhance

ments or access 

management 

measures are 

falling below actual 

housing 

delivery/tourism 

development 

Either: 

Bring other 

greenspaces on 

stream 

Introduce conditions 

regarding phasing of 

housing or refuse 

consents until 

sufficient open space 

capacity/access 

management 

measures are in 

place. 

  

P
age 341



Page | 110 

 

Relevant 

Natura 2000 

Site(s) 

Mitigation Measure How will the Measure 

be monitored? 

How will the 

Outcome be 

Monitored? 

When will the 

measure be 

monitored? 

Trigger for Review 

of Measure 

Actions to rectify 

potential failure of 

mitigation 

Durham Coast 

SAC, 

Northumbria 

Coast SPA, 

Teesmouth 

and Cleveland 

Coast SPA. 

Greenspace 

Provision/Enhancem

ent 

Green Space 

Provision/Enhancement 

Area of open 

space 

provided/improv

ed 

Kept as a live 

spreadsheet 

The provision of 

green space 

capacity falls below 

the rate at which 

residents are 

increasing in the 

locality 

Either: 

Bring other greenspaces 

on stream 

Introduce conditions 

regarding phasing of 

housing or refuse 

consents until sufficient 

open space 

capacity/access 

management measures 

are in place. 

Durham Coast 

SAC, 

Northumbria 

Coast SPA, 

Teesmouth 

and Cleveland 

Coast SPA. 

Coastal Access 

Management 

Measures 

Implementation of 

coastal access 

management measures 

Measure 

delivered 

Kept as a live 

spreadsheet 

Decrease in bird 

population and/or 

deterioration in 

habitat due to 

recreational 

pressure 

Either: 

Introduce other mitigation 

measures such as byelaws 

restricting dog walking 

Introduce conditions 

regarding phasing of 

housing or refuse 

consents until sufficient 

open space 

capacity/access 

management measures 

are in place. 

  

P
age 342



Page | 111 

 

Relevant 

Natura 2000 

Site(s) 

Mitigation Measure How will the Measure 

be monitored? 

How will the 

Outcome be 

Monitored? 

When will the 

measure be 

monitored? 

Trigger for Review of 

Measure 

Actions to rectify 

potential failure of 

mitigation 

Durham Coast 

SAC, 

Northumbria 

Coast SPA, 

Teesmouth 

and Cleveland 

Coast SPA. 

Greenspace 

Provision/Enhancem

ent and Coastal 

Access management 

Measures 

Visitor data Use of coastal 

sites (numbers 

and location) 

 

Use of green 

spaces 

provided/enhanc

ed (hectares and 

location) 

Automated 

counters at 

green spaces 

provided/ 

enhanced and 

key coastal sites 

 

Face to face 

surveys every 2 

to 3 years. 

Evidence that green 

spaces 

provided/enhanced 

are not being used 

 

Decrease in bird 

population and/or 

deterioration in 

habitat due to 

recreational pressure 

Either: 

Bring other green space 

on stream 

Introduce other mitigation 

measures such as byelaws 

restricting dog walking 

Introduce conditions 

regarding phasing of 

housing or refuse 

consents until sufficient 

open space 

capacity/access 

management measures 

are in place. 

Durham Coast 

SAC, 

Northumbria 

Coast SPA, 

Teesmouth 

and Cleveland 

Coast SPA. 

Greenspace 

Provision/Enhancem

ent and Coastal 

Access management 

Measures 

Bird data WeBs data if 

available 

 

Bird surveys 

WeBs data 

annually 

 

Bird surveys 

every 3 years 

Subject to natural 

change, evidence 

that qualifying bird 

populations are 

either consistently 

decreasing or are 

being forced into 

smaller areas over an 

8 year trend period 

Either: 

Amend or implement 

further access 

management measures  

Introduce other mitigation 

measures such as byelaws 

restricting dog walking. 

  

P
age 343



Page | 112 

 

Relevant 

Natura 2000 

Site(s) 

Mitigation Measure How will the Measure 

be monitored? 

How will the 

Outcome be 

Monitored? 

When will the 

measure be 

monitored? 

Trigger for Review of 

Measure 

Actions to rectify 

potential failure of 

mitigation 

Durham Coast 

SAC, 

Northumbria 

Coast SPA, 

Teesmouth 

and Cleveland 

Coast SPA. 

Greenspace 

Provision/Enhancem

ent and Coastal 

Access management 

Measures 

Habitat monitoring Condition of 

habitat within the 

SAC and SPA 

Every 6 years Subject to natural 

change, 

deterioration or 

change in the habitat 

Either: 

Amend or implement 

further access 

management measures 

 

Introduce other mitigation 

measures such as byelaws 

restricting dog walking, 

targeted enforcement 

activity in relation to dog 

fouling. 

 

Explanatory Note 

 Housing consents/completions and tourism development within 0.4 – 6km – the aim of this row is to provide a clear understanding of where new 

housing and tourism development is being delivered 

 Average household size – The mitigation needs to focus on the number of people who are being diverted from the coast and how to best manage 

local populations (in addition to visitors) when they do access the coast. This information, when combined with row 2, will give a clear 

understanding of where, and by how much the population within the coastal zone is increasing. 

 Funding received – This will enable the Council to track whether the payments are coming in as anticipated. 

 Funding spent – This will enable the Council to track whether funds are being spent in a timely manner. 

P
age 344



Page | 113 

 

 Green space provision/enhancement – This will enable the Council to track the amount of open space that is being provided/enhanced and the 

capacity of each site. 

 Coastal access management measures – This will enable the Council to track whether measures are being implemented that correspond with 

associated access points to the coast from new housing/tourism development 

 Visitor data – Information collated will be used to determine how the coast and alternative green spaces are being used. This will help to continue 

to justify/modify the recreational catchment and mitigation measures as necessary. 

 Bird data – Information collated will be used to determine health of populations and areas that are being used. Mitigation measures can be 

modified as necessary in response to trends identified. 

 Habitat monitoring – Information collated will be used to determine the health of associated SAC/SPA habitat. Mitigation measures can be modified 

as necessary in response to trends identified. 

 

 

 

P
age 345



Page | 114 

 

HRA Annex A 

This flow diagram details the process for considering development proposals affecting European Protected 

Sites. 

 

  

Page 346



Page | 115 

 

HRA Annex B:  Description of Coastal European Protected Sites 

 

88. This section aims to provide an introduction to and overview of the coastal European Protected 

Sites comprising: 

 Durham Coast SAC 

 Northumbria Coast SPA and Ramsar 

 Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast SPA and Ramsar 

B1: Durham Coast SAC 

 

89. Durham Coast SAC was designated in April 2005 and covers an area of approximately 394 

hectares. Durham Coast SAC is the only example of vegetated sea cliffs on magnesian limestone 

exposures in the UK. These cliffs extend along the North Sea coast for over 20 km from South 

Shields southwards to Blackhall Rocks. Their vegetation is unique in the British Isles and consists 

of a complex mosaic of paramaritime, mesotrophic and calcicolous grasslands, tall-herb fen, 

seepage flushes and wind-pruned scrub. Within these habitats rare species of contrasting 

photogeographic distributions often grow together forming unusual and species-rich 

communities of high scientific interest. The communities present on the sea cliffs are largely 

maintained by natural processes including exposure to sea spray, erosion and slippage of the 

soft magnesian limestone bedrock and overlying glacial drifts, as well as localised flushing by 

calcareous water. 

 

Qualifying Features 

 

 Vegitated sea cliffs of the Atlantic and Baltic coasts. 

 

Conservation Objectives 

 

90. With regard to the SAC and the natural habitats and/or species for which the site has been 

designated (the ‘Qualifying Features’ listed above), and subject to natural change; 

 

91. Ensure that the integrity of the site is maintained or restored as appropriate, and ensure that the 

site contributes to achieving the Favourable Conservation Status of its Qualifying Features, by 

maintaining or restoring the; 

 

 Extent and distribution of qualifying natural habitats 

 Structure and function (including typical species) of qualifying natural habitats, and  

 Supporting processes on which the qualifying natural habitats rely. 

 

Reported Threats / Pressures 

 

92. The Natura 2000 Standard Data form for the site outlines the following threats and pressures 

which are ranked as high: 

 

Page 347



Page | 116 

 

 Human induced changes in hydraulic conditions;  

 Invasive non-native species; 

 Other human intrusions and disturbances;  

 Abiotic (slow) natural processes; and  

 Fertilisation 

 

93. Natural England's Site Improvement Plan for the Durham Coast expands upon the issues 

identified as currently impacting or threatening the condition of the features as follows: 

Threat/pressure Description 

Natural changes to site 

conditions 

Development and arable land use already come very close to the 

existing cliff top in many places, constraining the ability of the cliff top 

habitats to roll back as the cliffs naturally erode. It is uncertain whether 

there is enough space for natural migration of the SAC habitat (Coastal 

squeeze). 

Inappropriate coastal 

management 

Decades of deposition of colliery spoil at the base of the cliffs has 

formed an artificial raised beach along much of the Durham coastline 

which prevents waves reaching the cliff foot. This has slowed the 

erosion of the cliffs and changed their profile, reducing the slumping 

which exposes fresh substrate and creates niches for the development 

of different successional stages of vegetation. It has also reduce the 

influence of salt spray on the cliff vegetation. The constraint of these 

natural processes has degraded the diversity of the vegetation, its 

uniqueness and its scientific interest, and upset the ecological balance 

allowing scrub and ruderal species to encroach into more sensitive 

habitats. Deposition of colliery spoil ceased in the 1980s and there have 

been significant efforts to clean up the beaches since. The remaining 

spoil is being naturally eroded back by the sea to act directly on the cliff 

base again. New coastal defenses that interfere with erosional process 

could have a similar negative impact on the vegetated sea cliffs. 

Invasive species Where scrub is encroaching too far into grassland areas, this is 

detrimental to the interest feature. This is due to a lack of management 

e.g. Grazing, and/or because the natural coastal processes which keep 

the scrub in check, such as erosion and exposure to the elements are 

constrained. Bracken is spreading into the good grassland in some 

areas, especially at the mouths of the denes, and sycamore and invasive 

species like Himalayan Balsam are also most problematic where the 

denes meet the coast, as the watercourses bring in the seed. Cultivated 

species from caravan parks and gardens have also colonized parts of the 

coast and need to be kept in check. Unauthorized burning of scrub 

makes it more difficult to treat. 

  

Page 348



Page | 117 

 

Threat/pressure Description 

Fertiliser use Many of the wet flush/fen areas have become degraded by nutrient 

enrichment from fertilizer run-off from arable land. Where the 

hinterland to the SAC has been reverted to low input grassland the 

issue should resolve over time, though there may be a long lag. In 

specific areas there is still arable land immediately adjacent to the SAC 

where run-off is occurring and reversion to grassland would benefit the 

SAC feature. 

Vehicles: illicit Illegal use of motorbikes, quadbikes and 4X4s occurs in specific areas 

along the coast, especially around soft cliffs and dunes, causing erosion 

and damage to vegetation and soils. 

Changes to site 

conditions 

There are at least two or three sites on the coast where 

contaminated/toxic waste has been landfilled into old quarries and as 

the cliffs erode this is now being exposed. This could lead to pollution of 

the cliff habitats and changes in vegetation. Also, schemes to address 

the problem, e.g. by slowing coastal erosion, could be damaging to the 

SAC in themselves by interfering with natural processes. Rock armoring 

has already been used in some locations. 

Public access In public access hot spots e.g. close to housing and car parks, dog 

fouling leads to increased nutrients which can change the species 

composition of areas of a site, favoring more pernicious species. 

 

Key Environmental Conditions 

 

94. The key environmental conditions required to support site integrity comprise the following: 

 Overall length and/or area of cliff habitat to be maintained taking into account natural 

variation 

 There should be no increase in area constrained by introduced structures or landforms 

 The range of physical conditions supporting the habitats, and the range of maritime 

grasslands and other communities should be maintained 

 There should be no increase in species untypical of the communities that define the feature 

 Reduced risk of trampling/nutrient input. 

  

Page 349



Page | 118 

 

HRA Map 9 Shows the Durham Coast SAC  

SAC features are shown in purple. 

 

Page 350



Page | 119 

 

B2: Northumbria Coast SPA and Ramsar 

 

95. Northumbria Coast SPA and Ramsar was designated in February 2000 and covers an area of 

approximately 1,108 hectares. The site comprises several discrete stretches of the coastline in 

North East England between Spittal in the north of Northumberland to Crimdon Dene in County 

Durham. The site consists of rocky shore with associated bolder and cobble beaches. These 

support a rich algal flora and associated fauna and form an important feeding area for wading 

birds. The areas of sandy beach within the site support a flora which includes Ammophila 

arenaria; marram and Honkenya peploides; sea sandwort. 

 

96. A diverse range of recreational activities takes place along the coast including walking, camping, 

sea angling, bird watching, water sports (water-skiing, sailing, windsurfing and canoeing) and 

general use of amenity beaches. As well as attracting a large number of day trippers, a sizable 

population of summer visitors stay in caravan sites and other accommodation along the coast. 

The site also includes parts of three artificial pier structures and a small section of sandy beach 

 

97. The designated stretches in Durham consist of approximately 55 hectares and broadly pertain to 

Seaham's coastal area and harbour in the north east of the County and the area of coastline 

between Blackhall Rocks and Crimdon Dene in the south east of the County. The habitat of the 

SPA is predominantly classified as Shingle, Sea Cliffs and Islets. 

 

Qualifying Features (Natura 2000 and Ramsar) 

 

 Calidris maritima (Purple sandpiper) wintering 

 Arenaria interpres (Ruddy turnstone) wintering 

 Sterna albifrons (Little tern) breeding 

 

Conservation Objectives 

 

98. With regard to the SPA (and Ramsar) and the individual species and/or assemblage of species 

for which the site has been classified and subject to natural change; 

 

99. Ensure that the integrity of the site is maintain or restored as appropriate, and ensure that the 

site contributes to achieving the aims of the Wild Birds Directive, by maintaining or restoring 

the; 

 

 Extent and distribution of the habitats of the qualifying features 

 Structure and function of the habitats of the qualifying features 

 Supporting processes on which the habitats of the qualifying features rely 

 Population of each of the qualifying features; and 

 Distribution of the qualifying features within the site. 

 

 

 

Page 351



Page | 120 

 

Reported Threats / Pressures 

 

100. The Natura 2000 Standard Data form for the site outlines the following threats and pressures 

which are ranked as high: 

 

 Outdoor sport and leisure activities, recreational activities; 

 Change in biotic conditions; 

 Pollution to marine waters; 

 Human induced changes to hydraulic conditions; and 

 Other human intrusions and disturbances 

 

101. Natural England’s Site Improvement Plan for the Northumberland Coastal area which includes 

the SPA/Ramsar expands upon the issues identified as currently impacting or threatening the 

condition of the features as follows: 

Threat/Pressure Description 

Public access / 

disturbance 

Little terns are a particularly high priority in relation to disturbance affecting 

condition. Wintering waders and other species are also at risk. Wildlife 

tourism is identified as a moderate threat in Northumbria Coast SPA, due to 

loss of foraging habitat for birds, and there is also disturbance/displacement 

of birds by dog walkers, light aircraft and watersports. 

Changes in species 

distributions 

Populations of the qualifying bird species in Northumbria Coast SPA have 

declined or changed but it is unclear if this site specific or driven by wider 

trends in distribution. 

Predation Predation on terns by raptors and other predators 

Coastal squeeze There is loss of irreplaceable habitat caused by the cumulative effect of 

small scale impacts resulting from existing and new developments adjacent 

to Northumbria Coast SPA. 

Direct impact from 

third party 

Wildlife crime occurs in Northumberland Coast SPA e.g. Egg theft 

Fisheries Dredges (Inc. hydraulic), benthic trawls and seines and shore-based 

activities are categorized as ‘Red’ for these interest features as part of 

Defra’s revised approach to commercial fisheries management in EMS’s, 

and requisite mechanisms are being or will be implemented by 

Northumberland Inshore Fisheries and Conservation Authority (NIFCA). 

Commercial fishing activities such as potting categorized as ‘amber or 

green’ under Defra’s revised approach to commercial fisheries in EMS’s 

require assessment and (where appropriate) management. This assessment 

will be undertaken by NIFCA. For activities categorized as ‘green’, these 

assessments should take account of any in combination effects of amber 

activities, and/or appropriate plans or projects, in the site. 

 

 

Page 352



Page | 121 

 

Key Environmental Conditions 

 

102. The key environmental conditions required to support site integrity comprise the following: 

 

 Freedom from disturbance 

 Extent and availability of habitat (no decrease) – breeding, feeding areas, roost sites 

 Food availability (marine fish, crustaceans, worms and molluscs; epibenthic 

invertebrates amongst rolling seaweed; surface and sub-surface invertebrates) 

 Open landscape 

 Protection from predation and human interference. 

 

 

  

Page 353



Page | 122 

 

HRA Map 10 shows the SPA and Ramsar Sites 

 

103. SPA and Ramsar features shown in red.  Within County Durham SPA and Ramsar sites overlap 

the same extents.  This maps shows the Northumbria Coast SPA and Ramsar sites to the north 

and the Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast SPA and Ramsar sites to the south. 

 

  

Page 354



Page | 123 

 

 

B3: Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast SPA and Ramsar 

 

104. Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast SPA and Ramsar was designated in August 1995 and covers 

an area of approximately 12,210.62 hectares. Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast comprises 

intertidal sand and mudflats, rocky shore, saltmarsh, freshwater marsh and sand dunes. The 

Tees Estuary has been much-modified by such activities as land-claim, construction of 

breakwaters and training walls, and deep dredging. The remaining intertidal areas within the 

estuary are composed of mud and sand, with some Enteromorpha beds in sheltered areas. 

Outside the estuary mouth, and sandflats predominate, but with significant rocky foreshores 

and reefs at both Redcar and Hartlepool and anthropogenic boulder beds at South Gare. 

Moderately extensive sand dune systems flank the estuary mouth, while a smaller dune 

system lies north of Hartlepool. Surviving saltmarsh is very limited in extent. Behind the dunes 

and sea-defences a number of significant areas of grazing marsh are found. The site it also 

referred to as a European Marine Site (EMS) as it consists of areas continuously or 

intermittently covered by tidal waters or any part of the sea in or adjacent to Great Britain up 

to the limit of territorial waters. 

 

105. The designated stretch within County Durham’s administrative boundary is approximately 

1km in length and covers an area of approximately 22 hectares. The area is located between 

Crimdon Dene and Hartlepool Borough Council’s administrative boundary and predominantly 

consists of coastal sand dunes and sand beaches. 

Qualifying Features 

Scientific Name Common Name Type Qualifying species 

(Natura 2000 and/or 

Ramsar) 

Recurvirostra avosetta Pied avocet Re-producing Natura 2000 and 

Ramsar 

Sterna albifrons Common tern Re-producing  

Caldris pugnax Ruff Non-breeding  

Calidris canutus Red knot Wintering Natura 2000 and 

Ramsar 

Tringa tetanus Common redshank concentration Natura 2000 and 

Ramsar 

Sterna sandvicensis Sandwich tern concentration Natura 2000 

Sterna albifrons Little tern Re-producing Natura 2000 

N/A Waterbird assemblage Wintering Natura 2000 and 

Ramsar 

 

Page 355



Page | 124 

 

Conservation Objectives 

 

106. With regard to the SPA (and Ramsar) and the individual species and/or assemblage of species 

for which the site has been classified (the ‘Qualifying Features’ listed above), and subject to 

natural change. 

 

107. Ensure that the integrity of the site is maintained or restored as appropriate, and ensure that 

the site contributes to achieving the aims of the Wild Birds Directive, by maintaining or 

restoring the: 

 Extent and distribution of the habitats of the qualifying features 

 Structure and function of the habitats of the qualifying features 

 Supporting processes on which the habitats of the qualifying features rely 

 Population of each of the qualifying features, and, 

 Distribution of the qualifying features within the site. 

Reported Threats / Pressures 

 

108. The Natura 2000 Standard Data form for the site outlines the following threats and pressures 

which are ranked as high: 

 

 Outdoor sport and leisure activities, recreational activities; 

 Pollution to marine waters; 

 Human induced changes to hydraulic conditions; 

 Industrial or commercial areas; and 

 Fishing and harvesting aquatic resources. 

 

109. Natural England’s Site Improvement Plan for Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast expands upon 

the issues identified as currently impacting or threatening the condition of the features. The 

issues that are considered relevant to Durham’s coastal stretch of the SPA/Ramsar are 

identified in the following table: 

Threat/Pressure Description 

Public 

access/disturbance 

Both breeding Little tern and non-breeding waterbirds are disturbed 

by recreational beach users. These include walkers, dog walkers and 

kite surfers. 

Direct land take from 

development 

Undesignated land that supports SPA birds (‘functional habitat’) has 

been negatively affected by development in the recent past. 

Water quality Improvements to wastewater treatment and catchment 

management and the closure and relocation of wastewater 

discharges have significantly reduced the inputs of nutrients and 

organic matter to the Tees. These improvements in water quality 

have reduced the biomass of the benthic fauna that the estuary 

supports, and hence the food supply of a number of bird species. 

  

Page 356



Page | 125 

 

Threat/Pressure Description 

Fisheries Commercial fishing activities categorized as ‘amber or green’ under 

Defra’s revised approach to commercial fisheries in EMSs require 

assessment and (where appropriate) management. This assessment 

will be undertaken by Northumberland Inshore Fisheries and 

Conservation Authority (NEIFCA). 

Undergrazing Some of the undesignated land that is used by non-breeding 

waterbirds is being encroached by scrub and coarse vegetation. 

Consequently these areas are becoming unsuitable for foraging or 

roosting 

Predation The little tern colony has suffered from predation in recent years, 

including from sparrowhawk, kestrel, hedgehog and fox.  A large 

number of eggs were stolen from the site in 2013. 

Coastal squeeze Coastal squeeze will reduce the area of intertidal and upper shore 

habitats, which are used for foraging and roosting by non-breeding 

waterbirds and for nesting Little tern. 

Changes to site 

conditions/air 

pollution. 

Sand dunes are accreting along sections of the coast. This may 

result in some former Little tern breeding sites becoming 

unsuitable. Nutrient enrichment through nitrogen deposition is 

likely to encourage vigorous growth of vegetation in embryo. 

 

Key Environmental Conditions 

 

110. The key environmental conditions required to support site integrity comprise the following: 

 Food availability (small fish, crustaceans, worms and molluscs, seed bearing plants, 

surface and sub-surface invertebrates 

 Vegetation structure 

 Limited disturbance 

Annex C: Impact of Recreational Pressure 

 

111. European protected sites are subject to different types of recreational pressure and have 

differing vulnerabilities. Studies across a range of species have shown that recreational effects 

can be complex with a range on interrelating impacts as demonstrated by the following 

diagram. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 357



Page | 126 

 

The following flow diagram shows the interrelationships between recreational impacts (adapted 

from Wall and Wright, 1977) 

 

 

112. This section aims to outline the potential pathways by which increased recreational pressure 

could adversely affect the coastal European Protected Sites and associated qualifying species. 

Durham Coast SAC 

 

113. Durham Coast SAC supports the only example of vegetated sea cliffs on magnesian limestone 

exposures in the UK. The species rich vegetation community of the cliffs is reliant upon the 

combination of sea spray, coastal winds, calcareous flushes and the dynamic nature of the 

cliffs with slippage of the soft limestone bedrock and overlying glacial drifts. 

 

114. The formal description of the qualifying habitat type, in accordance with Annex I of the 

Habitats Directive is ‘vegetated sea cliffs of the Atlantic and Baltic coasts.’ Whilst the site is 

designated for a single interest feature, it is important to note that the habitat type is a 

complex mosaic of grassland, fen, flushes and scrub. It is highly sensitive to impacts that 

change the conditions of the site, including nutrient enrichment and direct habitat damage. 

 

115. Increased recreational activity by foot or by vehicle can lead to trampling of qualifying 

vegetation, erosion and soil compaction. This in turn can lead to the reduction in vegetation 

cover and the overall health of species in addition to changes to species composition. Walkers 

with dogs also contribute to pressure on sites through nutrient enrichment via dog fouling. 

 

Page 358



Page | 127 

 

116. Durham Coast SAC's vegetated sea cliffs are of very limited extent and in some cases only a 

few metres in width and are highly vulnerable to the impacts from the passage of walkers, 

horse riders and cyclists. These plant communities are fragile and already under high 

environmental stress, from among other factors, drought, thin soils and natural sub-aerial 

erosion. Though highly susceptible to such wear the habitats location on generally steep 

slopes or dangerous cliff edges, are by their position relatively safe. However, there are some 

localities where the sea cliff plant community is adjacent to or even on the inland side of the 

coast path, such as Blackhills Gill, Horden, Beacon Point and Noses Point, but here there is a 

surfaced footpath that directs and in most parts, confines walkers to the route. There are 

however many other desire line, and footpaths, some linking back to the main towns along 

the coast, especially evident at Crimdon, Blackhall Colliery, and Castle Eden Dene in addition 

to heavy and sustained walking pressure, especially along the coast path. 

 

117. Many studies on the effects of trampling, by feet, horses, cycles and vehicles and on the 

impacts of soil enrichment including dog fouling are cited in the literature. A useful 

compendium of this varied research is given in the Natural England (formerly English Nature) 

commissioned reports relating to the implementation of the Countryside and Rights of Way 

Act (Lowen et al, 2008, Penny Anderson Associates, 2001). For example, the commissioned 

report into the effects of access on foot identified that; impacts are greater on wet ground or 

steep slopes; sensitive species disappear on and beside paths with impacts extending up to 50 

metres on either side of the path and about 400 passages per year can result in 50% loss of 

cover and species.49 

 

118. Findings from a variety of experiments and research, and in various localities also support the 

view that low productivity turf (eg. Magnesian limestone/calcareous grassland) is more prone 

to trampling than more productive grassland and that recovery from such damage is slower. 

Even with quite modest pressure it can result in changes in plant composition, reduction in 

biodiversity, reduction in soil invertebrates, and in soil compaction. Even where diversity 

appears to be maintained, there can be a shift to more resilient and generalised species rather 

than the characteristic species of calcareous grassland. 

 

119. In addition to trampling effects, low nutrient sites, typical of many semi-natural habitats 

including limestone grassland, are especially susceptible to the addition of fertilizer. Sources 

include atmospheric deposition (mainly nitrogen and ammonia), agricultural run off and dog 

faeces and urine (phosphorus and nitrogen). Studies show that the eutophication effects of 

faeces and urine can impact upon overall species composition and diversity50. For example, at 

Burnham Beeches National Nature Reserve over one year the total amount of urine was 

estimated at 30 000 litres and faeces at 60 tonnes51. 

 

 
49 Penny Anderson Associates (2001) Scientific research into the effects of access on nature conservation: Part 1: access on 

foot. Natural England Commissioned Report NECR012 

50 Asken Ltd and Penny Anderson Associated Ltd (2005)  Dogs,   access   and   nature   conservation  Natural England (formerly 

English Nature) Reports Number 649 

 
51 Barnard, A. (2003)  Getting   the   Facts  -  Dog  Walking  and  Visitor  Number   Surveys   at   Burnham   Beeches   and   

their   implications  

Page 359



Page | 128 

 

Northumbria Coast and Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast SPA/Ramsar 

 

120. In respect of the Coastal SPA sites an increase in recreational activity through both local 

visitors and tourism by foot or by vehicle is considered likely to increase levels of disturbance 

to qualifying features and may increase trampling of eggs.  Human activity can affect birds 

either directly (e.g. through causing them to flee) or indirectly (e.g. through damaging their 

habitat). The most obvious direct effect is that of immediate mortality such as death by 

shooting, but human activity can also lead to behavioural changes (e.g. alterations in feeding 

behaviour, avoidance of certain areas etc.) and physiological changes (e.g. an increase in heart 

rate) that, although less noticeable, may ultimately result in major population-level effects by 

altering the balance between immigration/birth and emigration/death. 

 

121. Recreational activity will often result in a flight response (either flying, diving, swimming or 

running) from the animal that is being disturbed. This carries an energetic cost that requires a 

greater food intake. Concern regarding the effects of disturbance on wintering birds, stems 

from the fact that they are expending energy unnecessarily and the time they spend 

responding to disturbance is time that is not spent feeding.52 Disturbance of winter birds 

therefore risks increasing energetic output while reducing energetic input, which can 

adversely affect the ‘condition’ and ultimately survival of the birds at a time when food is 

scarce. In addition, displacement of birds from one feeding site to others can increase the 

pressure on the resources available within the remaining sites, as they have to sustain a 

greater number of birds. 

 

122. Disturbance can also affect roosting birds over high tide periods when the birds’ feeding 

grounds are submerged, again putting a demand on energy reserves. These impacts can affect 

winter survival, particularly during periods of cold weather. In addition, displacement of birds 

from one feeding/roosting site to another can increase the pressure on the resources 

available within the remaining sites, as they have to sustain a greater number of birds. 

Increased nest predation by natural predators can also occur as a result of adults being 

flushed from the nest and deterred from returning to it by the presence of people and dogs, 

leading to an overall reduction in breeding success. 

 

123. A number of studies have also shown that birds are affected more by dogs and people with 

dogs than by people alone, with birds flushing more readily, more frequently, at greater 

distances and for longer.53 This is because fast-moving and loud disturbances such as the 

running and barking of unleashed dogs is generally thought to be more disturbing.54 

 

124. In relation to the qualifying species of the SPA's, in their assessment of the England Coast 

Path, Natural England acknowledge that Purple Sandpiper and Turnstone could be sensitive to 

increased access to the rocky shore habitats they use for foraging and roosting and that 

waders like Turnstone can be very sensitive to disturbance from recreational activity and 

 
52 Riddington, R et al. 1996  The   impact   of   disturbance   on   the   behaviour   and   energy   budgets   of   Brent   geese  Bird 

Study 43:269-279 
53 Gill, J.A. et al.  The   consequences   of   human   disturbance   for   estuarine   birds  RSPB Conservation Review 12:67-72. 
54 Burger, J. (1981)  The effects  of   human   activity   on   birds   at   a   coastal   bay  Biological 

Conservation 21: 231-241 

 

Page 360



Page | 129 

 

especially dogs. Natural England also acknowledge that as with overwintering birds generally, 

the response to disturbance is highly variable between sites, even within species and the same 

species may demonstrate different responses or exposure to disturbance at different times. 55 

 

125. In relation to Little Tern, these tend to nest in colonies on open beaches (either sand or 

shingle) and there are a range of studies indicating clear impacts of disturbance, with 

disturbance affecting both the nesting distribution (Ratcliffe et al. 2008) and breeding success 

(Medeiros et al. 2007, 2012). Disturbance has also been suggested as a reason for population 

declines of Red Knot (KL Borgmann 2010) and in the presence of people, birds such as the 

Redshank, (Curlew and Oystercatcher) will significantly delay their arrival times at low water 

feeding sites with departures from these feeding sites significantly earlier for the Redshank 

and Oystercatcher when disturbed (Fitzpatrick and Bouchez, 1998) reducing the time available 

for feeding.  Sandwich Tern very easily desert a breeding site and move to a new area if 

disturbed in any way (Cullen, 1960). 

 

 

 

 
55 Natural England (2018) Appraisal of possible environmental impacts of proposals for England Coast Path – The Wash: 

Sutton Bridge to Gilbraltar Point and Natural England (2017) Access and Sensitive Features Appraisal – Coastal Access 

Programme: South Bents to Amble. Please note it was not possible to locate a similar report for the North Gare to South 

Bents section which covers the Durham Coast. 

 

Page 361



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Residential	Amenity	Standards	

Supplementary	Planning	Document	

	

	

February	2022	(Revised	Version)	
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 363



Background 
1.1    This Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) promotes high quality amenity 

and design standards. High quality design is important in all communities within the 

County.  It is not solely a visual concern; it has important economic, social and 

environmental consequences too.  Good design helps people feel positive about 

places and take pride in their communities.  It can help attract interest and 

investment to an area, which is important for the continued development of an area 

as a place where people want to live, work and invest.  The guidance provided in this 

document will be given weight when making decisions on householder planning 

applications and proposals involving new residential development. 

1.2    This document replaces the January 2020 Residential Amenity Supplementary 

Planning Document.  The SPD provides updated guidance in relation rear 

extensions, roof alterations, garages and driveways, and walls and fences.  It also 

provides further clarity in relation to privacy/separation distances.  The SDP links 

mainly to Policy 29 (Sustainable Design) of the County Durham Plan and should be 

read alongside the Plan as well as other key design guidance for example the 

National Design Guide, Manual for Streets and Secured by Design. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 364



Purpose of this document 
1.3    This SPD has been produced to provide guidance for all residential 

development across County Durham and will form a material planning consideration 

in the determination of appropriate planning applications.  It sets out the standards 

Durham County Council will require in order to achieve the Council’s commitment to 

ensure new development enhances and complements existing areas and raises the 

design standards and quality of area in need of regeneration in line with the aims of 

the County Durham Plan.  

1.4   This document will provide specific guidance for anyone undertaking works 

within the confines of their residential property, in relation to the following areas: 

• 45 Degree Code 

• Single Storey Rear Extensions (including Conservatories, Sunrooms and 

Orangeries) 

• Two Storey Rear Extensions 

• Forward Extensions (including Porches) 

• Side Extensions 

• Dormer Windows and Extensions into Roof Space 

• Hip to Gable Extensions 

• Roof Windows and Openings 

• Garages and Outbuildings (including Conversions) 

• Driveways and Hardstandings 

• Fences and Walls 

• Decking and Balconies 

• Materials 

1.5   The SPD also provides guidance on privacy and amenity standards for new 

residential development and includes guidance on garden spaces.  It should be read 

alongside related documents, including for example the Building for Life SPD, 

Highway Design Guide and the Parking and Accessibility SPD, as well as any 

locally-specific guidance documentation such as Conservation Area Appraisals and 

Management Plans.  You should contact the County Council to confirm specific 

requirements for your development proposal. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 365



Householder Development 

General Design Principles  
2.1 Most properties have ‘permitted development’ rights. These rights are set out 

within the General Permitted Development Order 2015 (as amended) which allow for 

certain extensions and alterations to a dwelling, or ancillary outbuildings and 

structures within the curtilage of a dwelling, without the need to apply for planning 

permission. These will depend on the type of house, it’s location and the type of 

development proposed. 

2.2 However, not all properties have permitted development rights, and it is therefore 

important that prior to undertaking any works advice is sought from the appropriate 

Development Management team to ensure that planning consent is not required for 

the proposed works. 

2.3 Whether planning permission is required or not, there are certain basic design 

principles which should be applied to all types of extension, to ensure that your 

development and investment have a positive impact on your property and the 

character and appearance of the area. These are: 

• Consistent design, so that window styles and proportions and architectural 

details match the existing property. The inclusion of similar design 

features, (such as bay windows), is encouraged where appropriate. The 

extension should not look out of place within the site, or in the street, and 

should enhance, and not detract, from the character of the area. 

• The roof design of any extension is an important, and often the most 

notable, feature. Where the extension is more than one storey, or, above 

an existing single storey extension, the roof should normally be of a 

matching design and pitch to the existing host dwelling, unless an 

alternative roof design is already a prevalent feature which now forms part 

of the character of the area.  Flat roof and contemporary single storey 

extensions to the rear may be acceptable where they do not have a 

detrimental impact on the character and appearance of the streetscene. 

• Consistent materials which ensure that the same type of brick or roof 

covering are used across the new development.  In addition, brick 

features, such as brick banding or brick soldier courses above windows, 

should be consistent. 

• Subservience whereby all new development should be of a scale that is 

appropriate to the existing building and does not have an overbearing 

appearance or nature. Development which would dominate the street 

scene is likely to be resisted. Oversized extensions can completely change 

the character of an area and should be avoided.  Extensions should be 

designed to ensure harmony with the original building. 

Page 366



• Consideration and regard to neighbouring properties should be ensured, 

so that neighbouring windows do not become dominated by any 

extensions and their daylight is not excessively obstructed. 

• Ensuring that all parts of the extension/development, including gutters, and 

all other rainwater goods, fascia boards, drains and foundations, are within 

your boundary unless you have agreement with your neighbour to do 

otherwise. Please bear in mind that boundary disputes of this nature are 

civil matters that the Council cannot get involved in. 

• Consider access arrangements for workmen, machinery and materials to 

enable the works to be constructed and maintained from your own land. 

Creation of extensions with elements that are only accessible from 

neighbouring properties should be avoided, as permission may not always 

be given for use of their land. 

• Extensions at the front of houses are generally unacceptable in principle 

as they can assume an extremely conspicuous and inappropriate 

appearance, however, a limited form of well-designed extension may be 

acceptable in certain circumstances. 

• Corner plots occupying sensitive locations within street scenes will require 

careful attention to design, in order to preserve building lines, appropriate 

areas of open space, and, include a level of detailing to avoid blank and 

featureless facades. 

• Privacy is an important principle and is of particular note in relation to first 

floor extensions, which may overlook habitable windows in neighbouring 

property. The minimum privacy standards and separation distances are 

detailed further at section 3.0. 

• Borrowing; when designing your extension do not assume that you can 

benefit from, or otherwise ‘take’, aspect or light from across another 

person’s property or land.  They may for example subsequently decide to 

construct a building or fence, which does not need planning permission 

and would prejudice the new window/s. It is therefore recommended that 

your extension ensures that the primary habitable room windows face over 

your own land and only secondary windows face another person's land 

(w.c. or hall windows for instance). Primary habitable rooms are those 

which the resident can expect to enjoy for their normal day-to-day 

activities.  This would include any room used or intended to be used for 

sleeping, cooking, living or eating purposes. This excludes such enclosed 

spaces as pantries, bath or toilet facilities, service rooms, corridors, 

laundries, hallways, utility rooms or similar spaces. 

• Amenity space; new residential developments shall be provided with 

sufficient amenity space commensurate to the size of the host dwelling 

and/or the character of the area to allow adequate outdoor amenity space 

for the enjoyment of future occupiers. 

Page 367



2.4 In summary, extensions should not negatively affect neighbouring properties and 

should complement the main house. 

2.5 The following guidelines are supportive of imaginative architecture and 

innovative design. They will be applied taking into account the characteristics of the 

surrounding street scene and any designated or non-designated heritage assets 

such as Conservation areas and Listed Buildings. 

 

  

Please note that the drawings used are for illustrative purposes only. They identify 

good (green) and bad (red) examples of householder developments, however they 

are not to scale and they do not imply that planning permission will be granted as 

there may be exceptions depending upon the local context (for example in relation to 

dormer windows). 

 

45 Degree Code 
2.6   Sunlight and daylight are important factors in securing a good quality living 

environment.   In order to minimise the potential for overshadowing to neighbouring 

properties, and to help determine whether a more detailed daylight and sunlight 

assessment is needed, the Council operate what is known as a ’45 degree code’. 

2.7   The code is applied by drawing an imaginary line at 45-degrees from the mid-

point of the nearest window to a habitable room on any of the adjoining owner’s 

property and a line 45-degrees above the horizontal from the mid-point of the 

window. If any of these lines cut through any part of the proposed development this 

is a clear indication the extension may result in a detrimental impact on the 

neighbouring property. The extent of the impact will however depend upon a number 

Page 368



of factors including the orientation of the property, distance between the window and 

the proposed extension, existing features such as boundary walls, outbuildings and 

other solid structures, ground levels and the type of window impacted upon (i.e. 

whether it is a primary or secondary window).  As such a breach in the 45 degree 

code will not result in an automatic refusal but rather mean that further assessment 

of the proposal will be necessary, including daylight and sunlight tests to gauge the 

acceptability of proposals in terms of the overshadowing/loss of light impact upon 

neighbouring properties.  

2.8   The code will be applied to applications for all new extensions (inc. 

conservatories). However, where the construction materials are of a transparent / 

semi-transparent nature this will be taken into account when considering the impact 

on neighbouring properties.   

2.9   In applying the 45-degree code due consideration will be given to the ‘fall-back’ 

position afforded by permitted development rights. 

 

Single Storey Rear Extensions (including Conservatories, 

Sunrooms and Orangeries) 
2.10 A single storey rear extension is the most common type of residential extension 

and usually the simplest and most acceptable way of extending your home. As single 

storey rear extensions are rarely visible from the street, it is possible to have a 

greater degree of flexibility in relation to design and appearance. However, whilst 

there may be greater tolerances for flexibility in design, the following principles 

should be noted: 

• Single storey extensions can create a particular impact on attached 

neighbours if the extension is located along the shared boundary, as this 

may affect the neighbour’s habitable room windows in terms of 

sunlight/daylight and residential amenity adjoining a principal room 

window.  In order to minimise the potential for impact to neighbouring 

properties, and, to help determine whether a more detailed daylight and 

sunlight assessment is needed, the Council operates what is known as a 

’45 degree code’. 

• A solution to reduce the potential impact of an extension along a shared 

boundary is to reduce the length of the projection of the extension from the 

house to 3.0m.  If the proposed extension is in excess of this dimension, it 

is often necessary for the extension to be inset from the boundary by a 

sufficient distance.  This is dependent on the roof design type, the 

orientation of the property, and, the distance the neighbour’s principal 

windows are from the common boundary and the 45 degree code. 

Twinning with an existing neighbour’s extension may also solve the 

problem. 

Page 369



• Windows on the side elevation of the extension, conservatory, sunroom or 

orangery, facing on to the neighbouring property are not recommended.  

This is to avoid loss of privacy for the adjoining occupier.  If the windows 

are essential, then high-level obscure glazed windows should be 

considered. 

• On detached houses the same principles apply, though these may be 

relaxed where privacy can be achieved.  

2.11 Conservatories and sunrooms should adhere to the same guidelines as single 

storey extensions.  However, due to their being constructed largely from glass, this 

will be taken into account when considering the impact on neighbouring properties in 

terms of impact on daylight of neighbouring properties. As detailed above where the 

conservatory is to be constructed adjacent to a shared common boundary, the 

Council will normally request the common side elevation is constructed from 

obscured glass or another opaque material as appropriate.  A suitable screen fence 

may also be acceptable, but in such circumstances the Council will ensure such 

fencing will be retained for the lifetime of the development via the imposition of a 

planning condition. 

 

Two Storey Rear Extensions 
2.12 Two storey rear extensions to houses will usually require planning permission. 

Given the mass and bulk of this type of extension (especially where they are close to 

a boundary) greater care and consideration is required in the design of the 

extension. The following principles should be noted: 

• Rear extensions should be of a size commensurate to the host property.  If 

extensions are excessive in length, a two-storey rear extension can have a 

wider impact on the character and appearance of the streetscene and 

therefore should be kept to a minimum and inset in off the common shared 

boundary where possible.  

• Two storey extensions on semi-detached and end terrace properties, 

along a common boundary are discouraged, due to their impact on the 

neighbour’s primary habitable rear room windows. However, this may be 

mitigated if the neighbours have an existing ground floor extension.  

• Two storey extensions to mid-terraced properties will rarely be acceptable 

due to the overbearing impact on the adjoining property’s windows where 

light is often already limited.  They can also cause a ‘tunnelling effect’ to 

the rear habitable room windows. 

• First floor extensions over the footprint of an existing extension, or original 

offshoot, can be problematic depending on the location, spatial 

relationship and orientation. As such they may be acceptable provided that 

they do not extend beyond the footprint of the existing extension, or 

Page 370



offshoot, but this would be dependent on the individual circumstances of 

the location.   

• Windows at first floor level should be located so that their aspect should 

look down towards the rear of the boundary of the property and not be on 

side elevations, unless they are opaque glazed.  In addition, the privacy 

and separation distance criteria set out in the document will apply. 

 

Forward extensions (including porches) 
2.13 The front face of a residential property is normally the most important aspect of 

a house where it fronts onto a public highway.   In order to maintain the 

characteristics of the dwelling and the surrounding street scene, large scale 

extensions to the front of properties will not usually be acceptable. 

2.14 Front extensions to existing dwellings should: 

• not extend beyond the defined building line due to their location and 

setting, and, excepting porch extensions (for example, where the front 

elevations of all buildings within a street form a common building line - 

which can also be curved); 

• be designed to incorporate design features of the original dwelling; 

• be sympathetic in scale and character to the building itself and the area 

generally; and 

• be designed to respect the immediate outlook of adjacent residents and in 

this respect should not adversely affect the amenities they currently enjoy. 

2.15 Two storey front extensions will be assessed on their merits taking into 

consideration the scale and character of the existing property and the surrounding 

area. 

2.16 The addition of porches to properties can substantially affect the character of a 

street given they are most often to the front and it is therefore important that the 

design is appropriate.  Where a porch needs planning permission it should not be of 

an excessive size and should not be an extension to a front primary room (e.g. living 

room).  Porches should usually: 

• be of a size commensurate to the host dwelling; 

• avoid being of a size that would disrupt an established building line within 

the area, unless similar developments are prevalent in the area and have 

formed an established character and are part of the building line (porch 

projections in excess of 1.5m from the front wall of the house are generally 

discouraged as this will usually result in a prominent and incongruous 

feature in the building line);  

• not be higher than 3m; and 

• be positioned at least 2m from the highway. 

Page 371



Side Extensions  
2.17   Side extensions can be particularly visible and, as a result, can have a 

significant impact upon the character and appearance of the street scene. It is 

therefore essential that they are well-designed, especially on a corner plot to avoid 

having a negative impact upon their surroundings, and, to complement the host 

property. 

2.18   The character of an area derives not only from the design of individual 

dwellings but also from their layout, rhythm and spatial relationship. The space 

between houses can provide a sense of rhythm and character.  Inappropriate infilling 

or interruption can result in a fundamental change to an areas character and can 

create terracing between properties (the closing of gaps between houses by 

extending the houses sideways so that it gives the appearance of a continuous 

frontage). In order to ensure that proposals do not have a significant effect on the 

character and appearance of the host dwelling and streetscene, or create a terracing 

effect; side extensions will normally be expected to accord with the following design 

principles: 

• Side extensions should remain subordinate to the original property.  This 

can be achieved at ground floor by setting back the front elevation from 

the existing building line.  To prevent two storey and first floor extensions 

becoming visually connected (terracing), the first floor section of the 

extension should be set back from the building line by 1.0m along with an 

associated reduction in the ridge height of the extension relative to the 

original roof, and, where possible retaining or introducing a personal side 

external access path of 1.0m wide. Exceptions to the above will only be 

made where the character of the area is such that the introduction of a 

terracing effect will have little impact on the streetscene, or where the 

dwelling is on a corner plot. 

• As a general rule, side extensions should be of a size which is no more 

than 50% of the overall width of the original dwelling or 3.0m whichever is 

the greatest. 

• The roof pitch and design should reflect that of the host dwelling so that 

the character and appearance of the area can be maintained.  An 

exception to this would only be acceptable where there is a clear 

precedent of similarly designed side extension in the immediate street 

scene, and as such this has become the prominent character within the 

street scene. 

2.19 Single storey extensions to the side of houses do not always require planning 

permission. Where they do, however, consideration should be given to the height 

and design of the extension relative to the adjacent neighbour’s windows.  

Page 372



Dormer Windows and Extensions into Roof Space 
2.20 Planning permission is not normally required for loft conversions, providing the 

works are entirely internal, however it will be necessary to apply for Building 

Regulations approval. 

2.21 Planning permission is likely to be required where you extend or alter the roof 

space and it exceeds permitted development limits as set out within The Town and 

Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as 

amended). 

2.22 Dormer extensions to the roof of a house can drastically alter the appearance of 

the property. Particular care is necessary in their design. 

• Front dormers facing a road will always require planning permission. 

• Rear dormers may not need planning permission depending on whether 

they meet the restrictions of the permitted development regulations. 

• The general rule is to attempt to minimise the visual impact of the dormer 

by reducing its scale to that of a roof window, with a pitched roof and the 

cheeks of the dormer set in from the edge of the roof. Full width flat roofed 

extensions are to be avoided.   

 

2.23 Dormer extensions should: 

• use matching materials where appropriate; 

• be set below the ridge line; 

Page 373



• not dominate the roofscape of the property; 

• be set back from the eaves line by an appropriate dimension sufficient to 

achieve a subordinate appearance; and 

• ensure any side facing windows are obscure glazed. 

 

Hip to Gable Extensions  
2.24 Where a property has a hipped roof proposals to create a gabled roof will be 

required to include matching materials and design details, such as decorative ridge 

tiles, wherever possible.  

2.25 Extensions should not impact on the amenity of neighbouring occupiers or the 

uniformity of the street scene. If all properties in the area have hipped roofs, a hip to 

gable extension may not be appropriate.  

 

Roof Windows and Openings  
2.26 Where velux-type windows require planning permission they should: 

• protrude no more than 150mm in height from the roof plane;  

• not be above the ridge line;  

• ensure they are positioned in the least intrusive location possible (usually 

to the rear);  

• be of an appropriate scale and layout; and 

• have obscure glazed windows where they are located on side elevations 

or in hip to gable extensions. 

 

Garages and Outbuildings (including Conversions) 
2.27 Domestic garages and outbuildings should generally follow the same guidelines 

as those for extensions and should be of a high quality of design especially where 

they are proposed in a prominent location. Garages should be subordinate to the 

house and unobtrusively sited in relation to existing houses and the street scene. 

They should not restrict access to neighbouring properties, drives or garages, or 

have a detrimental impact on the windows of neighbouring properties. 

2.28 Garages to existing dwellings should be designed to incorporate design 

features of the original dwelling and should normally be constructed of materials 

used in the construction of the original dwelling.  They should incorporate a pitched 

roof design to reflect the character of the host dwelling. 

2.29 Where a garage is to be accessed directly from the road, it should be provided 

with a minimum drive length of 6m.  The drive should be at least 2.7m wide along the 

Page 374



entire length, to ensure that a vehicle can be parked fully within the curtilage of the 

property so as not to obstruct the highway.  Some flexibility will be allowed where 

appropriate, for example where driveways are a nonstandard shape, if it can be 

demonstrated that safe access can still be provided.  The Parking and Accessibility 

Supplementary Planning Document provides further details in this regard.  

2.30 The conversion of an integral or attached garage to a habitable room may 

require planning permission in certain cases.  It is essential to check with the 

Council’s Development Management team whether this applies to your property 

before starting work.  

2.31 Whether planning permission applies or not (and it is a building regulations 

application you are making), proposals should ensure: 

• Matching window details and materials are utilised; the windows should be 

of the same style, form and appearance as the main house and any sills or 

lintels should be replicated; and 

• The provision of car-parking spaces on the plot remain in accordance with 

the Council’s Parking requirements to compensate for the loss of the 

garage.  

 

Driveways and Hardstandings  
2.32 Planning permission may be required for a creation of a new drive.  However, if 

this is not the case, the consent of the Council’s Highways Department may be 

required and they should be contacted directly for further information. The advice of 

the Design and Conservation Team should also be sought through pre-application 

advice for alterations to the front of properties in a Conservation Area. 

2.33 Where permission is required for new or replacement driveways, it will only be 

granted where appropriate drainage can accommodate rainwater without flooding 

the highway or using the existing rainwater drains, and, the layout of the front garden 

is in keeping with the character of the surrounding area with soft landscaping as well 

as hardstanding.  

 

Walls and Fences 
2.34 The design and detailing of boundary gates, walls and fences, particularly on 

highway frontages, plays an important role in defining the character of all residential 

areas. Means of enclosure can be a very prominent feature in the street scene and 

can have a high visual impact.  It is therefore important to ensure that the style and 

materials match, or complement, the existing boundary treatment in the surrounding 

area or, where appropriate, the dwelling itself. 

Page 375



2.35 Fences or walls should not obstruct sight lines for moving vehicles.  It is 

therefore advised that fences along the side of a property are reduced in height as 

they approach the highway.  This will also prevent the boundary treatment becoming 

an overbearing presence in the street scene. 

2.36 Some housing developments within the County have had the right to erect front 

boundary treatment restricted (this is known as open plan) to ensure an open and 

uncluttered appearance to the street scene.  In these cases permission will always 

be required for a built enclosure, such as a wall or fence, but this does not apply to 

planting such as a hedge. 

2.37 Special consideration will be given to corner plots within open plan areas where 

trespass is a problem.  However, in the middle of a street permanent structures are 

inappropriate as they detract from the openness.  Planting is instead encouraged as 

an alternative that does not require permission. 

 

Decking and Balconies 
2.38 Decking and balconies which are close to boundaries and overlook 

neighbouring properties can have a significant impact upon privacy both within 

neighbouring properties and outside amenity areas. 

2.39 Raised decking, over the tolerance set within the permitted development rights, 

will not be allowed where it would result in significant overlooking of a neighbouring 

garden/yard or a main living room window. 

2.40 Balconies to the front of dwellings will generally be resisted and are unlikely to 

be granted consent where they will be visible within the wider street scene.  

Balconies to the rear and side are more likely to be approved where they are able to 

meet privacy and separation distances. 

2.41 In some cases privacy issues from balconies can be overcome by screening, 

for instance with frosted glazing, or, by insetting the balcony into the building or roof. 

 

Materials 
2.42 Materials should normally be in keeping with those of the host property.  The 

use of contemporary materials may be permitted, provided they reflect and respect 

the characteristics of the host property and the surrounding streetscape. 

2.43 Special regard should be given to the use of materials within Conservation 

Areas.  They should normally comprise traditional materials, and reflect coursing and 

other construction methods, unless it can be demonstrated that contemporary 

materials are appropriate. 

Page 376



New development 
3.1   All new development, including new dwellings, will have some bearing on 

neighbouring properties and it is important to ensure that the impact does not result 

in a significant loss of privacy, outlook or light for occupiers of new dwellings and 

existing dwellings. The design and layout of new development should ensure that 

reasonable privacy and light is provided for surrounding residents and occupiers, 

particularly in relation to residential use and enjoyment of dwellings and private 

gardens. Spacing between the windows of buildings/dwellings should achieve 

suitable distances for privacy and light, whilst also preventing cramped and 

congested layouts. 

3.2   In order to achieve these objectives, the following minimum standards will be 

applied to new residential developments: 

 

Minimum Separation / Privacy Distances 
3.3 In new residential housing developments (including extensions or residential 

outbuildings), the following minimum distances will usually be required to protect the 

privacy, outlook and residential amenity of habitable room windows: 

 

• A minimum distance of 21.0m between primary habitable room windows, 

which are adjacent to each other where either building exceeds single 

storey, and a minimum of 18.0m between primary habitable room windows 

which are adjacent to each other and both buildings are single storey. 

 

• Where a main facing elevation containing a primary habitable room 

window is adjacent to a gable wall which does not contain a primary 

habitable room window, a minimum distance of 13.0m shall be provided 

where either building exceed single storey or 10.0m where both buildings 

are single storey. 

 

3.4 Primary habitable room windows that are adjacent to each other across a public 

highway may not be required to meet these standards, for example, where doing so 

would not be in keeping with the established building line and character of the 

immediate vicinity and where this is considered desirable.  

Page 377



 

  

Factoring in changes in levels, storey heights and mitigating 

factors 
3.5   Changes in levels and the storey heights of buildings will either exaggerate or 

diminish overlooking, loss of light, shadowing and overbearing impacts.  To 

compensate for these changes the separation / privacy distances cited above should 

be increased by 3m for every additional storey height (including rooms within the roof 

space which contain windows) above two storeys. 

3.6   Where there is a significant change in levels, the minimum separation/privacy 

distance will increase by 1m for every full 1m that the floor level of the development 

would be above the affected floor or ground level of the neighbouring property. 

3.7   It is not intended to apply the above separation/privacy distances rigidly, and 

there may be instance where these distances can be relaxed; for example, where 

the impacts on privacy can be reduced. This may occasionally be achieved, using 

obscure glazing, boundary treatments, restricted openings and directional windows. 

There may also be scope to relax distances between public facing elevations within 

housing schemes to allow for a variation in layout where this will add interest and 

help create a sense of place. Such a relaxation will normally only be allowed if it can 

Page 378



be demonstrated that future residents will still enjoy a satisfactory level of privacy, 

amenity and outlook. 

3.8   Distances may also be relaxed having regard to the character of an area.  

Shorter distances than those stated above could be considered in those urban areas 

typified by higher densities. It will however be important to ensure that the amenity of 

existing residents is not significantly impacted upon. Similarly, greater distances may 

be required in some suburban and rural areas where the predominant character of 

the area exhibits greater separation distances. Distances may vary where this is 

necessary to protect the historic interest and setting of designated and non-

designated heritage assets such as listed and locally listed buildings and 

conservation areas. 

3.9   Nevertheless, where new development forms an interface with existing housing 

any relaxation in standards will only be permitted where it is clearly demonstrable 

that the privacy of existing residents will not be significantly compromised. 

Prospective residents can decide whether or not to move into a new house unlike 

existing residents who have already invested in their homes.  It is therefore important 

to ensure that the amenity that existing residents can reasonably expect to enjoy is 

not significantly compromised. 

 

Gardens and ‘leftover’ spaces 
3.10   New residential housing developments should incorporate usable, attractively 

laid out and private garden space conveniently located in relation to the property, or 

properties, it serves. It should be of an appropriate size, having regard to the size of 

the dwelling and character of the area. 

3.11   The length of gardens will generally be dictated by the minimum separation 

distancing standards, however they should be no less than 9m unless site specific 

circumstances allow for an alternative solution. 

3.12   In general terms layouts should be appropriately designed in order to avoid 

‘leftover’ spaces, which typically provides little benefit or relevance to the residential 

area. 

3.13   Any space which does not make a positive contribution to the overall design, 

sense of place or general public amenity, such as areas behind rear gardens, 

inaccessible corners, over-enclosed passages/alleyway or corridors, should be 

avoided as these areas are frequently under-used and may become prone to anti-

social behaviour, fly-tipping, or present long-term maintenance issues. 

 

 

Page 379



This page is intentionally left blank



Proposed Changes to Highways Design Guide

 

Page 381



 

 

 

Page 382



 

Page 383



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

Durham County Council Equality Impact Assessment 

NB: The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010) requires Durham County 

Council to have ‘due regard’ to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, 

harassment and victimisation, advance equality of opportunity and foster good 

relations between people from different groups. Assessing impact on equality and 

recording this is one of the key ways in which we can show due regard. 

Section One: Description and Screening 

Service/Team or Section 
 

REG/Spatial Policy Team 

Lead Officer 
 

Peter Ollivere 

Title 
 

Parking and Accessibility Standards 

MTFP Reference (if 
relevant) 
 

N/A 

Cabinet Date (if relevant) 
 

April 2022 

Start Date 
 

January 2020  

Review Date 
 

9th July 2021 

 

Subject of the Impact Assessment 

Please give a brief description of the policy, proposal or practice as appropriate (a 
copy of the subject can be attached or insert a web-link): 
 

The Parking and Accessibility Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) will 
address both residential and non-residential parking and accessibility in County 
Durham. The Local Plan for County Durham (the County Durham Plan) was 
adopted in October 2020, with Policy 21 setting out some basic criteria for car, 
cycle, and electric vehicle parking. Policy 21 also states that a full Parking and 
Accessibility SPD will be prepared having regard to the principles set out in the 
policy, which would then be a material consideration in assessing development 
proposals. The Plan is the subject of its own EQIA.  

 

Who are the main stakeholders? (e.g. general public, staff, members, specific 
clients/service users): 
 

Anyone who lives in, works in, studies in, visits, or has an interest in County 
Durham may be interested in the Parking and Accessibility SPD. This includes the 
general public, Council Staff, Elected Members, developers and landowners, 

Page 385



 2 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

various partners, stakeholders from various sectors and interest groups or 
communities, and statutory consultees as defined by the Government. 

 

Screening 

Is there any actual or potential negative or positive impact on the following 
protected characteristics? 
 

Protected Characteristic Negative Impact 
Indicate: Y = Yes, 
N = No, ? = unsure 
 

Positive Impact 
Indicate: Y = Yes, 
N = No, ? = unsure 
 

Age 
 

N Y 

Disability 
 

N Y 

Marriage and civil partnership  
(workplace only) 

N N 

Pregnancy and maternity 
 

N Y 

Race (ethnicity) 
 

N N 

Religion or Belief 
 

N N 

Sex (gender) 
 

N N 

Sexual orientation 
 

N N 

Transgender 
 

N N 

 

Please provide brief details of any potential to cause adverse impact. Record full 
details and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 
 

Negative impact is not anticipated as the strategy aims to enhance transport 
networks. 
 
 

 

How will this policy/proposal/practice promote our commitment to our legal 
responsibilities under the public sector equality duty to: 

 eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation,  

 advance equality of opportunity, and  

 foster good relations between people from different groups? 
 

Page 386



 3 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

There is potential for both direct and indirect positive impacts for all of the 
protected characteristics groups. This Equalities Impact Assessment includes 
examples of positive effects from the SPD. 

 

Evidence 

What evidence do you have to support your findings?  
Please outline your data sets and/or proposed evidence sources, highlight any 
gaps and say whether or not you propose to carry out consultation. Record greater 
detail and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 
 

The Parking and Accessibility SPD aims to improve parking and access in the 
county and therefore help its communities, economy and environment. It aims for 
equality of opportunity across all equality protected characteristics. There is 
national, regional and local evidence available which shows that people from 
protected groups can face barriers in employment, access to services and 
information, participation in decision making and in consultation. 
 
Evidence from the Integrated Needs Assessment (INA) suggests for example that 
deprivation links to protected characteristics, such as children from deprived areas 
being more prone to obesity or other health problems. Access to education, health, 
community, and other facilities can help with health problems and improve quality 
of life, and improvement of sustainable travel modes and uptake in their use will 
improve the quality of life for all by reducing air pollution and congestion. Census 
2011 and equality related evidence from the Integrated Needs Assessment (INA) 
has been used in section two of this assessment. 
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2389/2011-Census 
 
Extensive consultation is due to take place on the Parking and Accessibility SPD 
and the preceding Issues and Options paper. Following this, any relevant data 
arising from the consultation will be fed into the impact assessment and any 
mitigating actions will be considered at that point prior to adoption  

 

Screening Summary 

On the basis of this screening is there: 
 

Confirm which 
refers (Y/N) 

Evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the protected 
characteristics which will proceed to full assessment? 
 

Y 

No evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the 
protected characteristics? 
 

N 

 

Sign Off 

Page 387



 4 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

Lead officer sign off:  

Date: 10/12/20 

Service equality representative sign off: 
 
 

Date: 

 

If carrying out a full assessment please proceed to section two. 

If not proceeding to full assessment please return completed screenings to your 

service equality representative and forward a copy to equalities@durham.gov.uk 

If you are unsure of potential impact please contact the corporate research and 

equalities team for further advice at equalities@durham.gov.uk 

 

Page 388



 5 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

Section Two: Data analysis and assessment of impact 

Please provide details on impacts for people with different protected characteristics 

relevant to your screening findings. You need to decide if there is or likely to be a 

differential impact for some. Highlight the positives e.g. benefits for certain groups, 

advancing equality, as well as the negatives e.g. barriers for and/or exclusion of 

particular groups. Record the evidence you have used to support or explain your 

conclusions. Devise and record mitigating actions where necessary. 

Protected Characteristic: Age 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Record of evidence to support 
or explain your conclusions 
on impact. 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

The Parking and 
Accessibility SPD aim to 
reduce by ensuring that 
there are standards for 
residential and non-
residential parking in the 
county. 
 
The SPD aims to address 
the active travel needs of 
young people, whether the 
very young or the student 
population by providing for 
cycle parking at educational 
establishments and student 
accommodation.  
 
The SPD also aims to 
increase the participation of 
the working population in 
sustainable travel and 
provide more secure cycle 
parking at workplaces. It 
also provides adequate 
workplace parking for EV 
and non-EV modes. 
 
The SPD also covers 
Nursing and Older Person’s 
Accommodation. 
The SPD covers public 
transport accessibility which 
can be beneficial for 
younger and older people 
who may be less likely to 
have their own cars. 

Between 2001 and 2011 the 
population of County Durham 
increased from 493,678 to 
513,242, an increase of 4.0% 
which is higher than the 2.2% 
rise seen in the region but 
lower than the 7.1% seen 
across England & Wales. 
 
The 2016 mid-year population 
estimate for County Durham 
shows a population of 
521,800 an increase of 4,027 
people since mid-2014 and a 
5.9% increase since 2001. 
County Durham has 
experienced a higher rate of 
growth than the north east 
region (3.3% over the period 
2001-2015), but a 
considerably lower rate of 
growth when compared to 
England as a whole (10.8% 
from 2001-2015). The 2014-
based SNPP for County 
Durham projects population 
growth from 517,773 in 2014 
to 565,972 in 2039, a change 
of 48,199 (9.3%). Over the 
plan period (2016-2035) the 
ONS baseline population is 
projected to grow from 
522,218 to 560,200, a change 
of 37,982 (7.3%). 
 
 

1) Impact will be 
assessed through 
the consultation 
stage. 
 
2) Particularly 
focussed 
consultation with 
both older people 
and young people 
should take place 
as part of the 
consultation on the 
SPD. 

Page 389



 6 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

 

Protected Characteristic: Disability 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

The Parking and 
Accessibility SPD aims to 
reduce inequalities by 
setting out standards for 
disabled parking in the 
county. 
 
The SPD ensures that all 
new developments in 
County Durham comply with 
the Disability Discrimination 
Act 2005 by providing 
appropriate levels of car 
parking for those with 
mobility issues. 
 
Access for emergency 
vehicles will be improved as 
maximum parking standards 
will not feature in new 
developments. The 
document is more focused 
on ensuring that new 
developments provide an 
appropriate level of parking. 
Emergency vehicles such as 
ambulances may be used 
more by those with 
disabilities. 
 
The design hierarchy 
specifically puts mobility 
impaired and disabled 
persons at the top, followed 
by pedestrians; cyclists; 
public transport users;  then 
car drivers, particularly of 
electric cars. 

County Durham has a higher 
percentage of people with 
long term health issues and 
disabled people than the 
North East average, 
representing nearly a quarter 
of the overall population.  
 
The INA identified that 
“Personal safety” is the 
highest critical need identified 
for people with learning 
difficulties. 
 
New development must 
provide an adequate amount 
of disabled persons 
bays and ensure that the 
dimensions meet the 
minimum requirements set 
out in the SPD . As per the 
quantity of parking standards, 
where non-residential 
development is concerned, a 
minimum of two bays will be 
included for disabled people, 
with a minimum 5% of car 
park bays being for disabled 
people in car parks of 20 
spaces or more.  
 

Following the first 
consultation, 10% of all 
electric vehicle chargepoints 
provided will be at disabled 
parking bays to enable people 
with blue badges to use an 
EV. 
 
Additionally, the SPD now 
asks, where 20 or more 
cycling spaces are provided, 
for 5% of cycle parking to be 
suitable for modified or three-

As 1) above 
 
2) Reasonable 
adjustments to 
wording will be 
made where 
required. 
 
3) Engagement 
with disability 
groups will be 
carried out as part 
of the consultation 
process. 
 
4) Particularly 
focussed 
consultation with 
both older people 
and disabled 
people should take 
place as part of the 
consultation on the 
SPD. 
 

Page 390



 7 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

wheel cycles used by people 
with disabilities, to enable 
them to cycle with the 
confidence that there will be 
somewhere safe to leave their 
bike. Cycling parking for 
disabled people should be 
located close to disabled car 
parking bays where possible.  

 

Protected Characteristic: Marriage and civil partnership  (workplace only) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

N/A 
 
 
 

N/A  

 

Protected Characteristic: Pregnancy and maternity 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

The SPD aims to reduce 
inequalities  by ensuring that 
development is accessible 
to all. 
 
The design hierarchy 
specifically puts mobility 
impaired (which could 
include pregnant women 
and people with young 
children) persons at the top, 
followed by pedestrians; 
cyclists; public transport 
users; then car drivers, 
including of electric cars. 

The SPD advocates 
measures to improve 
accessibility by public 
transport, and for those with 
limited mobility. 
 

As 1) above 
 
2) Particularly 
focussed 
consultation will 
take place as part 
of the consultation 
on the Standards 
with the Access for 
All Group. 
 
3) Consideration 
will be given to 
parking for parents 
and children in 
drafting the SPD 

 

Protected Characteristic: Race (ethnicity) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

The SPD aims to reduce 
inequalities by ensuring that 

In County Durham ethnic 
minority communities are a 
relatively small proportion of 

As 1) above 
 

Page 391



 8 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

public and sustainable travel 
is accessible to all. 
 
The SPD covers Places of 
Worship and Community 
Centres which can be 
associated with different 
cultures and ethnicity. 
 
 
 

the population. According to 
the 2011 Census, 98.1% of 
Durham’s population is white 
British. 1.9% is ‘other ethnic 
group’, the largest component 
of this being mixed race and 
Asian. We also have a 
significant population of 
Gypsies and Travellers who 
are either migrant or settled in 
the County. 
 
 

2) Translation and 
interpretation 
requests will be 
considered in line 
with corporate 
guidance. 
 
3) Consultation 
should include 
Gypsy, Roma and 
Traveller wardens 
to ensure that 
those communities 
are aware of the 
document and 
given opportunity 
to comment. 

 

Protected Characteristic: Religion or belief 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

The SPD aims to reduce 
inequalities by ensuring that 
public and sustainable travel 
is accessible to all. 
 
The Standards cover Places 
of Worship and Community 
Centres.  
 

In County Durham 72 percent 
of people state their religion 
as Christian; around 0.2% 
percent as Buddhist; 0.1% 
Hindu; 0.40% Muslim, 0.11% 
Sikh, 0.04% Jewish and 27 
percent as having either no 
religion or not stating their 
religion (Census 2011). 

As 1) above 

 

Protected Characteristic: Sex (gender) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

The SPD aims to improve 
parking and accessibility for 
both men and women. 
Equality of opportunity for all 
is an overall aim. 
 
The SPD includes themes 
which are relevant to gender 
such as employment, 
accessibility, and public 
transport accessibility. 

There are 251,280 (49 
percent) men and 261,962 (51 
percent) women living in 
County Durham (Census 
2011).  There is a higher 
proportion of women in older 
age groups (aged 70+).   
 
 

As 1) above 

 

Page 392



 9 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

Protected Characteristic: Sexual orientation 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

The SPD aims to reduce 
inequalities by encouraging 
sustainable travel and 
making it accessible to all. 
 
 
 

No accurate data is available 
about the number of lesbian, 
gay and bisexual people living 
in County Durham. However 
Government and Stonewall 
estimates state that between 
5 percent and 7 percent of the 
population is lesbian, gay or 
bisexual (LGB). This would 
amount to between 25,000 
and 35,000 people in County 
Durham. 

As 1) above 

 

Protected Characteristic: Transgender 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

The issues of personal 
safety, crime and fear of 
crime are relevant to 
transgender people and can 
be affected by accessibility. 
 
 

We have no accurate 
information on transgender 
populations. 
 
Transgender – lack of local 
information/evidence on 
transgender issues; privacy 
and data protection. 

As 1) above 

 

Section Three: Conclusion and Review 

Summary 

Please provide a brief summary of your findings stating the main impacts, both 
positive and negative, across the protected characteristics. 
 

This is an equality impact assessment of the Parking and Accessibility SPD which 
has been produced in line with Government policy. The SPD aims to provide an 
appropriate level of parking for cars and bikes at origins and destinations of 
journeys and sets basic accessibility standards. The SPD will be prepared in line 
with the County Durham Plan. It aims to promote equality through its objectives 
and particularly better access to developments in the county, therefore making 
communities more sustainable with greater options for how they travel. 
 
The Parking and Accessibility SPD has potential to have impacts on many 
protected characteristic groups, but the aims and objectives should have a broadly 
positive impact on all groups. 

Page 393



 10 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

 

Will this promote positive relationships between different communities? If so how? 

Parking standards are important to make development accessible and 
communities more sustainable. Sustainable communities are communities in 
which people wish to live work and spend time - “They meet the diverse needs of 
existing and future residents, are sensitive to their environment, and contribute to a 
high quality of life. They are safe and inclusive, well planned, built and run, and 
offer equality of opportunity and good services for all.” 
 

 

Action Plan 

Action Responsibility Timescales for 
implementation 

In which plan 
will the 
action 
appear? 

1) Issues and Options 
document to be consulted upon 
and take into account any 
further comments on content or 
wording. 

Policy Officer, 
Spatial Planning 
Team 
 
Spatial Policy 
Manager 

 January-
February 2021 

Consultation 
draft SPD 

2) SPD to be consulted upon 
once drafted and any comments 
on content or wording to be 
taken into account. 

Principal Policy 
Manager 
 
 
Spatial Policy 
Manager 

April 2022 Final 
document 

 

Review 

Are there any additional assessments that need to be 
undertaken? (Y/N) 

 Y 

When will this assessment be reviewed? 
Please also insert this date at the front of the template 

 Prior to Adoption 

 

Sign Off 

Lead officer sign off: 

 
 

Date: 7/02/22 

Service equality representative sign off: 

 

Date: 9/2/22 

Page 394



 11 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

 

 

Please return the completed form to your service equality representative and forward 

a copy to equalities@durham.gov.uk 

Page 395



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
EIA Template October 2015 

 

 
Development 
Contributions  

Supplementary 
Planning 

Document  
 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

 
September 2021 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Durham County Council Equality Impact Assessment 
 

Page 397



2 
EIA Template October 2015 

 

NB: The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010) requires Durham 

County Council to have ‘due regard’ to the need to eliminate unlawful 

discrimination, harassment and victimisation, advance equality of opportunity 

and foster good relations between people from different groups. Assessing 

impact on equality and recording this is one of the key ways in which we can 

show due regard. 
 

Section One: Description and Screening 
 

Service/Team or Section Spatial Policy Team 

Lead Officer Mike Allum 

Title Spatial Policy Manager 

MTFP Reference (if 
relevant) 

N/A 

Cabinet Date (if relevant) April 2022 

Start Date January 2021 

Review Date Post consultation 

 

 

Subject of the Impact Assessment 
 

Please give a brief description of the policy, proposal or practice as appropriate 
(a copy of the subject can be attached or insert a web-link): 

 
SPDs are documents which add further detail to policies contained in a Local Plan but 

do not have their formal statutory ‘Development Plan’ status. They are, however, a 

material consideration when a Local Planning Authority is determining whether to 

approve or refuse a planning application. This SPD provides detailed guidance on the      

 
1 https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3266/Development-Plan-for-County-Durham  

The Developer Contributions Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) will set out 

the Council’s approach to determining and securing developer contributions for new 

development (such as housing) across the county. It will sit alongside the County 

Durham Plan (CDP)1 which was adopted on 14th October 2020.   

Page 398



3 
EIA Template October 2015 

 

  
 

Who are the main stakeholders? (e.g. general public, staff, members, specific 
clients/service users): 
 
Anyone who lives in, studies in, works in, visits, or has an interest in County 
Durham may be interested in the SPD. This includes the general public, 
anyone previously interested in local plan consultations and included on our 
database, council staff, Elected Members, developers and landowners, 
various partners, stakeholders from various sectors and interest groups or 
communities, Area Action Partnerships, Town/Parish Councils, 
Neighbourhood Forums and statutory consultees / prescribed bodies as 
defined by the Government. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

application of a number of policies within the CDP which have financial implications 

for developers. 

Policy 25 (Developer Contributions) of the CDP sets out the policy for seeking 

planning contributions and this SPD is intended to provide information on how this 

policy and other policies requiring affordable housing or specific infrastructure will 

be interpreted and applied. 

This will assist planning officers, applicants, service providers, Councillors and 

members of the public through the planning application process, ensuring that the 

process is fair and transparent and is applied consistently.  

For example, developments that include a net increase of new housing can impact 

on its physical, social and environmental surroundings due to the increased 

demand for services and increased use in facilities caused by the additional people. 

By securing obligations to provide financial contributions from developers, these 

impacts can be mitigated and, where possible, bring positive benefits for the local 

area.  Relevant contributions are also sought for other forms of development such 

as industrial or commercial. 

The SPD covers contributions towards:  

• Housing;  

• Green Infrastructure (including open space and sport & recreation); 

• Education (primary and secondary); 

• Health;  

• Habitats Regulations Assessment; and, 
• Biodiversity Net Gains. 

 
 
This equality impact assessment will be continually reviewed and updated as the 
SPD develops. 
 

Page 399



4 
EIA Template October 2015 

 

 
 
 
 
Screening 
 
Is there any actual or potential negative or positive impact on the following 
protected characteristics? 

Protected Characteristic Negative Impact 
Indicate: Y = Yes, 
N = No, ? = unsure 

Positive Impact 
Indicate: Y = Yes, 
N = No, ? = unsure 

Age N Y 

Disability N Y 

Marriage and civil partnership 
(workplace only) 

N N 

Pregnancy and maternity N Y 

Race (ethnicity) N Y 

Religion or Belief N Y 

Sex (gender) N N 

Sexual orientation N N 

Transgender N N 

 

Please provide brief details of any potential to cause adverse impact. 
Record full details and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 

 

This document is designed to add further information and give clarity to the 
relevant objectives and policies that sit in the County Durham Plan, which has 
already undergone a full EQIA. There are therefore no identified potential adverse 
impact as a result of this document.  
In line with its ongoing duties to consider equalities impacts, if the council 
becomes aware of such an impact, the council will fully consider any such change 
of circumstances. 
 

 

 

How will this policy/proposal/practice promote our commitment to our 
legal responsibilities under the public sector equality duty to: 

    eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation, 

    advance equality of opportunity, and 
            foster good relations between people from different groups 

Page 400



5 
EIA Template October 2015 

 

The CDP and SCI are over-arching documents for this SPD, which have both 
undergone full EQIA’s. The SPD will give further detail regarding development 
viability and developer contributions providing  clarity over how the relevant 
policies in the CDP are to be applied. By setting this detail out in an SPD the 
positive impacts already identified through the CDP objectives and policies 15 
Addressing Housing Need, 25 Developer Contributions, 26 Green Infrastructure, 
41 Biodiversity and Geodiversity and 42 Internationally designated sites, are 
secured. 

 

 
 
Evidence 
 
What evidence do you have to support your findings? 
Please outline your data sets and/or proposed evidence sources, highlight any 
gaps and say whether or not you propose to carry out consultation. Record 
greater detail and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 

The County Durham Plan https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/34069/County-
Durham-Plan-adopted-2020-
/pdf/CountyDurhamPlanAdopted2020vDec2020.pdf?m=637424969331400000 
aims to improve the county its communities, economy and environment to make 
County Durham a successful place. It aims for equality of opportunity across all 
equality protected characteristics and identifies actions to eliminate inequality 
such as issues on the provision of affordable housing or tackling other social, 
economic and environmental issues. There is national, regional and local 
evidence available which shows that people from protected groups can face 
barriers in employment, access to services and information, participation in 
decision making and in consultation. 

The CDP evidence base also contains documents that have informed its policies, 
including policies 15 Addressing housing need, 25 Developer contributions, 26 
Green infrastructure, 41 Bio diversity, and 42 Internationally designated sites, that 
are relevant to this SPD 

A full EQUIA was taken out on all stages of the CDP document (CDP evidence 
base (C9) https://durhamcc-consult.objective.co.uk/kse/folder/52317 ).  

Evidence from the Integrated Needs Assessment (INA) suggests for example that 
deprivation links to protected characteristics, such as children from deprived areas 
being more prone to obesity or other health problems. Design and environmental 
improvements can help with health problems and improve quality of life. 
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2389/2011-Census 
http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/article/8461/Integrated-Needs-    
 

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157058/report.aspx?c1=201326
5921&c2=2092957698  
 
 
Consultation update 

Page 401



6 
EIA Template October 2015 

 

The SPD is in its first round of consultation.  

All consultation is being undertaken under Regulation 18 of the Town and Country 
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012, and in accordance with 
the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement regarding consultation on 
Plan documents. The Council’s Statement of Community Involvement was 
reviewed and updated in 2019 to reflect the Covid 19 pandemic. It seeks to 
provide real opportunities for all to be involved in all aspects of planning, from plan 
making to the determination of planning applications. This includes treating some 
people more favourably to avoid disadvantage. A full EQUIA was also carried out 
on the updated Statement of Community Involvement to reflect the Covid-19 
related changes.  

In line with its ongoing duties to consider equalities impacts, if the council 
becomes aware of any such positive or negative impact on any protected 
characteristics, the council will fully consider any such change of circumstances. 

 
 
Screening Summary 
 
On the basis of this screening is there: Confirm which 

refers (Y/N) 

Evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the protected 
characteristics which will proceed to full assessment? 

Y 

No evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the 
protected characteristics? 

N 

 
 
Sign off 
 

Lead officer sign off: Spatial Policy Team Leader 
 

Date: 01/09/21 
 

 
Service equality representative sign off: Equality and 
Diversity Officer 

Date: 

 

If carrying out a full assessment please proceed to section two. 
 

If not proceeding to full assessment please return completed screenings to your 

service equality representative and forward a copy to  equalities@durham.gov.uk 
 

If you are unsure of potential impact please contact the corporate research and 

equalities team for further advice at  equalities@durham.gov.uk

Page 402



7 
EIA Template October 2015 

 

Section Two: Data analysis and assessment of impact 
 

Please provide details on impacts for people with different protected 

characteristics relevant to your screening findings. You need to decide if there is 

or likely to be a differential impact for some. Highlight the positives e.g. benefits 

for certain groups, advancing equality, as well as the negatives e.g. barriers for 

and/or exclusion of particular groups. Record the evidence you have used to 

support or explain your conclusions. Devise and record mitigating actions where 

necessary. 

 

Protected Characteristic: Age 

What is the actual impact 
or potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Record of evidence to 
support or explain your 
conclusions on impact 

What further action 
mitigation is required? 

The SPD gives specific 
developer contribution 
guidance regarding 
objective 3 -Housing 
need and policy 15-
Adressing Housing 
Need of the CDP. This 
includes detail on older 
persons housing and 
specialist housing 
provision as part of 
s106. This will have a 
positive impact on older 
persons as this 
guidance secures the 
positive impact 
Objective 3 to address 
the needs of older 
people and reduce the 
concentration of older 
people in older, poorer 
quality housing and 
policy 15 meeting 
needs of older persons, 
by outlining how the 
policy will be properly 
applied. 
 
The SPD gives guidance 
on the type, calculation, 
and costing of required 
green infrastructure 
according to 
development size, 
relating to Policy 26- 
Green infrastructure and 

2014 based population 
projections for County 
Durham indicate that from 
2016 to 2035 the county’s 
population aged 65 or 
over will increase from 
105,200 to 146,300 (a 
39% increase) and those 
aged 75 and over will 
increase from 45,00 to 
75,700 (a 65.6% 
increase). This age group 
is projected to increase 
more than any other age 
group in the county. 
 
The SPD gives further 
guidance regarding 
housing type breakdown 
including To contribute 
towards meeting the 
needs of the county’s 
ageing population we will 
require a minimum of 10% 
of private or intermediate 
housing on sites of over 
10 units which, in relation 
to design and house type, 
increase the housing 
options of older people, 
specialist housing- 100% 
of which is required to be 
M4(2). 
 
 
The council’s Strategic 
Housing Market 

1) Impact will be 
assessed through 
the consultation 
stage. 

2) Any necessary 
modifications will 
be made as 
appropriate. 

 

Page 403



8 
EIA Template October 2015 

 

Policy 41 Biodiversity 
and Geodiversity. This 
will secure the positive 
impact of green 
infrastructure for older 
persons and young 
people and children as 
they are amongst the 
groups more likely to 
benefit from green 
infrastructure and open 
space close by to them. 
 
The SPD gives guidance 
regarding education 
infrastructure- pupil yield 
methodology and 
costings, and larger 
developments. This will 
have a positive impact 
on children and young 
people who already live 
in the area where a 
development is taking 
place and those moving 
into the development as 
it will ensure that there 
are sufficient school 
places and suitable 
schools and premises 
and therefore securing 
the positive impacts of 
policy 25. 
 
The SPD gives 
yield,methodology and 
costings guidance 
regarding health 
provision to ensure that 
appropriate health 
provision is available to 
those that live in an area 
where a development is 
taking place and to  
future residents of the 
new development. This 
will have a positive 
impact on older people 

Assessment (SHMA) has 
evidenced a need for 
affordable housing in 
County Durham. The 
policy in the County 
Durham Plan provides a 
means to deliver 
affordable housing across 
County Durham to meet 
needs. In line with the 
National Planning Policy 
Framework, pursuing 
sustainable development 
requires attention to 
viability. This evidence 
base has informed 
realistic targets for the 
delivery of affordable 
housing that will meet the 
needs of young and older 
people in the community. 
The SPD gives further 
detail and clarity 
regarding affordable 
housing thresholds, 
calculations for affordable 
housing contributions, 
both on site and off site 
contributions. 
 
The Open Space Needs 
Assessment, Strategic 
Green Infrastructure 
Framework and Play 
Pitch Strategy2 set out the 
importance of 
greenspaces, particularly 
in urban areas, for 
improving public health 
and quality of life.  
 
 
 
The needs of those with 
mobility difficulties is 
covered by Quality of Life 
objective as well as the 
Housing Need objective 

 
2 County Durham Plan Evidence Library - Keystone (objective.co.uk) 

Page 404



9 
EIA Template October 2015 

 

who are more likely to 
require health provision 
and health provision 
close by. It will also have 
a positive impact on 
children and young 
people who are also 
more likely to require 
health provision and that 
provision is close to 
where they live. 

of the CDP. The SPD 
details the statutory duty 
of the Director of Public 
health to assess the 
health needs and status 
of the local authority 
population. This includes 
using a life course 
approach to assess key 
health related behaviours, 
conditions or outcomes 
which will have an impact 
upon the health of an 
individual and a focus on 
healthy life expectancy 
when also assessing 
health supply and 
demand. 

 

Protected characteristic: Disability 

What is the actual impact 
or potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Record of evidence to 
support or explain your 
conclusions on impact 

What further action 
mitigation is required? 

The SPD gives specific 
developer contribution 
guidance regarding 
Objective 3 -Housing 
need and policy 15-
Adressing Housing 
Need of the CDP. This 
includes detail on older 
persons housing and 
specialist housing 
provision as part of 
s106. This will have a 
positive impact on 
people with disabilities 
who will benefit from 
specialist housing to 
meet their specific 
needs. 
  
 
The SPD gives guidance 
on the type, calculation 
and costing of required 
green infrastructure 
according to 
development size, 
relating to Policy 26- 
Green infrastructure and 

County Durham has a 

higher percentage of 

permanently sick and 

disabled people than the 

North East average, 

representing nearly a 

quarter of the overall 

population. 

 

The SPD gives further 
guidance regarding 
housing. To contribute 
towards meeting the 
needs of the county’s 
ageing population the 
council require a minimum 
of 10% of private or 
intermediate housing on 
sites of over 10 units 
which, in relation to design 
and house type, increase 
the housing options of 
older people, including 
level access flats and 
bungalows which those 
with disabilities can 

1) Impact will be 
assessed through 
the consultation 
stage. 

2) Any necessary 
modifications will 
be made as 
appropriate. 

 

Page 405



10 
EIA Template October 2015 

 

biodiversity net gain 
requirements of Policy 
41-Biodiversity and 
Geodiversity. This will 
have a positive impact 
on people with 
disabilities as they are 
amongst the groups 
more likely to benefit 
from green infrastructure 
and open space close by 
to them. 
 
 
The SPD gives 
yield,methodology and 
costings guidance 
regarding health 
provision to ensure that 
appropriate health 
provision is available to 
those that live in an 
area where a 
development is taking 
place and to future 
residents of the new  
development. This will 
have a positive impact 
on people with 
disabilities who are 
more likely to require 
health provision and 
health provision close 
by to where they live.  

benefit from. Specialist 
housing- 100% of which is 
required to be M4(2). 

 

The Open Space Needs 

Assessment, Strategic 

Green Infrastructure 

Framework and Play 

Pitch Strategy set out the 

importance of 

greenspaces, particularly 

in urban areas, for 

improving public health 

and quality of life. 

The needs of older 

people with mobility 

difficulties is covered by 

Quality of Life objective 

as well as the Housing 

Need objective of the 

CDP. The SPD details 

the statutory duty of the 

Director of Public health 

to assess the health 

needs and status of the 

local authority 

population. This includes 

using a life course 

approach to assess key 

health related 

behaviours, conditions or 

outcomes which will 

have an impact upon the 

health of an individual 

and a focus on healthy 

life expectancy when 

also assessing health 

supply and demand. 

 
Protected Characteristic: Marriage and civil partnership  (workplace only) 

What is the actual 
or potential 
impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant 
evidence and 
consultation 

What further action or 
mitigation is required? 

Page 406



11 
EIA Template October 2015 

 

N/A   

 

Protected characteristic: Pregnancy and maternity 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant 
evidence and consultation 

What further action or 
mitigation is required? 

The SPD gives specific 
guidance on developer 
contributions regarding 
Objective 3 -Housing 
need and policy 15-
Adressing Housing 
need of the CDP.  
Objective 3 addresses 
families with children 
and multi-generational 
housing, this SPD will 
secure the positive 
impact this objective and 
policy 25 will  ensure 
that the right mix of 
housing is built, including 
for people with families 
or about to have a 
family. 
 
The SPD gives guidance 
on the type, calculation 
and costing of required 
green infrastructure 
according to 
development size, 
relating to Policy 26- 
Green infrastructure and 
biodiversity net gain 
requirements of Policy 
41 – Biodiversity and 
Geodiversity. This will 
have a positive impact 
on the protected 
characteristic of 
pregnancy and maternity 
as this group is amongst 
the groups more likely to 
benefit from green 
infrastructure and open 
space close by to them. 
 
 

The SHMA has evidenced 
a need for affordable 
housing, and housing 
suitable for families.  
The SPD outlines 
guidance to ensure the 
delivery of appropriate 
housing mix for residents 
of County Durham, which 
includes families with 
children and multi-
generational housing. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Open Space Needs 
Assessment, Strategic 
Green Infrastructure 
Framework and Play 
Pitch Strategy set out the 
importance of 
greenspaces, particularly 
in urban areas, for 
improving public health 
and quality of life. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1) Impact will be 
assessed through 
the consultation 
stage. 

2) Any necessary 
modifications will 
be made as 
appropriate. 

 

Page 407



12 
EIA Template October 2015 

 

The SPD gives yield, 
methodology and costings 
guidance regarding health 
provision to ensure that 
appropriate health 
provision is available to 
those that live in an area 
where a development is 
taking place and tofuture 
residents of the new 
development. This will 
have a positive impact on 
pregnancy and maternity 
as this group is more 
likely to require health 
provision and health 
provision close by  

The SPD details the 
statutory duty of the 
Director of Public health 
to assess the health 
needs and status of the 
local authority population. 
This includes using a life 
course approach (from 
pregnancy to death) to 
assess key health related 
behaviours, conditions or 
outcomes which will have 
an impact upon the health 
of an individual and a 
focus on healthy life 
expectancy when also 
assessing health supply 
and demand. 

 

Protected Characteristic: Race (ethnicity) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant 
evidence and consultation 

What further action or 
mitigation is required? 

 
The SPD gives specific 
guidance on developer 
contributions regarding 
Objective 3 -Housing 
need. This includes 
meeting the needs and 
aspirations of Gypsies 
and Travellers. The 
SPD will therefor help 
secure the positive 
impact of Objective 3 on 
this group. 
 
 
The SPD gives yield, 
methodology and 
costings guidance 
regarding health 
provision to ensure that 
sufficient and 
appropriate health 
provision is available to 
those that live in an 
areas where a 
development is taking 
place and to   future 
residents of the new 

 
In County Durham ethnic 
minority communities are 
a relatively small 
proportion of the 
population. According to 
the 2011 Census, 98.1% 
of Durham’s population is 
white British. 1.9% is 
‘other ethnic group’, the 
largest component of this 
being mixed race and 
Asian. We also have a 
significant population of 
Gypsies and Travellers 
who are either migrant or 
settled in the County. 
 
The INA identified that 
ethnicity has a variety of 
impacts: 
,Health, as migrants may 
bring different lifestyle 
choices or have access 
issues with healthcare 
 

1) Impact will be 
assessed through 
the consultation 
stage. 

2) Any necessary 
modifications will 
be made as 
appropriate. 

 

Page 408



13 
EIA Template October 2015 

 

development. This will 
have a positive impact 
on some minority 
groups who may be 
more likely to likely to 
require health provision 
and health provision 
close by. 

The SPD details the 
statutory duty of the 
Director of Public health 
to assess the health 
needs and status of the 
local authority population. 
This includes using a life 
course approach to 
assess key health related 
behaviours, conditions or 
outcomes which will have 
an impact upon the health 
of an individual and a 
focus on healthy life 
expectancy when also 
assessing health supply 
and demand. 

 

Protected Characteristic: Religion or belief 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant 
evidence and consultation 

What further action or 
mitigation is required? 

The SPD gives further 
detail and specific 
guidance on developer 
contributions which 
relate to Objective 3 
and covered by policies 
including Policy 25. 
 

Objective 3 – Housing 
Need includes the 
provision of multi-
generational housing 
which may have a 
potential positive impact 
on religious groups that 
live in multi-generational 
households as part of 
their culture 

In County Durham 72 
percent of people state 
their religion 

as Christian; around 
0.19% percent as 
Buddhist; 0.12% Hindu; 
0.37% Muslim, 0.12% 
Sikh, 0.04% Jewish and 
26.8 percent as having 
either no religion or not 
stating their religion 
(Census 2011 

1) Impact will be 
assessed through 
the consultation 
stage. 

2) Any necessary 
modifications will 
be made as 
appropriate. 

 

 
 

Protected Characteristic: Sex (gender) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant 
evidence and consultation 

What further action or 
mitigation is required? 

The SPD gives specific 
developer contribution 
guidance regarding 
objective 3 -Housing 

2014 based population 
projections for County 
Durham indicate that from 
2016 to 2035 the county’s 

1) Impact will be 
assessed through 
the consultation 
stage. 

Page 409



14 
EIA Template October 2015 

 

need and policy 15-
Adressing Housing 
Need of the CDP. This 
includes detail on older 
persons housing and 
specialist housing 
provision as part of 
s106. This will have a 
positive impact on older 
persons (including 
women who have a 
higher life expectancy 
than men),  as this 
guidance secures the 
positive impact 
Objective 3 to address 
the needs of older 
people and reduce the 
concentration of older 
people in older, poorer 
quality housing and 
policy 15 meeting 
needs of older persons 
by outlining how the 
policy will be properly 
applied. 
 

population aged 65 or 
over will increase from 
105,200 to 146,300 (a 
39% increase) and those 
aged 75 and over will 
increase from 45,00 to 
75,700 (a 65.6% 
increase). This age group 
is projected to increase 
more than any other age 
group in the county. 
The life expectancy of a 
male in County Durham is 
78, whilst the life 
expectancy of a female in 
County Durham is 81. 
 
The SPD gives further 
guidance regarding 
housing type breakdown 
including To contribute 
towards meeting the 
needs of the county’s 
ageing population we will 
require a minimum of 10% 
of private or intermediate 
housing on sites of over 
10 units which, in relation 
to design and house type, 
increase the housing 
options of older people, 
specialist housing- 100% 
of which is required to be 
M4(2). 
 

2) Any necessary 
modifications will 
be made as 
appropriate. 

 

 

Protected Characteristic: Sexual orientation 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant 
evidence and consultation 

What further action or 
mitigation is required? 

N/A   

 

Protected characteristic: Transgender 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant 
evidence and consultation 

What further action or 
mitigation is required? 

N/A   

 

Section Three: Conclusion and Review 
 

Summary 

Page 410



15 
EIA Template October 2015 

 

 

Please provide a brief summary of your findings stating the main impacts, 
both positive and negative, across the protected characteristics. 

 

The SPD has the potential to have both direct and indirect positive impacts on a 
number of protected characteristics. The purpose of the SPD is to give further 
guidance and detail to the relevant policies laid out in the CDP. Given the nature of 
this document the SPD secures the potential positive impact of these policies by 
setting out how the policies should be appropriately applied and to ensure that 
sustainability, accessibility and equality is achieved. 
 

 

Will this promote positive relationships between different communities? If so how? 

The development viability, affordable housing and developer contributions SPD is 
an important document to ensure that developments are accessible and sustainable 
and ensures sustainable communities, which are safe and inclusive and meet the 
needs of the County Durham population. 

 
 
Action Plan 
 

Action Responsibility Timescales for 
implementation 

   

   

   

   

   

   

   
   

   

   

   

 

 

Review 
 

Are there any additional assessments that need to be 
undertaken? (Y/N) 

Y on going review 
throughout the 
consultation 

  

 

Sign Off 
 

Page 411



16 
EIA Template October 2015 

 

Lead officer sign off: Spatial Policy Officer, Spatial 
Policy Team 

 
 

Date: 7/02/22 
 
 
 
 

Service equality representative sign off:  
 

 

Date: 9/02/22 

 

Please return the completed form to your service equality representative and 

forward a copy to equalities@durham.gov.uk 

 

Page 412



 

 

  

Cabinet 

6 April 2022 

Updated SEND Strategy for County 

Durham 2022-24 

Ordinary Decision 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

John Pearce, Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s 
Services 

Councillor Ted Henderson, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children 
and Young People’s Services 

 

Electoral Division(s) Affected 

County wide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 This report introduces a new Special Educational Needs and Disability 
(SEND) Strategy for the county and recommends that Cabinet adopts it 
for the period 2022-24. 

Executive Summary 

2 The current SEND Strategy for County Durham required review and a 
new strategy has been developed through extensive stakeholder 
engagement as well as reference to required legislative frameworks, 
other related county strategies and the public consultation undertaken 
on the High Needs Block funding. 

3 At the heart of our approach to the SEND Strategy is a vision for 
children and young people with special educational needs and 
disabilities that is the same as for all children and young people in 
County Durham: that they are safe and part of their community, have 
the best start in life, have good physical and mental health, and gain the 
education, skills, and experiences to prepare them for adulthood. 

4 The Strategy vision, aims and indicators were consistently supported by 
all stakeholders.  The implementation and further development of the 
Strategy will be supported by the SEND strategic partnership and 

Page 413

Agenda Item 8



 

agreement to this partnership Strategy is also being sought through the 
Health and Wellbeing board on the 11 May 2022. 

Recommendation(s)  

5 Cabinet is recommended to: 

(a) adopt the SEND Strategy 2022-24. 

  

Page 414



 

Background 

6 County Durham currently has a strategy for children, young people and 
young adults with SEND, with the aim of providing focus and clarity on 
the priorities for improving services and opportunities.  This strategy is 
aligned with our wider children and young people’s strategy. 

7 The existing strategy whilst still relevant was due to end in 2020 during 
which time it was planned to rewrite the strategy.  This was postponed 
allowing each of the services the opportunity to focus on their 
responses to COVID. 

8 During 2021 we embarked on developing the new strategy with key 
stakeholders including children and young people with SEND and their 
families, council, education, and health services. 

9 In addition to presenting the strategy to Cabinet it is also being 
presented to the executive body of the County Durham Care 
Partnership on 22 March 2022.  It is then due to go to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board on 11 May 2022. 

SEND in Durham 

10 SEND practice is guided by the current SEND Code of Practice, 
underpinned by legislation in the Children and Families Act 2014.  A 
child or young person (CYP) is deemed to have SEND if they have a 
learning difficulty or disability which calls for special educational 
provision to be made for them which is additional to, or different from, 
the usual provision available to other CYP of their age. 

11 SEND needs can be met in a number of ways including: 

(a) support from a setting, school, or college’s own resources; 

(b) support from other agencies; 

(c) additional top up funding; 

(d) and, for a number of CYP through an Education Health and Care 
Plan. 

12 The majority of children and young people with SEND will have their 
needs identified and met in a mainstream nursery, school, or college.  
All schools must have a SENCo (SEN Co-ordinator), the SENCo has 
day to day responsibility for co-ordinating the identification of needs and 
the SEND provision in schools. 

13 All education providers/settings (including academies and free schools) 
must make every effort to meet the needs of children and young people 

Page 415



 

with SEND.  Their SEND provision must be illustrated in the SEND 
Information Report.  This report details what additional and different 
provision the school can make to meet its student SEND. 

14 The Local Authority supports its education providers and settings to 
identify and meet SEND through a wide range of specialist advice, 
training and practical tools.  In addition to this, the Local Authority 
provides additional funding from the High Needs Block to ensure young 
people can have their needs met in their local mainstream setting where 
possible or other settings where not possible. 

15 Young people with SEND are grouped as, those receiving SEN Support 
and those with an Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP).  Those 
with SEND Support have their needs recognised by school and 
provision planned and implemented by the school.  Those with 
Education Health Care Plans have their needs recognised and provision 
planned through a statutory multi agency process led by the Local 
Authority. 

16 SEND Support in County Durham – it is expected that every child who 
requires SEN support to have an individual SEN Support plan.  This 
must work towards a clear set of expected outcomes and detail the 
‘additional to’ or ‘different from’ provision they are receiving. 

17 Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCP) – in some cases despite the 
school having taken relevant and purposeful action through SEN 
support, a pupil may not have made the expected progress.  To 
understand the complexities around these cases an Education, Health 
Needs Assessment (EHNA) will take place.  Through the EHNA it may 
be determined that needs would be best met through an EHCP, An 
EHCP is a legal document which describes a child or young person's 
special educational needs, the support they need, and the outcomes 
they would like to achieve.  This covers children and young people up to 
the age of 25 since the SEN reforms.  It would be typical that the needs 
of young people with an EHCP are higher than the needs of young 
people with SEN Support. 

18 Information from a number of sources shows a continuing increase in 
the number of children and young people with SEND, when compared 
with 2016.  According to the DCC School Census (January 2021), there 
were 76,000 children and young people of school age within County 
Durham.  Of those:  

(a) 1 in 6 of school age children and young people in County Durham 
are described as having SEN.  That is a total of 11,643; 

(b) 13.2% of the school age population have their needs met through 
SEN Support; 

Page 416



 

(c) 3,628 children and young people (0-25 years) have their needs 
met through Education Health and Care Plans (EHCP), a 41% 
increase since 2016.  2,283 of these pupils are school age, a 10% 
increase since 2016; 

(d) of those children with an EHCP in the primary phase, 51% are in 
mainstream school, this reduces to 25% of those with an EHCP in 
the secondary phase; 

(e) 10,175 (87%) of school age children and young people identified 
with SEND have their needs met within a mainstream school 
context. 

19 These numbers have increased each year since the introduction of the 
SEND Reforms1. 

20 Whilst the data above gives a snapshot for school age children from the 
school census, there are wider demands when the 0-5 and 16-25 
population is also considered.  We have also continued to see 
increased demand in 2021/22, some linked to COVID and children and 
young people’s disruption from formal education and in recent months 
have seen a particular increase in requests for support for pre -school 
children. 

The Send Strategy for County Durham 

21 The SEND Strategic Partnership has committed to developing a 
strategy that makes sense for children and young people with SEND 
and their families, schools and settings, services, teams, and individual 
practitioners.  The strategic intention is: 

(a) to inform and support our activity, and in turn is informed and 
supported by what we do; 

(b) to enable an understanding of when progress is being made; 

(c) to help identify what else needs to be done. 

22 An ‘easy read’ version of the Strategy is being developed with young 
people, supported by ‘Investing in Children’, and will be widely 
promoted through a range of channels. 

23 The Strategy must have regard to the legal requirements for SEND and 
Equality, as well as recent National and Local reviews and explorations 

 
1 The Children and Families Act 2014 

Page 417



 

with partners.  The Strategy vision and aims have been developed 
through referencing a range of sources including: 

(a) The Children and Families Act 2014 (and associated SEND Code 
of Practice); 

(b) The Equality Act 2010; 

(c) The Autism Act 2009; 

(d) The Marmot Review of Health inequalities 2010 and its review in 
2020; 

(e) DfE SEND review (now anticipated in Spring 2022); 

(f) Durham County Council strategies and plans including the County 
Vision and Children and Young People’s Strategy; 

(g) Durham Partnership reviews and strategies including: 

i. Local Transformation plan for Mental Health; 

ii. Think Autism Strategy (2019-22); 

iii. High Needs Consultation (2019) and high needs review 
(2018); 

iv. Health Needs Assessment for SEND (2019); 

v. SEND Ofsted inspection (2017) and revisit (2020). 

24 Both the Children and Young Peoples Act (2014) and the Equality Act 
(2010) are based on important international laws that are clear about 
the rights of all people, including children and young people, to be 
included in their community and places duties and responsibilities on all 
of us to make adjustments that enable this to happen.  This Strategy is 
built on a foundation of promoting inclusive communities where: 

(a) All work together to achieve this; 

(b) All communicate positively with each other; 

(c) All commit to work together to overcome challenges when they 
present. 

The Vision 
 

25 The Vision for children and young people with special educational 
needs and disabilities is the same as it is for all children and 

Page 418



 

young people in County Durham: that they are safe and part of 
their community, have the best start in life, have good physical 
and mental health, and gain the education, skills, and experiences 
to prepare them for adulthood. 

26 It was clearly expressed by all stakeholders that this Strategy should be 
built on a foundation of understanding and positive communication. 

The Aims 

27 The aims of the Strategy are: 

(a) To listen to what children and young people are telling us when 
supporting them and to develop their resilience and 
independence; 

(b) To work closely with families to develop their resilience and feel 
confident that needs are understood and met, and will continue to 
be met through transition; 

(c) To identify needs in a timely way and have the right support 
available to meet needs at the right time; 

(d) To have a joined-up offer of support available proportionate to 
assessed needs; 

(e) Where possible, for all children and young people to attend their 
local school which understands them and is able to meet their 
needs; 

(f) For all education settings and their workforce to be confident in 
identifying and meeting needs and to promote good health, well-
being, and inclusion. 

28 ‘Inclusion’ is a powerful statement of rights but can sometimes be 
difficult to describe in ways that make sense to what we do and see on 
a daily basis.  Working together, we have defined some of the key 
things that we would notice if children and young people were 
successfully included in their community.  These are: 

(a) Being present in their education setting; 

(b) Participating fully in their educational community; 

(c) Achieving and making progress at a pace that is right for them; 

(d) Feel that they belong in their community; 

(e) Working towards being as independent as possible. 

Page 419



 

29 Our commitment to the vision, aims and indicators will be measured by 
the positive impact on children and young people, and what we each do 
to promote this.  The starting point is recognising that if children and 
young people with SEND are to thrive then the foundation is our 
commitment to create cultures that enable us to communicate positively 
and work together. 

30 Across the partnership in Durham, we recognise that every child and 
young person, their family, their community, and education setting has a 
role to play in supporting every child to thrive.  The SEND Strategy is 
built on an understanding that all parts of this system must work 
together with a shared focus to achieve the best outcomes for every 
child/young person. 

31 In developing this new Strategy, leaders from across the SEND 
partnership explored the vision and aims with children, young people, 
their families, and other key stakeholders across County Durham.  A 
range of questions were asked including: 

(a) Are the statements understandable?  

(b) Do you agree on the vision and aims? 

(c) What outcomes would we notice for children and young people if 
these aims, and priorities are being achieved? 

(d) What would I, my family, or my team do to support this? 

(e) How do we promote confidence in children and young people, 
their families, and professionals that these will happen? 

(f) How do we hold ourselves* to account? (* this includes 
accountability of schools) 

32 A summary of responses include:  

(a) Universal support or strong support for the Vision and Aims; 

(b) A desire for more inclusion/less exclusion, settled schooling, a 
positive view of neurodiversity, confidence in families and 
professionals, improved transitions and better mental health and 
understanding of health needs; 

(c) A breadth of far-reaching actions with much of the parent and 
Special Educational Needs Co-ordinators (SENCOs) responses 
centred on positive relationships and communication and joint 
working/reviewing of progress, sharing good practice; 

Page 420



 

(d) A desire to improve professional awareness of SEND, develop a 
greater consistency of offer between settings, promote positive 
communication, shared planning, and solutions for transitions; 

(e) An opportunity to engage school governance, making clear the 
expectations of the SEND offer to families in each provision. 

33 Key points from specific groups of service users and stakeholders 
included: 

(a) Children and Young People want more opportunity to be heard 
when choices are made for them, and want more opportunity to 
be included in their community; 

(b) Parents and Carers are particularly focused on wellbeing and 
mental health, provision at SEND support and improving 
transitions, and a positive value for neurodiversity; 

(c) SENCOs and Parents and Carers consider improved 
communication as the key to raising confidence in provision; 

(d) Health stakeholder feedback was positive with an 
acknowledgement that the action sets which underpin the 
Strategy ought to be a blend of health specific and joint / pooled 
solutions; 

(e) Engagement with Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
recognised the importance of understanding the neurodiversity of 
children and young people, the value of working in coproduction 
with service users was highlighted as was the investment in 
positive communication.  Members of the committee identified 
what they considered to be a necessary culture shift for schools 
and their governing bodies to be inclusive of young people with 
SEND. 

Partnership Working 

34 In continuing to ensure that our Local Area SEND systems are working 
for children and young people with SEND and their families it is 
essential that the partnership works effectively together.  The SEND 
Strategic Partnership has oversight of working arrangements and 
partnership performance across education, health, and care services.  
As part of taking this new Strategy forward and monitoring its impact 
this oversight will include: 

(a) A quality assurance framework which sets out aims, measures of 
success and actions; 

Page 421



 

(b) A data framework to measure these; 

(c) Compiling a narrative about how stakeholders contribute to 
strategic aims including a programme of multi-agency and single 
agency audits; 

(d) Regular political oversight through the council’s cabinet, 
discussions with portfolio holder and scrutiny committee; 

(e) Continuing monitoring and learning from external inspections of 
the overall system and individual parts such as schools, as well 
as from compliments and complaints. 

Embedding the Strategy 

35 The Strategy will be developed across the SEND Partnership through 
workshops.  Whilst each area of the partnership has legal duties under 
the Equalities Act 2010 and the Children and Families Act 2014, they 
will also be invited to participate in detailed action planning and data 
gathering directly relating to the aims and indicators of the Strategy. 
Gathering data from across the Partnership, along with case studies 
and high-level data will enable a clearer picture to emerge of how the 
complex system is progressing towards its agreed Vision and Aims as 
part of the quality assurance process. 

36 Higher level actions, data and quality assurance will be supported 
thought new subgroups reporting to the SEND Leadership and 
Partnership Groups relating to the Aims and Indicators of the Strategy. 
Workshops are taking place to develop this further in coming months. 

Resourcing the Strategy through council led services and High 
Needs Block  

37 A range of Council services support work for children with SEND and 
their education, health and care needs up to age 25 and are resourced 
to do this through a range of funding including council resources, High 
Needs Block and other funding streams.  This includes services across 
Children and Young People’s Services and Adults and Health Services. 

38 All schools and education settings are expected to make reasonable 
adjustments to meet the SEND needs of their students as outlined 
withing the SEND Code of Practice.  This is funded through their 
general funding; the Local Authority will provide guidance to schools as 
to how much of their budget they should reasonably set aside as a 
notional amount for SEND provision.  The reasonable adjustments 
expected of all schools are costed as the Age Weighted Pupil Unit 
(AWPU) funding and the first £6,000 of provision that would be 
considered as additional to and different from what would typically be 

Page 422



 

available to all learners.  Any costs for SEND provision that go beyond 
this can be met through the High Needs Block (HNB) of the Dedicated 
Schools Grant (DSG).  Whilst there are enduring pressures on the HNB, 
it is recognised that the provision of additional funding to schools is 
imperative to increasing confidence of both schools and families that 
recognised needs can be met. 

39 As indicated in reports to Cabinet, there have been insufficient 
resources to support children and young people with SEND and 
inclusion needs in recent years.  This position is continuing and is 
replicated in other local authorities.  It is linked to a combination of 
factors to include rising demand for service provision that meets the 
increasingly complex needs of children and young people, and the 
SEND Reforms (2014) that increased support to include individuals 
from birth up to 25 years of age. 

40 Through successful delivery of the HNB Sustainability Plan we aim to 
ensure that services are delivered within budget in accordance with the 
HNB five-year financial plan, and this is supported through the SEND 
transformation work that is underway.  Key elements of this work relate 
to the following areas which were subject to consultation and are 
reported to cabinet: 

(a) Centrally Managed Services; 

(b) Special Schools; 

(c) Top-up Funding (TuF); 

(d) Targeted Support Funding (TSF); 

(e) Post 16 Funding; 

(f) Funding support to Partnerships of Schools; 

(g) Joint commissioning of therapies; 

(h) Joint commissioning of equipment, aids, and adaptations; 

(i) Alternative Provision (AP) and the Pupil Referral Unit (PRU). 

41 The SEND and Inclusion Resources Board continues to oversee the 
implementation of the HNB work programme to deliver the proposed 
changes, the five-year plan, and any impact from the coronavirus 
outbreak.  The Board is planning a review of its work during the year 
which will take account of the new SEND Strategy and the expected 
national review of SEND due to be published in the spring 2022. 

  

Page 423



 

Conclusion 

42 The purpose of the SEND Strategy is to set out the strategic approach, 
key priorities, and actions to work towards positively supporting and 
including children and young people with SEND as they progress 
towards adulthood.  The SEND Strategy provides a vision and aims to 
guide all services working with children and young people with SEND 
and their families as individual services and also collectively as a 
partnership.  This Strategy has been coproduced and promotes and 
facilitates the development, review, and transformation of services. 

Background Papers 

 None. 

Authors 

Martyn Stenton Tel: 03000 268 067 

 

 

 

  

Page 424



 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The Children and Families Act 2014 covers the SEND reforms and is 
accompanied by statutory guidance for organisations to follow through the 
SEND code of practice: 0 to 25 years (2015). 

The overarching legal implication within the report is the Equality Act 2010 
with respect to the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED).  Section 149 of the 
Act details the requirement when taking decisions to have due regard to the 
need to advance equality of opportunity for people with protected 
characteristics, foster good relations between such groups and eliminate 
unlawful discrimination.  It is necessary the impact on those groups is 
analysed as part of each area of work linked to HNB sustainability. 

Finance 

A range of funding from various sources supports the education, health and 
care needs of children and young people with SEND. 

The financial position relating to the High Needs Block (HNB) is monitored 
through the Special Educational Needs and Inclusion Resources Board and 
reported regularly to Cabinet.  There is a current HNB sustainability plan 
which seeks to support children and young people with SEND within the 
resources available. 

Consultation 

Developing the SEND Strategy has been informed by: 

 Public consultation on the Nigh Needs Block reported to Cabinet in 
January 2020; 

 Stakeholder engagement between April 2021 and June 2021 including 
Children and Young People, Parents and Carers, SENCOs, 
Headteachers, Health Professionals, Overview and Scrutiny;  

 Local Area SEND OFSTED inspection 2017 and revisit 2020. 

 Discussions with a number of management teams and partnership 
groups and discussion with parents at Making Changes Together 
conference in autumn 2021  

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

As the SEND Strategy affects 0-25 years old with SEND and their families, 
parents, and carers, there is potential impact for the protected characteristics 
of age, disability, sex, and ethnicity.  There is disproportionate impact in 
relation to sex (both male and female) and ethnicity.  Significantly more males 
have an ECHP (74%).  In terms of impact on women, evidence suggests they 

Page 425



 

are more likely to have caring responsibilities for children and young people.  
Ethnicity data shows there is potential disproportionately in terms of ethnic 
minorities with special education needs (SEN). 
 
The Strategy aims to reduce any inequalities faced by children and young 
people with SEND negative impact is therefore not anticipated, as proposals 
aim to create a more inclusive SEND education offer.  This should impact 
positively in terms of disability, age (children, young people with SEND and 
their parents or carers), sex and ethnicity. 

Climate Change 

An intended outcome of this programme of work, is to increase support for 
young people to attend local schools, rather than travel to schools that are 
further away, both within and outside of the county.  The successful delivery of 
the programme will result in reduced miles travelled by pupils, thereby 
reducing carbon dioxide emissions and potentially a reduced contribution to 
local traffic congestion. 

Human Rights 

None. 

Crime and Disorder 

None. 

Staffing 

None. 

Accommodation 

None. 

Risk 

None. 

Procurement 

None. 

 

 

 

 

Page 426



 

 

 

Appendix 2: SEND Strategy 

 

Attached as a separate document. 

Page 427



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SEND Strategy for County Durham 

Local Area Partnership  

2022 - 2024 

 

Page 429



 

Contents 

Purpose and Introduction Page 1 

Our Aims Page 2 

Background Page 3 

Partnership Oversight of Performance and Quality Assurance Page 10 

Appendix 1  

SEND Governance Arrangements 
Page 12 

Appendix 2 

Templates for actions and commitments that will support each part of the 

system to contribute to this vision 

Page 13 

Appendix 3: 

Partners involved in the development of this strategy 
Page 16 

Appendix 4: 

SEND Information for County Durham April 2021 
Page 17 

Page 430



1 

Purpose and Introduction 

This is our local strategy for children, young people with Special Educational Needs 

and Disabilities (SEND) It will enable us to understand what we need to do together 

to make sure that children and young people with SEND are fully included in our 

communities, that we work together to achieve this vision, and what we can each 

contribute.  

This Strategy will: 

• Inform and support what we do 

• Enable us to understand when we are making progress 

• Help to identify what else we need to do 

• Promote inclusion in supportive communities at every step. 

It is also important that this new SEND Strategy makes sense for all stakeholders 

and has their support which is why it has been developed in collaboration with all 

those who are involved including: 

• Children and young people 

• Families 

• Schools and education settings 

• The SEND Strategic Partnership 

• Services and teams who support children and young people across County 

Durham 

• Individual Practitioners. 

 

Our vision for children and young people with special educational 

needs and disabilities is the same as it is for all children and young 

people in County Durham: That they are safe and part of their 

community, have the best start in life, have good physical and 

mental health, and gain the education, skills and experiences to 

prepare them for adulthood 

This strategy should be built on a foundation of strong relationships 

and clear and positive communication between children and young 

people with SEND and those who support them. 

Page 431



2 

Our Aims 

• Where possible, for all children and young people to attend their local school 

and education setting which understands them and is able to meet their needs 

• To work closely with families to develop resilience and feel confident that 

needs are understood and met, and will continue to be met through all 

transitions 

• To listen to what children and young people are telling us when supporting 

them and to support positive inclusion and develop their resilience and 

independence 

• To identify needs in a timely way and have the right support available to meet 

needs at the right time 

• For all education settings and their workforce to be confident in identifying and 

meeting needs, and to promote good health and wellbeing and inclusion 

• To have a joined up offer of support available, which is appropriate to 

assessed needs. 

 

Indicators of Inclusion 

‘Inclusion’ is a powerful statement of rights but can sometimes be difficult to 

describe in ways that make sense to what we do and see on a daily basis. 

Working together we have defined some of the key things that we would notice if 

children and young people were successfully included in their community. These 

are: 

• Being present in their education setting  

• Participating fully in their educational community 

• Achieving and making progress at a pace that is right for them 

• Feeling that they belong in their community 

• Working towards being as independent as possible. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 432



3 

Background 

In Durham we are ambitious for all children and young people including those with 

SEND. This strategy builds on the work and achievements of the County Durham 

SEND Strategy 2019/20. 

Being described as having Special Educational Needs means that a child or young 

person finds it harder to learn than most children and young people of the same age. 

This means they may need extra or different help from that given to others to reduce 

the impact of these difficulties and enable them to be settled in their school or 

education setting, and to make progress. 

Many children and young people will have SEN of some kind at some time during 

their education. Learning providers can help most children and young people 

succeed with some changes to their practice or additional support. Some children 

and young people will need extra help for some or all of their time in learning and 

beyond. Many children and young people who have SEN may also have a disability. 

A disability is described in law (the Equality Act 2010) as ‘a physical or mental 

impairment which has a long-term (a year or more) and substantial adverse effect on 

their ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities.’ This includes, for example, 

sensory impairments such as those that affect sight and hearing, and long-term 

health conditions such as asthma, diabetes or epilepsy.  

Life with SEND can be difficult if needs go unidentified or unmet, with the right 

support children and young people can and should participate fully and make 

progress in many or all aspects of their life. The (2014) Children and Families Act 

has created a framework in the SEND Code of Practice that improves support by 

extending access to provision from birth to 25 years of age and providing a legal 

context that gives children and young people, and their families, greater choice in 

decisions and ensuring needs are properly met.  

Both the Children and Young Peoples Act (2014) and the Equality Act (2010) are 

based on important international laws that are clear about the rights of all people, 

including children and young people, to be included in their community and place 

duties and responsibilities on all of us to make adjustments that enable this to 

happen. This strategy is built on a foundation of promoting inclusive communities. 

Where we: 

• All work together to achieve this 

• All communicate positively with each other 

• Commit to work together to overcome challenges when they present. 

 

Page 433



4 

This SEND strategy must have regard to the legal requirements for SEND and 

Equality, as well as recent National and Local reviews and explorations with 

partners. Some of the key documents and reviews that have helped shape this 

strategy are: 

• The Children and Families Act 2014 (and associated SEND Code of Practice) 

• The Equality Act 2010 

• The Autism Act 2009 

• The Marmot Review of Health inequalities 2010 and its review in 2020 

• SEND reforms (anticipated later 2021) 

• Durham County Council strategies and plans including the county plan and 

Children and Young People’s plan 

• Durham Partnership reviews and strategies including: 

− County Durham Vision 2035 

− Local Transformation plan for Mental Health 

− Think Autism Strategy (2019-22) 

− High Needs Consultation (2019) 

− High needs review (2018) 

− Health Needs Assessment for SEND (2019) 

− SEND Ofsted inspection (2017) and revisit (2020). 

 
See Appendix 4 for additional information relating to SEND Data for County Durham, 

and commitments from the High Needs Block review and commitments to system 

transformation. 

What do we need to do? 

Our commitment to the vision, aims and indicators will be measured by the positive 

impact on children and young people, and what we each do to promote this. The 

starting point is recognising that if children and young people with SEND are to thrive 

then the foundation is our commitment to create cultures that enable us to 

communicate positively and work together. 

Across the partnership in Durham, we recognise that every child and young person, 

their family, their community and education setting has a role to play in supporting 

every child to thrive. The SEND strategy is built an understanding that all parts of this 

system must work together with a shared focus to achieve the best outcomes for 

every child/young person. 

Page 434



5 

As we have built this strategy we have agreed: 

• What is important 

• Some of the key steps on the way  

• What we would notice for the whole of the County if we were getting it right. 

We will use this information to check the progress that is being made, and to 

understand what else we need to do. 

 

 

 

Page 435



6 

Below are the higher-level actions and indicators for the County Durham SEND 

Partnership. A detailed action plan will be produced for the SEND Strategic 

Partnership. Individual Organisations will develop their own action plan and report 

through to the Strategic Partnership. 

Our Aims 
What needs to be in place for children and 
young people in their setting? 

To listen to what children and 
young people are telling us 
when supporting them and to 
support positive inclusion and 
develop their resilience and 
independence 

Young people are meaningfully involved in the assess plan do 
review cycle 

Young people are able to engage positively with key staff in their 
identified school or setting in a way that is appropriate to their 
developmental stage 

Young people are supported from an early age to participate in 
decisions about their future in a way that is appropriate to their 
developmental stage 

To work closely with families 
to develop resilience and feel 
confident that needs are 
understood and met, and will 
continue to be met through all 
transitions 

Families should be meaningfully involved in the assess plan do 
review cycle 

Families are able to engage positively with the identified school or 
setting  

Families, schools and agencies are committed to positive 
processes of collaboration 

Families feel confident and are able to support their child to be 
resilient, develop, and be as independent as possible 

Family support that supports independence and resilience  

To identify any needs in a 
timely way and have the right 
support available to meet 
needs at the right time 

There should be appropriate information available relating to 
strengths and needs  

There is a clear understanding of strengths and needs that informs 
practice 

This information should be accessible and shared at all transition 
points, including between classes and education settings 

To have a joined up offer of 
support available, which is 
appropriate to assessed 
needs 

Timely access to external advice, help and support across the 
education, health and care partnership 

A full range of information relating to needs is available 

Where possible, for all 
children and young people to 
attend their local school or 

The School/setting has good understanding of how to meet 
identified needs and is meeting them 

Page 436



7 

education setting which 
understands them and is able 
to meet their needs 

All elements of the Send Partnership are committed to inclusive 
practices 

All SEND resources and systems support efficient and effective 
practices 

There is clarity and consistency as to what constitutes quality first 
teaching and access to additional provision when needed 

For all education settings and 
their workforce to be 
confident in identifying and 
meeting needs, and to 
promote good health and 
wellbeing and inclusion 

Each school, education setting and agencies across the 
Partnership are committed to positive collaborative processes 

Each school and education setting committed to practice which 
supports the inclusive principles of the Salamanca Statement  

Education, Health and Social Care partner agencies working in 
collaboration with families, young people and schools to promote 
good health 

  

Page 437



8 

Our Indicators of Success?  What 

might we see across the Partnership 

for Children and Young People with 

SEND? 

Our data for children and young 

people with SEND will include: 

Presence More children and young 

people receiving a good 

quality education in a 

school or setting close to 

their home 

Families feeling confident 

that their child is safe 

happy and making progress 

in their school/setting 

School and education staff 

feeling confident that they 

are able to meet needs 

Increased school/setting attendance figures 

Reduction in elective home education requests 

Reduction in part time timetables 

Reduction in fixed term and permanent 

exclusions of pupils with SEND 

Increased proportion of children and young 

people (cyp) having needs met in mainstream 

schools 

Reduction in home to school transport journeys 

Participation Children going to school 

contentedly and 

participating in the whole 

school and community offer 

Children and young people reporting they feel 

settled 

Children reporting they have friends and feel safe 

Increased participation in after school activities 

Reduced numbers of children and young people 

travelling out of their community to school 

Achievement Children and young people 

making progress in all 

areas of their development 

and having the best 

possible physical and 

mental health 

Access to an appropriate curriculum that meets 

needs enabling measurable and academic 

progress 

Progress against SEN and EHCP outcomes 

Access to timely additional assessment and 

support from all partners across the partnership 

Belonging All children and young 

people being valued for 

who they are and the 

unique qualities they bring 

Children and young people 

making connections with 

people and activities in their 

broader community 

 

Fewer changes in school outside of usual 

transition times 

Children and young people reporting they are 

accessing safe and positive leisure activities 

Greater parental satisfaction relating to school 

and provision 

Fewer parental expressions of concern relating 

to provision 

Increased numbers of children and young people 

receiving their education close to their home 

Page 438



9 

Our Indicators of Success?  What 

might we see across the Partnership 

for Children and Young People with 

SEND? 

Our data for children and young 

people with SEND will include: 

Independence Young people having 

strong and supportive 

social networks 

Young people having good 

physical and mental health 

Young people making a 

positive contribution to their 

community as they 

transition into adulthood 

 

Reduced number of requests for individual 

support 

The voice of children and young people is 

evident in body of SEN and EHC plans  

More children and young people travelling to 

school independently as they mature  

An increase in access to pathways into 

employment 

More young people with SEND living 

independently where they choose to do so 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 439



10 

Partnership Oversight of Performance and 
Quality Assurance 

In continuing to ensure that our Local Area SEND systems are working for children 

and young people with SEND and their families it is essential that as a partnership 

we work effectively together. The SEND Strategic Partnership has oversite of 

working arrangements and partnership performance across education, health and 

care services (see Appendix 1). This oversight includes: 

• A quality assurance framework which sets out aims, measures of success and 

actions 

• A data framework to measure these 

• Compiling broader information about how stakeholders contribute to strategic 

aims includes a programme of multi-agency and single agency audits  

• Regular political oversight through the council’s cabinet and scrutiny 

committee, and the Health and Well Being Board  

• Continuing monitoring and learning from external inspection, compliments and 

complaints.

Page 440



11 

Appendix 1: SEND Governance Arrangements 

P
age 441



12 

Appendix 2 

Templates for actions and commitments that will 
support each part of the system to contribute to this 
vision 

Call for Action: It will be for each family, young person, education setting, team and 

service to action plan some of the detailed steps on the way ensuring that every 

action contributes to achieving the overarching aims of the Strategy. 

Here you will find individual templates for each service, team or education setting to 

use to support their action planning and the evidence that they will collect to 

understand their contribution. 

Page 442



13 

Insert logo here 

Agreed Aims What needs to be in place 

Where possible, for all 

children and young 

people to attend their 

local school which 

understands them and 

is able to meet their 

needs 

 

To work closely with 

families to develop 

resilience and feel 

confident that needs 

are understood and 

met, and will continue 

to be met through 

transition 

 

To listen to what 

children and young 

people are telling us 

when supporting them 

and to develop their 

resilience and 

independence 

 

For all education 

settings and their 

workforce to be 

confident in identifying 

and meeting needs, 

and to promote good 

health and wellbeing 

and inclusion 

 

To identify needs in a 

timely way and have 

the right support 

available to meet needs 

at the right time 

 

To have a joined up 

offer of support 

available, which is 

appropriate to 

assessed needs 

 

 

Page 443



14 

Insert logo here 

Inclusion 

Indicator 

Our indicators of success Our evidence 

Presence   

Participation   

Achievement   

Belonging   

Independence   

 

 

Page 444



15 

Appendix 3 

Partners involved in the development of this 
strategy 

With thanks to the contributions from many parts of the Local Area SEND 

partnership including: 

• Children and young people including the ‘eXtreme’ Group 

• Families of children with SEND including ‘Rollercoaster’ and ‘Making Changes 

Together’ 

• Schools and other education providers including Headteachers/Leaders, 

SENCOs and Pastoral staff 

• DCC teams from CYPS including SEND and Inclusion, Early Help, Social 

Care, Education, Youth Justice, Aycliffe Secure  

• Health service providers and commissioners. 

Page 445



16 

 

Appendix 4 

SEND Information for County Durham April 2021

P
age 446



17 

 

 

 

 

Page 447



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Cabinet 

6 April 2022 

High Needs Block Funding for 

SEND and Inclusion Support 

Ordinary Decision  

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

John Pearce, Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s 
Services 

Paul Darby, Corporate Director of Resources 

Councillor Ted Henderson, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children 
and Young People’s Services 

Councillor Richard Bell, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Portfolio 
Holder for Finance  

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 This report provides an update on spend and pressures on the High 
Needs Block (HNB) of the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG), which 
supports Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) and 
inclusion support services for children and young people living in 
County Durham. 

2 The 2021/22 forecast financial outturn position is outlined, along with 
the latest five-year financial plan and project updates, which collectively 
aim to help ensure HNB spending is maintained within budget and the 
accumulated deficit in the HNB is recovered between 2020/21-2024/25. 

Executive Summary 

3 The HNB budget of the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) provides 
funding for SEND and Inclusion support services for children and young 
people in County Durham. 

Page 449

Agenda Item 9



 

4 There have been insufficient resources to support children and young 
people with SEND and inclusion needs in recent years.  This is due to a 
combination of factors to include increasing demand for services, 
increasing complexity of additional needs in children and young people 
and austerity in the public sector.  This position is replicated in many 
other local authorities. 

5 Despite some previous support from the Council’s own resources, 
spending pressures resulted in a growing deficit in County Durham’s 
DSG account between 2015/16 and 2019/20. 

6 Spending on SEND and inclusion needs exceeded HNB grant by  
£8.6 million, and the cumulative deficit on the HNB reserve stood at 
£5.7 million at the end of 2019/20 financial year. 

7 Following an increase in the HNB allocation in 2019/20 and continued 
work on the HNB sustainability programme, expenditure from the HNB 
grant was overspent by £2.3 million in 2020/21, raising the cumulative 
deficit on the HNB DSG to £8.0 million at the end of that financial year. 

8 The Quarter 3 Forecast for 2021/22 has predicted a £1.7 million 
overspend on the HNB budget and a cumulative deficit of £9.7 million, 
at the end of 2021/22 financial year. 

9 Although expenditure has continued to exceed HNB grant, this is an 
improved position compared to recent years when overspends were 
substantially higher.  

10 The HNB Five Year Financial Plan is set to recover the deficit that has 
accumulated in the HNB by 2023/24. 

11 Work is underway to ensure that services are provided within budget 
and change proposals relating to the below areas of focus are 
delivered, as agreed by Cabinet in January 2020: 

 Centrally Managed Services; 

 Special Schools ; 

 Top-Up Funding (TuF); 

 Targeted Support Funding (TSF); 

 Post 16 Funding; 

 Funding support to Partnerships of Schools; 

 Joint Commissioning of Paediatric Therapies; 

Page 450



 

 Joint commissioning of Equipment, Auxiliary Aids and 
Adaptations; 

 Alternative Provision (AP) and the Pupil Referral Unit (PRU). 

12 The report provides an update on progress on the latest work. The 
latest financial position and updated HNB five-year financial plan is also 
presented for Cabinet’s consideration. 

13 It is proposed that the SEND and Inclusion Resources Board (SIRB) 
continue to oversee the implementation of the work programme to 
deliver the proposed changes, the five-year financial plan and any 
impact from the continuing coronavirus pandemic.  This includes plans 
to review the overall programme during 2022/23 linked with the updated 
County Durham SEND strategy and the national review of SEND, which 
is due to be published by the Government in the spring 2022. 

Recommendations 

14 Cabinet is requested to: 

(a) note the updated assumptions and forecast position for HNB 
spend in 2021/22; 

(b) agree to the updated five-year financial plan for 2020/21- 2025/26 
which includes a deficit recovery plan for previous HNB 
overspend to be recovered; 

(c) agree to the five-year plan being regularly reviewed and updated, 
including allowing for any impacts from the coronavirus outbreak 
and subsequent recovery period which may be protracted in 
relation to SEND support needs; and 

(d) note the progress on the transformation projects and other work 
outlined in the report. 

  

Page 451



 

Background 

15 There have been enduring pressures on the HNB budget for a number 
of years.  A combination of austerity in the public sector; increasing 
demand for SEND and inclusion services overall; and the changing 
complexity of children and young people’s additional needs has meant 
there have been insufficient resources to deliver services within budget. 

16 Demand for support to children and young people with additional needs 
significantly increased following the introduction of the Children and 
Families Act 2014.  This legislation extended support to children and 
young people from birth to 25 years of age (previously the age range 
covered was age 5 to 19 years). 

17 A report to Cabinet in June 2019 identified that if levels of HNB funding, 
demographic demand and spending trends continued without 
intervention, overspending and the HNB cumulative deficit would 
continue to increase in future years.  This was leading to sustained 
pressure on the Council’s general fund, at a time of overall rising 
demand and significant budget pressures across schools, children’s 
services and the wider Council.  These pressures have been further 
compounded since the start of the Covid-19 pandemic. 

18 Cabinet received a further report in January 2020.  This outlined the 
findings of a three-month public consultation (autumn, 2019), and key 
pieces of work that would help to make the HNB more sustainable, 
while ensuring support is most appropriately aligned to children and 
young people’s needs.  The proposal to develop a five-year financial 
recovery plan to bring the account back into balance by 2024/25 was 
also agreed. 

19 The SEND and Inclusion Resources Board (SIRB) governs this 
programme of work and the group have continued to meet on a monthly 
basis to oversee HNB expenditure and the transformation work 
underway. 

20 Reports on progress were presented to Cabinet in July 2020 and April 
2021.  Updates also continue to be presented to Durham Schools 
Forum at each meeting. 

21 The work of the SIRB also includes considering any impacts from the 
coronavirus pandemic and subsequent recovery period which may be 
protracted in relation to SEND support needs.  The highest priority 
continues to be given to supporting vulnerable children, their families 
and learning providers at this time. 

  

Page 452



 

SEND and Inclusion in County Durham 

22 Meeting the special educational needs of children and young people is 
a statutory responsibility governed by the SEND Code of Practice (DfE 
and DoH, 2015) and relates to four areas: communication and 
interaction (e.g., Autistic Spectrum or Speech and Language 
difficulties); cognition and learning; social, emotional and mental health 
difficulties (SEMH); and sensory or physical needs. 

23 Many children who have SEN may also have a disability, described 
under the Equality Act (2010) as ‘a physical or mental impairment which 
has a long-term (a year or more) and substantial adverse effect on their 
ability to carry our normal day to day activities’. 

24 In County Durham, children and young people with SEND are offered 
support through a graduated approach based on their level of needs, as 
outlined below. 

Figure 1: The Graduated Approach to Learning  

 

25 Minor adaptations in their learning are sufficient for some young people.  
For individuals with complex needs, schools will develop an individual 
Special Educational Needs (SEN) Support Plan and with parental 
agreement, this will be recorded on a SEN register.  Children and young 
people with more complex needs receive an Education, Health and 
Care Plan (EHCP). 

26 County Durham has seen significant changes in primary needs in recent 
years, with rises in young people being identified with Social Emotional 

Page 453



 

and Mental Health (SEMH) difficulties, Speech, Language and 
Communication Needs (SLCN) and Autism Spectrum Condition (ASC). 

27 Information from a number of sources shows a continuing increase in 
the number of children and young people with SEND, when compared 
with 2016.  According to the DCC School Census (January 2021) there 
were 76,000 children and young people of school age within County 
Durham.  Of those: 

 1 in 6 of school age children and young people in County Durham 
are described as having SEN.  That is a total of 11,643; 

 13.2% of the school age population have their needs met through 
SEN Support; 

 3,628 children and young people (0-25 years) have their needs 
met through Education Health and Care Plans (EHCP), a 41% 
increase since 2016. 2,283 of these pupils are school age, a 10% 
increase since 2016; 

 Of those children with an EHCP in the primary phase, 51% are in 
mainstream school, this reduces to 25% of those with an EHCP in 
the secondary phase; 

 10,175 (87%) of school age children and young people identified 
with SEND have their needs met within a mainstream school 
context. 

28 These numbers have increased each year since the introduction of the 
SEND Reforms1. 

29 Whilst the data above gives a snap shot for school age children from 
the school census, there are wider demands when the 0-5 and 16-25 
population is also considered.  We have also continued to see 
increased demand in 2021/22, some linked to COVID and children and 
young people’s disruption from formal education and in recent months 
have seen a particular increase in requests for support for pre -school 
children. 

30 Young people with SEND are more likely to be excluded from school 
than their peers.  Until recently, increasing numbers of young people 
were being permanently excluded from school within County Durham, 
with fewer pupils being reintegrated from the Woodlands Pupil Referral 
Unit (PRU) into mainstream schools. 

 
1 The Children and Families Act 2014 

Page 454



 

31 The number of pupils at the PRU increased by 51% between 2013/14 
and 2017/18.  This has led to the PRU being significantly over capacity 
and a subsequent increase in use of alternative education providers at 
an additional cost to the HNB budget. 

32 Numbers of pupils permanently excluded from mainstream school 
reduced throughout 2019/20 and 2020/21, partly as a result of the 
Covid-19 pandemic and also in light of partnership working. This trend 
has continued for 2021/22. 

33 All schools in County Durham have access to early intervention and 
prevention support through funds to Communities of Learning (CoL) and 
Behaviour and Inclusion Partnerships (BIPs).  Schools may also apply 
for Top-Up Funding and Targeted Support Funding where additional 
support is needed. 

34 Figures 2 and 3 illustrate the current HNB budget allocation2 according 
to types of provision and age group. In terms of provision type, a large 
proportion of the HNB budget is allocated to special schools, followed 
by mainstream provision, external provision, alternative provision and 
central provision.  With regard to age group, most of the HNB budget is 
allocated to supporting children of secondary school age, the majority of 
whom are attending special schools. 

  

 
2 As of November 2021 

Page 455



 

Figure 2 

 

 

Figure 3 

 

Page 456



 

Financial Context 

35 Insufficient financial resources to fully support the needs of children and 
young people with SEND and those with inclusion needs is a position 
replicated in many other authorities. 

36 The LGA3 identified a very clear increase in demand nationally for 
services and forecast a funding gap in national SEND funding of up to 
£1.6 billion in 2021/22. 

37 Within County Durham, levels of HNB expenditure have exceeded the 
available grant each year since 2016/17 (Figure 4, below). 

Figure 4 

 

38 In 2019/20, the overspend on the HNB was £8.6 million, contributing to 
a cumulative deficit of £5.7 million.  As a one-off measure, Durham 
County Council invested £5.6 million from the Budget Support Reserve 
to supplement the HNB in the previous financial year and had this not 
been done, the accumulated deficit would have been £11.3 million for 
2019/20.  

39 A report received by Cabinet in January 2020, highlighted that the 
cumulative HNB deficit was forecast to potentially rise to over  
£20 million by 2024/25. 

 
3 Bright Futures: SEND funding | Local Government Association 

1.1

4.6

7.4

8.6

2.3

1.7

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

(forecast)

HNB (Under) / Overspend (£m)

Page 457



 

40 Cabinet agreed to develop and implement a programme of work 
including a financial recovery plan to seek to bring the HNB deficit back 
into balance by 2025. 

41 In implementing this work, the Council continues to follow the Education 
and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) guidance for local authorities in 
managing the DSG HNB deficit. 

42 The findings of a national SEND review conducted by the DfE, are due 
to be published in the first quarter of 2022, alongside a SEND Green 
Paper containing proposals for overhauling the SEND system4.  The 
SEND and Inclusion Resources Board (SIRB) will consider the findings, 
proposals and impact of this review, once published and are also 
planning a wider review of the existing programme. 

Actual HNB Outturn Position 2020/21 

43 The actual HNB outturn position for 2020/21 reported in May 2021 was 
an overspend of £2.3 million, increasing the cumulative deficit to  
£8.0 million.  Although this still represents an overspend, it is an 
improved financial position compared to previous years. 

HNB Forecast Outturn 2021/22 

44 Durham received a £65.7 million HNB grant allocation from the 
Government for 2021/22. 

45 Appendix 2 details the updated forecast outturn position for each budget 
line of the HNB for 2021/22. 

46 The forecast HNB 2021/22 outturn position reported at Quarter 3 
(February 2022), predicted a £1.7 million overspend, which would 
increase the cumulative deficit position on the HNB reserve to  
£9.7 million, at the end of 2021/22 financial year. 

47 The forecast overspend position for 2021/22 financial year, is largely 
due to further increased demand for Top-Up Funding (TuF) in 
mainstream nursery, primary, secondary and special schools; demand 
for Independent Non-Maintained Special Schools (Pre 16) places; and 
further use of Alternative Provision. 

48 Allocation of TuF to mainstream schools has increased for the following 
reasons: 

 More schools are coming forward to request TuF awards in 
support of provision that is additional to and different from the 

 
4 The DfE has recently published information about a newly formed SEND Review Steering Group, 
which has been set up to assist the Department to conclude the SEND Review at pace and advise on 
the proposals to be set out within the Green Paper.   

Page 458



 

typical offer of provision in a school. In providing this TuF, we are 
ensuring young people can access their local mainstream school 
in line with our commitments to young people with SEND; 

 Earlier identification of SEND needs in pre-school children is 
becoming more prevalent.  Good transition planning between 
early years settings and primary schools means that schools are 
able to request funding from the point a reception child starts 
school.  Previously, the needs of children were generally not 
identified so early on, resulting in support being delayed for the 
child and eroding parental confidence in the mainstream offer, 
encouraging them to look for a special school placement. 

49 Recent research5 into the disproportionate impact of the Covid-19 
pandemic on more vulnerable children and young people highlights that 
children have struggled without therapeutic, respite and care services; 
experienced a wide range of developmental and academic losses; and 
confirms that their mental wellbeing has been negatively affected.  
Evidence shows increased stress, anxiety and depressive symptoms 
and externalising behavioural problems amongst children with additional 
needs.  This need is a feature of many new TuF requests in County 
Durham. 

50 While it is difficult to project the future pattern of expenditure for TuF 
following the impact of the ongoing coronavirus pandemic, there is the 
potential for further increases in demand for additional packages of 
support.  This could lead to additional increases in costs and 
adjustments have been made to the five-year HNB financial plan 
accordingly. 

51 County Durham schools are being sign-posted to the “Catch up” and 
“Recovery” funding available from the government for pupils whose 
learning and presentation have been impacted on by the Covid-19 
pandemic.  This can be focussed on academic learning as well as 
providing support for pupils with attendance, behaviour, social and 
emotional issues6. 

52 A review of Durham’s Top-Up Funding System is due to complete in 
2022.  This aims to ensure value for money is maximised, while support 
for children and young people is better aligned to their needs. 

 
5 Life in Lockdown: Child and adolescent mental health and well-being in the time of COVID-19, 
UNICEF, October 2021;   The Guardian “Social workers warn of rise in mental health problems 
among children” 04 February 2022 
Effect of pandemic on children's wellbeing revealed in new report - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 
6 Recovery Premium Funding - Gov.UK 

Page 459



 

53 The Education Health Needs service has seen an increase in demand 
and budget pressures including premises costs, salary changes and 
increasing costs associated with the coronavirus pandemic.  The budget 
is now being reviewed following transfer of this service to the PRU in 
October 2021. 

54 Expenditure on placements for Post-16 students across the Further 
Education and Independent sector is forecast to remain within budget 
for this financial year.  However, the volume of demand in this sector 
has been increasing recently and a combination of larger upcoming 
cohorts, improved pathways into further education for young people with 
SEND and longer periods in Post-16 are anticipated.  A further review of 
Post-16 will therefore commence with providers from the spring 2022. 

55 All other categories of HNB spend remain largely within budget. 

56 All HNB expenditure will continue to be kept under close review with 
regard to coronavirus pandemic related issues. 

57 Continuous monitoring of HNB expenditure is taking place and monthly 
monitoring reports continue to be considered by SIRB each month. 

HNB Five-Year Financial Plan 

58 The latest updated five-year financial plan is presented at Appendix 3. 

59 Based on this plan, the HNB deficit is due to be recovered during 
2023/24 under current planning assumptions. 

60 The plan reflects the confirmed government grant of £73.4 million 
available for 2022/237.  This includes a further significant increase for 
2022/23 which will help to support work on deficit reduction and making 
the future spend more sustainable. 

61 An increased allocation for Mainstream Top-Up Funding is included 
within the plan to reflect anticipated increased expenditure in this area 
in future years, based on recent demand, but it is acknowledged that 
this demand may increase even further. 

Investment Support Fund 

62 An investment support fund was established as part of the HNB 
sustainability work, and this was set at 2.5% of the total HNB budget for 

 
7 This includes funding for Teachers Pay Grant (TPG) and Teachers Pension Employer Contribution 

Grant (TPECG).  Funding allocation for 2022/23 as confirmed by the Government in December 
2021.      

 

Page 460



 

use on specific projects as well as any additional pressures that emerge 
within year. 

63 A total of £868,000 was allocated from this fund to support the work of 
Behaviour and Inclusion Partnerships in 2021/22 financial year to help 
reduce permanent exclusions and pressures on the PRU (and hence 
HNB budget) allowing this service to be reviewed and eventually 
redesigned. 

64 £324,918 was also allocated in 2021/22 to support the development and 
implementation of the Enhanced Learning Provision ‘Early Adopter 
Pilots’ at Durham Federation and Greenland Community Primary 
School (detailed later in this report). 

65 There is potential that demand in certain budget areas may continue to 
exceed current forecast expenditure included in the plan.  Work is 
ongoing to further develop the forecasting model over a five-year 
timeframe.  Whilst this work continues, it is possible that some funding 
from the Investment Support Fund may be required to supplement 
existing budgets without adding to the deficit position and recovery 
plans. 

66 The following transformation work is underway to help ensure spending 
is kept within budget and improved value for money is achieved, while 
ensuring provision is better aligned to the needs of children and young 
people and their families. 

Progress on HNB Sustainability Work 

Review of Enhanced Mainstream Provision 

67 Children in County Durham with more specialist needs may be taught in 
a special school or a mainstream school with extra support known as 
“Enhanced Mainstream Provision” (EMP).  Ten EMPs offer specialist 
provision across County Durham for children with hearing impairment, 
visual impairment, speech and language difficulties, physical difficulties, 
and autism. 

68 The EMP model has produced very positive outcomes for children and 
young people.  Parents / carers express a high level of confidence in 
the existing system.  However, many pupils travel considerable 
distances to access an EMP or special school, due to the current 
geographic spread of provision. 

69 In line with the recommendations of the public consultation8 (Cabinet, 
2020) this project aims to increase the offer of specialist provision, to 

 
8 “Consultation on High Needs Block Funding for SEND and Inclusion Support” (Cabinet, 15 January 
2020) 

Page 461



 

meet more children’s needs locally, enabling them to be part of their 
community and reduce pressures on local authority maintained special 
schools. 

70 The existing offer is being reviewed with the EMP schools, to identify 
how we can develop new EMPs, now referred to as Enhanced Learning 
Provision (ELP), building on the strengths of the existing provision. 

71 Work has also commenced with two pilot schools to generate evidence 
to support a larger scale rollout of this offer: 

 Durham Federation has extended its Nurture Provision offer as 
part of an early adopter pilot to accommodate up to three pupils 
with complex SEND needs per year group initially, for students 
who may otherwise require special school provision; 

 Greenland Community Primary School are extending their offer to 
accommodate eight pupils in Key Stage 2 with complex SEND, in 
places commissioned by the Local Authority in the first instance. 

72 Further proposals will be developed for consideration by summer 2022, 
prior to undertaking a full public consultation on any future delegated 
decisions to be made. 

Social Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH) SEND Transformation Plan 

73 This project aims to support children who experience barriers to 
learning as a result of trauma or SEMH related difficulties. 

74 Related actions are already underway through the Education Inclusion 
Board to Promote Positive Behaviours; the Special Schools Banding 
Review; and a review of education health needs. 

75 Future work will include mapping the current offer for pupils with SEMH 
needs and undertaking a gap analysis of current work underway, in 
order to inform an action plan to provide more support for pupils with 
SEMH difficulties. 

Joint Commissioning of Integrated Paediatric Therapies 

76 Following a review of paediatric therapies (physiotherapy, speech and 
language therapy and occupational therapy) there is broad agreement 
across local partners to support the transformation of local therapy 
services, to secure improved education, health and care outcomes for 
children. 

77 At present, many children who require support from more than one 
children’s therapy service and educational support are attending a 

Page 462



 

special school out of the local area.  This is ultimately driving up costs 
and the travel for children to school is longer.  The current service is 
complex with multiple points of access and a priority for service users is 
a single point of access and streamlined services. 

78 This project aims to: 

 Develop a model which will deliver support across health, social 
care and education in the County so that families can access the 
support they need, locally and in the most appropriate 
environment for the child; 

 Reduce the need for children with complex needs to be schooled 
out of area; 

 Establish a single point of access for families and professionals, 
increasing the use of multi-disciplinary teams for assessment, 
treatment and review; 

 Increase the focus on early intervention and prevention through a 
clear pathway; 

 Define the health, education and social care offer in order to 
ensure input into the Education Health Care Plan (EHCP) from all 
therapists; 

 Develop a clear system of what will be provided to schools, 
parents and carers as part of the EHCP, whether this is direct 
therapy or advice and support. 

79 The project was paused in March 2020, as staff resources were 
diverted to the Covid-19 emergency response, but work recommenced 
in April 2021.  A 0-5 years integrated pathway and single point of 
access system is now being developed in partnership with County 
Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust (CDDFT). 

80 Discussions have commenced with CDDFT and North Tees and 
Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust (the main children’s therapies 
providers) to clarify current demand and provision across the 
geographic boundaries. 

81 An Integrated Therapies School Pilot is also being developed with 
Evergreen Primary School.  The pilot will identify the extent to which 
pupils’ needs can be met more effectively in educational settings 
through integrated: assessment arrangements, child level planning, and 
delivery models in the classroom and playground settings. 

Page 463



 

82 Funding has been secured to support the recruitment of additional 
staffing within CDDFT from the spring 2022 and help support the 
delivery of this area of work in 2022. 

Joint Commissioning of Equipment, Auxiliary Aids and Adaptations  

83 Schools and local authorities have a duty under the Disability 
Discrimination Act 1995, Equality Act 2010 and the Children and 
Families Act 2014, to provide equipment, auxiliary aids and adaptations 
for pupils, to support education outcomes. 

84 A review of local arrangements identified that the current system is 
complex with limited local guidance for families or professionals, and it 
does not always take account of the holistic needs of the child or young 
person.  There is also a lack of clarity and consistency relating to how 
equipment, aids and adaptations should be funded, which has the 
potential to continue to impact upon Top-Up Funding. 

85 The project aims to make best use of available resources and achieve 
improved value for money by ensuring: 

 Delivery of a streamlined process for the identification, 
assessment and purchasing of aids, adaptations and equipment 
for pupils, that is aligned to their education, health and care 
needs; 

 Auxiliary aids, adaptations and equipment are included within 
costed provision maps, alongside the holistic needs of the pupil, 
prior to additional funding being sought from the HNB budget; 

 A multi-agency approach for the approval of assessments, 
consistent monitoring and reviewing processes, effective and 
efficient storage and re-use of equipment and a new procurement 
solution; 

 Revised guidance to ensure a consistent and easily understood 
application of the new process.  This is expected to lead to 
improved, swifter support for children and young people and 
increased value for money to collectively support better use of 
HNB funding. 

86 This project was paused in March 2020, as staff resources were 
redeployed to the Covid-19 emergency response but recommenced in 
April 2021.  Since then, current provision has been mapped and the 
project will be further planned once the Top-Up Funding pilot is 
complete in the spring 2022, in order to reflect the outcomes of this 
work. 

Page 464



 

87 The coronavirus pandemic has led to a severe lack of staffing capacity 
within all therapy services.  Whilst short term funding has provided 
some immediate support, Commissioners are looking at how to ensure 
that the capacity issues can be addressed in the longer term, to fully 
support both the Joint Commissioning of EAAA and Joint 
Commissioning of Integrated Therapies projects going forward. 

Review of Mainstream Top-Up Funding (TuF) 

88 TuF is the granting of HNB funding to schools when provision to meet 
an individual child or young person’s SEND needs would cost more 
than the school’s core funding budget. 

89 At present every school determines the amount of extra funding they 
need for each child.  This has resulted in differences in the amount of 
support a young person receives depending on the school’s 
considerations and how the school completes an application and 
calculates the funding.  Some schools make a number of TuF requests, 
while others submit very few. Some schools access a significant 
resource for provision that other schools consider as core to their offer. 

90 Changes and improved consistency in TuF would ensure a fair and 
robust process is in place that is visible and understood by all schools 
as well as parents and carers.  This should help to reduce the variability 
in applications for TuF and ensure a fair and appropriate allocation of 
funds, whilst acknowledging that overall demand and spend in this area 
may continue to increase. 

91 The majority of respondents to the public consultation held in 2019 
agreed with the proposal for a ‘banding system’ to be developed and 
applied to TuF to support schools, thereby helping to ensure SEND 
needs are consistently and fairly met. 

92 This project aims to help ensure that: more children and young people 
with SEND needs are retained within mainstream education; parents 
have confidence in the support provided to children which will be timely, 
aligned to needs, and provided in the right place; and agreed outcomes 
for children and young people are met. 

93 The new funding process will ensure that funding is only approved once 
all other appropriate support for pupils has been identified and put in 
place, aligned to their additional needs, and supported by the school’s 
notional budget, in the first instance. 

94 Following the Covid-19 emergency response in March 2020, the project 
was re-scheduled and re-commenced later in 2020.  Since then, best 
practice research, financial benchmarking and engagement with 
schools, SENDCo networks and other stakeholders has been 

Page 465



 

successfully completed to inform the development of a proposed 
banded model. 

95 The proposed new model was piloted with schools and SEND 
Caseworkers at the end of 2021 and is currently being refined to reflect 
the pilot findings, with some additional ongoing engagement with 
schools. 

96 The model is scheduled to be finalised in the spring 2022 and rolled out 
by September 2022, following close communication with schools 
throughout the summer term 2022.  This will however be dependent on 
the capacity of schools to engage with this work and this important 
change, alongside other school demands and their management of 
Covid-19 related issues. 

Review of Special Schools Funding 

97 Engagement with special schools to review funding and ensure 
provision meets all types of demand has taken place. 

98 During the autumn 2020, consultations with special schools identified 
the financial pressures schools were experiencing, to include increasing 
staff costs, costs associated with Covid-19, and increased costs of 
specialist equipment and support. 

99 Following a further consultation with all schools and Durham Schools 
Forum in November 2020, Special School Banding rates were 
increased by 3% as an interim measure, pending further review. 

100 The review also identified some funded un-filled spaces in special 
schools available for admissions during the year.  To address this 
situation, HNB funding issued to special schools for 2021/22 included 
reductions to commissioned places compared to the 2020/21 position.  
In addition, consideration is now given to the number of unfilled places 
in the school, prior to the release of any additional TuF.  As a result, all 
schools are now operating at their fullest capacity, unlike in previous 
years. 

101 A review of TuF for special schools is also underway, involving the 
development of a new draft Core Offer and Pathways Model. 
Consultation on proposals took place with special schools between 
November and December 2021 and the findings informed the 
development of a new banded model and associated costings. The 
model is due to be tested and reviewed by the end of March 2022, prior 
to implementation from April 2022. 

102 The Council received notification in January 2022, that £2.881 million 
additional Government funding for special schools and alternative 

Page 466



 

provision will be paid to the Durham HNB for 2022/2023.  This 
supplementary government grant aims to support providers in meeting 
the costs associated with the Health and Social Care Levy, to include 
additional National Insurance contributions and other increasing costs.  
At the time of preparing this report, work was underway to apportion this 
additional funding to special schools and other areas of spend in the 
HNB for 2022/2023 as appropriate and in accordance with ESFA 
guidance. 

103 A significant piece of work was completed to increase capacity in 
special schools in September 2021, with the implementation of six 
modular classrooms at The Oaks Secondary Special School in 
Spennymoor.  This new facility provides accommodation for up to 40 
places for young people with discrete autism needs. 

Review of Targeted Support Funding (TSF) 

104 Prior to 2020/21, this funding was automatically distributed to schools 
using a formula-based approach.  The previous process for allocating 
TSF to schools was acknowledged as being complex and not widely nor 
well understood. 

105 In line with the public consultation findings (2019), the process for 
allocating TSF was amended from April 2020, following a successful 
pilot, to one where schools are now required to apply for this funding, 
which is now discretionary. 

106 In 2021/22, the criteria for assessment of applications was reviewed, to 
ensure TSF is used where a school has a significant funding gap for 
their cohort of young people with SEND, which is not supported 
sufficiently from the core budget and TuF applications. 

107 The new process was successfully implemented in April 2021, following 
further stakeholder consultation. 

108 The aim of this review was to ensure provision is acutely focussed on 
meeting pupils’ needs and more high needs pupils are retained (beyond 
the £6,000 notional budget) in mainstream schools, particularly in 
secondary schools. 

109 Funding is now allocated to a minority of schools (20% of schools or 
fewer) in accordance with ESFA guidance.  14 schools have received 
support through Targeted Support Funding so far during 2021-22 
financial year.  Spending on TSF from the HNB has remained within 
budget for 2021/22. 

  

Page 467



 

Review of Alternative Provision (AP) and the Pupil Referral Unit (PRU) 

110 Durham County has a statutory responsibility to arrange education for 
pupils who are permanently excluded from school.  The Woodlands 
Pupil Referral Unit provides this and is also commissioned to carry out 
preventative turnaround on-site and outreach work to avoid permanent 
exclusion. 

111 There is continued pressure on the PRU as on-site capacity is much 
lower than the current demand for places.  The PRU can accommodate 
75 permanently excluded pupils on site.  There are currently 193 pupils 
on roll at the PRU (January 2022).  Of these pupils, 84 are in permanent 
full-time alternative provision (AP)9 placements, the cost of which is 
increasing. 

112 A placement at the PRU (on-site) costs around £20,000 per pupil, per 
annum (excluding transport costs) and this is funded by the HNB 
budget.  Off-site and specialist placements costs can be significantly 
higher.  The current average cost of alternative provision is £85.00 per 
day, per pupil, plus transport costs. 

113 The PRU also supports and complements the work of the Behaviour 
Inclusion Panels (BIPs) through offering turnaround placements and 
outreach support.  This provision was effective in preventing 54 
permanent exclusions in 2020/21, resulting in a potential cost avoidance 
of over £1.3 million. 

114 Following an external review of alternative provision in 2019, a number 
of initiatives have been developed in coproduction with schools and 
other stakeholders, to promote and support inclusion in mainstream 
schools.  This led to the successful roll out of the: Durham Reintegration 
Protocol; Durham Pastoral Support Programme; Pupil Inclusion 
Pathway; Promoting Positive Behaviour Guidance and revised Fixed 
Term and Permanent Exclusion guidance, in 2021.  A Quality 
Assurance Protocol for Alternative Provision was successfully launched 
in February 2022 and the Fair Access Protocol has also been reviewed.  
A draft Transition Protocol has also been developed to support the 
transition of pupils from Year 6 to Year 7 and is due to be launched 
across all schools in spring 2022. 

115 It is anticipated that the successful delivery of this work will help to 
reduce demand for places at the PRU and pressures on the HNB 
budget.  The PRU budget requirements for future years will be reviewed 
as we expect demand to reduce, as more young people stay in or are 
re-integrated more quickly back into mainstream settings. 

 
9 AP refers to any education that is not provided in mainstream, special or academy schools. 

Page 468



 

116 From October 2021, the PRU also provides the education for those 
children who have medical needs which prevent them from attending 
school.  This offer is now being reviewed with the PRU to ensure 
provision is best aligned to children and young people’s and their 
families’ needs and increasing levels of demand.  This includes 
increasing numbers of learners with clinically determined anxiety which 
prevents the pupil from attending school. 

117 Consideration is also being given to the current building accommodation 
at the Woodlands, PRU with a view to exploring alternative options that 
better meet the needs of pupils, through improved space and access to 
facilities for sport, outdoor education and vocational training and could 
contribute to reduced reliance on off-site alternative provision. 

Funding Support to Partnerships of Schools 

118 Funding from the HNB is allocated to each Community of Learning 
(COL) and Behaviour and Inclusion Partnerships (BIP) to meet 
identified local SEND and Inclusion needs. 

119 A review of the process for allocating funding to these partnerships of 
schools was conducted early in 2019 resulting in a pilot being 
implemented between June and July 2019.  This required partnerships 
to submit an application for funding based on a clear business case and 
this generated a saving of circa £280k to the HNB for 2019/2020. 

120 At its January 2020 meeting, the Council’s Cabinet agreed for a new 
process based on this successful pilot to be rolled out from March 2020.  
As a result of rolling out this initiative, a total of £321k of funding was 
saved to the HNB in 2020/21. 

121 Following the successful implementation of this new process for 
administering funding, the approach is continuing as part of normal 
business. 

122 Spending against these categories of HNB spend has since remained 
within the budget allocation for 2021/22. 

123 Funding arrangements for 2022/23 are outlined below: 

Behaviour and Inclusion Partnerships (BIPs) Funding Support 
Arrangements 2022-23 
 

124 Four Secondary Behaviour and Inclusion Partnership Panels (North, 
Central, East and South West) and one Primary Behaviour and 
Inclusion Partnership Panel, work together with schools, alternative 

Page 469



 

education providers and other services10, to offer appropriate pathways 
for young people who are disengaged from education. 

125 Since September 2016, the panels have supported 1,275 pupils. 936 
(73%) of the pupils referred to the panels did not receive a permanent 
exclusion as a result of the support they received.  This has helped to 
reduce pressures on the Pupil Referral Unit (PRU) and associated costs 
to the HNB. 

126 There has been more than a 40% reduction in permanent exclusions 
since 2018/19 within County Durham.  Conversely, regional and 
national figures show an increase of pupils being permanently excluded 
across the country. 

127 In January 2020, Cabinet agreed that future funding allocations would 
be based on receipt of clear business plans and agreed commitment 
from the panels to help further reduce the number of permanent 
exclusions, pressures on the PRU and associated HNB expenditure. 

128 Additional funding was allocated to the panels through the HNB 
Investment Support Fund in March 2021/22 to support a reduction in 
permanent exclusions during this academic year.  Sustained positive 
progress has been reported throughout the academic year, with 10 
young people being reintegrated back into mainstream school up to 
January 2022. 

129 Business cases and financial agreements outlining the commitments 
and spending needs of the BIPs for 2022/23 academic year, were 
considered by SIRB in January 2022.  A delegated decision was 
subsequently agreed to allocate £888,702 from the Investment Support 
Fund in addition to the current £706,000 HNB allocation to the BIPs for 
2022/23. 

130 The additional investment for 2022/23 will support the BIPs in delivering 
their agreed commitment to reduce the number of pupils being admitted 
into the PRU, following permanent exclusion, by 37 during the 2021/22 
and 2022/23 academic year.  This reduction target and funding 
allocation takes into account the increasing numbers of children and 
young people requiring support at this time and issues caused by the 
coronavirus pandemic. 

131 Successful achievement of the target reduction would result in a cost 
avoidance of £760,000 per annum for placements at the PRU 

 
10 Educational Psychology, Early Help, Emotional Wellbeing and Effective Learning (EWEL), CAMHS 

and Inclusion Practitioners  

Page 470



 

(excluding transport costs) for 1-4 years, depending on the year group 
when excluded. 

132 SIRB continue to monitor the effectiveness and impact of this funded 
activity while continuously reviewing spending, funding and provision at 
the PRU. 

Communities of Learning Funding Support Arrangements 2022-23 
 

133 There are 15 COLs within County Durham, each representing a cluster 
of local schools within communities across the county.  Each COL is 
allocated a budget from the HNB to assist in developing provision to 
meet the needs of children and young people with SEND. 

134 Funding for COLs is now capped at 1% of the HNB Budget in line with 
previous feedback from schools and the Schools Forum about areas to 
make savings from, whilst still supporting important work. 

135 Funds are distributed based on a formula and agreed following 
consideration of business plans submitted by the COLs, detailing the 
proposed activity and expected impact. 

SEND Casework Growth 

136 Alongside the increased demands on the HNB, the Council has 
continued to see a significant increase in demand for services provided 
by the SEND Casework team relating to new assessments for 
Education Health and Care Plans (EHCPs), TuF packages, Annual 
Reviews of EHCPs and Post 16 work.  This increase is recognised as 
enduring demand and a proposal to significantly grow the resource in 
this service area, as part of the MTFP 2021/22, was agreed by Cabinet 
in February 2021.  Recruitment to the expanded SEND Casework team 
was subsequently conducted with most new staff starting in post from 
September 2021. 

137 A new SEND Casework model is now in place following a re-shaping of 
the service and inductions of new staff to the expanded team.  The 
team will continue to complete all traditional tasks associated with 
SEND Casework, but are developing an enhanced offer to include: 

 A person-centred approach to practice with greater levels of 
young person and parent engagement; 

 Pre-statutory request, strength-based discussions, to determine 
the most effective route for providing support; 

 Greater input in key points of young peoples’ learning journey, 
through the annual review process; 

Page 471



 

 An increased Post 16 pathway support offer. 

138 Work has continued to review, improve and streamline the business 
processes that are delivered by the SEND Casework Team and 
business support staff.  An implementation plan was agreed to deliver 
efficiencies in newly designed processes, that include the use of 
smarter ways of working and new technology to help meet increasing 
demands, make better use of staff resources and realise other 
improvements and benefits.  This work is now overseen by an 
Implementation and Control Group within the service. 

139 Following agreement of the council’s budget in February 2022, a new 
case management system for SEND Casework is now to be procured.  
The new system will fit with the new and improved processes, designed 
in consultation with the service, through the business process reviews 
and SEND Casework growth work. 

SEND Strategy 2022-2024 

140 Following extensive stakeholder collaboration, the draft new SEND 
Strategy was presented to the SEND Strategic Partnership in November 
2021 and is due to be considered by Cabinet and then the Health and 
Wellbeing Board. 

141 The HNB Sustainability Programme was closely aligned to the previous 
SEND Strategy and will help to deliver the proposed objectives of the 
updated SEND Strategy 2022-24 to include: 

 Where possible, for all children and young people to attend their 
local school and education setting which understands them and is 
able to meet their needs; 

 To identify needs in a timely way and have the right support 
available to meet needs at the right time; 

 For all education settings and their workforce to be confident in 
identifying and meeting needs, and to promote good health and 
wellbeing and inclusion; 

 To have joined up offer of support available which is appropriate 
to assessed needs; 

 To work closely with families to develop resilience and feel 
confident that needs are understood and met, and will continue to 
be met through all transitions; 

Page 472



 

 To listen to what children and young people are telling us when 
supporting them and to support positive inclusion and develop 
their resilience and independence. 

Monitoring and Review 

142 Monitoring reports on expenditure and progress on project delivery 
continue to be considered by the SEND and Inclusion Resources Board 
(SIRB) each month. 

143 A review of the HNB Sustainability Programme will be undertaken 
during 2022 / 2023 to consider the progress made, emerging pressures 
to be addressed and future outcomes to be delivered.  The review will 
take into account the updated County Durham SEND Strategy and 
outcomes of the Government’s SEND Review, which is expected to be 
published by summer 2022. Discussions are also being held with the 
DfE regarding our HNB work and these will also feed into the review. 

Risk Management 

144 Risks associated with the programme of work are being identified, 
managed and reviewed throughout the duration of the programme and 
overseen by the SEND and Inclusion Resources Board. Key risks of the 
programme include: 

 Assumptions regarding levels of funding and the extent of 
targeted reductions possible do not manifest themselves.  
The work is based on several assumptions regarding funding, 
pattern of demand and areas identified for savings.  If these 
assumptions become inaccurate and funding pressures increase, 
the deficit may increase.  The Council may then reconsider the 
position on requesting a transfer from the Schools Block and/or 
further savings would be required in other areas of HNB spend in 
order to make the HNB more sustainable; 

 Increasing demand on the HNB may result in adverse 
impacts on finance and service delivery.  The programme of 
work outlined in this report is being developed and implemented 
with the aim of mitigating this strategic risk.  Without a programme 
of work to make the HNB more sustainable, based on current 
HNB funding and expenditure patterns and current demographic 
demand, it is likely that further overspending will continue into 
future financial years.  Dedicated programme management 
resources and an agreed governance structure are in place to 
help ensure that the programme is sufficiently resourced and 
planned, overseen and delivered to time, cost and quality 
requirements; 

Page 473



 

 Unintended detrimental impacts to services for children and 
young people and the customer’s journey coupled with 
increased service costs.  A public consultation on the proposals 
has been conducted and a full Equality Impact Assessment has 
been carried out and is included within the Consultation Report 
that was presented to Cabinet in January 2020, (Appendix 4).  
The work we are doing also requires careful consideration of how 
changes in one service area may impact on another area of 
service provision.  For example, a significant change in one 
element of the system such as Top-Up Funding provided to 
mainstream schools, could then lead to increased exclusions, 
more referrals for special school places or the PRU, 
commissioning external providers, additional requests for EHCPs 
or increased legal challenges from families.  This could result in 
increased costs and potentially a detrimental impact to the young 
person on their journey through the system and the services 
offered.  The work being done and the proposals in this report are 
seeking to mitigate against these potential consequences through 
identifying, documenting and communicating project 
interdependencies at programme initiation stage, and throughout 
the life of the programme.  Close attention will be given to the 
end-to-end processes both within the SEND and inclusion 
services and links to services in the wider Council and with 
external providers, while focussing on the journey of the child or 
young person; 

 Allocation of financial support to SEND and Inclusion 
services is disproportionate to need.  The work being 
conducted and the proposals in this report are seeking to ensure 
the ‘right support at the right time in the right place’ for children 
and young people with SEND and inclusion support needs, within 
the resources available to us.  The programme provides the 
opportunity to have oversight of current SEND and Inclusion 
services provision, spending and impact, and to research, identify 
and propose changes and preferred alternative options.  The 
findings of reviews of current provision will be considered with 
feedback from the consultation to inform future funding priorities 
and proposed changes required to improve customer service 
provision, increase value for money and to try and ensure HNB 
funding is sustainable. 

Conclusion 

145 The report provides an update on spend and pressures on the High 
Needs Block of the Dedicated Schools Grant which supports SEND and 
inclusion support services for children and young people living in 
County Durham. 

Page 474



 

146 As in many other local authorities, there have been insufficient 
resources to support children and young people with additional needs, 
in recent years.  These pressures have been further compounded since 
the start of the Covid-19 pandemic. 

147 Despite some previous support from the Council's own resources, these 
spending pressures have continued to contribute to a growing deficit in 
County Durham's Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) account. 

148 Although expenditure has continued to exceed grant, it is a much-
improved position compared to recent years when overspends were 
substantially higher.  Expenditure from the HNB was around 16% more 
than grant available in 2019/20, with an overspend of £8.6 million at the 
end of 2019/20 financial year.  The Council are currently forecast to be 
spending around 2% more than HNB grant available at the end of 
2021/22. 

149 The cumulative deficit must be recovered within coming years through 
HNB allocation.  The Council is currently on track to recover the total 
cumulative deficit within 2023/24, as part of the HNB Five Year Plan, 
based on current planning assumptions. 

150 Addressing the spending pressures is complex and continues to involve 
working in close consultation and collaboration with a number of 
services, schools, partners, children, young people and their families, 
supported by an appropriate programme management approach. 

151 Good progress has been made to date to help address the pressures 
on the HNB, without significantly impacting on support for individual 
children and young people, while minimising the impact on schools and 
other budgets. 

152 Building on the strengths of existing provision, we are seeking to bring 
about change that will help to meet the objectives of the SEND Strategy 
2022-24 and realise a number of benefits for children, young people 
and their families. 

153 Regular monitoring of HNB expenditure and progress against the 
sustainability projects will continue and during 2022/23 it is planned to 
review the overall programme alongside the expected publication of the 
Government’s SEND review and our updated County Durham SEND 
strategy. 

Background papers 

 Cabinet Reports on High Needs Block Funding for SEND and 
Inclusion Support (January 2020, July 2020, April 2021) 

Page 475



 

 

Authors 

Karin Laybourne Tel: 03000 268042 

Martyn Stenton Tel: 03000 268067  

Page 476



 

Appendix 1:  Implications  

Legal Implications 

Sections 45-53 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998 sets out the 
funding framework governing schools finance. 

The Children and Families Act 2014 covers the SEND reforms and is 
accompanied by statutory guidance for organisations to follow through the 
SEND code of practice: 0 to 25 years (2015). 

The overarching legal implication within the report is the Equality Act 2010 
with respect to the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED). Section 149 of the Act 
details the requirement when taking decisions to have due regard to the need 
to advance equality of opportunity for people with protected characteristics, 
foster good relations between such groups and eliminate unlawful 
discrimination. It is necessary the impact on those groups is analysed as part 
of each area of work linked to HNB sustainability. 

Finance 

The report highlights the overspend and deficit position in the HNB. The HNB 
grant was overspent by £2.3 million and the cumulative deficit on the HNB 
DSG was £8.0 million at the end of 2020/21 financial year. 

Forecast expenditure for 2021/22 continues to be higher than budget, with a 
£1.7million overspend currently predicted at Quarter 3 (February 2022), 
raising the forecast cumulative deficit to £9.7 million. 

Based upon assumptions of HNB DSG allocations for the following four years, 
it is forecast that the cumulative deficit on the HNB reserve will be recovered 
by the end of 2023/24. 

The report sets out several key areas of work which seek to support children 
and young people with SEND within the resources available. 

Consultation 

Section 19 of the Children and Families Act 2014 makes clear that local 
authorities must ensure that children, young people, parents and carers are 
involved in decisions about local provision. 

A previous report to Cabinet (January 2020) outlined the approach to and 
findings of a public consultation, aimed mainly at early years settings, schools, 
special schools and colleges along with other stakeholders including children 
and families.  Further consultation and stakeholder engagement is taking 
place regarding individual pieces of work identified in this report. 

Page 477



 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

As the nine priority areas of the HNB sustainability programme affect 0-25 
years old with SEND and their families, parents and carers there is potential 
impact for the protected characteristics of age, disability, sex and ethnicity.  
There is disproportionate impact in relation to sex (both male and female) and 
ethnicity.  Significantly more males have an ECHP (74%). In terms of impact 
on women, evidence suggests they are more likely to have caring 
responsibilities for children and young people.  Ethnicity data shows there is 
potential disproportionately in terms of ethnic minorities with special education 
needs (SEN). 
 
Proposals to address priorities are designed to ease funding pressures and 
contribute towards longer term sustainability for SEND education.  Negative 
impact is therefore not anticipated, as proposals aim to create a more 
inclusive and targeted SEND education offer by addressing need yet ensuring 
value for money through ensuring consistency and quality of centrally 
managed services, linking funding to evidence of impact, extending the range 
of specialist places, improving staff training, joint commissioning to ensure 
consistency and value for money and reducing pupil exclusions.  This should 
impact positively in terms of disability, age (children, young people with SEND 
and their parents or carers), sex and ethnicity. 

Climate Change 

An intended outcome of this programme of work, is to increase support for 
young people to attend local schools, rather than travel to schools that are 
further away, both within and outside of the county.  The successful delivery of 
the programme will result in reduced miles travelled by pupils, thereby 
reducing carbon dioxide emissions and potentially a reduced contribution to 
local traffic congestion. 

The joint commissioning of equipment and auxiliary aids will help to reduce 
waste and consumption of resources, through the improved oversight, 
management and reuse and maintenance of equipment. 

It is intended that the reviews of business processes within the SEND 
Casework team will result in reduced printing and paper consumption, through 
the increased use of digital systems and the implementation of modern ways 
of working.  The potential for developing a customer portal within a new data 
management system may also be explored.  Implementation of a customer 
portal, use of video conferencing for meetings and exchanging information, 
should help to reduce the need for staff and customer travel to some 
meetings.  The digital mail system “Flite” is already being used by the team, 
and the use of this system will be promoted to other areas of the service, as 
necessary and appropriate. 

  

Page 478



 

Human Rights 

None. 

Crime and Disorder 

A disproportionately high number of young people and children who commit 
crime and / or disorder have special education needs and / or disabilities 
(SEND).  Successful delivery of this programme of work aims to support 
children and young people with SEND in achieving their best outcomes in life.  
Early intervention and support for children and young people with SEND and 
inclusion needs, should have a positive impact on crime and disorder by 
helping to prevent offending and / or reoffending. 

Staffing 

There may be changes required in staffing based on the proposals outlined in 
the report. 

Accommodation 

A review of accommodation at the PRU is proposed to be undertaken during 
2022-2023. 

Risk 

The programme of work being overseen by the SEND and Inclusion 
Resources Board is being progressed as part of a programme management 
approach and includes developing, and continuously reviewing, a risk register.  
Careful consideration of risks and possible unintended consequences is taking 
place regarding each of the areas of work.  Key overarching risks for the 
programme are outlined within the report. 

Procurement 

Commissioning and procurement implications are being considered for each 
of the proposals in the HNB Sustainability Programme. 

 

 

 

  

Page 479



 

Appendix 2:  HNB Forecast Outturn v Budget 2021/22 

DSG High Needs Block 
  

2021-22 
Original 
Budget  

£ million 

2021-22 
Forecast 
Outturn  
£ million 

2021-22 
Over / 

(Under) 
Spend  

£ million 

Special Schools (maintained and academy) 26.203 26.163 (0.040) 

Top-up-Special (individual pupils) 1.419 1.660 0.241 

Top-up-Special (changes in mix) 0.600 0.868 0.268 

Sub-total Special School Provision 28.222 28.691 0.469 

INMSS – pre-16 3.640 4.312 0.672 

INMSS – post-16 3.277 3.038 (0.239) 

FE provision – post-16 3.876 3.875 (0.001) 

Exports to other LA areas 0.989 0.941 (0.048) 

Imports from other LA areas (0.669) (0.819) (0.150) 

Sub-total External provision 11.113 11.347 0.234 

EMP place funding 0.620 0.546 (0.074) 

Top-up funding-Nursery 0.510 1.182 0.672 

Nursery Outreach Team 0.816 0.816 0.00 

Top-up funding-Primary 8.097 9.331 1.234 

Top-up funding-Secondary 1.533 1.919 0.386 

Targeted Support Fund 0.491 0.328 (0.163) 

Communities of Learning 0.654 0.654 0.00 

Sub-total Mainstream Provision 12.721 14.776 2.055 

Equalities and Intervention Team 0.612 0.595 (0.017) 

SEND Sensory Team 1.337 1.338 0.001 

Specialist Inclusion Support 0.578 0.574 (0.004) 

Management and support recharge 0.889 1.133 0.244 

Equipment 0.075 0.075 0.00 

LA recharges to DSG 0.300 0.175 (0.125) 

Investment Support Fund  0.825 0.153 (0.672) 

Sub-total Central provision 4.616 4.043 (0.573) 

Behaviour Panels 1.468 1.388 (0.080) 

Local Authority PRU (The Woodlands) 5.700 5.700 0.00 

Education Health Needs 1.229 1.722 0.493 

Income from schools (Permanent) (0.341) (0.200) 0.141 

Income from schools (Turnaround)  (0.567) (0.567) 0.00 

Other AP provision 0.128 0.480 0.352 

Sub-total Alternative Provision 7.617 8.523 0.906 

Other HNB Expenditure 1.456 0.044 (1.412) 

Total 65.746 67.424 1.678 

Page 480



 

 

Appendix 3: HNB Five-Year Financial Plan 
s To  

2020/21 Outturn 
£ million 

DSG High Needs Block  
2021/22 Budget 
£ million 

2021/22 Actual Quarter 
3 YTD 
£ million 

2021/22 Forecast 
Outturn Quarter 3 

£ million 

2022/23 Estimate 
£ million 

2023/24 
Estimate 
£ million 

2024/25 
Estimate 
£ million 

2025/26 
Estimate 
£ million 

23.893 Special Schools 26.203 1.062 26.163 26.728 27.262 27.807 28.364 

1.428 Top-up-Special (pupils) 1.419 1.542 1.660 1.447 1.447 1.447 1.447 

0.759 Top-up-Special (banding) 0.600 0.825 0.868 0.600 0.600 0.600 0.600 

26.080 Sub-total Special School Provision 28.222 3.429 28.691 28.775 29.309 29.854 30.411 

3.852 INMSS-pre-16 3.640 2.981 4.312 3.713 3.713 3.713 3.713 

3.407 INMSS-post-16 3.277 0.232 3.038 3.343 3.343 3.343 3.343 
 INMSS-Other  0.021 -     

3.286 FE provision-post-16 3.876 2.710 3.875 3.954 3.954 3.954 3.954 
 EMP Top up - external  0.034 -     

 Top-up funding-External  0.762 -     

0.538 Exports to other LA areas 0.989 0.137 0.941 1.009 1.009 1.009 1.009 

(0.699) Imports from other LA areas (0.669) (0.172) (0.819) (0.682) (0.682) (0.682) (0.682) 

10.385 Sub-total External provision 11.113 6.705 11.347 11.337 11.337 11.337 11.337 

0.785 EMP place funding 0.620 - 0.546 0.633 0.633 0.633 0.633 
 EMP Top up  - -     

- Nursery Outreach Team 0.816 - 0.816 0.832 0.832 0.832 0.832 

0.686 Top-up funding-Nursery 0.510 1.123 1.182 0.520 0.520 0.520 0.520 

8.009 Top-up funding-Primary 8.097 9.074 9.331 8.907 9.797 10.777 10.777 

1.518 Top-up funding-Secondary 1.533 1.773 1.919 1.687 1.855 2.041 2.041 

0.320 Targeted Support Fund 0.491 0.240 0.328 0.529 0.529 0.529 0.529 

- Enhanced Learning Provision -       

0.695 Communities of Learning 0.654 0.603 0.654 0.706 0.706 0.706 0.706 

12.013 Sub-total Mainstream Provision 12.721 12.813 14.776 13.814 14.872 16.038 16.038 

0.748 Equalities and Intervention Team 0.612 0.632 0.595 0.623 0.623 0.623 0.623 

1.210 SEND Sensory Team 1.337 0.936 1.338 1.367 1.367 1.367 1.367 

0.578 Specialist Inclusion Support 0.578 0.431 0.574 0.590 0.590 0.590 0.590 

0.290 Management and supp recharge 0.889 0.288 1.133 0.907 0.907 0.907 0.907 

0.022 Equipment 0.075 0.075 0.075 0.075 0.075 0.075 0.075 

- Investment support fund 0.825 0.150 0.153 1.765 1.765 1.765 1.765 
 HNB Other recharges  - -     

0.486 LA recharges to DSG 0.300 0.028 0.175 0.306 0.306 0.306 0.306 

3.333 Sub-total Central provision 4.616 2.540 4.043 5.633 5.633 5.633 5.633 

0.590 Behaviour Panels 1.468 0.608 1.388 0.706 0.706 0.706 0.706 

5.994 Local Authority PRU 5.700 (0.195) 5.700 5.700 5.700 5.700 5.700 

1.463 Education Health Needs 1.229 0.957 1.722 1.252 1.252 1.252 1.252 

(0.172) Income from schools (Permanent) (0.341) - (0.200) (0.341) (0.341) (0.341) (0.341) 

(0.130) Income from schools (Turnaround) (0.567) - (0.567) (0.567) (0.567) (0.567) (0.567) 

- Other AP provision 0.128 0.128 0.480 0.128 0.128 0.128 0.128 

7.745 Sub-total Alternative Provision 7.617 1.498 8.523 6.878 6.878 6.878 6.878 
 Other HNB Expenditure  0.245 0.044     

 Health and Social Care Levy    2.881     
 Sub-total Other HNB Expenditure - 0.245 0.044 2.881  - - - 

59.555 Total 64.289 27.230 67.424 69.317  68.029 69.740 70.296 

57.234 Grant available 65.746  65.746 76.279  73.398 73.398 73.398 

(2.321) Budget surplus (+) / shortfall (-) 1.456  (1.678) 6.962  5.369 3.658 3.102 

- Shortfall met by council reserves -  -                 -  - - - 

(2.321) In-year impact on HNB DSG 1.456  (1.678) 6.962  5.369 3.658 3.102 

(8.047) Forecast HNB DSG reserve (6.591)  (9.725) (2.763)  2.606 6.264 9.366 

P
age 481



 

 

 

Page 482



 

Purpose of the Report 
 
1 To adopt the council’s updated Apprenticeship Strategy for the period 

2022 - 2025.  
 

Executive Summary 
 
2 The council’s apprenticeship strategy and programme are an integral part 

of the council’s approach to address current and future skills needs.  
Apprenticeships help us to attract and retain the very best talent and to 
benefit from a skilled, motivated and flexible workforce to deliver high 
quality services to our communities. 

 
3 The strategy is aligned to our council plan and specifically links to our 

ambition for a thriving economy with more and better jobs and fewer 
people suffering from the hardships of poverty and deprivation, most 
notably through the strategic objectives to give young people access to 
good quality education, training, and employment, and to help all people 
into rewarding work. It is also pivotal to our council ambition to create a 
workforce for the future. 

 
4 The strategy is also aligned to our Workforce, Regeneration, 

Procurement, Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) and 
Autism strategies together with the council’s values and the council’s 

Cabinet 

6 April 2022 
 
Apprenticeship Strategy 2022 – 2025 
 

Ordinary Decision 
 
 
Report of Corporate Management Team 
 
Paul Darby, Corporate Director of Resources 
 
Councillor Richard Bell, Deputy Leader and Portfolio 
Holder for Finance 
 

Electoral division(s) affected: 
 
None  

Page 483

Agenda Item 10



strategic approach to supporting and sustaining care leavers and people 
with disabilities in employment. 

 
5 The council introduced its first Apprenticeship Strategy in April 2019, this 

detailed what we wanted to achieve as an employer and the positive 
action we would take to increase the number and range of 
apprenticeships and to support apprentices into sustainable employment 
with the council as part of our wider Workforce Strategy.  The report 
details key achievements we have made up to 31 March 2022, as part of 
this strategy.    

 
6 The Apprenticeship Strategy has been updated to reflect our continued 

commitment to progressing our apprenticeship programme as part of our 
Workforce Strategy, which is linked to our strategic workforce planning 
approach and people strategies.   

 
7 The report recommends the adoption of the updated Apprenticeship 

Strategy for 2022 – 2025. 
 

Recommendation 
 
8 Cabinet is recommended to: 
 

(i) approve the adoption of the updated Apprenticeship Strategy 2022 – 
2025. 

 

Page 484



Background 
 
9 It is important that the council is able to attract and retain apprentices and 

that we develop an apprenticeship programme that: 
 

 Supports our workforce skills needs 

 Supports the council’s strategic ambitions and objectives 

 Creates opportunities to provide more and better jobs and improve the 

skills base in the County 

 Maximises the use of our apprenticeship levy 

 Has regard to the public sector apprenticeship target 

 
10 The Apprenticeship Strategy has been updated to reflect our continued 

commitment to progressing our apprenticeship programme as part of our 
Workforce Strategy, which is linked to our strategic workforce planning 
approach and people strategies. 
 

11 The strategy embeds our OPEN values of outcome focused, people 
focused, empowering and innovative, by investing in our employee’s 
skills and development to equip them to deliver high quality services for 
our communities and to achieve the best outcomes. 

 
12 The strategy is aligned to our council plan and specifically links to our 

ambition for a thriving economy with more and better jobs and fewer 
people suffering from the hardships of poverty and deprivation, most 
notably through the strategic objectives to give young people access to 
good quality education, training, and employment, and to help all people 
into rewarding work. It is also pivotal to our council ambition to create a 
workforce for the future. 

 
13 The strategy is also aligned to our Workforce, Regeneration, 

Procurement, Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) and 
Autism strategies together with the council’s strategic approach to 
supporting and sustaining care leavers and people with disabilities in 
employment. 

 
14 Apprenticeships present an opportunity to improve the diversity and 

inclusion of our workforce, by providing people from all backgrounds with 
a greater opportunity to progress with their careers.  As a result of 
effective workforce planning, apprenticeships will enable the council to 
benefit from a skilled, motivated and flexible workforce to meet future 
requirements. 

15 The People and Talent Management service work with DurhamWorks, 
the Looked After and Permanence service and DurhamEnable to support 

Page 485



young people, care leavers and people with disabilities to access 
apprenticeship opportunities. 

16 The council recruits apprentices throughout the year where there is a 
flexible start to the training element of the apprenticeship.  However, an 
annual recruitment campaign takes place each year to promote the range 
of apprenticeship opportunities at the council and to allow 
apprenticeships to be aligned to college/university start dates in line with 
Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) funding rules. 

17 The council promotes apprenticeships through a wide range of 
mechanisms including attendance at career events at schools and 
colleges. 

18 The council has an ‘apprenticeship first’ approach to upskill existing 
employees to support workforce and succession planning. 

19 The apprenticeship programme also supports and complements other 
workforce development initiatives to support entry to employment, 
including work experience, traineeships and graduate programmes as 
part of the council’s wider talent management approach. 

Our Progress  
 

20 The council’s first apprenticeship strategy was introduced in April 2019 
which covered the period up to 31 March 2022, detailed below are our 
key achievements during this period. 

 
• 627 new apprenticeships and 622 upskilling opportunities created 

(services and schools) – as at 10 March 2022 
• Working with 31 different training providers to deliver 93 different 

apprenticeship standards – as at 10 March 2022 
• Use of new apprenticeships standards e.g. Social Work, 

Occupational Therapy, Public Health, Environmental Health, 
Senior People Professional, Leisure Team Member, Community 
Sport and Health Officer 

• 71% of apprentices retained in employment with the council 
(excluding schools) – as at 10 March 2022 

• Recognised in the government’s Top 100 Apprenticeship 
Employers List  

• Mapping of relevant apprenticeship standards to all service areas 
to maximise the use of apprenticeships for new and existing 
employees 

• ‘Apprenticeship first’ approach to qualifications introduced to 
enhance the skills, knowledge and competence in occupational 
areas 

Page 486



• Embedded apprenticeships into workforce planning to support a 
‘grow our own’ approach especially for specialist and hard to fill 
posts 

• Regional local authority apprenticeship group established to share 
best practice 

 

The Apprenticeship Strategy – Strategic Context, Vision and Aims 
 
21 The strategy sets out the strategic context including: 
 

 Meeting current and future skills needs – with apprenticeships being 
a key element to support workforce planning, ‘grow our own’ talent, 
support the council’s wider strategic commitment to sustainability and to 
improve the employment prospects/social mobility of local people; 

 Government policy – to address the shortage in skills and investment 
in the UKs future workforce and the introduction of an apprenticeship 
levy and public sector apprenticeship target; 

 Supporting the council’s strategic objectives – including the wider 
regeneration approach, educational improvement priorities and social 
value obligations. 

 
22 An apprenticeship levy was introduced by the government in April 2017 

and the council is required to contribute 0.5% of its total paybill (for 
services and schools) to the levy.  The council’s apprenticeship levy can 
be used for training costs for recognised apprenticeship standards.  The 
council has paid £9M into the apprenticeship levy, spent £4.5M and a 
further £3M is committed for on-going apprenticeships. 
 

23 The vision for the apprenticeship strategy is to: 
 

Increase skills through apprenticeship opportunities for new and 
existing employees across the council to provide people from all 
backgrounds with greater opportunities to progress their careers 
and enable the council to benefit from a skilled, motivated and 
flexible workforce. 

 
24 The six apprenticeship strategy aims are to: 
 

(i) Continue to develop the council’s apprenticeship programme 

to increase the number of high-quality apprenticeship 

opportunities across the council 

 

 We will work to develop an apprenticeship culture by utilising 

apprenticeships as a tool to support strategic workforce planning.  

Page 487



 We will increase the range and vocational areas in which 

apprenticeships are offered. 

 

(ii) Ensure effective systems are in place to support apprentices 

and to monitor the quality of the apprenticeship experience 

 

 We will make sure apprentices receive high quality training and 

support and feel engaged with the council and the work it does.  

 We will develop and apply robust systems for monitoring the 

quality of the apprenticeship experience, ensuring that 

improvements are implemented in a timely and rigorous manner. 

 

(iii) Widen participation in the council’s apprenticeship 

programme, by targeting and maximising opportunities for 

those who face the most challenges to accessing 

employment 

 

 As the corporate parent we will support care leavers to access 

apprenticeship opportunities, identify opportunities to engage with 

young people and adults including those with special educational 

needs and disabilities (SEND) and work with other disadvantaged 

groups e.g. long-term unemployed, returners to the labour 

market, people with a disability and people from Black, Asian and 

Minority Ethnic (BAME) backgrounds. 

 

(iv) Support people to progress into employment through the 

apprenticeship route 

 

 We will work with apprentices to support them to develop the 

skills they need to move to the next stage of their career. 

 

(v) Work in partnership with Members, Trade Unions, training 

providers, suppliers, businesses and other local authorities 

to promote and deliver apprenticeship opportunities 

 

 We will work in partnership to develop and promote 

apprenticeship opportunities.   

 

(vi) Engage with maintained schools to ensure they maximise    

the benefits from the levy and promote apprenticeship 

opportunities 

 

Page 488



 We will continue to provide advice and information on 

apprenticeships that are relevant to schools such as Teachers, 

Teaching Assistants, School Business Managers, Early Year 

Practitioners to develop opportunities to address skills gaps/future 

workforce needs and to maximise the use of the levy.   

 
25 The strategy is supported by a detailed action plan to deliver the above 

vision and aims. 
 

26 The proposed Apprenticeship Strategy 2022 – 2025 is attached as 
Appendix 2. 
 

27 An equality impact assessment has been completed and this is attached 
as Appendix 3, which shows that the proposed strategy will deliver on the 
council’s corporate equality duty and priorities as set out within the 
Council Plan.  
 

Conclusion 
 
28 The updated Apprenticeship Strategy sets out the council’s 

apprenticeship vision for apprenticeships together with six aims to 
further develop our apprenticeship programme. 
 

29 The adoption of the update Apprenticeship Strategy provides a 
framework within which the vision and aims can be delivered and 
aligned to the ambitions of the Council Plan, whilst working in 
partnership with Trade Unions and the workforce to deliver and embed 
the various actions within the Strategy. 
 

 

Contact:  Alison Lazazzera   Tel: 03000 264473 

Page 489



 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 

Legal Implications 
The initiatives set out within this report will ensure the Council are acting in 
accordance with ESFA funding rules. 

 
Finance 
The strategy will support the Council to maximise the apprenticeship levy.  
There are no additional financial implications associated with the strategy. 
 

Staffing 
The Apprenticeship Strategy will be co-ordinated by the OD/WFD Team within 
People and Talent Management, Resources.   
  

Risk  
The proposals set out within the Strategy will enable the Council to proactively 
manage any related risks. 

 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty   
An equality impact assessment has been completed and this is attached as 
Appendix 3. The Strategy will deliver on the council’s corporate equality duty 
and priorities as set out within the Council Plan.   
 

Climate Change 
The Strategy will support climate change by ensuring the approach is filtered 
through apprenticeship initiatives. 
 

Accommodation 
None 
 

Crime and Disorder 
None 
 

Human Rights 
None 
 

Procurement 
None 
 

Disability Issues 
The Strategy will support the ongoing work in relation to our responsibilities 
relating to equality and diversity. 

Page 490



 

Consultation 
Consultation has taken place with recognised Trade Unions. Consultation on 
individual initiatives will take place with employee representatives and staff 
network groups. 

Page 491



 

Appendix 2:  Apprenticeship Strategy 2022 – 2025  

 

Attached as a separate document 

Page 492



 

Appendix 3:  Equality Impact Assessment  

 

Attached as a separate document 

 

Page 493



This page is intentionally left blank



 
1 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Durham County Council 
Apprenticeship Strategy   

2022 - 2025 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 

Page 495



 
2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

“I’m excited to start my career in 
accountancy and I’m looking 
forward to meeting new people 
and receiving a regular wage” 
 
Accountancy Apprentice - Josh 

Page 496



 
3 

Foreword 

The council’s apprenticeship strategy and programme are an integral part of the council’s 
approach to address current and future skills needs.  Apprenticeships help us to attract and retain 
the very best talent and to benefit from a skilled, motivated and flexible workforce. 
 
To support the delivery of our Council Plan and Workforce Strategy, we are committed to investing 
in the continued expansion and development of our apprenticeship programme.  Through 
increasing the range and number of apprenticeship opportunities, we can help to improve the skills 
of our own workforce together with the skills base across the County to help create more 
community health/wealth. 
 
The world of work continues to change together with how public services are delivered.  The 
Covid-19 pandemic has had a major impact on how we work and as we continue to respond and 
transform we will ensure that the council has a workforce capable of meeting the needs of its 
changing communities and those that live in them.  Apprenticeships will continue to play a vital 
role in ensuring we can respond effectively to those changes. 
 
This apprenticeship strategy identifies how we will use apprenticeships to attract new talent to the 
organisation as well as identifying opportunities for the development of existing employees aligned 
to our strategic approach to workforce planning, to ensure we have a workforce capable of 
meeting our communities’ needs both now and in the future. 
 
Apprenticeships also provide us with an opportunity to improve the diversity and inclusion of our 
workforce by providing people from all backgrounds with a greater opportunity to progress with 
their careers.    
 
 

        

 
 
John Hewitt       Amanda Hopgood    
Chief Executive      Leader of the Council   
     
  

Page 497



 
4 

 
 

1 Introduction 

The council introduced its first Apprenticeship Strategy in April 2019, this detailed what we wanted 
to achieve as an employer and the positive action we would take to increase the number and 
range of apprenticeships within the council as part of our wider Workforce Strategy. 
 
Our achievements from April 2019 to March 2022 include: 
 

• 627 new apprenticeships and 622 upskilling opportunities created (services and 
schools) – as at 10 March 2022 

• Working with 31 different training providers to deliver 93 different apprenticeship 
standards – as at 10 March 2022 

• Use of new apprenticeships standards e.g. Social Work, Occupational Therapy, 
Public Health, Environmental Health, Senior People Professional, Leisure Team 
Member, Community Sport and Health Officer 

• 71% of apprentices retained in employment with the council (excluding schools) – as 
at 10 March 2022 

• Recognised in the government’s Top 100 Apprenticeship Employers List  
• Mapping of relevant apprenticeship standards to all service areas to maximise the 

use of apprenticeships for new and existing employees 
• ‘Apprenticeship first’ approach to qualifications introduced to enhance the skills, 

knowledge and competence in occupational areas 
• Embedded apprenticeships into workforce planning to support a ‘grow our own’ 

approach especially for specialist and hard to fill posts 
• Regional local authority apprenticeship group established to share best practice 

 
The Apprenticeship Strategy has been updated to reflect our continued commitment to 
progressing our apprenticeship programme as part of our Workforce Strategy which is linked to 
our strategic workforce planning approach and people strategies. 
 
The strategy embeds our OPEN values of outcome focused, people focused, empowering and 
innovative, by investing in our employee’s skills and development to equip them to deliver high 
quality services for our communities and to achieve the best outcomes. 
 
This strategy also aligns to our council plan which is the key corporate planning document for the 
organisation – setting out our direction for the medium term and showing how we will take forward 
our ambitions for our economy, our people, our communities, and our environment. The 
council plan also outlines how we will make our council more efficient and fit for the future. 
 
The Apprenticeship Strategy specifically links to our council plan ambition for a thriving economy 
with more and better jobs and fewer people suffering from the hardships of poverty and 
deprivation, most notably through the strategic objectives to give young people access to good 
quality education, training, and employment, and to help all people into rewarding work. It is also 
pivotal to our council ambition to create a workforce for the future. 
 
The strategy is also aligned to our Workforce, Regeneration, Procurement, Special Educational 
Needs and Disabilities (SEND) and Autism strategies together with the council’s strategic 
approach to supporting and sustaining care leavers and people with disabilities in employment.  
 

Page 498



 
5 

We work with a range of organisations and services both internal and external to the council, to 
deliver and promote the benefits of apprenticeships, and link apprenticeships to career pathways, 
workforce development and workforce planning for new and existing employees. 
 
The strategy will be used to inform workforce development plans and to help identify the actions 
that service areas will take in support of the strategy to meet the specific skills challenges that they 
face. The apprenticeship programme also supports and complements other workforce 
development initiatives to support entry to employment, including work experience, traineeships 
and graduate programmes as part of the council’s wider talent management approach. 
 
 

2 The council’s apprenticeship vision 

Increase skills through apprenticeship opportunities for new and existing 
employees across the council to provide people from all backgrounds with 

greater opportunities to progress their careers and enable the council to 
benefit from a skilled, motivated and flexible workforce 

 
Apprenticeships will form an integral part of workforce and succession planning to ensure we have 
the right people with the right skills at the right time to deliver high quality services and to build a 
council for the future. 
 
Apprenticeships provide the council with the opportunity to: 
 

 Meet the priorities of the community such as tackling local unemployment, NEET (not in 
employment, education or training), skills issues and contributing to our strategic ambitions 
and objectives. 

 Influence suppliers and partners to employ and train local people by promoting 
apprenticeships via social value commitments during procurement and planning projects. 

 Support the council’s ‘corporate parenting’ responsibility by offering employability 
opportunities to care leavers. 

 Set an example to the wider community as both an exemplary employer and commissioner 
of services. 

 Grow talent and use strategic workforce planning to ensure the council has the skills 
needed to meet the needs of our communities both now and in the future. 

 To be an inclusive employer and further develop our workforce diversity for example by 
bringing young people into an ageing workforce and people with SEND as a Disability 
Confident Leader. 

 

3 Strategic context 

3.1 Meeting current and future skills needs 

The council aspires to be an employer of choice, ensuring that it attracts, develops and retains the 
most diverse, creative and innovative individuals with the key skills and abilities required now and 
for the future.  Apprenticeships can support this by offering a wide range of career opportunities for 
all ages. 
 
Through our strategic workforce planning approach, apprenticeships are a key element to support 
workforce planning within service areas and are used alongside the wider corporate workforce 
development offer to develop current and future skills. 
 

Page 499



 
6 

We also have an ageing workforce and so adopting a more strategic approach to ‘growing our 
own’ talent has become increasingly important, and apprenticeships will form a key part of the 
strategy to enable us to meet our corporate and service objectives both now and in the future. 
 
We have adopted an ‘apprenticeship first’ approach to qualifications so employees can also 
benefit from developing the required competence in their occupational area as part of an 
apprenticeship. 
 
The council’s apprenticeship programme aims to support the council’s wider strategic commitment 
to sustainably, improve the employment prospects and social mobility of local people, and to 
strengthen the skills base of our existing and future workforce by providing high quality jobs and 
learning opportunities with related qualifications which are embedded in career progression routes. 
 
 

 

3.2 Government policy 

The government introduced a number of apprenticeship reforms in April 2017 to support an 
ambition to address the shortage in skills and investment in the UKs future workforce.  This 
included the introduction of an Apprenticeship Levy which is payable by all employers with a wage 
bill in excess of £3 million per annum.  This is paid as a 0.5% tax on the employer’s payroll. 
 
The levy is a significant cost to the council, it is therefore imperative to ensure that it is utilised as 
effectively as possible. 
 
The public sector apprenticeship target was also introduced by the government in April 2017 which 
sets a target for any public sector employer in England with at least 250 employees to employ an 
average of 2.3% of their employees as new apprentice starts on an annual basis. 
 
The target is for new apprenticeship starts which includes both newly employed apprentices and 
any existing employees that have begun an apprenticeship.  The government considers the duty 
to ‘have regard’ to the target to mean that in making workforce planning decisions, public bodies 
should actively consider apprenticeships, either for new recruits or as part of career development 
for existing employees. 
 
All maintained schools (excluding Voluntary Aided schools) pay into the apprenticeship levy and 
are part of the public sector target for apprentices.   
 

3.3 Supporting the council’s strategic priorities 

As one of the largest employers in the North East, providing apprenticeships and routes into 
apprenticeships within the council is an integral part of the council’s wider regeneration approach 
and also supports educational improvement priorities by helping to raise skills aspirations. 
 

“I am just so grateful to progress my career while 
remaining in the job I love.  The Social Worker 
apprenticeship gives me the best of both worlds as 
well as helping me gain additional experience and 
knowledge” 
 
Social Worker Assistant - Esther 

Page 500



 
7 

In the period July 2020 to June 2021, there were around 16,100 people of working age classed as 
unemployed in County Durham.  Of these around 5,200 were aged between 16 and 24 years, this 
relates to 14% of the resident economically active population of the same age for County Durham 
which is lower than both the North East (15.1%) and national average (16.9%) (ONS).  However, 
this is up from youth unemployment pre-pandemic which was 8.3% for the same period in 
2019.  At its peak over the pandemic, youth unemployment reached a peak of 24.9% in County 
Durham in the period July 2020 to June 2021.  
 
In particular the challenges of finding work impacts on certain groups including young people, care 
leavers, long-term unemployed people, returners to the labour market, people with disabilities and 
people from Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) backgrounds.  This was heightened during 
the Covid-19 pandemic. 
 
Providing opportunities for existing employees to undertake apprenticeships and developing an 
apprenticeship culture at all levels within the council will help to raise skills within the workforce in 
support of skills and wider workforce planning priorities around recruitment and retention and 
improve the age diversity profile of the workforce by attracting younger people into 
apprenticeships. 
 
Apprenticeships can be an alternative option to university whereby young people can undertake 
structured training whilst earning money and working towards nationally recognised qualifications 
on which to build a future career.   
 
The Organisational Development/Workforce Development Team within People and Talent 
Management will work closely with colleagues in other services including Economic Development, 
Education, Business Durham, Children’s Social Care and Corporate Procurement to ensure that 
the council’s strategic response to apprenticeships as an employer is closely aligned with the 
council’s wider strategic priorities to supporting local people into sustainable employment. 
 
In line with our social value obligations to drive the economic, social and environmental benefits 
for communities when making decisions about how contracts are awarded and budgets are 
invested. When employing a contractor factors such as the businesses' environmental policies, 
apprenticeship programmes and community outreach work are taken into account, alongside 
considerations such as quality, price and timescales for delivery. 
 
The County Durham Pound project builds on this to drive forward recovery measures and 
accelerate our work to develop a more sustainable local economy. This is being achieved by 
working with developers and suppliers to identify social value and wealth building opportunities.    
 
In addition, we want to be an ambassador for apprenticeships in the county and play an active role 
in reducing the employment equality gap and encouraging business to support apprenticeships 
and recognise their value.  This will include introducing a levy transfer policy to support Small and 
Medium Employers (SMEs) who don’t have an apprenticeship levy pot to fund training. 
 

4 Apprenticeship programme aims 

It is important that the council is able to attract and retain apprentices and that we develop an 

apprenticeship programme that: 

 Supports our workforce skills needs. 

 Supports the council’s strategic ambitions and objectives. 

 Creates opportunities to provide more and better jobs and improve the skills base in the 

county. 

Page 501



 
8 

 Maximises the use of our apprenticeship levy. 

 Has regard to the public sector apprenticeship target. 

 

Our Apprenticeship Strategy aims are to: 

 

1. Continue to develop the council’s apprenticeship programme to increase the number 

of high-quality apprenticeship opportunities across the council 

 

 We will work to develop an apprenticeship culture by utilising apprenticeships as a 

tool to support strategic workforce planning.  

 We will increase the range and vocational areas in which apprenticeships are 

offered. 

 

2. Ensure effective systems are in place to support apprentices and to monitor the 

quality of the apprenticeship experience 

 

 We will make sure apprentices receive high quality training and support and feel 

engaged with the council and the work it does.   

 We will develop and apply robust systems for monitoring the quality of the 

apprenticeship experience, ensuring that improvements are implemented in a timely 

and rigorous manner. 

 

3. Widen participation in the council’s apprenticeship programme, by targeting and 

maximising opportunities for those who face the most challenges to accessing 

employment 

 

 As the corporate parent we will support care leavers to access apprenticeship 

opportunities, identify opportunities to engage with young people and adults 

including those with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) and work with 

other disadvantaged groups e.g. long-term unemployed, returners to the labour 

market, people with a disability and people from Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic 

(BAME) backgrounds. 

 

4. Support people to progress into employment through the apprenticeship route 

 

 We will work with apprentices to support them to develop the skills they need to 

move to the next stage of their career. 

 

5. Work in partnership with Members, Trade Unions, training providers, suppliers, 

businesses and other local authorities to promote and deliver apprenticeship 

opportunities 

 

 We will work in partnership to develop and promote apprenticeship opportunities.   

 

6. Engage with maintained schools to ensure they maximise the benefits from the levy 

and promote apprenticeship opportunities 

 

 We will continue to provide advice and information on apprenticeships that are 

relevant to schools such as Teachers, Teaching Assistants, School Business 

Page 502



 
9 

Managers, Early Year Practitioners to develop opportunities to address skills 

gaps/future workforce needs and to maximise the use of the levy.   

 

5 Performance monitoring 

This apprenticeship strategy is underpinned by an Apprenticeship Delivery Action Plan which sets 
out how the aims of the apprenticeship programme will be delivered.  The delivery plan will be 
monitored by the Head of People and Talent Management and progress will be reported to 
Corporate Management Team on a bi-annual basis through the Apprenticeship Activity Report. 
 
In accordance with the public sector duty requirements the council will also publish annual data 
relating to their progress in meeting the 2.3% apprenticeship target set by the government.  Details 
of the council’s public sector target - public sector apprenticeship target. 
 
 

Page 503



 
10 

Action plan for the delivery of Durham County Council’s Corporate Apprenticeship 

Programme 2022 - 2025 
 

Action 1: To continue to develop the council’s apprenticeship programme to increase the occupational range and number of high 

quality apprenticeship opportunities across the council. 
 

Actions Responsibility Timescale Update/Progress 

Work with managers to identify apprenticeship 

opportunities as part of workforce planning and a 

‘grow our own’ approach to addressing skills 

shortages/hard to fill posts 

Head of People and 

Talent Management 

March 2025 Embedded into workforce development plans 

for each service area 

Undertake an annual recruitment programme 

which advertises apprenticeship opportunities to 

attract new talent to the council 

Head of People and 

Talent Management 

March 2025 Annual rolling programme 

Review the recruitment and selection process to 

ensure suitability for attracting apprentices 

Head of People and 

Talent Management 

May 2022 To be undertaken as part of the Recruitment 

and Selection review 

Introduce apprenticeships in additional vocational 

areas for existing and new apprenticeship 

standards 

Head of People and 

Talent Management 

March 2025 All new apprenticeship standards mapped and 

promoted to service areas including when new 

standards become available 

 

Increase higher and degree level apprenticeships 
to aid succession planning and address skills 
shortages  
 

Head of People and 

Talent Management 

March 2025 Links to graduate recruitment programmes for 

Level 7 apprenticeships 

Create career pathways linked to apprenticeship 
standards to support workforce and succession 
planning 

Head of People and 

Talent Management 

March 2024 Embedded in the workforce planning approach 

P
age 504



 
11 

Develop pathways to apprenticeships through 
strengthening approaches to work 
experience/placements, traineeships, supported 
internships, T-Levels etc. 
 

Head of People and 
Talent Management 

March 2023 To develop and promote offer available 
 

 

Action 2: To develop and apply robust systems to support apprentices and monitor the quality of the apprenticeship experience. 

 

Actions Responsibility Timescale Update/Progress 

Support apprentices with an effective induction 
programme, apprenticeship forums, 
communication and development programmes 

Head of People and 
Talent Management 

March 2025 Programmes in place and will be further 
strengthened 

Support managers with advice and guidance to 
ensure a quality apprenticeship experience 

Head of People and 
Talent Management 

March 2025 Apprenticeship guidance for managers in 
place 

Undertake independent apprenticeship reviews 
to identify if the apprentice is being provided with 
a structured work programme and if they require 
any additional support in the workplace/with their 
training to make the apprenticeship a fulfilling 
and successful experience 

Head of People and 
Talent Management 

March 2025 Independent apprenticeships reviews held 
every six months 

Strengthen the approach to mentoring of 
apprentices to ensue all mentors understand and 
are supported in their role 

Head of People and 
Talent Management 

March 2025 Mentoring training in place 

Monitor progress of apprentices and completion 
of apprenticeships through on-going liaison with 
training providers, apprentices and managers 
 

Head of People and 
Talent Management 

March 2025  

Set up process to evaluate completed 
apprenticeships for satisfaction levels and 
identify learning and opportunities for continuous 
improvement of the Apprenticeship Programme 

Head of People and 
Talent Management 

June 2022  

Strengthen processes to monitor the quality of 
training providers 

Head of People and 
Talent Management 

June 2022  P
age 505



 
12 

Appoint apprentice ambassadors/spokespersons 
and link into the National Apprenticeship Service 
Young Apprenticeship Ambassador Network 

Head of People and 
Talent Management 

March 2025  

Share apprenticeship success stories and 
development through a variety of communication 
channels with all employees and managers 

Head of 
Communications and 
Marketing 
 

March 2025 Success stories published using appropriate 
media channels including: Buzz / DC News/ 
Press releases and social media 

Promote internal, regional and national 
apprenticeship awards to recognise 
achievements and celebrate success 

Head of People and 
Talent Management 

March 2025 Recognised in the Government’s Top 10 
Employers list in 2021 
Supports National Apprenticeship Awards 

Review the apprenticeship guidance for 
managers including pay rates and support for 
apprentices 
 

Head of People and 
Talent Management 

March 2025  

 

Action 3: To widen participation in the council’s apprenticeship programme, by targeting and maximising opportunities for those 

who face the most challenges to accessing employment. 
 

Actions Responsibility Timescale Update/Progress 

Advertise apprenticeship vacancies via a wide 
range of channels to reach target groups 

Head of People and 
Talent Management 

March 2025 Vacancies advertised through NEJP, National 
Apprenticeship Service website, 
schools/colleges/universities and social media 

Strengthen links with schools, colleges and 
universities to promote apprenticeships and 
careers at the council   

Head of People and 
Talent Management 

September 2022 Programme in place for the attendance at 
career events 

Support the council’s corporate parenting 
responsibilities by ensuring apprenticeships are 
available and accessible to care leavers including 
ring-fencing suitable apprenticeships 

Head of People and 
Talent Management 

March 2025 Guaranteed interview scheme in place for care 
leavers who meet the essential criteria 
Traineeships in place to prepare Care Leavers 
for an apprenticeship 
Ring-fenced opportunities identified 

To develop a structured approach to broaden 
opportunities for people with special educational 
needs and disabilities including ring-fencing 

Head of People and 
Talent 
Management/Strategic 

March 2025 Supported through the council’s DuhamEnable 
Service 

P
age 506



 
13 

suitable apprenticeships for the council’s 
DurhamEnable clients 

Manager Progression 
and Learning 

 

Action 4: To support people to progress into employment through the apprenticeship route. 

 

Actions Responsibility Timescale Update/Progress 

Strengthen tracking systems to monitor retention 
and achievement 
 

Head of People and 
Talent Management 

June 2022  

Work with managers to support the retention of 
apprentices within the council  
 

Head of People and 
Talent Management 

March 2025  

Equip apprentices with employability skills and 
ensure they have the skills needed to make that 
next move in their career 

Head of People and 
Talent Management 

March 2025  

Conduct exit interviews with apprentices leaving 
the council to ascertain actual progression routes 

Head of People and 
Talent Management 

March 2025  

 

Action 5: To work in partnerships with Members, Trade Unions, training providers, suppliers, businesses and other local authorities 

to promote and deliver apprenticeship opportunities. 
 

Actions Responsibility Timescale Update/Progress 

Work with elected Members to promote the 
apprenticeship programme across the county 

Head of People and 
Talent Management 

March 2025 Members attend corporate apprenticeship 
induction events 

Work with recognised trades unions to promote 
apprenticeships, encourage take-up and continue 
to develop the council’s approach 

Head of People and 
Talent Management 

March 2025 Trade Unions attend corporate apprenticeship 
induction events 
Updates on the apprenticeship programme 
given at the Corporate Consultative Forum 

Engage with training providers to ensure quality of 
apprenticeship training provision to meet the 
identified skills gaps within the council 

Head of People and 
Talent Management 

March 2025  

Engage with trailblazer groups to develop new 
apprenticeship standards to meet future needs 

Head of People and 
Talent Management 

March 2025 Representation on trailblazer group to develop 
the Social Worker Apprenticeship Standard 

P
age 507



 
14 

Identify opportunities to engage with other local 
authorities in partnership working on specific 
apprenticeship projects 

Head of People and 
Talent Management 

March 2025 Supported by the regional local authority 
apprenticeship group 

Identify social value opportunities via procurement 
and contract management activities  

Chief Procurement 
Officer 

March 2025 Updates based on delivered outcomes 

Introduce an apprenticeship levy transfer policy to 
ensure the levy is fully utilised and supports other 
organisations to deliver apprenticeship 
opportunities 

Head of People and 
Talent Management 

April 2023  

 

Action 6: To engage with maintained schools to ensure they maximise the benefits from the levy and promote apprenticeship 

opportunities. 
 

Actions Responsibility Timescale Update/Progress 

Support maintained schools to maximise 
apprenticeship opportunities and access levy 
funds to meet skills gaps and plan future 
workforce needs 

Head of People and 
Talent Management 

March 2025 LGA Toolkit for Schools 

Establish a working group to include Head 
Teachers and School Business Managers to help 
support the development of an apprenticeship 
programme and promote the value of 
apprenticeships across maintained schools 

Head of People and 
Talent Management 

September 2022  

 
 
 

P
age 508



 

For advice regarding the application of this document please contact:  

HR Advice and Support    hradviceandsupport@durham.gov.uk   

 
 
 
 
 

Our values  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Durham County Council complies with all relevant statutory obligations. Personal information processed by the Council will be 
handled in accordance with the council's privacy statement. The Human Resources privacy notice, a copy of which may be accessed 
via the intranet, provides more specific information on the data collected and how it is handled. 

 
If you have any concerns about how your data is handled, please contact either the Data Protection Officer at dpo@durham.gov.uk 
or the Information Commissioner’s Office.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Last review 

April 2022 

Next review 

April 2025 

Author 

HR OD/WFD 

Version 

V2.0 

Page 509



This page is intentionally left blank



Durham County Council Equality Impact Assessment 

The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010) requires Durham County Council 

to have ‘due regard’ to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and 

victimisation, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations between 

people from different groups. Completion of this template allows us to provide a 

written record of our equality analysis and demonstrate due regard and must be 

used as part of decisions making processes with relevance to equality. 

Please contact equalities@durham.gov.uk for any necessary support. 

Section One: Description and Screening 

Service/Team or Section HR OD/WFD Team 

Lead Officer Julie Burgess 

Subject of the impact 
assessment 

Apprenticeship Strategy 2022 - 2025 

Report date 
(Cabinet/CMT/Mgt team etc) 

8 February 2022 

MTFP Reference (if 
relevant) 

 

Start Date 31 January 2022 

Review Date On-going 

 

Subject of the Impact Assessment 

Please give a brief description of the policy, proposal or practice as appropriate (a 
copy of the subject can be attached or insert a web-link) 

The council’s apprenticeship strategy and programme are an integral part of the council’s 

approach to address current and future skills needs. Apprenticeships help us to attract 

and retain the very best talent and to benefit from a skilled, motivated and flexible 

workforce. 

 

The council introduced its first Apprenticeship Strategy in April 2019. The Apprenticeship 

Strategy 2022 – 2025 has been updated to reflect our continued commitment to 

progressing our apprenticeship programme as part of our Workforce Strategy which is 

linked to our strategic workforce planning approach and people strategies. 

To support the delivery of our Council Plan and Workforce Strategy, we are committed to 

investing in the continued expansion and development of our apprenticeship programme.  

Through increasing the range and number of apprenticeship opportunities, we can help to 

Page 511



improve the skills of our own workforce together with the skills base across the County to 

help create more community health/wealth. 

 

The apprenticeship strategy identifies how we will use apprenticeships to attract new 

talent to the organisation as well as identifying opportunities for the development of 

existing employees aligned to our strategic approach to workforce planning, to ensure we 

have a workforce capable of meeting our communities’ needs both now and in the future. 

The strategy embeds our OPEN values of outcome focused, people focused, empowering 

and innovative, by investing in our employee’s skills and development to equip them to 

deliver high quality services for our communities and to achieve the best outcomes. 

 
There are currently 124 service based apprentices within the scheme (excluding schools)  

and 221 employees within the upskilling programme. 

 
 

 

Who are the main people impacted and/or stakeholders? (e.g. general public, staff, 
members, specific clients/service users, community representatives): 

All council employees, DCC services, HR OD/WFD Team, people within County Durham, 

DurhamLearn, various colleges and external training providers. 

 

 

Screening 

Is there any actual or potential negative or positive impact on the following 
protected characteristics1? 

 

Protected Characteristic Negative Impact 

Indicate: Yes, No or 
Unsure 

Positive Impact 

Indicate: Yes, No or 
Unsure 

Age Y – must be age 16+ 

yrs 

Y – no upper age limit 

Disability N Y – available to all 

Gender reassignment N Y 

 
1 https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/equality-act/protected-characteristics 

Page 512



Marriage and civil partnership 
(‘eliminate discrimination’ 
employment only) 

N Y 

Pregnancy and maternity N Y 

Race N Y 

Religion or Belief N Y 

Sex N Y 

Sexual orientation N Y 

 

Please provide brief details of any potential to cause discrimination or negative 
impact. Record full details and any mitigating actions in section 2 of this 
assessment. 

Although the apprenticeship scheme is open to all, current data based on recruitment 

information 2021, indicates a low take up in relation to disabled, female and BAME 

candidates. Therefore, we need to ensure that our strategy and action plan helps to 

alleviate any potential impact and helps to encourage applicants from a wide range of 

candidates. 

In relation to age, apprenticeships are open to anyone over the age of 16 years old and 

there is not upper age limit. Within our current apprenticeship programme, 83% are aged 

16-25. Recruitment data based on 2021, also mirrors this trend as it indicates that those 

applying to positions are mainly young people. Therefore, we need to consider raising 

awareness of these opportunities to older age groups within the county, through our 

advertising and marketing campaigns. 

Although apprenticeships are open to all, the 2021 recruitment data shows that 8.5% who 

applied, indicated that they had a disability. Of those currently within the programme, 

5.6% have indicated that they have a disability. We therefore understand that there are a 

number of actions which we need to put in place to help encourage and promote 

recruitment and appointment of disabled candidates. The following is specified in the 

apprenticeship strategy action plan: 

‘To develop a structured approach to broaden opportunities for people with special educational 

needs and disabilities including ring-fencing suitable apprenticeships for the council’s 

DurhamEnable clients’.  

This action along with ongoing work to review the council’s overall recruitment and 

selection process, will hopefully increase the number of disabled applicants applying and 

appointed into positions. 

In 2021, the number of male, females applying varied, with 81% of males applying to the 

apprenticeship programme.  Currently we have 78% male, and 22% female within the 

Page 513



programme. Going forward we need to ensure that our apprenticeship programme 

continues to target both male and female applicants, and perhaps work to break 

stereotypes on certain traditional male/female dominated sectors, such as 

engineering/care. 

Figures for those BAME applying to apprenticeship positions show that 3.5% applied. As 

previously mentioned, we need to ensure that the programme is actively promoted to 

certain groups were there are underrepresented, to ensure we widen participation. 

 

 

Please provide brief details of positive impact. How will this policy/proposal 
promote our commitment to our legal responsibilities under the public 
sectorequality duty to: 

 eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation,  

 advance equality of opportunity, and  

 foster good relations between people from different groups? 
 

As one of the largest employers in the North East, providing apprenticeships and routes 

into apprenticeships within the council is an integral part of the council’s wider 

regeneration approach and also supports educational improvement priorities by helping 

to raise skills aspirations. 

 

The challenges of finding work impacts on certain groups including young people, care 

leavers, long-term unemployed people, returners to the labour market, people with 

disabilities and people from Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) backgrounds.  This 

was heightened during the Covid-19 pandemic. 

 

As the corporate parent we will support care leavers to access apprenticeship 

opportunities, identify opportunities to engage with young people and adults including 

those with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) and work with other 

disadvantaged groups e.g. long-term unemployed, returners to the labour market, people 

with a disability and people from Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) backgrounds. 

 

The Organisational Development/Workforce Development Team within People and Talent 

Management will work closely with colleagues in other services including Economic 

Development, Education, Business Durham, Children’s Social Care and Corporate 

Procurement to ensure that the council’s strategic response to apprenticeships as an 

employer is closely aligned with the council’s wider strategic priorities to supporting local 

people into sustainable employment. 

 

We want to be an ambassador for apprenticeships in the county and play an active role in 

reducing the employment equality gap and encouraging business to support 

apprenticeships and recognise their value.  This will include introducing a levy transfer 

Page 514



policy to support Small and Medium Employers (SMEs) who don’t have an apprenticeship 

levy pot to fund training. 

 

Providing opportunities for existing employees to undertake apprenticeships and 

developing an apprenticeship culture at all levels within the council will help to raise skills 

within the workforce in support of skills and wider workforce planning priorities around 

recruitment and retention and improve the age diversity profile of the workforce by 

attracting younger people into apprenticeships. 

 

Evidence 

What evidence do you have to support your data analysis and any findings?  

Please outline any data you have and/or proposed sources (e.g. service user or census 
data, research findings. Highlight any data gaps and say whether or not you propose to carry 
out consultation. Record your detailed analysis, in relation to the impacted protected 
characteristics, in the following section of this assessment. 

Our achievements from April 2017 to March 2022 include: 

 

• 618 new apprenticeships and 604 upskilling opportunities created (services and 

schools) – as at 17 January 2022 

• Working with 26 different training providers to deliver 92 different apprenticeship 

standards – as at 17 January 2022 

• Use of new apprenticeships standards e.g. Social Work, Occupational Therapy, Public 

Health, Environmental Health, Senior People Professional, Leisure Team Member, 

Community Sport and Health Officer 

• 72% of apprentices retained in employment with the council (excluding schools) – as 

at December 2021 

• Recognised in the government’s Top 100 Apprenticeship Employers List  

• Mapping of relevant apprenticeship standards to all service areas to maximise the use 

of apprenticeships for new and existing employees 

• ‘Apprenticeship first’ approach to qualifications introduced to enhance the skills, 

knowledge and competence in occupational areas 

• Embedded apprenticeships into workforce planning to support a ‘grow our own’ 

approach especially for specialist and hard to fill posts 

• Regional local authority apprenticeship group established to share best practice 

 

As a council we have 8,291 employees, 62.81% female and 37.2% male. We have 221 employees 

currently within the upskilling programme. Although the programme is open to all employees, and 

brings many benefits to both the individual and council, it will have a potential positive impact on 

young people. It will allow them to progress with their career as it allows the opportunity for gaining 

further qualifications and allowing wider job opportunities and future promotions.  

 

Evidence from our gender pay gap report identifies that 52% of female employees are paid in the 

two lower quartiles. Therefore, the upskilling programme will also have a positive impact in relation 

Page 515



to providing the opportunity for women to upskill and train, therefore having a positive impact on 

career and job opportunities, and in turn eventually having a positive impact in relation to the 

gender pay gap difference. 

 

 

The table below outlines the number of apprenticeship posts recruited since the introduction 

of the apprenticeship levy: 

Year  No of apprentices 

 Services Schools 

2017/18 48 58 

2018/19 75 79 

2019/20 80 60 

2020/21 52 35 

2021/22 66 66 

Total 321 298 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Equalities data for 2021 recruitment drive: 

 

Page 516



 

 

 

Screening Summary 

On the basis of this screening is there: 

 

Confirm which 
refers (Y/N) 

Are you proceeding to full impact assessment (sections 2&3 of 
this template) based on the screening (section 1) information 
provided? 

 Y  

 

Sign Off 

Job Title

T
o

ta
l N

o
 o

f 
a

p
p

lic
a

n
ts Y N

P
re

fe
r 

n
o

t 
to

 s
a

y M F

M
o

th
e

r

P
a

re
n

t

N
o

 A
n

sw
e

r 
G

iv
e

n

B
u

d
d

h
is

m

C
h

ri
st

ia
n

it
y

Is
la

m

N
o

n
e

Si
k

h
is

m

O
th

e
r

P
re

fe
r 

n
o

t 
to

 s
a

y

B
is

e
xu

a
l

G
a

y
 m

a
n

H
e

te
ro

se
x

u
a

l

Le
sb

ia
n

 /
 g

a
y 

w
o

m
a

n

O
th

e
r

P
re

fe
r 

n
o

t 
to

 s
a

y

A
n

y 
o

th
e

r 
A

si
a

n
 b

a
ck

gr
o

u
n

d

A
n

y 
o

th
e

r 
M

ix
e

d
 b

a
ck

gr
o

u
n

d

A
n

y 
o

th
e

r 
W

h
it

e
 b

a
ck

gr
o

u
n

d

A
ra

b
 o

r 
M

id
d

le
 E

a
st

e
rn

 -
 A

ra
b

A
si

a
n

 o
r 

A
si

a
n

 B
ri

ti
sh

 -
 C

h
in

e
se

A
si

a
n

 o
r 

A
si

a
n

 B
ri

ti
sh

 -
 I

n
d

ia
n

A
si

a
n

 o
r 

A
si

a
n

 B
ri

ti
sh

 -
 P

a
k

is
ta

n
i

B
la

ck
 -

 A
fr

ic
a

n

M
ix

e
d

 -
 W

h
it

e
 &

 A
si

a
n

M
ix

e
d

 -
 W

h
it

e
 &

 B
la

ck
 A

fr
ic

a
n

P
re

fe
r 

n
o

t 
to

 s
a

y

W
h

it
e

 -
 B

ri
ti

sh

W
h

it
e

 -
 I

ri
sh

Apprenticeship (Business Administration) Health and Safety17 0 16 1 6 11 1 0 16 0 3 0 10 1 0 3 0 1 13 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 15 0

Apprentice (Business Development) 7 0 6 1 4 3 0 0 7 0 0 0 6 0 0 1 0 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 0

Apprentice Business Administration 1 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0

2 x Apprentices - Business Administration 10 0 9 1 4 6 0 0 10 0 4 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 9 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 0

Apprentice Civil Engineering Technician (Strategic Highways)17 0 17 0 17 0 0 0 17 0 4 0 10 0 1 2 0 0 17 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 17 0

Degree Apprentice (Civil Engineering) Strategic Highways17 0 17 0 16 1 0 0 17 0 6 0 10 0 1 0 0 0 17 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 17 0

Apprentice  Civil Engineer Technician (Highway Services)27 0 26 1 27 0 0 0 27 0 11 0 15 0 0 1 0 0 27 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 27 0

Apprentice Highways Operatives 19 1 16 2 18 1 0 0 19 0 6 1 11 0 0 1 0 0 19 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 18 0

Apprentice Fabricator/Welder 19 1 18 0 18 1 0 0 19 0 4 0 15 0 0 0 0 0 18 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 19 0

Apprentice Gardener 12 1 11 0 12 0 0 0 12 0 3 0 9 0 0 0 0 0 11 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 0

Apprentice - Low Carbon Economy 4 1 3 0 3 1 0 0 4 0 1 0 3 0 0 0 0 1 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0

Degree Apprentice - Civil Engineering 32 3 28 1 29 3 0 0 32 1 8 2 19 0 1 1 1 0 30 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 29 0

Apprentice - Civil Engineering 17 1 16 0 17 0 0 0 17 0 6 0 10 0 0 1 0 0 16 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 16 0

Apprentice (MSc) Chartered Town Planner 14 1 11 2 10 4 0 0 14 0 3 0 11 0 0 0 0 0 13 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 14 0

Apprentice Electrician Street Lighting 80 3 77 0 78 2 0 0 80 0 30 0 45 0 2 3 0 0 77 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 78 1

Degree Apprentice (QS) Mechanical 7 0 7 0 6 1 0 0 7 0 1 0 5 0 1 0 0 0 7 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 0

Degree Apprentice (QS) Electrical 15 0 15 0 14 1 0 0 15 0 2 1 12 0 0 0 1 1 13 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 13 0

Degree Apprentice (QS) Construction 19 0 19 0 16 3 0 0 19 0 6 0 10 0 1 2 0 1 18 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 16 0

Apprentice Bricklayer 46 1 44 1 45 1 0 0 46 0 20 0 26 0 0 0 0 0 44 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 46 0

Apprentice Joiners 83 4 78 1 80 3 0 0 83 1 25 0 54 0 2 1 3 0 74 1 1 4 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 81 0

Apprentice (Building Services Engineer) Compliance 11 0 10 1 10 1 0 0 11 0 4 0 6 0 0 1 0 0 9 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 11 0

Apprentice (Contract and Cleaning Services) 1 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0

Apprentice (Library and Information) 10 6 4 0 5 5 0 0 10 0 3 0 4 0 1 2 0 0 7 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 9 0

Apprentice Member Services 5 1 4 0 2 3 0 0 5 0 0 0 4 0 1 0 0 0 3 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0

Apprentice Committee Services 4 2 2 0 4 0 0 0 4 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0

Apprentice Registration Service 12 3 9 0 4 8 0 0 12 0 2 0 9 0 0 1 1 1 7 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 0

Apprentice Internal Audit 13 2 11 0 8 5 0 0 13 0 7 0 5 0 1 0 1 0 12 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 11 0

Apprentice Corporate Fraud Investigator 32 3 28 1 14 18 0 0 32 0 9 0 21 0 1 1 2 1 28 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 30 0

Apprentice Data Analyst 5 0 5 0 5 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 4 0 0 1 0 0 4 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0

3 x Apprentices Financial Management 19 1 18 0 12 7 0 0 19 0 5 0 11 0 2 1 0 1 18 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 19 0

5 x Apprentices Transactional Finance 6 0 6 0 3 3 0 0 6 0 1 0 5 0 0 0 1 1 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 0

Apprentice Digital Solutions 5 2 3 0 4 1 0 0 5 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0

Apprentice Project Support 5 3 2 0 4 1 0 0 5 0 2 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0

2 x Apprentice ICT Support 7 1 6 0 7 0 0 0 7 0 3 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 0

2  x Apprentices ICT Implementations 9 2 7 0 9 0 0 0 9 0 4 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9 0

3 x Apprentices ICT Applications and Development 15 4 10 1 14 1 0 0 15 0 6 0 8 0 1 0 0 0 15 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 14 0

2 x Apprentice ICT Telecoms 6 2 4 0 6 0 0 0 6 0 0 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 0

Apprentice Customer Relations and Sales 1 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0

Apprentice Procurement 4 0 4 0 3 1 0 0 4 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0

Apprentice (Business Services) 9 2 6 1 4 5 0 0 9 0 2 0 7 0 0 0 2 0 6 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9 0

Apprentice Data and Systems Analyst 4 2 2 0 3 1 0 0 4 0 0 0 3 0 0 1 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0

Apprentice Human Resources (HR) 24 4 19 1 11 13 0 0 24 0 5 0 19 0 0 0 0 0 21 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 24 0

Apprentice Lift Engineer 26 2 24 0 25 1 0 0 26 0 5 0 20 0 1 0 0 0 24 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 26 0

Apprentice (Community Sport and Health) 11 0 11 0 8 3 0 2 9 0 4 1 5 0 1 0 0 0 11 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 10 0

Apprentice (Leisure Team Member) 12 1 11 0 7 5 3 0 9 0 2 1 8 0 0 1 0 0 10 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 11 0

Apprentice Customer Relations and Sales 2 1 1 0 0 2 0 0 2 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0

Apprentice Procurement 4 0 4 0 1 3 0 0 4 0 1 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0

Apprentice (Business Services) 10 2 8 0 3 7 0 0 10 0 2 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 10 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9 0

735 63 656 16 596 139 4 2 729 2 215 6 468 1 18 25 12 8 672 6 10 27 2 5 3 1 1 1 7 1 2 2 1 708 1

EthnicityDisability Gender Marital Religion Sexual Preference

Page 517



Lead officer sign off: 

 

Date: 03/02/2022 

Equality representative sign off (where required): 

 

 

Date: 

 

If carrying out a full assessment please proceed to section two. 

If not proceeding to full assessment, please ensure your screening record is 

attached to any relevant decision-making records or reports, retain a copy for 

update where necessary, and forward a copy to equalities@durham.gov.uk 

If you are unsure of assessing impact please contact the corporate equalities team 

for further advice at equalities@durham.gov.uk 

 

Section Two: Data analysis and assessment of impact 

Please provide details of impacts for people with different protected characteristics 

relevant to your screening findings. You need to decide if there is or likely to be a 

differential impact for some. Highlight the positives e.g. benefits for certain groups, 

advancing equality, as well as the negatives e.g. barriers for and/or exclusion of 

particular groups. Record the evidence you have used to support or explain your 

conclusions and any necessary mitigating actions to ensure fair treatment. 

 

 

 

Protected Characteristic: Age 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Record of evidence to support 
or explain your conclusions 
on impact. 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

There is a potential positive 

impact based on the fact that the 

apprenticeship scheme is open to 

applicants age 16+. However, we 

need to be aware that current 

Within the current apprenticeship 

scheme, we have 83% who are age 

16-25, showing a high proportion of 

young people. 

As part of our 

marketing and 

promotion of the 

apprenticeship 

programme we will try 

Page 518



recruitment information indicates 

that those applying to our 

apprenticeship scheme are 

proportionality younger people. 

The upskilling programme will 

also have a positive impact in 

terms of further development of 

young employees, providing 

further opportunity for 

qualifications and potentially 

leading to wider job opportunities 

and promotions. 

to raise the awareness 

of the no age limit of 

apprenticeship 

scheme, and not just 

targeting of younger 

people. We will do this 

by working with 

relevant agencies in 

the County and job 

seekers. 

 

Each year we will 

review the numbers 

applying and 

appointed based on 

age categories, to help 

future targeted 

promotion. 

 

Protected Characteristic: Disability 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

Although the apprenticeship 

scheme is open to all. We need to 

ensure that our recruitment and 

selection methods do not have a 

potential adverse impact and 

potentially deter candidates from 

applying. 

We therefore need to market and 

promote these opportunities to 

wider partners and agencies to 

ensure that we reach a wide 

range of applicants. 

 

 

Current 2021 figures indicated that 

from the numbers that applied 

8.5% indicated they had a disability. 

Of those currently within the 

apprenticeship scheme, 5.6% 

declared that they had a disability 

(7/124 positions) 

Actions identified 

within the Apprentice 

Strategy action plan 

will ensure a targeted 

approach: Widen 

participation in the 

council’s 

apprenticeship 

programme, by 

targeting and 

maximising 

opportunities for those 

who face the most 

challenges to accessing 

employment. This 

includes- ‘To develop a 

structured approach to 

broaden opportunities 

for people with special 

educational needs and 

disabilities including 

ring-fencing suitable 

apprenticeships for the 

Page 519



council’s 

DurhamEnable clients’ 

We are currently also 

undertaking a piece of 

work to review our 

overall recruitment 

and selection 

procedures. This 

includes working with 

the council’s disability 

staff network, to help 

understand some of 

the potential barriers 

disabled applicants 

face when applying for 

positions.  

To also promote the 

guaranteed interview 

scheme and to explain 

what this means. 

Each year we will 

review the numbers 

applying and 

appointed based on 

disability, to help 

future targeted 

promotion. 

 

Protected Characteristic: Gender reassignment  

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

   

 

Protected Characteristic: Marriage and civil partnership (‘eliminate 
discrimination’ employment only) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

   

Page 520



 

Protected Characteristic: Pregnancy and maternity 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

   

 

Protected Characteristic: Race 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

The apprenticeship strategy aims 

to ensure that the scheme is open 

to all and to widen participation, 

therefore having a potential 

positive impact. 

Data for 2021, shows that based on 

the numbers that applied, 3.5% 

were Black and Minority Ethnic 

communities. It is unknown the 

number appointed as this is based 

on self- declaration system. 

Each year we will 

review the numbers 

applying and 

appointed based on 

BAME categories, to 

help future targeted 

promotion. 

 

Protected Characteristic: Religion or belief 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

   

 

Protected Characteristic: Sex 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

Throughout the apprenticeship 

scheme programme, there have 

been relatively equal numbers of 

males and females’ apprentices. 

This can vary depending on the 

apprenticeship sector choices. 

However, there is no potential 

negative impact, but we need to 

Based on current information for 

2021, 81% of those who applied 

were male.  

Currently we have 78% male, and 

22% female. 

Each year we will 

review the numbers 

applying and 

appointed based on 

age categories, to help 

future targeted 

promotion. 

Page 521



be aware of variation in numbers 

applying each year. 

 

The upskilling programme will 

have a positive impact in terms of 

development opportunities for 

female employees. Currently 52% 

of female employees are paid in 

the two lower pay quartiles. 

Additional training and upskilling 

will hopefully improve job and 

promotion opportunities, which in 

turn will also help with the gender 

pay gap difference. 

There are different variations of 

numbers applying to different posts 

based on the sectors, e.g., 

engineering and constructions 

posts tend to increase the numbers 

from male applicants. 

 

Develop work to help 

breakdown the 

traditional stereotypes 

of certain job sectors. 

 

Protected Characteristic: Sexual orientation 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

   

 

Section Three: Conclusion and Review 

Summary 

Please provide a brief summary of your findings; a summary of any positive and/or 
negative impacts across the protected characteristics, links to the involvement of 
different groups and/or public consultation, mitigations and conclusions made. 

The apprenticeship strategy and associated action plan highlights and identifies specific 

actions to help widen participation of the council’s apprenticeship programme by 

targeting and maximising opportunities for those who face the most challenges to 

accessing employment. Through regular review we need to ensure that the strategy and 

plan are having a positive impact on the recruitment and retention of underrepresented 

groups to apprenticeship positions. 

 

Will this promote positive relationships between different communities? If so how? 

 

 

Page 522



Action Plan 

Action Responsibility Timescales for 
implementation 

In which plan will 
the action appear? 

Each year we will review the 

numbers applying and 

appointed based on specific 

categories, which we know are 

under-represented and this will 

lead to future targeted 

promotion 

HR OD/WFD 
Team 

  

As part of our marketing and 

promotion of the 

apprenticeship programme we 

will try to raise the awareness 

of apprenticeship scheme, and 

try to target under-represented 

groups. We will do this by 

working with relevant agencies 

in the County, schools and job 

seekers. 

 

HR OD/WFD 
Team 

  

To implement the 

Apprenticeship action plan, 

which identifies a number of 

actions to adopt a targeted 

approach to increase the 

number of disabled 

applicants applying and 

appointed into positions. 

HR OD/WFD 
Team 

 

  

    

 

Review and connected assessments 

Are there any additional or connected equality impact 
assessments that need to be undertaken? (If yes, 
provide details) 

 

When will this assessment be reviewed? 

Please also insert this date at the front of the template 

The EIA will be updated as 

the action plan develops. 

 

Page 523



Sign Off 

Lead officer sign off: 

 

Date: 03/02/2022 

Equality representative sign off (where required): 

 

Date: 

 

Please ensure this equality impact assessment (EIA) record is attached to 

relevant decision-making records or reports, a summary of findings is 

included within the report and the report implications appendix is noted that 

an EIA has been undertaken. 

Retain a copy for update where necessary, and forward a copy to 

equalities@durham.gov.uk 

 

 

Page 524



 

 

Cabinet 

6 April 2022 

Poverty Strategy and Action 

Plan 

Ordinary Decision 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Paul Darby, Corporate Director of Resources  

Councillor Alan Shield, Portfolio Holder for Equality and Inclusion 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide Cabinet with an update on the work to ensure there is a 
coherent and co-ordinated strategic approach, both within the council and 
across our partners to address poverty across County Durham. 

2 To seek approval to consult on a revised County Durham Poverty Action 
Plan which sets out a comprehensive response to the impacts of the wide-
ranging poverty issues within the county.  

Executive summary 

3 In the annual Poverty Issues report to Cabinet on 15 December 2021, 
information was presented on the progress made by the council and its 
partners in addressing poverty issues across the county. The report 
described the work of the council and partners to address and help 
alleviate the pressures which contribute to vulnerability arising from an 
individual’s inability to meet their personal needs. 

4 The Cabinet report was then presented to Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Board; with their feedback influencing the strategy 
refresh approach.  

5 There are a number of critical factors influencing financial insecurity that 
have been magnified in recent times: including the continued impact of the 
coronavirus pandemic; rising living costs caused by inflationary pressures, 
in particular in relation to food, fuel, energy and utility costs; and the 
economic uncertainty arising from events in the Ukraine which is 
compounding the squeeze on household budgets.  

Page 525

Agenda Item 11



 

 

6 There are lasting impacts of financial insecurity in relation to mental 
wellbeing and health in general; it is therefore imperative that the council 
and partners continue to consider key information on demand for financial 
and other support and ensures that low income households, particularly 
those in crisis, are supported as much as possible.  

7 The council co-ordinates its efforts to tackle poverty through the Poverty 
Action Steering Group (PASG). This is a cross-council senior officer group, 
chaired by the Corporate Director of Resources and attended by the 
Cabinet member for Equality and Inclusion.  

8 Partnership working is key to tackling the issues arising from poverty and 
during the pandemic this has been strengthened with the use of additional 
funding to enable those organisations to offer appropriate support when 
dealing with vulnerable households presenting with financial insecurity. 

9 At the Cabinet meeting in December, it was agreed that the Poverty 
Strategy and Supporting Action Plan would be refreshed and brought back 
to Cabinet for consideration.  

10 Work has therefore been undertaken with PASG and across services to 
consider the overall vision and objectives for the Strategy refresh – and 
the actions which will underpin delivery against the objectives set out in 
the Strategy. 

11 A draft updated strategy and action plan has been developed as a result of 
that review process and is presented for consideration. It is proposed that 
further consultation is carried out to ensure that partners and other key 
strategies, such as the emerging Inclusive Economic Strategy are fully 
aligned.  A further report will then be brought back to Cabinet following that 
consultation to update the Poverty Strategy and Supporting Action Plan in 
line with that feedback.  

Recommendation(s) 

12 Cabinet is recommended to: 

(i) note the contents of this report; 

(ii) approve the revised Poverty Strategy and Action Plan for wider 
consultation and engagement with partners and stakeholders; and 

(iii) note that a further report will be brought back to Cabinet following 
that consultation to update the Poverty Strategy and Supporting 
Action Plan in line with that feedback.  

Page 526



 

 

Background 

13 The latest annual update report setting out the progress made by the 
council and its partners in addressing poverty issues across the county 
was presented to Cabinet 15 December 2021. The report described the 
work of the council and partners to address and help alleviate the 
pressures which contribute to vulnerability arising from an individual’s 
inability to meet their personal needs. 

14 The council co-ordinates its efforts to tackle poverty through the Poverty 
Action Steering Group (PASG). This is a cross-council senior officer group, 
chaired by the Corporate Director of Resources and attended by the 
Cabinet member for Equality and Inclusion.  

15 The council has worked closely with many key partners since 2011 to help 
County Durham residents cope with the changes to welfare and issues 
relating to poverty. Initially, the focus was on co-ordinating and providing 
help and assistance to those in crisis. In recognition of the wider impact of 
the changes on the county, the scope of the PASG was broadened in 
2015 to take a more comprehensive overview of the wider poverty issues, 
and the council’s first Poverty Action Plan was approved by Cabinet in 
October 2015.   

16 Many of the drivers of poverty, such as the strength of the economy, 
employment, wage rates, national welfare provision and inflation, are 
beyond the council’s direct control. Therefore, the Council developed a 
strategy and plan focused on improving services and opportunity for those 
residents in County Durham who are experiencing poverty. 

17 The Councils ambition has always been to do more than passively support 
residents to claim benefits and pay their rent or to help those in crisis. The 
vision for 2020-21 was to “to improve the standard of living and daily lives 
of those residents in County Durham who are currently experiencing 
immediate financial hardship due to the COVID-19 pandemic and 
associate economic shocks; and to help alleviate long term issues that can 
lead households on low incomes to experience financial pressures and 
poverty”. 

18 The Poverty Issues report presented to Cabinet in December 2021 set out 
in detail the range of factors influencing financial hardship across the 
county’s households; particularly those brought about by the coronavirus 
pandemic. Government funding and the Council’s financial support 
mechanisms have been utilised to mitigate some of those impacts which 
have been further compounded by rising costs of living, significant energy 
cost increases, removal of the £20 per week Universal Credit and 
emerging pressures on the economy from recent events in the Ukraine.  

19 The increased pressures seen on our most vulnerable households has 
resulted in increased demand for support through the Welfare Assistance 
Scheme, which has seen unprecedented demand and call volumes 

Page 527



 

 

regularly exceeding 500 per week and awards for Daily Living Expenses 
costing an average of £43,643 per month during the last quarter compared 
to £37,156 during the same period in 2020/21 – a 17.5% increase. 
Demand for Discretionary Housing Payments also continues to be high.  

20 The Government’s Household Support Fund has provided Durham with 
£4.6m to enable support to be provided to vulnerable households during 
the winter period. This has enabled the Council to put a number of 
schemes in place to provide food, fuel vouchers and other support for 
essential household items so that those households could access food, 
clothing and support to stay warm. This funding has supported a range of 
households identified as vulnerable such as families with children on free 
school meals, young carers, kinship carers, households identified as 
vulnerable by Social Work professionals and Health Visitors. Delivery of 
the support has been through both internal services and our partners.  

21 In order to ensure that the right support was provided, the Government’s 
funding has been supplemented by an additional £240,000 from the 
Welfare Assistance Reserve.  

22 The council has continued to support the networks of foodbanks within the 
county with support through the Household Support Fund for those in fuel 
poverty, with foodbanks distributing food and fuel on the council’s behalf. 

23 The foodbanks have identified rising demand where households have 
insufficient income caused by cost of living rises, especially energy. They 
are reporting that more people over 50, including pensioners, are no 
longer managing and have been identified as a significant cohort within 
this group.  

Cost of Living pressures 

24 The UK is experiencing cost of living pressures which are severely 
impacting some households. These pressures are resulting in households 
across the county struggling to meet their basic household costs and will 
lead to residents being in financial difficulty for the first time. Those low-
income households which spend a larger than average proportion of their 
income on energy, fuel and food will be more affected by price increases 
whilst also experiencing the 1.25% increase in National Insurance 
Contributions from April 2022.   

25 In February 2022, inflation reached its highest recorded level since 19921, 
affecting the affordability of goods and services for households. Consumer 
prices, as measured by the Consumer Prices Index (CPI), were 6.2% 
higher in February 2022 than a year before. The OBR forecasts inflation to 

 
1 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1062477/Spr

ing_Statement_2022_Print.pdf 

Page 528



 

 

remain elevated through 2022 and 2023, peaking at 8.7% in Q4 2022. On 
an annual basis, inflation is forecast to be 7.4% in 2022. 

26 The cost of household staples is also rising, with pasta prices up 15%, 
cooking oil up 16% and margarine soaring 37% in the year to January, 
squeezing household budgets. A particularly important driver of inflation is 
energy prices, with household energy tariffs increasing and fuel costs 
going up. 

27 In the year to January 2022, domestic gas prices increased by 28% and 
domestic electricity prices by 19%, due in part to the global gas demand 
as pandemic restrictions were lifted and with lower than normal production 
of natural gas. On 3 February, the regulator Ofgem announced2 that the 
domestic energy price cap would increase from its current equivalent 
annual level of £1,277 per year to £1,971 in April; a 54% increase.  The 
price rise for prepayment meter customers, who can include some of the 
poorest and most vulnerable in society, is slightly higher. The increase for 
prepayment meter customers is typically £708 a year. 

28 In the government’s Spring Statement delivered on 23 March 2022, the 
Chancellor announced measures to help address rising living costs 
including: an additional £500 million of Household Support Fund money; a 
temporary 5p cut to fuel duty; a raise in the threshold at which people start 
paying National Insurance to £12,570; and a pledge to cut the basic rate of 
income tax from 20p to 19p before the next general election.  

29 Despite these announcements, household budgets will still be squeezed in 
the coming months as the OBR forecasts wages will fall in real terms (after 
inflation) this year and next, which will affect household incomes. 

Poverty Action Strategy and Plan 2020-2021 

30 As the COVID-19 pandemic evolved and residents and communities were 
‘locked down’, we started to see a shift in reported issues, particularly in 
relation to household finance.   

31 The Poverty Action Strategy and Plan was updated to reflect this in 
November 2020. Existing actions were brought forward to address the 
impacts of the pandemic and some new short-to-medium term initiatives 
and investments were added.  

32 Emerging actions required to help our residents’ financial circumstances 
during the pandemic were captured under the following strategic aims and 
four workstreams were taken forward with key partners and stakeholders 
to help achieve these aims:  

 
2 https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/publications/price-cap-increase-ps693-april 

Page 529



 

 

(a) to improve our understanding of immediate financial hardship and 
both short and long term poverty, and the impacts on County 
Durham’s residents: 

(i) short term – restarting/resetting society – June to December 
2020; 

(ii) medium term – living with COVID-19 – 2021; 

(iii) longer term – recovering – 2022;  

(b) to foster employability, personal wellbeing and sense of worth for 
residents experiencing immediate hardship and/or poverty;  

(c) residents receive the best support and advice available concerning 
their financial situation; and  

(d) children and families have access to specific resources in response 
to the measures in place to combat COVID-19. 

Poverty Action Strategy and Plan Review 

33 Whilst the council has supported its most vulnerable residents over recent 
years and has intensified support during the COVID-19 pandemic, there is 
much still to do to promote social inclusion and support financially 
vulnerable residents and their families, particularly given the current 
household costs pressures on residents.  

34 The PASG has reviewed the current strategy and action plan. This 
included consulting with services across the council and informally with 
key partners to ensure the Council was making best use of our collective 
resources, learn from what has worked well and identify any gaps, and use 
of available data and local intelligence to ensure the support is targeted to 
where it is needed most.   

35 A PASG workshop was held in January 2022 to look back on what had 
been delivered and achieved so far and to identify areas where new/ 
revised practical interventions are required to help mitigate or prevent the 
impacts of poverty and help shape the revised strategy and action plan. 

36 Attendees recognised the importance of working with our partners and 
attendees also highlighted the positive impacts of using intelligence more 
effectively and combining data to better target support and intervene 
before people get into crisis.  Attendees also noted the need to better join 
up the Poverty Action Strategy and Plan with other council service delivery 
plans and the delivery plans of key partners. 

37 Through group discussions it was apparent that whilst specific actions are 
still needed to continue to address the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic 
in the new action plan, the overarching vision needs to better address the 
wider issues of inequalities i.e. to reflect the longer term impacts of all 

Page 530



 

 

forms of poverty which many residents experienced even before the 
pandemic and will continue to experience once we ‘live and work with 
Coronavirus’ going forward.  

38 It was also apparent that some actions have been adopted as permanent 
ways of working i.e. ‘business as usual’ as they complement and help 
collectively to address the underlying issues around the county, but there 
are still gaps in current service provision, where projects and initiatives 
need to be identified to help achieve new priorities. 

39 It is recognised that the Inclusive Economic Strategy is fundamental to 
opening up the routes out of poverty and will be key to ensuring 
communities are supported to thrive. Maximising money going into our 
local communities, job creation and supporting businesses to start up and 
grow are key determinants in terms of tackling systemic and generational 
poverty issues.  

40 Work has also been undertaken with Public Health in order to ensure that 
health needs are better and more closely aligned to the Poverty Strategy.  

41 Additional engagement exercises with individual council teams and key 
partners were also delivered to inform the refresh of the Poverty Action 
Strategy and Plan. 

42 It should be noted that the Child Poverty Working Group is also refreshing 
their action plan; with the work being aligned across the two key strategic 
groups.  

Revised Poverty Action Strategy and Plan 

43 The strategy aims to provide focus, strategic direction and priorities for 
improving services and opportunities for residents in County Durham who 
are experiencing poverty and will cover a four-year period up to 2026. 

44 The aim is to do more than support residents to claim benefits and pay 
their rent or deal with those in crisis, though these remain important 
components.  The PASG are seeking to improve the evidence and 
analysis and to make it everyone’s business to support residents and 
mitigate the impacts of all forms of poverty. The Council should aspire to 
developing a compassionate coherent culture that seeks to maximise the 
value of our collective resources and appreciates the obstacles that 
internal and external silos create to supporting our financially vulnerable 
residents.  

45 To help develop a new Economic Strategy for the county, an economic 
review of the county has been undertaken and an Economic Statement 
developed. This was considered and approved by Cabinet in December 
2021. This statement provides an overview of our economic performance, 
suggests the areas of the economy that we need to collectively support, 
and firmly positions the county in regional and national conversations 
relating to economic growth and levelling up. Consultation to help frame 

Page 531



 

 

the development of the Economic Strategy by Summer 2022 is currently 
underway.   

46 The review of the Poverty Action Strategy and Plan undertaken by the 
PASG has considered the council’s Economic Statement, wider policy 
implications and rising living costs and considered how we can increase 
access to fresh, healthy, affordable food, support residents struggling with 
increases in their cost-of-living expenses and loss of income, and how we 
can help residents improve their overall financial circumstances.  

47 The Vision for County Durham 2035 was written together with partner 
organisations and the public and sets out what we would like the county to 
look like in 15 years’ time. It was approved by Council and launched by the 
County Durham Partnership in 2019.  

48 The Vision for County Durham is structured around three ambitions, 
namely: 

(i) More and better jobs 

(ii) People live long and independent lives 

(iii) Communities are well connected and supportive of each other 

49 Each of the three ambitions contains a number of objectives; the following 
objective which supports ‘more and better jobs’ has been adopted as the 
vision of the Poverty Action Steering Group, with the wording “to work 
together” added in: 

To work together so fewer people will be affected by poverty and 
deprivation in the county  

50 To achieve the best possible outcomes for residents experiencing poverty, 
it is proposed that the revised strategic objectives will be: 

Objective 1: Use intelligence and data to target support to low-income 
households  

Objective 2: Reduce the financial pressures on people facing or in poverty 

Objective 3: Increase individual, household and community resilience to 
poverty 

Objective 4: Reduce barriers to accessing services for those experiencing 
financial insecurity 

51 The strategy is underpinned by a revised action plan which focuses on 
new actions and commitments which will enable the council to deliver the 
key priorities that have identified as being most important for reducing 
poverty levels in County Durham and achieving our vision. 

Page 532



 

 

52 Although a major focus of the last 24 months has been effectively 
supporting vulnerable households impacted by COVID-19 restrictions, 
moving forward the focus will be on a strong strategic approach to 
supporting residents dealing with household costs pressures with co-
ordinated advice and guidance, and partners playing a key role in delivery. 
It will involve helping residents move away from accessing food/financial 
support through crisis intervention support such as foodbanks, energy 
banks and welfare assistance etc. by working with key providers such as 
the credit unions to improve access to low-cost loans and supporting work 
to address fuel poverty and digital exclusion etc. 

Next steps 

53 The revised strategy and action plan is attached at Appendix 2.  These 
new and updated actions complement existing projects, initiatives and 
services and will be delivered alongside to further enhance and improve 
outcomes for our residents. 

54 Through consultation and engagement, all partners will be encouraged to 
comment and contribute to the ongoing development and delivery of the 
revised Poverty Action Strategy and Plan, as this will be fundamental to its 
successful delivery and achieving better outcomes for the residents of 
County Durham.  The suggested consultation timetable is detailed below. 

Date Consultees 

April – June AAPs 

April  Advice in County Durham Partnership 

April Housing Provider Forum 

April - May County Durham Partnership 

May – June Economic Partnership 

May – June Health & Wellbeing Partnership 

May - June Children’s Partnership 

 
55 The council’s PASG will continue to provide leadership and direction in 

delivering against the action plan and co-ordinating and joining up the 
response internally within the Council. Existing workstreams will continue 
to work with services and partners to deliver some of the immediate 
actions where necessary, although it is expected a lot of the activity can be 
delivered through existing resources and organisations. Working with 
partners from across the public, private and third sector will continue to 
underpin our approach.  

Page 533



 

 

56 The existing relevant services, projects and initiatives from the previous 
action plan which have been adopted as ‘business as usual’ will continue 
to be monitored and reported via the appropriate service reporting 
channels and also regular updates will be given to the PASG.  

57 Annual updates for the Poverty Strategy and Action Plan will be provided 
for Cabinet, the County Durham Partnership, The Advice in County 
Durham Partnership, AAPs and other partners.  

58 The strategy and action plan will be formally reviewed on an annual basis. 

Conclusion 

59 The council has consistently recognised that it cannot reduce poverty on 
its own as this requires a system wide response: collaboration and a focus 
on delivering common outcomes is the key to success.  

60 Although a major focus of the last 24 months has been to support 
vulnerable households impacted by COVID-19 restrictions, the Council 
and its partners have continued to address the underlying issues 
experienced by low-income households and the impacts starting to be 
seen due to the current rise in basic household living costs.  

61 During the pandemic our efforts to address and alleviate poverty increased 
significantly but there is still much to do. By maintaining our partnership-
based approach to delivering the Poverty Action Strategy and Action Plan, 
we are making it everyone’s business to respond to poverty and ensure 
financial inclusion. 

Background papers 

 None 

Other useful documents 

 Cabinet report, Poverty Issues, December 2021 

 Cabinet report, Poverty Issues, November 2020 

 Cabinet report, COVID-19 planning and response, 5 June 2020 

 Poverty Dashboard – Durham Insight 

Author(s) 

Mary Readman Tel: 03000 266116    

  

Page 534



 

 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

There are no direct legal implications arising out of this report. 

Finance 

The council supports welfare provision and poverty alleviation through key 

service budgets across the council, such as the Welfare Assistance Fund and 

Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP) policy which are administered by the 

council’s Transactional Services Teams.  The council also offers discretionary 

Council Tax relief to individuals and households in financial hardship and has 

protected residents from government reductions in Council Tax Benefit through 

the approach it has taken to local Council Tax Support. 

The longer-term financial implications for the council are at this stage difficult to 

quantify and are dependent on the speed of economic recovery. 

Consultation 

The draft Poverty Strategy and Action Plan will be informed by feedback and 

engagement through consultation with council services and partners during the 

coming months. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

The council’s Welfare Assistance Scheme, Discretionary Housing Payments 

policy, and Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme, have been subject to equality 

impact assessments where appropriate. 

Climate Change  

Not applicable. 

Human Rights 

Not applicable. 

Crime and Disorder 

Not applicable. 

Staffing 

There are no staffing implications. 

Accommodation 

Not applicable. 

 

Page 535



 

 

Risk 

The work of the Poverty Action Steering Group and the Poverty Strategy and 

Action Plan are subject to risk assessment and inform the cross council and 

partner input. 

Procurement 

Not applicable 

Page 536



 

 
 

POVERTY ACTION PLAN  

2022 - 2026 

Our vision: to work together so fewer people will be 

affected by poverty and deprivation in the county 

 

What is poverty  

‘Poverty affects millions of people in the UK. Poverty means not being able to heat your home, pay your rent, or buy the essentials for your 

children. It means waking up every day facing insecurity, uncertainty, and impossible decisions about money. It means facing marginalisation – 

and even discrimination – because of your financial circumstances. The constant stress it causes can lead to problems that deprive people of the 

chance to play a full part in society.’   Joseph Rowntree Foundation 

 

Therefore, poverty is multi-faceted. It comes in many shapes and forms and varies both in terms of its duration and severity. Some people 

experience being trapped in poverty over several years, others experience poverty for a short while, for example when between jobs. For some 

people, being in poverty means having limited options across a range of household goods but is survivable. For others, poverty means not being 

able to afford the basics needed to live, e.g., housing, food, clothing, energy, and effectively being destitute. A key indicator of destitution is the 

extent of reliance on emergency food provision. 

The severity of poverty is often linked to duration. The longer someone experiences financial problems, the more their financial buffers are eroded 

and the greater the risk that their decisions will push them further into poverty. Living in poverty over time can impact on mental health and 

wellbeing, leading to the use of unhealthy coping mechanisms and family breakdown. This can result in an intergenerational cycle of 

worklessness. 

Poverty sits at the heart of many of the social and economic challenges we face, and relates not only to income but to opportunity, participation, 

and access to services. Its impact can last a lifetime by limiting aspiration, damaging relationships, and eroding life chances. The council is fully 

committed to tackling all aspects of poverty and has adopted the following objective from the County Durham Vision (2019 – 2035) as its vision 

 ‘Fewer people will be affected by poverty and deprivation in the county’ 

 

 

  P
age 537



 

 
 

POVERTY ACTION PLAN  

2022 - 2026 

Our vision: to work together so fewer people will be 

affected by poverty and deprivation in the county 

 

National, Regional and Local Context 

County Durham is ranked the 26th most deprived area in England for 

employment and the 42nd most deprived for income (of 151 upper tier 

local authorities, 2019).   

An estimated 21% percent of households across the county live in 

relative poverty1 before housing costs. This compares to an England 

average of 17% - the gap in relative poverty between County Durham 

and England has widened in recent years, and a quarter of 

households living in relative poverty have at least one working adult.   

An estimated 28.8% of people (all ages) live in a household classed 

as ‘workless’, compared to 27.3% across England. People with a 

disability are much less likely to be employed (47.2%) than those 

without a disability (81.6%) 

For those in employment, wages across the county are comparatively 

low with full-time annual pay around 10% lower than the England 

average. In addition, an estimated 21% of jobs across the county pay 

less than the £9.50 hourly rate set by the living wage foundation 

(although the proportion has fallen in recent years, it remains higher 

than the 17% average across England), and an estimated 2.5% of 

employees (around 5,800 people) are employed on zero-hour 

contracts. 

 
1 Living in households with less than 60% of median household income  

In addition, the gap in earnings with the rest of England has narrowed 

as average wages have increased by more across County Durham 

than the Northeast and England.   

  Average Wages 

(Includes full and part time) 

2020 2021 Change 

County Durham  £23,877 £24,252 £375 (1.6%) 

Northeast  £23,559 £23,414 -£145 (-0.6%) 

England  £26,055 £26,192 £137 (0.5%) 

Gap with England  -£2,178 -£1,940 Narrowing 

 

Relatively low wages across the county have led to comparatively 

lower levels of gross disposable household income (GDHI), which the 

latest data shows is also increasing at a slower rate than the rest of 

the country so the gap both regionally and with the rest of England is 

widening. The data also shows the Northeast has the lowest GDHI 

per head in the United Kingdom. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 538



 

 
 

POVERTY ACTION PLAN  

2022 - 2026 

Our vision: to work together so fewer people will be 

affected by poverty and deprivation in the county 

 

  Gross disposable household income  

per head  

2019 
Change since 

2018 

County 

Durham Gap 

County Durham  £16,617 +1.9%  

Northeast  £17,096 +2.2% £479 (3%) 

England  £21,978 +2.5% £5,361 (32%) 

  

Therefore, even before COVID-19, lower-income households across 

the county were experiencing financial pressures.   

The onset of COVID-19 made many people’s financial situations 

worse. Although the government reacted to mitigate the worst of the 

economic shock and keep families afloat, the loss of income from 

being furloughed, rising costs of living and additional expenditure 

incurred during lockdown hit households with the least disposable 

income hard. School closures and the staying at home directive led 

to additional costs for basic household essentials (meals, heating, 

equipping children for online learning) especially as their normal 

coping strategies were no longer available to them, e.g., eating at 

friends and families, accessing the internet in their local library, 

buying essentials from charity shops.  

At the start of the pandemic (March 2020), 10% of the county’s 

population aged 16-64 were claiming Universal Credit. This peaked 

at 15.9% in March 2021 and is currently 15.5% (September 2021) 

which equates to 51,270 individuals across 44,495 households. 

 
2 Joseph Rowntree Foundation and Save the Children  

Research has shown that many of the low-paid workers who lost their 

jobs or were furloughed had few, if any, savings to fall back on.  

An additional 3,200 children and young people (aged 0 to 19) 

became eligible for free school meals – pushing the total to 20,410, 

more than one in four, although 24 percent are not being claimed.   

Research2 into the experiences of families with children claiming 

Universal Credit or Child Tax Credit during the pandemic shows that 

70 percent cut back on essentials (including food), 60 percent 

borrowed money (mainly through credit cards and payday loans) and 

more than 50 percent fell behind on rent or other essential bills.  

As we transition from the pandemic, the household budgets of many 

of our residents remain tight. As of January 2021, the cost of living 

was at a 40 year high, prices had increased by almost 6% over a 12-

month period, inflation is rising faster than wages and expected to 

climb above 8% within the year, and private rents are 7% higher than 

pre-COVID levels. In addition, more financial pressures are emerging 

with energy bills expected to increase by 50% following the removal 

of the energy price cap, and a 1.5% rise in National Insurance 

contributions in April 2022. 

Almost 16% of households across the county are currently 

experiencing fuel poverty. And we expect that this will increase, with 

people in rural areas and/or already struggling being disproportionally 

affected. As fuel prices increase, the cost of transport will increase 

and accessibility of the poorest people to essential services is likely 

to decrease, again exacerbated in rural areas. 

P
age 539



 

 
 

POVERTY ACTION PLAN  

2022 - 2026 

Our vision: to work together so fewer people will be 

affected by poverty and deprivation in the county 

 

Foreword  

Welcome to the Poverty Action Plan for 2022-26. This document not only describes the extent to which poverty impacts the prosperity of the county 

and its residents, it also outlines what we will do to protect those most at risk of poverty and exclusion, increase equality of opportunity and ultimately 

ensure fewer people are affected by poverty and deprivation.   

Some of the actions outlined in this plan can be delivered quickly and have an immediate benefit. However, most are long-term and will take time to 

manifest into a changed and improved situation.  We know that tackling poverty takes time.  

Poverty is a major issue across County Durham. High levels of deprivation, insecure employment, and comparatively low wages has led to many 

households with little disposable income. In addition, a significant proportion of our older people have fixed incomes, including those who have not 

worked for a long time and who are now beginning to hit retirement age. With few savings and unable to access any financial support from family 

or friends, many people are finding themselves in precarious financial situations. Unexpected expenses, unemployment or a change in family 

circumstances are often catalysts for driving people into a cycle of problem debt and ultimately poverty – or even destitution.     

The pandemic made the situation worse, hitting lower-income households and those with little disposable income hard. However, as we begin the 

recovery phase and transition to ‘living with COVID-19’, we need to consider not only the immediate financial impact of the pandemic, but the 

longer-term poverty impacts such as education outcomes and opportunities for young people. We need to mitigate where we can.  As we 

transition from the pandemic, the household budgets of many of our residents remain tight with the cost of living at a 40 year high and continuing 

to increase. 

This plan does not sit in isolation but is aligned to other council and partnership plans and strategies that have some involvement in tackling 

poverty. The plan is underpinned by the County Durham Approach to Wellbeing principles, with people and place at the heart of its development. 

Only by working together can be ultimately break the cycle of poverty 

Paul Darby           Cllr Alan Shield 

Corporate Director of Resources and       Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Equality and Inclusion 

Chair of the Poverty Action Steering Group 

   

Objective 1: Use intelligence and data to target support to low-income households 

P
age 540



 

 
 

POVERTY ACTION PLAN  

2022 - 2026 

Our vision: to work together so fewer people will be 

affected by poverty and deprivation in the county 

 

It is important that we utilise both the council’s and partners’ data and intelligence to identify vulnerable low-income households and to monitor the 

effectiveness of our initiatives and programmes. 

To escape poverty, people ultimately need access to an income which is both secure and sufficient to afford a minimum acceptable standard of 

living. However, for many people, achieving this is a struggle.  

Too many jobs do not provide decent pay, prospects or security. Many people struggle to gain employment or move onto better things, hindered 

by their background, a lack of marketable skills, low self-esteem, poor job search/interview skills, childcare needs, lack of reliable transport etc. In 

addition, some people don’t access their full benefit entitlement (both in work and out of work benefits) because they are unaware of their 

entitlement, particularly if their circumstances change, because they find the process difficult due to their poor literacy and numeracy skills or 

difficulties interacting with the system, or because they feel ashamed. 

Broadly speaking, some groups of people are impacted more than others. Children bring additional costs not fully covered by the benefit system 

and often reduce the capacity of adults to earn from employment – particularly for single parents and families with a disabled child. Older people 

and those from a Black, Asian or Minority Ethnic (BAME) are the least likely to ask for help due to social stigma. Single people under the age of 

25, those with a limiting health condition or disability, and those with complex support needs associated with homelessness, drug and/or alcohol 

problems, domestic abuse or involvement in the criminal justice system are more likely to be disproportionally affected by poverty and most likely 

to end up destitute. However, families living in destitution (especially single mothers) are becoming more common.  

In addition, people face financial challenges at transition points such as leaving home or care, moving into a new home, experiencing 

bereavement or relationship breakdown. Those without access to wider family support are particularly vulnerable and can be a trigger for 

significant financial difficulties. Many victims of domestic abuse have experienced having money withheld from them as a key method of 

controlling and mistreating them. Research has shown that victims of domestic abuse often must choose between being plunged into 

homelessness and poverty or staying with their abuser. In addition, people who become unexpectedly unemployed can quickly find that what was 

affordable becomes unaffordable. 

 

P
age 541



 

 
 

POVERTY ACTION PLAN  

2022 - 2026 

Our vision: to work together so fewer people will be 

affected by poverty and deprivation in the county 

 

Action Timescale 

Work with external partners such as the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) to understand and address the 

challenges of low-income households and low average salary 
December 2022 

Work with the Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) to identify and engage with people who are entitled to benefits 

but are not claiming. 
December 2022 

Deliver employability programmes that assist residents to access and sustain job opportunities (Council Plan Action). 

Programme includes: 

Durham Advance extended to Dec 2023 

L!NKCD extended to Dec 2023] 

CLLD projects extended to Dec 2022 

Refugee Resettlement Programme extended to March 2024 

FLEX programme introduced to Dec 2023 

December 2022 
Annual programme 

Develop an approach for using confidential datasets, ensuring the data can be shared, joined-up and used without 

compromising data protection legislation 
March 2023 

Understand the levels of reported financial abuse within specialist domestic abuse services and partners March 2023 

Carry out workshops to give staff the skills and confidence to identify customers who are potentially vulnerable (through 

bereavement, mental health ill-health, relationship breakdown) and signpost them to available support 

March 2023 
Annual programme 

Provide training to local Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS) organisations to enable them to identify residents in 

need of financial support and provide appropriate advice and support to maximise their benefit entitlement. 

March 2023 
Annual programme 

Carry out a programme of targeted campaigns to increase the number of people undergoing benefit checks 

For example, as part of the holiday hunger campaign, over-75s, Care Connect users, women and pensions 

March 2023 
Annual programme 

Deliver ‘Benefit Awareness Training’ to service teams   
March 2023 

Annual programme  

Complete a review of advice services across County Durham focusing on location, accessibility, and quality of service April 2023 

P
age 542



 

 
 

POVERTY ACTION PLAN  

2022 - 2026 

Our vision: to work together so fewer people will be 

affected by poverty and deprivation in the county 

 

Action Timescale 

Widen the ‘First Point of Contact’ offer to include more detailed support conversations to help those in financial 

difficulty.  
April 2023 

Maximise the use of the County Durham Pound and explore further possibilities of social value April 2023 

Work with partners to identify locations that can act as community hubs for residents to obtain financial advice/ 

information, and help to improve their digital skills  
April 2024 

Work with partners to strengthen the process for identifying people who are vulnerable, a) financially, b) in relation to 

health and well-being 

March 2025 

various milestones 

Develop a joined-up Business Intelligence approach to managing poverty data 
March 2025 

various milestones 

 

Objective 2: Reduce the financial pressures on people facing or in poverty 

People living in poverty can expect to pay more for almost everything they buy. Not only do they lack the financial resources to take advantage of 

special offers and buy in bulk, but they are also mostly locked out of the best bank accounts, borrowing rates and energy tariffs which would 

reduce their regular outgoings.  This ‘poverty premium’ is exacerbated in rural areas where the cost of food and fuel can be higher, houses can be 

more difficult to insulate and therefore more expensive to heat, and where poor public transport links puts increased emphasis on having a private 

car.  

In addition, Britain’s worsening cost-of-living crisis is hitting low-income families hard, putting household budgets under more pressure than ever. 

The cost of living is at a 40 year high, prices having increased by almost 6% over the last 12-month period, inflation is rising faster than wages 

and expected to climb above 8% within the year, and private rents 7% higher than pre-COVID levels (2020). In addition, more financial pressures 

are on the horizon with rising household bills including an expected increase in water bills and an estimated 50% increase in energy bills following 

the removal of the energy price cap. In addition, the 1.5% rise in National Insurance contributions (both expected in April 2022), and further fuel 

and energy increases due to the economic sanctions imposed on Russia, means we expect more people to be pushed into poverty over the 

coming months.   

P
age 543



 

 
 

POVERTY ACTION PLAN  

2022 - 2026 

Our vision: to work together so fewer people will be 

affected by poverty and deprivation in the county 

 

Those with the least disposal income are being hit the hardest by this cost-of-living crisis and we expect demand for poverty-related council 

services and those of the Voluntary and Community Sector, e.g., food provision, to increase in the coming months. And it is likely that more 

people on lower incomes will resort to payday loans and other high-risk financial support to pay for essentials, increasing those coping with the 

continuous cycle of problem debt.    

Action Timescale 

Fully implement the Advice in County Durham referral portal to direct people to the right support May 2022 

Understand the housing market to help people who are struggling with their housing costs to stay at home June 2022 

Explore how best to promote Healthy Start Vouchers to most vulnerable parents June 2022 

Deliver a range of initiatives to alleviate food inequality (The ‘Bread and Butter’ Thing is one strand) July 2022 

Expand the programme which effectively distributes surplus foodstuffs to families in need (Bread and Butter Thing) July 2022 

Develop and implement a joint action plan for the housing poverty group and provide updates to the poverty action 

steering group 
July 2022 

Ensure the mechanisms in place to support those in crisis remain effective, including the council's Welfare Assistance 

Scheme; reviewing recent scheme enhancements, for example for those fleeing domestic abuse 
July 2022 

Continue to provide effective support mechanisms for more vulnerable households, through the Local Council Tax 

Reduction Scheme, Discretionary Housing Payments and Partnership support arrangements. 
July 2022 

Provide wrap-around support as part of ‘Bread and Butter Thing’ provision August 2022 

Improve the service offer provided by Housing Solutions to assist households struggling with their housing costs. August 2022 

Improve access to, and encourage more people to use, credit unions to obtain low-cost credit   August 2022 

P
age 544



 

 
 

POVERTY ACTION PLAN  

2022 - 2026 

Our vision: to work together so fewer people will be 

affected by poverty and deprivation in the county 

 

Action Timescale 

Deliver ‘Cutting the Cost of the School Day’ programme to an additional 75 schools/colleges across the county, focusing 

on communities top 30% 
September 2022 

Develop and implement ‘Cutting Cost of the Pre-school Day’ to 50 nurseries and pre-school settings September 2022 

Explore a model to further extend ‘Cutting the Cost of the School Day’ to include audit of impact September 2022 

Undertake a review of the Healthy Start Programme offer for County Durham and provide recommendations to improve 

uptake and reduce inequalities  

March 2023 

Interim report – 

October 2022 

Ensure linkages between the County Durham pound to the developing economic strategy October 2022 

Expand the use of the benefit calculator to other services across the council December 2022 

Review the benevolent fund December 2022 

Raise awareness of illegal doorstep lending through targeted campaigns 
March 2023 

Annual programme 

Identify and improve current debt provision across the county 

(Supports a national review through money advice and debt service)  
March 2023 

Deliver a range of initiatives to alleviate fuel poverty (Council Plan Action) 
March 2023 

Annual programme 

Raise awareness of financial abuse as a form of domestic abuse and ensure effective access to support for 

victims/survivors within communities 
March 2023 

Work with local communities to co-produce an approach to well-being  March 2025 

 

P
age 545



 

 
 

POVERTY ACTION PLAN  

2022 - 2026 

Our vision: to work together so fewer people will be 

affected by poverty and deprivation in the county 

 

Objective 3: Increase individual, household and community resilience to poverty 

Resilience against poverty is built on many interlinking factors: a person’s psychological wellbeing, their household stability, support available 

from family and friends, access to the labour market, skills at managing their finances, and access to financial products and assets which act as a 

buffer against problems.  

The labour market across County Durham is dominated by the public sector which is traditionally lower paid than the private sector and has been 

subjected to a pay squeeze in recent years. Other major employers tend to be from the lower paid sectors such as construction labouring jobs 

and lower value manufacturing jobs (assembly and fabrication). This has exacerbated the wages difference between our county and other areas 

across the country which have a better balance between public and private employment.  This narrow business base can be barrier to people 

increasing their employability and access to better pay. 

Action Timescale 

Deliver three training programmes about financial literacy and budgeting to frontline practitioners working with children, 

young people and families 
April 2022 

Train staff across Children Social Care and One Point Service to use the Advice In County Durham portal May 2022 

Increase understanding of the role tobacco dependency plays in child and family poverty: ensure staff across children 

and young people services are trained and work together to identify parents who smoke and motivate them to quit at 

every contact using financial savings as a key tool for motivation. 

May 2022 

Develop ‘My Future is Durham’ initiative into a wider programme for schools and colleges. April 2022 

Community book – Project within the County Durham Together programme  

Consult, scope, and develop recommendations for the development of an accessible digital repository of services, 

enabling people to access the appropriate services, support, activities and other community assets at the right place and 

right time.  

July 2022 

Develop a proposal to increase support for young school leavers at risk of not making a successful transition September 2022 

P
age 546



 

 
 

POVERTY ACTION PLAN  

2022 - 2026 

Our vision: to work together so fewer people will be 

affected by poverty and deprivation in the county 

 

Action Timescale 

Explore the feasibility of delivering Mental Health Awareness Training at scale to staff and volunteers who work with 

people experiencing poverty to help address the known impacts of poverty on mental health.  
September 2022 

Join up the Financial Ability project (formerly Durham Savers initiative) with ‘money matters and advice’ provision 

programme:  

 Develop a toolkit for local organisations to signposting information.  

 Embed into Learning and Development portal and create further support materials 

 Engage with existing networks, develop new partnerships and re-engage previous partners 

Re-engage with DWP Work Coaches and front-line staff following lifting of COVID restrictions 

September 2022 

Join up the work being done on green spaces with food poverty / food resilience.  October 2022 

Review the Devolution deal once clarity is received and assess how it impacts the local area, e.g., skills appropriate to 

local economy 
March 2023 

Fully understand the findings from the ‘left behind communities3’ research and identify actions to address some of the 

issues highlighted.  
March 2023 

Provide financial support initiatives to people who are homeless, leaving care or veterans  March 2023 

Deliver initiatives that support rough sleepers, ex-offenders and other vulnerable people into accommodation (Council 

Plan Action) 
March 2023 

Continue to identify and develop the services and support available to young people leaving care through their local offer 

which support independence and enhance their life chances 
March 2023 

 

3 The UK government is committed to levelling up across the whole of the United Kingdom to ensure that no community is left behind, and is making changes to support local economic 

growth, in order to regenerate town centres and high streets, support individuals into employment, improve local transport links and invest in local culture, while giving communities a 

stronger voice to take over cherished local assets that might otherwise be lost. 

 

P
age 547



 

 
 

POVERTY ACTION PLAN  

2022 - 2026 

Our vision: to work together so fewer people will be 

affected by poverty and deprivation in the county 

 

Action Timescale 

Explore the feasibility of delivering Tobacco Awareness Training at scale to staff and volunteers who work with people 

experiencing poverty. Stopping smoking can increase family income, reduce the impact of absenteeism from the 

workplace and helps to reduce long term health conditions which can lead to the inability to engage in employment. 

March 2023 

Explore the feasibility of including signposting, referrals and outcome measures from a range of public health 

interventions into services which support people experiencing poverty e.g. Making Every Contact Count (MECC). 

March 2023 
Initial scoping 

Ensure a smooth transition from European Funding Streams to the Shared Prosperity Fund December 2023 

Appoint three Mental Health Employment Practitioners who will provide heath support and assistance to residents who 

are looking for employment, education and training through the various employment programmes. 
March 2024 

Broaden the county’s business base to include a range of jobs across both private and public sectors March 2026 

 

Objective 4: Reduce barriers to accessing services for those experiencing financial insecurity 

The ability to interact digitally is essential to addressing social and economic inequalities and levelling up our communities. Many of the cheapest 

ways of accessing goods and services are only available online. Mainstream banking has been removed from many of our highstreets, especially 

in rural areas, and many educational courses and job applications are restricted to online access. In addition, people who are not using online 

services can lack a voice and visibility in the modern world, as government services and democracy increasingly move online.   

However, some people can afford neither the equipment nor the broadband required to get online. When the pandemic hit in March 2020, around 

51% of households with an income of less than £10,000 had home internet access, compared to 90% of households with an income of more than 

£40,000.  Even when poorer households were physically able to access the internet, they were less likely to have the skills to utilise it. In rural 

areas levels, digital inclusion may be further reduced by poorer quality broadband and mobile connections.  

Lack of transport is also a key barrier to accessing services, education and employment. Cost, poor availability and long journey times has 

disconnected less affluent areas and rural communities from their wider labour markets.  

P
age 548



 

 
 

POVERTY ACTION PLAN  

2022 - 2026 

Our vision: to work together so fewer people will be 

affected by poverty and deprivation in the county 

 

Participation in sport, outdoor physical activity and cultural events positively impacts people, especially young people. It contributes to both 

physical and mental health, involves engaging with others in a positive way, encourages concentration and motivation, and teaches other life 

skills that help their education and working lives. However, those from low-income households are other prevented from participating as few free 

sporting activities exist outside school and charges to access culture and sport are often unaffordable. 

Action Timescale 

Refresh the first point of contact offer at the Customer Access Points (CAPs) to focus on digital inclusion and self-serve 

with support, access to the internet and a device being at the forefront of service delivery.   
April 2022 

Undertake a feasibility study in relation to improving access to leisure facilities for children and families referred by social 

care and health agencies (e.g., discounts, promotion and transport) 
April 2022 

Explore the feasibility of developing an approach to poverty proofing leisure and cultural programmes within our culture, 

sport and tourism Service 
May 2022 

Investigate the feasibility of broadband providers, working with social housing providers, to provide broadband to 

residents at a reduced cost 
July 2022 

Use data and intelligence to identify our most vulnerable communities to support access to public transport August 2022 

Fully understand the findings from recent consultation which asked children, young people and adults, many of whom 

currently do not participate in leisure activities, about the barriers preventing them from becoming more physically 

active and identify actions to address some of the issues highlighted. 

September 2022 

Baseline the council’s digital inclusion offer to map current interventions and identify areas of future intervention. To 

include digital skills, access to connectivity and access to devices.  
September 2022 

Continue delivery of the Digital Durham programme working with partners to further develop our digital infrastructure 

and increase the number of properties able to access full fibre to the premise broadband services at an affordable cost 
March 2023 

Continue to work on proposals linked to the Bus Service Improvement Plan which includes a cap on bus fares, especially 

for young people, demand responsive bus services in rural areas and tailored routes to meet the specific requirements of 

rural communities. 

March 2023 

P
age 549



 

 
 

POVERTY ACTION PLAN  

2022 - 2026 

Our vision: to work together so fewer people will be 

affected by poverty and deprivation in the county 

 

Action Timescale 

Explore a community-based model to increase digital inclusion and develop a programme that fosters collaboration 

between key partners from across sectors. 
April 2023 

 

P
age 550



 

             

        

 Cabinet 

6 April 2022 

  North East Screen Industries Partnership 

 Ordinary Decision    

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Amy Harhoff, Corporate Director of Regeneration Economy and 
Growth 

Councillor Elizabeth Scott Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Economy 
and Partnerships 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 This report seeks approval to contribute to the North East Screen 
Industries Partnership region-wide development programme, and 
implementation of the associated Memorandum of Understanding 
(MOU) with the BBC.  

Executive summary 

2  In early 2021, the BBC published a pan-UK commissioning strategy – 
‘The BBC Across the UK’ – and announced its commitment to increase 
out-of-London production by 10% by 2028 (equivalent to £700m of 
expenditure). This strategy sets out to ensure increased representation 
of communities throughout the UK across all BBC platforms and 
increase commissioning spend in the nations and regions. 

3 This reflects one of the public purposes set out in the BBC’s Royal 
Charter: To reflect, represent and serve the diverse communities of all 
of the United Kingdom’s nations and regions and, in doing so, support 
the creative economy across the United Kingdom 

4 As a result of the new strategy, the BBC has sought to increase its 
presence in the regions, to improve the diversity of its own commissions 
and in order to stimulate the growth of a wider screen industries 
ecology.  

 

Page 551

Agenda Item 12



5 A memorandum of Understanding (MoU) was developed between the 
BBC and NE local authorities and combined authorities. The MoU 
established the North East Screen Industries Partnership (NESIP) as 
the delivery vehicle for joint activity, and set out the intention of the BBC 
to invest up to £25 million in regional programming over a five year 
period and a target to seek investment from the region of £11.4 million 
to support the development of a viable screen industries ecology in the 
region. 

6 North of Tyne Combined Authority have contracted a broadcast 
consultant to develop a full business case on behalf of NESIP as a 
whole and with input from all constituent authorities.  

7 Detailed governance arrangements are undergoing development. 
Durham’s place on the proposed strategic or delivery boards will be 
defined through the LA7 Chief Executive & Leaders Group. If Durham is 
successful in its bid for UK City of Culture 2025 it is anticipated that a 
specific board place will be agreed. Previous UK cities of Culture have 
all developed formal partnerships with the BBC and other broadcasters.  

8 The activity and development programme undertaken through the MoU 
will help realise the  proposed film and TV strand for City of Culture 
2025 and support significant skills development and future employment. 

9 In addition, the anticipated impacts from NESIP will support the growth 
of creative industries in the region and the county. Research carried out 
by Durham University for Durham’s UK City of Culture bid identifies that 
spill-over and multiplier impacts are more likely in Creative Industries 
than in other sectors and that there is evidenced potential for growth in 
the county’s creative industries sector. 

 

Recommendation(s) 

10 Cabinet is recommended to: 

(a) Approve a financial contribution of £158,481 to be made to the 
North East Combined Authority (NECA), in respect of the 
development programme to be implemented during the 2022/23 
financial year, funded from corporate contingencies in year. 

(b) Authorise the Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and 
Growth, in consultation with the Corporate Director of Resources 
the Cabinet Member for Economy and Partnerships and Cabinet 
Member for Finance to agree the associated Business Case and 
delivery arrangements relating to the MoU on the terms set out in 
this report in conjunction with NECA and its constituent local 

Page 552



authorities, the North of Tyne Combined Authority (NTCA) and 
the Tees Valley Combined Authority (TVCA).  

(c) Authorise the Corporate Director of Regeneration Economy and 
Growth in consultation with the Corporate Director of Resources, 
Cabinet Member for Economy and Partnerships and Cabinet 
Member for Finance, to approve the terms of a Grant Funding 
Agreement with Northern Film and Media (as the regional screen 
agency) in respect of the 2022/2023 financial contribution 
alongside the equivalent contributions of the constituent local 
authorities within NECA.  

(d) Note that any recurring commitment beyond 2022/23 will need to 
be included in MTFP(13) planning and be subject to a separate 
report in line with the outcomes of the business case being 
developed through the North East Screen Industries Partnership 
(NESIP). 

 

 

  

Page 553



Background 

11  In early 2021, the BBC published a pan-UK commissioning strategy – 
‘The BBC Across the UK’ – and announced its commitment to increase 
out-of-London production by 10% by 2028 (equivalent to £700m of 
expenditure). This strategy sets out to ensure increased representation 
of communities throughout the UK across all BBC platforms and 
increase commissioning spend in the nations and regions. 

12 A Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) between the BBC and the 
North East region as a whole was signed on 22 September 2021 
following discussions and agreement with the three Combined 
Authorities and individual local authorities across the region.  This sets 
out the BBC’s intention to invest up to £25m over 5 years into regional 
programming and content and a region-wide target commitment to seek 
to commit £11.4m to support creation of a sustainable screen industries 
eco-system over the same period of time.  

13 The MoU sets out a series of shared ambitions and established a new 
North East Screen Industries Partnership (NESIP) between the BBC 
and the North East local authorities as a new partnership initiative 
through which a co-ordinated regional Screen Industries development 
Programme can be funded and delivered.  Signing of the MOU followed 
a period of engagement with the BBC and partners across the region, 
co-ordinated by Northern Film & Media (NFM) which is the North East’s 
not for profit regional screen agency. 

14 Development of the MoU with the BBC, and the targeted 
implementation arrangements now proposed across the region to 
catalyse development of the screen industries sector, reflect both the 
scale of opportunity represented by the growth of the UK’s screen 
industry and the relative lack of investment across the region in the 
sector in recent years. 

15 The UK’s screen industry is flourishing, generating a Gross Value 
Added (GVA) of £6.1 billion in 2016 and representing growth of 140% 
over the past ten years. Turnover in the industry has also significantly 
increased over this timeframe growing from just over £6bn in 2008 to 
over £14bn in 2017. There is huge potential to grow the sector locally by 
capitalising on the rapid expansion of the industry at UK level, while the 
re-location of Channel 4 to Leeds is opening-up new opportunities for 
North-East-based companies. The growing interaction between film, TV 
& screen, and gaming & virtual reality (VR) is also catalysing new 
opportunities for UK creative content businesses.  

16 Over a decade of low or no investment in screen sector support and 
infrastructure and a lack of a regional production fund to attract new 
investment, combined with major programming cuts made by 

Page 554



broadcasters in 2008 has left the North East as one of the smallest 
screen sectors in the UK.  Less than 2% of content produced in the UK 
is made in North East and just 0.9% of production and post-production 
industry companies are based here. 

17 Regional data on the sector and its impact is currently limited.  
Development of robust regional data will be critical as the North East 
Screen Industries Partnership moves forward.  In the interim, data and 
research commissioned by the BBC, British Film Institute and the 
Liverpool City Region Film Office has been used to identify anticipated 
economic impact as follows:  
 

 BBC spend in the Nations and Regions has an economic 
multiplier effect of 2.63 for every £1 of spend. 

 The average medium-sized production spends the majority of its 
budget (circa 67%) on ‘non-screen’ activities, including 
construction, professional services, logistics and hospitality & 
leisure. 

 In the Liverpool City Region £7 was generated in the wider 
economy for every £1 investment via the production fund, which 
drives demand for and supports the growth and sustainability of 
local supply chains, talent development pipelines and the visitor 
economy. 

18 As an illustration of the impact of one area of delivery within the region, 
in the first year of a three-year project with Northern Film and Media in 
Tees Valley (January to December 2019), approximately £1.4m was 
spent by visiting productions in the Tees Valley with a total of 62 days 
filming. Film and television delivered 16,086 days of work for people in 
the area employed as actors, supporting artists and crew. This has 
been calculated by the project as equivalent to 94 full-time jobs against 
a baseline of zero as, prior to the commencement of the project, Tees 
Valley-specific production data was not captured.   Data provided by 
Northern Film and Media identifies a range of outcomes as part of the 
Tees Valley project to date: £ 1.4m production spend in 2019 (as 
above); an increase in crew of 86% (57 experienced crew now 
available); an increase in filming locations ready for filming of 62% (96 
locations now available); 165 entry professionals supported; 85 
businesses supported; 436 attendees at events. 

Current position 

19 Implementation of the MoU will be taken forward through a new Screen 
Industries Development Programme.  This is designed to maximise 
opportunities for significant growth of the screen industries sector 
across the North East to enable the development of a thriving and 

Page 555



sustainable ecosystem, in line with strategic economic development 
goals across the region, which will increasingly attract additional private 
sector investment.  

20 The Screen Industries Development Programme is focused on 
supporting economic recovery, regeneration, and growth through the 
sustainable development of the screen industries.  It is expected that 
this will be achieved through activity which: strengthens infrastructure; 
grows the sector through job creation, business creation, growth and 
resilience; develops, attracts and retains talent; positively raises the 
profile of the region, including in support of the visitor economy; and 
builds wider awareness of the activity and offer of the screen industries.  
It will build on, rather than duplicate, existing regional and sub-regional 
screen strengths to establish a sustainable and thriving screen 
industries ecosystem.  While it is recognised that actual production 
activities are unlikely to be spread evenly across each local authority 
area, the Screen Industries Development Programme will ensure that 
there are positive opportunities for residents in all parts of the region in 
addition to supporting job and growth outputs. 

21 The Screen Industries Development Programme therefore includes 
workstreams in relation to: production service, production fund, skills, 
business support, and marketing facilitated by a regional screen office 
which is appropriately resourced to deliver benefits across the region as 
a whole.  The screen office role will be fulfilled by NFM (as the regional 
screen agency), which will re-brand as North East Screen as part of the 
new arrangements and for the purposes of the MoU act as the key 
interface between the North East local authorities, the BBC and other 
partners.  The MoU envisages that the North East authorities shall 
determine the funding and governance arrangements for NFM for the 
duration of the MOU. 

22 The Development Programme will include activity to: attract productions 
to be filmed in the region (facilitated in part by the proposed new North 
East Production Fund); attract independent production companies to 
relocate to or set up in the region; support ongoing business 
development of existing and new screen industry companies across the 
North East.  It will also directly deliver a range of skills development 
programmes with a clear focus on ensuring accessibility to employment 
and training opportunities in the screen industries sector - as well as 
working closely with further and higher education partners in relation to 
their own provision - to ensure that, through a strategic and co-
ordinated approach, the region has the level and nature of skilled 
workforce and pipeline of future talent that the industry requires.   

Page 556



23 The activity and development programme undertaken through the MoU 
will help realise our proposed film and TV strand for City of Culture 
2025, which aims to: 

 Increase the reach, profile and impact of the 2025 City of Culture 
programme with a focus on showcasing County Durham talent, 
ideas and presence on network platforms.   

 Innovate in cultural/broadcast partnerships - enabling and 
brokering new co-creation opportunities for County Durham talent 
to work with broadcasters and independent producers; helping 
them to actively shape, participate and benefit from new content 
commissions.  

 Incentivize and attract further in-kind and cash broadcast 
investment into the UK City of Culture programme for impact and 
public value.  

 Take co-production rights in some of our more ambitious co-
commissions, and so promote and safeguard public access to 
commissioned content during and beyond 2025.   

24 It is recognised that the region is starting from a low base in relation to 
the screen industries sector and that a staged approach will be 
necessary to build a strong ecosystem within the area which can deliver 
the maximum impact across the region.  It is expected that independent 
production companies seeking to secure commissions for regional 
programming / content, to be increased as part of the BBC’s 
commitments through the MoU, will increasingly be encouraged or 
required to set up an office in the North East.  Northern Film and Media 
are currently handling a number of such enquiries.  As initial examples, 
Fulwell73 announced that Fulwell North would be set up in the region in 
September 2021 with its office to be in the University of Sunderland and 
a BBC factual entertainment commission to be filmed in Durham is set 
to be made by an established independent production company from 
outside of the North East which is now based in Gateshead with staff 
recruited from across the region.   

25 Targeted marketing will be important to attract skilled NE industry 
professionals, currently working away from home, back to the region in 
addition to business support to help independent production companies 
scale up and grow in the North East.  It is however recognised that, in 
the short term, independent production companies will need to bring 
skilled staff into the region to support commissions which they win.  
Maximising skill development opportunities for emerging talent from 
within the region alongside this will therefore be key to the medium-term 
goal of creating a strong ecosystem.  In the short term, however, there 

Page 557



will be a condition that commissions, where they are not able to attract 
local partners and talent from within the region, will offer opportunities to 
upskill the local base.  Localised targeted marketing of the skills and 
wider screen industry opportunities available will also be prioritised.  

26 The NE Production Fund is expected to play an important part in 
helping to attract additional filming to the region, within the context of 
this phased building of a screen industries ecosystem, and to generate 
benefits across the North East as a whole.  These are expected to 
reflect those demonstrated to have been achieved in other parts of the 
country and will be closely monitored to ensure progress and return on 
investment can be evidenced. 

27 Detailed governance arrangements are being developed to cover 
strategic and operational management of the North East Screen 
Industries Partnership which will bring together all key stakeholders with 
representatives including from local and combined authorities, further 
and higher education, the BBC and screen industry (both supply and 
demand and appropriate representative bodies).  These have been 
informed by a number of guiding principles agreed across the region in 
relation to finance and governance.  They will be built into the Business 
Case covering the life of the MoU (with appropriate funding gateways) 
for approval across the region prior to 1 April 2022, which will be subject 
to agreement by each of the Combined Authorities and by individual 
local authorities within the North East Combined Authority (NECA).  Any 
subsequent funding from individual local authorities within the North 
East Combined Authority area beyond 2022/23 will be subject to 
separate Cabinet decisions at the appropriate time. 

28 During the first full financial year of activity (2022/23) a consistent 
approach to data collection will be developed.  This will facilitate 
assessment of economic impact and support future co-investment 
decisions. 

29 Monitoring requirements will be agreed across the region and with NFM 
to enable reporting within individual local authorities, combined 
authorities and to the NE Screen Industries Partnership. 

Financial Implications 

30 The collective approach to resourcing development of the screen 
industries sector that is proposed across the North East is a reflection of 
the scale of the investment from the BBC, which is such that no one 
single part of the region could meet the requirements.  It also reflects 
the expectation that all areas across the region and their businesses 
and residents will benefit. 

Page 558



31 Initial phasing of expenditure associated with the Development 
Programme across the five year period of the MoU with BBC, reflecting 
the phased acceleration of in-region activity is as follows: 

 
2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

TOTAL 5 

Years 

 £166,305 £1,901,771 £1,927,831 £2,464,293 £2,461,166 £2,478,460 £11,399,825 

Per 

Local 

Authority 

£13,859 £158,481 £160,653 £205,358 £205,097 £206,538 £949,985 

 
32 Outline budget allocations for each workstream of the Development 

Programme have been developed in recent months.  Specific 
allocations in relation to each strand of activity will be determined in the 
detailed Business Case which will be agreed across the region as a 
whole, reflecting the activity to be delivered.  

33 Investment across the region has been calculated on a per local 
authority basis.  Financial contributions in the North of Tyne Combined 
Authority and Tees Valley Combined Authority are being met from 
Combined Authority resources.  Within the NECA, contributions are 
being sought from each of the four constituent local authorities.  This 
investment is expected to act as the catalyst to secure further inward 
investment from a range of commissioners, such as Netflix, Amazon, 
Channel 4, and Channel 5 in addition to the BBC. 

34 An in-year contribution during 2021/22 of £13,859 was committed by the 
County Council, as part of a total of £55,436 for the NECA area.  The in-
year contribution was agreed to safeguard the current Northern Film 
and Media team and support establishment of a stronger team which is 
fit for purpose to deliver the NE Screen Industries Partnership 
development programme within the context of the MoU with the BBC.  
This reflected the essential requirement for early implementation 
following signature of the MoU to be able to deliver activity across the 
North East region as a whole. 

35 A financial contribution of £158,481 is requested from the County 
Council in respect of the development programme to be implemented 
during the 2022/23 financial year.  This can be met from corporate 
contingencies in year. Contributions beyond 2022/23 would need to be 
factored into MTFP(13) planning and be subject to a separate report in 
line with the outcomes of the business case being developed through 
the North East Screen Industries Partnership (NESIP). 

Page 559



36 It is also expected that opportunities to source external funding will be 
explored both collectively and by individual local authorities as well as 
by Northern Film and Media on an ongoing basis. 

Conclusion 

37 A MoU was signed between the BBC and the North East authorities in 
September 2021.  This sets out a partnership vision and mutual 
investment targets by BBC and the North East authorities over the next 
five years to promote the development of region’s cultural and creative 
industries, through the strategic development of the local TV and screen 
industry and skills. In order to deliver the required step-change in the 
growth of the screen industries sector across the North East it is 
essential that investment is committed by all of the North East 
authorities as a whole to deliver a sustainable eco-system.  

38 Other local authorities in the region have committed funding in 2021/22 
and 2022/23 pending the outcomes of the business case being 
developed through the North East Screen Industries Partnership 
(NESIP). 

 

 

 

Contact: Alison Clark Tel:  03000 264577 

   

  

Page 560



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The proposed funding arrangements for the public sector under the MoU are 
to be delivered through the three combined authorities. In the case of NECA, it 
is proposed that each of the constituent authorities provide an equal 
contribution to meet NECA’s overall contribution for 2022/2023. 

The Council’s proposed funding contribution will therefore be provided direct 
to NECA as another public authority. A full subsidy control analysis will then 
be undertaken by NECA as part of the proposed business case relating to the 
full MoU and prior to any grant funding being provided to any third party to 
ensure that in each case the proposed financial assistance is compliant with 
the subsidy control principles.   

Finance 

An in-year contribution during 2021/22 of £13,859 was committed by the 
County Council, as part of a total of £55,436 for the NECA area.  The in-year 
contribution was agreed to safeguard the current Northern Film and Media 
team and support establishment of a stronger team which is fit for purpose to 
deliver the NE Screen Industries Partnership development programme within 
the context of the MoU with the BBC.   

A financial contribution of £158,481 is requested during the 2022/23 financial 
year.  This can be met from corporate contingencies in year. Contributions 
beyond 2022/23 would need to be factored into MTFP(13) planning and be 
subject to a separate report in line with the outcomes of the business case 
being developed through the North East Screen Industries Partnership 
(NESIP). 

Consultation 

A Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) between the BBC and the North 

East region as a whole was signed on 22 September 2021 following 

discussions and agreement with the three Combined Authorities and individual 

local authorities across the region.   

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

An equality impact assessment will be undertaken once the business case 

development is  

Human Rights 

N/A 

Page 561



 

Crime and Disorder 

There is no direct impact on crime and disorder as a result of this report 

Staffing 

The is no direct impact on council staffing arising from this report. Officers in 

Regeneration, Economy and Growth will continue to engage with the BBC and 

with regional colleagues to help frame and inform the development of the full 

business case to demonstrate economic benefits to each area. 

Accommodation 

There is no direct impact on council accommodation as a result of this report. 

Risk 

The Council and its partners across the region have committed funding in the 

current year and are seeking to make further contributions in 2022/23 whilst 

the full economic business case and benefits to each area is fully determined. 

There is a risk that one or a number of authorities do not subsequently commit 

to this initiative long term, which could impact on the contributions being 

sought as the funding ask is currently split between the twelve councils in the 

region. 

Procurement 

The North of Tyne Combined Authority, on behalf of the twelve councils and 

three combined authorities have commissions consultants to assist with the 

development of the full business case to demonstrate economic benefits to 

each area.   

Page 562



Appendix 2:  MoU 

 

 

 

Page 563



 

Page 564



 

 

 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN THE BBC AND THE 

NORTH EAST SCREEN INDUSTRY PARTNERSHIP 

 
CONTEXT  
The BBC is the UK’s primary public service broadcaster. Paid for largely by the public through a 
Licence Fee, it is universally available to viewers right across the UK, providing them with free 
access to content that informs, educates, and entertains. It is vital that the BBC reflects the lived 
experience of viewers from all four nations of the UK.  
 
There has also been a growing recognition of the importance of the Licence Fee as a key investor 
in the creative economies of the UK’s Nations and Regions, and that local voices, stories and 
portrayal can benefit from vibrant local production & talent ecologies. 
 
On 18 March 2021, the BBC announced its Across the UK plan, a strategy which will shift the 
creative and journalistic centre of the BBC away from London and move not just people, but power 
and decision-making, to the UK’s Nations and Regions. It will bring the BBC much closer to the 
communities it serves and represent them better. It will see the BBC spending at least an extra 
£700m outside London by 2027/28 across TV, Radio, News, Digital and Support Functions. 
 
The North East of England has a long history of investing in the cultural and creative industries and 
in recent years, this commitment has been further extended through particular focus on the 
contribution of the creative industries – and its strategic development – to local economic 
regeneration plans.   
 
The North East Screen Industries Partnership (NESIP) is a new vehicle, established to facilitate the 

strategic development of the TV & screen industry in the region, including screen industries and FE 

/ HE organisations building creative talent in the region. 

NESIP represents all North East Local Authorities working in partnership.  It includes Tees Valley 

Combined Authority, (representing the five authorities of Hartlepool Borough Council, Stockton-On-

Tees Borough Council, Middlesbrough Council, Darlington Borough Council and Redcar and 

Cleveland Borough Council), the North of Tyne Combined Authority  (representing its three partner 

authorities Northumberland County Council, North Tyneside Council and Newcastle City Council) 

and the North East Combined Authority authorities of Durham County Council, Gateshead Council, 

Sunderland City Council and South Tyneside Council.   

This Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) formally signifies the beginning of a long-term 
partnership and the signatories commit to working together in the coming years to ensure that the 
delivery of the specific components contained within this agreement provide the foundations for 
sustainable growth and catalyse a broader renaissance of the North East’s creative and screen 
economy.  
 
THE AGREEMENT - WORKING IN PARTNERSHIP 
This MOU between the BBC and NESIP sets out our shared ambitions for audiences and creators 

and the wider screen industries in the North East. It has been informed by the BBC’s need to serve 

its audiences by reflecting, representing and serving the diverse communities of the UK’s nations 

and regions, the requirements of the North East’s ambitious local creative content sector, and the 

region’s particular characteristics. 

Page 565



 
 

The BBC will work with NESIP and local partners in the North East to support sustainable growth in 
the regional production economy and to highlight the BBC’s cultural and economic contribution to 
the region. 
 
This agreement will significantly enhance the BBC’s presence and investment across the whole of 
the North East with a range of complementary activity working together as a single ecology, 
playing to sub-regional strengths and drawing on the rich and diverse characteristics of its unique 
geography.  
 
It will give our local sector access to senior BBC talent and expertise to support their development 
and the BBC’s presence will bring with it further partners to the region. As part of its work, the 
BBC’s ambition is to encourage other existing sector partners to support its focus on the region. A 
multi-partner approach will expand the benefits across the region, accelerate activity and impacts, 
ensure the development of a strong and complex ecosystem and provide further opportunities for 
collaboration.   
 
The NESIP commits to investing in talent, business and infrastructure to support the development 
of BBC productions and vibrant NE production ecology aligned with the BBC’s creative ambitions. 
 
The BBC specifically undertakes the following: 
  

 Seek to target a minimum of £25m of Network TV commissioning spend to the North East 

over the next 5 years – in line with local investment in talent, business and infrastructure.  

 The focus will be on strengthening unscripted production activity and skills in the short term 

– with the ambition of broadening the range of genres produced from the region in the 

longer term.  

 It will do this by:  

o Basing a new daytime factual commission in the region, providing returning volume 

to underpin unscripted skills development. 

o Expanding BBC Three activity in the region, by launching a new creative 

commissioning opportunity in partnership with Northern Film + Media, to discover 

new factual talent, voices and ideas from the region.  

o Investing in longer-term talent development.  

 The BBC Writers Room will continue to nurture the new writing talent 

identified through its NE Voices and Northern Voices programmes, as well 

as running a shadow writing scheme in the region for CBBC’s The Dumping 

Ground.   

o To kick-start the discovery of Comedy talent and ideas in the region by holding a 

series of masterclasses and events across the region as part of a significant BBC 

Comedy announcement. 

o Supporting talent and skills development working with the Northern Film + Media 

(the regional screen agency), and their relationship with HE and FE organisations in 

the region. 

 The BBC has asked NESIP to match its investment to spark the sustainable growth of 

production in the region. It reserves its right to review the levels of its investment in future 

years if this is not possible and a sustainable infrastructure is not established to support 

organic development and growth. 

 

 

 

Page 566



 
 

NESIP specifically undertakes the following: 
 

 NESIP will seek to commit a minimum of £11m funding over the next 5 years for Northern 

Film + Media to promote the region, attracting production businesses, as well as investing 

in professional talent, skills, creative business and infrastructure development. 

 NESIP will create a North East wide Screen Production Fund, and will align its priorities, 

activities and investments to support the BBC’s MOU commitments and wider ambitions in 

the region. 

 NESIP will invest in a talent and skills pipeline with a region-wide strategy and programme 

of activity that links the Northern Film + Media with HE and FE and other partners with 

production locating in the region.  

 It will, at a minimum seek to match-fund BBC investment in talent and skills development in 

the region associated with BBC productions or training initiatives.   

 NESIP and individual Local Authorities will invest strategically in co-ordinated infrastructure 

support to maximise production spend in region – consulting with the BBC, and aligning 

delivery across the North East as a whole.  

 NESIP will add to its initial agreed budget by applying for further financial support from 

government, industry and creative funds, and review their investment as part of future 

budget processes for the region. 

 NESIP will provide a clear mandate, governance and budget to Northern Film + Media to 

deliver the region’s ambitions on production and skills growth. Northern Film + Media will be 

the main interface between the region, the BBC and other partners. 

 
Both parties agree to work together with other like-minded Broadcast, training and sector partners 
to further strengthen sustainable production activity, skills and talent in the region.  
 
 
NEXT STEPS  
NESIP will clarify its mandate for Northern Film + Media, including how quickly budget will be made 
available, and all governance and approvals required for its operation. 
 
In addition, a regional North East Screen Industry Partnership Board will be established, consisting 
of appropriate representatives from senior leadership from the BBC and NESIP. It will set a 
roadmap of delivery over the timeframe of this agreement. It will also meet periodically to monitor 
the delivery of commitments within this MOU as well as how collectively all parties support the 
wider ambitions to grow its creative community. In the first year, the Partnership Board will meet 
every two months to build momentum around delivery. Thereafter, it will meet quarterly. 
 
          22 September 2021 
  

Page 567



 
 

Signatories 

 

Tim Davie, Director General of the BBC 

 

 

Ben Houchen, Mayor, Tees Valley Combined Authority 
 
 
 
Cllr Shane Moore, Portfolio Holder for Culture,  
Tees Valley Combined Authority 
 
 
 
Jamie Driscoll, Mayor, North of Tyne Combined Authority  
 
 
 
Norma Redfearn, Mayor, North Tyneside  
 
 
 
Cllr Nick Forbes, Leader, Newcastle City Council 
 
 
 
Cllr Glenn Sanderson, Leader, Northumberland Council 
 
 
 
Cllr Graeme Miller – Chair, North East Combined Authority 
 
 
 
Cllr Amanda Hopgood – Leader, Durham County Council 
 
 
 
Cllr Martin Gannon – Leader, Gateshead Council 
 
 
 
Cllr Tracey Dixon – Leader, South Tyneside Council 
 
 
 
Cllr Graeme Miller – Leader, Sunderland City Council 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 568



Document is Restricted

Page 569

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 603

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 615

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 621

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 703

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 727

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 737

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 747

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the meeting held on 16 March 2022
	4 Proposal to close the Sunnydale site of Greenfield Community College on 31 August 2022 and rebuild the Newton Aycliffe Site - Report of Corporate Director of Children and Young People's Services (Key Decision: CYPS/01/2022)
	5 Declaration of an Ecological Emergency - Report of Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and Climate Change (Key Decision: NCC/03/22)
	Appendix 2 Consideration of Ecological Emergency

	6 Annual Review of Constitution - Report of Head of Legal and Democratic Services and Monitoring Officer
	7 County Durham Plan: Parking and Accessibility, Developer Contributions and Residential Amenity Supplementary Planning Documents - Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and Growth
	Appendix 2 Parking and Accessibility SPD
	Appendix 3 Parking and Accessibility SPD Statement of Consultation
	Appendix 4 Development Contributions SPD
	Appendix 5 Residential Amenity SPD
	Appendix 6 Proposed Changes to Highways Design Guide
	Appendix 7 Parking and Accessibility SPD EquIA
	Appendix 8 Developer Contributions SPD EquIA

	8 Updated SEND Strategy for County Durham 2022-24 - Report of Corporate Director of Children and Young People's Services
	SEND Strategy for County Durham Local Area Partnership (R2 March 22) (003)

	9 High Needs Block Funding for SEND and Inclusion Support - Report of Corporate Director of Children and Young People's Services
	10 Apprenticeship Strategy 2022-2025 - Report of Corporate Director of Resources
	Apprenticeship Strategy 2022 to 2025 Appendix 2
	Apprenticeship Strategy  EqIA

	11 Poverty Strategy and Action Plan - Report of Corporate Director of Resources
	Poverty Action Strategy and Plan - Cabinet - April 2022

	12 North East Screen Industries Partnership - Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and Growth
	NESIP Appendix

	15 Tees Valley Energy Recovery Facility Local Authority Special Purpose Vehicle - Report of Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and Climate Change (Key Decision: NCC/02/22)
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4
	Appendix 5
	Appendix 6
	Appendix 7
	Appendix 8


